Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences 31



Inflammation-Associated Depression: Evidence, Mechanisms and Implications



Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences

Volume 31

Series editors

Mark A. Geyer, La Jolla, CA, USA Bart A. Ellenbroek, Wellington, New Zealand Charles A. Marsden, Nottingham, UK Thomas R.E. Barnes, London, UK

About this Series

Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences provides critical and comprehensive discussions of the most significant areas of behavioral neuroscience research, written by leading international authorities. Each volume offers an informative and contemporary account of its subject, making it an unrivalled reference source. Titles in this series are available in both print and electronic formats.

With the development of new methodologies for brain imaging, genetic and genomic analyses, molecular engineering of mutant animals, novel routes for drug delivery, and sophisticated cross-species behavioral assessments, it is now possible to study behavior relevant to psychiatric and neurological diseases and disorders on the physiological level. The *Behavioral Neurosciences* series focuses on "translational medicine" and cutting-edge technologies. Preclinical and clinical trials for the development of new diagnostics and therapeutics as well as prevention efforts are covered whenever possible.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/7854

Robert Dantzer • Lucile Capuron Editors

Inflammation-Associated Depression: Evidence, Mechanisms and Implications



Editors Robert Dantzer Department of Symptom Research The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center Houston, Texas USA

Lucile Capuron Nutrition and Integrative Neurobiology INRA, University of Bordeaux Bordeaux, France

ISSN 1866-3370 ISSN 1866-3389 (electronic) Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences ISBN 978-3-319-51151-1 ISBN 978-3-319-51152-8 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-51152-8

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016963064

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

The willingness to associate depression with inflammation appears counterintuitive. Why should the immune system be activated in depressed individuals who are withdrawn from their social environment, show little interest in pleasurable events, and feel the heavy weight of hopelessness, helplessness, and even guilt on their shoulders? In addition, the very first descriptions of immunity in depressed subjects in the 1970s revealed a picture of immunosuppression, as indicated by the abnormally low cytotoxic activity of their natural killer cells and the decreased ability of their circulating lymphocytes to proliferate in response to nonspecific mitogens. However, further studies carried out in the 1980s and 1990s revealed a much more nuanced reality, with evidence of activation of innate immune cells and T cells. These observations coincided with the independent discovery that proinflammatory cytokines can act outside the immune system, and in particular in the brain, to cause fever, activate the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and induce behavioral alterations resembling some of the features of depression. Further research work in this field revealed that cytokine actions on the brain account for why we feel sick and behave in a sick way when we are ill. This discovery led to a change in paradigm, with sickness being seen as a normal response to infectious pathogens sensed by innate immune cells, in very much the same manner as fear is an adaptive response to dangers detected by our exteroceptive sensory organs. If the fear system can go awry and generate anxiety disorders, the same could be said of the sickness system, with depression being one possible example of a malfunctioning system.

The possibility that depression is nothing more than a sickness disorder took time to penetrate the field of biological psychiatry. The main reason for this was the predominance of the neurotransmitter theories of psychiatric disorders, with their exclusive reliance on hardwired, chemically coded neuronal networks. It was difficult to reconcile the serotoninergic theory of depression with the somewhat fuzzy picture of brain cytokines produced by the brain's innate immune cells acting to modify the neuronal environment rather than to directly affect neurotransmission. Within the last 20 years or so, the views have profoundly changed—not only because of the rapid progress in neuroscience and neuroimmunology but also because of the inability of the pharmaceutical industry to generate innovative treatments in psychiatry.

In reviewing what we have learned during these last 20 years in the field of inflammation and depression, we do not pretend that inflammation explains all instances of major depressive disorders or that anti-inflammatory drugs represent the universal panacea for the treatment of depression. Our position is much more nuanced. We would like readers of this book to see the intrusion of inflammation in the field of depression as an example of the advantages, but also the limitations, of what a change in paradigm can bring to biological psychiatry. It is easy to pretend that bringing new players on stage can point to new targets for drug research and development; however, bringing new players on stage cannot suffice in and of itself if psychopathology remains frozen in its usual categorical description of symptoms, whatever their usefulness for diagnosis and treatment.

For new players to be useful, their function in the brain must be defined in terms of neurobehavioral phenotypes, the so-called research domain criteria (RDoC) launched by the US National Institute of Mental Health. We now know that inflammation plays a role in a variety of psychiatric disorders ranging from depression to autism spectrum disorders and including bipolar disorders and schizophrenia. This calls for a dimensional approach to more easily link inflammatory mediators to specific behaviors, symptoms, and brain circuits.

We must also recognize that inflammation is unlikely to have the same effect at different time points in the neurodevelopmental trajectory. There is evidence that the inflammatory machinery has been co-opted by the central nervous system during its evolution to organize its structure and function and, in particular, to mediate synaptic pruning. It is easy to speculate that this intrinsic property of the brain inflammatory machinery can be profoundly disturbed by inflammatory events occurring outside the brain, for instance, in the maternal environment. These events will not have the same impact as those occurring at adulthood, once the structure of the brain is less plastic. At the opposite end of the spectrum, aging and its association with a switch from the adaptive immune system to the innate immune system, the so-called inflammaging, set the stage for any inflammatory event to become much more powerful in its impact on brain structure and function. This becomes even more crucial when peripheral inflammation takes place in the context of a neurodegenerative process that has already recruited the immune machinery of the central nervous system.

Even if much remains to be done in the field of inflammation and depression, it is important to form a precise picture of what has been achieved since the intrusion of inflammation on the stage. The chapters that compose the book *Inflammation*-*Associated Depression: Evidence, Mechanisms, and Implications* aim to present in a comprehensive manner what we currently know about the role of inflammation in depression, the mechanisms that are involved, and how these mechanisms interact with classic neurochemically coded neuronal networks. The book also examines the possible usefulness of pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions targeting various inflammatory processes. Each chapter is written by experts with a proven record of clinical and/or preclinical research in the field.

The first part of the book focuses on the evidence in favor of a relationship between inflammation and depression. In the first chapter, Krista Lanctot and her colleagues explore the available preclinical and clinical evidence that supports the concept of a relationship between inflammation and depression. Lucile Capuron and Nathalie Castanon then show that inflammation drives distinct neuropsychiatric domains involving separate pathophysiological pathways. Inflammation is an important factor in the pathophysiology of several physical illnesses, such as cardiovascular disease. It can therefore explain the comorbidity between depression and this disease, as discussed by Angelos Halaris.

The second part of the book presents our current knowledge of the mechanisms of action of inflammatory mediators on brain functions. Charlotte D'Mello and Mark Swain present what is known about the immune-to-brain communication pathways that mediate the propagation of inflammation from the periphery to the brain. Dietmar Fuchs and his colleagues describe the metabolic pathways that are altered by inflammation at the periphery and that ultimately affect neurotransmitter synthesis and function. Robert Dantzer shows how a role for these pathways in the pathophysiology of inflammation-induced depression has been demonstrated at the preclinical level in appropriate animal models. Depression is an important comorbid disorder of autoimmune diseases, and Christopher Pryce and Adriano Fontana discuss how it is possible to study the mechanism of this comorbidity, and in particular the role of clock genes, at the preclinical level. The possibility that psychosocial stressors induce mood disorders by recruiting inflammatory processes at the periphery that then propagate into the brain is described by John Sheridan and his colleagues, on the basis of their elegant work on repeated social defeat.

In an ideal world, there should be some overlap between the pathophysiological mechanisms that are triggered by inflammation and the alterations in neurotransmission that have already been identified as key players in the pathophysiology of depression. Ebrahim Haroon and Andrew Miller show how inflammation affects brain glutamatergic neurotransmission, and Jennifer Felger presents how this results in decreased dopaminergic neurotransmission.

Neuroimaging has been used successfully to trace the brain pathways that are affected by inflammation. Neil Harrison provides an excellent synthesis of this line of research, illustrating areas of convergence and divergence within the literature on major depressive disorders. Jonathan Savitz shows how it is possible to relate alterations in the structure and function of specific brain areas to the imbalance between neurotoxic and neuroprotective kynurenine metabolites, which is one of the metabolic hallmarks of inflammation-associated depression. How this can relate to suicidality is further discussed by Elena Bryleva and Lena Brundin.

The third and last part of the book presents the implications of what we have learned about the treatment of depression within the field of inflammation. Charles Raison appropriately moderates the enthusiasm of those who would like to treat depression with anti-inflammatory agents. He carefully points out that at the very best only a subpopulation of depressed patients is likely to benefit from it, and the means to identify this subpopulation still need to be delineated. Bernhard Baune reviews the literature on the possible antidepressant effects of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and makes the point that even in the best-case scenario, the lack of consideration of the temporal dynamics of depression does not allow much speculation about the usefulness of this modality of treatment. Because many nutrients are claimed to have anti-inflammatory properties, it is certainly worthwhile to reconsider their possible antidepressant activity within the context of the relationship between inflammation and depression. This is what Valeria Mondelli and Carmine Pariante, together with their collaborators, propose to do. This part ends with a chapter by Anindya Bhattacharya and Wayne Drevets, who show how it is possible to use what has been learned in the field of neuroinflammation to innovate and develop new therapeutics for the treatment of depression.

When navigating the book, readers will quickly notice redundancy between chapters. The editors have deliberately kept these redundancies in order to show that there is a common basis within the community of researchers working in the field of inflammation-associated depression, whatever their origins and degree of specialization. The differences are in what is done with this knowledge and the way it is applied to the understanding of depression and the quest for treatment.

As mentioned at the beginning of this preface, we have come a long way but our task is not yet finished. We do hope that what is presented and discussed in this book will not only help in understanding what has already been achieved but also stimulate further research.

Houston, USA Bordeaux, France Robert Dantzer Lucile Capuron

Contents

Part I Evidence for Inflammation-Associated Depression	
Evidence for Inflammation-Associated Depression Celina S. Liu, Alexander Adibfar, Nathan Herrmann, Damien Gallagher, and Krista L. Lanctôt	3
Role of Inflammation in the Development of Neuropsychiatric Symptom Domains: Evidence and Mechanisms	31
Inflammation-Associated Co-morbidity Between Depression and Cardiovascular Disease Angelos Halaris	45
Part II Mechanisms of Inflammation-Associated Depression	
Immune-to-Brain Communication Pathways in Inflammation-AssociatedSickness and DepressionCharlotte D'Mello and Mark G. Swain	73
Mechanisms of Inflammation-Associated Depression: Immune Influences on Tryptophan and Phenylalanine Metabolisms Barbara Strasser, Barbara Sperner-Unterweger, Dietmar Fuchs, and Johanna M. Gostner	95
Role of the Kynurenine Metabolism Pathway in Inflammation-Induced Depression: Preclinical Approaches	117
Depression in Autoimmune Diseases	139

to the Brain Underlie the Development of Anxiety and Depression Karol Ramirez, Jaime Fornaguera-Trías, and John F. Sheridan	155
Inflammation Effects on Brain Glutamate in Depression: Mechanistic Considerations and Treatment Implications Ebrahim Haroon and Andrew H. Miller	173
The Role of Dopamine in Inflammation-Associated Depression:Mechanisms and Therapeutic ImplicationsJennifer C. Felger	199
Brain Structures Implicated in Inflammation-Associated Depression Neil A. Harrison	221
Role of Kynurenine Metabolism Pathway Activation in MajorDepressive DisordersJonathan Savitz	249
Suicidality and Activation of the Kynurenine Pathway of Tryptophan Metabolism	269
Part III Clinical Implications of Inflammation-Associated Depression	
The Promise and Limitations of Anti-Inflammatory Agents for the Treatment of Major Depressive Disorder	
Charles L. Raison	287
Charles L. Raison Are Non-steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs Clinically Suitable for the Treatment of Symptoms in Depression-Associated Inflammation? Bernhard T. Baune	287 303
Charles L. Raison Are Non-steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs Clinically Suitable for the Treatment of Symptoms in Depression-Associated Inflammation? Bernhard T. Baune Does Diet Matter? The Use of Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (PUFAs) and Other Dietary Supplements in Inflammation-Associated Depression Caitlín N.M. Hastings, Hannah Sheridan, Carmine M. Pariante, and Valeria Mondelli	287 303 321

Evidence for Inflammation-Associated Depression

Celina S. Liu, Alexander Adibfar, Nathan Herrmann, Damien Gallagher, and Krista L. Lanctôt

Abstract This chapter explores the evidence supporting inflammation-associated depression. Data to date suggest a bidirectional relationship between inflammation and depression wherein one process can drive the other. A wealth of animal and clinical studies have demonstrated an association between concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines – specifically interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor- α – and depressive symptoms. There is also evidence that this pro-inflammatory state is accompanied by aberrant inflammation-related processes including platelet activation factor hyperactivity, oxidative and nitrosative stress, and damage to mitochondria. These complex and interrelated mechanisms can collectively contribute to negative neurobiological outcomes that may, in part, underlie the etiopathology of depression. Mounting evidence has shown a

N. Herrmann and D. Gallagher

Department of Psychiatry, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

K.L. Lanctôt (⊠) Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Neuropsychopharmacology Research Group, Hurvitz Brain Sciences Program Sunnybrook Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

Department of Psychiatry, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre, 2075 Bayview Ave., Room FG 08, Toronto, ON, Canada, M4N 3M5

e-mail: Krista.Lanctot@sunnybrook.ca

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 3–30 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_2 Published Online: 20 May 2016

C.S. Liu and A. Adibfar

Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Neuropsychopharmacology Research Group, Hurvitz Brain Sciences Program Sunnybrook Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

Neuropsychopharmacology Research Group, Hurvitz Brain Sciences Program Sunnybrook Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

concomitant reduction in both depressive symptoms and pro-inflammatory cytokine concentrations following treatment with pharmacological anti-inflammatory interventions. Taken together, the reviewed preclinical and clinical findings may suggest the existence of a distinct inflammatory subtype of depression in which these patients exhibit unique biochemical and clinical features and may potentially experience improved clinical outcomes with inflammation-targeted pharmacotherapy.

Keywords Cell-mediated immune activation • Cytokines • Inflammation • Major depressive disorder • Mitochondrial dysfunction • Oxidative and nitrosative stress • Platelet activating factors

Contents

1	Intro	duction	4		
2	Evidence from Animal Models				
3	Evid	ence from Clinical Studies	6		
	3.1	Cytokines and Cell-Mediated Immune (CMI) Pathways Contribute			
		to Inflammation and Depression	7		
	3.2	Platelet-Activating Factors (PAFs) and Oxidative and Nitrosative Stress			
		(O&NS) Contribute to Inflammation and Depression	18		
	3.3	Damage to Mitochondria and Mitochondrial DNA Contribute			
		to Inflammation and Depression	19		
4	Disc	ussion	19		
5	Cond	clusion	20		
Ret	erenc	ces	21		

1 Introduction

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a chronic illness adversely affecting mood and cognition that results in substantial impairments in quality of life and global functioning [1]. MDD has a lifetime prevalence of 10–15% [2] and it is universally classified among the most burdensome disorders [3]. Despite current treatment efforts, depression is the leading cause of disability for individuals aged 12–44 years, resulting in an estimated 400 million disability days per year and costing approximately \$83.1 billion in 2000 in the USA [3]. A better understanding of additional mechanisms involved in depression may lead to the discovery of more treatment options. Depression has been characterized as a pathological state featuring elevated inflammation, with evidence citing increased concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines and cell-mediated immune (CMI) activation, as well as associated aberrant pathways involving platelet-activating factors, oxidative and nitrosative stress (O&NS), and mitochondrial dysfunction. This chapter reviews the preclinical evidence and focuses on the clinical findings supporting inflammation-associated depression.

2 Evidence from Animal Models

While experimental animal models of depression cannot substitute for clinical depression states in humans, they can mimic certain behavioural dimensions of depression, thus providing an informative tool to generate theories on the etiopathological basis of the disease. Specifically, rodents can be subjected to various stress paradigms intended to replicate stressful life events, which have been shown to be a major causal contributor to the onset of depression [4]. Although several depressive symptoms including feelings of worthlessness and suicidal ideation cannot be detected with animal models, exposing rodents to acute or chronic stressors can reliably give rise to anhedonic and amotivational behaviour [5–9]. Importantly, the behavioural changes induced by acute and chronic stress paradigms are not only etiologically but also pharmacologically relevant, as they can be reversed by chronic treatment with antidepressant medications [10, 11]. However, limitations include experimental simplification, insufficient inter-laboratory reliability, and use of male rodents almost exclusively. As such, those preclinical models overlook gender difference, an important consideration when evaluating depression, as women are twice as likely as men to experience depression [12] with an earlier onset, longer duration, and greater severity [13].

An abundance of preclinical evidence implicates inflammation in the pathogenesis of depression. Numerous animal studies have reported increased central and peripheral concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines - particularly interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α – and anti-inflammatory cytokines in rodents subjected to various stress paradigms, namely the chronic mild stress (CMS) [14-22], learned helplessness [23], social isolation [24, 25], social defeat [26-29], and olfactory bulbectomy (OB) [30, 31] models of depression. Beyond those correlative findings, studies using genetically modified rodent strains have vielded mechanistically informative evidence. Knockout mice for the IL-1 receptor type I or transgenic mice with overexpressed IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) did not exhibit the behavioural and inflammatory changes that were induced in wildtype mice subjected to a 5-week CMS protocol [18]. Courbaji et al. found that IL-6 knockout mice did not display the typical learned helplessness characterized by absence of escape behaviour upon repeated exposure to uncontrollable aversive stimuli, such as tail shocks [23]. The restraint stress paradigm, which confines rodents to tightly enclosed spaces to restrict their movement, increases forced swimming test and tail suspension test immobility duration in stressed mice compared to controls and antidepressant-treated mice [32]. Kaster et al. showed that restrained TNF- α receptor 1 knockout mice displayed antidepressant-like behaviour, reflected by significantly decreased immobility time and increased sucrose consumption, compared to stressed wild-type mice [33]. In an olfactory bulbectomy model of depression, in which bulbectomized rats display depressive-like behaviour that is normalized by chronic antidepressant treatment [30], the antiinflammatory cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib was shown to reverse

behavioural changes in OB rats [31]. Taken together, those results provide compelling evidence suggesting the involvement of inflammation in depression.

IFN- α immunotherapy has also been shown to induce inflammation, T cell activation, as well as IDO activation, which researchers have associated with the onset of depressive symptoms [34]. On the other hand, several studies have shown that antidepressant use can suppress CMI activation and significantly reduce pro-inflammatory markers including Th-1-like cytokines IL-2, TNF- α , and IFN- γ [35–38] as well as increase the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 [39–41]. Those results suggest that antidepressants have negative immunoregulatory effects through the inhibition of specific inflammatory markers and through the stimulation of IL-10 release. A recent study found a direct correlation between Th17 cells and depression sensitivity, reporting increased depressive-like behaviour following Th17 cell administration in two different murine models of depression [42]. Accordingly, mice with reduced Th17 cell development were less prone to develop depression, and treatment with anti-IL-17 antibodies concomitantly abrogated Th17 development and mitigated depressive-like behaviour [42]. Those results suggest that increased IL-17 concentrations may predispose to depressive behaviour, but the role of IL-17 in depression requires further investigation and support from clinical studies [43].

3 Evidence from Clinical Studies

Compared to the global point prevalence of MDD in the general population, which has been estimated to be 4.7% in a review of 116 prevalence studies [44], co-morbid MDD is more prevalent in inflammation-associated conditions and illnesses, such as asthma, arthritis, coronary artery disease, diabetes, and obesity (see Table 1). Inflammation-associated depression in particular is associated with greater persistence and severity, later age of onset, and reduced motivation [55–57].

Clinical studies have found a significant association between numerous inflammatory cytokines and depressive symptoms, citing bidirectional pathways between the brain and the immune, endocrine, and neurotransmitter systems [58]. Compared to non-depressed individuals, those with major depressive disorder (MDD) demonstrate increased concentrations of several peripheral and cerebrospinal fluid inflammatory markers including IL-1, C-reactive protein (CRP), and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 [59–61]. Researchers have also reported that patients with MDD exhibit significantly increased concentrations of TNF- α compared to those of healthy controls [62–64]. In addition to those cross-sectional findings, there are ample longitudinal data supporting a relationship between inflammation and depression as evidenced by a recent systematic review and meta-analysis, which reported that higher concentrations of CRP and IL-6 were associated with an increased risk of subsequent depressive symptoms in a total of 18,527 participants [65]. Importantly, the authors found that this effect remained significant after adjusting for age and socio-demographic variables [65]. Evidence from

Inflammatory	Reported prevalence based on Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental		
condition	Disorders criteria (N%)		
Asthma	7.6 [45]; 9.0 [46]; 25.0 [47]		
Arthritis	16.8 [48]		
Coronary artery	20.0–40.0 [49]		
disease			
Diabetes	8.7 [50]; 16.0 [51]; 18.0 [52]		
Obesity	12.6 [53]; 18.0 [54]		

Table 1 Prevalence of co-morbid MDD with inflammatory conditions

observational studies has been complemented by a number of interventional studies assessing the inclusion of various anti-inflammatory agents in the pharmacological management of depressive symptoms (see Table 2).

3.1 Cytokines and Cell-Mediated Immune (CMI) Pathways Contribute to Inflammation and Depression

Inflammatory cytokines are cell-signaling proteins that mediate and regulate the immune response and can be generally divided into two subgroups: pro-inflammatory cytokines, namely IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α ; and the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-1Ra, IL-4, IL-10, and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1 [116–118]. Mounting evidence has given rise to the hypothesis that inflammatory cytokines play a key role in many of the etiopathological mechanisms underlying depression including hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis dysregulation [119–121]; alterations in the serotonergic [122–124], noradrenergic [125–127], dopaminergic [128–131], and glutamatergic systems [132, 133]; and impaired neuroplasticity [134, 135].

In addition to the previously described animal models of depression, converging lines of evidence collectively point to the intimate involvement of cytokines in MDD. It has been suggested that in response to infection, peripheral inflammation triggers a syndrome of "sickness behaviour" that shares many features with MDD including anhedonia and fatigue [136, 137]. Numerous longitudinal studies have demonstrated that exogenous administration of cytokines can precipitate depressive symptoms [138–142]. In a similar fashion, lipopolysaccharide endotoxin injections and vaccinations, which stimulate an immune response, can concomitantly increase pro-inflammatory cytokine concentrations and depressive symptoms [143–145]. Cytokine concentrations have also been cross-sectionally associated with depression risk in many co-morbid inflammatory conditions (Table 1). A previous meta-analysis undertaken by our group found that IL-6 and TNF- α concentrations were consistently raised in somatically healthy patients with MDD [146]. The clinical literature assessing peripheral inflammatory markers is now being complemented with direct measurements of CNS inflammatory activation as

Pharmacological		Study design and	Effect on depressive symptoms
intervention	Dose	sample size (<i>n</i>)	and/or inflammation
Positive results (si	gnificant effect)		
ω-3 fatty acids [66]	2 × (EPA (180 mg) + DHA (120 mg))/ 3 × daily or placebo	4-month RCT in hemodialysis patients (n = 54)	 ω-3 supplement lowered BDI scores significantly after 4 months of intervention Serum ferritin level and IL-10 to IL-6 ratio showed significant changes in favour of ω-3 supplement ω-3 treatment was a significant predictor of reduced serum CRP, ferritin, and iPTH levels, and increased IL-10 to IL-6 ratio
ω-3 fatty acids [67]	EPA (1 g/d), DHA (1 g/d), or placebo	8-week, two-site, double-blind RCT in MDD patients (n = 154)	All three groups demon- strated statistically significant improvement in the HAM-D- 17, QIDS-SR-16, and CGI-S
ω-3 fatty acids [68]	6 × (EPA (180 mg) + DHA (120 mg))/ daily or placebo	4-month RCT in hemodialysis patients $(n = 40)$	 Significantly lowered BDI score in the ω-3 group compared with the placebo group
ω-3 fatty acids [69]	EPA (1.67 g EPA + 0.16 g DHA/d), or DHA (1.55 g DHA + 0.40 g EPA/d), or LA (2.2 g/d)	6-month, double-blind RCT in individuals aged >65 years with MCI $(n = 50)$	 Compared with the LA group, GDS scores improved in the EPA and DHA groups Verbal fluency improved in the DHA group
ω-3 fatty acids [70]	EPA + DHA (300 mg/d of each) or placebo	6-month, double-blind RCT in individuals with mild-to-moderate depression $(n = 66)$	 After adjusting for cholesterol, body mass index, and history of thyroid dysfunctions, a statistically significant difference was seen in GDS-15 scores between both groups Treatment with ω-3 was clinically more effective in treating depression in comparison with the placebo
ω-3 fatty acids [71, 72]	EPA + DHA (2.5 g/d) or placebo	8-week and 2-month, double-blind RCTs in depressed females (n = 46)	 Mean GDS at 8 weeks and 2 months was significantly lowered only for the ω-3 group
ω-3 fatty acids [73]	EPA + DHA (2 g/d)	8-week treatment after single-blind placebo lead-in in menopausal women $(n = 20)$	 Significant decrease in MADRS scores with ω-3 treatment

Table 2 Pharmacological anti-inflammatory interventions in individuals with depressive symptoms

Pharmacological		Study design and	Effect on depressive symptoms
intervention	Dose	sample size (n)	and/or inflammation
ω-3 fatty acids [74]	EPA + DHA (1.2 g/d) or placebo	8-week, double-blind, parallel-group RCT in individuals experienc- ing a major depressive episode ($n = 432$)	 ω-3 supplementation benefit- ted individuals with major depressive episode without co-morbid anxiety disorders. Trend toward superiority of ω-3 supplementation over placebo in reducing depres- sive symptoms
ω-3 fatty acids [75]	EPA (1 g/d) or placebo	8-week, double-blind RCT in individuals with MDD $(n = 35)$	Greater decrease in HAM-D- 17 scores in EPA group compared to placebo
ω-3 fatty acids [76]	EPA + DHA (1,920 mg/d)	6-week, open-label study in children and adolescents with juvenile bipolar disorder $(n = 18)$	 Clinician ratings of mania and depression were significantly lower and global functioning was significantly higher after supplementation Parent ratings of internalizing and externalizing behaviours were also significantly lower following supplementation
ω-3 fatty acids[77]	EPA + DHA (500 mg or 1,000 mg; based on tolerability) or placebo	16-week, double-blind RCT in children with depression $(n = 28)$	 Significant effects of ω-3 on depressive symptoms measured using the CDRS, CDI, and CGI
ω-3 fatty acids [78]	EPA + DHA (6.6 g/d) or placebo	8-week, double-blind RCT in individuals with MDD $(n = 28)$	 ω-3 group had a significantly decreased score on the 21-item HAM-D compared to those in the placebo group
ω-3 fatty acids adjunctive to cur- rent therapy [79]	Ethyl-EPA (2 g/d) or placebo	4-week, parallel group, double-blind RCT in individuals with MDD (n = 20)	• Significant benefits of the addition of the ω -3 compared with placebo were found by week 3 of treatment
 ω-3 fatty acids adjunctive to standard therapy [80] 	EPA + DHA (1 g/d) + standard therapy or standard therapy alone	1 month, randomized, non-placebo, single- centre, prospective trial in individuals with acute myocardial infarction ($n = 52$)	• Greater decrease in BDI, STAI-S, and harm/loss emotions in ω-3 group
ω -3 fatty acids adjunctive to flu- oxetine [81]	EPA (1 g/d), fluoxetine (20 mg/d), or combination of both EPA + fluoxetine	8-week, double-blind RCT in individuals with MDD $(n = 60)$	 EPA + fluoxetine combination was significantly better than fluoxetine or EPA alone from the fourth week of treatment. Fluoxetine and EPA appear to be equally effective in controlling depressive symptoms

Pharmacological intervention	Dose	Study design and sample size (n)	Effect on depressive symptoms and/or inflammation
ω-3 fatty acids adjunctive to citalopram [82]	Citalopram with $2 \times (EPA + DHA)$ (1 g/d) or placebo	9-week RCT in individuals with MDD $(n = 42)$	• Combination therapy demon- strated significantly greater improvement in HAM-D scores over time beginning at week 4
Curcumin [83]	2×500 mg/d or placebo	8-week, double-blind RCT in MDD patients $(n = 50)$	Greater reductions in IDS-SR ₃₀ score in curcumin- treated individuals
Curcumin [84]	2 × 500 mg/d or placebo	8-week, double-blind RCT in MDD patients $(n = 56)$	 Curcumin and placebo were associated with improve- ments in IDS-SR₃₀ total score from baseline to week 4 Curcumin-treated individuals experienced greater improve- ment in several mood-related symptoms compared to placebo group from week 4 to 8
NSAIDs [85]	Ibuprofen (3 × 800 mg/d), naproxen (2 × 500 mg/d), celecoxib (200 mg/d), or placebo	Study pooled data from five post-approval trials; each trial at 6-week, multicenter, double-blinded, active- comparator, parallel- group RCT in osteoar- thritis patients (n = 1,497)	 Multivariable regression analysis demonstrated a detectable effect in lowering PHQ-9 score in the ibuprofen, naproxen, and celecoxib groups Logistic regression analysis demonstrated a trend towards significant treatment effect of all NSAIDs compared with placebo
ASA adjunctive to SSRIs [86]	ASA (160 mg/d) + current antidepres- sant treatment	4-week, open-label study in treatment- resistant MDD patients (n = 24)	 Combination associated with a 52.4% response rate 43% remission in total sample; 82% remission in responder sample Responder group showed significant improvements in HAM-D within week 1 and remained sustained until day 28
Celecoxib adjunctive to reboxetine [87]	Reboxetine (4–10 mg/d) + celecoxib (400 mg/d) or placebo	6-week, prospective, double-blind, add-on study in individuals suffering from an acute depressive episode (n = 40)	• Celecoxib group showed significantly greater improvement in scores of the HAM-D compared to the reboxetine-alone group
Celecoxib adjunctive to sertraline [88]	Sertraline (200 mg/d) + celecoxib (2 × 200 mg/d) or placebo	6-week, double-blind RCT in patients with MDD $(n = 40)$	Celecoxib group showed significantly greater reduction in serum IL-6 concentrations and HAM-D scores compared to placebo group

10

Pharmacological		Study design and	Effect on depressive symptoms
intervention	Dose	sample size (<i>n</i>)	and/or inflammation
			 Celecoxib group experienced more response and remission than the placebo group Significant correlation was observed between reduction of HAM-D scores and reduction of serum IL-6 levels at week 6
Celecoxib adjunctive to fluoxetine [89]	Fluoxetine (40 mg/d) + celecoxib (400 mg/d) or placebo	6-week, double-blind RCT in individuals with MDD $(n = 40)$	• Combination of fluoxetine and celecoxib showed a significant superiority over fluoxetine alone in the treatment of symptoms of maior depression
Celecoxib adjunctive to cur- rent therapy [90]	Celecoxib (400 mg/d) or placebo	6-week, double-blind RCT in bipolar disor- der individuals who were experiencing a depressive or mixed episode $(n = 28)$	 Celecoxib group had lower HAM-D scores after week 1 compared to placebo group The improvement in week 1 of treatment was statisti- cally significant when the analysis included only the subjects who completed the full 6-week trial
Infliximab [91]	Infliximab (5 mg/kg) adminis- tered at baseline, 2 weeks and 6 weeks	6-week longitudinal study in patients with ankylosing spondylitis (n = 16)	 Patients had depression scores above the cutoff value for both the HADS depres- sion and BDI at baseline Significantly lower BDI scores were found after first, second and third infusions of infliximab compared to initial score Significant decrease in HADS appeared after second and third infusions
Infliximab [92]	Infliximab (5 mg/kg) adminis- tered at baseline, 2 weeks and 6 weeks	12-week double-blind RCT in patients with treatment-resistant depression $(n = 60)$	 Significant interaction between treatment, time, and log baseline hs-CRP concen- tration with change in HAM-D scores (baseline to week 12) Baseline concentrations of TNF and its soluble receptors were significantly higher in infliximab-treated responders vs non-responders

Pharmacological		Study design and	Effect on depressive symptoms
intervention	Dose	sample size (<i>n</i>)	and/or inflammation
			• Infliximab-treated responders exhibited significantly greater decreases in hs-CRP from baseline to week 12 compared with placebo-treated responders
Equivocal results (s	some effect)		
ω-3 fatty acids [93]	2 × EPA (500 mg/d) or placebo	12-week RCT in diabetes mellitus individuals with MDD (n = 25)	 HPA-axis reactivity significantly decreased in the EPA-group but not in the placebo-group EPA did not influence other oxidative stress, inflammatory, or one-carbon-cycle parameters compared to placebo
ω-3 fatty acids [94]	EPA + DHA + tocopherol (200 mg/d) or placebo	3-month, double-blind RCT in individuals with Parkinson's disease and MDD (n = 29)	 Individuals supplemented with ω-3 showed a significant decrease in MADRS and CGI-Depression scores No difference among groups in BDI
ω-3 fatty acids [95]	DHA (Group A 1 g/ d; Group B 2 g/d; Group C 4 g/d)	12-week, double-blind trial in individuals with MDD $(n = 35)$	 Groups A and B had significant decreases in HAM-D-17 scores 0% completer response rate for Group C
ω-3 fatty acids [96]	Ethyl-EPA (1, 2, or 4 g/d) or placebo	12-week, double-blind RCT in individuals with persistent depression $(n = 60)$	 1 g/d group showed a significantly better outcome than the placebo group on all 3 rating scales (BDI, HAM-D, MADRS) 2 g/d group showed little evidence of efficacy, whereas the 4 g/d group showed non-significant trends toward improvement
ω-3 fatty acids adjunctive to cur- rent therapy [97]	EPA (1 g/d), DHA (1 g/d), or placebo	12-week, single- centre, double-blind, multi-arm, parallel- group RCT in individ- uals with mild to moderate depression (n = 81)	 EPA group showed a significantly lower mean HAM-D score at study endpoint compared with those in the DHA or placebo groups Response to treatment (defined as a ≥ 50% decrease from the baseline HAM-D score) was only observed in 6 individuals receiving EPA, while no one in any of DHA or placebo groups responded to treatment

Pharmacological		Study design and	Effect on depressive symptoms
intervention	Dose	sample size (<i>n</i>)	and/or inflammation
Curcumin adjunctive to antidepressants [98]	Antidepressants (escitalopram or venlafaxine) + 500 mg/d curcumin or placebo	5-week, double-blind RCT in individuals with first-episode depression $(n = 40)$	 Significant positive changes in both groups from baseline to the end of the study in all scales of measurement; no difference between curcumin and placebo Individuals in the curcumin group demonstrated a trend to a more rapid relief of depres- sive symptoms in comparison with those in the placebo group
Aspirin adjunc- tive to citalopram	Aspirin (160 mg/d) + citalopram (20 mg/d)	Double-blind RCT in MDD patients $(n = 10)$	 8/10 patients showed severe anxiety and akathisia from early days of this trial Except for two patients, researchers discontinued the medication during 14 days of this trial Three patients were hospital- ized due to anxiety and akathisia Two patients reported suicidal behaviour after the onset of this trial Researchers suggest that this combination is not safe and there are some serious and intolerable adverse effects
Negative results (n	o significant effect/diff	erence)	
ω-3 fatty acids [99]	8 × (DHA (2 g) + EPA (0.6 g) + Vitamin E (10 mg))/daily or placebo	16-week, double-blind RCT in MDD patients (n = 95)	 Mean changes in scores of depression did not differ significantly between the two groups ANCOVA showed that in the ω-3 group there was a signif- icant correlation between the change in erythrocyte DHA and the change in scores of depression
ω-3 fatty acids [100]	EPA (1.74 g) + DHA (0.25 g)/d or placebo	4-week, double-blind RCT in recovered depressed patients (n = 71)	 Small effects of ω-3 supplementation on aspects of emotional decision-making and on self-reported states of depression and tension No significant effects were observed on memory, attention, cognitive reactivity, and depressive symptoms

Table 2 (continued)

Pharmacological		Study design and	Effect on depressive symptoms
intervention	Dose	sample size (n)	and/or inflammation
ω-3 fatty acids [101]	EPA + DHA (400 mg/d), or LA (2 g/d), or both EPA + DHA and LA, or placebo	Secondary analysis of double-blind RCT (Alpha Omega Trial), follow up at 40 months in individuals who experienced a myocar- dial infarction (n = 4, 116)	 Depressive symptoms or dispositional optimism did not differ between groups with the use of ω-3 fatty acids compared with placebo at the 40-month follow-up
ω-3 fatty acids [102]	EPA + DHA (6 g/d) or placebo	6-week, double-blind RCT in women with perinatal depression (n = 26)	 No significant difference in depression scores between those receiving ω-3 and those receiving the placebo
ω-3 fatty acids [103]	EPA + DHA (2.8 mg/d) or placebo	4-month, double-blind RCT in MDD patients $(n = 83)$	 ω-3 supplementation pro- vided no additional benefit to conventional treatment of depression
ω-3 fatty acids [104]	EPA + DHA (0.5 g/d, 1.4 g/d or 2.8 g/d)	8-week, dose-ranging RCT in individuals with postpartum depression $(n = 16)$	• All groups did not signifi- cantly differ in pre- or post- test scores, or change in scores using the EPDS and HAM-D
ω-3 fatty acids [105]	DHA (200 mg/d) or placebo	4-month, double-blind RCT in new mothers $(n = 138)$	• No difference between groups in either self-rating or diagnostic measures of depression
ω-3 fatty acids [106]	DHA (2 g/d) or placebo	6-week, double-blind RCT in individuals with MDD $(n = 36)$	• Response rates were 27.8% in the DHA group and 23.5% in the placebo group; the difference in response rates between groups did not reach statistical significance
ω-3 fatty acids [107]	Ethyl-EPA + DHA (1.2 g/d) or placebo	8-week, double-blind RCT ($n = 120$) in women with moderate to severe psychologi- cal distress	• Outcomes in the PGWB, HSCL-D-20, and the HAM-D-21 improved in both groups, but no significant differences were noted between them
ω-3 fatty acids [108]	Ethyl-EPA (1 g/d) or placebo	12-week, parallel- group RCT in diabetes mellitus patients with MDD $(n = 25)$	• Depressive symptoms signif- icantly decreased over time, yet no significant differences were found between those treated with Ethyl-EPA com- pared to placebo
ω -3 fatty acids adjunctive to current therapy [109]	EPA + DHA (8 g/d) or placebo	12-week, double-blind RCT in individuals with depression (n = 59)	 No evidence that ω-3 improved mood when compared to the placebo

Table 2 (continued)

Pharmacological		Study design and	Effect on depressive symptoms
intervention	Dose	sample size (<i>n</i>)	and/or inflammation
ω-3 fatty acids adjunctive to cur- rent therapy [110]	EPA (6 g/d) or placebo	4-month RCT in indi- viduals with bipolar depression and rapid cycling bipolar disor- der $(n = 44)$	• No significant differences on any outcome measure (YMRS or IDS) between the EPA and placebo groups
ω-3 fatty acids adjunctive to cur- rent therapy [111]	Ethyl-EPA (1 g/d) or placebo	12-week RCT in diabetes mellitus individuals with MDD $(n = 25)$	• No effect of Ethyl-EPA on BDNF levels and changes in BDNF levels and depression severity were not signifi- cantly associated
ω-3 fatty acids and psychother- apy [81]	EPA + DHA (1.9 g/d) or placebo	8-week RCT in peri- natal women with MDD $(n = 51)$	 Participants in both groups experienced significant decreases in EPDS and HAM-D scores from baseline No benefit of ω-3 fatty acids over placebo
ω-3 fatty acids adjunctive to ser- traline [112]	Sertraline (50 mg/d) + (EPA + DHA (2 g/d)) or placebo	10-week, double-blind RCT in depressed individuals with coro- nary heart disease (n = 122)	 No differences in weekly BDI-II scores, pre-post BDI-II scores, or HAM-D scores Groups did not differ on predefined indicators of depression remission or response
ω-3 fatty acids adjunctive to ser- traline [113]	Sertraline (50 mg/d) and EPA + DHA (2 g/d) or placebo	Secondary analysis of 10-week clinical trial in individuals with coronary heart disease and MDD ($n = 122$)	 Baseline levels of hs-CRP, IL-6, and TNF-α were not associated with the 10-week post-treatment depression score Treatment responders (>50% reduction from baseline BDI-II score) did not differ from non-responders in baseline hs-CRP, IL-6, or TNF-α Depression remitters (BDI-II ≤8 at post-treatment) did not differ from non-remitters on the three baseline inflamma- tion markers
Curcumin [114]	Fluoxetine (20 mg/d), curcumin (1,000 mg/d), or combination	6-week RCT in MDD patients $(n = 60)$	 As measured by the HAM-D, response rates were 77.8% in the combination group, 64.7% in the fluoxetine group, and 62.5% in the curcumin group Mean change in HAM-D17 score at the end of trial was comparable in all groups

Table 2 (continued)

Pharmacological intervention	Dose	Study design and sample size (n)	Effect on depressive symptoms and/or inflammation
NSAIDs [115]	Celecoxib (2 × 200 mg/d), naproxen (2 × 220 mg/d), or placebo	18-month, double- blind RCT across six sites in cognitively normal volunteers age 70 or older with a family history of Alzheimer-like dementia $(n = 2,312)$	 Mean GDS score, and the percentage with significant depressive symptoms, remained similar over time across all three treatment groups No treatment effect on GDS scores over time in the subgroup of participants with significant depressive symptoms at baseline.

Table 2 (continued)

ANCOVA analysis of covariance, ASA acetylsalicylic acid, BDI Beck Depression Inventory, CDI Children's Depression Inventory, CDRS Children's Depression Rating Scale, CGI Clinical Global Impression, CGI-S Clinical Global Impression-Severity Scale, DHA docosahexaenoic acid, EPA eicosapentaenoic acid, EPDS Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale, JAM-D Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression, HSCL-D-20 20-item Hopkins Symptom Checklist Depression Scale, Hs-CRP High-sensitivity C-reactive Protein, IDS-SR₃₀ Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology Self-rated Version, IFN- α interferon-alpha, IL interleukin, iPTH intact parathyroid hormone, LA linoleic acid, MADRS Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale, MDD Major Depressive Disorder, mg/d milligrams/day, PGWB Psychological General Well-Being Schedule, PHQ Patient Health Questionnaire, QIDS-SR-16 16-item Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology-Self Report, RCT randomized controlled trial, SSRI selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, STAI-S State-Trait Anxiety Inventory in a Specific Situation, TNF- α tumor necrosis factor-alpha, ω -3 omega-3

Bold, italic, and bold-italic columns represent studies with positive results (significant effect), equivocal results (some effect), and negative results (no significant effect/difference) respectively

evidenced by a recent study using positron emission tomography, which found that MDD patients undergoing major depressive episodes featured elevated translocator protein density, a marker of microglial activation and neuroinflammation, in numerous brain regions compared to controls [147].

Research has also suggested that depression may partly result from cellmediated immune (CMI) activation and inflammation (see Table 3) [164]. CMI activation is a component of the immune system involved in the interactions between immune cells [164]. Two recent meta-analyses [146, 165] have highlighted several inflammatory changes related to CMI activation in depression including an increase in the levels of plasma soluble IL-2 receptor (sIL-2R) and soluble CD8 (sCD8) molecule [148], the numbers of percentages of T cells [148], and the stimulated production of IFN- γ [39]. Clinical findings have also shown that depressed individuals, compared to controls, exhibit a higher level of serum neopterin [149], IL-6, acute phase proteins [150] and increased levels of kynurenine metabolites along the indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) pathway [151]. Activation of the IDO pathway contributes to lower plasma tryptophan, a consistently reported feature in depression [152]. Neopterin has also been recently implicated as a predictor for the development of depression in post-stroke individuals

Mechanism	Findings from clinical literature	Reference
Cell-mediated immune activation	CMI activation is associated with an increase in the con- centrations of plasma sIL-2R and sCD8 molecule as well as an increase in the numbers of percentages of T cells	[148]
	CMI activation is associated with an increase in the stimulated production of IFN- γ	[39]
	Increased concentrations of serum neopterin in depressed patients compared to controls	[149]
	Increased concentrations of IL-6 and acute phase proteins in depressed patients compared to controls	[150]
	Increased levels of kynurenine metabolites along the IDO pathway	[151]
	Activation of the IDO pathway contributes to lower plasma tryptophan, which is a feature consistently reported in depression	[152]
	Neopterin is implicated as a predictive marker for the development of depression in post-stroke individuals	[153]
Oxidative and	Imbalanced levels of ROS/RNS lead to O&NS	[154]
nitrosative stress	Increased serum concentrations of the ROS peroxide and pro-oxidant enzymes, xanthine oxidase and monoamine oxidase in depressed patients compared to controls	[155]
	Increased lipid peroxidation by-products, malondialdehyde and 8-isoprostane, in depressed patients compared to controls	[156]
	Depression impairs antioxidant defenses resulting in lower serum total antioxidant capacity and lower serum concen- trations of the enzymatic antioxidant paraoxinase 1 as well as the non-enzymatic antioxidants uric acid, albumin, high- density lipoprotein cholesterol, and zinc	
	Increased concentrations of 8-oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine, a marker of oxidative DNA damage, in depressed patients compared to controls	[157]
Mitochondrial dysfunction	Mitochondrial dysfunction includes disturbances in mito- chondrial enzyme activity, increased production of ROS, increased mtDNA mutations or deletions, dysregulated calcium signaling, as well as impaired energy metabolism	[158]
	Reduced gene expression of mtDNA-encoded transcripts in depressed patients compared to controls	[159, 160]
	Reduced energy ATP production in depressed patients compared to controls	[161]
	Greater mitochondrial oxidative damage in depressed patients compared to controls	[162]
	Patients with IBD show reduced ATP levels within the intestine	[163]

 Table 3 Evidence for putative inflammatory-related mechanisms associated with depression

ATP adenosine triphosphate, *CMI activation* cell-mediated immune activation, *IBD* inflammatory bowel disorder, *IDO* indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, *IFN-\gamma* interferon gamma, *IL-6* interleukin 6, *mtDNA* mitochondrial DNA, *O&NS* oxidative and nitrosative stress, *RNS* reactive nitrogen species, *ROS* reactive oxygen species, *sCD8* soluble CD8, *sIL-2R* soluble interleukin 2 receptor

[153]. In line with this finding, several studies have suggested that the high comorbidity rate between depression and inflammatory disorders may be, in part, explained by shared mechanisms including increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and kynurenine metabolites [166].

3.2 Platelet-Activating Factors (PAFs) and Oxidative and Nitrosative Stress (O&NS) Contribute to Inflammation and Depression

The platelet-activating factor (PAF) family of pro-inflammatory phospholipids may be of particular relevance to several mechanisms thought to underlie depression including immune activation and oxidative stress [167]. Pro-inflammatory cytokines have been shown to initiate the PAF synthesis cascade [168]. Conversely, PAFs potentiate the immune response by stimulating the inflammatory eicosanoid cascade [169] as well as the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 [170] and TNF- α [171]. A recent study conducted by Mazereeuw et al. found that greater plasma concentrations of the PAFs phosphocholine (PC)(*O*-12:0/2:0), PC(*O*-14:1/ 2:0), PC(*O*-17:3/2:0), and PC(*O*-18:3/2:0) were significantly associated with depressive symptom severity in a cohort of 26 patients with coronary artery disease [172]. Those preliminary findings support further investigation into PAF species as lipidomic biomarkers that may clarify the etiopathology of inflammation-associated depression.

Several primary studies and comprehensive reviews (see Table 3) have suggested that a dysregulation in oxidative and nitrosative (O&NS) pathways contributes to depression. O&NS refers to an imbalance in which the cytotoxic actions of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), highly unstable compounds that disrupt cellular signaling and damage nearby cellular macromolecules when present in excess [173], overwhelm the reparative functions of endogenous and exogenous antioxidants, which normally counteract the effects of ROS/RNS-induced toxicity [154]. This emerging mechanism is implicated in inflammation as well as other potential etiopathological components of depression such as lipid signaling and monoamine regulation [152, 174, 175]. In regard to inflammation, it has been shown that depression features autoimmune responses directed against immunogenic neoepitopes generated by ROS/RNS [174, 176, 177].

As ROS/RNS give rise to multiple products due to their reactivity with proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids [178], many clinical studies have assessed biomarkers of O&NS in relation to depression. Compared to controls, depressed patients have demonstrated consistently higher serum concentrations of the ROS peroxide [155], pro-oxidant enzymes, xanthine oxidase and monoamine oxidase [155], lipid per-oxidation by-products, malondialdehyde and 8-isoprostane [156], and 8-oxo-2-'-deoxyguanosine, a marker of oxidative DNA damage [157]. Depression is also characterized by impaired antioxidant defenses as evidenced by a recent metaanalysis that found lower serum total antioxidant capacity and lower serum concentrations of the enzymatic antioxidant paraoxinase 1 as well as the non-enzymatic antioxidants uric acid, albumin, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and zinc in patients with MDD compared to controls [156]. Normalization of many of these pro-oxidant and antioxidant markers with antidepressant treatment suggests that O&NS mechanisms may be particularly important to the pathophysiology and prognosis of inflammation-associated depression [155, 156, 179, 180].

3.3 Damage to Mitochondria and Mitochondrial DNA Contribute to Inflammation and Depression

Mitochondrial dysfunction includes disturbances in mitochondrial enzyme activity, increased production of ROS, increased mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) mutations or deletions, dysregulated calcium signaling, as well as impaired energy metabolism [158]. Although most of the evidence implicating mitochondrial damage in inflammation-associated depression is derived from animal studies, a few clinical studies have suggested that mitochondrial dysfunction is prevalent in both inflammatory conditions [181] and MDD (see Table 3), as well as other psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia and bipolar disorder [159]. Studies have reported that depressed patients show decreased gene expression of mtDNA-encoded transcripts [159, 160] and reduced energy (adenosine triphosphate (ATP)) production [161]. In addition, MDD patients demonstrated significantly greater mitochondrial oxidative damage when compared to a non-psychiatric cohort [162]. Similarly, patients with inflammatory diseases such as inflammatory bowel disorder (IBD) show mitochondrial dysfunction, including reduced ATP levels within the intestine [163]. More clinical studies are needed to further elucidate the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in the development and progression of inflammation-associated depression.

4 Discussion

Although there is ample mechanistic and clinical evidence implicating inflammation in depression, there is also evidence against the inflammation-depression hypothesis. For example, not all rodent models have exhibited depressive-like behaviours in response to neuroimmune activation [182] and not all depressed patients have consistently elevated inflammatory cytokine profiles [183–186]. A study undertaken by Lotrich et al. found that exogenous administration of IFN- α did not precipitate a major depressive episode in the majority of patients [187]. Those findings collectively suggest that there may be a subtype of MDD patients with an elevated inflammatory status that gives rise to unique variations in both etiopathology and clinical presentation. In keeping with this theory, post-hoc analyses of a clinical trial conducted by Raison et al. indicated that treatment-resistant MDD patients with pre-existing elevations in CRP, TNF- α , and TNF soluble receptor concentrations experienced improved mood outcomes when treated with infliximab, a TNF- α antagonist [92].

Moreover, research suggests that anti-inflammatory treatment may also be efficacious in the prevention of depressive symptoms. For example, IFN- α therapy for chronic hepatitis C virus infection is frequently associated with depression and a recent randomized, controlled trial found that ω -3 fatty acid supplementation significantly delayed the onset of IFN-induced depression [134]. Other interventions, including exercise and psychotherapy, have also demonstrated a concomitant reduction in inflammatory cytokine concentrations and depressive symptoms. Rethorst et al. found a significant positive correlation between changes in IL-1 β and changes in depression symptoms over a 12-week exercise period [135]. Furthermore, Thornton et al. also found that psychotherapy significantly reduced depressive symptoms and inflammatory marker concentrations in breast cancer patients. In addition, the authors stated that the effect of psychotherapy on inflammation was mediated by its effect on depressive symptoms [136].

It may also be more difficult for those with inflammation-associated depression to respond to conventional forms of antidepressant therapy, such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs). Fornaro et al. found that compared to early responders taking duloxetine, non-responders exhibited elevated inflammatory cytokine concentrations [188]. Inflammation may also vary among depressive subtypes as indicated by a recent study, which found that patients with atypical depression had higher serum CRP, IL-6, and TNF- α concentrations compared to those with melancholic depression [189]. Future research efforts should aim to better characterize depressive syndromes with an inflammatory contribution, understand their underlying mechanisms, and determine the effects of existing treatments, both pharmacological and non-pharmacological, on inflammation. More randomized controlled trials as well as longitudinal studies are required to evaluate both the acute and long-term benefits of combination therapy. Characterizing MDD patients with an underlying elevated inflammatory profile may ultimately help healthcare professionals develop a more effective personalized treatment plan for treatment-resistant individuals.

5 Conclusion

In brief, MDD is a complex pathophysiological state associated with excess inflammation. This appears to be driven by elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine concentrations and dysregulated CMI activation, as well as various interrelated inflammation-related mechanisms including PAF activity, O&NS, and mitochondrial dysfunction. The current state of knowledge driving the management of MDD remains incomplete, but there is a growing body of preclinical and clinical evidence supporting the intimate involvement of inflammation in depression. Recent findings collectively suggest that there may be a specific subtype of depression that features an elevated inflammatory status. Further research aiming to better characterize the relationship between inflammation and depression may provide useful insights into both the etiopathology of depression and targeted treatments for this MDD subgroup that has shown to be resistant to conventional antidepressant pharmacotherapy.

References

- 1. Huang TL, Lin CC (2015) Advances in biomarkers of major depressive disorder. Adv Clin Chem 68:177–204
- 2. Lepine JP, Briley M (2011) The increasing burden of depression. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 7 (Suppl 1):3–7
- 3. Greenberg PE et al (2015) The economic burden of adults with major depressive disorder in the United States (2005 and 2010). J Clin Psychiatry 76(2):155–162
- 4. Kendler KS, Karkowski LM, Prescott CA (1999) Causal relationship between stressful life events and the onset of major depression. Am J Psychiatry 156(6):837–841
- 5. Nestler EJ et al (2002) Preclinical models: status of basic research in depression. Biol Psychiatry 52(6):503–528
- Pryce CR et al (2005) Long-term effects of early-life environmental manipulations in rodents and primates: potential animal models in depression research. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29 (4–5):649–674
- 7. Pollak DD, Rey CE, Monje FJ (2010) Rodent models in depression research: classical strategies and new directions. Ann Med 42(4):252–264
- Krishnan V, Nestler EJ (2011) Animal models of depression: molecular perspectives. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 7:121–147
- 9. Wiborg O (2013) Chronic mild stress for modeling anhedonia. Cell Tissue Res 354 (1):155–169
- Micale V, Kucerova J, Sulcova A (2013) Leading compounds for the validation of animal models of psychopathology. Cell Tissue Res 354(1):309–330
- Tsankova NM et al (2006) Sustained hippocampal chromatin regulation in a mouse model of depression and antidepressant action. Nat Neurosci 9(4):519–525
- Naqvi TZ, Naqvi SS, Merz CN (2005) Gender differences in the link between depression and cardiovascular disease. Psychosom Med 67(Suppl 1):S15–S18
- McCaffery JM et al (2009) Genetic predictors of depressive symptoms in cardiac patients. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 150B(3):381–388
- Steptoe A et al (2001) Acute mental stress elicits delayed increases in circulating inflammatory cytokine levels. Clin Sci (Lond) 101(2):185–192
- Persoons JH et al (1995) Acute stress affects cytokines and nitric oxide production by alveolar macrophages differently. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 152(2):619–624
- Grippo AJ et al (2005) Chronic mild stress induces behavioral and physiological changes, and may alter serotonin 1A receptor function, in male and cycling female rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 179(4):769–780
- 17. Kubera M et al (1998) Effect of mild chronic stress, as a model of depression, on the immunoreactivity of C57BL/6 mice. Int J Immunopharmacol 20(12):781–789

- Goshen I et al (2008) Brain interleukin-1 mediates chronic stress-induced depression in mice via adrenocortical activation and hippocampal neurogenesis suppression. Mol Psychiatry 13 (7):717–728
- 19. Pan Y et al (2006) Effects of icariin on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis action and cytokine levels in stressed Sprague–Dawley rats. Biol Pharm Bull 29(12):2399–2403
- 20. You Z et al (2011) Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines expression in rat's brain and spleen exposed to chronic mild stress: involvement in depression. Behav Brain Res 225(1):135–141
- 21. Li S et al (2008) Chronic mild stress impairs cognition in mice: from brain homeostasis to behavior. Life Sci 82(17–18):934–942
- 22. Liu W et al (2013) Swimming exercise ameliorates depression-like behavior in chronically stressed rats: relevant to proinflammatory cytokines and IDO activation. Behav Brain Res 242:110–116
- Chourbaji S et al (2006) IL-6 knockout mice exhibit resistance to stress-induced development of depression-like behaviors. Neurobiol Dis 23(3):587–594
- 24. Bartolomucci A et al (2003) Individual housing induces altered immuno-endocrine responses to psychological stress in male mice. Psychoneuroendocrinology 28(4):540–558
- 25. Moller M et al (2013) Social isolation rearing induces mitochondrial, immunological, neurochemical and behavioural deficits in rats, and is reversed by clozapine or N-acetyl cysteine. Brain Behav Immun 30:156–167
- 26. Gomez-Lazaro E et al (2011) Individual differences in chronically defeated male mice: behavioral, endocrine, immune, and neurotrophic changes as markers of vulnerability to the effects of stress. Stress 14(5):537–548
- 27. Patki G et al (2013) Depression, anxiety-like behavior and memory impairment are associated with increased oxidative stress and inflammation in a rat model of social stress. Brain Res 1539:73–86
- Sukoff Rizzo SJ et al (2012) Evidence for sustained elevation of IL-6 in the CNS as a key contributor of depressive-like phenotypes. Transl Psychiatry 2, e199
- 29. Audet MC et al (2011) Social defeat promotes specific cytokine variations within the prefrontal cortex upon subsequent aggressive or endotoxin challenges. Brain Behav Immun 25(6):1197–1205
- 30. Rinwa P, Kumar A, Garg S (2013) Suppression of neuroinflammatory and apoptotic signaling cascade by curcumin alone and in combination with piperine in rat model of olfactory bulbectomy induced depression. PLoS One 8(4), e61052
- 31. Song C, Zhang XY, Manku M (2009) Increased phospholipase A2 activity and inflammatory response but decreased nerve growth factor expression in the olfactory bulbectomized rat model of depression: effects of chronic ethyl-eicosapentaenoate treatment. J Neurosci 29 (1):14–22
- 32. Ulloa JL et al (2010) Comparison of the antidepressant sertraline on differential depressionlike behaviors elicited by restraint stress and repeated corticosterone administration. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 97(2):213–221
- Kaster MP et al (2012) Depressive-like behavior induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha in mice. Neuropharmacology 62(1):419–426
- 34. Bonaccorso S et al (2002) Increased depressive ratings in patients with hepatitis C receiving interferon-alpha-based immunotherapy are related to interferon-alpha-induced changes in the serotonergic system. J Clin Psychopharmacol 22(1):86–90
- 35. Xia Z, DePierre JW, Nassberger L (1996) Tricyclic antidepressants inhibit IL-6, IL-1 beta and TNF-alpha release in human blood monocytes and IL-2 and interferon-gamma in T cells. Immunopharmacology 34(1):27–37
- 36. Seidel A et al (1995) Cytokine production and serum proteins in depression. Scand J Immunol 41(6):534–538
- Mohr DC et al (2001) Comparative outcomes for individual cognitive-behavior therapy, supportive-expressive group psychotherapy, and sertraline for the treatment of depression in multiple sclerosis. J Consult Clin Psychol 69(6):942–949

- 38. Brustolim D et al (2006) A new chapter opens in anti-inflammatory treatments: the antidepressant bupropion lowers production of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interferon-gamma in mice. Int Immunopharmacol 6(6):903–907
- Maes M et al (1999) Negative immunoregulatory effects of antidepressants: inhibition of interferon-gamma and stimulation of interleukin-10 secretion. Neuropsychopharmacology 20 (4):370–379
- 40. Kubera M et al (2000) The effect of repeated amitriptyline and desipramine administration on cytokine release in C57BL/6 mice. Psychoneuroendocrinology 25(8):785–797
- 41. Kubera M et al (2000) Effects of repeated fluoxetine and citalopram administration on cytokine release in C57BL/6 mice. Psychiatry Res 96(3):255–266
- Beurel E, Harrington LE, Jope RS (2013) Inflammatory T helper 17 cells promote depressionlike behavior in mice. Biol Psychiatry 73(7):622–630
- Waisman A, Hauptmann J, Regen T (2015) The role of IL-17 in CNS diseases. Acta Neuropathol 129(5):625–637
- 44. Ferrari AJ et al (2013) Global variation in the prevalence and incidence of major depressive disorder: a systematic review of the epidemiological literature. Psychol Med 43(3):471–481
- 45. Hurwitz EL, Morgenstern H (1999) Cross-sectional associations of asthma, hay fever, and other allergies with major depression and low-back pain among adults aged 20–39 years in the United States. Am J Epidemiol 150(10):1107–1116
- 46. de Miguel Diez J et al (2011) Psychiatric comorbidity in asthma patients. Associated factors. J Asthma 48(3):253–258
- 47. Prosser R, Carleton B, Smith A (2010) The comorbidity burden of the treated asthma patient population in British Columbia. Chronic Dis Can 30(2):46–55
- 48. Matcham F et al (2013) The prevalence of depression in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 52(12):2136–2148
- Celano CM, Huffman JC (2011) Depression and cardiac disease: a review. Cardiol Rev 19 (3):130–142
- 50. Vancampfort D et al (2015) Type 2 diabetes in patients with major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis of prevalence estimates and predictors. Depress Anxiety 32(10):763–773
- 51. Ahlgren SS et al (2004) Development of a preliminary diabetes dietary satisfaction and outcomes measure for patients with type 2 diabetes. Qual Life Res 13(4):819–832
- 52. Sacco WP et al (2005) Depression in adults with type 2 diabetes: the role of adherence, body mass index, and self-efficacy. Health Psychol 24(6):630–634
- 53. Roberts RE et al (2003) Prospective association between obesity and depression: evidence from the Alameda County study. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 27(4):514–521
- 54. Nigatu YT et al (2015) The longitudinal joint effect of obesity and major depression on work performance impairment. Am J Public Health 105(5):e80–e86
- 55. Zalli A et al (2015) Low-grade inflammation predicts persistence of depressive symptoms. Psychopharmacology (Berl)
- 56. Vogelzangs N et al (2012) Association of depressive disorders, depression characteristics and antidepressant medication with inflammation. Transl Psychiatry 2, e79
- 57. Felger JC et al (2015) Inflammation is associated with decreased functional connectivity within corticostriatal reward circuitry in depression. Mol Psychiatry
- 58. Leonard BE (2015) Pain, depression and inflammation: are interconnected causative factors involved? Mod Trends Pharmacopsychiatry 30:22–35
- Young JJ, Bruno D, Pomara N (2014) A review of the relationship between proinflammatory cytokines and major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord 169:15–20
- 60. Levine J et al (1999) Cerebrospinal cytokine levels in patients with acute depression. Neuropsychobiology 40(4):171–176
- 61. Raison CL et al (2009) Activation of central nervous system inflammatory pathways by interferon-alpha: relationship to monoamines and depression. Biol Psychiatry 65(4):296–303

- Pavon L et al (2006) Th2 cytokine response in major depressive disorder patients before treatment. J Neuroimmunol 172(1–2):156–165
- 63. Euteneuer F et al (2011) Depression, cytokines and experimental pain: evidence for sex-related association patterns. J Affect Disord 131(1-3):143-149
- 64. Fitzgerald P et al (2006) Cutaneous glucocorticoid receptor sensitivity and pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in antidepressant-resistant depression. Psychol Med 36(1):37–43
- 65. Valkanova V, Ebmeier KP, Allan CL (2013) CRP, IL-6 and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. J Affect Disord 150(3):736–744
- 66. Gharekhani A et al (2014) The effect of omega-3 fatty acids on depressive symptoms and inflammatory markers in maintenance hemodialysis patients: a randomized, placebocontrolled clinical trial. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 70(6):655–665
- 67. Mischoulon D et al (2015) A double-blind, randomized controlled clinical trial comparing eicosapentaenoic acid versus docosahexaenoic acid for depression. J Clin Psychiatry 76 (1):54–61
- 68. Dashti-Khavidaki S et al (2014) Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on depression and quality of life in maintenance hemodialysis patients. Am J Ther 21(4):275–287
- 69. Sinn N et al (2012) Effects of n-3 fatty acids, EPA v. DHA, on depressive symptoms, quality of life, memory and executive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment: a 6-month randomised controlled trial. Br J Nutr 107(11):1682–1693
- 70. Tajalizadekhoob Y et al (2011) The effect of low-dose omega 3 fatty acids on the treatment of mild to moderate depression in the elderly: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 261(8):539–549
- 71. Rondanelli M et al (2010) Effect of omega-3 fatty acids supplementation on depressive symptoms and on health-related quality of life in the treatment of elderly women with depression: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. J Am Coll Nutr 29(1):55–64
- 72. Rondanelli M et al (2011) Long chain omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids supplementation in the treatment of elderly depression: effects on depressive symptoms, on phospholipids fatty acids profile and on health-related quality of life. J Nutr Health Aging 15(1):37–44
- 73. Freeman MP et al (2011) Omega-3 fatty acids for major depressive disorder associated with the menopausal transition: a preliminary open trial. Menopause 18(3):279–284
- 74. Lesperance F et al (2011) The efficacy of omega-3 supplementation for major depression: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Psychiatry 72(8):1054–1062
- 75. Mischoulon D et al (2009) A double-blind, randomized controlled trial of ethyleicosapentaenoate for major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 70(12):1636–1644
- 76. Clayton EH et al (2009) Reduced mania and depression in juvenile bipolar disorder associated with long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation. Eur J Clin Nutr 63 (8):1037–1040
- Nemets H et al (2006) Omega-3 treatment of childhood depression: a controlled, doubleblind pilot study. Am J Psychiatry 163(6):1098–1100
- Su KP et al (2003) Omega-3 fatty acids in major depressive disorder. A preliminary doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 13(4):267–271
- 79. Wiggs LD et al (1991) Mortality among workers exposed to external ionizing radiation at a nuclear facility in Ohio. J Occup Med 33(5):632–637
- 80. Haberka M et al (2013) Effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on depressive symptoms, anxiety and emotional state in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Pharmacol Rep 65 (1):59–68
- 81. Freeman MP et al (2008) Omega-3 fatty acids and supportive psychotherapy for perinatal depression: a randomized placebo-controlled study. J Affect Disord 110(1–2):142–148
- 82. Gertsik L et al (2012) Omega-3 fatty acid augmentation of citalopram treatment for patients with major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 32(1):61–64
- 83. Lopresti AL et al (2015) Curcumin and major depression: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial investigating the potential of peripheral biomarkers to predict

treatment response and antidepressant mechanisms of change. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 25(1):38–50

- Lopresti AL et al (2014) Curcumin for the treatment of major depression: a randomised, double-blind, placebo controlled study. J Affect Disord 167:368–375
- 85. Iyengar RL et al (2013) NSAIDs are associated with lower depression scores in patients with osteoarthritis. Am J Med 126(11):1017 e11-8
- 86. Mendlewicz J et al (2006) Shortened onset of action of antidepressants in major depression using acetylsalicylic acid augmentation: a pilot open-label study. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 21(4):227–231
- 87. Muller N et al (2006) The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib has therapeutic effects in major depression: results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled, add-on pilot study to reboxetine. Mol Psychiatry 11(7):680–684
- Abbasi SH et al (2012) Effect of celecoxib add-on treatment on symptoms and serum IL-6 concentrations in patients with major depressive disorder: randomized double-blind placebocontrolled study. J Affect Disord 141(2–3):308–314
- 89. Akhondzadeh S et al (2009) Clinical trial of adjunctive celecoxib treatment in patients with major depression: a double blind and placebo controlled trial. Depress Anxiety 26 (7):607–611
- 90. Nery FG et al (2008) Celecoxib as an adjunct in the treatment of depressive or mixed episodes of bipolar disorder: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. Hum Psychopharmacol 23(2):87–94
- 91. Ertenli I et al (2012) Infliximab, a TNF-alpha antagonist treatment in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: the impact on depression, anxiety and quality of life level. Rheumatol Int 32 (2):323–330
- 92. Raison CL et al (2013) A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. JAMA Psychiatry 70(1):31–41
- 93. Mocking RJ et al (2012) Biological effects of add-on eicosapentaenoic acid supplementation in diabetes mellitus and co-morbid depression: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One 7 (11), e49431
- 94. da Silva TM et al (2008) Depression in Parkinson's disease: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled pilot study of omega-3 fatty-acid supplementation. J Affect Disord 111 (2-3):351–359
- 95. Mischoulon D et al (2008) A double-blind dose-finding pilot study of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) for major depressive disorder. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 18(9):639–645
- 96. Peet M, Horrobin DF (2002) A dose-ranging study of the effects of ethyl-eicosapentaenoate in patients with ongoing depression despite apparently adequate treatment with standard drugs. Arch Gen Psychiatry 59(10):913–919
- 97. Mozaffari-Khosravi H et al (2013) Eicosapentaenoic acid versus docosahexaenoic acid in mild-to-moderate depression: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 23(7):636–644
- Bergman J et al (2013) Curcumin as an add-on to antidepressive treatment: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot clinical study. Clin Neuropharmacol 36(3):73–77
- 99. Meyer BJ et al (2013) Improvement of major depression is associated with increased erythrocyte DHA. Lipids 48(9):863-868
- 100. Antypa N et al (2012) Effects of omega-3 fatty acid supplementation on mood and emotional information processing in recovered depressed individuals. J Psychopharmacol 26 (5):738–743
- 101. Giltay EJ, Geleijnse JM, Kromhout D (2011) Effects of n-3 fatty acids on depressive symptoms and dispositional optimism after myocardial infarction. Am J Clin Nutr 94 (6):1442–1450

- 102. Rees AM, Austin MP, Parker GB (2008) Omega-3 fatty acids as a treatment for perinatal depression: randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 42 (3):199–205
- 103. Grenyer BF et al (2007) Fish oil supplementation in the treatment of major depression: a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31(7):1393–1396
- 104. Freeman MP et al (2006) Randomized dose-ranging pilot trial of omega-3 fatty acids for postpartum depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand 113(1):31–35
- 105. Llorente AM et al (2003) Effect of maternal docosahexaenoic acid supplementation on postpartum depression and information processing. Am J Obstet Gynecol 188(5):1348–1353
- 106. Marangell LB et al (2003) A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid in the treatment of major depression. Am J Psychiatry 160(5):996–998
- 107. Lucas M et al (2009) Ethyl-eicosapentaenoic acid for the treatment of psychological distress and depressive symptoms in middle-aged women: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. Am J Clin Nutr 89(2):641–651
- 108. Bot M et al (2010) Eicosapentaenoic acid as an add-on to antidepressant medication for co-morbid major depression in patients with diabetes mellitus: a randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled study. J Affect Disord 126(1–2):282–286
- 109. Silvers KM et al (2005) Randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial of fish oil in the treatment of depression. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 72(3):211–218
- 110. Keck PE Jr et al (2006) Double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trials of ethyleicosapentanoate in the treatment of bipolar depression and rapid cycling bipolar disorder. Biol Psychiatry 60(9):1020–1022
- 111. Bot M et al (2011) Supplementation with eicosapentaenoic omega-3 fatty acid does not influence serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor in diabetes mellitus patients with major depression: a randomized controlled pilot study. Neuropsychobiology 63(4):219–223
- 112. Carney RM et al (2009) Omega-3 augmentation of sertraline in treatment of depression in patients with coronary heart disease: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 302 (15):1651–1657
- 113. Bot M et al (2011) Inflammation and treatment response to sertraline in patients with coronary heart disease and comorbid major depression. J Psychosom Res 71(1):13–17
- 114. Sanmukhani J et al (2014) Efficacy and safety of curcumin in major depressive disorder: a randomized controlled trial. Phytother Res 28(4):579–585
- 115. Fields C et al (2012) Celecoxib or naproxen treatment does not benefit depressive symptoms in persons age 70 and older: findings from a randomized controlled trial. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 20(6):505–513
- 116. Sharpley CF, Agnew LL (2011) Cytokines and depression: findings, issues, and treatment implications. Rev Neurosci 22(3):295–302
- 117. Dinarello CA (1996) Biologic basis for interleukin-1 in disease. Blood 87(6):2095-2147
- 118. Plata-Salaman CR, Ilyin SE (1997) Interleukin-1beta (IL-1beta)-induced modulation of the hypothalamic IL-1beta system, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and transforming growth factorbeta1 mRNAs in obese (fa/fa) and lean (Fa/Fa) Zucker rats: implications to IL-1beta feedback systems and cytokine-cytokine interactions. J Neurosci Res 49(5):541–550
- 119. Jehn CF et al (2010) Association of IL-6, hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis function, and depression in patients with cancer. Integr Cancer Ther 9(3):270–275
- 120. Mastorakos G, Chrousos GP, Weber JS (1993) Recombinant interleukin-6 activates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 77(6):1690–1694
- 121. Himmerich H et al (2006) Successful antidepressant therapy restores the disturbed interplay between TNF-alpha system and HPA axis. Biol Psychiatry 60(8):882–888
- 122. Myint AM, Kim YK (2003) Cytokine-serotonin interaction through IDO: a neurodegeneration hypothesis of depression. Med Hypotheses 61(5–6):519–525
- 123. Catena-Dell'Osso M et al (2013) Inflammation, serotonin and major depression. Curr Drug Targets 14(5):571–577

- 124. Pemberton LA et al (1997) Quinolinic acid production by macrophages stimulated with IFN-gamma, TNF-alpha, and IFN-alpha. J Interferon Cytokine Res 17(10):589–595
- 125. Zalcman S et al (1994) Cytokine-specific central monoamine alterations induced by interleukin-1, -2 and -6. Brain Res 643(1-2):40-49
- 126. Hurst SM, Collins SM (1994) Mechanism underlying tumor necrosis factor-alpha suppression of norepinephrine release from rat myenteric plexus. Am J Physiol 266(6 Pt 1):G1123–G1129
- 127. Ando T, Dunn AJ (1999) Mouse tumor necrosis factor-alpha increases brain tryptophan concentrations and norepinephrine metabolism while activating the HPA axis in mice. Neuroimmunomodulation 6(5):319–329
- 128. Moron JA et al (2003) Mitogen-activated protein kinase regulates dopamine transporter surface expression and dopamine transport capacity. J Neurosci 23(24):8480–8488
- 129. Wu HQ, Rassoulpour A, Schwarcz R (2007) Kynurenic acid leads, dopamine follows: a new case of volume transmission in the brain? J Neural Transm (Vienna) 114(1):33–41
- 130. Shuto H et al (1997) Repeated interferon-alpha administration inhibits dopaminergic neural activity in the mouse brain. Brain Res 747(2):348–351
- 131. Kitagami T et al (2003) Mechanism of systemically injected interferon-alpha impeding monoamine biosynthesis in rats: role of nitric oxide as a signal crossing the blood-brain barrier. Brain Res 978(1-2):104-114
- 132. Viviani B et al (2003) Interleukin-1beta enhances NMDA receptor-mediated intracellular calcium increase through activation of the Src family of kinases. J Neurosci 23 (25):8692–8700
- 133. Hu S et al (2000) Cytokine effects on glutamate uptake by human astrocytes. Neuroimmunomodulation 7(3):153–159
- 134. Hayley S et al (2005) The pathogenesis of clinical depression: stressor- and cytokine-induced alterations of neuroplasticity. Neuroscience 135(3):659–678
- 135. Kaneko N et al (2006) Suppression of cell proliferation by interferon-alpha through interleukin-1 production in adult rat dentate gyrus. Neuropsychopharmacology 31 (12):2619–2626
- 136. Dantzer R et al (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9(1):46–56
- 137. Raison CL, Capuron L, Miller AH (2006) Cytokines sing the blues: inflammation and the pathogenesis of depression. Trends Immunol 27(1):24–31
- 138. Pavol MA et al (1995) Pattern of neurobehavioral deficits associated with interferon alfa therapy for leukemia. Neurology 45(5):947–950
- 139. Malaguarnera M et al (1998) Interferon alpha-induced depression in chronic hepatitis C patients: comparison between different types of interferon alpha. Neuropsychobiology 37 (2):93–97
- 140. Caraceni A et al (1998) Neurotoxicity of interferon-alpha in melanoma therapy: results from a randomized controlled trial. Cancer 83(3):482–489
- 141. Raison CL et al (2010) CSF concentrations of brain tryptophan and kynurenines during immune stimulation with IFN-alpha: relationship to CNS immune responses and depression. Mol Psychiatry 15(4):393–403
- 142. Schaefer M et al (2002) Interferon alpha (IFNalpha) and psychiatric syndromes: a review. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 26(4):731–746
- 143. Brydon L et al (2009) Synergistic effects of psychological and immune stressors on inflammatory cytokine and sickness responses in humans. Brain Behav Immun 23(2):217–224
- 144. Strike PC, Wardle J, Steptoe A (2004) Mild acute inflammatory stimulation induces transient negative mood. J Psychosom Res 57(2):189–194
- 145. Geubelle F (1956) Spectrophotometric semi-micro method for the determination of the hemoglobin-oxyhemoglobin ratio in the blood. Clin Chim Acta 1(3):225–228
- 146. Dowlati Y et al (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67 (5):446–457
- 147. Setiawan E et al (2015) Role of translocator protein density, a marker of neuroinflammation, in the brain during major depressive episodes. JAMA Psychiatry 72(3):268–275
- 148. Maes M et al (1990) Immune disturbances during major depression: upregulated expression of interleukin-2 receptors. Neuropsychobiology 24(3):115–120
- 149. Maes M et al (2012) Activation of cell-mediated immunity in depression: association with inflammation, melancholia, clinical staging and the fatigue and somatic symptom cluster of depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 36(1):169–175
- 150. Maes M et al (1993) Relationships between lower plasma L-tryptophan levels and immuneinflammatory variables in depression. Psychiatry Res 49(2):151–165
- 151. Gabbay V et al (2010) The possible role of the kynurenine pathway in adolescent depression with melancholic features. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 51(8):935–943
- 152. Maes M et al (2011) The new '5-HT' hypothesis of depression: cell-mediated immune activation induces indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, which leads to lower plasma tryptophan and an increased synthesis of detrimental tryptophan catabolites (TRYCATs), both of which contribute to the onset of depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35 (3):702–721
- 153. Tang CZ et al (2015) Elevated serum levels of neopterin at admission predicts depression after acute ischemic stroke: a 6-month follow-up study. Mol Neurobiol
- 154. Andreazza AC (2012) Combining redox-proteomics and epigenomics to explain the involvement of oxidative stress in psychiatric disorders. Mol Biosyst 8(10):2503–2512
- 155. Liu T et al (2015) A meta-analysis of oxidative stress markers in depression. PLoS One 10 (10), e0138904
- 156. Mazereeuw G et al (2015) A meta-analysis of lipid peroxidation markers in major depression. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 11:2479–2491
- 157. Black CN et al (2015) Is depression associated with increased oxidative stress? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychoneuroendocrinology 51:164–175
- 158. Maes M et al (2012) New drug targets in depression: inflammatory, cell-mediated immune, oxidative and nitrosative stress, mitochondrial, antioxidant, and neuroprogressive pathways. And new drug candidates—Nrf2 activators and GSK-3 inhibitors. Inflammopharmacology 20 (3):127–150
- 159. Shao L et al (2008) Mitochondrial involvement in psychiatric disorders. Ann Med 40 (4):281–295
- 160. Suomalainen A et al (1992) Multiple deletions of mitochondrial DNA in several tissues of a patient with severe retarded depression and familial progressive external ophthalmoplegia. J Clin Invest 90(1):61–66
- 161. Gardner A, Boles RG (2008) Mitochondrial energy depletion in depression with somatization. Psychother Psychosom 77(2):127–129
- 162. Chang CC et al (2015) Mitochondria DNA change and oxidative damage in clinically stable patients with major depressive disorder. PLoS One 10(5), e0125855
- 163. Rodenburg W et al (2008) Impaired barrier function by dietary fructo-oligosaccharides (FOS) in rats is accompanied by increased colonic mitochondrial gene expression. BMC Genomics 9:144
- 164. Leonard B, Maes M (2012) Mechanistic explanations how cell-mediated immune activation, inflammation and oxidative and nitrosative stress pathways and their sequels and concomitants play a role in the pathophysiology of unipolar depression. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 36 (2):764–785
- 165. Liu Y, Ho RC, Mak A (2012) Interleukin (IL)-6, tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) and soluble interleukin-2 receptors (sIL-2R) are elevated in patients with major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. J Affect Disord 139(3):230–239
- 166. Martin-Subero M et al (2016) Comorbidity between depression and inflammatory bowel disease explained by immune-inflammatory, oxidative, and nitrosative stress; tryptophan catabolite; and gut-brain pathways. CNS Spectr 21(2):184–198

- 167. Mazereeuw G et al (2013) Platelet activating factors in depression and coronary artery disease: a potential biomarker related to inflammatory mechanisms and neurodegeneration. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 37(8):1611–1621
- 168. Adibhatla RM, Dempsy R, Hatcher JF (2008) Integration of cytokine biology and lipid metabolism in stroke. Front Biosci 13:1250–1270
- 169. Kita Y et al (2006) Biochemical properties and pathophysiological roles of cytosolic phospholipase A2s. Biochim Biophys Acta 1761(11):1317–1322
- 170. Thivierge M, Rola-Pleszczynski M (1992) Platelet-activating factor enhances interleukin-6 production by alveolar macrophages. J Allergy Clin Immunol 90(5):796–802
- 171. Rola-Pleszczynski M et al (1993) Differential regulation of cytokine and cytokine receptor genes by PAF, LTB4 and PGE2. J Lipid Mediat 6(1-3):175–181
- 172. Mazereeuw G et al (2015) Platelet activating factors are associated with depressive symptoms in coronary artery disease patients: a hypothesis-generating study. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 11:2309–2314
- 173. Shadel GS, Horvath TL (2015) Mitochondrial ROS signaling in organismal homeostasis. Cell 163(3):560–569
- 174. Moylan S et al (2014) Oxidative & nitrosative stress in depression: why so much stress? Neurosci Biobehav Rev 45:46–62
- 175. Maes M et al (2011) A review on the oxidative and nitrosative stress (O&NS) pathways in major depression and their possible contribution to the (neuro)degenerative processes in that illness. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35(3):676–692
- 176. Maes M et al (2013) Increased autoimmune responses against auto-epitopes modified by oxidative and nitrosative damage in depression: implications for the pathways to chronic depression and neuroprogression. J Affect Disord 149(1–3):23–29
- 177. Maes M et al (2011) IgM-mediated autoimmune responses directed against multiple neoepitopes in depression: new pathways that underpin the inflammatory and neuroprogressive pathophysiology. J Affect Disord 135(1–3):414–418
- 178. Moniczewski A et al (2015) Oxidative stress as an etiological factor and a potential treatment target of psychiatric disorders. Part 1. Chemical aspects and biological sources of oxidative stress in the brain. Pharmacol Rep 67(3):560–568
- 179. Jimenez-Fernandez S et al (2015) Oxidative stress and antioxidant parameters in patients with major depressive disorder compared to healthy controls before and after antidepressant treatment: results from a meta-analysis., J Clin Psychiatry
- 180. Vavakova M, Durackova Z, Trebaticka J (2015) Markers of oxidative stress and neuroprogression in depression disorder. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2015:898393
- 181. Novak EA, Mollen KP (2015) Mitochondrial dysfunction in inflammatory bowel disease. Front Cell Dev Biol 3:62
- 182. De La Garza R 2nd et al (2005) Recombinant human interferon-alpha does not alter reward behavior, or neuroimmune and neuroendocrine activation in rats. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 29(5):781–792
- 183. Marques-Deak AH et al (2007) Cytokine profiles in women with different subtypes of major depressive disorder. J Psychiatr Res 41(1–2):152–159
- 184. Steptoe A, Kunz-Ebrecht SR, Owen N (2003) Lack of association between depressive symptoms and markers of immune and vascular inflammation in middle-aged men and women. Psychol Med 33(4):667–674
- 185. Stubner S et al (1999) Interleukin-6 and the soluble IL-6 receptor are decreased in cerebrospinal fluid of geriatric patients with major depression: no alteration of soluble gp130. Neurosci Lett 259(3):145–148
- 186. Brambilla F, Maggioni M (1998) Blood levels of cytokines in elderly patients with major depressive disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand 97(4):309–313
- 187. Lotrich FE et al (2007) Depression following pegylated interferon-alpha: characteristics and vulnerability. J Psychosom Res 63(2):131–135

- 188. Fornaro M et al (2013) Might different cytokine trends in depressed patients receiving duloxetine indicate differential biological backgrounds. J Affect Disord 145(3):300–307
- 189. Baudez JC et al (2013) The viscoelastic behaviour of raw and anaerobic digested sludge: strong similarities with soft-glassy materials. Water Res 47(1):173–180

Role of Inflammation in the Development of Neuropsychiatric Symptom Domains: Evidence and Mechanisms

Lucile Capuron and Nathalie Castanon

Abstract The finding that inflammatory markers are elevated in various neuropsychiatric disorders raises the need of identifying the precise research domain criteria driven by inflammation. Based on the model of inflammation-induced depression it has been possible to identify distinct pathophysiological pathways leading to alterations in neurotransmitter metabolism with specific relevance for the development of symptom constellations that are common to various neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative conditions. Moreover, converging data indicate that these pathways interact with relevant vulnerability factors and modulatory systems to ultimately impact the presentation of inflammation-driven neuropsychiatric symptoms. Altogether, these findings make inflammation a key pivotal factor in psychopathology. Developing treatments that target inflammation and modulate the pathways and systems by which inflammatory processes selectively affect brain function will be of particular relevance for the treatment of specific neurobehavioral symptom domains.

Keywords Cytokines • Depression • Inflammation • Neuropsychiatric symptom domains • Pathophysiology • Research domain criteria • Vulnerability

L. Capuron (🖂) and N. Castanon

Laboratory of Nutrition and Integrative Neurobiology (NutriNeuro), UMR 1286, INRA, University Victor Segalen Bordeaux 2, 146 rue Léo Saignat, F-33076 Bordeaux, France

INRA, Laboratory of Nutrition and Integrative Neurobiology (NutriNeuro), UMR 1286, University of Bordeaux, F-33076 Bordeaux, France e-mail: lucile.capuron@bordeaux.inra.fr

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 31–44 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_14 Published Online: 20 May 2016

Contents	5
----------	---

1	Infla	mmation and Neuropsychiatric Symptoms	32
	1.1	From Sickness to Neuropsychiatric Disorders	32
	1.2	Towards the Identification of Common Major Symptom Domains Targeted by	
		Inflammatory Processes	33
	1.3	Evidence for a Role of Inflammation in Distinct Neuropsychiatric Domains	33
2	Infla	mmation and the Specificity of Neuropsychiatric Symptoms Units	35
	2.1	A Multimodal Biological Substrate	35
	2.2	Vulnerability and Modulatory Factors	37
3	Cone	clusion and Therapeutic Implications	40
Re	ferend	ces	40

1 Inflammation and Neuropsychiatric Symptoms

1.1 From Sickness to Neuropsychiatric Disorders

A large set of data documents the role of inflammation in the development of neuropsychiatric symptoms. Over the last decades, clinical and experimental investigations focusing on the intricate relationship between the innate immune system and the brain have supported a pivotal role for cytokines in the induction of both sickness behavior and neuropsychiatric symptoms [1-3]. Most cytokines are produced locally by activated innate immune cells in response to tissue injury, infection, or inflammation. They are also able to act systemically on distant organs, including the brain. Activation of immune-to-brain pathways by peripheral cytokines ultimately induces the transient production of brain cytokines by activated endothelial and glial cells, particularly microglia [4, 5]. By in turn altering neurotransmitter metabolism and function, neuroendocrine activity, neural plasticity, and/or brain circuitry, brain cytokines coordinate behavioral changes collectively referred to as sickness behavior [1, 6]. Necessary for infection recovery, sickness behavior usually resolves within a few days, once microbial pathogens have been cleared and the innate immune system is no longer activated. However, failure to tightly regulate systemic immune activation and/or brain microglial activation leads to a significant and prolonged induction of peripheral and brain cytokines. Such sustained inflammation might in turn culminate in neuropsychiatric symptoms, particularly when it ultimately affects neurotransmitter systems playing a key role in mood regulation and/or cognitive function [2, 7–9]. In support of this notion, a substantial number of clinical and preclinical studies have clearly established the involvement of cytokines in the pathophysiology of depression (see for review [1-3] and the other chapters in this book). The most compelling evidence for this comes from findings obtained with the model of cytokine-induced depression in medically ill patients undergoing cytokine immune therapy. Using this model, we and others have shown that 30-50% of patients free of any psychiatric antecedent but treated chronically with interferon (IFN)-alpha develop major depression during the course of the treatment and that this effect can be prevented by prophylactic administration of antidepressants [10–12].

1.2 Towards the Identification of Common Major Symptom Domains Targeted by Inflammatory Processes

While the role of inflammation in the development of neuropsychiatric disorders has been most extensively studied in major depression, a number of recent reports show that inflammatory processes are also activated in bipolar depression, anxiety disorders, autism, schizophrenia, cognitive decline, and neurodegenerative diseases [13–19]. In most of these conditions, the biomarkers that have been commonly found to be dysregulated (most often in the direction of an upregulation) include the pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin [IL]-1, IL-6, IL-12, tumor necrosis factor [TNF]- α and interferon [IFN]- γ and some of their soluble receptors, the cytokine soluble receptors, TNF-R1 and 2, and the anti-inflammatory cytokines, IL-10 and IL-4, the chemokines, eotaxin, and the acute phase protein, C reactive protein.

The non-specific association found between inflammation and neuropsychiatric disorders and the identification of common reliable inflammatory markers across those different disorders indicate that inflammatory processes could play a role in the etiology of symptom dimensions or symptom domains that overlap in – or are shared by – those conditions. This scenario is consistent with the Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) framework, which aims at improving the classification of mental disorders by incorporating multiple behavioral and neurobiological domains/ dimensions cut across diagnostic categories [20]. Furthermore, it gives inflammation a distinctive and strategic position in this framework.

1.3 Evidence for a Role of Inflammation in Distinct Neuropsychiatric Domains

The notion that inflammation can contribute to the pathophysiology of multiple neuropsychiatric symptom dimensions emerged from studies of cytokine-induced depression. Patients treated with IFN- α develop two different sets of symptoms with differential phenomenology and antidepressant treatment responsiveness. The first set is characterized by symptoms of fatigue, lack of energy (anergia), lassitude, decreased motivation, motor slowing, reduced appetite, and altered sleep. It arises during the first weeks of IFN- α treatment in nearly all patients. This symptom constellation is not prevented, or only poorly, by the prophylactic administration of a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) antidepressant such as paroxetine. The second set of symptoms includes sadness, decreased mood, reduced ability to experience pleasure (anhedonia), and impaired cognitive function. It develops usually at later phases of IFN- α treatment and it does so only in a subpopulation of patients (30-50% of patients), probably because of vulnerability factors. In contrast to the first set of symptoms, this second set of symptoms is prevented by SSRI antidepressant pretreatment (Fig. 1). This distinct phenomenology of cytokine-induced symptoms of depression attests of the involvement of separate



Fig. 1 Biphasic onset of interferon (IFN)- α -induced neuropsychiatric symptoms. IFN- α treatment in medically ill patients induces two types of neuropsychiatric symptom dimensions. Neurovegetative symptoms, including fatigue, psychomotor slowing, decreased tone and motivation, reduced appetite, and sleep disturbance develop early in the largest proportion of patients. These symptoms remain present during the duration of treatment and are minimally responsive to the prophylactic administration of the antidepressant, paroxetine, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor. Mood and cognitive symptoms, including depressed mood, anxiety symptoms, and cognitive disturbance, develop at later stages of treatment in 30–50% of patients, suggesting the existence of vulnerability factors. These symptoms can be prevented by the administration of paroxetine. (Adapted from Capuron and Miller [2])

underlying mechanisms. Interestingly, those mechanisms are likely to be involved in the physiopathology of the multiple neuropsychiatric disorders in which those core neurobehavioral symptom domains are also expressed and in which activated inflammatory processes have been reported.

Animal models have been developed to further assess the causal role of inflammation in the development of these distinct symptom constellations and to identify potential therapeutic targets. First attempts to experimentally assess the neurobiological bases of inflammation-induced neuropsychiatric symptoms have used acute immune activation by recombinant inflammatory cytokines or cytokine inducers (bacterial lipopolysaccharide: LPS and viral mimetic poly I:C) [21–23]. However, the results obtained using this model can be biased by the profound lethargy and motor impairment occurring in the first hours following immune stimulation [22, 24]. More suitable paradigms have implemented experimental designs based on the clinical evidence that emotional and cognitive symptoms develop later than sickness and neurovegetative symptoms in cytokine-treated patients [11]. Accordingly, it has been possible to differentiate the initial phase of decreased motor activity that progressively returns to normal from the delayed depressive-like behaviors that become visible after sickness has dissipated and remain up to 24 h after LPS administration to mice [25–27]. A similar dissociation between LPS-induced sickness behavior and increased anxiety-like behavior [28], or impaired spatial memory [8], has been also reported using the same experimental design. The brain structures that underlie LPS-induced sickness behavior differ from those responsible for depressive-like behavior, strongly supporting the notion emerging from clinical studies that different mechanisms and neurobiological substrates are involved [25]. Similarly, mice inoculated with Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG), which chronically activates the immune system [29], also display a transient episode of sickness behavior (lasting for a few days) followed by a longer occurrence of depressive-like behavior (up to several weeks) [30–32].

2 Inflammation and the Specificity of Neuropsychiatric Symptoms Units

2.1 A Multimodal Biological Substrate

The findings that cytokines are responsible for the expression of distinct neurobehavioral symptom dimensions that are expressed across multiple neuropsychiatric conditions prompted a surge of interest for the identification of the biological substrates that are differentially targeted by cytokines and that may selectively underlie those dimensions. In that context, the impact of inflammation on the serotoninergic and glutamatergic systems might be of particular relevance for the development of mood and cognitive symptoms whereas inflammation-induced alterations in dopamine metabolism and function might be involved in the constellation of symptoms encompassing fatigue, anergia, reduced pleasure/tone, decreased motivation, and altered sleep and appetite [1, 2, 33, 34]. Consistent with this scenario, cytokines are responsible for the selective and time-dependent activation of specific enzymes, including indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and GTP-cyclohydrolase 1 (GTP-CH1) that play a major role in serotoninergic, glutamatergic, and dopaminergic neurotransmission. Information on these enzymatic pathways and their role in monoamine biosynthesis and activity is fully discussed in this volume (see the chapters by Dantzer, Felger, and Fuchs in this book). Briefly, the sustained activation of brain IDO both at the periphery and in the brain results in an increased catabolism of tryptophan, the essential amino acid precursor of serotonin (5-HT), along the kynurenine pathway [1, 27, 31, 32]. This reaction can potentially reduce in turn tryptophan bioavailability for the synthesis of 5-HT although the extent to which this is the case in the real world remains to be demonstrated. More importantly, increased brain kynurenine levels can be further metabolized neuroactive glutamatergic compounds, into including 3-hydroxykynurenine and quinolinic acid, which are neurotoxic by stimulating NMDA receptors and promoting oxidative stress [35-37]. On the other hand,

kynurenine can also be metabolized into kynurenic acid that has neuroprotective properties to some extent. These apparently antagonistic pathways are compartmentalized in the brain, with microglia preferentially producing quinolinic acid and astrocytes kynurenic acid. Sustained immune activation therefore tips the scale in favor of neurotoxicity. In support of this notion, increased brain or cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) concentrations of kynurenine and its neurotoxic metabolites have been reported in several neurodegenerative and psychiatric disorders and they have been associated with extent of brain damage [35, 37–41], and with mood and cognitive impairments [37]. In addition, activation of the kynurenine pathway has been recently shown to affect human hippocampal neurogenesis [42–44].

Cytokine-induced activation of GTP-CH1, the rate limiting enzyme of GTP conversion ultimately leads to the production of neopterin by activated peripheral and brain immune cells. This is done at the expense of the formation of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4), an essential co-factor of dopamine and serotonin biosynthesis [45–47]. Of note, BH4 is also a co-factor of nitric oxide synthase (NOS). By impairing the function of this enzyme, cytokines can indirectly contribute to increase the production of free radicals generating oxidative stress. This reaction in turn promotes oxidative reduction of BH4 itself, which is highly redox-sensitive, and by doing so decreases even more its availability for dopamine and serotonin syntheses.

The activation of IDO and GTP-CH1 and their respective related pathways by inflammatory processes may serve as key steps in the induction of inflammationassociated relevant neurobehavioral symptom constellations. More specifically, it appears highly possible that, given its role on serotonin and glutamate systems, IDO plays a major role in the development of mood and cognitive symptom domains whereas GTP-CH1, by modulating dopamine synthesis, could represent a pivot biological substrate of the neurovegetative and motivational symptoms associated with inflammation (for review see [33]). This scenario is currently supported by clinical and experimental evidence. At the clinical level, tryptophan levels and increased kynurenine/tryptophan ratio correlate with IFN-α-induced mood and cognitive symptoms but not with neurovegetative symptoms in medically ill patients undergoing immunotherapy [48]. In the same manner, decreases in blood tryptophan levels and increases in CSF quinolinic acid levels correlate with the intensity of depression scores in IFN- α treated patients, supporting further the involvement of kynurenine-related neurotoxic processes in the development of cytokine-induced depression [49]. These findings are consistent with recent data showing increased quinolinic acid levels in suicide attempters [50] and documenting a significant association between severe depression and increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus in postmortem studies of depressed patients [39]. In accordance with these clinical data, preclinical findings in laboratory rodents demonstrate that activation of brain IDO is associated with cognitive and emotional alterations following immune activation [51–54] and that pharmacological or genetic inhibition of IDO activity, obtained by acting either directly on the enzyme or indirectly on its inducing cytokines (mainly IFN- γ and TNF- α), prevents inflammation-induced depressive-like behaviors, anxiety-like behaviors, and/or cognitive impairment without impacting sickness behavior [27, 28, 31, 32, 51, 54, 55]. Supporting a role for the neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites in inducing behavioral alterations, NMDA receptor blockade abrogates cytokine-induced depressive-like behavior [56]. Consistent with the hypothesis that cytokine-induced activation of GTP-CH1 contributes to the development of neurovegetative and motivational symptoms, IFN- α -induced fatigue, decreased motivation, and anhedonia in IFN- α -treated patients and nonhuman primates correlate with significant alterations in BH4 [57] and dopamine neurotransmission [34]. In rats, systemic administration of IFN- α decreases brain levels of dopamine and BH4 through a mechanism involving NO, since this effect is reversed by treatment with an NOS inhibitor [58].

2.2 Vulnerability and Modulatory Factors

In addition to alterations in neurotransmitter metabolism, other non-exclusive mechanisms may contribute and/or facilitate the development of inflammationinduced mood/cognitive and neurovegetative/motivational symptoms. They involve the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, metabolic factors, and individual factors related to personality. Interestingly, recent data suggest that, depending of the involvement of these factors and their interaction with inflammatory processes, the presentation and expression of neuropsychiatric symptom dimensions may be different (Fig. 2).

The HPA Axis and Its Relation to Stress

Alterations in the HPA axis are a common feature in depression, and sensitization of this system, notably as a result of chronic stress or early life stress exposure, represents a potent risk factor for depression [59, 60]. Cytokines are capable of activating the HPA axis, leading ultimately to an increased production of glucocorticoids with strong anti-inflammatory actions. In patients treated with IFN- α , the first administration of the cytokine is responsible for a significant elevation in circulating levels of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) and cortisol [61]. Interestingly, this increase is threefold higher in patients who develop IFN- α -induced depression in comparison to patients who remain free of depression during treatment, and it correlates primarily with the development of the mood and cognitive features of depression. No significant association is found with the neurovegetative features of the disorder [61]. This result suggests that cytokine-induced HPA axis hyperactivity plays a distinctive role in the development of the mood and cognitive symptom dimensions related to inflammation. Supporting further the role of HPA axis alterations in modulating neuropsychiatric symptom presentation, multiple findings in depressed patients indicate that HPA axis hyperactivity is more apparent in depression with melancholic features. In depression with atypical features



Fig. 2 Pathways of inflammation-induced neuropsychiatric symptom dimensions. Cytokines are responsible for the activation of the enzymes indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and GTP-cyclohydrolase 1 (GTP-CH1) that play a major role in monoamine biosynthesis. Activation of IDO results in the increased catabolism of tryptophan, the essential amino acid precursor of serotonin (5-HT) along the kynurenine pathway. Kynurenine can be further metabolized to produce neuroactive glutamatergic compounds, including 3-hydroxykynurenine and quinolinic acid, which are neurotoxic by stimulating NMDA receptors and promoting oxidative stress. The activation of this pathway may play a role in the development of inflammation-related mood and cognitive symptoms. The activation of GTP-CH1 by inflammatory factors is done at the expense of the formation of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4), an essential co-factor of dopamine (DA) and serotonin (5-HT) biosyntheses and nitric oxide synthase. In addition to its impact on 5-HT related functions and symptoms, the alterations of BH4 pathway may contribute to the development of neurovegetative symptoms that are more related to alterations in dopamine function, including fatigue, motor slowing, reduced motivation, and anhedonia. The presentation of inflammationinduced neuropsychiatric symptom dimensions is also modulated by the interaction of inflammatory processes with neuroendocrine (HPA) and metabolic factors, and with individual characteristics (personality factors)

(including mood reactivity, increased appetite/weight gain, hypersomnia/fatigue, and interpersonal rejection sensitivity) hyperactivation of the HPA axis is less obvious [62, 63].

Metabolic Abnormalities

Chronic low-grade inflammation is a fundamental characteristic of metabolic disorders, including obesity and the metabolic syndrome that are also associated with alterations in the HPA axis. Moreover, and consistent with the role of inflammation in the development of neuropsychiatric symptoms, those conditions are

associated with a greater prevalence of depressive, anxiety, and cognitive symptoms [64–66]. Depression is frequent in individuals afflicted with overweight or obesity, and several data indicate that atypical symptoms of depression, including the neurovegetative symptoms of increased appetite/weight gain, hypersonnia, and fatigue, are particularly frequent in those subjects [67–69]. Interestingly, substantial alterations in the activity of the brain reward system and dopamine function, similar to those described in patients with cytokine-induced depression [34, 70], have been also documented in different studies in obese subjects [71, 72]. These findings suggest that metabolic factors can contribute to the presentation of depressive symptom domains and thus modulate the expression of these symptoms when driven by inflammation. Consistent with this notion, hyperleptinemia is associated with major depression with atypical symptoms in both remitted and current depressed subjects, and this relationship is stronger in subjects having high adiposity levels [73]. In accordance with this data, metabolic alterations, including increased weight and body mass index (BMI), high triglycerides levels, and low high-density lipid cholesterol together with high levels of inflammation significantly discriminate depressed patients with atypical features from depressed subjects with melancholic depression [62]. Altogether, these findings support the hypothesis that inflammatory-metabolic interactions can differentially modulate the expression of depressive symptom dimensions.

Personality

Personality factors may interact with inflammatory processes to influence or exacerbate neuropsychiatric symptom presentation. In support of this, depressive symptoms in medically ill patients undergoing IFN- α therapy present differently depending on the type of population treated. In cancer patients, with no or only minor psychiatric antecedents, depressed mood, anhedonia, and fatigue symptoms were particularly frequent in the clinical presentation of IFN- α -induced depression, whereas irritability, anxiety, and mood reactivity/lability were more prevalent in IFN- α -treated chronic hepatitis C patients, who frequently have a personal history of drug abuse or risky behaviors [11, 74]. Supporting further the role of personality factors in these effects, neuroticism, pessimism, and reduced self-efficacy are associated with the intensity of fatigue and depressive symptoms in cancer patients treated with IFN- α [75, 76]. Interestingly, depressed patients with higher irritability have atypical features and exhibit higher novelty seeking, irritable and hyperthymic temperament scores when compared to patients with major depression and no irritability, who present with higher scores of harm avoidance [77].

3 Conclusion and Therapeutic Implications

The finding that cytokines are elevated in various neuropsychiatric disorders brings to the forefront the necessity of identifying the precise research domain criteria that inflammation is responsible for. Data gained with the model of inflammationinduced depression have allowed identifying distinct pathophysiological pathways involved in neurotransmitter metabolism with specific relevance for the development of symptom constellations encompassing, respectively, mood/cognitive symptoms and neurovegetative/motivational alterations. These symptom domains represent core features of various neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders that are also characterized by an activation of inflammatory processes. Interestingly, converging data indicate that the interaction of inflammatory processes (and their effect on neurotransmitter pathways) with relevant vulnerability or modulatory factors, including personality, metabolic, and neuroendocrine factors, may also contribute to influence the presentation of inflammation-driven neuropsychiatric symptoms. While further research is needed to precisely determine the specific mechanisms of action and sequence of events involved in the shaping of symptom dimensions related to inflammation and their generalization across conditions, these findings give to inflammation a central position in the RDoC strategic approach of mental health. They also suggest that treatments targeting inflammation and modulating the pathways and systems by which inflammatory processes selectively affect brain function and behavior may be of particular relevance for the treatment of specific neurobehavioral symptom domains. This strategy adheres to the principles that are required for the development of a precision medicine in psychiatry.

Conflict of Interest Statement

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9 (1):46–56
- 2. Capuron L, Miller AH (2011) Immune system to brain signaling: neuropsychopharmacological implications. Pharmacol Ther 130(2):226–238
- Raison CL, Capuron L, Miller AH (2006) Cytokines sing the blues: inflammation and the pathogenesis of depression. Trends Immunol 27(1):24–31
- Castanon N, Medina C, Mormede C, Dantzer R (2004) Chronic administration of tianeptine balances lipopolysaccharide-induced expression of cytokines in the spleen and hypothalamus of rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology 29(6):778–790
- Layé S, Parnet P, Goujon E, Dantzer R (1994) Peripheral administration of lipopolysaccharide induces the expression of cytokine transcripts in the brain and pituitary of mice. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 27(1):157–162

- Anisman H, Merali Z, Hayley S (2008) Neurotransmitter, peptide and cytokine processes in relation to depressive disorder: comorbidity between depression and neurodegenerative disorders. Prog Neurobiol 85(1):1–74
- Borsini A, Zunszain PA, Thuret S, Pariante CM (2015) The role of inflammatory cytokines as key modulators of neurogenesis. Trends Neurosci 38:145–157
- Noble F, Rubira E, Boulanouar M et al (2007) Acute systemic inflammation induces central mitochondrial damage and mnesic deficit in adult Swiss mice. Neurosci Lett 424(2):106–110
- 9. Hein AM, Stasko MR, Matousek SB et al (2010) Sustained hippocampal IL-1beta overexpression impairs contextual and spatial memory in transgenic mice. Brain Behav Immun 24(2):243–253
- 10. Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Gumnick JF et al (2001) Paroxetine for the prevention of depression induced by high-dose interferon alfa. N Engl J Med 344(13):961–966
- Capuron L, Gumnick JF, Musselman DL et al (2002) Neurobehavioral effects of interferonalpha in cancer patients: phenomenology and paroxetine responsiveness of symptom dimensions. Neuropsychopharmacology 26(5):643–652
- Capuron L, Miller AH (2004) Cytokines and psychopathology: lessons from interferon-alpha. Biol Psychiatry 56(11):819–824
- Barbosa IG, Bauer ME, Machado-Vieira R, Teixeira AL (2014) Cytokines in bipolar disorder: paving the way for neuroprogression. Neural Plast 2014:360481
- 14. Dargel AA, Godin O, Kapczinski F, Kupfer DJ, Leboyer M (2015) C-reactive protein alterations in bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 76(2):142–150
- Solmi M, Veronese N, Favaro A et al (2015) Inflammatory cytokines and anorexia nervosa: a meta-analysis of cross-sectional and longitudinal studies. Psychoneuroendocrinology 51:237–252
- Hoge EA, Brandstetter K, Moshier S, Pollack MH, Wong KK, Simon NM (2009) Broad spectrum of cytokine abnormalities in panic disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder. Depress Anxiety 26(5):447–455
- 17. Masi A, Quintana DS, Glozier N, Lloyd AR, Hickie IB, Guastella AJ (2015) Cytokine aberrations in autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Mol Psychiatry 20(4):440–446
- Potvin S, Stip E, Sepehry AA, Gendron A, Bah R, Kouassi E (2008) Inflammatory cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: a systematic quantitative review. Biol Psychiatry 63(8):801–808
- 19. Lee KS, Chung JH, Choi TK, Suh SY, Oh BH, Hong CH (2009) Peripheral cytokines and chemokines in Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 28(4):281–287
- Insel TR (2014) The NIMH research domain criteria (RDoC) project: precision medicine for psychiatry. Am J Psychiatry 171(4):395–397
- De La Garza R 2nd (2005) Endotoxin- or pro-inflammatory cytokine-induced sickness behavior as an animal model of depression: focus on anhedonia. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29 (4–5):761–770
- 22. Dunn AJ, Swiergiel AH (2005) Effects of interleukin-1 and endotoxin in the forced swim and tail suspension tests in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 81(3):688–693
- 23. Makino M, Kitano Y, Komiyama C et al (2000) Human interferon-alpha induces immobility in the mouse forced swimming test: involvement of the opioid system. Brain Res 852(2):482–484
- 24. Castanon N, Bluthe RM, Dantzer R (2001) Chronic treatment with the atypical antidepressant tianeptine attenuates sickness behavior induced by peripheral but not central lipopolysaccharide and interleukin-1beta in the rat. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 154(1):50–60
- 25. Frenois F, Moreau M, O'Connor J et al (2007) Lipopolysaccharide induces delayed FosB/ DeltaFosB immunostaining within the mouse extended amygdala, hippocampus and hypothalamus, that parallel the expression of depressive-like behavior. Psychoneuroendocrinology 32(5):516–531
- 26. Godbout JP, Moreau M, Lestage J et al (2008) Aging exacerbates depressive-like behavior in mice in response to activation of the peripheral innate immune system. Neuropsychopharmacology 33(10):2341–2351

- O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Andre C et al (2009) Lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior is mediated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activation in mice. Mol Psychiatry 14 (5):511–522
- Salazar A, Gonzalez-Rivera BL, Redus L, Parrott JM, O'Connor JC (2012) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase mediates anhedonia and anxiety-like behaviors caused by peripheral lipopolysaccharide immune challenge. Horm Behav 62(3):202–209
- 29. Moreau M, Lestage J, Verrier D et al (2005) Bacille Calmette-Guerin inoculation induces chronic activation of peripheral and brain indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in mice. J Infect Dis 192(3):537–544
- 30. Moreau M, Andre C, O'Connor JC et al (2008) Inoculation of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin to mice induces an acute episode of sickness behavior followed by chronic depressive-like behavior. Brain Behav Immun 22(7):1087–1095
- 31. O'Connor JC, Andre C, Wang Y et al (2009) Interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factoralpha mediate the upregulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and the induction of depressive-like behavior in mice in response to Bacillus Calmette-Guerin. J Neurosci 29 (13):4200–4209
- 32. O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Andre C et al (2009) Induction of IDO by bacille Calmette-Guerin is responsible for development of murine depressive-like behavior. J Immunol 182 (5):3202–3212
- Dantzer R, Heijnen CJ, Kavelaars A, Laye S, Capuron L (2014) The neuroimmune basis of fatigue. Trends Neurosci 37(1):39–46
- 34. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Drake DF et al (2012) Dopaminergic mechanisms of reduced basal ganglia responses to hedonic reward during interferon alfa administration. Arch Gen Psychiatry 69(10):1044–1053
- 35. Campbell BM, Charych E, Lee AW, Moller T (2014) Kynurenines in CNS disease: regulation by inflammatory cytokines. Front Neurosci 8:12
- 36. Dantzer R, Walker AK (2014) Is there a role for glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity in inflammation-induced depression? J Neural Transm (Vienna) 121(8):925–932
- 37. Stone TW, Forrest CM, Stoy N, Darlington LG (2012) Involvement of kynurenines in Huntington's disease and stroke-induced brain damage. J Neural Transm 119(2):261–274
- Erhardt S, Lim CK, Linderholm KR et al (2013) Connecting inflammation with glutamate agonism in suicidality. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(5):743–752
- 39. Steiner J, Walter M, Gos T et al (2011) Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus: evidence for an immune-modulated glutamatergic neurotransmission? J Neuroinflammation 8:94
- 40. Myint AM, Kim YK, Verkerk R, Scharpe S, Steinbusch H, Leonard B (2007) Kynurenine pathway in major depression: evidence of impaired neuroprotection. J Affect Disord 98 (1–2):143–151
- Schwarcz R, Rassoulpour A, Wu HQ, Medoff D, Tamminga CA, Roberts RC (2001) Increased cortical kynurenate content in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 50(7):521–530
- 42. Savitz J, Dantzer R, Wurfel BE et al (2015) Neuroprotective kynurenine metabolite indices are abnormally reduced and positively associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volume in bipolar disorder. Psychoneuroendocrinology 52:200–211
- 43. Savitz J, Drevets WC, Smith CM et al (2015) Putative neuroprotective and neurotoxic kynurenine pathway metabolites are associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in subjects with major depressive disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 40(2):463–471
- 44. Zunszain PA, Anacker C, Cattaneo A et al (2012) Interleukin-1beta: a new regulator of the kynurenine pathway affecting human hippocampal neurogenesis. Neuropsychopharmacology 37(4):939–949
- 45. Capuron L, Schroecksnadel S, Feart C et al (2011) Chronic low-grade inflammation in elderly persons is associated with altered tryptophan and tyrosine metabolism: role in neuropsychiatric symptoms. Biol Psychiatry 70(2):175–182

- 46. Murr C, Widner B, Wirleitner B, Fuchs D (2002) Neopterin as a marker for immune system activation. Curr Drug Metab 3(2):175–187
- 47. Oxenkrug GF (2010) Metabolic syndrome, age-associated neuroendocrine disorders, and dysregulation of tryptophan-kynurenine metabolism. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1199:1–14
- 48. Capuron L, Neurauter G, Musselman DL et al (2003) Interferon-alpha-induced changes in tryptophan metabolism. relationship to depression and paroxetine treatment. Biol Psychiatry 54(9):906–914
- 49. Raison CL, Dantzer R, Kelley KW et al (2010) CSF concentrations of brain tryptophan and kynurenines during immune stimulation with IFN-alpha: relationship to CNS immune responses and depression. Mol Psychiatry 15(4):393–403
- 50. Bay-Richter C, Linderholm KR, Lim CK et al (2015) A role for inflammatory metabolites as modulators of the glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in depression and suicidality. Brain Behav Immun 43:110–117
- 51. Barichello T, Generoso JS, Simoes LR et al (2013) Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase prevented cognitive impairment in adult Wistar rats subjected to pneumococcal meningitis. Transl Res 162(6):390–397
- 52. Gibney SM, McGuinness B, Prendergast C, Harkin A, Connor TJ (2013) Poly I:C-induced activation of the immune response is accompanied by depression and anxiety-like behaviours, kynurenine pathway activation and reduced BDNF expression. Brain Behav Immun 28:170–181
- 53. Lawson MA, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2011) Intracerebroventricular administration of HIV-1 Tat induces brain cytokine and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase expression: a possible mechanism for AIDS comorbid depression. Brain Behav Immun 25(8):1569–1575
- 54. Xie W, Cai L, Yu Y et al (2014) Activation of brain indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase contributes to epilepsy-associated depressive-like behavior in rats with chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neuroinflammation 11:41
- 55. Henry CJ, Huang Y, Wynne AM, Godbout JP (2009) Peripheral lipopolysaccharide (LPS) challenge promotes microglial hyperactivity in aged mice that is associated with exaggerated induction of both pro-inflammatory IL-1beta and anti-inflammatory IL-10 cytokines. Brain Behav Immun 23(3):309–317
- 56. Walker AK, Budac DP, Bisulco S et al (2013) NMDA receptor blockade by ketamine abrogates lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior in C57BL/6J mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(9):1609–1616
- 57. Felger JC, Mun J, Kimmel HL et al (2013) Chronic interferon-alpha decreases dopamine 2 receptor binding and striatal dopamine release in association with anhedonia-like behavior in nonhuman primates. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(11):2179–2187
- 58. Kitagami T, Yamada K, Miura H, Hashimoto R, Nabeshima T, Ohta T (2003) Mechanism of systemically injected interferon-alpha impeding monoamine biosynthesis in rats: role of nitric oxide as a signal crossing the blood-brain barrier. Brain Res 978(1–2):104–114
- 59. Heim C, Nemeroff CB (2001) The role of childhood trauma in the neurobiology of mood and anxiety disorders: preclinical and clinical studies. Biol Psychiatry 49(12):1023–1039
- 60. Pariante CM, Miller AH (2001) Glucocorticoid receptors in major depression: relevance to pathophysiology and treatment. Biol Psychiatry 49(5):391–404
- 61. Capuron L, Raison CL, Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Nemeroff CB, Miller AH (2003) Association of exaggerated HPA axis response to the initial injection of interferon-alpha with development of depression during interferon-alpha therapy. Am J Psychiatry 160 (7):1342–1345
- 62. Lamers F, Vogelzangs N, Merikangas KR, de Jonge P, Beekman AT, Penninx BW (2013) Evidence for a differential role of HPA-axis function, inflammation and metabolic syndrome in melancholic versus atypical depression. Mol Psychiatry 18(6):692–699
- 63. Stetler C, Miller GE (2011) Depression and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal activation: a quantitative summary of four decades of research. Psychosom Med 73(2):114–126

- 64. Castanon N, Lasselin J, Capuron L (2014) Neuropsychiatric comorbidity in obesity: role of inflammatory processes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 5:74
- 65. Capuron L, Su S, Miller AH et al (2008) Depressive symptoms and metabolic syndrome: is inflammation the underlying link? Biol Psychiatry 64(10):896–900
- 66. Capuron L, Poitou C, Machaux-Tholliez D et al (2011) Relationship between adiposity, emotional status and eating behaviour in obese women: role of inflammation. Psychol Med 41(7):1517–1528
- 67. Lojko D, Buzuk G, Owecki M, Ruchala M, Rybakowski JK (2015) Atypical features in depression: association with obesity and bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord 185:76–80
- McElroy SL, Kotwal R, Malhotra S, Nelson EB, Keck PE, Nemeroff CB (2004) Are mood disorders and obesity related? A review for the mental health professional. J Clin Psychiatry 65 (5):634–651, quiz 730
- 69. Luppino FS, de Wit LM, Bouvy PF et al (2010) Overweight, obesity, and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry 67 (3):220–229
- 70. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Demetrashvili MF et al (2007) Basal ganglia hypermetabolism and symptoms of fatigue during interferon-alpha therapy. Neuropsychopharmacology 32 (11):2384–2392
- 71. Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Logan J et al (2001) Brain dopamine and obesity. Lancet 357 (9253):354-357
- 72. Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Baler RD (2011) Reward, dopamine and the control of food intake: implications for obesity. Trends Cogn Sci 15(1):37–46
- Milaneschi Y, Lamers F, Bot M, Drent ML, Penninx BW (2015) Leptin dysregulation is specifically associated with major depression with atypical features: evidence for a mechanism connecting obesity and depression. Biol Psychiatry. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.10.023
- 74. Constant A, Castera L, Dantzer R et al (2005) Mood alterations during interferon-alfa therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis C: evidence for an overlap between manic/hypomanic and depressive symptoms. J Clin Psychiatry 66(8):1050–1057
- 75. Capuron L, Ravaud A, Miller AH, Dantzer R (2004) Baseline mood and psychosocial characteristics of patients developing depressive symptoms during interleukin-2 and/or interferon-alpha cancer therapy. Brain Behav Immun 18(3):205–213
- 76. Albrecht K, Droll H, Giesler JM, Nashan D, Meiss F, Reuter K (2013) Self-efficacy for coping with cancer in melanoma patients: its association with physical fatigue and depression. Psychooncology 22(9):1972–1978
- 77. Parneix M, Pericaud M, Clement JP (2014) Irritability associated with major depressive episodes: its relationship with mood disorders and temperament. Turk Psikiyatri Derg 25 (2):106–113

Inflammation-Associated Co-morbidity Between Depression and Cardiovascular Disease

Angelos Halaris

Abstract Morbidity and mortality of cardiovascular disease (CVD) is exceedingly high worldwide. Depressive illness is a serious psychiatric illness that afflicts a significant portion of the world population. Epidemiological studies have confirmed the high co-morbidity between these two disease entities. The co-morbidity is bidirectional and the mechanisms responsible for it are complex and multifaceted. In addition to genetic, biological systems, psychosocial, and behavioral factors that are involved include the central and autonomic nervous systems, the neuroendocrine, immune, and the vascular and hematologic systems. Specific pathophysiologic factors across these systems include homeostatic imbalance between the sympathetic and the parasympathetic systems with loss of heart rate variability (HRV) in depression, sympathoadrenal activation, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis activation, immune system dysregulation resulting in a pro-inflammatory status, platelet activation, and endothelial dysfunction. These abnormalities have been demonstrated in most individuals diagnosed with major depressive disorder (MDD), bipolar disorder (BPD), and probably in other psychiatric disorders. A likely common instigator underlying the co-morbidity between cardiovascular pathology and depression is mental stress. Chronic stress shifts the homeostatic balance in the autonomic nervous system with sustained sympathetic overdrive and diminished vagal tone. Diminished vagal tone contributes to a pro-inflammatory status with associated sequelae. Stress hormones and certain pro-inflammatory substances released by macrophages and microglia upregulate the rate-limiting enzymes in the metabolic pathway of tryptophan (TRP). This enzymatic upregulation stimulates the kynurenine (KYN) pathway resulting in

A. Halaris (🖂)

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Neuroscience, Stritch School of Medicine, Loyola University Chicago and Loyola University Medical Center, 2160 South First Avenue, Maywood, IL 60153, USA e-mail: ahalaris@lumc.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 45–70 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_28 Published Online: 8 November 2016

the formation of neurotoxic metabolites. Inflammation occurs in cardiac, cardiovascular, and cerebrovascular pathology independent of the presence or absence of depression. Inflammation is closely associated with endothelial dysfunction, a preamble to atherosclerosis and atherothrombosis. Endothelial dysfunction has been detected in depression and may prove to be a trait marker for this illness. Thus understanding vascular biology in conjunction with psychiatric co-morbidity will be of critical importance. Antidepressant drug therapy is of definite benefit to patients with medical and psychiatric co-morbidity and may reverse the pro-inflammatory status associated with depression. There is, however, an urgent need to develop novel pharmacotherapeutic approaches to benefit a much larger proportion of patients suffering from these disease entities.

Keywords Brain–immune interaction • Cardiovascular disease • C-reactive protein • Cytokines • Depression • Endothelial dysfunction • Heart rate variability • Inflammation • Kynurenine • Stress

Contents

1	Introduction		
2	Epidemiology	48	
	2.1 Depressive Illness	48	
	2.2 Cardiovascular Disease	49	
	2.3 Co-morbidity Between DI and Cardiovascular Disease	49	
3	Factors Accountable for the Co-morbidity	50	
	3.1 Role of Stress in Inflammation and Depression	51	
	3.2 Autonomic Nervous System Dysfunction	52	
	3.3 Heart Rate Variability	53	
4	Bidirectionality of Inflammation in Cardiovascular Disease and Depression	54	
	4.1 Inflammation and Depression	54	
	4.2 Inflammation and Cardiovascular Disease	55	
	4.3 C-Reactive Protein	56	
	4.4 Endothelial Dysfunction	58	
5	The Tryptophan/Kynurenine Pathway: Implications for Serotonergic Transmission	59	
6	Inflammation and the Serotonin Transporter	60	
7	The Glutamatergic Theory of Depression	60	
8	Other Mechanisms	61	
9	Treatment Issues	62	
10	Concluding Remarks	62	
Refe	erences	63	

1 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) and depressive illness (DI) are two of the world's leading health problems. CVD is the leading cause of mortality worldwide and accounts for approximately 16.7 million deaths every year [1–3]. The most

common type of CVD is coronary artery disease (CAD) which is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the industrialized world and the leading cause of death and hospital admissions in the USA where CVD is responsible for one million deaths and more than six million hospital admissions annually [4]. DI afflicts an estimated 120 million people worldwide and is the leading cause of disability [5]. Incidence and prevalence rates vary somewhat depending on the part or the world the study was conducted and the methodology used. DI is a broad term comprising different subtypes the most common of which is Major Depressive Disorder (MDD). Bipolar Disorder (BPD) is of much lower prevalence than MDD but can be profoundly debilitating and has a much higher suicide rate. Depression associated with BPD presents major management challenges to the practitioner. MDD and BPD are chronic and recurring conditions with less than half of the patients achieving remission. The co-morbidity between DI and CVD is well known, high, and bidirectional. Factors contributing to the high co-morbidity between these disease entities are complex and multifactorial and not fully elucidated. A connection between mood disturbances and the immune system dates back to more than two decades ago [6-9] and continues to be actively studied. Therefore activation of inflammatory processes as a common link between DI, CVD, and cerebrovascular disease (CBVD) continues to be the focus of intense research endeavors.

Pro-inflammatory cytokines have been implicated in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and CVD [10-12]. Endothelial damage leads to the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines which induce a sequence of events leading ultimately to thrombus formation and vascular occlusion. Inflammation is a major contributing causal factor to DI and has been postulated to play a major role in endothelial damage of the cerebral vasculature. This has led to the designation of "vascular depression" as a pathophysiologically distinct variety that presents with many of the typical features of depression. Interestingly, elevations in inflammatory markers have been shown in depressed patients with or without CVD [13-15] and in cancer patients with depression [16]. One cytokine, IL-6, secreted in response to stress, is one of the most potent stimulators of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) axis, and induces the release of other pro-inflammatory cytokines. These and related observations have led Leonard to postulate that DI is a disease of inflammation in response to chronic psychological stress [17-20]. Indeed stress may be the common denominator in the etiopathology of DI, CVD, and CBVD in conjunction with genetic vulnerability. Since a sustained pro-inflammatory status has been clearly associated with widespread pathology, the assertion can be made that DI is a whole-body disease.

2 Epidemiology

2.1 Depressive Illness

DI is a serious medical illness comprising a multitude of cognitive, affective, and physical symptoms and characterized by recurrence and a chronic course. It is associated with higher rates of chronic physical disease, increased health care utilization, and impaired functioning. Suicidality is common, and can have a lethal outcome that may not be preventable. Rates of access to treatment remain low, the treatment received is often inadequate, and response rates are unacceptably low. Only one third of patients diagnosed with MDD or BPD achieve symptom remission, while a full one third fail to respond at all even after multiple antidepressant drug trials. It is estimated that 120 million people worldwide are afflicted with DI of one type or another. It is the leading cause of disability worldwide [21]. The lifetime prevalence of DI is as high as 16%, while the 12-month prevalence ranges from 3% in Japan to over 9% in the USA [5, 22, 23]. The incidence of DI has been steadily increasing over the past decades. Using the DALY, Disability Adjusted Life-Years, MDD was classed in 1990 as the fourth leading burden of disease worldwide for both sexes; by 2004, it advanced to the third place. According to the World Health Organization's estimate, DI will rank second to Heart Disease (HD) by the year 2020 [24] and will be the leading cause of disease burden by 2030 [5].

Of direct relevance is data presented in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2009–2012 [25]. The survey examined depression and depressive symptom severity in the previous 2 weeks from a symptom-based questionnaire, by demographic characteristics, functioning difficulties, and recent contact with a mental health professional. Severity was categorized as severe, moderate, mild, or no depressive symptoms. During 2009–2012, about 7.6% of Americans aged 12 and over had depression (defined as having moderate or severe depressive symptoms in the past 2 weeks). Depression was more prevalent among females than males and among adults aged 40–59 than those of other age groups. Rates of any depressive symptoms were lower among non-Hispanic white persons than among Hispanic and non-Hispanic black persons. Once poverty was taken into account, however, the rates of depression did not differ significantly by race or Hispanic origin. Lastly, persons with mild depressive symptoms, as well as those with moderate or severe depressive symptoms, reported difficulties with work, home, and social activities related to their symptoms. Numerous studies have also shown that persons with depression have more functional limitations than those without depression.

2.2 Cardiovascular Disease

CVD is the leading cause of mortality worldwide and accounts for approximately 16.7 million deaths every year [4, 26, 27]. The most common types of CVD are CAD and CBVD. CAD is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the industrialized world [28] and it is the leading cause of death and hospital admissions in the USA. It has been estimated that CVD is responsible for close to one million deaths and more than six million hospital admissions with an annual cost to the US economy in excess of \$350 billion [21]. Recent statistical data obtained in the USA reveal that about 610,000 people die of HD every year – that is, 1 in every 4 deaths [29]. HD remains the leading cause of death for both men and women. More than half of the deaths due to heart disease in 2009 were in men. CAD is the most common type of heart disease, killing over 370,000 people annually [29]. Every year about 735,000 Americans have a heart attack. Of these, 525,000 are a first heart attack and 210,000 happen in people who have already had a heart attack [30].

2.3 Co-morbidity Between DI and Cardiovascular Disease

Depression has long been associated with HD and death ("dying of a broken heart"). However, it has only been in the last 25 years that the scientific underpinnings supporting this common wisdom have been discovered. Since the early 1990s, studies have reported the prevalence of MDD to range between 17 and 27% in hospitalized CAD patients. It is now recognized that the co-morbidity between DI and CVD does not occur by chance and the mechanisms responsible for this relationship are complex and multifactorial. This remarkably high co-morbidity is believed to be bidirectional. Numerous studies published over the past two decades have confirmed this association. In a meta-analytic study conducted by Barth et al. [31], clinical depression was identified as a significant risk factor for mortality in patients with coronary heart disease (CHD). The Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial (MRFIT) of middle-aged men established an association between depressive symptoms and all-cause mortality with a higher risk of CVD related death and more specifically stroke mortality [32].

Clinical depression is the leading risk factor for CVD. Depressed patients have a two- to fourfold risk of developing CVD at some point in their lifetime [33–35] and a similarly higher risk of dying after a cardiac event [36, 37]. With regard to congestive heart failure (CHF), depressed patients are at higher risk, while patients with CHF who become depressed are likely to have worse outcomes than those without depression [38, 39]. Several studies have shown that the presence of depressive symptomatology predicts future coronary events for initially healthy individuals, and a poor prognosis for those who have documented CVD [40–42]. The Framingham Heart Study identified a direct relationship between

depressive symptomatology and all-cause mortality in a very large cohort of original and offspring cohort participants over a 6-year follow-up period [43]. The Baltimore Epidemiologic Catchment Area Follow-up Study [44] clearly pointed out that the diagnosis of depression is associated with an increased odds ratio (OR) for adverse outcomes, for example, an OR of 4.5 for MI and an OR of 2.7 for stroke. Lastly, in spite of limitations inherent in a meta-analytic study, the study by Nicholson et al. [45] established significant associations between depression and CHD and concluded that depression can be an etiologic or prognostic factor in CHD. Indeed, according to McCaffery et al. [46] depression and vascular disease may share certain vulnerability genes.

The high incidence of depression among patients suffering from ischemic heart disease has been unequivocally demonstrated in epidemiological studies [47–49]. Depression is unambiguously recognized as an independent risk factor for CVD mortality between 6 and 18 months following myocardial infarction (MI) [50, 51] and its presence is associated with increased CVD morbidity [37]. In patients with an acute MI, depression is a risk factor for recurrent nonfatal infarction and cardiac mortality independent of cardiac disease severity [52, 53]. Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) is both psychologically and physiologically stressful, and it is common to attribute depression observed following ACS to stress [155]. Depression observed following ACS is common and associated with an increased risk of mortality. Medically healthy individuals who suffer from depression are at significantly increased risk of developing heart attacks and strokes later in life [155].

3 Factors Accountable for the Co-morbidity

While there is little doubt that DI and CVD are epidemiologically linked, the precise mechanisms that interactively link these two disease entities elude us. Complex and multifaceted biological, psychological, socioeconomic, sociodemographic, and biobehavioral factors have been unequivocally shown to be significant contributors to the co-morbidity. Stress is a crucial factor underlying both conditions, but there is individual variation in stress susceptibility, responsivity, and resilience that should be taken into consideration. Genetic and epigenetic factors exert powerful influences on shaping the individual's coping skills with stressful events, and with physical and mental illness in particular as chronic conditions. Genetic polymorphisms exert critical effects in conferring resistance or susceptibility to illness. Environmental factors acting via epigenetic mechanisms are only now beginning to be understood. The precise pathophysiological processes and biobehavioral factors that explain the mechanistic associations between the two entities are critical determinants in our ability to develop specifically targeted pharmacotherapeutic, psychotherapeutic, and preventive interventions.

The mechanistic pathways accountable for the co-morbidity between DI and CVD are complex and involve multiple systems. Indeed DI should be viewed as a "whole body disease" rather than a psychological abnormality involving mood dysregulation. Once clinical depression is present, a host of physiological changes occur, including ANS and immune system activation, neuroendocrine changes, rhythm disturbances, oxidative stress, platelet hypercoagulability, all of which exert a negative impact on cardiovascular health. The majority of studies seeking to elucidate the biological underpinnings of this co-morbidity have focused on a single or a handful of parameters making meta-analytic comparisons across studies difficult. Additionally, biobehavioral mechanisms play a critical role in defining the source of the high co-morbidity. For instance, life style factors, such as alcohol consumption and smoking, physical inactivity, and medication nonadherence, partly due to side effects associated with antidepressant medications, all play contributory roles to the relevant biological factors. Last, but not least, traditional cardiovascular risk factors, such as hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, obesity, and substance abuse, especially nicotine dependence, play variable roles in defining co-morbidity and must always be precisely assessed in such studies. In spite of these barriers, however, significant findings and promising leads already exist and they can guide future research in this field. This review article focuses on the contribution of inflammation as critical factor underlying both disease entities and accountable for the established bidirectionality. Brain-immune interaction will also be mentioned as it relates specifically to aberrant serotonergic transmission believed to be responsible, at least in part, for some aspects of the profile of mood and related symptoms associated with depression.

3.1 Role of Stress in Inflammation and Depression

Mental stress can exert profound pathophysiological changes in the central and peripheral nervous systems, the immune, endocrine, and vascular systems with multiple organ involvement. Mental stress can be of many varieties with differences in intensity and duration, and the perception of mental stress is subject to high individual variability and vulnerability. Indeed genetically determined stress vulnerability is a key factor in determining what the precise consequences of stress will be in a given individual. This is based, at least in part, on genetically determined and epigenetically modified stress susceptibility and stress resilience. Any illness, physical or mental, is of itself stressful to the individual. Chronic and especially inescapable stress, such as stress associated with chronic illness - physical or mental - low socioeconomic status, dysfunctional relationships, caregiver status, ultimately leads to pervasive mental status changes, chronic low-grade inflammatory reaction, and pathological alterations to the function and structure of the cardiovascular and cerebrovascular system. Additionally, stress hormones and certain pro-inflammatory compounds upregulate enzymatic processes that lead to neurotransmitter deficiencies critical for mood regulation. Taken together, the

confluence of these factors will ultimately lead to irreversible tissue and organ damage. As Selye [54] had postulated, when the demands placed on the organism eventually exceed the available energy and adaptation, the system fails. The complexity of the interactions between stress, and medical and psychiatric illnesses remains a topic of intense scientific endeavor.

In addition to activating the HPA, stress activates the sympathetic branch (SNS) of the ANS with a concomitant reduction in vagal tone. Diminution in parasympathetic tone affects the body's immune response. This effect occurs, at least in part, through the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway (CAIP), as described by Tracey [55]. The imbalance in ANS function, especially if prolonged, as is invariably the case with psychiatric disorders, has profound effects on cardiovascular physiology and the immune system. These pathophysiological changes contribute significantly to the co-morbidity between CVD and psychiatric disorders. Thus, to quote Thayer and Lane [56], autonomic imbalance and decreased parasympathetic activity in particular may be the final common pathway to numerous diseases and conditions associated with increased morbidity and mortality.

3.2 Autonomic Nervous System Dysfunction

The stress-related disruption in ANS homeostasis with a sustained shift in the balance of the sympathetic and parasympathetic branches of the ANS is a critical underlying mechanism in as much as depression is the stress-related psychiatric disorder par excellence. The degree and chronicity of disruption in ANS homeostasis appears to be the tipping point determining the extent of diminution in parasympathetic tone. Diminution in vagal tone likely leads to disinhibition of the body's inflammatory response mediated, in part, by the CAIP [55, 57] by efferent vagal fibers originating in the dorsal motor nucleus. These efferent fibers can modulate the release of inflammatory mediators, such as Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha (TNF α), from macrophages thereby preventing over-activation of the inflammatory process without inducing immunosuppression [58]. In a more recent publication, Pavlov and Tracey [59] discuss in greater detail the brain–immune interaction and provide supportive evidence that the issue is more complex than was originally conceived by these authors.

Sympathoadrenal (SA) hyperactivity in depression leads to increases in plasma catecholamines, vasoconstriction, elevated heart rate, and platelet activation. The Heart and Soul Study established that in patients with CAD depressive symptoms are associated with elevated levels of norepinephrine [60]. These changes, singly and additively, exert adverse effects on the cardiovascular system. Sustained catecholaminergic action on the heart, blood vessels, and platelets leads to changes in hemodynamic factors with increased shear stress. The concomitant decrease in parasympathetic tone may predispose to ventricular arrhythmias and possibly explain the excessive cardiovascular mortality found in patients with CVD and comorbid depression.

3.3 Heart Rate Variability

Heart Rate Variability (HRV) is a recognized measure reflecting fluctuations in ANS activity and is an index of a healthy heart and good cardiac function with ability to adapt to external and internal stressful demands. It is considered to be an independent predictor of death. Diminished high frequency HRV reflects decreased parasympathetic tone and has been observed at least in some depressed patients [61]. HRV can also be significantly decreased in severe CAD or heart failure. The risk of sudden death after acute MI is considerably higher with decreased HRV. Indeed HRV is a post-MI prognostic factor (along with age, left ventricular ejection fraction, and frequency of arrhythmia). It has been reported that in patients with CAD, diminished HRV is far more common in depressed rather than in matched nondepressed patients. In a large cohort study (NESDA), Licht and coworkers demonstrated that depressed patients, when compared to healthy control subjects, have significantly both lower total HRV and lower HRV in the respiratory frequency range (RSA), which reflects diminished cardiac vagal control [62]. They concluded that their findings are compatible with theoretical models, notably the Polyvagal Theory coined by Porges [63]. These models have linked the parasympathetic system to the etiopathology of DI based on the premise that low vagal tone is associated with reduced social engagement and an impaired response to environmental stimuli and challenges, as described by Porges [64, 65]. However, in a later publication Licht et al. [66] make a strong case that reduced HRV in depressed individuals may be a concomitant effect of antidepressant drugs and not only tricyclics but SSRIs and noradrenergic antidepressants. Clearly this issue requires more research to clarify the potential confounding effect of antidepressant drug treatment on HRV in spite of their beneficial effects.

A sustained low-grade inflammation in depression leads to a diversion of tryptophan (TRP) metabolism via stimulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), a key enzyme responsible for the kynurenine (KYN) pathway [67]. As a result of this enzymatic activation, a metabolic product, kynurenic acid, antagonizes nicotinic cholinergic transmission. The complex interplay between the brain, the ANS, and the immune system ostensibly results in varying degrees of ANS disruption resulting in greater or lesser degrees of parasympathetic tone diminution. If parasympathetic tone can be maintained at healthy control levels, reflecting a lower or absent degree of inflammatory response and therefore lesser activation of the KYN pathway, antidepressant drug action may proceed unhindered ultimately leading to remission.

4 Bidirectionality of Inflammation in Cardiovascular Disease and Depression

4.1 Inflammation and Depression

The Cytokine Theory of Depression was originally formulated by Smith [68] as "The Macrophage Theory of Depression" and later expanded by Ur et al. [69]. The theory postulated that psychological stress, probably in conjunction with genetic factors, increases cytokine production and leads to depressive symptoms when specific neurobiological systems are affected, such as the HPA axis and serotoner-gic transmission. High circulating levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines may thus be central to the pathophysiology not only of MDD and BPD but also likely Atypical Depression and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. Cytokines may firstly participate in the etiology of DI, and later in the high incidence of CAD observed amongst depressed patients [70].

The pro-inflammatory status associated with MDD has been adequately described in the literature ([18, 71–80]; for review see [81]). These reports demonstrate the increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines, notably, IL-2, IL-6, soluble IL-6 receptor, TNF α and IFN- γ , and the decrease in anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-4 and IL-10. Studies of injected cytokines have shown that pro-inflammatory cytokines, by themselves, are dysphoric. They are capable of inducing a syndrome known as "sickness behavior" that simulates many of the classical symptoms of depression [6, 82, 83]. But while numerous previous reports have shown that pro-inflammatory cytokines are endogenously over-expressed in depression and other stress-induced disorders [84], not all reports agree. Indeed some reports have also shown below normal blood levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines stimulating further research into the possible factors accountable for discrepant findings. For a more detailed discussion, the reader is referred to critical reviews on this issue [8, 85–87].

Although the degree of cytokine elevations in DI is moderate in comparison to elevations during physical injury and/or infection [88], by being chronically overexpressed in DI cytokines can have long-term adverse consequences on the cardiovascular system [89]. Indeed pro-inflammatory cytokines have been shown to be causally linked to plaque formation, and CAD [90]. Therefore, overproduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines in DI especially over prolonged periods of time and in patients who fail to respond to antidepressant interventions may be one common link between DI and CAD [91–93].

Two relevant questions need to be addressed: (a) does a sustained pro-inflammatory status hinder the effectiveness of antidepressant drug treatments, and (b) does antidepressant therapy normalize elevated levels of pro-inflammatory mediators. With respect to the first question, we and others have postulated that the chronic pro-inflammatory status found in depression may delay, diminish, and even thwart antidepressant response. Furthermore, a persistent pro-inflammatory status is a likely contributor to the increased risk of depressed patients to develop potentially life-threatening complications, such as CVD and CBVD, and even dementia. It has therefore been hypothesized that controlling inflammation without inducing immunosuppression might improve antidepressant treatment outcomes. A few small clinical studies already exist pointing to the add-on benefit of an anti-inflammatory compound, such as the COX-2 inhibitor, celecoxib, in combination with a standard antidepressant drug [94]. However, these have been small studies and, except for one, did not use a placebo-controlled double blind design. We have published our own preliminary study using escitalopram and celecoxib add-on in treatment resistant bipolar depression and the findings have confirmed the hypothesized advantage of combination therapy [97].

With respect to the second question, a number of reports indicate positive effects of antidepressant drug therapy in normalizing abnormally elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines [75, 98–101]. Such a reduction can only be beneficial as has been clearly described in heart failure patients by Mayer et al. [102]. However, not all reports are consistent in this regard. Differences in study design, mainly the length of treatment and the type of antidepressant agent utilized, appear to be crucial variables that must be controlled in future studies. Additionally, the time course of cytokine normalization may not precisely coincide with the time frame of clinical antidepressant response. The article by Janssen et al. [103] offers a comprehensive review of cytokine involvement in antidepressant treatment response. Clarification of the temporal associations between mood improvement and cytokine normalization should be an important aspect of future studies [104].

4.2 Inflammation and Cardiovascular Disease

Inflammation plays a major role in the development of atherosclerosis and atherothrombosis that are associated with high morbidity and mortality [105]. Immune-competent cells are involved both in the early stages of atherosclerosis and the subsequent events leading to plaque formation and rupture and the ensuing ACSs [106]. Circulating compounds identified as markers of inflammation and atherosclerosis include acute-phase proteins, C-reactive protein (CRP), fibrinogen, immunoglobulins, adhesion molecules, and cytokines. Most of these biomarkers are abnormally regulated in patients with depressive syndromes without any evidence of other inflammatory processes, cardiovascular or immune system pathology. Fibrinogen, CRP and from within the cytokine group TNFa, interleukin-1 (IL-1), and interleukin-6 (IL-6) have been discussed extensively in the cardiovascular literature. Indeed Frasure-Smith et al. [107] have made a case that CRP and depression have prognostic value in predicting adverse cardiac events. The literature is replete with findings of significant and sustained elevations in plasma levels of hsCRP in depressed subjects that may or may not normalize even after symptom remission, indicating persisting CVD vulnerability even after full recovery from a depressive episode.

It is widely recognized that inflammatory processes in the atherosclerotic artery may lead to increased blood levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and other acutephase reactants. Blood levels of IL-6 and CRP are elevated in patients with MI or unstable angina, as are other inflammatory biomarkers, such as fibrinogen, IL-7, IL-8, and soluble CD40 ligand. These findings point to inflammation in the coronary arteries. Collectively, these circulating biomarkers indicate the presence of an ACS and may reflect the clinical course of the condition [108].

Heart failure (HF) is a serious syndrome that at best interferes with normal functioning and significantly impairs the capacity of an individual to lead a normal life. At worse, HF can have a fatal outcome with heart transplantation being a lifesaving alternative. Although several models have been proposed to understand the pathophysiology of this syndrome, none have proven to be critical for the prevention and management of this condition. To quote from an earlier publication by Seta et al., "heart failure progresses, at least in part, as a result of the toxic effects exerted by endogenous cytokine cascades on the heart and the peripheral circulation" [109]. That an inflammatory cascade is responsible, at least in part, for the progression of HF is supported by animal and clinical data [110]. With inflammatory processes now being better understood, improved and effective treatment approaches are more likely to become available.

4.3 C-Reactive Protein

CRP is an annular, pentameric protein synthesized by the liver in response to factors released by macrophages and adipocytes. It is an acute-phase protein and is upregulated by pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, that are activated early in the inflammatory process. CRP has therefore been historically recognized as a nonspecific inflammation marker. Commonly studied within the context of vascular medicine, an elevated CRP is a risk factor for atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease [111–113]. The association between CRP and disease, however, may extend beyond the field of cardiology. Recently, CRP has become the focus of psychiatric research, specifically as it relates to MDD and a number of studies have sought to characterize the exact relationship between CRP and MDD. Patients with MDD have been shown to exhibit significantly higher levels of CRP when compared to healthy control subjects [114]. This finding extends to the general population as demonstrated by Wium-Andersen et al. [115] who demonstrated an association between CRP levels and psychological distress in 73,131 men and women representative of the Copenhagen population. After adjusting for confounding variables such as age, sex, smoking, physical activity, and chronic disease, they noted that elevated levels of CRP correlated to an increased risk for psychological distress and depression. The link between CRP and MDD raises questions about potential cardiovascular risks for MDD patients and pharmacological interventions aimed at resetting immune activation as part of a comprehensive treatment strategy for DI.

A meta-analysis performed by Howren et al. [116] examined the inflammatory markers CRP, IL-1, and IL-6, in conjunction with depression. This study is particularly noteworthy because it is one of the largest meta-analyses examining CRP and depression and has gained greater generalizability than individual studies. This meta-analysis compared the statistical significance when you do, and do not, account for a patient's Body Mass Index (BMI). The study revealed that while there is still a relationship between high CRP and MDD after adjusting for BMI, when no adjustment is made for BMI the relationship is more notable. This suggests that BMI influences the association between CRP and MDD.

While many hypotheses have been proposed regarding the link between elevated CRP and depression, it appears a variety of covariates influence this relationship. From BMI and general physical health, to depression type and recurrence or chronicity, the correlation between CRP and MDD is likely multifactorial and bidirectional. This means that CRP, upregulated during immune system activation, has the potential to induce depressive symptomatology. One possible mechanism may involve the upregulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) which diverts TRP to the kynurenine pathway (KP) thereby possibly diminishing serotonin synthesis (Myint et al. 2003). However, it appears that the production of neurotoxic metabolites is a more likely mediator and this possibility is discussed in greater detail in the chap. 6. Regardless of the numerous factors impacting CRP and MDD, the question remains as to why CRP, a reflection of inflammation, is related to MDD in the first place.

A prospective study conducted by Copeland et al. [117] concluded that an early elevation in CRP did not predict later depression, but rather that depression was associated with later high CRP levels. The study also noted that CRP levels increase in relation to the number of prior depressive episodes a person has had. This suggests that an aspect of MDD itself may be mediating the elevation in CRP levels that are found in depressed individuals. It also points to a unidirectional relationship of depression being associated with later elevation in CRP.

This presumptive mechanism linking CRP and depression may point toward a unidirectional relationship, namely, that the presence of depression leads to elevated CRP. This is certainly plausible. When the body is under physical assault, be it from a virus or bacteria, a stress response is triggered. Such a response results in the upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, with CRP being representative of this inflammatory response. Depression can be viewed as a form of mental assault or psychological invasion posing a serious threat to the homeostatic balance of the organism. In this context, it has been proposed that organisms respond similarly to the stress associated with or caused by depression as they do to external stressors. Frank et al. [118] showed that in laboratory animals, psychological stressors, such as restraint and isolation, result in increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. In their paper, they discuss microglia serving as a neuroimmune substrate for stress-induced potentiation of CNS pro-inflammatory cytokine responses. This issue is cogently discussed by Raison and Miller [119] suggesting that the mediating factor behind MDD and increased inflammation is the body's perceived level of stress.

A comprehensive discussion of CRP and depression far exceeds the scope of this review. However, it is still an unresolved question whether the treatment with antidepressant agents or mood stabilizers brings about a normalization of elevated blood levels of CRP. For a discussion of this issue, the reader is referred to a previous publication [104].

Lastly and before concluding this very brief overview on CRP, inflammation, DI, and CVD, it should be mentioned that CRP exists in at least two conformationally distinct forms, i.e., native pentameric CRP (pCRP) and modified/monomeric CRP (mCRP). It is believed that pCRP, what is commonly measured in routine laboratory assays, possesses both pro- and anti-inflammatory actions in a situation dependent manner. By contrast, mCRP exerts potent pro-inflammatory actions on endothelial cells, endothelial progenitor cells, leukocytes, and platelets, and thus may amplify inflammation. At this point, there is no established method that distinguishes these two forms of CRP in a routine laboratory measurement [120]. To my knowledge, it is not known what percentage, if any, of mCRP is contained in the routine measurement of *hs* CRP.

4.4 Endothelial Dysfunction

Endothelial dysfunction is a vascular phenotype predisposing to atheromatosis and arteriosclerosis and can thus serve as a predictor of cardiovascular events [121]. Dysfunction of the endothelium typically leads to immunological alterations, including activation, adhesion, and aggregation of platelets to areas of damage. Attachment of monocytes and lymphocytes to endothelial cells is mediated by cellular adhesion molecules comprising selectins and immunoglobulins. As noted earlier, the role inflammation plays in the pathogenesis of CVD is now widely accepted. Low-grade chronic inflammation is predictive of MI and ischemic stroke. Endothelial dysfunction is a "critical intermediate phenotype" in the relationship between low-grade inflammation and CVD [122].

Endothelial dysfunction can be viewed as an "intermediate phenotype" in DI based on the presence of a low-grade chronic inflammation in many depressed patients exemplified by mild to moderate elevations in circulating inflammation biomarkers. Depression may act as a chronic stressor that contributes to endothelial dysfunction through abnormalities in cellular adhesion, migration, and proliferation and platelet hypercoagulability [123–125]. Indeed depression has been associated with higher levels of intercellular adhesion molecule-1, p-selectin, and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) [78, 126]. Some investigators have postulated that endothelial dysfunction, viewed as a biomarker of arterial atheromatosis [127, 128], may prove to be a trait marker for depression [129]. In this context, impaired flow-mediated dilatation of the brachial artery has been described in MDD and BPD patients [130]. The study by Do et al. [131] focused on hopelessness as a frequent symptom of depression, which can escalate to suicidality, in association with markers of endothelial dysfunction. They concluded that negative

psychosocial traits may influence cardiovascular outcomes partially through their impact on the early stages of atherosclerosis, and specific psychosocial traits, such as hopelessness, may play a more direct role in this process than overall depressive symptoms. In summary, endothelial dysfunction is a crucial factor in the complex relationship between depression, low-grade chronic inflammation, and CVD.

5 The Tryptophan/Kynurenine Pathway: Implications for Serotonergic Transmission

A sustained pro-inflammatory status was initially thought to lead to deficient availability of serotonin in brain and periphery [132, 133]. Since CVD is accompanied by elevations in peripheral measures of immune system activation, it would be reasonable to attribute depression associated with CVD to deficient serotonergic transmission. A similar consideration would therefore apply to DI predisposing to CVD by virtue of a chronic pro-inflammatory state, along of course with a host of other factors that were discussed above. More recent evidence, however, has questioned the presumed effect of inflammation on brain TRP levels that remain stable and actually even increase during systemic inflammation, in contrast to the peripheral TRP levels. In their study of CSF concentrations of brain TRP and KYNs during immune stimulation with IFN- α , Raison et al. [134] determined that IFN- α had no effect on CSF TRP concentrations despite significant decreases in peripheral blood TRP.

What mechanisms might therefore be accountable for deficient serotonergic transmission that has been linked to depression? Certain pro-inflammatory cytokines, particularly interferon- γ , IL-1, IL-6, TNF α , and the acute-phase protein CRP, have been shown to induce the enzyme IDO. IDO is the rate-limiting enzyme of the KP which metabolizes TRP into KYN. KYN is further metabolized into several neurotoxins, notably 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK), 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid (3-HAA), and quinolinic acid (QUIN). In a competing branch of the KP, KYN is metabolized into kynurenic acid (KA), which blocks the neurotoxic effects of QUIN. Another enzyme, tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO) is activated by stress hormones, notably cortisol, and also contributes to the activation of the KP.

Therefore, the generation of neurotoxic KYN metabolites as a consequence of immune activation of IDO and kynurenine monooxygenase (KMO), the key enzyme for the generation of 3-HK and QUIN, must be given due consideration in further understanding inflammation-induced depression. Indeed we have shown a beneficial effect of escitalopram in MDD patients treated with this SSRI for 12 weeks and showing diminution in 3-HK and QUIN in the blood of these patients leading us to postulate a neuroprotective effect of this SSRI [135].

6 Inflammation and the Serotonin Transporter

Additional mechanisms play key roles in mediating the association between DI and inflammation. Activation of the serotonin transporter (SERT) by cytokines has been known for some time. In an earlier study, Zhu et al. [136] described IL-1R- and p38 MAPK-dependent regulation of SERT as one of the mechanisms by which environmentally driven immune system activation can trigger despair-like behavior in an animal model. These investigators proposed that future analysis of this pathway could be important in identifying risk factors in neuropsychiatric disorders. In a recently published animal study, the same group of investigators [137] reported that peripheral activation of the innate immune system with LPS led to a rapid stimulation of central nervous system SERT activity, accompanied by an acceleration of 5-HT clearance rate and alterations in SERT-dependent behaviors. An upregulation of SERT by certain pro-inflammatory cytokines could lead to decreased postsynaptic neurotransmitter availability. On the other hand, SPECT imaging studies showed that SERT availability was significantly lower in the midbrain and caudate of patients with BPD compared with healthy control subjects, but not in the thalamus and putamen. IL-10 was significantly higher, whereas TNFa was not different in euthymic patients with BPD compared with healthy controls. There was a significant association of SERT availability and IL-10 in the thalamus, but not in the midbrain, caudate, or putamen. The authors interpreted their results as demonstrating an interaction of SERT availability and IL-10 in euthymic BPD subjects [138]. In their MDD study, Amsterdam and colleagues found overall lower binding of ¹²³I-ADAM binding to SERT with a significant increase after cognitive behavioral therapy in their drug free depressed subjects. These investigators concluded that the low SERT binding seen during depression may reflect lower brain serotonin levels via a compensatory SERT downregulation. Thus, low SERT binding in depression may reflect an overall low serotonin function in depression that "normalizes" during response to treatment [139]. Taken together, the data from animal studies do not agree with the reports from human SERT imaging. Larger studies are required with medication free patients and inclusion of genotyping to ascertain the underlying SERT polymorphisms in the participants.

7 The Glutamatergic Theory of Depression

Glutamate and glutamatergic transmission have been gaining increasing importance in understanding the complex etiopathology of affective disorders since the discovery that ketamine administration can produce profound and rapid response in treatment resistant depressed patients [140, 141]. Ketamine acts as an antagonist of the glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDA) [142]. What are the possible mechanisms that link inflammation and glutamatergic transmission to affective disorders? As mentioned above, IDO stimulation by cytokines activates the KP and leads to increased formation of QUIN by activated microglia and macrophages in the brain [143]. QUIN binds to the NMDA receptor but also stimulates the release and inhibits the reuptake of glutamate by astrocytes [144]. The ratio of the neuroprotective metabolite KA to QUIN is lower in depressed patients and correlates negatively with anhedonia [145] whereas in another study QUIN correlated positively with IL-6 in suicide attempters [146].

Several teams of investigators have shown that pro-inflammatory cytokines decrease the expression of glutamate transporters on astrocytes and increase astrocytic glutamate release [147, 148]. Astrocytic release of glutamate binds preferentially to extrasynaptic NMDA receptors which decrease neurotrophins and increase excitotoxicity [149]. To quote A. Miller, "the kynurenine pathway in general and quinolinic acid in particular may represent another point of convergence of the impact of inflammation and glutamate pathways on the brain and behavior" [150]. This brief review would be incomplete without mentioning the elegant work by Haroon and coinvestigators. Utilizing magnetic resonance spectroscopy, this team has shown that administration of the inflammatory cytokine IFN- α increases the glutamate to creatine ratio in the left basal ganglia and dorsal anterior cingulate cortex both of which have been implicated as targets of peripherally administered inflammatory stimuli. Increased glutamate in these brain regions correlated with depressive symptoms including anhedonia and fatigue [151–153]. These issues are discussed in greater detail by chap. 40.

8 Other Mechanisms

Lastly, activation of GTP-cyclohydrolase1 decreases the bioavailability of tetrahydrobiopterin, an important cofactor for all mono-oxygenases (including TRP hydroxylase but also phenylalanine and tyrosine hydroxylases). This mechanism is discussed by chap. 14.

In their comprehensive review article, Haase and Brown [154] discuss the complex interplay between pro-inflammatory cytokines, SERT, and neurotrophins, specifically brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). As a growth factor expressed predominantly in hippocampal neurons, it is presumed to exert a neuroprotective function. If BDNF release declines in conjunction with a pro-inflammatory state, neuronal dysfunction with emergence of depressive symptoms ensues.

9 Treatment Issues

With respect to access to treatment, the data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2009–2012 present some stunning findings [25]. Just over one-third (35.3%) of persons with severe depressive symptoms reported having seen a mental health professional in the past year, while less than 20% of all Americans with moderate depressive symptoms had been seen by a mental health professional in the past year. Finally 13% of persons with mild symptoms had seen a mental health professional in the past year. On a somewhat positive side, these figures indicate that the rates of seeing a mental health professional increased as severity of depressive symptoms increased in all race and Hispanic origin groups. With respect to treatment modality and associated effectiveness, the survey indicates that the most effective treatment for depression, especially for severe depression, is a combination of medication and psychotherapy. As Glassman et al. pointed out several years ago, depression aggravates the course of multiple cardiovascular conditions and has regularly been shown to lower adherence to prescribed medication and secondary prevention measures [155]. Therefore the need for multipronged treatment modalities that include proven efficacious and safe pharmacologic and nonpharmacologic interventions has never been more urgent. To date, few randomized controlled trials have evaluated the efficacy of treatments for MDD in patients with CVD and flowing MI or CHF. Additionally, innovative studies should be undertaken to focus on the inflammation aspect of both disease entities in designing innovative preventive, therapeutic, and rehabilitative interventions.

10 Concluding Remarks

This review article has attempted to summarize compelling evidence gathered from multiple epidemiological, clinical, and basic studies that DI and CVD are intricately associated with each other. The co-morbidity is firmly established but the relationship between these two serious disease entities is complex and multifaceted. Based on the available literature, inflammation has emerged as a dominant theme and a major mechanism contributing to the co-morbidity. An active inflammatory process is present during the active stages of either illness, likely precedes the emergence of debilitating symptoms, and possibly extends beyond mood normalization and symptom remission. То address these complex questions, integrated multidisciplinary teams of clinician investigators with diverse expertise in basic laboratory, clinical, and cardiodiagnostic settings must coalesce. Such integrated teams are unfortunately rare. However, it is only through the cohesive interaction of such multidisciplinary teams that we will ultimately succeed in unraveling the complex relationships between mental stress, inflammation, immune responses and depression, CVD and CBVD. Additionally, formalized training of psychiatrists and cardiologists must be designed, possibly as a subspecialty, as I and others have proposed [156]. In addition to broadening and intensifying basic, clinical, and translational research efforts, innovative pharmacotherapeutic agents must be developed based on discoveries of alternate pathways involving interactively the immune and neurotransmitter systems. The efficacy of serotonin reuptake inhibitors in relieving depression and in reversing at least some of the pathogenetic factors common in both disease entities, although established and widely available, is a far cry from achieving symptom remission in the majority of such patients. Additionally, preventive measures and lifestyle changes that will hopefully reduce the current disease burden must be designed and implemented on a population-wide basis. The ultimate goal is to serve more effectively these patient populations by arriving at an early and accurate diagnosis, and utilizing innovative treatment approaches and preventive strategies.

References

- Dahlof B (2010) Cardiovascular disease risk factors: epidemiology and risk assessment. Am J Cardiol 105(Suppl 1):3A–9A
- 2. Lloyd-Jones DM, Hong Y, Labarthe D et al (2010) Defining and setting national goals for cardiovascular health promotion and disease reduction. Circulation 121(4):586–613
- 3. Waldman SA, Terzic A (2011) Cardiovascular health: the global challenge. Clin Pharmacol Ther 90(4):483–485
- 4. American Heart Association (2004) Heart disease and stroke statistics. American Heart Association, Dallas, TX
- 5. Lepin JP, Briley M (2011) The increasing burden of depression. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 7 (Suppl 1):3–7
- 6. Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG et al (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9(1):46–56
- 7. Dinan TG (2008) Inflammatory markers in depression. Curr Opin Psychiatry 22:32-36
- Haroon E, Raison CL, Miller AH (2012) Psychoneuroimmunology Meets neuropsychopharmacology: translational implications of the impact of inflammation on behavior. Neuropsychopharmacol Rev 37:137–162
- 9. Leonard BE (2010) The concept of depression as a dysfunction of the immune system. Curr Immunol Rev 6(3):205–212
- 10. Koenig W (2001) Inflammation and coronary heart disease: an overview. Cardiol Rev 9:31-35
- 11. Mulvihill NT, Foley JB (2002) Inflammation in acute coronary syndromes. Heart 87:201-204
- Robbins M, Topol EJ (2002) Inflammation in acute coronary syndromes. Cleve Clin J Med 69 (Suppl 2):SII130–SII142
- 13. Kop WJ, Gottdiener JS, Tangen CM et al (2002) Inflammation and coagulation factors on persons > 65 years of age with symptoms of depression but without evidence of myocardial ischemia. Am J Cardiol 89:419–424
- Maes M, Bosmans E, Meltzer HY et al (1993) Interleukin-1 beta: a putative mediator of HPA axis hyperactivity in major depression? Am J Psychiatry 150:1189–1193
- 15. Maes M, der Planken V, Van Gastel A, Desnyder R (1996) Blood coagulation and platelet aggression in major depression. J Affect Disord 40:35–40
- Musselman DL, Miller AH, Porter MR et al (2001) Higher than normal plasma interleukin-6 concentrations in cancer patients with depression: preliminary findings. Am J Psychiatry 158:1252–1257
- Castanon N, Leonard BE, Neveu PJ, Yirmiya R (2002) Effects of antidepressants on cytokine production and actions. Brain Behav Immun 16:569–574
- Connor TJ, Leonard BE (1998) Depression, stress and immunological activation: the role of cytokines in depressive disorders. Life Sci 62:583–606
- Leonard BE (2001) Brain cytokines and the psychopathology of depression. In: Leonard BE (ed) Antidepressants. Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, pp 109–120
- Leonard BE, Myint AM (2006) Inflammation and depression: is there a causal connection with dementia? Neurotox Res 10:149–160
- Murray CJ, Lopez AD (1997) Global mortality, disability and the contribution of risk factors: global burden of disease study. Lancet 349(9063):1436–1442
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2010) Current depression among adults—United States, 2006 and 2008. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 59:1229–1235
- Demyttenaere K, Bruffaerts R, Posada-Villa J et al (2004) Prevalence, severity, and unmet need for treatment of mental disorders in the World Health Organization world mental health surveys. JAMA 291:2581–2590
- 24. Rozanski A, Blumenthal JA, Kaplan J (1999) Impact of psychological factors on the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease and implications for therapy. Circulation 99:2192–2217
- Pratt LA, Brody DJ (2014) Depression in the U.S. household population, 2009–2012 (NCHS data brief, no 172). National Center for Health Statistics, Hyattsville, MD
- 26. Kovasic JC, Fuster V (2011) From treating complex coronary disease to promoting cardio-vascular health: therapeutic transitions and challenges 2010-2020. Clin Pharmacol Ther 90 (4):509–518
- Viles-Gonzalez JF, Fuster V, Badimon JJ (2004) Atherothrombosis: a widespread disease with unpredictable and life-threatening consequences. Eur Heart J 25:1197–1207
- Terzic A, Waldman SA (2011) Chronic diseases: the emerging pandemic. Clin Transl Sci 4:225–226
- 29. CDC, NCHS (2015) Underlying cause of death 1999-2013 on CDC WONDER Online Database, released 2015. Data are from the Multiple Cause of Death Files, 1999-2013, as compiled from data provided by the 57 vital statistics jurisdictions through the Vital Statistics Cooperative Program. Accessed 3 Feb 2015
- 30. Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS et al (2015) Heart disease and stroke statistics—2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 131:e29–e322
- Barth J, Schumacher M, Herrmann-Lingen C (2004) Depression as a risk factor for mortality in patients with coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 66:802–813
- Gump BB, Matthews KA, Eberly LE, Chang YF (2005) MRFIT Research Group. Depressive symptoms and mortality in men: results from multiple risk factor intervention trial. Stroke 36:98–102
- 33. Ariyo AA, Haan M, Tangen CM et al (2000) Depressive symptoms and risks of coronary heart disease and mortality in elderly Americans. Cardiovascular Health Study Collaborative Research Group. Circulation 102:1773–1779
- 34. Ford DE, Mead LA, Chang PP (1998) Depression is a risk factor for coronary artery disease in men: the precursors study. Arch Intern Med 158(13):1422–1426
- 35. Penninx BW, Beekman AT, Honig A et al (2001) Depression and cardiac mortality: results from a community-based longitudinal study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:221–227
- 36. Jiang W, Alexander J, Christopher E et al (2001) Relationship of depression to increased risk of mortality and rehospitalization in patients with congestive heart failure. Arch Intern Med 161:1849–1856

- 37. Lesperance J, Frasure-Smith N, Talajic M, Bourassa M (2002) Five-year risk of cardiac mortality in relation to initial severity and one-year changes in depression symptoms in myocardial infarction. Circulation 105:1049–1053
- Junger J, Schellberg D, Muller-Tasch T (2005) Depression increasingly predicts mortality in the course of congestive heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 7:261–267
- 39. Sherwood A, Blumenthal JA, Trivedi R et al (2007) Relationship of depression to death or hospitalization in patients with heart failure. Arch Intern Med 167:367–373
- Carney RM, Jaffe AS (2002) Treatment of depression following acute myocardial infarction. JAMA 288:750–751
- Musselman DL, Evans DL, Nemeroff CB (1998) The relationship of depression to cardiovascular disease: epidemiology, biology, and treatment. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55:580–592
- O'Connor CM, Gurbel PA, Serebruany VL (2000) Depression in ischemic heart disease. Am Heart J 140:63–69
- Wulsin LR, Evans JC, Vasan RS et al (2005) Depressive symptoms, coronary heart disease, and overall mortality in the Framingham heart study. Psychosom Med 67:697–702
- 44. Eaton WW, Fogel J, Armenian HK (2006) The consequences of psychopathology in the Baltimore Epidemiologic Catchment Area Follow-up. Medical and psychiatric co-morbidity over the lifespan. American Psychiatric Publishing, Washington, DC, p 21–38
- 45. Nicholson A, Kuper H, Hemingway H (2006) Depression as an aetiologic and prognostic factor in coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis of 6362 events among 146 538 participants in 54 observational studies. Eur Heart J 27:2763–2774
- 46. McCaffery JM, Frasure-Smith N, Dube MP et al (2006) Common genetic vulnerability to depressive symptoms and coronary artery disease: a review and development of candidate genes related to inflammation and serotonin. Psychosom Med 68(2):187–200
- Fielding R (1991) Depression and acute myocardial infarction: a review and reinterpretation. Soc Sci Med 32:1017–1027
- Rudisch B, Nemeroff CB (2003) Epidemiology of comorbid coronary artery disease and depression. Biol Psychiatry 54:227–240
- 49. Schleifer SJ, Macari-Hinson MM, Coyle DA (1989) The nature and course of depression following myocardial infarction. Arch Intern Med 149:1785–1789
- Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Talajic M (1993) Depression following myocardial infarction: impact of 6-month survival. JAMA 270:1819–1825
- Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Talajic M (1995) Depression and 18-month prognosis after myocardial infraction. Circulation 91:999–1005
- 52. Ahern DK, Gorkin L, Anderson JL et al (1990) Biobehavioral variables and mortality or cardiac arrest in the Cardiac Arrhythmia Pilot Study (CAPS). Am J Cardiol 66:59–62
- Bush DE, Ziegelstein RC, Tayback M et al (2001) Even minimal symptoms of depression increase mortality risk after acute myocardial infection. Am J Cardiol 88:337–341
- 54. Selye H (1956) The stress of life. McGraw-Hill, New York
- 55. Tracey K (2007) Physiology and immunology of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway. J Clin Invest 117(2):289–296
- 56. Thayer JF, Lane RD (2007) The role of vagal function in the risk for cardiovascular disease and mortality. Biol Psychol 74:224–242
- 57. Pavlov V, Tracey K (2005) The cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway. Brain Behav Immun 19:493–499
- Pavlov VA, Parrish WR, Rosas-Ballina M et al (2009) Brain acetylcholinesterase activity controls systemic cytokine levels through the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway. Brain Behav Immun 23(1):41–45. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2008.06.011
- 59. Pavlov VA, Tracey KJ (2015) Neural circuitry and immunity. Immunol Res 63(1-3):38-57
- 60. Otte C, Neylan TC, Pipkin SS et al (2005) Depressive symptoms and 24-hour urinary norepinephrine excretion levels in patients with coronary disease: findings from the heart and soul study. Am J Psychiatry 162(11):2139–2145

- 61. Kemp AH, Quintana DS, Gray MA et al (2010) Impact of depression and antidepressant treatment on heart rate variability: a review and meta-analysis. Biol Psychiatry 67 (11):1067–1074. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.12.012, Epub 6 Feb 2010
- 62. Licht CM, de Geus EJC, Zitman FG et al (2008) Association between major depressive disorder and heart rate variability in the Netherlands study of depression and anxiety (NESDA). Arch Gen Psychiatry 65(12):1358–1367
- 63. Porges SW (2001) The polyvagal theory: phylogenetic substrates of a social nervous system. Int J Psychophysiol 42(2):123–146
- 64. Porges SW (1995) Cardiac vagal tone; a physiological index of stress. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 19(2):225–233
- 65. Porges SW (1997) Emotion: an evolutionary by-product of the neural regulation of the autonomic nervous system. Ann N Y Acad Sci 807:62–77
- 66. Licht CM, Penninx BW, de Geus EJ (2011) To include or not to include? A response to the meta-analysis of heart rate variability and depression. Biol Psychiatry 69(4):e1; author reply e3–4. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.06.034
- Myint AM (2012) Kynurenines: from the perspective of major psychiatric disorders. FEBS J 279:1375–1385
- 68. Smith RS (1991) The macrophage theory of depression. Med Hypotheses 35(4):298-306
- 69. Ur E, Pd W, Grossman A (1992) Hypothesis: cytokines may be activated to cause depressive illness and chronic fatigue syndrome. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 241(5):317–322
- 70. Lett HS, Blumenthal JA, Babyak MA et al (2004) Depression as a risk factor for coronary artery disease: evidence, mechanisms, and treatment. Psychosom Med 66:305–315
- 71. Maes M (1994) Cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 36:498–499
- Anisman H, Ravindran AV, Griffiths J et al (1999) Endocrine and cytokine correlates of major depression and dysthymia with typical or atypical features. Mol Psychiatry 4:182–188
- 73. Kaestner F, Hettich M, Peters M et al (2005) Different activation patterns of proinflammatory cytokines in melancholic and non-melancholic major depression are associated with HPA axis activity. J Affect Disord 87:305–311
- 74. Kim YK, Suh IB, Kim H et al (2002) The plasma levels of interleukin-12 in schizophrenia, major depression, and bipolar mania: effects of psychotropic drugs. Mol Psychiatry 7:1107–1114
- Lanquillon S, Krieg JC, Bening-Abu-Shach U, Vedder H (2000) Cytokine production and treatment response in major depressive disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 22:370–379
- 76. Mikova O, Yakimova R, Bosmans E et al (2001) Increased serum tumor necrosis factor alpha concentrations in major depression and multiple sclerosis. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 11:203–208
- 77. Myint AM, Leonard BE, Steinbusch HW, Kim YK (2005) Th1, Th2, and Th3 cytokine alterations in major depression. J Affect Disord 88:167–173
- 78. Piletz JE, Halaris A, Iqbal O et al (2009) Pro-inflammatory biomarkers in depression: treatment with venlafaxine. World J Biol Psychiatry 10:313–323
- Schiepers OJ, Wichers MC, Maes M (2005) Cytokines and major depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 29:201–217
- Thomas AJ, Davis S, Morris C et al (2005) Increase in interleukin-1beta in late-life depression. Am J Psychiatry 162:175–177
- Boorman E, Romano GF, Russell A et al (2015) Are mood and anxiety disorders inflammatory diseases? Psychiatr Ann 45(5):240–248
- Dantzer R (2001) Cytokine-induced sickness behavior: mechanisms and implications. Ann N Y Acad Sci 933:222–234
- Vollmer-Conna U, Fazou C, Cameron B et al (2004) Production of pro-inflammatory cytokines correlates with the symptoms of acute sickness behaviour in humans. Psychol Med 34:1289–1297

- 84. von Känel R, Hepp U, Kraemer B et al (2006) Evidence for low-grade systemic proinflammatory activity in patients with posttraumatic stress disorder. J Psychiatr Res 41:744–752
- Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W et al (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67:446–457
- 86. Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009) Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 65(9):732–741
- 87. Miller AH, Raison CL (2016) The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. Nat Rev Immunol 16:23–34
- Di Iorio A, Ferrucci L, Sparvieri E et al (2003) Serum IL-1beta levels in health and disease: a population-based study. 'The InCHIANTI study'. Cytokine 22:198–205
- 89. Biasucci LM (2004) CDC/AHA Workshop on markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: application to clinical and public health practice: clinical use of inflammatory markers in patients with cardiovascular diseases: a background paper. Circulation 110: e560–e567
- 90. Empana JP, Sykes DH, Luc G et al (2005) Contributions of depressive mood and circulating inflammatory markers to coronary heart disease in healthy European men: the Prospective Epidemiological Study of Myocardial Infarction (PRIME). Circulation 111:2299–2305
- 91. Anda R, Williamson D, Jones D et al (1993) Depressed affect, hopelessness, and the risk of ischemic heart disease in a cohort of U.S. adults. Epidemiology 4:285–294
- 92. Kamphuis MH, Kalmijn S, Tijhuis MA et al (2006) Depressive symptoms as risk factor of cardiovascular mortality in older European men: the Finland, Italy and Netherlands Elderly (FINE) study. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 13:199–206
- 93. Pratt LA, Ford DE, Crum RM et al (1996) Depression, psychotropic medication, and risk of myocardial infarction. Prospective data from the Baltimore ECA follow-up. Circulation 94:3123–3129
- 94. Müller N, Schwarz MJ, Dehning S et al (2006) The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib has therapeutic effects in major depression: results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled, add-on pilot study to reboxetine. Mol Psychiatry 11(7):680–684
- 95. Akhondzadeh S, Jafari S, Raisi F et al (2009) Clinical trial of adjunctive celecoxib treatment in patients with major depression: a double blind and placebo controlled trial. Depress Anxiety 26(7):607–611
- 96. Nery FG, Monkul ES, Hatch JP et al (2008) Celecoxib as an adjunct in the treatment of depressive or mixed episodes of bipolar disorder: a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled study. Hum Psychopharmacol 23(2):87–94
- Halaris A, Alvi N, Meresh E, Sharma A (2014) Inflammation control reverses treatmentresistance in bipolar depression. Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res 20:12–13
- 98. Himmerich H, Binder EB, Künzel HE et al (2006) Successful antidepressant therapy restores the disturbed interplay between TNF-alpha system and HPA axis. Biol Psychiatry 60:882–888
- Kenis G, Maes M (2002) Effects of antidepressants on the production of cytokines. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 5:401–412
- 100. Kubera M, Lin AH, Kenis G et al (2001) Anti-inflammatory effects of antidepressants through suppression of the interferon-gamma/interleukin-10 production ratio. J Clin Psychopharmacol 21:199–206
- 101. Kubera M, Kenis G, Bosmans E et al (2004) Stimulatory effect of antidepressants on the production of IL-6. Int Immunopharmacol 4:185–192
- 102. Mayer B, Holmer SR, Hengstenberg C et al (2005) Functional improvement in heart failure patients treated with beta-blockers is associated with a decline of cytokine levels. Int J Cardiol 103:182–186
- 103. Janssen DG, Caniato RN, Verster JC, Baune BT (2010) A psychoneuroimmunological review on cytokines involved in antidepressant treatment response. Human Psychopharmacol 25:201–215

- 104. Halaris A (2015) Do antidepressants exert effects on the immune system? In: Mueller N, Myint A-M, Schwarz MJ (eds) Immunology and psychiatry, current topics in neurotoxicity. Springer, Berlin, pp 339–350. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-13602-8_16
- 105. Ross R (1999) Atherosclerosis-an inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med 340:115-126
- 106. Lind L (2003) Circulating markers of inflammation and atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 169:203–214
- 107. Frasure-Smith N, Lespérance F, Irwin MR et al (2007) Depression, C-reactive protein and two-year major adverse cardiac events in men after acute coronary syndromes. Biol Psychiatry 62(4):302–308
- Hansson G (2005) Inflammation, atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 352(16):1685–1695
- 109. Seta Y, Shan K, Bozkurt B et al (1996) Basic mechanisms in heart failure: the cytokine hypothesis. J Card Fail 2:243–249
- Petersen JW, Felker M (2006) Inflammatory biomarkers in heart failure. Congest Heart Fail 12:324–328
- 111. Casas JP, Shah T, Hingorani AD et al (2008) C-reactive protein and coronary heart disease: a critical review. J Intern Med 264:295–314
- 112. Koenig W (2013) High-sensitivity C-reactive protein and atherosclerotic disease: from improved risk prediction to risk-guided therapy. Int J Cardiol 168:5126–5134
- 113. Tsimikas S, Willerson JT, Ridker PM (2006) C-reactive protein and other emerging blood biomarkers to optimize risk stratification of vulnerable patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 47:C19– C31
- 114. Hamer M, Batty GD, Marmot MG et al (2011) Anti-depressant medication use and C-reactive protein: results from two population-based studies. Brain Behav Immun 25(1):168–173
- 115. Wium-Andersen MK, Ørsted DD, Nielsen SF et al (2013) Elevated C-reactive protein levels, psychological distress, and depression in 73 131 Individuals. JAMA Psychiatry 70 (2):176–184
- 116. Howren MB, Lamkin DM, Suls J (2009) Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-a, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 71:171–186
- 117. Copeland WE, Shanahan L, Worthman C et al (2012) Cumulative depression episodes predict later C-reactive protein levels: a prospective analysis. Biol Psychiatry 71(1):15–21
- 118. Frank MG, Baratta MV, Sprunger DB et al (2007) Microglia serve as a neuroimmune substrate for stress-induced potentiation of CNS pro-inflammatory cytokine responses. Brain Behav Immun 21:47–59
- 119. Raison CL, Miller AH (2013) Do cytokines really sing the blues? Cerebrum: The Dana Foundation, p 1–16. http://dana.org/Cerebrum/2013/Do_Cytokines_Really_Sing_the_ Blues_/#sthash.GLt3Sf7k.dpuf
- 120. Wu Y, Potempa LA, El Kebir D, Filep JG (2015) C-reactive protein and inflammation: conformational changes affect function. Biol Chem 396(11):1181–1197
- 121. Bonetti PO, Lerman LO, Lerman A (2003) Endothelial dysfunction: a marker of atherosclerotic risk. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:168–175
- 122. Cleland SJ, Sattar N, Petrie JR et al (2000) Endothelial dysfunction as a possible link between C-reactive protein levels and cardiovascular disease. Clin Sci 98:531–535
- 123. Musselman DL, Tomer A, Manatunga AK et al (1996) Exaggerated platelet reactivity in major depression. Am J Psychiatry 153:1313–1317
- 124. Musselman DL, Marzec UM, Manatunga A et al (2000) Platelet reactivity in depressed patients treated with paroxetine: preliminary findings. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57:875–882
- 125. Nemeroff CB, Musselman DL (2000) Are platelets the link between depression and ischemic heart disease? Am Heart J 140(Suppl 4):57–62
- 126. Piletz JE, Zhu H, Madakasira S et al (2000) Elevated P-selectin on platelets in depression: response to bupropion. J Psychiatry Res 34:397–404

- 127. Tucci M, Quatraro C, Frassanito MA, Silvestris F (2006) Deregulated expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) in arterial hypertension: role in endothelial inflammation and atheromasia. J Hypertens 24:1307–1318
- Verma S, Buchanan MR, Anderson TJ (2003) Endothelial function testing as a biomarker of vascular disease. Circulation 108:2054–2059
- Broadley AJ, Korszun A, Jones CJ, Frenneaux MP (2002) Arterial endothelial function is impaired in treated depression. Heart 88:521–523
- Rybakowski JK, Wykretowicz A, Heymann-Szlachcinska A, Wysocki H (2006) Impairment of endothelial function in unipolar and bipolar depression. Biol Psychiatry 60(8):889–891
- 131. Do DP, Dowd JB, Ranjit N et al (2010) Hopelessness, depression, and early markers of endothelial dysfunction in U.S. adults. Psychosom Med 72:613–619
- 132. Myint AM, Kim YK (2003) Cytokine-serotonin interaction through IDO; a neurodegeneration hypothesis of depression. Med Hypotheses 61(5–6):519–525
- 133. Myint AM, Kim YK, Verkerk R et al (2007) Kynurenine pathway in major depression: evidence of impaired neuroprotection. J Affect Disord 89(1):143–151
- 134. Raison CL, Dantzer R, Kelley KW et al (2010) CSF concentrations of brain tryptophan and kynurenines during immune stimulation with IFN-a: relationship to CNS immune responses and depression. Mol Psychiatry 15:393–403
- 135. Halaris A, Myint AM, Savant V et al (2015) Does escitalopram reduce neurotoxicity in major depression? J Psychiatr Res 66–67:118–126
- 136. Zhu C-B, Lindler KM, Owens AW et al (2010) Interleukin-1 receptor activation by systemic lipopolysaccharide induces behavioral despair linked to MAPK regulation of CNS serotonin transporters. Neuropsychopharmacology 35:2510–2520
- 137. Baganz NL, Lindler KM, Zhu CB et al (2015) A requirement of serotonergic p38α mitogenactivated protein kinase for peripheral immune system activation of CNS serotonin uptake and serotonin-linked behaviors. Transl Psychiatry 5, e671. doi:10.1038/tp.2015.168
- 138. Hsu JW, Lirng JF, Wang SJ et al (2014) Association of thalamic serotonin transporter and interleukin-10 in bipolar I disorder: a SPECT study. Bipolar Disord 16(3):241–248. doi:10. 1111/bdi.12164, Epub 20 Dec 2013
- 139. Amsterdam JD, Newberg AB, Newman CF et al (2013) Change over time in brain serotonin transporter binding in major depression: effects of therapy measured with [123I]-ADAM SPECT. J Neuroimaging 23(4):469–476. doi:10.1111/jon.12035
- 140. aan het Rot M, Collins KA, Murrough JW et al (2010) Safety and efficacy of repeated-dose intravenous ketamine for treatment-resistant depression. Biol Psychiatry 67:139–145
- 141. Berman RM, Cappiello A, Anand A et al (2000) Antidepressant effects of ketamine in depressed patients. Biol Psychiatry 47:351–354
- 142. Duman RS, Li N, Liu RJ et al (2012) Signaling pathways underlying the rapid antidepressant actions of ketamine. Neuropharmacology 62:35–41
- 143. Schwarcz R (2004) The kynurenine pathway of tryptophan degradation as a drug target. Curr Opin Pharmacol 4:12–17
- 144. Tavares RG, Tasca CI, Santos CE et al (2002) Quinolinic acid stimulates synaptosomal glutamate release and inhibits glutamate uptake into astrocytes. Neurochem Int 40:621–627
- 145. Savitz J, Drevets WC, Smith CM et al (2015) Putative neuroprotective and neurotoxic kynurenine pathway metabolites are associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in subjects with major depressive disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 40:463–471
- 146. Erhardt S, Lim CK, Linderholm KR et al (2013) Connecting inflammation with glutamate agonism in suicidality. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:743–752
- 147. Dantzer R, Walker A (2014) Is there a role for glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity in inflammation-induced depression? J Neural Transm (Vienna) 121:925–932
- 148. Malarkey E, Parpura V (2008) Mechanisms of glutamate release from astrocytes. Neurochem Int 52:142–154
- 149. Hardingham GE, Bading H (2010) Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signaling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 11:682–696

- 150. Miller AH (2013) Conceptual confluence: the kynurenine pathway as a common target for ketamine and the convergence of the inflammation and glutamate hypotheses of depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:1607–1608
- 151. Haroon E, Woolwine BJ, Chen X et al (2014) IFN-alpha induced cortical and subcortical glutamate changes assessed by magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Neuropsychopharmacology 39:1777–1785
- 152. Haroon E, Felger JC, Woolwine BJ et al (2015) Age-related increases in basal ganglia glutamate are associated with TNF, reduced motivation and decreased psychomotor speed during IFN-alpha treatment: preliminary findings. Brain Behav Immun 46:17–22
- 153. Haroon E, Fleischer CC, Felger JC et al (2016) Conceptual convergence: increased inflammation is associated with increased basal ganglia glutamate in patients with major depression. Molecular Psychiatry advance online publication, 12 Jan 2016. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.206
- 154. Haase J, Brown E (2015) Integrating the monoamine, neurotrophin and cytokine hypotheses of depression—a central role for the serotonin transporter? Pharmacol Ther 147:1–11. doi:10. 1016/j.pharmthera.2014.10.002, Epub 1 Nov 2014. Review
- 155. Glassman AH, Bigger TJ Jr, Gaffney M (2009) Psychiatric characteristics associated with long-term mortality among 361 patients having an acute coronary syndrome and major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 66(9):1022–1029
- 156. Halaris A (2013) Psychocardiology: moving toward a new subspecialty. Future Cardiol 9 (5):635–640

Immune-to-Brain Communication Pathways in Inflammation-Associated Sickness and Depression

Charlotte D'Mello and Mark G. Swain

Abstract A growing body of evidence now highlights a key role for inflammation in mediating sickness behaviors and depression. Systemic inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, and chronic liver disease have high comorbidity with depression. How the periphery communicates with the brain to mediate changes in neurotransmission and thereby behavior is not completely understood. Traditional routes of communication between the periphery and the brain involve neural and humoral pathways with TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 being the three main cytokines that have primarily been implicated in mediating signaling via these pathways. However, in recent years communication via peripheral immune-cell-to-brain and the gut-microbiota-to-brain routes have received increasing attention for their ability to modulate brain function. In this chapter we discuss periphery-to-brain communication pathways and their potential role in mediating inflammation-associated sickness behaviors and depression.

Keywords Cytokines • Depression • Gut microbiome • Microglia • Sickness behavior

Contents

1 Periphery-to-Brain Communication Pathways		76	
	1.1	Neural Pathway	76
	1.2	Signaling via Cerebral Endothelial Cells	76

C. D'Mello and M.G. Swain (⊠)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 73–94 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_37 Published Online: 27 August 2016

Immunology Research Group, Calvin, Phoebe and Joan Snyder Institute for Chronic Diseases, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, 3280 Hospital Dr. NW, Calgary, AB, Canada T2N 4N1 e-mail: swain@ucalgary.ca

	1.3	Signaling via the Circumventricular Organs	77
	1.4	Peripheral Immune-Cell-to-Brain Signaling	78
2	Char	nges in Brain Function as a Result of Periphery-to-Brain Communication	81
3	Gut	Microbiome, Systemic Inflammation, and Altered Behavior and Mood	83
	3.1	Gut Microbiome and Changes During Inflammatory Diseases	83
	3.2	Gut-to-Brain Communication Can Modulate Behavior	83
	3.3	Changes in Gut Microbiome Can Modulate Systemic Inflammation and Thereby	
		Behavior	86
	3.4	Gut Dysbiosis in Systemic Disease	87
4	Cond	cluding Remarks	88
Ret	leferences		

Animal models have highlighted a key role for three main cytokines, namely $TNF\alpha$, IL-1 β , and IL-6, in mediating communication between the periphery and the brain during systemic inflammation. As a result of this communication, systemic inflammation is often accompanied by changes in CNS function that lead to behavioral alterations including fatigue, social withdrawal, cognitive dysfunction, and loss of motivation (collectively termed sickness behaviors) [1, 2]. Administration of the Gram negative cell wall component lipopolysaccharide (LPS; a potent inducer of TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6) or the three respective cytokines to rodents or healthy subjects results in the development of sickness behaviors and depressed mood [3, 4]. Furthermore, blockade of systemic cytokine (e.g., TNF α) signaling improves fatigue-like behaviors in animal models, including in mice with liver inflammation induced by bile duct ligation (BDL) [5]. Clinical observations in patients with systemic inflammatory diseases associated with high incidence of sickness behaviors and altered mood also parallel findings observed in animal models. In patients with a range of peripheral organ inflammatory diseases including chronic liver disease [6], psoriasis [7], inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) [8], diabetes [9], or rheumatoid arthritis [10], circulating levels of cytokines such as TNF α or IL-6 are elevated. Anti-TNFα therapy can lead to improvements in patients' sense of wellbeing and associated health related quality of life (HRQOL), well before overt changes in tissue inflammation [11]. Similarly, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, either anti-TNF α or anti-IL-6 therapy often results in striking and rapid improvements in HROOL, well before noticeable changes in joint inflammation [12]. Consistent with this finding, functional MRI (fMRI) has shown that anti-TNFa therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis rapidly (within 24 h) alters brain activation in response to a painful peripheral stimulus [13]. The potential importance of cytokine signaling to the brain in altering mood is further supported by a recent pilot study in patients with treatment-resistant depression in whom anti-TNF α therapy improved depressive symptoms; specifically in the subgroup of patients with high baseline inflammatory biomarkers [14]. Cytokine polymorphisms are also known to influence disease susceptibility and severity in systemic inflammatory diseases. For instance, genes involved in TNFa signaling and its key intracellular mediator NF-kB have been implicated in the pathogenesis of many systemic inflammatory diseases [15]. In addition, TNF α polymorphisms have also been linked with fatigue and mood disorders [16, 17].

Communication between the periphery and the brain has been postulated to occur via four main pathways: (1) neural pathways, (2) signaling via cerebral endothelial cells (CECs), (3) signaling via circumventricular organs (CVOs), and (4) peripheral immune-cell-to-brain signaling (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Periphery-to-brain communication pathways (1) Neural route: visceral organs are innervated by vagal afferents that can respond to immune mediators such as TNF α and IL-1 β . Vagal afferents project to the dorsal vagal complex and from there to varied cerebral regions. (2) Humoral route: circulating TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6-IL-6R complex interact with their receptors on CECs to induce their respective signaling pathways. They can also access the brain via the CVOs and the choroid plexus, regions of the brain that lack a blood-brain barrier. (3) Cell mediated route as delineated in mice with liver inflammation: CECs are activated to express adhesion molecules such as P-selectin and VCAM-1. Monocytes in the circulation are activated and express TNFa. TNFa drives increased P-selectin dependent monocyte:CEC adhesive interactions which in turn lead to microglial activation. Activated microglia can produce neuromodulators such as $TNF\alpha$ and NO that can effect neural activity and thereby behavior. In addition, activated microglia express monocyte chemoattractants such as CCL2 which promote monocyte migration into the brain. Infiltrating monocytes also produce CCL2 that can further promote their recruitment into the brain. The infiltrating monocytes can serve as source of cytokines such as TNF α and IL-1 β which can mediate changes within the brain. TNF α tumor necrosis factor- α , *IL-1* β interleukin-1 β , *IL-6* interleukin-6, *NO* nitric oxide; *CECs* cerebral endothelial cells, CVOs circumventricular organs

1 Periphery-to-Brain Communication Pathways

1.1 Neural Pathway

Visceral organs are innervated by vagal nerve afferents which could represent the initial trigger for detecting inflammation, as they are capable of responding to cytokines. Vagal nerve afferents express cytokine receptors, including the type I IL-1 receptor IL-1R1, and there are macrophages interspersed between vagal fibers that could also respond to cytokines [18]. In LPS-induced peritoneal inflammation, vagal afferent signaling is activated as demonstrated by increased Fos (protein expressed by the immediate early gene c-fos; used as an indicator of neuronal activation) expression in the vagal afferent primary and secondary cerebral projection areas [19]. Normal volunteers, who received a typhoid vaccination to induce acute peripheral immune activation, showed increased activity in the brain (insula and the anterior cingulate cortex; areas of the brain where afferent vagal and spinal interoceptive neural pathways converge) during performance of a high-demand word task [20]. In addition, fatigue levels in these individuals correlated with activity changes measured within these brain regions. Subdiaphragmatic vagotomy blocks the development of sickness behaviors in rodents in response to inflammation induced by intraperitoneal administration of LPS, but not in response to inflammation induced by alternate routes (i.e., intravenously or centrally) [21]. However, chronic inflammatory diseases are typically associated with prolonged low grade, fluctuating increases in tissue and circulating cytokine levels. Therefore, it is possible that neural communication routes may play a more significant role in development of sickness behaviors in early or more acute and robust inflammatory responses.

1.2 Signaling via Cerebral Endothelial Cells

Receptors for TNF α and IL-1 β are found on the cell surface of CECs, and on neuronal and glial cells in the brain [22]. Binding of TNF α and IL-1 β to these receptors activates NF-kB in CECs and induces production of secondary messengers (e.g., prostaglandins [PGs] and nitric oxide [NO]) which can subsequently promote changes within the brain [23]. NO is produced by nitric oxide synthase (NOS). Constitutive NOS isoforms are present in endothelial cells (eNOS) and neuronal cells (nNOS). The inducible NOS (iNOS) isoform is up-regulated during inflammation, in immune cells (e.g., macrophages) and CECs, and is associated with modulating CNS function and thereby behavior [24]. For instance, in mice with liver inflammation, iNOS expression was up-regulated in CECs in response to systemic TNF α signaling and was important in mediating microglial activation [5]. Notably, intraperitoneal administration of an iNOS inhibitor in mice exposed to chronic mild stress led to a decrease in cortex iNOS mRNA levels and an improvement in "depression-like" behavior [25]. PGE_2 is the PG subtype that has received the most attention in its ability to mediate central effects in response to circulating cytokines [26]. PGE_2 receptors are expressed in brain areas implicated in emotional and behavioral control, including the hypothalamus and amygdala [27]. Moreover, inhibition of PG synthesis attenuates systemic LPS-induced sickness behaviors in mice [28].

IL-6R is not expressed on CECs but can be found on leukocytes. When immune cells are activated, IL-6R is shed from the cell surface. IL-6 can bind to the membrane or soluble form of the IL-6R, and the IL-6-IL-6R complex then interacts with the transmembrane component glycoprotein 130, which is expressed on CECs; a process called trans-signaling [29]. IL-6 signaling involves activation of Janus kinases—signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) signaling pathway which can induce production of adhesion molecules such as intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 [23]. In mice with liver inflammation, genetic absence of IL-6 is associated with significant improvement in fatigue-like behaviors, an effect that could be reversed by intravenous administration of recombinant IL-6 [30]. In addition, in mice that underwent a BDL to induce liver inflammation, deficiency in IL-6 prevented the increase in CEC p-STAT3 expression observed in the hippocampal region, highlighting a potential key role for circulating IL-6 in signaling the brain via CECs [30].

1.3 Signaling via the Circumventricular Organs

Most of the brain is enclosed within a blood-brain barrier that is comprised of non-fenestrated endothelial cells with tight junctions between them. CVOs are regions of the brain that lack an intact blood-brain barrier. The capillaries in these regions are fenestrated allowing molecules within the circulation to have direct access to the brain [31]. CVOs may be an access point for circulating cytokines to enter the brain and induce downstream signaling events important in altering brain function. Induction of c-fos mRNA in response to systemic TNFa has been observed in the CVOs [22]. Systemic IL-1β or TNFα administration resulted in increased expression of CCL2 (a potent monocyte chemoattractant) and TNFR mRNA, respectively, within the CVOs [22, 32]. The CVOs have also been implicated as a route for leukocyte entry into the brain. Consistent with this, in brain sections from mice with experimental autoimmune encephalitis, CD45⁺ leukocytes were observed in four CVOs that were examined (i.e., the area prostrema, organum vasculosum of the lamina terminalis, median eminence, and subfornical organ) [33]. Similarly, in brain sections from mice with liver inflammation, we have also documented infiltrating monocytes in the subfornical region which could suggest that the CVOs serve as a potential route of entry into the brain for circulating monocytes [34].

1.4 Peripheral Immune-Cell-to-Brain Signaling

More recently, we have delineated a peripheral immune cell-to-brain communication pathway that has implications for mediating fatigue-like behaviors and mood disorders in systemic inflammatory diseases [5, 34]. Systemic inflammation is often associated with activation of CECs and circulating leukocytes. This occurrence can therefore result in increased adhesive interactions between them. Circulating monocytes in rodents have been described as a non-inflammatory subtype defined as CCR2⁻, Ly6C⁻, and CX₃CR1^{high} expressing cells, that can give rise to tissue resident macrophages, and an inflammatory subtype, defined as CCR2⁺, Ly6C⁺, and CX₃CR1^{low} expressing cells. Similar monocyte subtypes have been characterized in humans [35]. In mice with liver inflammation, there is a significant increase in the number of circulating inflammatory Lv6C⁺ monocytes (unpublished observation). Moreover, a large proportion of circulating monocytes in mice with liver inflammation are activated and produce $TNF\alpha$ [36]. According to the classical leukocyte recruitment paradigm, leukocytes first tether, then roll along endothelium and upon encountering an activating stimulus, firmly adhere to vascular endothelium [37]. Rolling is primarily mediated by molecules called "selectins." There are three known selectins, namely, P, E, and L-selectin, that can all bind to P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1), a ligand expressed on monocytes. Leukocyte adhesion is mediated by "integrins" which are heterodimers comprising of an " α " and a " β " subunit and are categorized based on a common " β " subunit.

Intravital microscopy is a powerful imaging tool that allows for visualization of leukocyte:endothelial cell interactions occurring within the vasculature in real time. Intravital microscopy of the cerebral vasculature in mice with liver inflammation has demonstrated that peripheral organ inflammation can drive endothelial-immune cell interactions at sites remote from the inflamed tissue. In mice 5 days after liver inflammation induction, cerebral intravital microscopy delineated an increased number of monocyte:CEC adhesive interactions [5]. However, there was no evidence that monocytes were infiltrating the brain parenchyma at that time point. Furthermore, fatigue-like behaviors and altered central neural excitability were observed in these mice [5]. Although monocytes were not infiltrating the brain in mice with liver inflammation at the day 5 time point, microglia (the resident immune cells of the CNS) were activated and expressed TNFa and CCL2. In addition, microglia with an activated morphology were found predominantly in areas around the ventricles and blood-vessels; areas that serve as potential routes of entry for circulating immune cells into the brain [34]. The increased monocyte:CEC adhesive interactions observed in these mice were important for driving subsequent microglial activation, since inhibition of monocyte:CEC adhesive interactions with an anti-P-selectin antibody administered intraperitoneally, significantly reduced microglial activation [5]. In addition, inhibition of monocyte:CEC adhesive interactions in mice with liver inflammation improved fatigue-like behaviors and reversed the central neural excitability changes seen in these mice. In a different animal model, i.e., in a mouse model of pilocarpine-induced seizures, P-selectin driven neutrophil:CEC adhesive interactions were also found to modulate central neural excitability [38]. While there are limited clinical studies examining behavioral effects of systemic anti-P-selectin therapy, anti-adhesive therapies that target α_4 integrin have been used to treat patients with a range of medical conditions. Natalizumab targets the α_4 -integrin chain which blocks leukocyte:CEC adhesive interactions in multiple organs including the gut and CNS. Patients with multiple sclerosis treated systemically with natalizumab reported improvements in fatigue and well-being within 6 months of therapy [39]. Furthermore, in a study that examined effects of natalizumab on fatigue and depression over 1 year treatment, natalizumab treatment in patients with multiple sclerosis was found to significantly improve depression, which in turn was significantly related to improved fatigue [40]. In addition, patients with Crohn's disease treated with natalizumab reported improvement in HRQOL at 12 weeks after starting therapy and showed higher remission rates than placebo-treated patients [41]. However, natalizumab treatment has also been associated with adverse side effects including the devastating neurological disease progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. A new anti-adhesion antibody called Vedolizumab has recently been developed. Vedolizumab targets the β_7 chain which forms a heterodimer with the α_4 chain. Hence, Vedolizumab selectively inhibits the recruitment of leukocytes to the gut where the $\alpha_4\beta_7$ integrin is mainly expressed [42]. Vedolizumab treatment has also been reported to improve HRQOL, mainly in patients with Crohn's disease, with no adverse effects of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy to date [43].

In mice with liver inflammation of longer duration (i.e., day 10), fatigue-like behaviors are more pronounced than at day 5. Moreover, these day 10 mice have further increases in the number of monocyte:CEC adhesive interactions (as documented by intravital microscopy) as well as in the number of microglia that are activated and expressed the chemokine CCL2 [34]. The increase in microglial activation, along with increased monocyte:CEC adhesive interactions in these mice, was associated with an eightfold increase in the number of CCR2-(cognate receptor for CCL2) expressing monocytes that transmigrated into the brain [34, 36]. Monocytes that infiltrated the brain also expressed CCL2, which likely acts in a positive feedback way to promote further monocyte recruitment into the brain. Cerebral monocyte infiltration was prevented in mice with liver inflammation that lacked CCL2 or CCR2 [34], as well as in mice treated peripherally with anti-Pselectin and anti- α_4 -integrin antibodies. Infiltrating monocytes in mice with liver inflammation were found predominantly in the motor cortex, hippocampus, and basal ganglia regions; areas of the brain known to be involved in control of behavior [34]. In addition, monocytes infiltrating the brains of these mice expressed $TNF\alpha$, a neuromodulator which can promote activation of microglia as well as activate signaling cascades that can affect central neural activity [44]. Microglial activation and CCL2 driven cerebral infiltration of monocytes have also been observed in a mouse model of social defeat stress [45]. Furthermore, inhibition of cerebral monocyte recruitment in mice subjected to social defeat prevented anxiety and depression-like behaviors that classically develop in these mice [45, 46]. Clinical evidence from patients with depression also lends support for a potential role for a monocyte-to-brain communication pathway in mediating changes in brain function. Increased numbers of perivascular macrophages, as well as increased CCL2 expression in the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex area (a region implicated in mood disorders), have been documented in brain tissue from suicide victims with depression [47].

Microglia are capable of producing a wide range of inflammatory mediators, including the cytokines TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6. Microglial activation has been linked to behavioral alterations and changes in the regulation of neural excitability [3, 48]. For instance, in CX₃CR1 (expression in brain is restricted to microglia) KO mice a persistent activated microglial phenotype was observed, along with prolonged social withdrawal and "depression-like" behavior, in response to systemic LPS administration [49]. Animal models have demonstrated how inhibition of microglial activation improves sickness and depressive-like behaviors. For instance, in mice with liver inflammation, inhibiting microglial activation using minocycline prevented changes in central neural excitability exhibited by these mice as well as improved fatigue-like behaviors [5]. Furthermore, administration of minocycline to rodents prevented LPS-induced microglial expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines as well as improved observed sickness and depressive-like behaviors [3]. In the clinical setting, microglial activation has been identified in patients with depression or chronic inflammatory diseases that are associated with a high incidence of mood disorders [50]. In patients with chronic liver diseases such as hepatitis (Hep) C and primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC), where comorbidity with mood alterations are high, evidence for microglial activation has been made using cerebral proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (used to obtain information about cerebral biochemical metabolites), and positron emission tomography. Elevated levels of cerebral myo-inositol (an intracellular metabolite mainly found in glial cells) and choline (suggestive of cellular infiltration or glial proliferation) have been observed in patients with PBC and Hep C. In addition, increased choline levels in the basal ganglia of patients with PBC were associated with cognitive dysfunction [51, 52]. In a study that used both positron emission tomography (with a radioligand that binds to peripheral benzodiazepine receptor; used as a marker of microglial activation) and cerebral proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy, evidence of microglial activation was observed in the basal ganglia of patients with Hep C [53]. In patients with multiple sclerosis, a condition also associated with high incidence of fatigue and depression, positron emission tomography studies showed increased hippocampal microglial activation which in turn correlated with Beck Depression Inventory scores [54].

2 Changes in Brain Function as a Result of Periphery-to-Brain Communication

While circulating cytokines can mediate their effects on central neural activity through the production of secondary mediators such as PGE_2 or NO, they are also capable of inducing de novo synthesis of cytokines within the brain. For instance, peripheral TNF α administration in rodents up-regulates IL-1 β and TNF α expression within the brain [55]. Centrally produced cytokines appear to play an important role in mediating the behavioral effects of acutely administered peripheral cytokines. IL-1 β production within the brain was demonstrated to be significant in mediating the effects of peripheral LPS since central administration of IL-1 receptor antagonist, an endogenous inhibitor of IL-1 β signaling, reduced the expression of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF α in the hypothalamus and hippocampus of mice as well as the decrease in food intake observed with systemic LPS administration [56]. Functional cytokine receptors are also found on both glial cells and neurons.

Periphery to brain communication results in changes in central neurotransmission or alterations in brain regions associated with regulation of mood and behavior. Healthy volunteers administered endotoxin have increased fatigue along with changes in glutamate activity within the basal ganglia [57]. The basal ganglia comprise several interconnected nuclei which are involved in motor co-ordination, motivation, and emotional control: caudate nucleus, putamen, globus pallidus, substantia nigra, and subthalamic nucleus. Increased levels of glutamate in the basal ganglia have also been observed in patients with major depression, in association with higher levels of systemic inflammatory biomarkers [58]. Manganese is required for normal cellular function within the CNS. However, increased exposure to manganese is associated with microglial activation and neurological alterations in the basal ganglia and cerebral cortex, which in turn are linked to fatigue as well as cognitive and motor abnormalities [59].

Changes in serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT), dopamine, GABA, and corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) neurotransmission are amongst some of the neurotransmitter systems that have been implicated in mediating behavioral alterations during systemic inflammation. 5-HT neurotransmission is involved in a wide variety of behaviors including arousal, sleep-wake cycle, locomotor activity, and mood [60]. Serotonergic cell bodies are primarily located in the dorsal raphe nuclei in the midbrain and project to several regions in the brain, including the hippocampus, hypothalamus, and amygdala. Therapies that target 5-HT neurotransmission are associated with improvement in mood in patients with systemic inflammatory diseases. For instance, administration of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor type drugs that increase cerebral 5-HT levels improves depression in patients with Hep C [61]. Notably, a pilot study with patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with a TNFa inhibitor showed a decrease in SERT density (5-HT transporter) as well as an improvement in mental and emotional functioning [62]. Tryptophan is an essential amino acid required for the synthesis of 5-HT. Patients with depression generally have low circulating levels of tryptophan.

Indoleamine 2, 3 dioxygenase (IDO) is an enzyme that is expressed in varied cell types, including macrophages, and can be activated by cytokines including TNF α and IFN- γ [63]. IDO converts tryptophan to kynurenine (thereby making less available for 5-HT synthesis) which is further metabolized to kyneuric acid and quinolic acid, all of which have also been implicated in mediating fatigue or mood alterations [2, 57]. Patients with Hep C show elevations in cerebrospinal fluid levels of kynurenine and quinolic acid which are found to correlate positively with depressive symptoms [64]. Quinolic acid is mainly produced by microglial cells and can modulate glutamatergic neurotransmission. Increased density of quinolic acid positive microglia has been observed in the anterior cingulate cortex of depressed patients [65]. Activity changes (as seen via positron emission tomography) within the cingulate and insula regions of the brain have also been made in subjects administered endotoxin to induce depressed mood [66].

While 5-HT can mediate its effects via several receptor subtypes, two 5-HT receptors have received the most attention in relation to fatigue and depression: 5HT_{1A} and 5-HT₃ receptors. The 5-HT_{1A} receptor subtype is expressed as two separate populations in the brain. They can be expressed as pre-synaptic autoreceptors in the raphe nuclei as well as post-synaptic receptors in limbic structures and in the neocortex [67]. Stimulation of the midbrain pre-synaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors results in reduced firing of serotonergic neurons, and thereby reduced release of 5-HT into the synapse. Rats with liver inflammation show increased midbrain 5-HT_{1A} receptor expression [68]. Repeated stimulation of the 5-HT_{1A} receptor with a 5-HT_{1A} agonist (i.e., desensitizes the receptor), which would result in increased 5-HT release into the synapse, reduces "depressivelike" behavior in mice with liver inflammation. Patients with major depressive disorder are reported to have a widespread reduction of $5-HT_{1A}$ receptors in the brain [69]. Mice with liver inflammation show decreased hypothalamic $5HT_3$ receptor expression [70]. Inhibition of the 5-HT₃ receptor improves fatigue-like behavior in mice with liver inflammation as well as depressive-like behavior in mice with diabetes [70, 71]. In the clinical setting, altered serotonergic neurotransmission has been reported in Hep C patients with fatigue [72]. In addition, blockade of the 5-HT₃ receptor improves fatigue in patients with Hep C [73].

CRH neurotransmission modulates a broad spectrum of behaviors, including anxiety, fatigue, and appetite control [74]. In mice with liver inflammation, hypothalamic CRH levels are decreased [75, 76]. Reduced neuronal activation in the hypothalamic region in these mice has also been suggested by reduced Fos expression observed in the paraventricular region in response to central administration of IL-1 β [77]. CRH has been shown to have behavioral activating effects. Rats with liver inflammation that were infused centrally with CRH showed increased locomotor activity at a concentration that had no effect in control rats, suggesting they have increased central sensitivity to CRH [76]. CRH mediates its biological effects via CRHR1 and CRHR2. Rats with liver inflammation show increased hypothalamic CRHR1 expression and treatment with a CRHR1 antagonist attenuates the CRH induced increase in locomotor activity [76]. An association between polymorphisms in the CRHR2 gene and reduced anxiety and depression has been reported in patients with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) [78]. In addition, polymorphisms in the CRHR1 and CRHR2 genes have been linked with major depressive disorder [79].

3 Gut Microbiome, Systemic Inflammation, and Altered Behavior and Mood

3.1 Gut Microbiome and Changes During Inflammatory Diseases

The intestinal microbiota contains roughly 10¹⁴ bacteria which have a profound influence on human physiology and overall health [80]. In addition to their role in digestion and metabolism, the gut microbiota contributes to the development and maintenance of the intestinal epithelial barrier and can modulate the host immune system [81]. Composition of the gut microbiome is readily changeable by diet, pathogen infection, and ingestion of antibiotics, prebiotics, or probiotics. Changes within the gut microbiome are thought to contribute to the onset and progression of IBD as well as systemic inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, and chronic liver disease [81, 82]. There is also high comorbidity with sickness behaviors and depression in patients with inflammatory conditions associated with increased intestinal permeability and altered gut microbiome, as documented in patients with post-inflammatory/infectious IBS and chronic liver disease [83]. Notably, depression was reported to be a robust clinical discriminator between IBS patients with a specific microbiome signature, i.e., high Firmicutes: Bacteroidetes ratio, compared to those with a healthy-like microbiota signature [84]. Altered fecal microbiota composition has also been reported in patients with major depressive disorder, further supporting a potential role linking changes in gut microbiota to behavior and mood alterations [85].

3.2 Gut-to-Brain Communication Can Modulate Behavior

The gut-microbiota-brain-axis has become increasingly recognized for its influence on brain development and function, and thereby behavior. Deficits in the serotonergic neurotransmitter system, alterations in brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), and dysregulation of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis are some of the main biological parameters associated with systemic inflammation and development of sickness behaviors and depression; all of which can be influenced by the gut microbiome [86]. BDNF is a neurotrophin involved in neurogenesis and regulation of cognitive and emotional behaviors. Studies with germ-free animals have highlighted the importance of the gut microbiota in the normal development of behavior. For instance, germ-free mice exhibit decreased anxiety-like behavior which can be normalized by early gut microbial colonization. Germ-free mice also have lower BDNF levels in brain areas that contribute to regulation of anxiety and fear, including the amygdala, hippocampus, and cingulate cortex [87]. Probiotics are live microorganisms that are commonly ingested to provide health benefits. In a model of chronic-stress-induced depression, mice fed with *Lactobacillus helveticus* NS8 showed improvement in "depressive-like" behavior and cognitive dysfunction, as well as increased hippocampal BDNF and 5-HT levels [88]. Patients with mood disorders also exhibit lower levels of plasma BDNF. A recent study in patients with depression demonstrated elevation in plasma BDNF levels and improvement in symptoms of depression on treatment with agomelatine, an antidepressant known to modulate BDNF levels [89].

In addition to its role in modulating behavior, 5-HT is an important neurotransmitter within the gut [90]. It regulates gut motility and gastrointestinal (GI) secretion. Central 5-HT production accounts for just 5% of total 5-HT synthesis within the body. The majority of 5-HT production occurs in the enterochromaffin cells in the GI epithelium. Alterations in 5-HT neurotransmission may underlie the high comorbidity between GI disorders and behavior alterations. Gut microbiota are thought to play a crucial role in tryptophan availability and metabolism, which could impact central 5-HT levels. Male germ-free mice show elevated circulating tryptophan levels and increased hippocampal 5-HT turnover [91]. Tryptophan levels in germ-free mice are restored to baseline values following colonization with intestinal bacteria demonstrating the influence of gut microbiota on tryptophan availability. Furthermore, probiotics have been shown to alter 5-HT neurotransmission. For instance, in a model of hepatic encephalopathy, Lactobacillus *helveticus* NS8 ingestion improved "anxiety-like" behavior and cognitive dysfunction, in association with increased 5-HT levels [92].

Pathways of communication between the gut microbiome and the CNS are incompletely understood but appear to involve neural and humoral pathways (Fig. 2). Animal models have demonstrated signaling via vagal afferents to be an important neural route of communication between the gut microbiota and the brain. For instance, the anxiolytic effect of *Bifidobacterium longum* was abolished in mice with colitis that were vagotomized [93]. Furthermore, Lactobacillus rhamnosus ingestion was shown to reduce stress-induced "depressive-like" behavior in mice, an effect prevented in vagotomized mice [94]. However, vagus-independent mechanisms can also mediate communication between gut-microbiota and the brain as suggested by observations in mice where the behavior modulating effects of probiotics are still evident in vagotmized mice [95]. The intestinal mucosa has multiple innate and adaptive lymphocyte populations that are present in the steady state [81]. Dendritic cells are present beneath the gut epithelium and extend dendrites between epithelial cells to continuously sample and monitor gut luminal content. Microbes can be recognized by pathogen recognition receptors such as tolllike receptors that are expressed by hematopoietic and nonhematopoietic cells in the gut. Changes within the gut environment that result in activation of resident immune cells can lead to increased production of a number of immune mediators,



Probiotics, antibiotics, diet, pathogen infection

Fig. 2 Gut-to-brain communication (1) Neural routes: vagal nerves and enteric nerves can facilitate communication between gut microbiome and brain. (2) Gut microbiota produce metabolites such as SCFAs (e.g., acetate, butyrate) via the fermentation of dietary carbohydrates which can have neuroactive properties. (3) Majority of 5-HT synthesis occurs within the gut. 5-HT synthesis within the brain is dependent on availability of peripheral tryptophan. Gut microbiota can modulate tryptophan availability in the circulation and thereby effect CNS 5-HT levels. (4) Gut microbiome composition is readily changeable by probiotics, antibiotics, diet, or pathogen infection. (5) Dendritic cells in the wall of the gut epithelium extend their dendrites between epithelial cells to continuously monitor the gut lumen. Changes within the gut environment that leads to activation of immune cells in the gut can lead to production of cytokines (e.g., $TNF\alpha$, IFN-γ) that can increase gut inflammation and epithelial cell barrier permeability. (6) This would result in a "leaky gut" thereby facilitating translocation of gut luminal bacteria and bacterial products such as LPS into the blood circulation. Circulating LPS can signal via TLR4 on monocytes to mediate production of cytokines such TNF α and IL-1 β . These gut-to-brain signaling pathways can lead to alterations in central neurotransmission and thereby behavior changes. $TNF\alpha$ tumor necrosis factor-a, SCFA short chain fatty acids, LPS lipopolysaccharide

including cytokines such as TNF α , which in turn can increase gut epithelial barrier leakage [96]. A "leaky gut" can promote translocation of cytokines and bacterial metabolites such as short chain fatty acids (known to have neuroactive properties) that can either modulate activity of circulating immune cells or gain access to the brain directly via CVOs. Recent work has also demonstrated the ability for the gut microbiome to regulate the permeability of the blood–brain barrier via influencing the expression of tight junction proteins [97]. Furthermore, a "leaky gut" has been demonstrated in depressed individuals through observations of increased bacterial DNA in serum from patients with major depressive disorder, who in turn also showed increased TLR-4 and NF-k β (part of the TLR-4 signaling pathway) expression in peripheral mononuclear blood cells [98].

3.3 Changes in Gut Microbiome Can Modulate Systemic Inflammation and Thereby Behavior

Probiotic ingestion can have beneficial effects on mood and cognition [99], and can also change neural activity in brain regions involved in emotional processing [100]. However, there are a lack of studies that have examined the effect of probiotic use in depressed individuals. Probiotic consumption has been associated with changes in brain function and behavior in animal models and in patients with a range of systemic inflammatory diseases. For instance, probiotic consumption improved "fatigue-like" behaviors and "depression-like" symptoms observed in rodents after myocardial infarction. The increase in intestinal permeability seen in this model was also reversed by probiotic consumption [101]. In a model of diabetes, probiotic administration was associated with significant improvements in cognitive function and the restoration of impaired hippocampal long term potentiation [102]. Patients with chronic fatigue syndrome, a condition associated with an altered gut microbial profile, showed decreased anxiety after ingesting Lactobacillus casei for 2 months [103]. Patients with IBS or rheumatoid arthritis that consumed Bifidobacterium infantis 35624 showed significant improvement in quality of life and daily functioning [104–106].

Changes in crosstalk between intestinal epithelium, the intestinal immune system, and gut microbes have increasingly been recognized for its capacity to modulate systemic immunity [107]. As a result of this, probiotics have been administered in an attempt to beneficially alter systemic immunity. For instance, administration of *Bifidobacterium infantis* to patients with IBS was associated with an improvement in symptoms, and a normalization of the IL-10 to IL-12 cytokine ratio in peripheral blood mononuclear cells [106]. VSL#3 is a potent probiotic preparation containing eight live, freeze dried bacterial species (*Streptococcus salivarius* subsp., *thermophilis, Bifidobacterium* [*B. breve, B. infanti, B. longum*], *Lactobacillus acidophilus, L. plantarum, L. casei*, and *L. delbrueckii* subsp. *Bulgaricus*). In the clinical setting, VSL#3 administration is associated with

improvement in QOL in patients with advanced liver disease [108]. We found that administration of VSL#3 to mice with liver inflammation led to significant improvement in "fatigue-like" behaviors [109]. This effect was independent of changes in the severity of liver injury, indicating that the reduction in sickness behaviors seen with VSL#3 treatment was not simply due to changes in liver inflammation. Moreover, mice with liver inflammation treated with VSL#3 had reduced levels of circulating TNF α [109], and a reduction in TNF α production from circulating monocytes (unpublished data). Clinically, ingestion of probiotics, including VSL#3, has been shown to alter circulating levels of systemic pro-inflammatory biomarkers, including TNFα levels, in patients with a range of systemic inflammatory conditions including psoriasis [110], rheumatoid arthritis [111], chronic fatigue syndrome and liver disease [112, 113]. These observations strongly suggest that altering the gut microbiome with probiotics can alter systemic immunity, which in turn can modulate communication between the peripheral immune system and the CNS. The reduction in circulating TNF α levels documented in VSL#3 treated mice with liver inflammation was in turn linked to decreased microglial activation, monocyte: CEC adhesive interactions, and cerebral monocyte infiltration [109]. Importantly, VSL#3 treatment-induced reductions in circulating TNF α levels have also been associated with improved clinical neuropsychiatric outcomes, as observed in patients with chronic liver disease [113].

3.4 Gut Dysbiosis in Systemic Disease

Changes within the gut microbiome are thought to contribute to the pathophysiology of a range of diseases which include GI-related disorders (e.g., IBD) as well as non-GI-related disorders (e.g., obesity, type 2 diabetes) [81]. The use of highthroughput DNA based pyrosequencing technology now enables us to classify bacteria and archaea according to individual 16S rRNA sequences directly from human samples. This has greatly facilitated the ability to obtain detailed profiles of complex communities of microorganisms [114, 115]. Such intestinal microbiota profiling studies have revealed dysbiosis in individuals with specific diseases compared to healthy individuals. For instance, patients with IBD typically show decreased abundance of bacterial species of the phylum Firmicutes and an increase in Bacteroidetes [114]. Obesity, on the other hand, is associated with higher levels of Firmicutes and decreased levels of Bacteroidetes (although this is not consistently found amongst studies) [116]. Furthermore, certain microbial signatures (i.e., high Firmicutes: Bacteroidetes ratio) have been associated with higher incidence of depression in patients with IBS [84]. Intestinal microbiome metagenomic and metaproteomic studies [115, 117] may eventually allow us to use specific changes in microbial composition or function as biomarkers for specific diseases and may identify groups of patients that may be more susceptible to behavioral changes such as depression. Notably, in addition to reducing systemic levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF α) and systemic inflammatory biomarkers such as C-reactive protein (CRP), probiotics are associated with improvement in sickness behaviors [118]. Intestinal microbial profiling studies may potentially identify patients with specific microbial signatures that may show improvement in inflammation-associated behavioral symptoms with probiotic supplementation.

4 Concluding Remarks

Altered behaviors, including fatigue, depressed mood and anxiety, social withdrawal, and cognitive impairment ("brain fog"), are common complaints amongst patients suffering with chronic inflammatory disorders; significantly negatively impacting patient quality of life. Moreover, these complaints often are poorly associated with disease activity and can persist even after diseases are placed into remission through therapeutic interventions. As a result, there is growing interest in developing approaches for treating symptoms associated with chronic inflammation that may (1) target the specific disruption of signaling pathways from the periphery to the brain, which in turn drives inflammatory disease-associated changes in brain function, or (2) modulate altered neural communication processes that develop within the brain in association with chronic inflammation, by targeting changes identified in central neurotransmitters and neurotransmission. Managing diseaseassociated symptoms, as well as the disease process itself, highlights a growing desire in healthcare to care for patients using a truly holistic approach. Further insights gained from experimental studies in this area, as outlined in this chapter, will facilitate achieving this ultimate goal.

References

- 1. Capuron L, Miller AH (2011) Immune system to brain signaling: neuropsychopharmacological implications. Pharmacol Ther 130:226–238
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GC, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9 (1):46–56
- Henry CJ, Huang Y, Wynne A et al (2008) Minocycline attenuates lipopolysaccharide (LPS)induced neuroinflammation, sickness behavior and anhedonia. J Neuroinflammation 5:15
- Eisenberger NI, Inagaki TK, Mashal NM, Irwin MR (2010) Inflammation and social experience: an Inflammatory challenge induces feelings of social disconnection in addition to depressed mood. Brain Behav Immun 24:558–563
- D'Mello C, Riazi K, Le T et al (2013) P-selectin-mediated monocyte-cerebral endothelium adhesive interactions link peripheral organ inflammation to sickness behaviors. J Neurosci 33 (37):14878–14888
- 6. Neuman M, Angulo P, Malkiewicz I et al (2002) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and transforming growth factor-beta reflect severity of liver damage in primary biliary cirrhosis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 17(2):196–202
- 7. Roussaki-Schulze AV, Kouskoukis C, Petinaki E et al (2005) Evaluation of cytokine serum levels in patients with plaque-type psoriasis. Int J Clin Pharmacol Res 25(4):169–173

- Louis E, Belaiche J, van-Kemseke C et al (1997) A high serum concentration of interleukin-6 is predictive of relapse in quiescent Crohn's disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 9 (10):939–944
- 9. Lasselin L, Laye S, Dexpert S et al (2012) Fatigue symptoms relate to systemic inflammation in patients with type 2 diabetes. Brain Behav Immun 26(8):1211–1219
- Riccio A, Postiglione L, Sabatini P et al (2012) Similar serum levels of IL-6 and its soluble receptors in patients with HCV-related arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: a pilot study. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 25(1):281–285
- Strand V, Khanna D (2010) The impact of rheumatoid arthritis and treatment on patients' lives. Clin Exp Rheumatol 28(Suppl 59):S32–S40
- 12. Ban A, Inaba M, Furumitsu Y et al (2010) Time-course of health status in patients with rheumatoid arthritis during the first year of treatment with infliximab. Biomed Pharmacother 64(2):107–112
- 13. Hess A, Axmann R, Rech J et al (2011) Blockade of TNF- α rapidly inhibits pain responses in the central nervous system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(9):3731–3736
- 14. Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ et al (2013) A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. JAMA Psychiatry 70(1):31–41
- 15. Mells GF, Floyd JAB, Morley KI et al (2011) Genome-wide association study identifies 12 new susceptibility loci for primary biliary cirrhosis. Nat Genet 43(4):329–332
- Clerici M, Arosio B, Mundo E et al (2009) Cytokine polymorphisms in the pathophysiology of mood disorders. CNS Spectr 14(8):419–425
- 17. Aouizerat BE, Dodd M, Lee K et al (2009) Preliminary evidence of a genetic association between tumor necrosis factor alpha and the severity of sleep disturbance and morning fatigue. Biol Res Nurs 11(1):27-41
- Ek M, Kurosawa M, Lundeberg T, Ericsson A (1998) Activation of vagal afferents after intravenous injection of interleukin-1beta: role of endogenous prostaglandins. J Neurosci 18 (22):9471–9479
- Wan W, Janz L, Vriend CY, Sorensen CM, Greenberg AH, Nance DM (1993) Differential induction of c-Fos immunoreactivity in hypothalamus and brain stem nuclei following central and peripheral administration of endotoxin. Brain Res Bull 32(6):581–587
- 20. Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C et al (2009) Neural origins of human sickness in interoceptive responses to inflammation. Biol Psychiatry 66(5):415–422
- Bluthe RM, Michaud B, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (1996) Vagotomy blocks behavioral effects of interleukin-1 injected via the intraperitoneal route but not via other systemic routes. Neuroreport 7:2823–2827
- 22. Nadeau S, Rivest S (1999) Effects of circulating tumor necrosis factor-α on the neuronal activity and expression of the genes encoding the tumor necrosis factor receptors (p55 and p75) in the rat brain: a view from the blood-brain barrier. Neuroscience 93(4):1449–1464
- 23. Rivest S, Lacroix S, Vallieres L, Nadeau S, Zhang J, Laflamme N (2000) How the blood talks to the brain parenchyma and the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus during systemic inflammatory and infectious stimuli. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 223(1):22–38
- Kobayashi Y (2010) The regulatory role of nitric oxide in proinflammatory cytokine expression during the induction and resolution of inflammation. J Leukoc Biol 88(6):1157–1162
- 25. Peng Y-L, Liu Y-N, Liu L, Wang X, Jiang C-L, Wang Y-X (2012) Inducible nitric oxide synthase is involved in the modulation of depressive behaviors induced by unpredictable chronic mild stress. J Neuroinflammation 9:75
- 26. Lacroix S, Rivest S (1998) Effect of acute systemic inflammatory response and cytokines on the transcription of the genes encoding cyclooxygenase enzymes (COX-1 and COX-2) in the rat brain. J Neurochem 70:452–466
- Zhang J, Rivest S (1999) Distribution, regulation and colocalization of the genes encoding the EP2- and EP4-PGE2 receptors in the rat brain and neuronal responses to systemic inflammation. Eur J Neurosci 11(8):2651–2668

- 28. de-Paiva VN, Lima SN, Fernandes MM, Soncini R, Andrade CA, Giusti-Paiva A (2010) Prostaglandins mediate depressive-like behavior induced by endotoxin in mice. Behav Brain Res 215(1):146–151
- 29. Vallieres L, Rivest S (1997) Regulation of the genes encoding interleukin-6, its receptor and gp130 in the rat brain in response to the immune activator lipopolysaccharide and the proinflammatory cytokine interleukin-1β. J Neurochem 69:1668–1683
- Nguyen K, D'Mello C, Le T, Urbanski S, Swain MG (2012) Regulatory T cells suppress sickness behaviour development without altering liver injury in cholestatic mice. J Hepatol 56(3):626–631
- 31. Ransohoff RM, Kivisakk P, Kidd G (2003) Three or more routes for leukocyte migration into the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol 3:569–581
- 32. Thibeault I, Laflamme N, Rivest S (2001) Regulation of the gene encoding the monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1) in the mouse and rat brain in response to circulating LPS and proinflammatory cytokines. J Comp Neurol 434(4):461–477
- 33. Schulz M, Engelhardt B (2005) The circumventricular organs participate in the immunopathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Cerebrospinal Fluid Res 2:8
- 34. D'Mello C, Le T, Swain M (2009) Cerebral microglia recruit monocytes into the brain in response to tumor necrosis factorα signaling during peripheral organ inflammation. J Neurosci 29(7):2089–2102
- Gordon S, Pluddemann A, Estrada FM (2014) Macrophage heterogeneity in tissues: phenotypic diversity and functions. Immunol Rev 262(1):36–55
- 36. Kerfoot SM, D'Mello C, Nguyen H et al (2006) TNF-α secreting monocytes are recruited into the brains of cholestatic mice. Hepatology 43:154–162
- Geissmann F, Jung S, Littman DR (2003) Blood monocytes consist of two principal subsets with distinct migratory properties. Immunity 19:71–82
- Fabene PF, Navarro MG, Martinello M et al (2008) A role for leukocyte-endothelial adhesion mechanisms in epilepsy. Nat Med 14(12):1377–1383
- Putzki N, Yaldizli O, Tettenborn B, Diener HC (2009) Multiple sclerosis associated fatigue during natalizumab treatment. J Neurol Sci 285(1):109–113
- 40. Penner I-K, Sivertsdotter EC, Celius EG et al (2015) Improvement in fatigue during natalizumab treatment is linked to improvement in depression and day-time sleepiness. Front Neurol 6:18
- 41. Targan SR, Feagan BG, Fedorak RN et al (2007) Natalizumab for the treatment of active Crohn's disease: results of the ENCORE trial. Gastroenterology 132:1672–1683
- 42. Bravata I, Allocca M, Fiorino G, Danese S (2015) Integrins and adhesion molecules as targets to treat inflammatory bowel disease. Curr Opin Pharmacol 25:67–71
- 43. Chandar AK, Singh S, Murad MH, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Loftus EV (2015) Efficacy and safety of natalizumab and vedolizumab for the management of Crohn's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 21(7):1695–1708
- 44. Pan W, Zadina JE, Harlan RE, Weber JT, Banks WA, Kastin AJ (1997) Tumor necrosis factor-α; a neuromodulator in the CNS. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 21(5):603–613
- 45. Wohleb ES, Powell ND, Godbout JP, Sheridan JF (2013) Stress-induced recruitment of bone marrow-derived monocytes to the brain promotes anxiety-like behavior. J Neurosci 33 (34):13820–13833
- 46. Zheng X, Ma S, Kang A et al (2016) Chemical dampening of Ly6C^{hi} monocytes in the periphery produces anti-depressant effects in mice. Sci Rep 6:19406
- 47. Torres-Platas SG, Cruceanu C, Chen GG, Turecki G, Mechawar N (2014) Evidence for increased microglial priming and macrophage recruitment in the dorsal anterior cingulate white matter of depressed suicides. Brain Behav Immun 42:50–59
- 48. Riazi K, Galic MA, Kuzmiski JB, Ho W, Sharkey KA, Pittman QJ (2008) Microglial activation and TNFα production mediate altered CNS excitability following peripheral inflammation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(44):17151–17156

- 49. Corona AW, Huang Y, O'Connor JC et al (2010) Fractalkine receptor (CX₃CR1) deficiency sensitizes mice to the behavioral changes induced by lipopolysaccharide. J Neuroinflammation 7:93
- Yirmiya R, Rimmerman N, Reshef R (2015) Depression as a microglial disease. Trends Neurosci 38(10):637–657
- Newton JL, Hollingsworth KG, Taylor R et al (2008) Cognitive impairment in primary biliary cirrhosis: symptom impact and potential etiology. Hepatology 48:541–549
- 52. Forton DM, Hamilton G, Allsop JM et al (2008) Cerebral immune activation in chronic hepatitis C infection: a magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. J Hepatol 49:316–322
- 53. Grover VPB, Pavese N, Koh S-B et al (2012) Cerebral microglial activation in patients with hepatitis C: in vivo evidence of neuroinflammation. J Viral Hepat 19:e89–e96
- 54. Colasanti A, Giannetti P, Wall MB et al (2015) Hippocampal neuroinflammation, functional connectivity and depressive symptoms in multiple sclerosis. Biol Psychiatry
- Qin L, Wu X, Block ML et al (2007) Systemic LPS causes chronic neuroinflammation and progressive neurodegeneration. Glia 55:453–462
- 56. Laye S, Gheusi G, Cremona S et al (2000) Endogenous brain IL-1 mediates LPS induced anorexia and hypothalamic cytokine expression. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 279:R93–R98
- 57. Miller AH, Haroon E, Raison CL, Felger JC (2013) Cytokine targets in the brain: impact on neurotransmitters and neurocircuits. Depress Anxiety 30:297–306
- Haroon E, Fleischer CC, Felger JC et al (2016) Conceptual convergence: increased inflammation is associated with increased basal ganglia glutamate in patients with major depression. Mol Psychiatry. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.206
- 59. Guilarte TR (2013) Manganese toxicity: new perspectives from behavioral, neuroimaging and neuropathological studies in humans and non-human primates. Front Aging Neurosci 5:23
- 60. Lucki I (1998) The spectrum of behaviors influenced by serotonin. Biol Psychiatry 44:151-162
- 61. Kraus MR, Schafer A, Schottker K et al (2008) Therapy of interferon-induced depression in chronic hepatitis C with citalopram: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Gut 57:531–536
- 62. Cavanagh J, Paterson C, McLean J et al (2010) Tumour necrosis factor blockade mediates altered serotonin transporter availability in rheumatoid arthritis: a clinical, proof-of-concept study. Ann Rheum Dis 69(6):1251–1252
- 63. O'Connor JC, Andre C, Wang Y et al (2009) Interferon-γ and tumor necrosis factor-α mediate the upregulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and the induction of depressive-like behavior in mice in response to Bacillus Calmette-Guerin. J Neurosci 29(13):4200–4209
- 64. Raison CL, Dantzer R, Kelley KW et al (2010) CSF concentrations of brain tryptophan and kynurenines during immune stimulation with IFN-α: relationship to CNS immune responses and depression. Mol Psychiatry 15:393–403
- 65. Steiner J, Walter M, Gos T et al (2011) Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus: evidence for an immune-modulated glutamatergic neurotransmission. J Neuroinflammation 8:94
- 66. Hannestad J, Subramanyam K, DellaGioia N et al (2012) Glucose metabolism in the insula and cingulate is affected by systemic inflammation in humans. J Nucl Med 53(4):601–607
- Ressler KJ, Nemeroff CB (2000) Role of serotonergic and noradrenergic systems in the pathophysiology of depression and anxiety disorders. Depression Anxiety 12(Suppl 1):2–19
- 68. Burak KW, Le T, Swain MG (2001) Increased midbrain 5-HT1A receptor number and responsiveness in cholestatic rats. Brain Res 892:376–379
- 69. Hirvonen J, Karlsson H, Kajander J et al (2008) Decreased brain serotonin 5-HT_{1A} receptor availability in medication-naive patients with major depressive disorder: an in vivo-imaging study using PET and [cabonyl-¹¹C]WAY-100635. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 11:465–476

- Nguyen H, Wang H, Le T, Ho W, Sharkey K, Swain MG (2007) Downregulated hypothalamic 5-HT3 receptor expression and enhanced 5HT3 receptor antagonist mediated improvement in fatigue like behavior in cholestatic rats. Neurogastroenterol Motil 20:228–235
- 71. Gupta D, Thangaraj D, Radhakrishnan M (2016) A novel 5HT3 antagonist 4i (N-(3-chloro-2-methylphenyl)quinoxalin-2-carboxamide) prevents diabetes-induced depressive phenotypes in mice: modulation of serotonergic system. Behav Brain Res 297:41–50
- 72. Weissenborn K, Ennen JC, Bokemeyer M et al (2006) Monoaminergic neurotransmission is altered in hepatitis C virus infected patients with chronic fatigue and cognitive impairment. Gut 55:1624–1630
- 73. Piche T, Vanbiervliet G, Cherikh F et al (2005) Effect of ondansetron, a 5-HT₃ receptor antagonist, on fatigue in chronic hepatitis C: a randomised, double-blind, placebo controlled study. Gut 54:1169–1173
- 74. Gold PW, Chrousos GP (2002) Organization of the stress system and its dysregulation in melancholic and atypical depression: high vs. low CRH/NE states. Mol Psychiatry 7 (3):254–275
- Swain MG, Maric M (1995) Defective corticotropin-releasing hormone mediated neuroendocrine and behavioral responses in cholestatic rats: implications for cholestatic liver disease – related sickness behaviors. Hepatology 22:1560–1564
- Burak KW, Le T, Swain MG (2002) Increased sensitivity to the locomotor-activating effects of corticotropin-releasing hormone in cholestatic rats. Gastroenterology 122:681–688
- 77. Swain MG, Maric M (1996) Impaired stress and interleukin -1β induced hypothalamic expression of the neuronal activation marker Fos in cholestatic rats. Hepatology 24:914–918
- 78. Komuro H, Sato N, Sasaki A et al (2016) Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 2 gene variants in irritable bowel syndrome. PLoS One 11(1):e0147817
- 79. Ishitobi Y, Nakayama S, Yamaguchi K et al (2012) Association of CRHR1 and CRHR2 with major depressive disorder and panic disorder in a Japanese population. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 159B(4):429–436
- 80. Berg RD (1996) The indigenous gastrointestinal microflora. Trends Microbiol 4(11):430-435
- Honda K, Littman DR (2012) The microbiome in infectious disease and inflammation. Annu Rev Immunol 30:759–795
- Quigley EMM, Stanton C, Murphy EF (2013) The gut microbiota and the liver. Pathophysiological and clinical implications. J Hepatol 58:1020–1027
- D'Mello C, Swain MG (2014) Liver-brain interactions in inflammatory liver diseases: implications for fatigue and mood disorders. Brain Behav Immun 35:9–20
- 84. Jeffery IB, O'Toole PW, Ohman L et al (2012) An irritable bowel syndrome subtype defined by species-specific alterations in faecal microbiota. Gut 61(7):997–1006
- Jiang H, Ling Z, Zhang Y et al (2015) Altered fecal microbiota composition in patients with major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 48:186–194
- Sherwin E, Rea K, Dinan TG, Cryan JF (2016) A gut (microbiome) feeling about the brain. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 32(2):96–102
- Sudo N, Chida Y, Aiba Y et al (2004) Postnatal microbial colonization programs the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal system for stress response in mice. J Physiol 558(1):263–275
- 88. Liang S, Wang T, Hu X et al (2015) Administration of *Lactobacillus Helveticus* NS8 improves behavioral, cognitive and biochemical aberrations caused by chronic restraint stress. Neuroscience 310:561–577
- 89. Martinotti G, Pettorruso M, Berardis DD et al (2016) Agomelatine increases BDNF serum levels in depressed patients in correlation with the improvement of depressive symptoms. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 19(5)
- 90. Jenkins TA, Nguyen JCD, Polglaze KE, Bertrand PP (2016) Influence of tryptophan and serotonin on mood and cognition with a possible role of the gut-brain axis. Nutrients 8(1):56
- Clarke G, Grenham S, Scully P et al (2013) The microbiome-gut-brain axis during early life regulates the hippocampal serotonergic system in a sex-dependent manner. Mol Psychiatry 18(6):666–673

- 92. Luo J, Wang T, Liang S, Hu X, Li W, Jin F (2014) Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain reduces anxiety and improves cognitive function in the hyperammonemia rat. Sci China Life Sci 57 (3):327–335
- Bercik P, Park AJ, Sinclair D et al (2011) The anxiolytic effect of *Bifidobacterium longum* NCC3001 involves vagal pathways for gut–brain communication. Neurogastroenterol Motil 23(12):1132–1139
- 94. Bravo JA, Forsythe P, Chew MV et al (2011) Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain regulates emotional behavior and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus nerve. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(38):16050–16055
- 95. van der Kleij H, O'Mahony C, Shanahan F, O'Mahony L, Bienenstock J (2008) Protective effects of Lactobacillus reuteri and *Bifidobacterium infantis* in murine models for colitis do not involve the vagus nerve. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 295(4):R1131–R1137
- 96. Gitter AH, Bendfeldt K, Schulzke J-D, Fromm M (2000) Leaks in the epithelial barrier caused by spontaneous and TNF-α – induced single-cell apoptosis. FASEB J 14 (12):1749–1753
- 97. Braniste V, Al-Asmakh M, Kowal C et al (2014) The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. Sci Transl Med 6(263)
- Keri S, Szabo C, Kelemen O (2014) Expression of Toll-like receptors in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and response to cognitive-behavioral therapy in major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 40:235–243
- 99. Messaoudi M, Lalonde R, Violle N et al (2011) Assessment of psychotropic-like properties of a probiotic formulation (Lactobacillus helveticus R0052 and Bifidobacterium longum R0175) in rats and human subjects. Br J Nutr 105(5):755–764
- 100. Tillisch K, Labus J, Kilpatrick L et al (2013) Consumption of fermented milk product with probiotic modulates brain activity. Gastroenterology 144(7):1394–1401.e1394
- 101. Arseneault-Bréard J, Rondeau I, Gilbert K et al (2012) Combination of Lactobacillus helveticus R0052 and Bifidobacterium longum R0175 reduces post-myocardial infarction depression symptoms and restores intestinal permeability in a rat model. Br J Nutr 107 (12):1793–1799
- 102. Davari S, Talaei SA, Alaei H, Salami M (2013) Probiotics treatment improves diabetesinduced impairment of synaptic activity and cognitive function: behavioral and electrophysiological proofs for microbiome-gut-brain axis. Neuroscience 240:287–296
- 103. Rao AV, Bested AC, Beaulne TM et al (2009) A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled pilot study of a probiotic in emotional symptoms of chronic fatigue syndrome. Gut Pathog 1(6):1–6
- 104. Mandel DR, Eichas K, Holmes J (2010) Bacillus coagulans: a viable adjunct therapy for relieving symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis according to a randomized, controlled trial. BMC Complement Altern Med 10:1
- 105. Pineda Mde L, Thompson SF, Summers K, de-Leon F, Pope J, Reid G (2011) A randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled pilot study of probiotics in active rheumatoid arthritis. Med Sci Monit 17(6):CR347–CR354
- 106. O'Mahony L, McCarthy J, Kelly P et al (2005) Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium in Irritable Bowel syndrome: symptom responses and relationship to cytokine profiles. Gastroenterology 128(3):541–551
- 107. Belkaid Y, Naik S (2013) Compartmentalized and systemic control of tissue immunity by commensals. Nat Immunol 14(7):646–653
- 108. Mittal VV, Sharma BC, Sharma P, Sarin SK (2011) A randomized controlled trial comparing lactulose, probiotics, and L-ornithine L-aspartate in treatment of minimal hepatic encephalopathy. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 23:725–732
- 109. D'Mello C, Ronaghan N, Zaheer R et al (2015) Probiotics improve inflammation-associated sickness behavior by altering communication between the peripheral immune system and the brain. J Neurosci 35(30):10821–10830

- 110. Groeger D, O'Mahony L, Murphy EF et al (2013) *Bifidobacterium infantis* 35624 modulates host inflammatory processes beyond the gut. Gut Microbes 4(4):325–339
- 111. Vaghef-Mehrabany E, Alipour B, Homayouni-Rad A, Sharif S-K, Asshari-Jafarabadi M, Zavvari S (2014) Probiotic supplementation improves inflammatory status in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Nutrition 30(4):430–435
- 112. Loguercio C, Federico A, Tuccillo C et al (2005) Beneficial effects of a probiotic VSL#3 on parameters of liver dysfunction in chronic liver diseases. J Clin Gastroenterol 39(6):540–543
- 113. Dhiman RK, Rana B, Agrawal S et al (2014) Probiotic VSL#3 reduces liver disease severity and hospitalization in patients with cirrhosis: a randomized controlled trial. Gastroenterology 147(6):1327–1337
- 114. Manichanh C, Borruel N, Casellas F, Guarner F (2012) The gut microbiota in IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 9(10):599–608
- 115. Carding S, Verbeke K, Vipond DT, Corfe BM, Owen LJ (2015) Dysbiosis of the gut microbiota in disease. Microb Ecol Health Dis 26:10.3402/mehd.v3426.26191
- 116. Harris K, Kassis A, Major G, Chou CJ (2012) Is the gut microbiota a new factor contributing to obesity and its metabolic disorders? J Obes 2012:879151
- 117. Mao L, Franke J (2015) Symbiosis, dysbiosis, and rebiosis-the value of metaproteomics in human microbiome monitoring. Proteomics 15(5-6):1142–1151
- 118. Sanaie S, Ebrahimi-Mameghani M, Hamishehkar H, Mojtahedzadeh M, Mahmoodpoor A (2014) Effect of a multispecies probiotic on inflammatory markers in critically ill patients: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Res Med Sci 19(9):827–833

Mechanisms of Inflammation-Associated Depression: Immune Influences on Tryptophan and Phenylalanine Metabolisms

Barbara Strasser, Barbara Sperner-Unterweger, Dietmar Fuchs, and Johanna M. Gostner

Abstract Metabolic parameters have a direct role in the regulation of immune cell function. Thereby the inflammation-induced metabolism of aromatic amino acids, most importantly of tryptophan and phenylalanine, plays a central role. In addition, neuropsychiatric conditions that go along with disorders that are characterized by acute or chronic inflammation, such as the development of depression, decreased quality of life or cognitive impairments, are connected to disturbed amino acid and subsequent neurotransmitter metabolism.

The bioanalytical procedures for the determination of concentrations of tryptophan and phenylalanine and their respective first stable intermediates kynurenine and tyrosine as well as some analytical finesses and potential sources of errors are discussed in this chapter. Monitoring of these immunometabolic parameters throughout therapies in addition to biomarkers of immune response and inflammation such as neopterin can be useful to determine disease progression but also to plan psychiatric interventions timely, thus to establish personalized treatments.

Keywords Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO-1) • Kynurenine • Neopterin • Phenylalanine • Tryptophan • Tyrosine

B. Sperner-Unterweger Department of Biological Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria

D. Fuchs (⊠) Division of Biological Chemistry, Biocenter, Innsbruck Medical University, Innrain 80, Innsbruck, Austria e-mail: dietmar.fuchs@i-med.ac.at

B. Strasser and J.M. Gostner

Division of Medical Biochemistry, Biocenter, Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 95–116 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_23 Published Online: 8 June 2016

Contents

1	Introduction	- 96	
2	5,6,7,8-Tetrahydrobiopterin as Cofactor of Neurotransmitter Biosynthesis	97	
3	Neopterin and Other Pteridine Derivatives and the Immune Response	99	
4	Associations Between Tryptophan Breakdown, PAH Activity, and Neopterin		
	Production	100	
5	Associations Between Diminished PAH Activity and Increased Neopterin Production	102	
6	Association Between Dysregulated Tryptophan and Phenylalanine-Tyrosine		
	Metabolism and Neuropsychiatric Symptoms	103	
7	Immunobiochemical Pathways Influenced by Life Style	106	
8	Conclusion	108	
Re	References		

1 Introduction

The prevalence of psychiatric disorders like anxiety and major depressive disorders has increased during the past decades. Such disorders often accompany chronic inflammatory diseases, but are also associated with older age and loss of cognitive function, especially in the elderly. Although the exact mechanisms that underlie the development of these symptoms are not yet fully explored, it has become obvious that disturbed neurotransmitter biochemistry plays a crucial role. Both of the two most important pathways of neurotransmitter biosynthesis are critical: (1) the serotonergic pathway, which includes the biosynthesis of serotonin from tryptophan, as well as its further conversion to the sleep hormone melatonin; and (2) the dopaminergic, noradrenergic, and adrenergic pathways, which originate from the common intermediate L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA) and include the synthesis of dopamine, adrenaline, and noradrenaline. Formation of L-DOPA is dependent on the precursor molecules phenylalanine and tyrosine (Fig. 1).

The importance of these neurotransmitter pathways in the pathophysiology of major depressive disorder is the reason why current treatment strategies mainly rely on the application of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI), and on the more recently introduced selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (SNRI), administered alone or in combination. Still, only a subgroup of patients responds favorably to treatment, and it is questionable whether treatment choices based on the measurement of distinct metabolites of theses pathways could increase the therapeutic benefits. Interestingly, biosynthesis of serotonin as well as of L-DOPA derivatives out from the essential amino acids tryptophan and phenylalanine requires the same cofactor, 5,6,7,8-tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄).

During recent years it has become more and more evident that a relationship exists between specific immune system pathways and neurotransmitter metabolism. Several immunopathological conditions like infections, cancer, and autoimmune syndromes are accompanied by neuropsychiatric symptoms such as fatigue, depressed mood, and cognitive impairment [1-4]. Likewise, similar symptoms



Fig. 1 Influences of immune activation on neurotransmitter biosynthesis in humans. During acute innate and adaptive immune responses, interferon- γ (IFN- γ) induces enzyme GTP-cyclohydrolase 1 (GCH1), which initiates the production of 5,6,7,8-tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄) in most cells except monocyte-derived cells that produce neopterin. In parallel, several other enzymes like indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase1 (IDO-1) and inducible nitric oxide (NO⁻) synthase (iNOS) are activated. BH₄ is a cofactor of phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH), tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), and tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH) that are important for the biosynthesis of dopamine, noradrenaline, and adrenaline, as well as serotonin. IDO-1 initiates the breakdown of tryptophan (Trp) via the kynurenine (Kyn) pathway. NO⁻ suppresses activity of IDO-1. *L-DOPA* L-dihydroxyphenylalanine, *Kyn* kynurenine, *Trp* tryptophan, *Tyr* tryosine

can develop in patients during treatment with immune stimulatory cytokines [5], indicating that activation of the immune system is likely to increase the risk of developing neuropsychiatric symptoms. However, this does not necessarily mean that in turn depressed mood feeds chronic inflammation as it was proposed frequently by various authors [6, 7]. Immune activation and depressive mood may feed each other and thus may lead a vicious cycle.

This chapter discusses the interactions between immunological cascades and biochemical pathways of tryptophan and phenylalanine turnover and the usefulness of their assessment in different pathologies, including neuropsychiatric disorders.

2 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydrobiopterin as Cofactor of Neurotransmitter Biosynthesis

The pteridine derivative 5,6,7,8-tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄) is a cofactor for several monooxygenases such as phenylalanine 4-hydroxylase (PAH, EC: 1.14.16.1), tyrosine 3-monooxygenase (TH, EC: 1.14.16.2), and tryptophan 5-hydroxylase (TPH; EC: 1.14.16.4) (reviewed in [8]). The key role of PAH in the conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine had been established since the 1970s. After its conversion from phenylalanine, tyrosine is further converted to L-DOPA, the precursor of dopamine, adrenaline, and noradrenaline. TPH synthesizes 5-hydroxytryptophan, which is decarboxylated to form 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT, serotonin). In

addition, nitric oxide synthases (NOSs) (EC: 1.14.13.39) and alkylglycerol monooxygenase (AGMO, EC: 1.14.16.5) are dependent on BH₄ availability. NOSs are required for the production of the gaseous nitric oxide radical (NO⁻) from arginine. AGMO – already described in 1964 as a pteridine-dependent enzyme [9] – catalyzes the formation of hydroxyalkyl-glycerol.

Biosynthesis of BH₄ starts from guanosine triphosphate (GTP) by the enzyme GTP-cyclohydrolase I (GCH1, EC: 3.5.4.16, Fig. 1). Other relevant pteridine derivatives such as neopterin (D-erythro 1'2'3'-trihydroxypropylpterin) and the conjugated species of folic acid such as tetrahydrofolate and various other folates, as well as riboflavin (also named lactoflavin or vitamin B₂) originate from this biochemical pathway [8]. In the normal situation, expression of GCH-1 is upregulated by an increase of phenylalanine [10]. This prevents the accumulation of phenylalanine and its neuropathological consequences, as increased phenylalanine levels in the presence of increased BH₄ are converted to L-DOPA and the neurotransmitters dopamine, noradrenaline, and adrenaline.

A drastic enhancement of GCH-1 activity occurs in response to interferon- γ (IFN- γ). Another regulator of GCH-1 is tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), which superinduces IFN- γ -stimulated GCH-1 activity [11–13]. However, it down-regulates GCH-1 feedback regulatory protein (GFRP) in the absence of IFN- γ . In addition, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) down-regulates expression of GFRP, at least in vitro [14], thus rendering pteridine synthesis independent of metabolic control by L-phenylalanine [8].

Inadequate conversion of phenylalanine by PAH leads to hyperphenylalaninemia. Phenylketonuria (PKU) is a disorder characterized by highly increased phenylalanine levels. It results from an autosomal recessive genetic defect in the PAH enzyme gene on chromosome 12q23.2 and is commonly diagnosed by newborn screening. Whereas hyperphenylalaninemia is defined by phenylalanine concentrations >120 µmol/L, in PKU cases the phenylalanine concentrations are usually more than tenfold higher. Beside the classical form of PKU with an incidence of about 1 in 15,000 births – but widely varying between different geographic regions [15, 16], in 2% of cases a much rarer form of the disease occurs due to a defect in the biosynthesis or recycling of cofactor BH₄ despite normal PAH genetics.

Untreated children with PKU are normal at birth. However, they fail to reach even early developmental milestones and demonstrate progressive impairment of cerebral function. In later life, severe mental retardation is the major clinical problem [17]. Today, all newborns are screened for PKU, and if the disease is diagnosed early, a diet low in phenylalanine enables an affected newborn to grow up with normal brain development. However, because the essential amino acid phenylalanine is also required for protein biosynthesis, the phenylalanine level needs to be strictly monitored. In addition, tyrosine must be supplemented. Alternatively, long-term treatment with BH_4 has been demonstrated to be effective in children with mild clinical phenotypes of PAH deficiency [17].

More recently, it was recognized that a moderate form of hyperphenylalaninemia may also develop in clinical conditions of chronic inflammation [18, 19]. Oxidative loss of BH_4 in such conditions can reduce the biosynthesis of catecholamines, which may relate to disturbed neurotransmitter pathways in patients.

3 Neopterin and Other Pteridine Derivatives and the Immune Response

An increased production of neopterin during states of immune activation was demonstrated for the first time in 1982 both in vitro in stimulated human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and in vivo in allogeneic kidney transplant recipients during rejection episodes [20]. Subsequently, Th1-type cytokine IFN- γ was elucidated as the primary driving force of neopterin production in human and primate monocyte-derived cells like monocytes-macrophages, dendritic cells, and in certain astrocyte-derived cells [21-23]. However, other pro-inflammatory stimuli like IFN- α and - β or LPS are also able to induce neopterin formation, although to a less extent [12]. As it was already indirectly hypothesized from the initial observation, it could be confirmed that increased activity of GCH-1 was the reason for the increased production rates of neopterin in stimulated PBMCs [24]. In other human not monocyte-derived cells, like fibroblasts and endothelial cells, and in cells from other species, IFN-y also stimulates GCH-1, but BH4 is formed instead of neopterin. Neopterin levels remain low in these cells because of the high intrinsic activity of pyruvoyl tetrahydropterin synthase (PTPS). This is particularly the case for murine and rat macrophages, which produce BH_4 to serve as a cofactor for the production of NO[•] by inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS).

The production of NO[•] is triggered by IFN- γ and it is an important mechanism by which macrophages halt the growth and eliminate intracellular pathogens in various species [25]. However, in human monocyte cells, increased NO[•] production is hampered even after stimulation with IFN- γ , because neopterin and its reduced sister compound 7,8-dihydroneopterin are produced at the expense of BH₄ [26]. Other human cell types are capable to generate BH₄, and thus to form NO[•] once iNOS is activated [27]. For the same reason the levels of the NO[•] metabolites nitrite/nitrate are higher in rodents than in human plasma.

Because neopterin is analytically stable, the measurement of native neopterin concentrations in body fluids has turned out to be a useful strategy to get insight in human immune system activation [28]. Significant correlations between concentrations of neopterin and IFN- γ or of other pro-inflammatory cytokines or their soluble receptors, such as the 75 kDa soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor (sTNF-R75) and the soluble interleukin-2 receptor- α (sIL-2R α) have been reported [29, 30].

Increased neopterin concentrations are observed in patients suffering from infection with viruses, e.g., human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1), intracellular bacteria as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, and parasites like *Plasmodium falciparum*.

In patients with autoimmune pathologies such as systemic *lupus erythematosus* and rheumatoid arthritis, or with malignant tumors, increased neopterin concentrations in body fluids are also quite common. Moreover, neopterin concentrations are increased in patients with cardiovascular disease [31, 32] and with neurodegenerative disorders like Alzheimer's dementia or Parkinson's disease [33, 34]. Of note, in all clinical conditions mentioned above, higher neopterin concentrations correlate with disease activity and predict more rapid disease progression and death. Interestingly, in neurodegenerative disorders, in most cases neopterin levels were higher in the serum or plasma of patients as compared with cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), indicating a gradient from the serum to the brain rather than vice versa.

Although neopterin has been found to increase cognitive performance in rodents when administered into the lateral ventricle of the brain [35], this does not seem to be the case in humans. For instance, neopterin concentrations are a highly significant predictor of cognitive deterioration in thoracic surgery patients [36].

4 Associations Between Tryptophan Breakdown, PAH Activity, and Neopterin Production

Important enzymes in the oxidative catabolism of tryptophan comprise indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenases (protein names: IDO-1, EC 1.13.11.52, and IDO-2, EC 1.13.11, gene names: IDO1 and IDO2) and tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (protein name: TDO, gene name: TDO2, EC 1.13.11.11). TDO is mainly located in the liver and its activity is regulated by the tryptophan concentration. By contrast, the IDO-1 enzyme is highly inducible by pro-inflammatory stimuli like IFN- γ and TNF- α in monocyte-derived cells but also in several other cell types such as epithelial cells or fibroblast. All the enzymes mentioned above initiate the degradation of tryptophan along the kynurenine pathway. The rate of tryptophan breakdown can be estimated by measuring of the ratio of kynurenine to tryptophan. An involvement of IDO-1 rather than TDO in tryptophan breakdown can be assumed when Kyn/Trp correlates with the concentrations of neopterin or another biomarker of immune activation. In this case Kyn/Trp allows a good estimate of the enzymatic activity of IDO-1 [37]. Kynurenine is further converted to biologically active metabolites by a series of enzymatic reactions, most of them exert cytotoxic and/or neuroactive properties [38].

It is assumed that the decline of tryptophan due to accelerated breakdown will cause a drop of both total and free tryptophan concentrations, because of the equilibrium between the two compartments. Free tryptophan is not albuminbound and represents the small fraction (<10%) of circulating tryptophan. Only in this form, tryptophan is freely available for uptake by organs and tissues [39] or for transport via the blood–brain barrier. For the transport of tryptophan into the brain the leucine-preferring L1-system is utilized in competition with the so-called large neutral amino acids (LNAA). The ratio of tryptophan:LNAA determines the flux of tryptophan into the brain [38] and consequently serotonin biosynthesis. Thus, the serum free not the albumin-bound tryptophan concentration is of relevance [39] and one might discuss whether the determination of free tryptophan would bring some advantage for a more detailed interpretation of changes in tryptophan metabolism and its biological consequences. However, free tryptophan is a labile parameter and its measurement requires freshly isolated and ultrafiltered plasma (or serum), which is not available in most circumstances [40].

The first studies comparing the inducible effect of interferons on IDO-1 in immunocompetent cells were published by research groups led by Hayaishi [41] and Wachter [11, 13, 42]. They already showed that interferons exert diverse influences on different cell types, which were confirmed and analyzed in more detail in several later studies [43, 44]. In addition, studies by Werner-Felmayer et al. [11, 13] showed that spontaneous enzymatic activity of IDO-1 is a rather rare event in tumor cell lines and usually induction by cytokines is required. These investigations already indicated that only very few cells possess the enzymatic machinery to further convert kynurenine to downstream metabolites like anthranilic acid and 3-hydroxy anthranilic acid. Aside from that, in vitro experiments revealed a close correlation between neopterin production and tryptophan breakdown rates in freshly isolated and stimulated human PBMC [42]. Notably, the enhanced production of IFN- γ and neopterin is accompanied by an accelerated tryptophan breakdown rate.

Other cells showed parallel induction of both GCH-1 and IDO-1, but unlike human monocytes-derived macrophages, no relevant accumulation of neopterin occurred while BH₄ was produced. The increase of Kyn/Trp could also be observed during human diseases such as HIV-1 infection [45]. Thereby neopterin levels correlate with Kyn/Trp, and additionally, with concentrations of the kynurenine downstream metabolite quinolinic acid [46]. Similar relationships were observed in patients suffering from malignant diseases. In patients with cardiovascular disorders, not only the enhanced neopterin production but also the increased tryptophan breakdown was a significant predictor of outcome. As it is the case in HIV-1 infection, the higher degree of tryptophan breakdown correlated rather closely with the higher concentrations of immune activation biomarkers such as neopterin in CVD patients [37, 47]. However, in vivo measurement of IFN- γ concentrations in serum or plasma is only possible when patients suffer from diseases in which the process of immune system activation takes place in the blood, thus being a systemic process. In the case of a locally restricted inflammation, IFN- γ levels never reach the circulation in relevant concentrations, as concentrations remain low and the cytokine will be bound to its receptors and internalized. Thus, the diffusion of IFN- γ is restricted and allows sensitive quantification of the cytokine only in the microenvironment. Alternatively, due to the higher stability and diffusion properties, measurement of neopterin is more suitable as indicator of immune activation.

Studies in rodents may lead to somewhat different results as compared with the human situation. The difference that exists between monocytes/macrophages of humans vs. rats and mice regarding their abilities to produce NO[•], influences tryptophan breakdown rates because NO[•] is a strong inhibitor of IDO-1 activity
[48]. Therefore in humans, due to the absence of high output production of NO^{\cdot} in stimulated macrophages because of BH₄ deficiency, tryptophan breakdown by IDO-1 can be more easily detected than in other species.

Another less explored effect of NO[•] is its ability to irreversibly inactivate TPH and thus to interfere with serotonin biosynthesis [49]. The presence of BH₄ could even support this mechanism by stabilizing NO[•], which acts as an antioxidant by itself. One could speculate that NO[•]-mediated inhibition might be of particular relevance for TPH1, which is expressed in the gastrointestinal tract, where dietderived NO[•] can be present in considerable amounts [50–52]. Still, it remains to be investigated under which conditions this reaction is of relevance in vivo and whether it contributes to a negative feedback loop preventing overproduction of peripheral serotonin.

5 Associations Between Diminished PAH Activity and Increased Neopterin Production

From an immunobiochemical perspective, it can be predicted that the induction of GCH-1 by cytokines like IFN-y does not only lead to an increased formation of neopterin in human monocytes-macrophages, but also lead to the production of BH₄ in other surrounding cells. The increased BH₄ availability could trigger the activity of BH₄-dependent enzymes such as PAH, TH, and TPH, and also iNOS and other NOS isoforms, and AGMO. Consequently in cardiovascular disease patients with high neopterin levels, one should expect to observe vasodilation induced by NO. However, patients with poor prognosis present with high blood pressure. Such observations point to subnormal BH₄ levels and thus subnormal activity of BH₄dependent enzymes. Accordingly patients with HIV-1 infection usually do not present with increased biopterin concentrations despite their sometimes highly elevated neopterin levels [53, 54]. Based on these pathophysiological considerations, the therapeutic potential of BH4 administration for patients with cardiovascular disease and high blood pressure has been assessed [55]. However, any beneficial action of BH₄ supplementation may be limited due to the oxidation sensitivity of the molecule [56]. Increased concentrations of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) or superoxide anion (O_2^-) that are formed during the immune response and are triggered by IFN- γ [57] in parallel to GCH-1 are typical for chronic inflammatory diseases. This scenario corresponds very well with the observations made in patients suffering from coronary artery disease, in whom an association has been observed between higher concentrations of neopterin and decline of several antioxidants including vitamin C and E, lutein, and zeaxanthine [58]. In a similar way, lower vitamin E concentrations were noted in healthy elderly persons who at the same time presented with higher interleukin-6 (IL-6) and C-reactive protein (CRP) concentrations indicating a lowering of the vitamin with higher inflammation degree [59].

A number of studies reported the occurrence of moderately elevated phenylalanine concentrations and phenylalanine to tyrosine ratios (Phe/Tyr) in patients suffering from chronic conditions with a background of immune activation and inflammation, like HIV-1 infection [60] or cancer [19], but also in healthy elderly [61]. Moreover, Phe/Tyr ratios correlated with neopterin concentrations providing a link between the disturbed phenylalanine biochemistry and immune activation. This is further supported by the finding that patients with hepatitis C virus infection present with an increase of Phe/Tyr under treatment with IFN- α and ribavirin [62, 63]. In addition, the increase of Phe/Tyr, which is indicative of disturbed PAH activity, was related to lower dopamine levels and to the development of fatigue [62]. Interestingly, as previously shown for tryptophan breakdown [32] and lower tryptophan serum levels [64], Phe/Tyr ratios correlated with neopterin levels in patients suffering from coronary artery disease [65].

Because BH₄ concentrations are not easily assessable in patient samples and the available methods are quite laborious, Phe/Tyr determinations can serve as a convenient index of BH₄ availability and thus allow also some indirect conclusion about the activity of the other BH₄-dependent enzymes [66]. In most cases of chronic inflammation associated with high neopterin levels, high Phe/Tyr ratios indicate diminished rather than increased BH₄ production. Thus, when an episode of immune activation with overwhelming production of ROS becomes chronic, antioxidant pools are depleted and oxidative stress develops. At the same time BH₄ availability becomes impaired and phenylalanine and Phe/Tyr increase [67]. This has negative consequences on the downstream biochemical pathways. This scenario is supported by the transient increases (blips) of blood phenylalanine concentrations that occur during infectious episodes in children suffering from atypical PKU and under chronic supplementation with BH₄ [68]. Likewise, BH₄ deficiency has also been described in patients with human rabies infection [69].

6 Association Between Dysregulated Tryptophan and Phenylalanine-Tyrosine Metabolism and Neuropsychiatric Symptoms

In the context of the serotonin theory of depression [70] the discovery of the influence of the immune system on tryptophan metabolism led to the conclusion that this pathway is of great relevance for the development of depression. The original concept claimed that induction of IDO-1 during clinical states of immune activation is associated with an enhanced risk of depression [3]. However, this concept does not imply that every form of depression is related to serotonin or kynurenine disturbances caused by immune system activation.

Significant associations between immune system activation and accelerated tryptophan breakdown have been found in patients with colorectal cancer, with positive correlations between decreased tryptophan levels and lower quality of life as well as higher fatigue scores [71–74]. In a similar way, significant relationships between activation of the immune system, tryptophan breakdown, and development of fatigue have been reported in lung cancer patients [73, 74] and in patients suffering from Epstein Barr Virus infection [75].

Interestingly, many - if not most - of more recent clinical studies on major depressive disorders rule out an inflammatory background of patients, when study exclusion criteria, e.g., elevated C-reactive protein (CRP) or similar biomarkers are defined. Consequently, it is no surprising not to find inflammation-induced changes of tryptophan metabolism as strong denominator for depression in such studies. Despite these difficulties IDO-1 activity is sometimes regarded as a primary player in depression development. The underlying hypothesis is that degradation of tryptophan by IDO-1 creates a decrease in the bioavailability of this essential amino acid for the synthesis of serotonin. This would fit with the observation of increased Kyn/Trp ratios in the blood of patients. However, higher or lower tryptophan levels in the blood do not necessarily lead to parallel increase or decrease of serotonin availability in brain tissue, because the transport of tryptophan into the brain is mediated by the leucine-preferring LAT1-system with tryptophan competing with other large neutral amino acids (LNAA). The ratio of tryptophan/LNAA determines the flux of tryptophan into the brain and thus serotonin biosynthesis [38]. Furthermore, there is no evidence for a direct correlation between peripheral and central tryptophan levels. Raison et al. [76] demonstrated that despite significant decreases in peripheral tryptophan after IFN- α therapy, CSF tryptophan levels were not affected. However, increases in kynurenine were measurable in both body fluids. Thus, elevated Kyn/Trp ratios in the periphery cannot be interpreted to be directly causal for decreased synthesis of serotonin due to decreased tryptophan availability. However, inflammatory conditions might favor oxidative breakdown along the kynurenine pathway at the expense of serotonin synthesis.

Because neuropsychiatric symptoms are common in elderly subjects, the involvement of dysregulated tryptophan and phenylalanine-tyrosine metabolism in these symptoms has been investigated. Age correlated significantly with circulating concentrations of the immune markers neopterin and CRP and neuropsychiatric symptoms, and the increased inflammation was related to lower tryptophan concentrations and increased kynurenine levels [61]. These findings are suggestive of IDO-1-induced tryptophan catabolism associated with older age [77-79]. Inflammation was also associated with increases in neopterin and nitrite levels as well as phenylalanine concentrations at the expense of tyrosine. Moreover, increased tryptophan catabolism correlated with depressive symptoms like lassitude, reduced motivation, anorexia, and pessimism, whereas markers of GCH-1 activity correlated more with neurovegetative symptoms such as sleep disturbance, digestive symptoms, fatigue, sickness, and motor symptoms. Thus, alterations in the two enzymatic pathways might participate in the pathophysiology of different neuropsychiatric symptoms in elderly persons. In a similar way in breast cancer patients with comorbid depression or state anxiety, Phe/Tyr ratios were higher in patients with depression whereas Kyn/Trp ratios were associated with anxiety [72]. In the same manner, the administration of IFN- α /ribavirin in patients with HCV infection led to an increase of Kyn/Trp [80] and Phe/Tyr [62, 63], whereas dopamine levels in the CSF were diminished [62] and the decreases in dopaminergic activity were correlated with fatigue scores. These results could form the basis for future treatment studies. In cancer patients with comorbid depression for instance, the use of serotonin-noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors might be recommended while in those with predominant anxiety selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors might be the treatment of choice. In those patients who have mainly fatigue as a symptom the use of drugs targeting dopamine deficiency could be indicated.

During and after pregnancy, women display significantly accelerated tryptophan breakdown that correlates with the gestational week and normalize during puerperium [81]. It was hypothesized that IDO-1 is involved because of the significant relationship between Kyn/Trp levels and neopterin. Following up on these findings, Munn and colleagues demonstrated that IDO-1 activation during gestation in mice was required to achieve maternal immunotolerance against the fetus [43]. Later on, several significant relationships between the tryptophan metabolic alterations and the development of neuropsychiatric symptoms in women were reported. Postpartum blues develops preferentially in those women who present with continuously low serum tryptophan after delivery due to an increased degradation to kynurenine, but this effect is independent of variations in neopterin levels [82, 83].

Tryptophan and serotonin are precursors for the biosynthesis of melatonin that plays an important role in sleep regulation [84]. Sleep disturbance is a strong contributor to poor quality of life and an increased risk of depression development. A link between the enhanced tryptophan breakdown and sleep disturbance has been described in patients with HIV-1 infection [85]. Disturbed tryptophan metabolism may underlie not only poor sleep but also could explain the increased susceptibility to the common cold that has been found to be associated with poor sleep [86].

However, the disturbed tryptophan-serotonin pathway is not the only biochemical route that is relevant for the development of neuropsychiatric symptoms, e.g. the phenylalanine-tyrosine-dopamine pathway and corresponding biogenic amines are of comparable significance. Supplementation with BH₄ should theoretically correct the impaired activity of all BH₄-related neurotransmitter pathways. This concept emerged in the early eighties [87, 88], but early treatment trials were not successful [89]. Several questions regarding selection of patients and treatment modalities, as well as bioavailability still need to be answered. Moreover, BH₄ availability is certainly not the only factor that needs to be taken into consideration for normalizing alterations in neurotransmission, e.g., serotonin receptors certainly play an important role [90]. Another set of critical factors is represented by kynurenine metabolites that act as agonist (quinolinic acid) or antagonist (kynurenic acid) of the *N*-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor.

7 Immunobiochemical Pathways Influenced by Life Style

Immune status and inflammation can be influenced by life style factors including nutrition and exercise, but also smoking. Tryptophan represents a key element for brain functioning, and nutrients rich in tryptophan like cashew nuts, turkey, or banana, to name a few, are often claimed to exert a positive impact on mood and cognition [91]. However, the actual tryptophan content of such nutrients can only be of limited relevance to brain metabolism because the levels of competing amino acids are high and any benefit of such food to brain pathways via the LAT-1 system (see above) remains questionable. Moreover, because of the complex composition of a diet, it is difficult to define that the effect of a single compound rather multiple compounds may act synergistically to mediate beneficial effects.

Findings derived from the in vitro model of mitogen-stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells revealed that several phytochemicals, mainly antioxidants like polyphenols and vitamins, can interfere with inflammatory signaling cascades, which as a consequence may also reduce tryptophan breakdown rates [50, 92]. If extrapolated to in vivo conditions antioxidants could dampen cell-mediated immunity and thus tryptophan breakdown via IDO-1. This would result in an increase of blood and brain tryptophan availability. Although there is some evidence for such in vivo effects of antioxidants, outcomes are hardly predictable and most likely depend on an individual's immunological state [93]. In conclusion, probably more than a diet rich in tryptophan, a diet rich in antioxidants can have a positive impact on sleep, mood, and cognition when the tryptophan-serotonin-melatonin metabolic chain is improved. Thus, dietary interventions could be of greater relevance especially in individuals who present with conditions of low grade inflammation.

However, overwhelming exposure to antioxidant compounds – that can be nutrients with supplemented vitamins, food preservatives, and/or colorants – can cause "anti-oxidative stress."

Excessive intake of antioxidants could play a role in allergy development when the suppression of Th1-type immunity upregulates its counterpart the Th2-type immune response [94, 95]. Interestingly patients suffering from acute allergic responses may present with increased rather than diminished blood tryptophan concentrations [96]. From that point of view, likelihood of depressive mood should be more rare in atopic as compared with non-atopic patients. However, this has not yet been studied.

The positive effects of physical activity on mood and mental disorders are well documented [97]. With regard to mood, most studies focus on the influence of physical activity on depressive symptoms or affective disorders. These studies show that aerobic exercise at a dose consistent with public health recommendations is an effective treatment for mild-to-moderate major depressive disorder [98, 99]. In addition, exercise is associated with long-lasting increases in brain tryptophan levels [100]. A recent study identified a mechanism by which skeletal muscle peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha 1 (PGC-1 α 1), induced by exercise training, switches kynurenine metabolism from



Fig. 2 Chronic activation of the immune system influences neurotransmitter biosynthesis differently from acute inflammation. Prolonged formation of reactive oxygen species like superoxide anion (O_2^-) by NADPH-oxidase (NOX) wipes out antioxidant systems including BH₄. Consequently, the function of BH₄-dependent enzymes is disturbed and the production dopamine, noradrenaline, adrenaline, but also serotonin is diminished. In a similar way, NO[•] reacts with O_2^- and produces highly toxic vasoconstrictant peroxynitrite (ONO₂⁻), causing hypertension. The inhibition of IDO-1 by NO[•] is no longer active and the formation of the kynurenine pathway metabolites is increased at the expense of serotonin. *L-DOPA* L-dihydroxyphenylalanine, *Kyn* kynurenine, *Trp* tryptophan, *Tyr* tyrosine

quinolinic acid to kynurenic acid production, and protects from stress-induced depression [101]. However, the clinical relevance of these findings remains to be determined.

Physical activity has significant impact on inflammation cascades and induces immunoregulatory cascades involving IFN- γ and other cytokines [102, 103] impacting down-stream biochemical pathways like the production of neopterin. More recently it was demonstrated that amino acid profiles are altered during and after a half iron man triathlon [104]. Such data fit well with the observation that intense training is associated not only with an increase of neopterin, but also with concomitantly accelerated tryptophan breakdown and increased Kyn/Trp [105].

Interestingly, acute moderate physical exercise can have effects opposite to those of chronic physical exercise. Physical exercise may enhance the production of neurotransmitters by induction of BH_4 synthesis, which would accelerate the activities of BH_4 -dependent enzymes and result in increases in neurotransmitter biosynthesis (Fig. 1), which could contribute to a heightening of mood. At the same time, production of NO[•] increases and due to vasodilation blood pressure declines. However, counter-regulatory pathways are initiated in parallel leading to activation of pro-inflammatory cascades and production of ROS, which deplete endogenous antioxidant pools including BH_4 concentrations (Fig. 2). Breakdown of tryptophan by IDO-1 during intense exercise diminishes tryptophan availability that finally slows down serotonin formation.

The oxidation processes further activate the cell's detoxifying machinery, as can be seen by an increase of superoxide dismutase (SOD) -1 and -2 or glutathione peroxidase [106, 107]. Consequently, BH_4 -dependent biosynthesis of several

neurotransmitters will decline and the primarily enhanced mood will be followed by a decline that may play a role in the onset of fatigue and sleep disturbances when sports become too heavy or training intervals too short. As a consequence, adherence to training will suffer. The same is true for the production of NO⁻, its production will suffer, too, and no further benefit of physical exercise to lower blood pressure can be expected, rather the vasoconstrictive effects of oxidative stress will become evident [108]. It is assumed that this is similar to the scenario that may take place in acute vs. chronic diseases such as microbial infections in which the antiproliferative activity of the immune system results first in decreased tryptophan. At the same time BH₄ goes up and may partially compensate deficient production of serotonin. However, in the later course also BH₄ becomes deficient as does the production of the related biogenic amine neurotransmitters, and the likelihood of neuropsychiatric symptoms elevates. Thus, there might be a beneficial effect of antioxidant supplements to counteract the negative psychological effects of intense sports [107].

This relationship becomes especially important when exercise is performed as part of a weight-loss program together with a reduction of food intake. After short time, calorie restriction diet is associated with the decline of serum/plasma trypto-phan levels followed by a decline of phenylalanine [109]. Consequently, the adherence to a weight loss diet could result in a deficiency of the relevant essential amino acids and one might consider supplementation of these during such periods to avoid such unwanted side effects [110]. Both effects together will improve availability of the neurotransmitters that influence mood.

Finally, composition of gut bacteria is influenced by dietary components and may impact on serotonin metabolism [111]. Not surprisingly, the diet is an important factor for the composition of the human intestinal microbiome [112]. Interestingly, in patients with Alzheimer's dementia, low serum tryptophan [113] but not phenylalanine levels [114] correlate with cognitive performance and are associated not only with the systemic inflammatory status of patients, but also with specific inflammation biomarkers in stool such as calprotectin, which indicates a pathologically increased permeability of the intestinal barrier [115].

Other lifestyle factors can affect aromatic amino acid metabolism. Carbon monoxide (CO) binds to heme iron and impedes oxygen supply. Thus, CO from smoking or air pollution can suppress IDO-1 activity by binding to active site heme [116]. In fact, even low doses of CO exert anti-inflammatory properties and are therefore used in clinical trials for treatment of, e.g., acute lung injury or in sepsis patients [117].

8 Conclusion

The measurements of tryptophan and phenylalanine metabolism can provide reasonable insight into the biochemical pathways involved in the pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric abnormalities, support treatment personalization, and predict outcome. In parallel, diet can influence immunobiochemical pathways. These pathways are very sensitive to situations of inflammation but can also be modulated to some extent by lifestyle factors including diet.

In the absence of an inflammatory response, plasma kynurenine levels are kept relatively stable by the activity of TDO2 and further downstream catabolism in the liver. During inflammation, activation of the kynurenine metabolism pathway elevates circulating kynurenine levels [118] while circulating tryptophan levels decline. This situation can be different in the CSF, where kynurenine metabolism may behave independent from the periphery.

Because activation of the kynurenine pathway is assessed by measuring circulating levels of tryptophan, kynurenine, and kynurenine metabolites, it is important to note that ways of measuring these metabolites can be misleading. In particular, measurement of plasma/serum kynurenine levels after precipitation of proteins by the use of acidic reagents [119] contributes to their loss especially in the presence of nitrites because of the formation of diazotization products according to the Sandmeyer reaction [120]. This is of greater relevance when measuring samples from mice or rats that have higher nitrite content than human samples. Regarding the measurement of Phe/Tyr, this ratio not only reflects the phenylalanine hydroxylase activity itself, but also provides an approximate for BH₄ availability [19].

As already mentioned, amino acid levels may fluctuate due to various insults. Therefore, it is important that a parallel measurement of inflammation biomarkers is performed to distinguish inflammation-induced IDO-1 activity from TDO. Thereby, neopterin has turned out as a stable and reliable analyte and a correlation between Kyn/Trp and neopterin can serve as strong support of the involvement of IDO-1 rather than TDO in tryptophan breakdown. Still it needs to be considered that cortisol is often released during inflammatory responses and is known to upregulate TDO [121].

In the last two decades, a number of important findings on the involvement of aromatic amino acid metabolism in depression have been obtained. However, still much needs to be worked out to allow a more detailed assessment of their individual contribution and lead to better rationales for the choice of intervention and treatment.

References

- Murr C, Widner B, Sperner-Unterweger B, Ledochowski M, Schubert C, Fuchs D (1999) Immune reaction links disease progression in cancer patients with depression. Med Hypotheses 55:137–140
- Strasser B, Becker K, Fuchs D, Gostner JM (2016a) Kynurenine pathway metabolism and immune activation: peripheral measurements in psychiatric and co-morbid conditions. Neuropharmacology (in press). doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.02.030
- Widner B, Laich A, Sperner-Unterweger B, Ledochowski M, Fuchs D (2002) Neopterin production tryptophan degradation and mental depression: what is the link? Brain Behav Immun 16:590–595

- 4. Widner B, Ledochowski M, Fuchs D (2000) Interferon-gamma-induced tryptophan degradation: neuropsychiatric and immunological consequences. Curr Drug Metab 1(2):193–204
- Capuron L, Ravaud A, Neveu PJ, Miller AH, Maes M, Dantzer R (2002) Association between decreased serum tryptophan concentrations and depressive symptoms in cancer patients undergoing cytokine therapy. Mol Psychiatry 7:468–473
- Maes M, Scharpé S, Meltzer HY et al (2008) Increased neopterin and interferon-gamma secretion and lower availability of L-tryptophan in major depression: further evidence for an immune response. Psychiatry Res 54:143–160
- O'Mahony SM, Myint AM, van den Hove D, Desbonnet L, Steinbusch H, Leonard BE (2006) Gestational stress leads to depressive-like behavioural and immunological changes in the rat. Neuroimmunomodulation 13:82–88
- 8. Werner ER, Blau N, Thöny B (2011) Tetrahydrobiopterin: biochemistry and pathophysiology. Biochem J 438:397–414
- 9. Tietz AA, Lindberg M, Kennedy EP (1964) A new pteridine-requiring enzyme system for the oxidation of glyceryl ethers. J Biol Chem 239:4081–4090
- Harada T, Kagamiyama H, Hatakeyama K (1993) Feedback regulation mechanisms for the control of GTP cyclohydrolase I activity. Science 260:1507–1510
- 11. Werner-Felmayer G, Werner ER, Fuchs D, Hausen A, Reibnegger G, Wachter H (1989) Characteristics of interferon induced tryptophan metabolism in human cells in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta 1012:140–147
- Werner-Felmayer G, Werner ER, Fuchs D, Hausen A, Reibnegger G, Wachter H (1990) Neopterin formation and tryptophan degradation by a human myelomonocytic cell line (THP-1). Cancer Res 50:2863–2867
- Werner-Felmayer G, Werner ER, Fuchs D, Hausen A, Reibnegger G, Wachter H (1989) Tumour necrosis factor-alpha and lipopolysaccharide enhance interferon-induced tryptophan degradation and pteridine synthesis in human cells. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler 370:1063–1069
- Werner ER, Bahrami S, Heller R, Werner-Felmayer G (2002) Bacterial lipopolysaccharide down-regulates expression of GTP cyclohydrolase I feedback regulatory protein. J Biol Chem 277:10129–10133
- DiLella AG, Kwok SCM, Ledley FD, Marvit J, Woo SLC (1986) Molecular structure and polymorphic map of the human phenylalanine hydroxylase gene. Biochemistry 25:743–749
- Guldberg P, Henriksen KF, Sipila I, Guttler F, de la Chapelle A (1995) Molecular structure and polymorphic map of the human phenylalanine hydroxylase gene. J Med Genet 32:976–978
- Shintaku H (2002) Disorders of tetrahydrobiopterin metabolism and their treatment. Curr Drug Metab 3:123–131
- Haroon E, Raison CL, Miller AH (2012) Psychoneuroimmunology meets neuropsychopharmacology: translational implications of the impact of inflammation on behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:137–162
- 19. Neurauter G, Schröcksnadel K, Scholl-Bürgi S et al (2008) Chronic immune stimulation correlates with reduced phenylalanine turnover. Curr Drug Metab 9:622–627
- Fuchs D, Hausen A, Huber C et al (1982) Pteridinausscheidung als Marker f
 ür alloantigeninduzierte Lymphozytenproliferation. Hoppe Seyler's Z Physiol Chem 363:661–664
- 21. Cano OD, Neurauter G, Fuchs D, Shearer GM, Boasso A (2008) Differential effect of type I and type II interferons on neopterin production and amino acid metabolism in human astrocytes-derived cells. Neurosci Lett 438:22–25
- 22. Huber C, Batchelor JR, Fuchs D et al (1984) Immune response-associated production of neopterin - release from macrophages primarily under control of interferon-gamma. J Exp Med 160:310–316
- Wirleitner B, Reider D, Ebner S et al (2002) Monocyte-derived dendritic cells release neopterin. J Leukocyte Biol 72:1148–1153

- 24. Schoedon G, Troppmair J, Adolf G, Huber C, Niederwieser A (1986) Interferon-gamma enhances biosynthesis of pterins in peripheral blood mononuclear cells by induction of GTP-cyclohydrolase I activity. J Interferon Res 6:697–703
- 25. Jungi TW, Adler H, Adler B, Thöny M, Krampe M, Peterhans E (1996) Inducible nitric oxide synthase of macrophages. Present knowledge and evidence for species-specific regulation. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 54:323–330
- 26. Fuchs D, Murr C, Reibnegger G et al (1994) Nitric oxide synthase and antimicrobial armature of human macrophages. J Infect Dis 169:224
- 27. Schneemann M, Schoedon G (2002) Species differences in macrophage NO production are important. Nat Immunol 3:102
- Fuchs D, Hausen A, Reibnegger G, Werner ER, Dierich MP, Wachter H (1988) Neopterin as a marker for activated cell-mediated immunity: application in HIV infection. Immunol Today 9:150–155
- 29. Jenny M, Klieber M, Zaknun D et al (2011) In vitro testing for anti-inflammatory properties of compounds employing peripheral blood mononuclear cells freshly isolated from healthy donors. Inflamm Res 60:127–135
- 30. Sperner-Unterweger B, Neurauter G, Klieber M et al (2011) Enhanced tryptophan degradation in patients with ovarian carcinoma correlates with several serum soluble immune activation markers. Immunobiology 216:296–301
- Fuchs D, Avanzas P, Arroyo-Espliguero R et al (2009) The role of neopterin in atherogenesis and cardiovascular risk stratification. Curr Med Chem 16:4644–4653
- 32. Pedersen ER, Midttun Ø, Ueland PM et al (2011) Systemic markers of interferon-γ-mediated immune activation and long-term prognosis in patients with stable coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31:698–704
- 33. Blasko I, Knaus G, Weiss E et al (2007) Cognitive deterioration in Alzheimer's disease is accompanied by increase of plasma neopterin. J Psychiatr Res 41:694–701
- 34. Widner B, Leblhuber F, Fuchs D (2002) Increased neopterin production and tryptophan degradation in advanced Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm 109:181–189
- 35. Ghisoni K, Aguiar AS Jr, de Oliveira PA, et al (2016) Neopterin acts as an endogenous cognitive enhancer. Brain Behav Immun pii: S0889-1591(16)30039-3. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi. 2016.02.019
- 36. Forrest CM, Mackay GM, Oxford L et al (2011) Kynurenine metabolism predicts cognitive function in patients following cardiac bypass and thoracic surgery. J Neurochem 119 (1):136–152
- 37. Fuchs D, Möller AA, Reibnegger G et al (1991) Increased endogenous interferon-gamma and neopterin correlate with increased degradation of tryptophan in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. Immunol Lett 28:207–212
- Stone TW, Darlington LG (2013) The kynurenine pathway as a therapeutic target in cognitive and neurodegenerative disorders. Br J Pharmacol 169:1211–1227
- 39. Badawy AA (2016) The non albumin-bound tryptophan (free tryptophan) (tryptophan availability for kynurenine pathway metabolism across the life span: control mechanisms and focus on aging, exercise, diet and nutritional supplements. Neuropharmacology (in press)
- 40. Badawy AA (2010) Perspective: plasma free tryptophan revisited: what you need to know and do before measuring it. J Psychopharmacol 24:809–815
- 41. Yoshida R, Imanishi J, Oku T, Kishida T, Hayaishi O (1981) Induction of pulmonary indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by interferon. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78:129–132
- 42. Werner ER, Bitterlich G, Fuchs D et al (1987) Human macrophages degrade tryptophan upon induction by interferon-gamma. Life Sci 41:273–280
- Munn DH, Zhou M, Attwood JT et al (1998) Prevention of allogeneic fetal rejection by tryptophan catabolism. Science 281(5380):1191–1193
- 44. Uyttenhove C, Pilotte L, Théate I et al (2003) Evidence for a tumoral immune resistance mechanism based on tryptophan degradation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Nat Med 9:1269–1274

- 45. Fuchs D, Möller AA, Reibnegger G, Stöckle E, Werner ER, Wachter H (1990) Decreased serum tryptophan in patients with HIV-1 infection correlates with increased serum neopterin and with neurologic/psychiatric symptoms. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 3:873–876
- 46. Heyes MP, Saito K, Crowley JS et al (1992) Quinolinic acid and kynurenine pathway metabolism in inflammatory and non-inflammatory neurological disease. Brain 115:1249–1273
- 47. Heyes MP, Brew BJ, Saito K et al (1992) Inter-relationships between quinolinic acid, neuroactive kynurenines, neopterin and beta 2-microglobulin in cerebrospinal fluid and serum of HIV-1-infected patients. J Neuroimmunol 40:71–80
- 48. Thomas SR, Terentis AC, Cai H et al (2007) Post-translational regulation of human indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity by nitric oxide. J Biol Chem 282:23778–23787
- 49. Kuhn DM, Arthur R Jr (1997) Molecular mechanism of the inactivation of tryptophan hydroxylase by nitric oxide: attack on critical sulfhydryls that spare the enzyme iron center. J Neurosci 17:7245–7251
- 50. Gostner JM, Becker K, Ueberall F, Fuchs D (2015) The good and bad of antioxidant foods: an immunological perspective. Food Chem Toxicol 80:72–79
- Hord NG, Tang Y, Bryan NS (2009) Food sources of nitrates and nitrites: the physiologic context for potential health benefits. Am J Clin Nutr 90:1–10
- 52. Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E, Gladwin MT (2008) The nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7:156–167
- 53. Abita JP, Cost H, Milstien S, Kaufman S, Saimot G (1985) Urinary neopterin and biopterin levels in patients with AIDS and AIDS-related complex. Lancet 2(8445):51–52
- 54. Zangerle R, Fuchs D, Reibnegger G et al (1995) Serum nitrite plus nitrate in infection with human immunodeficiency virus type-1. Immunobiology 193:59–70
- 55. Moens AL, Kass DA (2006) Tetrahydrobiopterin and cardiovascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26:2439–2444
- 56. Patel KB, Stratford MR, Wardman P, Everett SA (2002) Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin by biological radicals and scavenging of the trihydrobiopterin radical by ascorbate. Free Radic Biol Med 32:203–211
- 57. Nathan CF, Murray HW, Wiebe ME, Rubin BY (1983) Identification of interferon-gamma as the lymphokine that activates human macrophage oxidative metabolism and antimicrobial activity. J Exp Med 158:670–689
- Murr C, Winklhofer-Roob BM, Schroecksnadel K et al (2009) Inverse association between serum concentrations of neopterin and antioxidants in patients with and without angiographic coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis 202:543–549
- 59. Capuron L, Moranis A, Combe N et al (2009) Vitamin E status and quality of life in the elderly: influence of inflammatory processes. Br J Nutr 102:1390–1394
- 60. Zangerle R, Kurz K, Neurauter G, Kitchen M, Sarcletti M, Fuchs D (2010) Increased blood phenylalanine to tyrosine ratio in HIV-1 infection and correction following effective antiretroviral therapy. Brain Behav Immun 24:403–408
- 61. Capuron L, Schroecksnadel S, Féart C et al (2011) Chronic low-grade inflammation in elderly persons is associated with altered tryptophan and tyrosine metabolism: role in neuropsychiatric symptoms. Biol Psychiatry 70:175–182
- 62. Felger JC, Li L, Marvar PJ, Woolwine BJ, Harrison DG, Raison CL, Miller AH (2013) Tyrosine metabolism during interferon-alpha administration: association with fatigue and CSF dopamine concentrations. Brain Behav Immun 31:153–160
- 63. Zoller H, Schloegl A, Schroecksnadel S, Vogel W, Fuchs D (2012) Influence of interferon-α therapy on phenylalanine hydroxylase activity in patients with HCV infection. J Interferon Cytokine Res 32:216–220
- 64. Murr C, Grammer TB, Kleber ME et al (2015) Low serum free tryptophan is associated with immune activation, inflammation and predicts mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease, the ludwigshafen risk and cardiovascular health (LURIC) study. Eur J Clin Invest 45:247–254

- 65. Murr C, Grammer TB, Kleber ME et al (2014) Immune activation and inflammation in patients with cardiovascular disease are associated with higher phenylalanine to tyrosine ratios, the ludwigshafen risk and cardiovascular health (LURIC) study. J Amino Acids 2014:783730
- 66. Scholl-Bürgi S, Schroecksnadel S, Jenny M, Karall D, Fuchs D (2011) Chronic immune stimulation may cause moderate impairment of phenylalanine 4-hydroxylase. Pteridines 22:120–125
- 67. Opladen T, Okun JG, Burgard P, Blau N, Hoffmann GF (2010) Phenylalanine loading in pediatric patients with dopa-responsive dystonia revised test protocol and pediatric cutoff values. J Inherit Metab Dis 33:697–703
- Trefz FK, Scheible D, Frauendienst-Egger G, Korall H, Blau N (2005) Long-term treatment of patients with mild and classical phenylketonuria by tetrahydrobiopterin. Mol Genet Metab 86(Suppl 1):S75–S80
- 69. Willoughby RE, Opladen T, Maier T et al (2009) Tetrahydrobiopterin deficiency in human rabies. J Inherit Metab Dis 32:65–72
- 70. Pare CM (1965) Treatment of depression. Lancet 1(7392):923-925
- Huang A, Fuchs D, Widner B, Glover C, Henderson DC, Allen-Mersh TG (2002) Serum tryptophan decrease correlates with immune activation and impaired quality of life in colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 86:1691–1696
- 72. Hüfner K, Oberguggenberger A, Kohl C et al (2015) Levels in neurotransmitter precursor amino acids correlate with mental health in patients with breast cancer. Psychoneuroendocrinology 60:28–38
- 73. Kurz K, Fiegl M, Holzner B et al (2012) Fatigue is related with immune-mediated tryptophan degradation in patients with lung cancer. PLos One 7(5), e36956
- 74. Kurz K, Fiegl M, Holzner B, Giesinger J, Pircher M, Weiss G, Denz HA, Fuchs D (2012) Fatigue in patients with lung cancer is related with accelerated tryptophan breakdown. PLoS One 7, e36956
- 75. Bellmann-Weiler R, Schroecksnadel K, Holzer C, Larcher C, Fuchs D, Weiss G (2008) IFN-γ-mediated pathways in patients with fatigue and chronic EBV-infection. J Affect Disord 108:171–176
- 76. Raison CL, Dantzer R, Kelley KW, Lawson MA, Woolwine BJ, Vogt G, Spivey JR, Saito K, Miller AH (2010) CSF concentrations of brain tryptophan and kynurenines during immune stimulation with IFN-alpha: relationship to CNS immune responses and depression. Mol Psychiatry 15:393–403
- 77. Capuron L, Geisler S, Kurz K, Leblhuber F, Sperner-Unterweger B, Fuchs D (2014) Activated immune system and inflammation in healthy ageing: relevance for tryptophan and neopterin metabolism. Curr Pharm Des 20:6048–6057
- de Bie J, Guest J, Guillemin GJ, Grant R (2015) Central kynurenine pathway shift with age in women. J Neurochem (in press) doi: 10.1111/jnc.13496
- 79. Frick B, Schroecksnadel K, Neurauter G, Leblhuber F, Fuchs D (2004) Increasing production of homocysteine and neopterin and degradation of tryptophan with older age. Clin Biochem 37:684–687
- Capuron L, Neurauter G, Musselman DL et al (2003) Interferon-alpha-induced changes in tryptophan metabolism. Relationship to depression and paroxetine treatment. Biol Psychiatry 54:906–914
- Schröcksnadel H, Baier-Bitterlich G, Dapunt O, Wachter H, Fuchs D (1996) Decreased plasma tryptophan in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 88:47–50
- 82. Kohl C, Walch T, Huber R et al (2005) Measurement of tryptophan, kynurenine and neopterin in women with and without postpartum blues. J Affect Disord 86:135–142
- 83. Krause D, Jobst A, Kirchberg F et al (2014) Prenatal immunologic predictors of postpartum depressive symptoms: a prospective study for potential diagnostic markers. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 264:615–624

- 84. Wang YQ, Li R, Zhang MQ, Zhang Z, Qu WM, Huang ZL (2015) The neurobiological mechanisms and treatments of REM sleep disturbances in depression. Curr Neuropharmacol 13:543–553
- Wiegand M, Möller AA, Schreiber W et al (1991) Nocturnal sleep EEG in patients with HIV infection. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 240:153–158
- Prather AA, Janicki-Deverts D, Hall MH, Cohen S (2015) Behaviorally assessed sleep and susceptibility to the common cold. Sleep 38:1353–1359
- Blair JA, Barford PA, Morar C et al (1984) Tetrahydrobiopterin metabolism in depression. Lancet 2(8395):163
- Curtius HC, Niederwieser A, Levine RA, Lovenberg W, Woggon B, Angst J (1983) Successful treatment of depression with tetrahydrobiopterin. Lancet 1(8325):657–658
- Woggon B, Angst J, Curtius HC, Niederwieser A (1984) Unsuccessful treatment of depression with tetrahydrobiopterin. Lancet 2(8417-8418):1463
- 90. Berger M, Gray JA, Roth BL (2009) The expanded biology of serotonin. Annu Rev Med 60:355–366
- Hulsken S, Märtin A, Mohajeri MH, Homberg JR (2013) Food-derived serotonergic modulators: effects on mood and cognition. Nutr Res Rev 26:223–234
- 92. Strasser B, Geiger D, Schauer M, Gatterer H, Burtscher M, Fuchs D (2016b) Effects of exhaustive aerobic exercise on tryptophan-kynurenine metabolism in trained athletes. Plos One 11(4), e0153617
- 93. Gostner JM, Becker K, Croft KD et al (2014) Regular consumption of black tea increases circulating kynurenine concentrations: a randomized controlled trial. BBA Clin 3:31–35
- 94. Fuchs D (2012) Antioxidant intake and allergic disease. Clin Exp Allergy 42:1420-1422
- Zaknun D, Schroecksnadel S, Kurz K, Fuchs D (2012) Potential role of antioxidant food supplements, preservatives and colorants in the pathogenesis of allergy and asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 157:113–124
- 96. Kositz C, Schroecksnadel K, Grander G, Schennach H, Kofler H, Fuchs D (2008) High serum tryptophan concentration in pollinosis patients is associated with unresponsiveness to pollen extract therapy. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 147:35–40
- 97. Wegner M, Helmich I, Machado S et al (2014) Effects of exercise on anxiety and depression disorders: review of meta- analyses and neurobiological mechanisms. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 13:1002–1014
- Dunn AL, Trivedi MH, Kampert JB, Clark CG, Chambliss HO (2005) Exercise treatment for depression: efficacy and dose response. Am J Prev Med 28:1–8
- 99. Hoffman BM, Babyak MA, Craighead WE et al (2011) Exercise and pharmacotherapy in patients with major depression: one-year follow-up of the SMILE study. Psychosom Med 73:127–133
- 100. Melancon MO, Lorrain D, Dionne IJ (2012) Exercise increases tryptophan availability to the brain in older men age 57-70 years. Med Sci Sports Exerc 44:881–887
- 101. Agudelo LZ, Femenía T, Orhan F et al (2014) Skeletal muscle PGC-1 α 1 modulates kynurenine metabolism and mediates resilience to stress-induced depression. Cell 159:33–45
- 102. Sprenger H, Jacobs C, Nain M et al (1992) Enhanced release of cytokines, interleukin-2 receptors, and neopterin after long-distance running. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 63:188–195
- Tilz GP, Domej W, Diez-Ruiz A et al (1993) Increased immune activation during and after physical exercise. Immunobiology 188:194–202
- 104. Areces F, González-Millán C, Salinero JJ et al (2015) changes in serum free amino acids and muscle fatigue experienced during a half-ironman triathlon. PLoS One 10(9), e0138376
- 105. Strasser B, Gostner JM, Fuchs D (2016) Mood, food, and cognition: role of tryptophan and serotonin. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 19:55–61
- 106. Burtscher M, Pesta D, Fuchs D, Ledochowski M, Gatterer H (2015) Methodological considerations when evaluating the effectiveness of dietary/supplemental antioxidants in sport. In:

Lamprecht M (ed) Antioxidants in sport nutrition. CRC Press/Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton (FL), Chapter 13

- 107. Ristow M, Zarse K, Oberbach A et al (2009) Antioxidants prevent health-promoting effects of physical exercise in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:8665–8670
- 108. Di Francescomarino S, Sciartilli A, Di Valerio V, Di Baldassarre A, Gallina S (2009) The effect of physical exercise on endothelial function. Sports Med 39:797–812
- 109. Strasser B, Gostner JM, Fuchs D (2015) Carbon monoxide exposure may underlie the increased leukaemia risk in children living next to motor highways. Eur J Epidemiol 30:1329–1330
- 110. Brzezinski A, Shalitin N, Ever-Hadani P, Schenker JG (1990) Plasma concentrations of tryptophan and dieting. BMJ 301(6744):183
- 111. Jenkins TA, Nguyen JCD, Polglaze KE, Bertrand PP (2016) Influence of tryptophan and serotonin on mood and cognition with a possible role of the gut-brain axis. Nutrients 8(1):pii E56
- 112. Voreades N, Kozil A, Weir TL (2014) Diet and the development of the human intestinal microbiome. Front Microbiol 5:494
- 113. Widner B, Leblhuber F, Walli J, Tilz GP, Demel U, Fuchs D (2000) Tryptophan degradation and immune activation in Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm 107:343–353
- 114. Wissmann P, Geisler S, Leblhuber F, Fuchs D (2013) Immune activation in patients with Alzheimer's disease is associated with high serum phenylalanine concentrations. J Neurol Sci 329:29–33
- 115. Leblhuber F, Geisler S, Steiner K, Fuchs D, Schütz B (2015) Elevated fecal calprotectin in patients with Alzheimer's dementia indicates leaky gut. J Neural Transm (Vienna) 122:1319–1322
- 116. Strasser B, Berger K, Fuchs D (2015) Effects of a caloric restriction weight loss diet on tryptophan metabolism and inflammatory biomarkers in overweight adults. Eur J Nutr 54:101–107
- 117. Nakahira K, Choi AM (2015) Carbon monoxide in the treatment of sepsis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 309:L1387. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00311.2015
- 118. Geisler S, Mayersbach P, Becker K, Schennach H, Fuchs D, Gostner J (2015) Serum tryptophan, kynurenine, phenylalanine, tyrosine and neopterin concentrations in 100 healthy blood donors. Pteridines 26:31–36
- 119. Widner B, Werner ER, Schennach H, Wachter H, Fuchs D (1997) Simultaneous measurement of serum tryptophan and kynurenine by HPLC. Clin Chem 43:2424–2426
- 120. Hara T, Yamakura F, Takikawa O, Hiramatsu R, Kawabe T, Isobe K, Nagase F (2008) Diazotization of kynurenine by acidified nitrite secreted from indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenaseexpressing myeloid dendritic cells. J Immunol Methods 332:162–169
- 121. Knox WE, Piras MM, Tokuyama K (1966) Induction of tryptophan pyrrolase in rat liver by physiological amounts of hydrocortisone and secreted glucocorticoids. Enzymol Biol Clin (Basel) 7:1–10
- 122. Gleeson M (2013) Bishop NC (2013) URI in athletes: are mucosal immunity and cytokine responses key risk factors? Exerc Sport Sci Rev 41:148–153
- 123. Nandi M, Kelly P, Vallance P, Leiper J (2008) Over-expression of GTP-cyclohydrolase 1 feedback regulatory protein attenuates LPS and cytokine-stimulated nitric oxide production. Vasc Med 13:29–36
- 124. Saanijoki T, Nummenmaa L, Eskelinen JJ et al (2015) Affective responses to repeated sessions of high-intensity interval training. Med Sci Sports Exerc 47:2604–2611
- 125. Werner ER, Werner-Felmayer G, Fuchs D, Hausen A, Reibnegger G, Wachter H (1989) Parallel induction of tetrahydrobiopterin biosynthesis and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity in human cells and cell lines by interferon-gamma. Biochem J 262:861–866

Role of the Kynurenine Metabolism Pathway in Inflammation-Induced Depression: Preclinical Approaches

Robert Dantzer

Abstract Physically ill patients with chronic inflammation often present with symptoms of depression. Our understanding of the pathophysiology of inflammation-associated depression has benefited from preclinical studies on the mechanisms of sickness and clinical studies on the symptoms of sickness and depression that develop in patients treated with immunotherapy. Sickness behavior develops when the immune system is activated by pathogen- or damage-associated molecular patterns. It is a normal biological response to infection and cell injury. It helps the organism to mobilize its immune and metabolic defenses to fight the danger. Depression emerges on the background of sickness when the inflammatory response is too intense and long lasting or the resolution process is deficient. The transition from sickness to depression is mediated by activation of the kynurenine metabolism pathway that leads to the formation of neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites including quinolinic acid, an agonist of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. The neuroimmune processes and molecular factors that have been identified in the studies of inflammation-associated depression represent potential new targets for the development of innovative therapies for the treatment of major depressive disorders.

Keywords Behavior • Brain • Cytokines • Depression • Indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase • Inflammation • Kynurenine • Microglia • NMDA receptor • Quinolinic acid • Sickness

R. Dantzer (🖂)

Department of Symptom Research, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, 1515 Holcombe Boulevard, Houston, TX 77030, USA e-mail: rdantzer@mdanderson.org

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 117–138 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_6 Published Online: 20 May 2016

Contents

1	History of a Discovery: From Inflammation-Induced Sickness to Depression	118
2	From Tryptophan Starvation to Neurotoxic Kynurenine Metabolites	121
3	Inflammation-Induced Depression and Glutamate Neurotransmission	124
4	Transport Mechanisms Regulating the Communication Between Peripheral and Central	
	Kynurenine Pathways	126
5	IDO Activation and Behavioral Alterations in Other Animal Models of Inflammation	127
6	Targeting Inflammation-Induced Depression: Translational Aspects	129
7	Conclusion	132
Ref	References	

1 History of a Discovery: From Inflammation-Induced Sickness to Depression

I read with intense excitement the original research article by Munn and colleagues on the prevention of allogeneic fetal rejection by tryptophan catabolism when it came out in *Science* in 1998 [1]. This landmark paper provided a very simple explanation for what had puzzled reproductive immunologists for a long time: how the foreign mammalian conceptus can avoid immune attack and defend itself against rejection by the mother's immune system. Munn and colleagues showed convincingly that maternal T-cell tolerance to the fetal allografts can develop because the maternal immune response to the allogeneic conceptus activates the tryptophan-metabolizing enzyme indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO1) in the trophoblast at the level of the maternal–fetal interface. IDO1 metabolizes tryptophan, an amino acid nutrient essential for T-cell proliferation and cytotoxicity, into kynurenine. The resulting depletion of tryptophan leads to T-cell anergy.

I had no special interest in reproductive immunology; my excitement came from the realization that a process similar to the one described by Munn and colleagues could occur in the brains of inflamed organisms and be responsible for some of the effects of cytokines on the brain. We had already demonstrated that systemic inflammation induces the production of proinflammatory cytokines in the brain and that these proinflammatory cytokines cause sickness behavior [2]. If proinflammatory cytokines could activate IDO at the maternal–fetal interface, they could certainly do it in the brain. The result would be a decrease in the bioavailability of tryptophan for the synthesis of serotonin, which could account for why inflammation is associated not only with sickness behavior but also with major depressive disorders.

It took us some time and effort to test this hypothesis. Thanks to a collaboration with Maes, who was then at the University of Maastricht in the Netherlands, we already had evidence that circulating levels of tryptophan were decreased in cancer patients treated with interleukin (IL)-2 or interferon (IFN)- α [3]. What was striking in these findings was that the severity of symptoms of depression was positively correlated with the magnitude of the decrease in tryptophan concentrations during

the treatment. However, in order to test the hypothesis that activation of IDO is responsible for the development of inflammation-induced depression, we first had to show in mice that systemic activation of the immune system activates IDO in the brain and then that the time course of this response is compatible with the time course of the development of symptoms of depression.

There were several hurdles to jump over before this demonstration could be achieved. First, most of our work on the brain effects of cytokines had been done in rats. However, IDO activation in microglia and astrocytes in response to systemic or central inflammation was already known to be minimal in the rat [4], probably because this species responds to systemic inflammation by a strong induction of nitric oxide synthase, with the resulting nitric oxide opposing IDO activation [5]. We therefore had to switch to a mouse model [4]. Second, we had to take into account the fact that the bioassays for assessing depression in rodents were based on behavioral responses that are very sensitive to sickness. The reduction in sucrose preference that is commonly used to assess anhedonia was going to be biased by the decreased appetite present in sick animals. In the same manner, the increased duration of immobility in the forced-swim and tail-suspension tests, which are used to assess helplessness, was going to be difficult to separate from the decreased motor performance associated with sickness. In other words, there was no way for us to convince reviewers that we could measure depression-like behavior independently of sickness behavior in inflamed mice.

One possibility to circumvent this issue was to wait until sickness dissipated before measuring depression-like behavior. This turned out to be the right strategy, as our time-course studies of IDO activation in the brain revealed that IDO enzymatic activity requires 24 h to develop in the brains of mice injected with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or superantigen at the periphery [6] (Fig. 1). By that time, sickness behavior measured by reduced food intake, decreased social exploration, and reduced locomotor activity would have fully dissipated and could therefore no longer account for the increased duration of immobility in the forced-swim test and the reduced sucrose preference presented by LPS-treated mice [7]. This dissociation between sickness behavior and depression in response to LPS fitted very well with the already-demonstrated temporal dissociation between the neurovegetative



Fig. 1 Experimental design for studying inflammation-induced depression in mice. Mice are injected with a sub-septic dose of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) at time 0, preceded or not by the treatment of interest (e.g., an anti-inflammatory compound). Their sickness behavior develops within a few hours and wanes off by 12–16 h post-LPS. Behavioral tests of depression are carried out 24 h after LPS administration, and tissues are collected immediately afterward to measure biomarkers of inflammation and kynurenine metabolism



Fig. 2 Time course of the development of symptoms of depression in response to interferon (IFN)- α in patients with cancer. Time is represented in weeks (W). Note that neurovegetative symptoms (including reduced appetite, sleep disorders, and fatigue) emerge first in response to repeated injections of IFN- α , whereas mood and cognitive symptoms emerge later. IFN- α -induced symptoms of depression differ in their response to antidepressant treatment. Neurovegetative symptoms appear in all patients, whereas mood and cognitive symptoms appear only in one third to one half of patients who have vulnerability factors, represented, for instance, by single nucleotide polymorphisms of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory genes (adapted from [9])

symptoms and the cognitive/affective symptoms of depression seen in patients treated with IFN- α [8] (Fig. 2).

The only methodological problem left was the relatively short duration of LPS-induced depression, which did not last for more than a few hours. We therefore needed to set up a model of chronic inflammation-induced depression. Because the main driver of IDO activation is IFN- γ , we selected an IFN- γ -inducer pathogen represented by Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG), an attenuated form of *Mycobac*-*terium bovis*, to activate IDO chronically. We confirmed that mice inoculated with BCG had chronically elevated IDO activity in the lung and brain [10]. We were also able to demonstrate that the initial episode of sickness that developed a few days after BCG inoculation was followed by long-lasting decrease in sucrose preference and increase in immobility in the forced-swim and tail-suspension tests [11].

On the basis of these results, we were able to move to the next step in this research and demonstrate that IDO activation is crucial for the transition from sickness behavior to depression-like behavior in both LPS-treated and BCG-treated mice [12–14]. This allowed us to investigate the mechanism responsible for inducing depression downstream of IDO. This chapter will show how the immune-mediated tryptophan depletion hypothesis of inflammation-induced depression has been ultimately replaced by the kynurenine metabolism hypothesis, and will discuss how this mechanism can be targeted for treating inflammation-induced depression.

2 From Tryptophan Starvation to Neurotoxic Kynurenine Metabolites

Most of the tryptophan we ingest is metabolized along the kynurenine pathway, and only a tiny amount, about 1%, is converted into serotonin (Fig. 3). The conversion of tryptophan into N-formyl kynurenine is catalyzed by the liver enzyme tryptophan 2,3 dioxygenase (TDO), also known as tryptophan pyrrolase. IDO is the product of the *ido1* gene and is sometimes labeled as IDO1. Another IDO-like enzyme was recently discovered. It is the product of a different gene, known as *ido2*, that is situated on the same chromosome as *ido1* and that probably emerged through gene duplication. This enzyme was accordingly labeled as IDO2. It also has the ability to metabolize tryptophan, although its enzymatic activity is much lower than that of IDO1. Its physiological and pathophysiological roles are still unclear [15]. In this chapter we will refer only to IDO1, which we will continue to label as "IDO."

IDO was first purified from the rabbit intestine and found to have a broader substrate specificity than did TDO [16]. Yoshida and Hayaishi from the Department of Medical Chemistry at the Faculty of Medicine in Kyoto were the first researchers to show that LPS injected intraperitoneally induces IDO in the lungs, peaking 24 h after injection [17]. The same effect was obtained after viral infection [18]. IFN- γ mimics the effect of LPS and viral infection on induction of IDO, and cloning of the *ido1* gene confirmed the ability of IFN- γ to upregulate IDO [19]. IFN- γ and other cytokines increase the transcriptional activation of *ido1*. More specifically, IFN- γ -induced signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 α (Stat1) activates



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of the tryptophan, kynurenine, and serotonin metabolism pathways. The enzymes for which the activity is modulated by inflammation are labeled in *red*. Pathways represented by *two arrows* involve several metabolites and enzymatic reactions

Fig. 4 The various hypotheses proposed to account for the effect of activation of indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase and the kynurenine pathway on immune functions

I. Tryptophan starvation hypothesis

- Decreased bioavailability of tryptophan as a consequence of the increased metabolism of tryptophan into kynurenine
- I. Kynurenine metabolism pathway
 - Increased intracellular transport of tryptophan compensating for decreased extracellular tryptophan
 - Interaction of kynurenine with ARH
 - Formation of cytotoxic kynurenine metabolites (3-hydroxy kynurenine, quinolinic acid)

ido1 gene expression by binding to γ -activated sequences in the *ido1* regulatory region. In addition, IFN- γ induces IFN regulatory factor-1, which binds to IFN- γ -stimulated response elements (ISRE) in the *ido1* regulatory region. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α synergistically increases the transcriptional activity of *ido1* in response to IFN- γ by increasing Stat1 and ISRE [20].

Activation of IDO leads to enhanced metabolism of tryptophan into kynurenine, which decreases the bioavailability of tryptophan for its metabolic functions. IDO-induced tryptophan starvation has long been believed to be responsible for the metabolic control of immune responses [21] (Fig. 4). Tryptophan starvation that develops in the inflammatory microenvironment triggers amino-acid-sensing pathways and in particular the serine/threonine protein kinase general control nonderepressible 2. This leads to enhanced generation of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and inhibition of T effector cells. Tryptophan starvation also inhibits mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) activity, leading to the same results.

The importance of tryptophan starvation in the biological consequences of IDO activation has recently been questioned. Tryptophan remains available in the extracellular milieu and in the blood in relatively high concentrations during IDO activation, and most cells are able to incorporate tryptophan with high efficiency even in conditions of low tryptophan availability. The attention has therefore shifted to the possible activity of kynurenine generated from tryptophan by IDO and the kynurenine metabolites generated by further enzymatic reactions (Fig. 3).

In contrast to what was initially believed, kynurenine is not biologically inactive. It acts as a high-affinity ligand of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR). AHR is present in many different cells and plays an important protective role at the level of mucosal and barrier tissues [22]. Activation of AHR by kynurenine has immunosuppressive properties on innate and adaptive immunity. Binding of kynurenine to AHR downregulates inflammatory responses mediated by LPS acting on macrophages and promotes endotoxin tolerance [23,24]. In the presence of transforming growth factor- β , kynurenine reduces the differentiation of T cells into highly inflammatory Th17 cells and promotes the generation of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells [25]. In addition to its biological activity, kynurenine is metabolized into kynurenine metabolites by additional enzymatic reactions. In particular, kynurenine is converted by kynurenine aminotransferases into kynurenic acid and by kynurenine mono-oxygenase and other enzymes into 3-hydroxy kynurenine, 3-hydroxy anthranilic acid, and quinolinic acid (Fig. 3). These last kynurenine metabolites have additive cytotoxic effects on T lymphocytes [26].

Two independent lines of research have dominated the studies on tryptophan and tryptophan metabolism in the central nervous system. The first line of research finds its origin in the early 1970s and focuses on the role of tryptophan in the synthesis of serotonin [27]. The second line of research focuses on the physiology and pathophysiology of kynurenine and its metabolites in the brain [28]. Concerning the first line of research, two nutritionists from Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Fernstrom and Wurtman, reported that it was possible to modify brain concentrations of serotonin in rats by administering L-tryptophan at the periphery [29]. This modification was possible with as little as 12.5 mg/kg tryptophan, which is much less than the amount of tryptophan rats normally consume daily in dietary protein. Because of this, Fernstrom and Wurtman proposed that physiological fluctuations in plasma tryptophan concentrations influence brain serotonin levels. Given the observation that tryptophan hydroxylase is not normally saturated by the physiological concentrations of its substrate, it was theoretically possible to increase brain serotonin by administering its precursor at the periphery and ultimately to treat disease states related to reduced brain serotonin [30]. Curzon at the London Institute of Neurology proposed a link between major depressive disorders and enhanced degradation of tryptophan along the kynurenine metabolism pathway because of an increased activity of TDO in response to elevated endogenous cortisol levels [31,32].

Despite all these favorable elements, tryptophan supplementation in humans never held to its promises. Ingestion of tryptophan did not improve mood and at best induced some increase in drowsiness – but only after severe initial nausea and headache [33]. Other studies using tryptophan supplementation indicated that increased serotonin decreased quarrelsomeness and increased agreeableness in social interactions, therefore acting on mood in a very indirect manner [34]. In contrast, acute tryptophan depletion produced by ingestion of a mixture of branched-chain amino acids other than tryptophan that competed with tryptophan for transport into the brain turned out to be an easy way to decrease brain serotonin levels momentarily and lower mood. However, this effect occurred reliably only in subjects with a personal or a family history of depression [34,35].

It is not surprising that the initial hypothesis for the relationship between inflammation and depression focused on decreased serotoninergic neurotransmission. By decreasing circulating levels of tryptophan, inflammation-induced IDO activation has the potential of mimicking the effect of acute tryptophan depletion on serotonin metabolism. In addition, IFN- γ induces guanosine triphosphate

cyclohydrolase I (GTP-CH) in macrophages. GTP-CH is a key factor in the synthesis of biopteridines. Activation of GTP-CH favors the formation of neopterin over that of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4). BH4 is an important co-factor for the enzymatic activity of tryptophan hydroxylase, which metabolizes tryptophan into 5-hydroxy tryptophan, an essential step in the synthesis of serotonin. However, as mentioned in the first section of this chapter, there is no evidence for decreased brain tryptophan and serotonin levels in inflammation-associated depression. Much of the speculation on GTP-CH has switched to its role in the enzymatic activity of tyrosine hydroxylase and the formation of phenylalanine, a precursor of dopamine (see [36]).

In parallel with the fading of the tryptophan starvation hypothesis in immunology, studies on the mechanisms of inflammation-associated depression began to examine the kynurenine metabolism hypothesis, making use of what was already known about the pharmacology of kynurenines in the central nervous system. Lapin at the Bekhterev Psychoneurological Institute in Leningrad, USSR, had observed that kynurenine and its metabolites (mainly 3-hydroxy anthranilic acid, anthranilic acid, picolinic acid, and nicotinic acid) had anti-serotonin and anti-tryptamine activities [37]. When injected into the brain ventricles of mice, kynurenine, quinolinic acid, 3-hydroxy anthranilic acid, xanthurenic acid, picolinic acid, and nicotinic acid had potent pharmacological activities manifested by increased motor activity and convulsions [38]. Kynurenic acid was found to be able to antagonize the convulsant effect of kynurenine and quinolinic acid [39].

Research on the pharmacology and physiology of brain kynurenines has made great progress since these initial studies [28]. Kynurenic acid is a broad spectrum competitive antagonist of glutamate receptors and an inhibitor of the α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Quinolinic acid acts as an agonist of *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, mainly in the forebrain. Other metabolites of kynurenine, including 3-hydroxy kynurenine, 3-hydroxy anthranilic acid, and anthranilic acid, have no direct effect on neuronal activity but participate in complex pro-oxidative and anti-oxidative processes. However, most of the studies on the physiology and pharmacology of kynurenine metabolites completely ignored the role of immunemediated IDO activation and focused primarily on the neuronal effects of these metabolites.

3 Inflammation-Induced Depression and Glutamate Neurotransmission

The possibility of a cellular compartmentalization of kynurenine metabolism emerged when in vitro studies on primary cultures of astrocytes and microglia stimulated by IFN- γ showed that kynurenic acid is produced mainly by astrocytes whereas quinolinic acid is only produced by microglia [40]. Since kynurenic acid acts as an antagonist whereas quinolinic acid acts as an agonist of NMDA receptors,

Müller, Myint, and Schwarz from the Department of Psychiatry at the University of Munich proposed that inflammation driven by Th1 cytokines such as IFN- γ shifts the equilibrium between these two opposite poles toward neurotoxicity by promoting microglial activation and downregulating astrocyte activity. Major depressive disorders would be the result of this shift. Conversely, Th2 cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-10 oppose the production and release of Th1 cytokines and therefore downregulate IDO. In association with astrocyte activation, this would result in an overproduction of kynurenic acid that would be responsible for schizophrenia [41].

A possible role for IDO activation in the pathophysiology of major depressive disorders was first hypothesized on the basis of the correlation between the fall in plasma levels of tryptophan and the intensity of depressive symptoms in cancer patients treated with IFN- α and/or IL-2 [3]. Preclinical studies carried out in mice injected with LPS or inoculated with BCG confirmed that pharmacological or genetic blockade of IDO activation abrogated the development of depression-like behavior without interfering with signs of sickness behavior [13,14]. These findings were interpreted to suggest that IDO activation functions as a molecular switch favoring the emergence of depression on a background of sickness [42]. However, further investigation into the metabolism of tryptophan in inflammation-induced depression could not reveal any evidence of tryptophan starvation in response to inflammation. Tryptophan levels in the brain remained constant or even increased in response to inflammation, despite the reduction in circulating tryptophan levels. Furthermore, detailed analysis of kynurenine metabolites based on tandem mass spectroscopy of the brains of LPS-treated mice revealed an activation of the kynurenine mono-oxygenase branch of kynurenine metabolism leading to 3-hydroxy kynurenic acid and quinolinic acid, without any change in the kynurenine aminotransferase branch leading to kynurenic acid [43]. These results essentially confirmed the hypothesis formulated by Müller and colleagues.

Because quinolinic acid acts as an agonist of the NMDA receptor, the next step was to test whether blockage of NMDA receptors abrogates inflammation-induced depression. Ketamine was selected for this purpose. However, ketamine has antiinflammatory properties. It was therefore important to administer this compound at a time at which the inflammatory cascade triggered by inflammation had already developed and IDO was fully activated. This was done by administering ketamine immediately before the behavioral tests of depression-like behavior in mice treated 24 h earlier with LPS. As expected, this treatment abrogated the development of depression-like behavior in LPS-treated mice [43]. The confirmation that this effect was due to blockage of NMDA receptors rather than to another uncontrolled effect of ketamine was verified by injecting mice treated with LPS and ketamine with the α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid (AMPA) receptor antagonist 2,3-dihydroxy-6-nitro-7-sulfamoyl-benzo(f)quinoxaline-2,3-dione in order to block enhanced AMPA receptor glutamatergic neurotransmission due to NMDA receptor blockade. As expected, this treatment restored the LPS-induced depressive-like behavior that had been blocked by ketamine. Whether quinolinic acid alone is sufficient to induce depression-like behavior or whether it needs to synergize with increased extracellular glutamate is discussed in the section on transport mechanisms below (see also [44]).

4 Transport Mechanisms Regulating the Communication Between Peripheral and Central Kynurenine Pathways

Transport mechanisms regulate the communication between peripheral and central kynurenine pathways under normal and inflammatory conditions [28]. Experiments carried out in pentobarbital-anesthetized rats using the in situ brain perfusion technique showed that kynurenine and 3-hydroxy kynurenine are transported into the brain along a concentration gradient by the large amino acid transporter LAT1, which also transports tryptophan and other branched-chain amino acids into the brain [45]. Among the other metabolites, only anthranilic acid enters the brain in sizeable quantities, but by passive diffusion. Although kynurenine can be formed in the brain by IDO present in microglial cells and brain macrophages, most of the brain kynurenine -78% in gerbils – originates from the periphery [46]. In response to systemic immune activation caused by intraperitoneal injection of LPS, this percentage goes up to 100% despite the fact that IDO activity increases in the brain as well as in the periphery [6]. In this condition, brain quinolinic acid is formed mainly from blood kynurenine (52%) and blood quinolinic acid (40%), meaning that the permeability of the blood-brain barrier to kynurenine must increase [46]. When the inflammation is central rather than peripheral in origin, the brain production of kynurenine and quinolinic acid takes over and is responsible for more than 98% of the total brain levels of kynurenine and quinolinic acid [46].

LAT1 is a heterodimeric membrane transport protein that is composed of a heavy subunit protein 4F2hc/CD98 coded by the *SLC3A2* gene and a CD98 light subunit protein encoded by the *SLC7A5* gene. This sodium-independent transporter is abundant at the level of the blood–brain barrier, where it controls the influx of large neutral amino acids in the brain. It is also found in astrocytes, in which it probably controls the influx of kynurenine that is further metabolized into kynurenic acid [47]. Because LAT1 transports large neutral amino acids, such as leucine, phenylalanine, and tryptophan, it is theoretically possible to compete with the entry of kynurenine into the brain by increasing the concentrations of these competing amino acids at the periphery. Proof of principle for this possibility was recently obtained in vitro using cortical slices of rat brain incubated with kynurenine and competing amino acids for LAT1. Leucine and other branched-chain amino acids inhibited the uptake of kynurenine by brain slices [48].

Another transporter of importance for the relationship between inflammation and depression is system x_c^- . This system functions as an antiporter in the sense that it exchanges extracellular L-cystine for intracellular L-glutamate [49]. Like LAT1, x_c^- is a heterodimeric amino acid transporter composed of a heavy chain 4F2HC and a light chain xCT or SLC7A11. The intracellular transport of cysteine is an essential step for the synthesis of glutathione, making system x_c^- an important player in intracellular redox processes. System x_c^- is upregulated in activated microglia, probably because of the necessity of these cells to protect themselves from the oxidative stress they are submitted to while producing inflammatory mediators. This is associated with an increased release of glutamate formed from glutamine via an enzymatic reaction catalyzed by glutaminase. LPS co-injected with cystine into the spinal cord gray matter induces glutamate-dependent neurotoxic inflammation [50]. Another mechanism by which inflammation can increase extracellular glutamate is by impairing astrocytic glutamate uptake [51]. In either case, excessive extracellular glutamate induces excitotoxicity by activating AMPA receptors. This effect could synergize with the NMDA-dependent effect of quinolinic acid to promote the development of depression.

5 IDO Activation and Behavioral Alterations in Other Animal Models of Inflammation

There is accumulating evidence of a role for IDO activation in the behavioral alterations that develop in animal models of exposure to various immune and non-immune insults.

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection is accompanied by a high rate of comorbid clinical depression. Intracerebroventricular administration of the HIV transactivator of transcription (Tat) protein induced depression-like behavior in mice, measured by increased immobility in the forced-swim test and decreased sucrose preference [52]. These behavioral alterations were associated with increased expression of IDO in the brain. Experiments with murine organotypic hippocampal slices confirmed that HIV Tat increased expression of IDO and showed that this effect was mediated by the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase [53]. Viral infection can be mimicked by injection of polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly I:C). Poly I:C is structurally similar to double-stranded RNA and differs from LPS by activating Toll-like receptor (TLR)3 instead of TLR4. Systemic administration of poly I:C to rats induced behavioral signs of anxiety and depression associated with increased expression of IDO in the frontal cortex and hippocampus up to 48 h after treatment [54]. Pneumococcal meningitis was associated with long-term changes in motor activity and cognitive deficits in recovered mice [55]. Motor activity was no longer altered in IDO knockout mice, but cognitive deficits were still present.

Autoimmune disorders are also frequently associated with clinical depression, but the role of IDO in this association has not been studied in a systematic manner. In a murine model of lupus, the development of depression-like behavior was associated with increased levels of kynurenine pathway metabolites, but the causality was not tested [56]. Similar effects were observed in response to CD40 ligand–CD40 immune activation, a murine model of autoimmune disorders.

Despite evidence for increased plasma and brain levels of kynurenine and its metabolites, chronic administration of a selective IDO inhibitor had no effect on sickness behavior or decreased saccharin drinking, in contrast to what was observed after blockade of TNF- α action [57].

The observation that systemic infection in the elderly is often associated with an increased frequency of behavioral and cognitive complications is in agreement with the hypothesis of a chronic low-grade inflammation in aged subjects, the so-called inflammaging condition [58]. Aged mice responded to LPS by an enhanced induction of peripheral and brain IDO and an increased duration of depression-like behavior [59]. The increase in brain IDO expression was present in microglia isolated from aged mice [60]. Similar findings were observed in mice inoculated with BCG [61].

Because of the frequent co-occurrence of chronic pain and depression, the possibility that these two conditions share a common biological mechanism represented by inflammation-induced IDO activation was investigated in a rat model of inflammatory arthritis induced by intra-articular injection of complete Freund adjuvant [62]. This treatment increased IDO enzymatic activity in the hippocampus via an IL-6-dependent mechanism. Administration of the IDO inhibitor 1-methyl-tryptophan at the periphery or in the hippocampus abrogated both mechanical allodynia and increased immobility time in the forced-swim test in arthritic rats. In the same manner, IDO1 knockout mice did not develop hyperalgesia and increased immobility in the forced-swim test in response to intra-articular injection of complete Freund adjuvant, in contrast to wild type mice. These results were interpreted to indicate that brain IDO activity regulates both chronic pain and depression. However, the generality of this interpretation is questionable, as we could not demonstrate any role for IDO activation in chronic pain in a mouse model of peripheral neuropathy induced by spared nerve injury, despite a clear role for IDO in the depression-like behavior displayed by mice in response to spared nerve injury. In this last experiment, IDO activation was only observed at the periphery, not in the brain, and the depression-like behavior was caused by the increased formation of quinolinic acid as a result of the activation of the kynurenine mono-oxygenase branch of kynurenine metabolism in the hippocampus contralateral to the site of nerve injury [63].

Exposure to various stressors can activate the kynurenine metabolism pathway. However, whether this is due to immune-dependent IDO activation or to corticosterone-induced TDO activation is not always clear. Mice exposed to a model of unpredictable chronic mild stress to induce depressive-like behavior showed increased kynurenine metabolism both at the periphery and in the brain [64]. Maternal separation, which induces long-lasting behavioral alterations in mice, had the same effect [65]. Inescapable exposure of mice to a rat predator had also long-lasting effects on behavior and kynurenine metabolism in the brain [66]. The role of TDO was assessed in the development of increased immobility in the forced-swim test in rats submitted to chronic restraint for 2 h per day. Inhibition of TDO by allopurinol abrogated the chronic stress-related increase in immobility and the accompanying increase in circulating kynurenine levels [67].

Various forms of brain injury can activate IDO. Cerebral ischemia–reperfusion in mice enhanced IDO activity as measured by increases in the plasma ratio of kynurenine to tryptophan and IDO expression in cerebral arterioles [68]. However, blockade of IDO activation by 1-methyl-tryptophan or genetic deletion of *ido1* did not affect overall outcomes as measured by neurological function and total brain infarct volume and swelling. Whether IDO activation plays a role in the etiology of post-stroke depression has not yet been tested [69]. In a rat model of chronic temporal lobe epilepsy induced by a combination of lithium chloride and pilocarpine, blockade of IDO activation by the anti-inflammatory tetracycline derivative minocycline or the IDO antagonist 1-methyl-tryptophan abrogated epilepsyassociated depression-like behavior measured by decreased sucrose preference and increased immobility in the forced-swim test [70]. However, blockade of IDO activation had no effect on spontaneous seizures.

6 Targeting Inflammation-Induced Depression: Translational Aspects

The demonstration of a causal relationship between inflammation-induced activation of IDO and the kynurenine metabolism pathway, on one hand, and depression, on the other hand, opens a number of opportunities for treatment of inflammationinduced depression. Figure 5 represents the different steps of the process leading from inflammation to depression. Administration of anti-inflammatory drugs represents an obvious option. However, all of the attempts to treat depression by targeting inflammation have been made by administering the anti-inflammatory compound preventively. Several instances of this type of study have been mentioned in the previous sections of this chapter. In general, minocycline and cytokine antagonists are effective to block inflammation-induced depression when administered before immune stimulation. The same effect is obtained with a wide variety of anti-inflammatory or anti-oxidant natural compounds, such as curcumin, apigenin, honokiol, xiaobuxin-tang flavonoid extract, perillaldehyde, ginseng saponins, and alpha-tocopherol [71–77]. However, it is not known whether the anti-inflammatory treatment can block behavioral signs of depression once they have developed.

Classical antidepressants have been shown to have anti-inflammatory properties that vary depending on the drug, the treatment schedule, and the type of assay [78]. An optimum strategy to treat inflammation-associated depression would then be to select the antidepressant that combines anti-inflammatory and antidepressant properties. However, it is difficult to classify antidepressants on the basis of their anti-inflammatory properties because the data that are available in the literature are often contradictory. In addition, there has been no attempt to relate at the preclinical level their anti-inflammatory activity with their ability to decrease depression-like behavior. Most studies have been carried out with the specific serotonin reuptake inhibitor fluoxetine. Fluoxetine was able to abrogate depression-like behavior



Fig. 5 Pathophysiology of inflammation-induced depression. Activation of innate immunity by binding of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (e.g., lipopolysaccharide) to Toll-like receptors and inflammasome elements induce the production and release of proinflammatory cytokines at the periphery, which in turn recruit immune-to-brain communication pathways and activate microglia. Activated microglia produce and release proinflammatory cytokines that organize the sickness response to pathogen-associated molecular patterns (not represented in the figure). Activation of indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase at the periphery increases kynurenine that is transported into the brain by LAT1 and metabolized into neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites (e.g., quinolinic acid) at the level of activated microglia via a series of enzymatic reactions initiated by mitochondrial kynurenine mono-oxygenase. Quinolinic acid alone or in combination with extracellular glutamate released by activated microglia activates *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptors

induced by the parasite Trypanozoma cruzi in mice [79]. Although the parasitic disease was associated with IDO activation, there was no indication that fluoxetine acted by blocking IDO activation. Fluoxetine was also able to abrogate depressionlike behavior induced by systemic TNF- α in mice, but once more there was no indication that this was due to the anti-inflammatory effect, if any, of fluoxetine [80]. The only study in which this aspect was considered yielded negative results: chronic administration of fluoxetine blocked the increased immobility displayed by tumor-bearing mice in the forced-swim test, but this effect was not associated with any alteration in expression of hippocampal proinflammatory cytokines and kynurenine mono-oxygenase [81]. In contrast, ibuprofen attenuated both depression-like behavior and hippocampal proinflammatory cytokine expression [82]. It is important to note that all forms of inflammation-induced depression are not sensitive to fluoxetine treatment. BCG-induced depression-like behavior was actually resistant to acute administration of fluoxetine and escitalopram but sensitive to acute administration of the tricyclic antidepressant imipramine, the dual serotonin/norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor duloxetine, and the dual dopamine/ norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor nomifensine [83].

IDO activation is the molecular switch that favors the transition from sickness to depression; thus, it should be possible to treat inflammation-induced depression by blocking IDO. Although this works well in experimental studies of inflammation-induced depression, there are several obstacles to this strategy, represented by the lack of approved IDO antagonists, the possible side effects of IDO antagonists on the immune system and in particular the increased risk of autoimmune disorders, and the lack of data on the ability of IDO antagonism to reverse signs of depression when used for cure rather than for prevention.

Because most of the kynurenine that is found in the brain during systemic inflammation comes from the periphery, it should be possible to target the transport mechanisms that control kynurenine influx into the brain to prevent the formation of neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites. The administration of branched-chain amino acids competing with kynurenine for transport via LAT1 represents a theoretically viable solution, providing this does not at the same time limit the brain influx of tryptophan. L-leucine is a good candidate for this strategy because it simultaneously upregulates LAT1, decreases the production of proinflammatory cytokines, and activates mTOR in the brain, which could favor synaptic plasticity [84–86]. We have obtained encouraging preliminary results in LPS-treated mice administered L-leucine. Systemic administration of this amino acid before and 6 h after LPS abrogated depression-like behavior measured 24 after LPS. This effect was associated with a decrease in brain kynurenine levels but no change in brain tryptophan levels [87].

Other ways of interfering with the formation of neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites include blocking kynurenine mono-oxygenase or favoring the kynurenic acid branch of kynurenine metabolism. Inhibition of kynurenine mono-oxygenase blocked the depression-like behavior developed by mice submitted to spared nerve injury [63]. In the same manner, both kynurenine mono-oxygenase-deficient mice and IDO-deficient mice were protected from inflammation-induced deficits in novel-object recognition [88]. Kynurenine mono-oxygenase inhibition not only inhibits the formation of 3-hydroxy kynurenine and quinolinic acid, but also increases the brain concentrations of the neuroprotective metabolite kynurenic acid. This strategy has therefore been proposed to ameliorate the neurodegeneration that develops in a mouse model of Huntington disease [89]. However, the specificity of the drug used to block kynurenine mono-oxygenase has been questioned [90].

Convergence of neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites and excess extracellular glutamate on glutamatergic neurotransmission makes NMDA receptor a potential target for treatment of inflammation-associated depression. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, preventive or curative administration of the noncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist ketamine abrogated LPS-induced inflammation [43]. Ketamine has some anti-inflammatory properties [91,92], but they did not account for the antidepressant effect observed in LPS-treated mice [43]. The clinical use of ketamine is limited by its psychotomimetic properties. The current development of NMDA receptor antagonists lacking these negative side effects will certainly

provide new antidepressant compounds, the ability of which to treat inflammationassociated depression will still have to be determined.

7 Conclusion

Diagnostic criteria for major depressive disorder and depressive episodes carefully eliminate depressed mood associated with medical illness. However, depressed patients are rarely free of other medical complications. Psychiatrists commonly encounter in their clinical practice patients with major depressive disorders who have chronic coexistent medical conditions, including chronic inflammation disorders. Studies of the relationship between inflammation and depression have shed some light on the reasons for this comorbidity. Depression does not emerge out of nothingness. In the same way that anxiety disorders derive from alterations in the fear motivational system involved in the processing of real and potential threats and the organization of subjective, behavioral, and physiological responses to these threats, depressive disorders emerge from alterations in the sickness motivational system that is responsible for reorganizing priorities in an organism at the juncture of life and death because of an ongoing infectious process. It has been possible to understand how sickness transitions into depression because the preclinical investigations at the origin of this research have carefully built on what has been learned in the clinic, in inflamed patients who develop clinical symptoms of depression. Psychobiologists have walked hand in hand with clinical psychologists and psychiatrists to design animal models of inflammation-induced depression and elaborate testable hypotheses on its pathophysiology. This research has resulted in the appearance of a number of new players on the stage of biological psychiatry, from inflammatory molecules to transport mechanisms regulating the communication between peripheral and central kynurenine metabolites.

It is possible that this adventure into inflammation-associated depression will mainstream research in biological psychiatry on a final common pathway for both immune and non-immune factors in depression, represented, for instance, by alterations in NMDA receptor activation. Even if this is the case, the inflammation detour will not have been vain since it will have allowed researchers to demonstrate unequivocally that depression is not just a disease of the neuron. It is now clear that depression is a disease of the communication between endothelial cells, glia, and neurons, and this communication is profoundly dependent on systemic factors, including inflammation.

Acknowledgements The research reported in this chapter has been supported by INRA, INSERM, CNRS, and the University of Bordeaux 2 for the work anterior to 2006. It has been supported by NIH since (current grant support: R01 NS073939, R01 NS074999, R21 CA183736, R21 MH104694, R01 CA193522). Additional support comes from the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center and the National Institutes of Health MD Anderson Cancer Center Support Grant (CA016672). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not

necessarily represent the official views of the funding sources. In addition, I would like to thank Jeanie Woodruff for her assistance with text editing.

Conflict of Interest Statement The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

- Munn DH, Zhou M, Attwood JT, Bondarev I, Conway SJ, Marshall B, Brown C, Mellor AL (1998) Prevention of allogeneic fetal rejection by tryptophan catabolism. Science 281 (5380):1191–1193
- 2. Dantzer R (2001) Cytokine-induced sickness behavior: where do we stand? Brain Behav Immun 15(1):7–24. doi:10.1006/brbi.2000.0613
- Capuron L, Ravaud A, Neveu PJ, Miller AH, Maes M, Dantzer R (2002) Association between decreased serum tryptophan concentrations and depressive symptoms in cancer patients undergoing cytokine therapy. Mol Psychiatry 7(5):468–473. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4000995
- 4. Heyes MP, Saito K, Chen CY, Proescholdt MG, Nowak TS Jr, Li J, Beagles KE, Proescholdt MA, Zito MA, Kawai K, Markey SP (1997) Species heterogeneity between gerbils and rats: quinolinate production by microglia and astrocytes and accumulations in response to ischemic brain injury and systemic immune activation. J Neurochem 69(4):1519–1529
- Thomas SR, Mohr D, Stocker R (1994) Nitric oxide inhibits indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity in interferon-gamma primed mononuclear phagocytes. J Biol Chem 269(20):14457– 14464
- 6. Lestage J, Verrier D, Palin K, Dantzer R (2002) The enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase is induced in the mouse brain in response to peripheral administration of lipopolysaccharide and superantigen. Brain Behav Immun 16(5):596–601
- Frenois F, Moreau M, O'Connor J, Lawson M, Micon C, Lestage J, Kelley KW, Dantzer R, Castanon N (2007) Lipopolysaccharide induces delayed FosB/DeltaFosB immunostaining within the mouse extended amygdala, hippocampus and hypothalamus, that parallel the expression of depressive-like behavior. Psychoneuroendocrinology 32(5):516–531. doi:10. 1016/j.psyneuen.2007.03.005
- Capuron L, Gumnick JF, Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Reemsnyder A, Nemeroff CB, Miller AH (2002) Neurobehavioral effects of interferon-alpha in cancer patients: phenomenology and paroxetine responsiveness of symptom dimensions. Neuropsychopharmacology 26(5):643– 652. doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(01)00407-9
- 9. Capuron L, Miller AH (2011) Immune system to brain signaling: neuropsychopharmacological implications. Pharmacol Ther 130(2):226–238. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011.01.014
- Moreau M, Lestage J, Verrier D, Mormede C, Kelley KW, Dantzer R, Castanon N (2005) Bacille Calmette-Guerin inoculation induces chronic activation of peripheral and brain indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in mice. J Infect Dis 192(3):537–544. doi:10.1086/431603
- Moreau M, Andre C, O'Connor JC, Dumich SA, Woods JA, Kelley KW, Dantzer R, Lestage J, Castanon N (2008) Inoculation of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin to mice induces an acute episode of sickness behavior followed by chronic depressive-like behavior. Brain Behav Immun 22 (7):1087–1095. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2008.04.001
- O'Connor JC, Andre C, Wang Y, Lawson MA, Szegedi SS, Lestage J, Castanon N, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2009) Interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediate the upregulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and the induction of depressive-like behavior in mice in response to bacillus Calmette-Guerin. J Neurosci 29(13):4200–4209. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.5032-08.2009

- O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Andre C, Briley EM, Szegedi SS, Lestage J, Castanon N, Herkenham M, Dantzer R, Kelley KW (2009) Induction of IDO by bacille Calmette-Guerin is responsible for development of murine depressive-like behavior. J Immunol 182(5):3202– 3212. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802722
- 14. O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Andre C, Moreau M, Lestage J, Castanon N, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2009) Lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior is mediated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activation in mice. Mol Psychiatry 14(5):511–522. doi:10.1038/sj.mp. 4002148
- 15. Fatokun AA, Hunt NH, Ball HJ (2013) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 2 (IDO2) and the kynurenine pathway: characteristics and potential roles in health and disease. Amino Acids 45(6):1319–1329. doi:10.1007/s00726-013-1602-1
- Takikawa O (2005) Biochemical and medical aspects of the indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenaseinitiated L-tryptophan metabolism. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 338(1):12–19. doi:10. 1016/j.bbrc.2005.09.032
- Yoshida R, Hayaishi O (1978) Induction of pulmonary indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by intraperitoneal injection of bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75 (8):3998–4000
- Yoshida R, Urade Y, Tokuda M, Hayaishi O (1979) Induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in mouse lung during virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 76(8):4084–4086
- Taylor MW, Feng GS (1991) Relationship between interferon-gamma, indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase, and tryptophan catabolism. FASEB J 5(11):2516–2522
- Robinson CM, Hale PT, Carlin JM (2006) NF-kappa B activation contributes to indoleamine dioxygenase transcriptional synergy induced by IFN-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Cytokine 35(1–2):53–61. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2006.07.007
- Munn DH, Mellor AL (2013) Indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase and metabolic control of immune responses. Trends Immunol 34(3):137–143. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012.10.001
- Cella M, Colonna M (2015) Aryl hydrocarbon receptor: linking environment to immunity. Semin Immunol. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2015.10.002
- 23. Bessede A, Gargaro M, Pallotta MT, Matino D, Servillo G, Brunacci C, Bicciato S, Mazza EM, Macchiarulo A, Vacca C, Iannitti R, Tissi L, Volpi C, Belladonna ML, Orabona C, Bianchi R, Lanz TV, Platten M, Della Fazia MA, Piobbico D, Zelante T, Funakoshi H, Nakamura T, Gilot D, Denison MS, Guillemin GJ, DuHadaway JB, Prendergast GC, Metz R, Geffard M, Boon L, Pirro M, Iorio A, Veyret B, Romani L, Grohmann U, Fallarino F, Puccetti P (2014) Aryl hydrocarbon receptor control of a disease tolerance defence pathway. Nature 511(7508):184–190. doi:10.1038/nature13323
- 24. Kimura A, Naka T, Nakahama T, Chinen I, Masuda K, Nohara K, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Kishimoto T (2009) Aryl hydrocarbon receptor in combination with Stat1 regulates LPSinduced inflammatory responses. J Exp Med 206(9):2027–2035. doi:10.1084/jem.20090560
- Mezrich JD, Fechner JH, Zhang X, Johnson BP, Burlingham WJ, Bradfield CA (2010) An interaction between kynurenine and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor can generate regulatory T cells. J Immunol 185(6):3190–3198. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903670
- 26. Terness P, Bauer TM, Rose L, Dufter C, Watzlik A, Simon H, Opelz G (2002) Inhibition of allogeneic T cell proliferation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing dendritic cells: mediation of suppression by tryptophan metabolites. J Exp Med 196(4):447–457
- Lehnert H, Wurtman RJ (1993) Amino acid control of neurotransmitter synthesis and release: physiological and clinical implications. Psychother Psychosom 60(1):18–32
- Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ (2012) Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 13(7):465–477. doi:10.1038/nrn3257
- 29. Fernstrom JD, Wurtman RJ (1971) Brain serotonin content: physiological dependence on plasma tryptophan levels. Science 173(3992):149–152
- Fernstrom JD (1981) Dietary precursors and brain neurotransmitter formation. Annu Rev Med 32:413–425. doi:10.1146/annurev.me.32.020181.002213

- Curzon G (1969) Tryptophan pyrrolase—a biochemical factor in depressive illness? Br J Psychiatry 115(529):1367–1374
- Curzon G, Bridges PK (1970) Tryptophan metabolism in depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 33(5):698–704
- Greenwood MH, Lader MH, Kantameneni BD, Curzon G (1975) The acute effects of oral (-)tryptophan in human subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2(2):165–172
- 34. Young SN (2013) The effect of raising and lowering tryptophan levels on human mood and social behaviour. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 368(1615):20110375. doi:10.1098/rstb. 2011.0375
- 35. Ruhe HG, Mason NS, Schene AH (2007) Mood is indirectly related to serotonin, norepinephrine and dopamine levels in humans: a meta-analysis of monoamine depletion studies. Mol Psychiatry 12(4):331–359. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001949
- 36. Strasser B, Sperner-Unterweger B, Fuchs D, Gostner JM. Tryptophan and phenylalanine metabolism pathways in inflammation-induced depression. Curr Topics Behav Neurosci
- 37. Lapin IP (1972) Interaction of kynurenine and its metabolites with tryptamine, serotonin and its precursors and oxotremorine. Psychopharmacologia 26(3):237–247
- Lapin IP (1978) Stimulant and convulsive effects of kynurenines injected into brain ventricles in mice. J Neural Transm 42(1):37–43
- Lapin IP (1983) Antagonism of kynurenine-induced seizures by picolinic, kynurenic and xanthurenic acids. J Neural Transm 56(2–3):177–185
- 40. Guillemin GJ, Smythe G, Takikawa O, Brew BJ (2005) Expression of indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase and production of quinolinic acid by human microglia, astrocytes, and neurons. Glia 49(1):15–23. doi:10.1002/glia.20090
- Muller N, Myint AM, Schwarz MJ (2009) The impact of neuroimmune dysregulation on neuroprotection and neurotoxicity in psychiatric disorders—relation to drug treatment. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 11(3):319–332
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9 (1):46–56. doi:10.1038/nrn2297
- Walker AK, Budac DP, Bisulco S, Lee AW, Smith RA, Beenders B, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2013) NMDA receptor blockade by ketamine abrogates lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior in C57BL/6J mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(9):1609–1616. doi:10. 1038/npp.2013.71
- 44. Dantzer R, Walker AK (2014) Is there a role for glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity in inflammation-induced depression? J Neural Transm (Vienna) 121(8):925–932. doi:10.1007/ s00702-014-1187-1
- 45. Fukui S, Schwarcz R, Rapoport SI, Takada Y, Smith QR (1991) Blood–brain barrier transport of kynurenines: implications for brain synthesis and metabolism. J Neurochem 56(6):2007– 2017
- 46. Kita T, Morrison PF, Heyes MP, Markey SP (2002) Effects of systemic and central nervous system localized inflammation on the contributions of metabolic precursors to the L-kynurenine and quinolinic acid pools in brain. J Neurochem 82(2):258–268
- 47. Speciale C, Hares K, Schwarcz R, Brookes N (1989) High-affinity uptake of L-kynurenine by a Na+-independent transporter of neutral amino acids in astrocytes. J Neurosci 9(6):2066–2072
- 48. Sekine A, Okamoto M, Kanatani Y, Sano M, Shibata K, Fukuwatari T (2015) Amino acids inhibit kynurenic acid formation via suppression of kynurenine uptake or kynurenic acid synthesis in rat brain in vitro. SpringerPlus 4:48. doi:10.1186/s40064-015-0826-9
- 49. Bridges RJ, Natale NR, Patel SA (2012) System xc(-) cystine/glutamate antiporter: an update on molecular pharmacology and roles within the CNS. Br J Pharmacol 165(1):20–34. doi:10. 1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01480.x
- 50. Kigerl KA, Ankeny DP, Garg SK, Wei P, Guan Z, Lai W, McTigue DM, Banerjee R, Popovich PG (2012) System x(c)(-) regulates microglia and macrophage glutamate excitotoxicity in vivo. Exp Neurol 233(1):333–341. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.10.025

- Tilleux S, Hermans E (2007) Neuroinflammation and regulation of glial glutamate uptake in neurological disorders. J Neurosci Res 85(10):2059–2070. doi:10.1002/jnr.21325
- 52. Lawson MA, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2011) Intracerebroventricular administration of HIV-1 Tat induces brain cytokine and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase expression: a possible mechanism for AIDS comorbid depression. Brain Behav Immun 25(8):1569–1575. doi:10.1016/j. bbi.2011.05.006
- 53. Fu X, Lawson MA, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2011) HIV-1 Tat activates indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase in murine organotypic hippocampal slice cultures in a p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent manner. J Neuroinflammation 8:88. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-88
- 54. Gibney SM, McGuinness B, Prendergast C, Harkin A, Connor TJ (2013) Poly I:C-induced activation of the immune response is accompanied by depression and anxiety-like behaviours, kynurenine pathway activation and reduced BDNF expression. Brain Behav Immun 28:170– 181. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.11.010
- 55. Too LK, McQuillan JA, Ball HJ, Kanai M, Nakamura T, Funakoshi H, McGregor IS, Hunt NH (2014) The kynurenine pathway contributes to long-term neuropsychological changes in experimental pneumococcal meningitis. Behav Brain Res 270:179–195. doi:10.1016/j.bbr. 2014.05.018
- 56. Li Y, Eskelund AR, Zhou H, Budac DP, Sanchez C, Gulinello M (2015) Behavioral deficits are accompanied by immunological and neurochemical changes in a mouse model for neuropsychiatric lupus (NP-SLE). Int J Mol Sci 16(7):15150–15171. doi:10.3390/ijms160715150
- 57. Cathomas F, Fuertig R, Sigrist H, Newman GN, Hoop V, Bizzozzero M, Mueller A, Luippold A, Ceci A, Hengerer B, Seifritz E, Fontana A, Pryce CR (2015) CD40-TNF activation in mice induces extended sickness behavior syndrome co-incident with but not dependent on activation of the kynurenine pathway. Brain Behav Immun 50:125–140. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.06. 184
- Franceschi C, Bonafe M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, De Benedictis G (2000) Inflamm-aging: an evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci 908:244–254
- 59. Godbout JP, Moreau M, Lestage J, Chen J, Sparkman NL, O'Connor J, Castanon N, Kelley KW, Dantzer R, Johnson RW (2008) Aging exacerbates depressive-like behavior in mice in response to activation of the peripheral innate immune system. Neuropsychopharmacology 33 (10):2341–2351. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301649
- 60. Henry CJ, Huang Y, Wynne AM, Godbout JP (2009) Peripheral lipopolysaccharide (LPS) challenge promotes microglial hyperactivity in aged mice that is associated with exaggerated induction of both pro-inflammatory IL-1beta and anti-inflammatory IL-10 cytokines. Brain Behav Immun 23(3):309–317. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2008.09.002
- Kelley KW, O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Dantzer R, Rodriguez-Zas SL, McCusker RH (2013) Aging leads to prolonged duration of inflammation-induced depression-like behavior caused by Bacillus Calmette-Guerin. Brain Behav Immun 32:63–69. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2013.02.003
- 62. Kim H, Chen L, Lim G, Sung B, Wang S, McCabe MF, Rusanescu G, Yang L, Tian Y, Mao J (2012) Brain indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase contributes to the comorbidity of pain and depression. J Clin Invest 122(8):2940–2954. doi:10.1172/JCI61884
- 63. Zhou W, Dantzer R, Budac DP, Walker AK, Mao-Ying QL, Lee AW, Heijnen CJ, Kavelaars A (2015) Peripheral indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 is required for comorbid depression-like behavior but does not contribute to neuropathic pain in mice. Brain Behav Immun 46:147–153. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.01.013
- 64. Laugeray A, Launay JM, Callebert J, Surget A, Belzung C, Barone PR (2010) Peripheral and cerebral metabolic abnormalities of the tryptophan-kynurenine pathway in a murine model of major depression. Behav Brain Res 210(1):84–91. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2010.02.014
- 65. Gracia-Rubio I, Moscoso-Castro M, Pozo OJ, Marcos J, Nadal R, Valverde O (2016) Maternal separation induces neuroinflammation and long-lasting emotional alterations in mice. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 65:104–117. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.09.003

- 66. Miura H, Ando Y, Noda Y, Isobe K, Ozaki N (2011) Long-lasting effects of inescapablepredator stress on brain tryptophan metabolism and the behavior of juvenile mice. Stress 14 (3):262–272. doi:10.3109/10253890.2010.541539
- 67. Gibney SM, Fagan EM, Waldron AM, O'Byrne J, Connor TJ, Harkin A (2014) Inhibition of stress-induced hepatic tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase exhibits antidepressant activity in an animal model of depressive behaviour. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 17(6):917–928. doi:10.1017/ S1461145713001673
- 68. Jackman KA, Brait VH, Wang Y, Maghzal GJ, Ball HJ, McKenzie G, De Silva TM, Stocker R, Sobey CG (2011) Vascular expression, activity and function of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-1 following cerebral ischaemia-reperfusion in mice. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 383(5):471–481. doi:10.1007/s00210-011-0611-4
- 69. Spalletta G, Bossu P, Ciaramella A, Bria P, Caltagirone C, Robinson RG (2006) The etiology of poststroke depression: a review of the literature and a new hypothesis involving inflammatory cytokines. Mol Psychiatry 11(11):984–991. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001879
- 70. Xie W, Cai L, Yu Y, Gao L, Xiao L, He Q, Ren Z, Liu Y (2014) Activation of brain indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase contributes to epilepsy-associated depressive-like behavior in rats with chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neuroinflammation 11:41. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-11-41
- 71. An L, Li J, Yu ST, Xue R, Yu NJ, Chen HX, Zhang LM, Zhao N, Li YF, Zhang YZ (2015) Effects of the total flavonoid extract of Xiaobuxin-Tang on depression-like behavior induced by lipopolysaccharide and proinflammatory cytokine levels in mice. J Ethnopharmacol 163:83–87. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2015.01.022
- 72. Ji WW, Wang SY, Ma ZQ, Li RP, Li SS, Xue JS, Li W, Niu XX, Yan L, Zhang X, Fu Q, Qu R, Ma SP (2014) Effects of perillaldehyde on alternations in serum cytokines and depressive-like behavior in mice after lipopolysaccharide administration. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 116:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2013.10.026
- 73. Kang A, Hao H, Zheng X, Liang Y, Xie Y, Xie T, Dai C, Zhao Q, Wu X, Xie L, Wang G (2011) Peripheral anti-inflammatory effects explain the ginsenosides paradox between poor brain distribution and anti-depression efficacy. J Neuroinflammation 8:100. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-100
- 74. Li R, Zhao D, Qu R, Fu Q, Ma S (2015) The effects of apigenin on lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior in mice. Neurosci Lett 594:17–22. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2015.03.040
- Manosso LM, Neis VB, Moretti M, Daufenbach JF, Freitas AE, Colla AR, Rodrigues AL (2013) Antidepressant-like effect of alpha-tocopherol in a mouse model of depressive-like behavior induced by TNF-alpha. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 46:48–57. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.06.012
- 76. Sulakhiya K, Kumar P, Jangra A, Dwivedi S, Hazarika NK, Baruah CC, Lahkar M (2014) Honokiol abrogates lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive like behavior by impeding neuroinflammation and oxido-nitrosative stress in mice. Eur J Pharmacol 744:124–131. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.09.049
- 77. Wang Z, Zhang Q, Yuan L, Wang S, Liu L, Yang X, Li G, Liu D (2014) The effects of curcumin on depressive-like behavior in mice after lipopolysaccharide administration. Behav Brain Res 274:282–290. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.08.018
- Walker FR (2013) A critical review of the mechanism of action for the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: do these drugs possess anti-inflammatory properties and how relevant is this in the treatment of depression? Neuropharmacology 67:304–317. doi:10.1016/j. neuropharm.2012.10.002
- 79. Vilar-Pereira G, Silva AA, Pereira IR, Silva RR, Moreira OC, de Almeida LR, de Souza AS, Rocha MS, Lannes-Vieira J (2012) Trypanosoma cruzi-induced depressive-like behavior is independent of meningoencephalitis but responsive to parasiticide and TNF-targeted therapeutic interventions. Brain Behav Immun 26(7):1136–1149. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.07.009

- Kaster MP, Gadotti VM, Calixto JB, Santos AR, Rodrigues AL (2012) Depressive-like behavior induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha in mice. Neuropharmacology 62(1):419– 426. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.08.018
- Norden DM, Devine R, Bicer S, Jing R, Reiser PJ, Wold LE, Godbout JP, McCarthy DO (2015) Fluoxetine prevents the development of depressive-like behavior in a mouse model of cancer related fatigue. Physiol Behav 140:230–235. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.12.045
- Norden DM, McCarthy DO, Bicer S, Devine RD, Reiser PJ, Godbout JP, Wold LE (2015) Ibuprofen ameliorates fatigue- and depressive-like behavior in tumor-bearing mice. Life Sci 143:65–70. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2015.10.020
- 83. Vijaya Kumar K, Rudra A, Sreedhara MV, Siva Subramani T, Prasad DS, Das ML, Murugesan S, Yadav R, Trivedi RK, Louis JV, Li YW, Bristow LJ, Naidu PS, Vikramadithyan RK (2014) Bacillus Calmette-Guerin vaccine induces a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI)-resistant depression like phenotype in mice. Brain Behav Immun 42:204–211. doi:10.1016/j. bbi.2014.06.205
- 84. De Bandt JP, Cynober L (2006) Therapeutic use of branched-chain amino acids in burn, trauma, and sepsis. J Nutr 136(1 Suppl):308S–313S
- 85. Fromentin G, Darcel N, Chaumontet C, Marsset-Baglieri A, Nadkarni N, Tome D (2012) Peripheral and central mechanisms involved in the control of food intake by dietary amino acids and proteins. Nutr Res Rev 25(1):29–39. doi:10.1017/S0954422411000175
- 86. Rosario FJ, Kanai Y, Powell TL, Jansson T (2013) Mammalian target of rapamycin signalling modulates amino acid uptake by regulating transporter cell surface abundance in primary human trophoblast cells. J Physiol 591(Pt 3):609–625. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2012.238014
- 87. Walker AK, Vichaya E, Wing E, Banks W, Dantzer R (2015) Leucine blocks lipopolysaccharide-induced depression like behavior by interfering with kynurenine influx into the brain. Brain Behav Immun 49, e36
- Heisler JM, O'Connor JC (2015) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-dependent neurotoxic kynurenine metabolism mediates inflammation-induced deficit in recognition memory. Brain Behav Immun 50:115–124. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.06.022
- 89. Zwilling D, Huang SY, Sathyasaikumar KV, Notarangelo FM, Guidetti P, Wu HQ, Lee J, Truong J, Andrews-Zwilling Y, Hsieh EW, Louie JY, Wu T, Scearce-Levie K, Patrick C, Adame A, Giorgini F, Moussaoui S, Laue G, Rassoulpour A, Flik G, Huang Y, Muchowski JM, Masliah E, Schwarcz R, Muchowski PJ (2011) Kynurenine 3-monooxygenase inhibition in blood ameliorates neurodegeneration. Cell 145(6):863–874. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.05.020
- Beconi MG, Yates D, Lyons K, Matthews K, Clifton S, Mead T, Prime M, Winkler D, O'Connell C, Walter D, Toledo-Sherman L, Munoz-Sanjuan I, Dominguez C (2012) Metabolism and pharmacokinetics of JM6 in mice: JM6 is not a prodrug for Ro-61-8048. Drug Metab Dispos 40(12):2297–2306. doi:10.1124/dmd.112.046532
- Ward JL, Harting MT, Cox CS Jr, Mercer DW (2011) Effects of ketamine on endotoxin and traumatic brain injury induced cytokine production in the rat. J Trauma 70(6):1471–1479. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e31821c38bd
- 92. Zhu X, Li P, Hao X, Wei K, Min S, Luo J, Xie F, Jin J (2015) Ketamine-mediated alleviation of electroconvulsive shock-induced memory impairment is associated with the regulation of neuroinflammation and soluble amyloid-beta peptide in depressive-like rats. Neurosci Lett 599:32–37. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2015.05.022
Depression in Autoimmune Diseases

Christopher R. Pryce and Adriano Fontana

Abstract Up to 50% of patients with autoimmune diseases show an impairment of health-related quality of life and exhibit depression-like symptoms. The immune system not only leads to inflammation in affected organs, but also mediates behavior abnormalities including fatigue and depression-like symptoms. This review focuses on the different pathways involved in the communication of the immune system with the neuronal network and the body's timing system. The latter is built up by a hierarchically organized expression of clock genes. As discussed here, the activation of the immune system interferes with high amplitude expression of clock genes, an effect which may play a pivotal role in depression-like behavior in autoimmune diseases.

Keywords Hepatitis • Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase • Interleukin-1 • Kynurenine • Rheumatoid arthritis • Systemic lupus erythematosus • Tumor necrosis factor • Twist1

Contents

1	Introduction	140
2	Depression-Like Symptoms in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus	141
3	Rheumatoid Arthritis and Depression-Like Symptoms	143

C.R. Pryce

A. Fontana (⊠) Institute of Experimental Immunology, University of Zurich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, CH-8057 Zurich, Switzerland e-mail: fontana.adriano7@gmail.com

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 139–154 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_7 Published Online: 20 May 2016

Preclinical Laboratory for Translational Research into Affective Disorders, Department of Psychiatry, Psychotherapy & Psychosomatics, Psychiatric Hospital, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

4	Depression-Like Behavior in Animal Models of Autoimmune Diseases	144
	4.1 Depression-Like Behavior in MRL/lpr Mice	145
	4.2 Activation of CD40 Leads to Depression-Like Behavior in Mice	146
5	Abnormal Clock Gene System in Autoimmune Diseases and Depression	146
6	Concluding Remarks	148
Re	ferences	150

1 Introduction

In autoimmune diseases, psychological symptoms, such as fatigue, loss of interest in daily activities, and cognitive deficits, are common. Whilst these symptoms are often described as sickness behavior, they are also core symptoms in the diagnosis of depression. This raises a number of issues, and perhaps most important is the issue of whether sickness behavior and depression are one and the same, or do they have fundamentally different pathophysiologies so that it is more appropriate to regard them as separate clinical states? The present chapter reviews the evidence for inflammation in depression and for depression-like symptoms in autoimmune diseases. It is not currently possible to unequivocally answer the issues raised above. However, we do provide an overview of some of the most relevant evidence that can inform this controversial, interesting, and medically important debate.

Patients with depression, most notably major depressive disorder (MDD), who are otherwise medically healthy have been found to exhibit features of immune activation. Increases of the circulating cytokines interleukin (IL)-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF), their soluble receptors, and the acute phase protein, C-reactive protein (CRP), have been reported [1]; for review, see [2, 3]. Moreover, gene expression profiling conducted on post-mortem brain tissue samples from the frontal cortex of patients with MDD shows an upregulated expression of cytokines including, e.g., IL-1B, IL-18, IL-8, IL-12, lymphotoxin alpha, and interferon (IFN)- γ [4]. More direct evidence for the involvement of cytokines in the pathophysiology of MDD comes from the observations that (1) anti-TNF treatment has therapeutic effects in resistant MDD with increased CRP [5], and (2) the development of depressed mood, anxious symptoms, and impaired cognition in human patients treated with type I interferons [3]. Likewise, in mice, the systemic or intracerebroventricular administration of cytokines or cytokine inducers leads to depressive-like behavior [6]. Pathways that translate the cytokine signals from the periphery to the brain involve: (1) actions of cytokines on the vagal nerve and activation of Toll-like receptors in circumventricular organs, (2) interactions of cytokines with the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and (3) cytokine triggered activation of indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase leading to tryptophan catabolism and decreased serotonin concentrations in the central nervous system (CNS) (for review see [7, 8]).

In light of the putative causal link of increased cytokines and depression, we may ask whether depression-like symptoms or depression per se is also a hallmark in autoimmune diseases. The latter are characterized by anti-self T- and B-cell reactivity, which leads to organ dysfunction due to destruction of parenchymal cells in various organs, including kidney, lung, liver, intestinal tract, and the peripheral and central nervous systems. The immune response towards autoantigens is characterized by activation of neutrophils, monocytes-macrophages, dendritic cells, and lymphocytes on the one hand, and decreased activity of negative feedback loops provided by regulatory T- and B-cells and by suppressive macrophages, on the other. Both the priming and effector phases of the autoimmune response are associated with increased production of cytokines. Since inducers of cytokines and cytokines per se induce depressive-like behavior in both experimental animal models and humans it is not surprising that autoimmune diseases have also been associated with depression. In the following we will focus on the evidence for depression-like symptoms in autoimmune diseases and animal models thereof. We will concentrate on systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA), since in these diseases large cohort studies on mental health have been conducted and therefore a relatively large amount of data are available. However, depression-like symptoms have also been well described in many other autoimmune diseases including multiple sclerosis and inflammatory bowel disease (for review see [9, 10]). Moreover, depression-like symptoms are also a hallmark of autoinflammatory diseases. These inherited diseases are characterized by inadequate activation of the immune system with production of cytokines due to mutations in genes encoding for the inflammasome. The most frequent form is familial Mediterranean fever (FMF), which develops due to mutations of the pyrin/FMF gene. In FMF patients depression-like behavior is seen frequently; the depression-like symptom severity does not depend on FMF duration, but rather on the FMF severity score [11].

2 Depression-Like Symptoms in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is an autoimmune disease characterized by loss of tolerance, which is associated with production of autoantibodies and immune mediated injury resulting in tissue damage in various organs including kidney, lung, skin, and central nervous system. Activation of the complement system by immune complexes leads to endothelial cell disruption. SLE takes a relapsing-remitting disease course which, depending on the affected organ, can be mild or severe. Numerous studies show that patients with SLE have a significantly poorer health-related quality of life (HRQoL) and exhibit depression-like symptoms more often than do healthy controls. In a systematic literature search 17 studies were identified that reported on depression comorbidity symptoms, with a prevalence rate of 17–75% depending on study [12]. Different methods were used to

assess depression across these studies, and this is likely to contribute to the wide range in the prevalence reported.

A study on 170 SLE patients found HRQoL to be negatively influenced mainly by disease activity and depression [13]. Both parameters were associated with higher levels of pain and fatigue [14, 15]. Using the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), patients with SLE had a higher score compared with the general population from a pan-Europe population based study [16]. The prevalence of depression was found to be 16.6% in SLE and 6.7% in controls. There was no association between disease activity and organ damage. Likewise in 113 patients with SLE no relationship between HRQoL and SLE activity or disease duration was observed [17]. In 110 lupus patients the SLE activity index did correlate with the anxiety score, but not with depression [18]. Another study using BDI-II showed 53 of 127 SLE patients (41.7%) to have moderate or severe depressive symptoms [19]. When assessing sleep behavior in 81 patients with SLE, depressive symptoms were associated significantly with poor sleep quality, and cognitive deficits occurred in 16 of 82 patients [20]. Impaired cognitive performance in sustained attention and spatial working memory tests was related to SLE, but not to depression [21]. With respect to the important question of whether depression-like symptoms in autoimmune-disease patients results in poorer disease control, in general it is indeed thought that depression is associated with increased disease activity, decreased medication adherence, and decreased work productivity [22, 23].

Approximately 15–20% of SLE cases begin in childhood, at a median age of onset of 12–13 years. In children and adolescents with SLE (n=38) and young adults with childhood-onset of disease (n = 16), depression was observed in 26 and 44% of the patients, respectively, [24]. Depression was not correlated with disease duration, HRQoL, or SLE nephritis. In pediatric lupus and mixed connective tissue disease, depression was associated with poor disease control; non-Caucasian patients were at significantly higher risk for depression-like symptoms than Caucasian patients [25, 26]. In general disease scores, lupus nephritis and involvement of the central nervous system-neuropsychiatric lupus (NPSLE)-take a more aggressive course in African-Americans. In this group of patients, higher perceived racism was associated with having moderate to severe depression [27]. Suicidal ideation has been observed in pediatric lupus with NPSLE in 34% of 53 patients, and 20% of those with ideation attempted suicide. In adults with SLE, suicidal ideation is common in up to one-third of patients with and without NPSLE, and is associated with higher disease activity, increased depression and anxiety severity, and previous suicide attempts [28-30].

The mechanisms underlying depression or depression-like symptoms in SLE are not yet clear, but are likely to be multifactorial. The burden of having a chronic illness, the use of corticosteroids and immunosuppressive drugs for disease control and prevention of disease, microvasculopathy as well as the development of secondary cerebrovascular injury due to hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and antiphospholipid antibodies, may all constitute risk factors in SLE. Depression in women with SLE (n = 161) correlates with the presence of cardiovascular disease [31]. Serum TNF was found to be higher in SLE (n = 54) compared to controls. Interestingly, increased TNF was associated with more severe depression-like symptoms as evaluated by the Hospital Anxiety and Depressive Scale (HADS) [32]. Injection of TNF in rodents leads to sickness behavior and depression-like behavior [6]. Patients with SLE exhibit high serum levels of IFN type I and overexpress IFN-I-stimulated genes in peripheral blood cells. The increased IFN-I signature is associated with active disease including lupus nephritis. Since in patients with multiple sclerosis or hepatitis C, treatment with IFN- α induces depression and the risk of suicidal ideation, the endogenous expression of IFN-I in SLE may contribute to depression-like symptoms. However, in patients with SLE the increased IFN-I levels are found to not be correlated with depression and fatigue [33].

Polymorphisms of the serotonin transporter gene promoter region (PR-5HTT) were studied in 96 SLE patients. Using the Hamilton depression rating scale (HDRS), depression scores were found to be associated with patients being homozygous for the short allele of the PR-5HTT gene [34]. The methylation status of the region studied did not differ in patients with depression versus those without. In neuropsychiatric lupus, anti-ribosomal P antibodies (Ab) have been reported to occur more frequently in SLE patients with depression [35]. In patients with a disease duration of less than 2 years, depression severity was correlated with antiribosomal P Ab levels. The antibody recognizes the carboxy 22 amino acids of the three large subunit ribosomal phosphoproteins, called P0, P1, and P2. Antiribosomal P Ab bind to neurons in the hippocampus, cingulate cortex, and the primary olfactory piriform cortex, and cause calcium influx and apoptosis [36]. Intracerebroventricular injection of anti-ribosomal P Ab in mice induces a depression-like behavior and olfactory impairment. Mice displayed impaired passive avoidance [37]. In the pathophysiology of NPSLE, anti-double stranded (ds)-DNA Ab may contribute to the involvement of the central nervous system. Some anti-native-DNA Ab cross-react with the GluN2A and GluN2B subunits of the Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor for the neurotransmitter glutamate [38]. Based on mouse experiments, cross-reacting antibodies may contribute to the neurocognitive impairment and other symptoms of NPSLE. When injected with the 16/6 idiotypic antibodies, which recognize anti-ds-DNA Ab as well as brain glycoproteins and glycolipids, mice develop an impairment of spatial memory [39, 40].

3 Rheumatoid Arthritis and Depression-Like Symptoms

In addition to its symptoms in affected joints, rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is associated with substantial mental health problems. In particular, depression has been documented to contribute significantly to impaired HRQoL, unemployment, and loss of work productivity. Depression is very common in RA, the prevalence reported to be 13–42% [41]. As reviewed recently, depression in RA provides an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease and myocardial infarction, suicidal ideation, and death, even after controlling for RA disease duration, disease activity, disability, and pain [42]. Depression in RA patients is most common in females and in younger age groups [43]. The risk to develop depression is highest in the first 5 years after RA diagnosis [44]. Whilst pain is likely to contribute to the development of depression, the link between the severity of measurable parameters of arthritis and depression is less stringent. Since cytokines play a pivotal role in the synovial inflammation in RA and TNF blockers exert strong therapeutic effects, it may be suggested that the cytokine-brain connection is essential in depression in RA. The hypothesis is supported by the observation of persistence of depression in patients with poor disease control by TNF blockers [45]. However, studies investigating an association between depression in RA and increased CRP have yielded conflicting findings [42]. In a recent study on RA (n = 102 with 75% females). using the Beck depression index-II (BDI-II) to assess depression, and the Health assessment questionnaire (HAO) and the Disease activity score (DAS) to quantitate RA activity, a correlation of severity of depression and RA activity was identified [46]. Somewhat in line with these data is the finding that functional disability constitutes a significant risk factor for the occurrence of depression in RA [47]. Amelioration of depression symptoms in RA is linked to treatment-related RA control, positive psychological coping mechanisms, and social support (for review see [42]).

4 Depression-Like Behavior in Animal Models of Autoimmune Diseases

It is well established that rodents injected systemically or intracerebroventricularly with cytokines including TNF and IL-1 β show an increase in sleep at times when mice are usually active (for review see [48, 49]). NREM sleep was found to be increased in the dark phase of the 12 h light–dark circadian cycle. This effect is associated with increase in body temperature, loss of body weight, and development of depression-like behavioral changes. The same clinical picture emerges when mice are treated with activators of Toll-like receptors including the synthetic analogs of ds-RNA, namely Poly(I:C), lipopolysaccharide (LPS) extracted from gram-negative bacteria, or peptidoglycans. These experimental animal models present with depression-like behavior due to activation of the innate immune system. Animal models of depression-like behavior that are based on activation of the acquired immune system are less well established. In the following sections we discuss two models which do indeed involve or mimic effects of the aforementioned acquired immune mediated pathway (Fig. 1).



Modified from Scheiermann et al. Nat Rev Immunol 13(3): 190-198 (2013)

Fig. 1 Cytokines and the clock. Alterations of the circadian system may play a pivotal role in depressive-like behavior. Cytokines interfere with the physiologic circadian oscillation of clock genes in the suprachiasmatic nucleus of the brain, which receives signals via the light–dark cycle. The oscillation of the peripheral clock is altered in autoimmune diseases in various organs including the liver and colon in hepatitis and colitis, respectively. This may cause abnormal expression of circadian genes. The clock system is also abnormal in lymphoid organs including the spleen and bone marrow. Thereby immune mediated effector pathways may be impaired

4.1 Depression-Like Behavior in MRL/lpr Mice

MRL lymphoproliferation (MRL/lpr) strain mice develop a systemic autoimmune disease with arthritis, nephritis, and neurological-psychiatric disease similar to SLE in humans. The mice show progressive lymphadenopathy due to the accumulation of double negative CD4⁻8⁻B220⁺ alpha beta⁺ T cells. The underlying defect involves the expression of a functionally inactive Fas receptor, which physiologically promotes activation induced cell death. Prior to the stage at which autoantibodies against DNA and nucleoproteins become detectable, MRL/lpr mice develop depression-like behavior including reduced activity in the forced swim-test and reduced preference for sweet solutions in the two-bottle sweet versus water test (for review see [50]). Thus studies on the pathophysiology of depression-like disease in the MRL/lpr autoimmune mouse offers potential new insights into the understanding of depression-like symptoms in SLE patients.

4.2 Activation of CD40 Leads to Depression-Like Behavior in Mice

To study the etio-pathophysiology of depression-like behavior in autoimmune diseases, we have developed a new mouse model, which is based on immune activation by CD40L-CD40 interactions. The CD40 ligand (CD40L)-CD40 pathway is essential for the autoimmune response to self-antigens [51]. Mice with neutralization of this ligand-receptor pathway are protected from experimental autoimmune diseases such as experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE). Moreover patients with depression have increased plasma levels of soluble CD40 and CD40L [52, 53]. CD40L is expressed mainly by activated CD4+ T cells and binds to CD40 expressed on macrophages, B-lymphocytes, and dendritic cells. CD40 activation by agonistic anti-CD40 monoclonal antibodies (mAb) induces synthesis of chemokines and cytokines including TNF, IL-18, and IFN type I and II. Immune activation is associated with multiorgan inflammation with severe necrotizing hepatitis, lymphadenopathy, splenomegaly, and depression-like behavior in the form of weight loss, decreased feeding, decreased activity, and increased NREM sleep [51, 54, 55]. These depression-like behaviors persist up to day 3. Furthermore, CD40 Ab also led to decreased operant motivation for and consumption of sweettasting saccharin solution up to day 7 and decreased fear conditioning of a tone to electroshock at day 5, indicating induction of reduced interest in reward and impaired learning/plasticity, respectively [54]. These behavioral effects were coincident with increases in TNF as well as kynurenine and its downstream catabolites in plasma and brain up to days 7-8. Co-injection of the TNF blocker etanercept with CD40 Ab prevented each of weight loss, decreased activity, increased sleep, and reduced interest in reward, and markedly attenuated kynurenine pathway activation in plasma and brain. However, co-injection of an inhibitor of indoleamine-2,3dioxygenase, the enzyme primarily responsible for tryptophan-to-kynurenine conversion, was without effect on either weight loss or saccharin drinking [54]. According to this mouse model, activation of TNF is necessary for causation of depression-like behavior in autoimmune disease. Extrapolating the findings to human suggests that symptoms such as decreased appetite, loss of interest-pleasure, and cognitive impairments that are highly comorbid with autoimmune disorder have an etio-pathophysiology that begins with CD40-CD40L-TNF activation, whilst downstream factors remain to be elucidated.

5 Abnormal Clock Gene System in Autoimmune Diseases and Depression

Circadian rhythms are mediated by clock genes, and thereby regulate metabolism and sleep–wake behavior [56, 57]. The main transcription factors coordinating the circadian rhythms are CLOCK and BMAL1, which form heterodimers and activate

expression of *Period (Per)*, *Cryptochrome (Cry)*, and of various clock controlled genes by binding to E-box motives [58] (Fig. 2). Furthermore, CLOCK can be substituted by its paralog NPAS2 [59]. The binding of CLOCK:BMAL1 to the E-box is regulated by positive and negative feedback mechanisms [58]. Patients with depression show sleep disturbances and an abnormal circadian regulation of hormones including cortisol and melatonin [60]. Abnormal rhythms of expression of clock genes, due to effects of cytokines on transcription and posttranslational processes including chromatin remodelling, may play a role in depression. Increased risk for developing depression has been identified in individuals with polymorphisms carrying the CC genotype in Cry1 rs2287161 and the TT genotype in Tef rs738499 [61]. An analysis of post-mortem brain tissues from 55 normal controls and 34 patients with depression shows, in the patients, an abnormal phasing of circadian gene expression and potentially disrupted phase relationships between individual circadian genes [62]. Also, the cyclic patterns were much weaker in the depression patients.

Recent studies point to communication of the body clock and the immune system. For example, the macrophage response to Salmonella is decreased in mice with an inactive *clock* gene [63], and the extent of secretion of TNF and IL-6 by LPS stimulated macrophages follows a circadian rhythm [64]. Besides effects of the circadian system on the immune response, the immune system also influences the circadian clock. TNF inhibits the expression of all three Period genes, of Cry-1 and -2, and of the PAR-bZip transcription factors Dbp, Tef, and Hlf [65, 66]. At least some of these effects are due to an interference with E-boxdependent transcription [65]. Both TNF induced Twist1 expression and TNF-mediated inhibition of the cold-inducible RNA binding protein (CIRBP) are involved in immune mediated dysregulation of clock genes [67, 68]. In light of the abnormal clock gene expression in depression, the polymorphisms in the Cry-1 and Tef genes associated with depression, and the dysregulated expression of clock genes in cells exposed to TNF and IL-1β, we hypothesize that depression in autoimmune diseases may involve cytokine induced dysregulation of expression of clock genes. The hypothesis is supported by recent findings of abnormal expression of clock genes in rheumatoid arthritis, known for its high depression comorbidity (see above). When arthritis is induced in C57BL/6 mice by i.p. injection of anti-type II collagen mAb on day 1 and LPS (50 µg) on day 2, the expression of Bmall, Per2, and Dbp was decreased in the 24 h cycle in spleen and the joints [69]. When analyzing clock genes in cultured human rheumatoid synovial cells treated with TNF, suppression of the expression of Per2, Dbp, Tef, and Hlf was found [70]. Recently, a loss of circadian rhythmicity in the expression of the clock genes Per2 and Per3 in CD14+ monocytes was identified in postmenopausal patients with rheumatoid arthritis [71]. A down regulation of the aforementioned genes was also observed in a transcriptome analysis of genes expressed in the colon mucosa of patients with inflammatory bowel disease [72]. The topic of clock genes, depression, and autoimmune diseases has just started to become interesting. From first studies we conclude that the circadian expression of clock genes in



Fig. 2 Impaired expression of clock genes due to effects of proinflammatory cytokines. TNF and IL-1b decrease high amplitude expression of clock genes by inhibiting transcription of the cold-inducible RNA binding protein (CIRBP). Inhibition of CIRBP expression involves NF-kB activation. CIRBP enhances NF-kB expression and thereby, e.g., regulates TNF-mediated apoptosis. In addition to CIRBP, Twist1 is also involved in altering clock gene expression. TNF and IL-1b induce Twist1, which interferes with the activation of E-box mediated transcription by CLOCK-BMAL1. This effect leads to impaired expression of the E-Box regulated clock genes Period-1, -2, and -3, the cryptochrome genes Cry-1 and -2, and the PAR-bZip transcription factors Dbp, Tef, and Hlf. However, recent studies on the expression of clock genes in colon and inflammatory monocytes of mice with DSS induced colitis do not support the in vitro findings of Twist1 to be involved in suppression of clock genes (Seles C., Strauss L, Rambousek L., and Fontana A., manuscript in preparation)

autoimmune diseases is altered. It remains to be seen whether the defect is associated with behavioral abnormalities and/or abnormal immune regulation (Figs. 2 and 3).

6 Concluding Remarks

The link between immune activation and depression-like behavior becomes evident from studies on injection of cytokines and their triggers such as LPS, PolyI:C, and CD40 mAb in rodents. Autoimmune animal models, e.g., MRL/lpr mice or mice treated with agonistic CD40 mAb, support the hypothesis that immune effector pathways cause depression-like behavior. From the studies in SLE and RA outlined above, it can be concluded that in addition to organ specific symptoms arising due to autoimmune inflammation, depression or depression-like symptoms are also a severe complication, which impairs quality of life. The reports on associations of immune activation with depression-like symptoms point to multiple underlying pathways impacting on these psychological states. Cytokines, autoantibodies, and



Fig. 3 Multiple pathways may lead to depression-like behavior in autoimmune diseases. Immune mediated tissue damage may lead to depression due to the development of hypoxia in heart and pulmonary failure, or due to the development of hypertension in kidney diseases. Depression is also caused by medication used to treat autoimmune diseases, such as treatment with interferon type 1 in multiple sclerosis or corticosteroids in systemic lupus erythematosus. Recognition of self-antigens leads to activation of microglia and macrophages, and of astrocytes, which produce cytokines acting in an autocrine and paracrine manner. This step is followed by the release of molecules including excitatory amino acids, nitric oxide, and reactive oxygen species, which alter synaptic signalling pathways and, e.g., cause NMDA mediated synaptic activation. The latter effect is enhanced by impaired astrocyte glutamate detoxification. Neurotoxicity is amplified by oxidative stress and toxic effects of TNF on one hand, and poor neurotrophic support on the other. Autoantibodies to NMDA receptors and ribosomal P protein as detected in SLE may contribute to neuronal damage

complement factors have all been shown to alter neuronal activity, either directly, by modulating the production of glutamate by microglia, or, in the case of TNF, by enhancing neuronal activity via activation of TNF receptors on astrocytes [73, 74]. When taking one distinct immune effector pathway such as proinflammatory cytokines, their involvement in depression-like symptoms may not be clearly evident because other mechanisms, e.g., in SLE, anti-NMDA receptor antibodies, or anti-ribosomal P antibodies, may co-occur and, in contrast to cytokines, the production of autoantibodies may continue into the remission phase. In addition, the consequences of effects of cytokines and autoantibodies on brain circuitries may perpetuate beyond the active disease phase and cause persistence of depression-like symptoms in an autonomic fashion in the absence of the triggering immune effector pathways. In addition to immunological mechanisms, many other variables including organ dysfunction (e.g., nephritis and hypertension in SLE),

treatment including IFN type I and corticosteroids, social factors, functional disability, and coping strategies may be confounding in studies aimed at demonstrating a (causal) relationship between immune activation and depression-like symptoms. Whilst it remains to be determined to what extent psychosocial-stress induced depression symptoms and depression-like symptoms in autoimmune diseases have common or separate pathophysiologies, it is clear that mood, motivation, fatigue, and cognition are frequently disrupted in autoimmune disorders, constitute a major component of the disease, and need to be the focus of research efforts designed to improve their treatment.

Acknowledgments The work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (Project 141055), the Baugarten Stiftung, the Lotex Foundation and the Swiss Multiple Sclerosis Society to A.F., and the Swiss National Science Foundation (Project 141137) to C.R.P. Adriano Fontana is Hertie Senior Research Professor for Neuroscience of the Gemeinnützige Hertie-Stiftung.

References

- Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W, Liu H, Sham L, Reim EK, Lanctot KL (2010) A metaanalysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67:446–457
- Felger JC, Lotrich FE (2013) Inflammatory cytokines in depression: neurobiological mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Neuroscience 246:199–229
- 3. Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009) Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 65:732–741
- Shelton RC, Claiborne J, Sidoryk-Wegrzynowicz M, Reddy R, Aschner M, Lewis DA, Mirnics K (2011) Altered expression of genes involved in inflammation and apoptosis in frontal cortex in major depression. Mol Psychiatry 16:751–762
- Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ, Shuo C, Schettler P, Drake DF, Haroon E, Miller AH (2013) A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. JAMA Psychiatry 70:31–41
- 6. Fu X, Zunich SM, O'Connor JC, Kavelaars A, Dantzer R, Kelley KW (2010) Central administration of lipopolysaccharide induces depressive-like behavior in vivo and activates brain indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase in murine organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. J Neuroinflammation 7(43):1–12
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:46–57
- Haroon E, Raison CL, Miller AH (2012) Psychoneuroimmunology meets neuropsychopharmacology: translational implications of the impact of inflammation on behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:137–162
- Greenley RN, Hommel KA, Nebel J, Raboin T, Li S-H, Simpson P, Mackner L (2010) A metaanalytic review of the psychosocial adjustment of youth with inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Psychol 35:857–869
- Marrie RA, Reider N, Cohen JY, Stuve O, Sorensen PS, Cutter G, Reingold SC, Trojano M (2015) A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of autoimmune disease in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J 21:282–293
- Makay B, Emiroglu N, Ünsal E (2010) Depression and anxiety in children and adolescents with familial Mediterranean fever. Clin Rheumatol 29:375–379

- Palagini L, Mosca M, Tani C, Gemignani A, Mauri M, Bombardieri S (2013) Depression and systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review. Lupus 22:409–416
- 13. Shen B, Feng G, Tang W, Huang X, Yan H, He Y, Chen W, Da Z, Liu H, Gu Z (2014) The quality of life in Chinese patients with systemic lupus erythematosus is associated with disease activity and psychiatric disorders: a path analysis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 32:101–107
- 14. Pettersson S, Lövgren M, Eriksson LE, Moberg C, Svenungsson E, Gunnarsson I, Welin Henriksson E (2012) An exploration of patient-reported symptoms in systemic lupus erythematosus and the relationship to health-related quality of life. Scand J Rheumatol 41:383–390
- 15. Waldheim E, Elkan A-C, Pettersson S, van Vollenhoven R, Bergman S, Frostegard J, Welin Henriksson E (2013) Health-related quality of life, fatigue and mood in patients with SLE and high levels of pain compared to controls and patients with low levels of pain. Lupus 22:1118–1127
- van Exel E, Jacobs J, Korswagen L-A, Voskuyl AE, Stek M, Dekker J, Bultink IEM (2013) Depression in systemic lupus erythematosus, dependent on or independent of severity of disease. Lupus 22:1462–1469
- Yilmaz-Oner S, Oner C, Mert Dogukan F, Filam Moses T, Demir K, Tekayev N, Atagunduz P, Tuglular S, Direskeneli H (2016) Health-related quality of life assessed by LupusQoL questionnaire and SF-36 in Turkish patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Rheumatol 35:617–622
- Tay SH, Cheung PPM, Mak A (2015) Active disease is independently associated with more severe anxiety rather than depressive symptoms in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 24:1392–1399
- 19. Karol DE, Criscione-Schreiber LG, Lin M, Clowse MEB (2013) Depressive symptoms and associated factors in systemic lupus erythematosus. Psychosomatics 54:443–450
- Palagini L, Tani C, Bruno RM, Gemignani A, Mauri M, Bombardieri S, Riemann D, Mosca M (2014) Poor sleep quality in systemic lupus erythematosus: does it depend on depressive symptoms? Lupus 23:1350–1357
- 21. Calderon J, Flores P, Babul M, Aguirre JM, Slachevsky A, Padilla O, Scoriels L, Henriquez C, Carcamo C, Bravo-Zehnder M, Gonzalez A, Massardo L (2014) Systemic lupus erythematosus impairs memory cognitive tests not affected by depression. Lupus 23:1042–1053
- 22. Bachen EA, Chesney MA, Criswell LA (2009) Prevalence of mood and anxiety disorders in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 61:822–829
- 23. Panopalis P, Yazdany J, Zell Gillis J, Julian L, Trupin L, Hersh AO, Criswell LA, Katz P, Yelin E (2008) Health care costs and costs associated with changes in work productivity among persons with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 59:1788–1795
- 24. Ahola Kohut S, Williams TS, Jayanthikumar J, Landolt-Marticorena C, Lefebvre A, Silverman E, Levy DM (2013) Depressive symptoms are prevalent in childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus (cSLE). Lupus 22:712–720
- 25. Knight A, Weiss P, Morales K, Gerdes M, Rearson M, Vickery M, Keren R (2015) Identifying differences in risk factors for depression and anxiety in pediatric chronic disease: a matched cross-sectional study of youth with lupus/mixed connective tissue disease and their peers with diabetes. J Pediatr 167:1397–1403
- 26. Knight A, Weiss PM, Morales K, Gerdes M, Gutstein A, Vickery M, Keren R (2014) Depression and anxiety and their association with healthcare utilization in pediatric lupus and mixed connective tissue disease patients: a cross-sectional study. Pediatr Rheumatol 12:42
- 27. Vina ER, Hausmann LRM, Utset TO, Masi CM, Liang KP, Kent Kwoh C (2015) Perceptions of racism in healthcare among patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a cross-sectional study. Lupus Sci Med 2:e000110
- Karassa FB, Magliano M, Isenberg DA (2003) Suicide attempts in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis 62:58–60
- 29. Mok CC, Chan KL, Cheung EFC, Yip PSF (2014) Suicidal ideation in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: incidence and risk factors. Rheumatology (Oxford) 53:714–721

- 30. Xie L-F, Chen P-L, Pan H-F, Taio J-H, Li X-P, Zhang Y-J, Zhai Y, Ye D-Q (2012) Prevalence and correlates of suicidal ideation in SLE inpatients: Chinese experience. Rheumatol Int 32:2707–2714
- Greco CM, Li T, Sattar A, Kao AH, Danchenko N, Edmundowicz D, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Tracy RP, Kuller LH, Manzi S (2012) Association between depression and vascular disease in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 39:262–268
- 32. Mak A, Tang CS, Ho RC (2013) Serum tumour necrosis factor-alpha is associated with poor health-related quality of life and depressive symptoms in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 22:254–261
- 33. Kellner ES, Lee PY, Li Y, Switanek J, Zhuang H, Segal MS, Sobel ES, Satoh M, Reeves WH (2010) Endogenous type-I interferon activity is not associated with depression or fatigue in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Neuroimmunol 223:13–19
- 34. Xu J, Cheng YQ, Chen B, Bai R, Li S, Xu XF, Xu L, Wen JF, Lu ZP, Zeng XF (2013) Depression in systemic lupus erythematosus patients is associated with link-polymorphism but not methylation status of the 5HTT promoter region. Lupus 22:1001–1010
- 35. Karimifar M, Sharifi I, Shafiey K (2013) Anti-ribosomal P antibodies related to depression in early clinical course of systemic lupus erythematosus. J Res Med Sci 18:860–864
- 36. Bravo-Zehnder M, Toledo EM, Segovia-Miranda F, Serrano FG, Benito MJ, Metz C, Retamal C, Alvarez A, Massardo L, Inestrosa NC, Gonzalez A (2015) Anti-ribosomal P protein autoantibodies from patients with neuropsychiatric lupus impair memory in mice. Arthritis Rheumatol 67:204–214
- 37. Katzav A, Ben-Ziv T, Blank M, Pick CG, Shoenfeld Y, Chapman J (2014) Antibody-specific behavioral effects: intracerebroventricular injection of antiphospholipid antibodies induces hyperactive behavior while anti-ribosomal-P antibodies induces depression and smell deficits in mice. J Neuroimmunol 272:10–15
- 38. Chang EH, Volpe BT, Mackay M, Aranow C, Watson P, Kowal C, Storbeck J, Mattis P, Berlin R, Chen H-I, Mader S, Huerta TS, Huerta PT, Diamond B (2015) Selective impairment of spatial cognition caused by autoantibodies to the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. EBioMedicine 2:755–764
- Gono T, Kawaguchi Y, Yamanaka H (2013) Discoveries in the pathophysiology of neuropsychiatric lupus erythematosus: consequences for therapy. BMC Med 11:91. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-91
- 40. Kivity S, Katzav A, Arango MT, Landau-Rabi M, Zafrir Y, Agmon-Levin N, Blank M, Anaya J-M, Mozes E, Chapman J, Shoenfeld Y (2013) 16/6-idiotype expressing antibodies induce brain inflammation and cognitive impairment in mice: the mosaic of central nervous system involvement in lupus. BMC Med 11:90. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-90
- Isik A, Koca SS, Ozturk A, Mermi O (2007) Anxiety and depression in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Rheumatol 26:872–878
- 42. Margaretten M, Julian L, Katz P, Yelin E (2011) Depression in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: description, causes and mechanisms. Int J Clin Rheumatol 6:617–623
- 43. Fifield J, Reisine S, Sheehan TJ, McQuillan J (1996) Gender, paid work, and symptoms of emotional distress in rheumatoid arthritis patients. Arthritis Rheum 39:427–435
- 44. Wang S-L, Chang C-H, Hu L-Y, Tsai S-J, Yang AC, You Z-H (2014) Risk of developing depressive disorders following rheumatoid arthritis: a nationwide population-based study. PLoS One 9:e107791
- 45. Hider SL, Tanveer W, Brownfield A, Mattey DL, Packham JC (2009) Depression in RA patients treated with anti-TNF is common and under-recognized in the rheumatology clinic. Rheumatology (Oxford) 48:1152–1154
- 46. Imran MY, Khan SEA, Ahmad NM, Raja SF, Saeed MA, Haider II (2015) Depression in rheumatoid arthritis and its relation to disease activity. Pak J Med Sci 31:393–397
- 47. Katz PP, Yelin EH (2001) Activity loss and the onset of depressive symptoms: do some activities matter more than others? Arthritis Rheum 44:1194–1202

- Imeri L, Opp MR (2009) How (and why) the immune system makes us sleep. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:199–210
- 49. Krueger JM (2008) The role of cytokines in sleep regulation. Curr Pharm Des 14:3408-3416
- Gulinello M, Putterman C (2011) The MRL/lpr mouse strain as a model for neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011:1–15, 207504
- 51. Gast H, Müller A, Lopez M, Meier D, Huber R, Dechent F, Prinz M, Emmenegger Y, Franken P, Birchler T, Fontana A (2013) CD40 activation induces NREM sleep and modulates genes associated with sleep homeostasis. Brain Behav Immun 27:133–144
- 52. Leo R, Di Lorenzo G, Tesauro M, Razzini C, Forleo GB, Chiricolo G, Cola C, Zanasi M, Troisi A, Siracusano A, Lauro R, Romeo F (2006) Association between enhanced soluble CD40 ligand and proinflammatory and prothrombotic states in major depressive disorder: pilot observations on the effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor therapy. J Clin Psychiatry 67:1760–1766
- 53. Neubauer H, Petrak F, Zahn D, Pepinghege F, Hägele A-K, Pirkl P-A, Uhl I, Juckel G, Mügge A, Herpertz S (2013) Newly diagnosed depression is associated with increased beta-thromboglobulin levels and increased expression of platelet activation markers and platelet derived CD40-CD40L. J Psychiatr Res 47:865–871
- 54. Cathomas F, Fuertig R, Sigrist H, Newman G, Hoop V, Bizzozzero M, Mueller A, Ceci A, Hengerer B, Seifritz E, Fontana A, Pryce CR (2015) CD40-induced inflammation in mice leads to sustained emotional and cognitive dysfunctions coincident with altered tryptophan metabolism: a model for depression-autoimmune disease comorbidity. Brain Behav Immun 50:125–140
- 55. Taraborrelli C, Palchykova S, Tobler I, Gast H, Birchler T, Fontana A (2011) TNFR1 is essential for CD40, but not for lipopolysaccharide-induced sickness behavior and clock gene dysregulation. Brain Behav Immun 25:434–442
- 56. Eckel-Mahan K, Sassone-Corsi P (2013) Metabolism and the circadian clock converge. Physiol Rev 93:107–135
- 57. Franken P, Dijk D-J (2009) Circadian clock genes and sleep homeostasis. Eur J Neurosci 29:1820–1829
- Dibner C, Schibler U, Albrecht U (2010) The mammalian circadian timing system: organization and coordination of central and peripheral clocks. Annu Rev Physiol 72:517–549
- 59. Reick M, Garcia JA, Dudley C, McKnight SL (2001) NPAS2: an analog of clock operative in the mammalian forebrain. Science 293:506–509
- 60. Parry BL, Meliska CJ, Sorenson DL, Lopez AM, Martinez LF, Nowakowski S, Elliott JA, Hauger RL, Kripke DF (2008) Plasma melatonin circadian rhythm disturbances during pregnancy and postpartum in depressed women and women with personal or family histories of depression. Am J Psychiatry 165:1551–1558
- 61. Soria V, Martinez-Amoros E, Escaramis G, Valero J, Perez-Egea R, Garcia C, Gutierrez-Zotes A, Puigdemont D, Bayes M, Crespo JM, Martorell L, Vilella E, Labad A, Vallejo J, Perez V, Menchon JM, Estivill X, Gratacos M, Urretavizcaya M (2010) Differential association of circadian genes with mood disorders: CRY1 and NPAS2 are associated with unipolar major depression and CLOCK and VIP with bipolar disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 35:1279–1289
- 62. Li S-X, Liu L-J, Xu L-Z, Gao L, Wang X-F, Zhang J-T, Lu L (2013) Diurnal alterations in circadian genes and peptides in major depressive disorder before and after escitalopram treatment. Psychoneuroendocrinology 38:2789–2799
- 63. Bellet MM, Deriu E, Liu JZ, Grimaldi B, Blaschitz C, Zeller M, Edwards RA, Sahar S, Dandekar S, Baldi P, George MD, Raffatellu M, Sassone-Corsi P (2013) Circadian clock regulates the host response to Salmonella. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:9897–9902
- 64. Keller M, Mazuch J, Abraham U, Eom GD, Herzog ED, Volk H-D, Kramer A, Maier B (2009) A circadian clock in macrophages controls inflammatory immune responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:21407–21412

- 65. Cavadini G, Petrzilka S, Kohler P, Jud C, Tobler I, Birchler T, Fontana A (2007) TNF-a suppresses the expression of clock genes by interfering with E-box-mediated transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:12843–12848
- 66. Petrzilka S, Taraborrelli C, Cavadini G, Fontana A, Birchler T (2009) Clock gene modulation by TNF-alpha depends on calcium and p38 MAP kinase signaling. J Biol Rhythms 24:283–294
- 67. Lopez M, Meier D, Müller A, Franken P, Fujita J, Fontana A (2014) Tumor necrosis factor and transforming growth factor B regulate clock genes by controlling the expression of the cold inducible RNA-binding protein (CIRBP). J Biol Chem 289:2736–2744
- Meier D, Lopez M, Franken P, Fontana A (2015) Twist1 is a TNF-inducible inhibitor of clock mediated activation of period genes. PLoS One 10:e0137229
- 69. Hashiramoto A, Yamane T, Tsumiyama K, Yoshida K, Komai K, Yamada H, Yamazaki F, Doi M, Okamura H, Shiozawa S (2010) Mammalian clock gene cryptochrome regulates arthritis via proinflammatory cytokine TNF-alpha. J Immunol 184:1560–1565
- Yoshida K, Hashiramoto A, Okano T, Yamane T, Shibanuma N, Shiozawa S (2013) TNF-a modulates expression of the circadian clock gene Per2 in rheumatoid synovial cells. Scand J Rheumatol 42:276–280
- 71. Spies CM, Hoff P, Mazuch J, Gaber T, Maier B, Strehl C, Hahne M, Jakstadt M, Huscher D, Burmester GR, Detert J, Kramer A, Buttgereit F (2015) Circadian rhythms of cellular immunity in rheumatoid arthritis: a hypothesis-generating study. Clin Exp Rheumatol 33:34–43
- 72. Palmieri O, Mazzoccoli G, Bossa F, Maglietta R, Palumbo O, Ancona N, Corritore G, Latiano T, Martino G, Rubino R, Biscaglia G, Scimeca D, Carella M, Annese V, Andriulli A, Latiano A (2015) Systematic analysis of circadian genes using genome-wide cDNA microarrays in the inflammatory bowel disease transcriptome. Chronobiol Int 32:903–916
- 73. Habbas S, Santello M, Becker D, Stubbe H, Zappia G, Liaudet N, Klaus F, Kollias G, Fontana A, Pryce CR, Suter T, Volterra A (2015) Neuroinflammatory TNFa impairs memory via astrocyte signaling. Cell 163:1730–1741
- 74. Piani D, Frei K, Cuenod M, Fontana A (1991) Murine brain macrophages induced NMDA receptor mediated neurotoxicity in vitro by secreting glutamate. Neurosci Lett 133:159–162

Stress-Induced Microglia Activation and Monocyte Trafficking to the Brain Underlie the Development of Anxiety and Depression

Karol Ramirez, Jaime Fornaguera-Trías, and John F. Sheridan

Abstract Psychosocial stress is capable of causing immune dysregulation and increased neuroinflammatory signaling by repeated activation of the neuroendocrine and autonomic systems that may contribute to the development of anxiety and depression. The stress model of repeated social defeat (RSD) recapitulates many of the stress-driven alterations in the neuroimmune system seen in humans experiencing repeated forms of stress and associated affective disorders. For example, RSD-induced neuronal and microglia activation corresponds with sympathetic outflow to the peripheral immune system and increased ability of bone marrow derived myeloid progenitor cells (MPC) to redistribute throughout the body, including to the central nervous system (CNS), reinforcing stress-associated behaviors. An overview of the neuroendocrine, immunological, and behavioral stress-induced responses will be reviewed in this chapter using RSD to illustrate the

J. Fornaguera-Trías

J.F. Sheridan (⊠) Division of Biosciences, The Ohio State University College of Dentistry, PO Box 182357, Columbus, OH 43210, USA

Institute for Behavioral Medicine Research, The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH 43210, USA e-mail: sheridan.1@osu.edu

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 155–172 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_25 Published Online: 8 June 2016

K. Ramirez

Faculty of Dentistry, University of Costa Rica, San Pedro, San José 11501-2060, Costa Rica

Neuroscience Research Center, University of Costa Rica, San Pedro, San José 11501-2060, Costa Rica

Neuroscience Research Center, University of Costa Rica, San Pedro, San José 11501-2060, Costa Rica

Department of Biochemistry, School of Medicine, University of Costa Rica, San Pedro, San José 11501-2060, Costa Rica

mechanisms leading to stress-related alterations in inflammation in both the periphery and CNS, and stress-related changes in behavioral responses.

Keywords Anxiety • Depression • Microglia activation • Monocyte trafficking • Psychosocial stress • Social defeat

Contents

1	Introduction	156
2	Repeated Social Defeat as a Model of Psychosocial Stress	157
3	Psychological Stress Activates Neuroendocrine Pathways That Alter Immune	
	Responses	158
4	Stress-Induced Neurobiological Dysfunctions Are Associated with Altered Behavioral	
	Responses	160
5	Stress-Induced Microglia Activation Enhances Neuroinflammatory Signaling, Thereby	
	Reinforcing Stress-Associated Behaviors	161
6	Stress-Induced Neuroendocrine Outflow Increases Release and Trafficking of Bone	
	Marrow Derived Inflammatory Myeloid Progenitor Cells	164
7	Stress-Induced Brain-Monocyte Trafficking Influences Behavior	166
8	Concluding Remarks	167
Ret	ferences	168

1 Introduction

Psychosocial stress has been implicated in physiological and immunological alterations that contribute to the development of mental health disturbances such as anxiety and depression [1]. A plausible biological mechanism that contributes to stress-related mental health disorders is bidirectional communication between the immune system and the central nervous system (CNS) [2, 3]. Recent evidence suggests that stress-induced altered immune signaling significantly regulates mood and behavior [2, 4]. For example, chronic stress promotes a "transcriptional fingerprint" on peripheral leukocytes by up-regulating pro-inflammatory transcriptional control pathways, such as nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) [2, 5, 6]. Moreover, microglia activation, the innate immune cells of the brain, and sympathetic outflow to the peripheral immune system, as a consequence of stress, may facilitate the recruitment of inflammatory monocytes from the periphery to the CNS, thereby reinforcing stress-related behaviors [1]. Evidence from preclinical models supports a conserved inflammatory transcriptional response in leukocytes similar to that of chronically stressed humans [6]. Moreover, the establishment of anxiety-like behavior is promoted by trafficking of monocytes to the CNS [7]. It has also been postulated that anxiety-like behavior induced by long-term exposure of stress is reinforced through the propagation of cytokine signaling from the periphery to the brain [3]. The importance of elucidating the exact biological pathways that promote the development and exacerbation of anxiety and depression associated with exposure to repeated psychosocial stress could be a potential avenue for the treatment of these disorders.

2 Repeated Social Defeat as a Model of Psychosocial Stress

The strong impact of social stress on humans' health led to the development of representative preclinical animal models [8–12]. There are several stress models that recapitulate elements of the pathophysiology of mental health disorders [3]. Some clinically relevant murine models include repeated social defeat (RSD) [3, 8], inescapable tail-shock [9, 12], restraint stress [10, 11], and chronic unpredictable stress or chronic mild stress [13–16]. RSD, a model of psychosocial stress in mice, provides a valuable and predictable probe to study the mechanisms leading to stress-related alterations in inflammation in both the periphery and CNS [17]. These inflammatory responses are frequently associated with anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors [7, 18, 19].



Fig. 1 Repeated social defeat (RSD): a model of psychosocial stress in mice. (**a**) During RSD, the social hierarchy is disrupted by introducing an aggressive male intruder into the cage of an established cohort of resident mice nightly for 2 h. (b) RSD in done once a day for six consecutive nights (cycles) to mimic a recurring stressor

The natural tendency of male mice living together in a cage is to form social hierarchies [8, 20]. During RSD, the social hierarchy is disrupted by introducing an aggressive male intruder into the cage of an established cage of resident mice for 2 h between 17:00 and 19:00 (Fig. 1a, b). After six consecutive nights, the resident mice are defeated and display submissive behaviors to the intruder [8, 20]. RSD elicits unique central, endocrine, and immune responses and invokes a series of individual differences in both inbred and outbred mice [18], suggesting that the paradigm is independent of a specific genetic background [21]. The RSD murine model of chronic stress provides a mean to study the associations between immune activation and behavioral changes indicative of anxiety-like and depressive-like phenotypes.

3 Psychological Stress Activates Neuroendocrine Pathways That Alter Immune Responses

Brain and immune system communication involves a bidirectional interaction between these two systems by a shared and specialized pathway known as the neuroimmune axis [1]. The neuroimmune cross talk cannot be discussed without the inclusion of the endocrine system as a major bridge that unifies the interactions between these two systems during homeostasis. The brain, endocrine, and immune system communicate with one another through the synthesis and release of endogenous chemical messengers, primarily cytokines, chemokines, neurotransmitters, and hormones [1]. Synchronized neuroendocrine and neuroimmune responses to infectious or stressful stimuli are mandatory for adaptive physiological and behavioral responses. For example, endogenous and exogenous stressors stimulate neuroendocrine, sympathetic, and immune responses, ensuring the activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) [22]. HPA activation leads to the release of glucocorticoids (GCs) and SNS activation leads to the release of catecholamines, specifically epinephrine and norepinephrine, in circulation and tissues [19]. Jointly, HPA and SNS activation increases glucose breakdown, increases heart rate, and increases muscle tone during acute stress [23]. This provides increased energy availability to respond to aversive stimuli [22]. Through stimulation of the HPA and SNS, the stress response is relayed from the brain to peripheral organs and to the immune system with the purpose of activing the fight/flight response so that the organism can properly respond to the situation [1].

When homeostasis is disrupted by repeated psychosocial stress, there is an increase in inflammation in both the peripheral immune system and CNS by repeated activation of neuroendocrine and autonomic pathways [1]. The prolonged inflammatory state associated with social stress has the potential to contribute to the etiology of anxiety and depression [1]. Analysis of peripheral inflammatory

markers in the blood of patients with mood disorders reveals elevated levels of interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) levels [24–28]. In rodents, RSD causes an increase in pro-inflammatory molecules released into circulation [17]. Specifically, RSD causes an increase of IL-6, TNF- α , keratinocyte chemoattractant, macrophage inflammatory protein-2 (CCL8/MCP-2), and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (CCL2/MCP-1) [3]. It has been proposed that the increase of these pro-inflammatory factors is mediated by beta (β)-adrenergic signaling since pretreatment with propranolol, a non-selective β -adrenergic blocker, prevents increases of IL-6, TNF α , and CCL2 in circulation [22].

In terms of the mechanisms by which stress activates the inflammatory response, attention has focused on the impact of cytokines on the HPA axis, specifically related to major depression [2, 29, 30]. Administered cytokines stimulate the expression and release of corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH), adrenocortico-tropic hormone (ACTH), and cortisol, all of which are altered in depressed patients [2]. Likely, mice exposed to RSD have increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in plasma, paralleled with an increased mRNA expression of CRH in the hypothalamus (HYPO), high blood levels of ACTH, and corticosterone in plasma [17, 31].

Repeated social defeat induces glucocorticoid insensitivity in innate immune cells [32]. This insensitivity prevents the GC-induced suppression of inflammation [3]. In the RSD model of stress, splenocytes did not have the ability to suppress NF-kB activity due to a failure of the nuclear translocation of the GC receptor [33]. Increased GC resistance may be related to high levels of cortisol in stress-related depression [34]. A recent study found that resistance to antidepressant treatment was associated with abnormalities in the HPA axis negative feedback response and the restoration of HPA axis hyperactivation to baseline levels was associated with remission in depressed patients [35]. A prolonged inflammatory state, as the one that occurs as a consequence of social stress, has the potential to contribute to the etiology of anxiety and depression [36, 37].

Evidence from in vivo studies show a clear trend to increase IL-6 plasma levels in both acute and chronic depression [29]. Monocytes of chronically stressed caregivers stimulated with LPS showed greater production of IL-6 relative to controls [38]. Interestingly, immune cells from patients that have undergone psychological stress do not show enhanced cytokine production in vitro, even though they show increased circulating levels of IL-6 [39]. The source of circulating IL-6 may derive from the CNS. Central injections to block IL-1 β or adrenergic signaling attenuated stress-induced increase of circulating IL-6 [39]. There is evidence that psychosocial stress triggers activation of IL-6-containing neurons in the hypothalamo-neurohyphophyseal system, and this activation is paralleled by an increase in plasma IL-6 [39]. Studies indicate that magnocellular vasopressin neurons produce IL-6, and then it is transported to the neurohypophysis, where it is released into the peripheral circulation [40, 41]. Pretreatment with propranolol in mice subjected to RSD, and the use of IL-1 receptor type-1 knockout (IL-1R KO) mice in the RSD model, inhibited stress-associated increase in serum IL-6 comparable to home caged controls [42]. In the same manner, treatment with

antidepressant imipramine and benzodiazepines, lorazepam and clonazepam, significantly attenuated corticosterone and norepinephrine levels in plasma of mice subjected to RSD and decreased levels of IL-6 in plasma after six cycles of stress compared to home cage controls ([17]; unpublished data from Sheridan et al.). These data generated in different studies suggest that the production of IL-6 might also be from another cellular source different from peripheral immune cells.

4 Stress-Induced Neurobiological Dysfunctions Are Associated with Altered Behavioral Responses

Neurobiological and behavioral responses occur when physiological stress is interpreted within the brain leading to activation of fear and threat appraisal circuitry [7, 42]. Among the brain regions that are involved in the neurocircuitry of stress responses are the prefrontal cortex (PFC), HYPO, amygdala (AMYG), the CA3 and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (HPC), and lateral septum (LS) [7, 17, 19]. Repeated activation of neurophysiological circuits by stress may lead to dysfunction in these limbic regions. In fact, dysregulation of the LS is associated with anxiety and depression in humans [43]. Other brain regions that are activated in response to social stressors are the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST) and nucleus accumbens (NAc). These limbic regions are implicated in regulating mood [42]. Studies suggest that anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors related to stress are associated with neurobiological dysfunctions within brain regions that regulate emotional and behavioral responses such as the PFC, AMYG, and HPC [42]. For example, using rodent stress models that induce depression- and anxiety-like symptoms, it was demonstrated that stress caused neuronal atrophy and dendritic retraction of neurons in the PFC [44]. Additionally, stress was related to dendritic atrophy and changes in spine density [28]. Social defeat stress was reported to reduce neurogenesis in the HPC [45]. Recent literature has identified structural and functional impairments within the brain's reward circuitry, specifically in the ventral tegmental (VTA) area to the NAc pathway, that were associated with anhedonia (decreased sucrose preference), a depressive-like symptom in rodents [28].

Recently, increasing attention has focused on the relationship between neuroinflammation and mood disorders [7, 17, 19, 42, 46]. As stated previously, bouts of repeated stress induce immune-enhancement and cause a pro-inflammatory phenotype by promoting a state of GC-insensitivity to develop in innate immune cells [8, 47]. This GC-insensitivity prevents the suppression of inflammation by reducing immune cell apoptosis and inhibiting NF-kB [3]. NF-kB is a downstream target of pro-inflammatory mediators IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α , both in peripheral tissues and in the brain. It has been shown that NF-kB has the potential of regulating the brain reward circuitry in depression models. Altered central levels of these pro-inflammatory factors act in the HPC, increasing depressive-like behavior in

response to chronic stress [28]. For instance, NF-kB activation in the HPC is required for the stress-related impairment of neurogenesis and induction of anhedonia [48]. Chronic social defeat stress increases levels of inhibitor of kappa B kinase (IKK) in the NAc, which increases NF-kB signaling by phosphorylation of IkB, causing its dissociation from NF-kB [28]. New immature excitatory spine structures on NAc dendrites are formed by the activation of NF-kB as well [49]. Moreover, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α modulate neuronal activity [50]. For example, stress-induced neuroinflammatory signaling increases neuroplasticity that modifies connectivity between neuronal circuitry underlying behavioral disorders such as long-lasting anxiety and depressive symptoms [15, 48, 49].

In the RSD model, stress-induced neuroinflammation impaired hippocampal neurogenesis and promoted cognitive and affective behavioral deficits [51]. In this study, mice that were exposed to stress showed transient impairments in spatial memory recall that resolved within 28 days after stress cessation. In assessment of neurogenesis, the number of proliferating neural progenitor cells and the number of young, developing neurons were significantly impaired when examined 10 and 28 days after stress termination. In addition, social avoidance, a measure of depressive-like behavior associated with caudal hippocampal circuitry, persisted 28 days after RSD [51]. Treatment with minocycline, an antibiotic that has anti-inflammatory properties at the periphery and in the brain, prevented microglia activation and abrogated impairment in spatial memory after RSD. Minocycline did not prevent deficits in neurogenesis nor did it prevent the persistence of social avoidance behavior in mice exposed to stress [51]. These findings suggest that neuroinflammatory activation after psychosocial stress impairs spatial memory performance independent of deficits in neurogenesis and social avoidance [51].

5 Stress-Induced Microglia Activation Enhances Neuroinflammatory Signaling, Thereby Reinforcing Stress-Associated Behaviors

Stress activates microglia, the resident immune cells of the brain. The activation of microglia refers to changes in morphology (increased size of the soma, for instance) that corresponds with increased mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines [1] (Fig. 2). Microglia plays a pivotal role in immune monitoring in the CNS, and when activated displays similar immune functions as peripheral macrophages, including the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and prostaglandins [42]. Several studies have demonstrated that microglia are activated and increase neuroinflammatory signaling after stress exposure [7, 9, 19, 52–56]. Minocycline ameliorated the expression of IL-1 β in the brain after foot shock [57]. It was also reported that minocycline reduces restraint stress-induced cognitive deficits, depressive- and anxiety-like behaviors, the expression



Fig. 2 Summary of stress-induced neuroimmune responses. RSD activates the HPA axis and the SNS, highlighted by increases in systemic glucocorticoids (GCs) that trigger the release of catecholamines. RSD enhances myelopoiesis and promotes the development, priming, and egress of GC-resistant CD11b+ cells from the BM to spleen, lung, and circulation. RSD promotes increased levels of pro-inflammatory molecules in plasma and in the CNS that promotes the development of a reactive endothelium. Vascular brain endothelial cells increase cell adhesion molecule expression that facilitates the adherence and extravasation of peripherally derived monocytes that differentiate into perivascular and parenchymal macrophages. The increased pro-inflammatory signaling is associated with behavioral alterations

of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the brain, and microglial activation [53]. Also, minocycline treatment attenuated neuronal activation induced by restraint stress as indicated by reduced Fos B labeling of neurons [53]. Thus, microglia likely contribute to the dysfunctional neurobiological stress response in the CNS by reinforcing neuronal activity. Moreover, there is evidence that activation of microglia potentiates HPA axis stimulation through the release of IL-1 β within the HYPO [13], augmenting neuroendocrine outflow that may reinforce stress-associated behaviors.

It has been reported that long-lasting stress causes neuronal and microglia activation in stress-responsive brain regions such as the PFC, HYPO, AMYG, and the CA3 and dentate gyrus of the HPC [19, 56, 58, 59]. RSD evokes a "fight or flight" response that causes neuronal and microglia activation within brain regions associated with fear, anxiety, and threat appraisal [42]. It has been suggested that this neuronal activation precedes microglia activation. Evidence from the RSD stress model revealed an increase in region-specific expression of c-Fos indicating neuronal activation after just one cycle of social defeat, while Iba-1 expression, indicating microglial activation, occurred after three cycles of social defeat [19]. The increased mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in microglia occurs generally after three cycles of RSD [7], suggesting that neuronal activation occurs first and is followed by activation of microglia. In support of this idea is the fact that microglia monitor neurons through CD200/CD200R interactions, chemokine signaling (i.e., CX3CL1), growth factors (i.e., M-CSF), ATP release, and neurotransmitter levels [1, 60-63]. In the RSD paradigm, regionspecific microglia activation is associated with a reduction of neuronal-derived fractalkine ligand (CX3CL1) and decreased expression of fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1) on microglia, both anti-inflammatory regulators [1].

Altered morphological changes in microglia after RSD, foot shock, and chronic unpredictable stress were all associated with augmented mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory molecules and exaggerated pro-inflammatory responses to mitogen-stimulation ([9, 19, 46]). For instance, brain microglia from socially defeated mice show high levels of IL1- β , IL-6, TNF- α mRNA expression and reduced levels of GC responsive genes (GC-induced leucine zipper (GILZ) and FK506 binding protein-51 (FKBP51)) [19]. Furthermore, isolated brain microglia from RSD mice and cultured ex vivo produced increased levels of IL-6, TNF- α , and CCL-2 following stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) compared to microglia from the brain of home cage control mice [19], even 24 days after stress cessation [46]. Neuroinflammatory mediators such as IL1- β , TNF- α , and IL-6, are involved in the neurobiological changes that reinforce fear/anxiety and threat circuitry [42], promoting the development and maintenance of prolonged depressive- and anxietylike behavior [42, 46].

Repeated social defeat-induced neuronal and microglia activation and active production of pro-inflammatory molecules promote the development of a reactive endothelium [42]. Vascular brain endothelial cells show increased cell adhesion molecule expression. This facilitates the adherence and extravasation of peripherally derived monocytes, which differentiate into perivascular and parenchymal macrophages [42]. Furthermore, parenchymal infiltration of peripherally derived monocytes is region specific and is observed within the fear, anxiety, and threat appraisal circuitry [7]. The increased accumulation of macrophages in the CNS is elicited by RSD enhanced neuroinflammatory signaling [7, 17, 19, 42]. RSD also enhanced reactivity of microglia and macrophages in a brain area-dependent manner [7, 19, 42]. In a previous study, reactivity of microglia and macrophages was determined through Iba-1 staining in the medial AMYG, PFC, and paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the HPC. These findings show that social defeat

enhances the active microglia phenotype in several areas of the brain associated with fear and threat appraisal, after 6 days of RSD [19].

Repeated social defeat-induced anxiety-like behavior persists for at least 8 days after social defeat but resolves by 24 days [42]. Additionally, 24 days after RSD termination, markers of immune alterations associated with RSD, such as spleno-megaly, plasma IL-6, and the number of circulating CD11b+ cells, return to control levels. Neuroinflammatory signaling returns to baseline by 24 days; however, the IL-6 mRNA level is still elevated at this time-point [7, 46]. Iba-1 labeling of microglia and increased Iba-1 proportional area were detected in the PFC 24 days after RSD. However, increased Iba-1 was no longer detected in the AMYG, CA3, and dentate gyrus of the HPC by 24 days, suggesting that the temporal dynamics of microglia activation is brain region-dependent. In addition, brain macrophage accumulation was no longer detected at 24 days after stress cessation [7]. It was apparent that microglia returned to a surveying state after RSD in a time- and region-dependent manner.

It should be noted, nevertheless, that social avoidance behavior developed after one cycle of social defeat [7], and long-lasting social avoidance to an intruder, was present 24 days after stress cessation when the majority of macrophages were no longer present in the CNS. Interestingly, administration of imipramine reversed social avoidant behavior in mice exposed to social defeat [46]. Moreover, 24 days of imipramine treatment in RSD mice significantly decreased stress-induced mRNA levels of IL-6 in brain microglia [46]. Following ex vivo LPS stimulation, microglia from mice exposed to RSD produced exaggerated levels of IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-1 β , and this was reversed by imipramine treatment [46]. These data suggest that the antidepressant imipramine may exert its effect, in part, by down-regulating microglial activation and that social avoidance is mediated by long-lasting stressinduced phenotypic changes to microglia.

6 Stress-Induced Neuroendocrine Outflow Increases Release and Trafficking of Bone Marrow Derived Inflammatory Myeloid Progenitor Cells

Hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis and SNS activation relay stress interpretation from the CNS to the peripheral immune system [1]. For example, stress leads to release of catecholamines into lymphoid tissues, including the BM, lymph nodes, and spleen [1, 64]. Peripheral immune cells express receptors for norepinephrine, and when these receptors are stimulated, functional responses occur that influence the development and mobility of these cells, as well as their inflammatory phenotype [6]. For example, repeated activation of the SNS caused an increase of norepinephrine in the BM that promoted a shift in myelopoiesis after RSD exposure [22]. Myeloid cells produced in the BM, as a result of RSD, were more inflammatory and less mature [31]. This is relevant since these inflammatory myeloid progenitor cells (MPCs) traffic throughout the body and have an increased capacity of releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines upon becoming effector cells [1, 46]. The immature nature of these MPCs is pertinent since these cells were found to be GC-resistant [31]. It has been suggested that the accumulation of these GC-insensitive, immature monocytes corresponds with a state of GC-insensitivity during chronic stress [1]. Pharmacological blockade of stress-induced myelopoiesis by β -adrenergic antagonism prevented accumulation of monocytes [6, 22, 65], and this was associated with reversal of GC-insensitivity [22] and abrogation of pro-inflammatory transcriptional profiles following RSD exposure [6].

BM-derived monocytes traffic and are recruited into inflamed tissue in models of trauma, neurological disease and infection [66, 67]. Evidence also indicates that trafficking and recruitment of monocytes from the periphery into the brain occur after exposure to psychological stress [7, 19, 42, 68, 69], representing a mechanism by which the immune system communicates with the brain. Following 5 days of foot shock stress, BM-derived monocytes trafficked to the ventral HPC and demonstrated a ramified microglia-like morphological phenotype [70]. The stimulus of simply watching other mice receiving foot shock stress was enough to recruit monocytes to the brain parenchyma in another study using rodents [68]. Chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2) and β -adrenergic signaling contributed significantly to the infiltration of BM-derived monocytes [68, 69]. In a preclinical model of neuropathic pain, partial sciatic nerve ligation induced anxiety-like behavior and trafficking of BM-derived monocytes into the AMYG [69]. In this same study, administration of CCR2 and IL-1 receptor antagonist in the AMYG ablated monocyte trafficking [69]. Stress-induced trafficking of inflammatory monocytes exacerbates the inflammatory signaling in the CNS and influences behavior [7, 22, 42, 65, 69]. For instance, in a clinical study of depression, patients who committed suicide had increased Iba-1 immunolabeling compared to controls, indicating the presence of vascular-associated macrophages in the brain [71].

Psychological stress causes distinct patterns of monocyte trafficking to the CNS [3]. Green fluorescent protein-positive (GFP+) BM-chimeric mice were created in order to evaluate the brain regions that these cells infiltrated following stress exposure, by reconstituting the BM of wild-type mice with BM-derived donor cells that ubiquitously expressed GFP [7]. Consistent with previous studies demonstrating that microglia are not BM derived under homeostatic conditions [63] control chimeric mice displayed little or no GFP+ cells within the CNS parenchyma [7]. Nonetheless, RSD mice displayed GFP+ BM-derived monocytes that extravasated into the brain parenchyma in a region- and defeat cycle-dependent manner [7]. These GFP+ parenchymal macrophages showed a ramified, microglia-like morphology with elevated expression of Iba1 [7].

The increased infiltration of parenchymal ramified GFP+ macrophage was observed following six cycles of RSD [7]. Increased ramified GFP+ cells were observed in brain regions associated with fear, anxiety, and threat appraisal including the PFC, PVN, LS, BNST, and AMYG, but were not observed in other brain regions like the motor cortex, striatum, somatosensory cortex, or cerebellum [7]. This regional specificity of RSD-induced trafficking reinforced the patterns of c-Fos and Iba1 expression, neuronal and microglia activation respectively, observed in other studies [7, 19]. These data suggest that stress tends to cause region-specific monocyte recruitment to the brain.

7 Stress-Induced Brain-Monocyte Trafficking Influences Behavior

Clinical and preclinical studies have indicated that stress promotes the onset of anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors [72–74]. There are temporal relationships between the development, resolution, and recurrence of anxiety and neuroimmune signaling in the RSD model. For example, anxiety and pro-inflammatory cytokine production in the CNS, and brain macrophage accumulation were observed in an exposure dependent manner after stress exposure. These parameters were increased moderately compared to controls after three cycles or RSD and peaked after six cycles of social defeat [7]. The resolution of anxiety and brain-monocyte trafficking was also correlated [1]. For example, as stated earlier in this chapter, both anxiety-like behavior and increased brain macrophages persisted for at least 8 days after RSD and both of these parameters were resolved by 24 days [42]. It should be noted that social avoidance to an aggressor mouse was maintained 24 days later [42]. Based on this timing and lack of macrophages in the CNS 24 days after stress cessation, social avoidance is present independent of monocyte trafficking to the CNS.

Experimental interventions in the RSD model helped elucidate the cause and effect relationship between anxiety-like behavior and brain-monocyte trafficking to the brain [19, 75]. For instance, pretreatment with propranolol prevented the release and trafficking of BM-derived monocytes to the CNS [19], and this was associated with reversal of anxiety-like behavior measured in the open field and light/dark box tests. Moreover, IL-1R1KO mice prevented both RSD-induced anxiety-like behavior and brain-monocyte trafficking [19, 42]. Together, these data support the notion that RSD-induced anxiety-like behavior is dependent upon monocyte trafficking to the brain and is mediated by SNS and IL-1 signaling.

In subsequent studies, interference with monocyte trafficking to the CNS ablated anxiety-like behavior in mice exposed to stress [7]. Transgenic mice deficient in CCR2 (CCL2 receptor KO) or CX3CR1 (CX3CR1KO), which are two key monocyte chemokine receptors, were used to show that the expression of both receptors is required for RSD-induced trafficking of monocytes to the CNS [7]. In this study, monocyte trafficking into the brain and anxiety-like behavior following RSD were absent in both CCR2KO and CX3CR1KO mice [7]. A key finding is that chemokine deficiency was associated with blockade of stress-induced accumulation of both CD45^{hi} perivascular macrophages and GFP+ parenchymal macrophages, as studied in both naïve and BM-chimeric mice [1, 7]. However, increased circulating LY6Chi monocytes were detected in CCR2 and CX3CR1KO mice after RSD, suggesting

that the release of monocytes is not sufficient to traffic into the brain. Prevention of brain-monocyte trafficking in knockout mice was not associated with attenuation of elevated IL-1 β mRNA expression in mice exposed to stress [7], suggesting that intrinsic neuroinflammatory signaling is not enough to promote anxiety-like symptoms. Thus, this finding indicates once more that monocyte trafficking to the brain is likely responsible for the promotion of anxiety-like behavior following RSD.

Other studies have also supported the hypothesis that brain macrophage trafficking affects behavior [69, 76]. For example, in an inflammatory liver disease model, an important role for brain macrophage trafficking in the development of fatigue and depressive-like behavior was demonstrated [76]. Also, in a neuropathic pain model, region-specific trafficking of monocytes to the AMYG was CCR2/ CCL2-dependent and monocyte trafficking was found to exacerbate pain-induced anxiety-like behavior [69]. Moreover, in this same study, pain-induced anxiety-like behavior associated with monocyte trafficking to the AMYG was prevented by local microinjection of IL-1R1 antagonist [69]. Likewise, in a model of inflammatory liver disease, recruitment of TNF-alpha-expressing monocytes to the brain promoted depressive-like behavior and fatigue [77]. These reports suggest that monocyte trafficking to the brain promotes changes in behavior through central cytokine signaling as well.

8 Concluding Remarks

As it has been consistently shown, chronic psychosocial stress promotes activation of peripheral and central myeloid cells (macrophages/microglia) that enhance neuroinflammatory signaling and contribute to the development of anxiety-like behavior, and maintenance of long-lasting social withdrawal [3, 7, 17, 19, 22, 42, 46]. Investigators have suggested that dysfunctional neuron-microglia crosstalk may be the root of neuroinflammatory signaling after stress exposure [78]. Previous work demonstrated that RSD triggered anxiety-like behaviors and enhanced the inflammatory state in the periphery and in the CNS in a β -adrenergic dependent manner [19, 22]. Interruption of noradrenergic locus coeruleus projections was accompanied by a reduction in stress-induced IL-1 β production [54]. In other words, central noradrenergic responses exert a major role in stress-induced microglia activation.

Preclinical animal models, such as the RSD paradigm, have provided insights into mechanisms by which stress impacts neuroimmune function, its dysregulation, and also behavior. In summary (Fig. 2), the proposed mechanism is that RSD evokes a "fight or flight" response that promotes neuronal and microglia activation to co-occur. RSD activates the HPA axis and SNS activation highlighted by increased levels of corticosterone in serum, pro-inflammatory products in plasma (IL-6 and CCL-2), and catecholamines in tissues and circulation. The increased levels of norepinephrine in the bone marrow specifically have been associated with a shift in myelopoiesis promoting the development, priming, and egress of an MPC

from the bone marrow to circulation and organs (spleen, lung, and brain). RSD promotes a reactive endothelium stimulating the extravasation of peripherally derived monocytes [79]. The trafficking of monocytes to the perivascular spaces and parenchyma is region specific and co-occurs within brain regions associated with fear, anxiety, and threat appraisal circuitry [1, 7, 19]. These monocytes differentiate into macrophages enhancing neuroinflammatory signaling which is associated with prolonged anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors [1, 7, 17, 19, 46]. Overall, these translational insights may be useful in generating new therapeutic approaches for those patients suffering from anxiety and depression.

Acknowledgement We want to thank Dr. Michael Weber for his critical reading of the manuscript. These studies were supported by NIH grants R01-MH093473 and R01-MH097243 to JFS.

References

- 1. Wohleb ES, McKim DB, Sheridan JF, Godbout JP (2015) Monocyte trafficking to the brain with stress and inflammation: a novel axis of immune-to-brain communication that influences mood and behavior. Front Neurosci 8:447
- 2. Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009) Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 65(9):732–741
- Reader BF, Jarrett BL, McKim DB, Wohleb ES, Godbout JP, Sheridan JF (2015) Peripheral and central effects of repeated social defeat stress: monocyte trafficking, microglial activation, and anxiety. Neuroscience 289(1):429–442
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:46–56
- Cole SW, Conti G, Arevalo JM, Ruggiero A, Heckman JJ, Suomi SJ (2012) Transcriptional modulation of the developing immune system by early life social adversity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:20578–20583
- 6. Powell ND, Sloan EK, Bailey MT, Arevalo JM, Miller GE, Chen E, Kobor MS, Reader BF, Sheridan JF, Cole SW (2013) Social stress up-regulates inflammatory gene expression in the leukocyte transcriptome via β-adrenergic induction of myelopoiesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(41):16574–16579
- Wohleb ES, Powell ND, Godbout JP, Sheridan JF (2013) Stress-induced recruitment of bone marrow-derived monocytes to the brain promotes anxiety-like behavior. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 33(34):13820–13833
- Avitsur R, Stark JL, Sheridan JF (2001) Social stress induces glucocorticoid resistance in subordinate animals. Horm Behav 39(4):247–257
- Frank MG, Baratta MV, Sprunger DB, Watkins LR, Maier SF (2007) Microglia serve as a neuroimmune substrate for stress-induced potentiation of CNS pro-inflammatory cytokine responses. Brain Behav Immun 21(1):47–59
- Hermann G, Tovar CA, Beck M, Allen C, Sheridan JF (1993) Restraint stress differentially affects the pathogenesis of an experimental influenza viral infection in three inbred strains of mice. J Neuroimmunol 47(1):83–93
- Hermann G, Beck M, Sheridan JF (1995) Stress-induced glucocorticoid response modulates mononuclear cell trafficking during an experimental influenza viral infection. J Neuroimmunol 56(2):179–186

- Johnson JD, O'Connor KA, Deak T, Stark M, Watkins LR, Maier SF (2002) Prior stressor exposure sensitizes LPS-induced cytokine production. Brain Behav Immun 16(4):461–476
- 13. Goshen I, Yirmiya R (2009) Interleukin-1 (IL-1): a central regulator of stress responses. Front Neuroendocrinol 30(1):30–45
- Herman JP, Adams D, Prewitt C (1995) Regulatory changes in neuroendocrine stressintegrative circuitry produced by a variable stress paradigm. Neuroendocrinology 61 (2):180–190
- Koo JW, Duman RS (2009) Interleukin-1 receptor null mutant mice show decreased anxietylike behavior and enhanced fear memory. Neurosci Lett 456(1):39–43
- 16. Munhoz CD, Lepsch LB, Kawamoto EM, Malta MB, Lima Lde S, Avellar MC, Sapolsky RM, Scavone C (2006) Chronic unpredictable stress exacerbates lipopolysaccharide-induced activation of nuclear factor-kappaB in the frontal cortex and hippocampus via glucocorticoid secretion. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 26(14):3813–3820
- Ramirez K, Niraula A, Sheridan JF (2016) GABAergic modulation with classical benzodiazepines prevent stress-induced neuro-immune dysregulation and behavioral alterations. Brain Behav Immun 51:154–168
- Kinsey SG, Bailey MT, Sheridan JF, Padgett DA, Avitsur R (2007) Repeated social defeat causes increased anxiety-like behavior and alters splenocyte function in C57BL/6 and CD-1 mice. Brain Behav Immun 21(4):458–466
- Wohleb ES, Hanke ML, Corona AW, Powell ND, Stiner LM, Bailey MT, Nelson RJ, Godbout JP, Sheridan JF (2011) β-Adrenergic receptor antagonism prevents anxiety-like behavior and microglial reactivity induced by repeated social defeat. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 31 (17):6277–6288
- Stark JL, Avitsur R, Padgett DA, Campbell KA, Beck M, Sheridan JF (2001) Social stress induces glucocorticoid resistance in macrophages. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 280(649–6):R1799–R1805
- Avitsur R, Powell N, Padgett DA, Sheridan JF (2009) Social interactions, stress, and immunity. Immunol Allergy Clin N Am 29(2):285–293
- Hanke ML, Powell ND, Stiner LM, Bailey MT, Sheridan JF (2012) Beta adrenergic blockade decreases the immunomodulatory effects of social disruption stress. Brain Behav Immun 26 (7):1150–1159
- 23. Sternberg EM (2006) Neural regulation of innate immunity: a coordinated nonspecific host response to pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol 6(4):318–328
- 24. Dahl J, Ormstad H, Aass HC, Sandvik L, Malt UF, Andreassen OA (2016) Recovery from major depressive disorder episode after non-pharmacological treatment is associated with normalized cytokine levels. doi:10.1111/acps.12576
- Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W, Liu H, Sham L, Reim EK, Lanctôt KL (2010) A metaanalysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67(5):446–457
- 26. Goldsmith DR, Rapaport MH, Miller BJ (2016) A meta-analysis of blood cytokine network alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression. Mol Psychiatry. doi:10.1038/mp.2016.3
- Ramirez K (2015) Neuroimmunological responses to social isolation. Odovtos Int J Dent Sci 17(1):8–11. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.15517/ijds.v0i0.22032
- Russo SJ, Nestler E (2013) The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. Nat Rev Neurosc 14 (9):609–625
- 29. Janssen DGA, Caniato RN, Verster JC, Baune BT (2010) A psychoneuroimmunological review on cytokines involved in antidepressant treatment response. Hum Psychopharmacol Clin Exp 25(3):201–215
- Kenis G, Maes M (2002) Effects of antidepressants on the production of cytokines. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 5(4):401–412
- Engler H, Engler A, Bailey MT, Sheridan JF (2005) Tissue-specific alterations in the glucocorticoid sensitivity of immune cells following repeated social defeat in mice. J Neuroimmunol 163(1-2):110–119

- 32. Avitsur R, Stark JL, Dhabhar FS, Sheridan JF (2002) Social stress alters splenocyte phenotype and function. J Neuroimmunol 132(1-2):66–71
- Quan N, Avitsur R, Stark JL, He L, Lai W, Dhabhar F, Sheridan JF (2003) Molecular mechanisms of glucocorticoid resistance in splenocytes of socially stressed male mice. J Neuroimmunol 137(1-2):51–58
- 34. Gadek-Michalska A, Borycz J, Bugajski J (1994) Pituitary-adrenocortical responsiveness to histaminergic stimulation during social stress of crowding in rats. Agents Actions 41:C80–C81
- Antonioli M, Rybka J, Carvalho LA (2012) Neuroimmune endocrine effects of antidepressants. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 8:65–83
- 36. Barnes PJ, Adcock IM (2009) Glucocorticoid resistance in inflammatory diseases. Lancet 373:1905–1917
- Meduri GU, Yates CR (2004) Systemic inflammation-associated glucocorticoid resistance and outcome of ARDS. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1024:24–53
- Miller GE, Murphy ML, Cashman R, Ma R, Ma J, Arevalo JM, Kobor MS, Cole SW (2014) Greater inflammatory activity and blunted glucocorticoid signaling in monocytes of chronically stressed caregivers. Brain Behav Immun 41:191–199
- Jankord R, Zhang R, Flak JN, Solomon MB, Albertz J, Herman JP (2010) Stress activation of IL-6 neurons in the hypothalamus. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 299(1):343–351
- 40. Ghorbel MT, Sharman G, Leroux M, Barrett T, Donovan DM, Becker KG, Murphy D (2003) Microarray analysis reveals interleukin-6 as a novel secretory product of the hypothalamoneurohypophyseal system. J Biol Chem 278(21):19280–19285
- 41. Jankord R, Turk JR, Schadt JC, Casati J, Ganjam VK, Price EM, Keisler DH, Laughlin MH (2007) Sex difference in link between interleukin-6 and stress. Endocrinology 148 (8):3758–3764
- 42. Wohleb ES, McKim DB, Shea DT, Powell ND, Tarr AJ, Sheridan JF, Godbout JP (2014) Re-establishment of anxiety in stress-sensitized mice is caused by monocyte trafficking from the spleen to the brain. Biol Psychiatry 75(12):970–981
- 43. Sheehan TP, Chambers R, Andrew R, David S (2004) Regulation of affect by the lateral septum: implications for neuropsychiatry. Brain Res Rev 46(1):71–117
- 44. Radley JJ, Sisti HM, Hao J, Rocher AB, McCall T, Hof PR, McEwen BS, Morrison JH (2004) Chronic behavioral stress induces apical dendritic reorganization in pyramidal neurons of the medial prefrontal cortex. Neuroscience 125(1):1–6
- 45. Van Bokhoven P, Oomen CA, Hoogendijk WJ, Smit AB, Lucassen PJ, Spijker S (2011) Reduction in hippocampal neurogenesis after social defeat is long-lasting and responsive to late antidepressant treatment. Eur J Neurosci 33(10):1833–1840
- 46. Ramirez K, Shea DT, McKim DB, Reader BF, Sheridan JF (2015) Imipramine attenuates neuroinflammatory signaling and reverses stress-induced social avoidance. Brain Behav Immun 46:212–220
- 47. Bailey MT, Kierstein S, Sharma S, Spaits M, Kinsey SG, Tliba O, Amrani Y, Sheridan JF, Panettieri RA, Haczku A (2009) Social stress enhances allergen-induced airway inflammation in mice and inhibits corticosteroid responsiveness of cytokine production. J Immunol 182 (12):7888–7896
- 48. Koo JW, Russo SJ, Ferguson D, Nestler EJ, Duman RS (2010) Nuclear factor-kappaB is a critical mediator of stress-impaired neurogenesis and depressive behavior. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(6):2669–2674
- 49. Christoffel DJ, Golden SA, Dumitriu D, Robison AJ, Janssen WG, Ahn HF, Krishnan V, Reyes CM, Han MH, Ables JL, Eisch AJ, Dietz DM, Ferguson D, Neve RL, Greengard P, Kim Y, Morrison JH, Russo SJ (2011) IkB kinase regulates social defeat stress-induced synaptic and behavioral plasticity. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 31(1):314–321
- 50. Ozaktay AC, Kallakuri ST, Tsuneo Cavanaugh JM, Asik I, DeLeo JA, Weinstein JN (2006) Effects of interleukin-1 beta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor on sensitivity of dorsal root ganglion and peripheral receptive fields in rats. Eur Spine J 15(10):1529–1537

- 51. McKim DB, Niraula A, Tarr AJ, Wohleb ES, Sheridan JF, Godbout JP (2016) Neuroinflammatory dynamics underlie memory impairments after repeated social defeat. J Neurosci 36(9):2590–2604
- Bian Y, Pan Z, Hou Z, Huang C, Li W, Zhao B (2012) Learning, memory, and glial cell changes following recovery from chronic unpredictable stress. Brain Res Bull 88:471–476
- 53. Hinwood M, Morandini J, Day TA, Walker FR (2012) Evidence that microglia mediate the neurobiological effects of chronic psychological stress on the medial prefrontal cortex. Cereb Cortex 22(6):1442–1454
- Johnson JD, Campisi J, Sharkey CM, Kennedy SL, Nickerson M, Greenwood BN, Fleshner M (2005) Catecholamines mediate stress-induced increases in peripheral and central inflammatory cytokines. Neuroscience 135(4):1295–1307
- 55. Kopp BL, Wick D, Herman JP (2013) Differential effects of homotypic vs. heterotypic chronic stress regimens on microglial activation in the prefrontal cortex. Physiol Behav 122:246–252
- 56. Tynan RJ, Naicker S, Hinwood M, Nalivaiko E, Buller KM, Pow DV et al (2010) Chronic stress alters the density and morphology of microglia in a subset of stress-responsive brain regions. Brain Behav Immun 24:1058–1068
- 57. Blandino P Jr, Barnum CJ, Solomon LG, Larish Y, Lankow BS, Deak T (2009) Gene expression changes in the hypothalamus provide evidence for regionally-selective changes in IL1 and microglial markers after acute stress. Brain Behav Immun 23:958–968
- Kollack-Walker S, Watson SJ, Akil H (1997) Social stress in hamsters: defeat activates specific neurocircuits within the brain. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 17(22):8842–8855
- 59. Martinez M, Calvo-Torrent A, Herbert J (2002) Mapping brain response to social stress in rodents with c-fos expression: a review. Stress 5(1):3–13
- 60. Cardona AE, Pioro EP, Sasse ME, Kostenko V, Cardona SM, Dijkstra IM, Huang D, Kidd G, Dombrowski S, Dutta R, Lee JC, Cook DN, Jung S, Lira SA, Littman DR, Ransohoff RM (2006) Control of microglial neurotoxicity by the fractalkine receptor. Nat Neurosci 9 (7):917–924
- 61. Dissing-Olesen L, LeDue JM, Rungta RL, Hefendehl JK, Choi HB, MacVicar BA (2014) Activation of neuronal NMDA receptors triggers transient ATP mediated microglial process out growth. J Neurosci 34:10511–10527
- 62. Kettenmann H, Kirchhoff F, Verkhratsky A (2013) Microglia: new roles for the synaptic stripper. Neuron 77(1):10–18
- 63. Kierdorf K, Prinz M (2013) Factors regulating microglia activation. Front Cell Neurosci 7:44
- 64. Felten DL, Felten SY, Carlson SL, Olschowka JA, Livnat S (1985) Noradrenergic and peptidergic innervation of lymphoid tissue. J Immunol 135:7558–7658
- 65. Heidt T, Sager HB, Courties G, Dutta P, Iwamoto Y, Zaltsman A et al (2014) Chronic variable stress activates hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med 20:754–758
- 66. Donnelly DJ, Popovich PG (2008) Inflammation and its role in neuroprotection, axonal regeneration and functional recovery after spinal cord injury. Exp Neurol 209:378–388
- 67. McGavern DB, Kang SS (2011) Illuminating viral infections in the nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol 11:318–329
- 68. Ataka K, Asakawa A, Nagaishi K, Kaimoto K, Sawada A, Hayakawa Y et al (2013) Bone marrow-derived microglia infiltrate into the paraventricular nucleus of chronic psychological stress-loaded mice. PLoS ONE 8, e81744
- 69. Sawada A, Niiyama Y, Ataka K, Nagaishi K, Yamakage M, Fujimiya M (2014) Suppression of bone marrow-derived microglia in the amygdala improves anxiety-like behavior induced by chronic partials ciatic nerve ligation in mice. Pain 155:1762–1772
- 70. Brevet M, Kojima H, Asakawa A, Atsuchi K, Ushikai M, Ataka K, Inui A, Kimura H, Sevestre H, Fujimiya M (2010) Chronic foot-shock stress potentiates the influx of bone marrow-derived microglia into hippocampus. J Neurosci Res 88:1890–1897
- Torres-Platas SG, Cruceanu C, Chen GG, Turecki G, Mechawar N (2014) Evidence for increased microglial priming and macrophage recruitment in the dorsal anterior cingulated white matter of depressed suicides. Brain Behav Immun 42:50–59

- Gilman SE, Trinh NH, Smoller JW, Fava M, Murphy JM, Breslau J (2013) Psychosocial stressors and the prognosis of major depression: a test of Axis IV. Psychol Med 43:303–316
- Kendler KS, Karkowski LM, Prescott CA (1999) Causal relationship between stressful life events and the onset of major depression. Am J Psychiatry 156:837–841
- 74. McLaughlin KA, Conron KJ, Koenen KC, Gilman SE (2010) Childhood adversity, adult stressful life events, and risk of past-year psychiatric disorder: a test of the stress sensitization hypothesis in a population-based sample of adults. Psychol Med 40:1647–1658
- 75. Engler H, Bailey MT, Engler A, Stiner-Jones LM, Quan N, Sheridan JF (2008) Interleukin 1 receptor type1-deficient mice fail to develop social stress-associated glucocorticoid resistance in the spleen. Psychoneuroendocrinology 33:108–117
- 76. D'Mello C, Le T, Swain MG (2009) Cerebral microglia recruit monocytes into the brain in response to tumor necrosis factor alpha signaling during peripheral organ inflammation. J Neurosci 29:2089–2102
- 77. Kerfoot SM, D'Mello C, Nguyen H, Ajuebor MN, Kubes P, Le T et al (2006) TNF-alphasecreting monocytes are recruited into the brain of cholestatic mice. Hepatology 43:154–162
- Jurgens HA, Johnson R (2012) Dysregulated neuronal-microglial cross-talk during aging, stress and inflammation. Exp Neurol 233(1):40–48
- 79. Sawicki CM, McKim DB, Wohleb ES, Jarrett BL, Reader BF, Norden DM, Godbout JP, Sheridan JF (2015) Social defeat promotes a reactive endothelium in a brain region-dependent manner with increased expression of key adhesion molecules, selectins and chemokines associated with the recruitment of myeloid cells to the brain. Neuroscience 302:151–164

Inflammation Effects on Brain Glutamate in Depression: Mechanistic Considerations and Treatment Implications

Ebrahim Haroon and Andrew H. Miller

Abstract There has been increasing interest in the role of glutamate in mood disorders, especially given the profound effect of the glutamate receptor antagonist ketamine in improving depressive symptoms in patients with treatment-resistant depression. One pathway by which glutamate alterations may occur in mood disorders involves inflammation. Increased inflammation has been observed in a significant subgroup of patients with mood disorders, and inflammatory cytokines have been shown to influence glutamate metabolism through effects on astrocytes and microglia. In addition, the administration of the inflammatory cytokine interferon-alpha has been shown to increase brain glutamate in the basal ganglia and dorsal anterior cingulate cortex as measured by magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS). Moreover, MRS studies in patients with major depressive disorder have revealed that increased markers of inflammation including C-reactive protein correlate with increased basal ganglia glutamate, which in turn was associated with anhedonia and psychomotor retardation. Finally, human and laboratory animal studies have shown that the response to glutamate antagonists such as ketamine is predicted by increased inflammatory cytokines. Taken together, these data make a strong case that inflammation may influence glutamate metabolism to alter behavior, leading to depressive symptoms including anhedonia and psychomotor slowing.

Keywords Cytokines • Depression • Glia • Glutamate • Inflammation • Magnetic resonance imaging • Neuroimaging

E. Haroon and A.H. Miller (🖂)

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Emory University School of Medicine, 1365-B Clifton Road., 5th Floor, B5101, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA e-mail: amill02@emory.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 173–198 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_40 Published Online: 20 September 2016

Contents

1	Introduction	174
2	Role of Inflammation in Depression	175
3	Glutamate and Mood Disorders	175
4	Impact of Inflammation on Glutamate Neurotransmission	177
	4.1 Cellular Regulation of Glutamate Release and Reuptake	178
	4.2 Immunologic Influences on Glutamate Neurotransmission	180
5	Preclinical and Clinical Studies	184
6	Treatment Implications	188
7	Summary and Conclusions	189
Re	ferences	190

1 Introduction

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a common and devastating disease, being the leading cause of disability worldwide and the tenth leading cause of death (by suicide) in the United States [1]. During 2009–2012, 7.6% of Americans aged 12 and over (~20 million) exhibited persistent moderate or severe depressive symptoms warranting some form of antidepressant therapy [2]. Unfortunately, approximately 1/3 of depressed patients fail to respond to conventional, monoamine-targeted therapies [3], and therefore, there is a pressing need to elaborate new conceptual frameworks and new targets for the development of novel therapies to treat depression, especially those who are treatment resistant. Relevant in this regard, there has been increasing interest in the role of inflammation and glutamate metabolism as two major new pathways to pathology that may ultimately address the shortcomings of the current monoamine hypothesis of depression [4-11]. Although the development of treatments targeting inflammation and glutamate has largely proceeded along independent paths, increasing data suggests that there may be a convergence of these two mechanisms of depression [5, 9, 12]. This intriguing possibility opens the door to a variety of therapeutic considerations, both in terms of the development of novel immune biomarkers that can predict response to glutamate-targeted therapies but also in terms of the development of treatments that address inflammation and glutamate metabolism, which can be combined or proceed in tandem. This chapter will address the data that supports the notion that inflammation and glutamate metabolism may be intimately intertwined in their impact on behavior, particularly as it relates to MDD. We will describe the mechanisms that link these pathways as well as explore the potential translational implications.
2 Role of Inflammation in Depression

There are multiple lines of evidence that support the notion that inflammation can contribute to the symptoms that characterize MDD [4, 7, 9]. Patients with MDD have been found to exhibit increased markers of inflammation as well as activation of inflammatory signaling pathways in the peripheral blood, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), and postmortem brain samples [4, 7, 9, 13]. Meta-analyses of this literature have revealed that the peripheral blood cytokines interleukin (IL)-6 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and the acute phase reactant C-reactive protein (CRP) are the most reliably elevated in MDD patients [14–16]. Moreover, polymorphisms in genes associated with the inflammatory response have been shown to predict the development of depression as well as the response to conventional antidepressant medication [17, 18]. Interestingly, conditions associated with increased inflammation including obesity, childhood trauma, and medical illness have also been linked with reduced response to antidepressants [19-23]. In addition, administration of inflammatory stimuli including inflammatory cytokines (i.e., interferon (IFN)alpha), endotoxin, and typhoid vaccination has been shown to induce depressive symptoms in humans [24-28]. Patients with medical disorders that exhibit increased inflammation including autoimmune and inflammatory disorders, cardiovascular disease, metabolic disorders, and cancer also report increased depressive symptoms compared to otherwise healthy individuals [29]. Finally, a developing literature indicates that blockade of inflammation can reduce depressive symptoms [30]. Of note, this data largely derives from patients with autoimmune or inflammatory disorders receiving anti-inflammatory therapies including anti-cytokine antibodies, who do not carry a diagnosis of MDD [30]. The literature on the use of anti-inflammatory agents in MDD is much smaller and less convincing [30-36], although as this research area evolves, the parameters of intelligent trial design are becoming more clear (see below), and new studies will ultimately reveal the utility of anti-inflammatory treatment strategies in MDD patients [37].

3 Glutamate and Mood Disorders

In order to measure glutamate in the brain of patients with mood disorders, studies have used proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS). MRS technology is based on the fact that magnetic resonance acquisition involves the measurement of echoed resonance frequency waves of multiple cellular chemical constituents [38]. The individual chemical and metabolite constituents can be measured by suppressing the resonance frequency of water molecules. MRS uses this information to progressively filter out more abundant metabolites to study metabolites that exist at lower concentrations but above 1 mM [38–40]. MRS is the only in vivo method available to measure glutamate in humans [38–40]. Although MRS cannot distinguish extracellular from intracellular glutamate and is in many studies unable

to distinguish glutamate from its precursor glutamine; two recent studies have demonstrated that concentrations of glutamate + glutamine (Glx) estimated using MRS were significantly correlated with cortical excitability – measured using transcranial magnetic stimulation, thus validating the contention that MRS measures of glutamate are indeed associated with neural activity [41, 42].

MRS-based studies of glutamate and/or Glx in unipolar major depression have demonstrated widely variable findings likely attributable to the heterogeneity that plagues the diagnosis and classification of the disorder [43, 44]. Accordingly, some studies have reported increases in brain glutamate including increases in the basal ganglia [45], while the majority of studies have shown decreases in glutamate, typically measured as Glx [43, 44, 46, 47]. One meta-analysis using pooled MRS findings from multiple studies failed to discern meaningful and consistent glutamate changes in unipolar major depression [43], while another meta-analysis with a more restricted inclusion of studies that provided absolute Glx values reported an association between unipolar depression and decreased Glx in the prefrontal cortex [48]. Decreases in Glx have been reported to normalize following various treatments for depression including electroconvulsive therapy [49-51], the serotonin reuptake inhibitor citalopram [52], and total sleep deprivation [53]. Interestingly, treatment with subanesthetic doses of ketamine, a glutamate receptor (N-methyl-Daspartate, NMDA) antagonist, was not associated with Glx changes in the anterior cingulate cortex despite dramatic improvements in mood [54]. It has been proposed that the timing of MRS scanning missed a critical but narrow time window when ketamine effects on glutamate are most pronounced [55]. Alternately, it is possible that the ketamine-induced alterations in glutamate concentrations were below the sensitivity of detection by MRS. Moreover, ketamine effects on other glutamateactive biomolecules such as quinolinic acid (QA) may be responsible for its antidepressant response [56]. Nevertheless, data saying that a glutamate antagonist can treat major depression so dramatically raises questions regarding the validity and reliability of Glx measures in depression. Indeed, it should be noted that proton MRS studies may miss potential glial contributions to glutamate dysregulation. 13C MRS may address some these issues, given that it tracks the components of glutamate flux and cycling in neuronal and glial cell compartments by the administration of 13C-labeled glucose, which is metabolized in both neurons and glia, combined with the administration of 13C-labeled acetate, which is metabolized exclusively in glia [57, 58].

In contrast to unipolar depression, the phenotypically and biologically better defined bipolar depression has been consistently associated with increased glutamate in anterior cingulate regions as measured by MRS. In fact, increased glutamate in the anterior cingulate cortex has been one of the most consistent neuroimaging findings in bipolar disorder and has been supported by at least one large meta-analysis [59].

Another strategy to address alterations in glutamate neurotransmission in depressed patients has been the use of postmortem studies. Decreased number and functioning of glutamate transporters on the surface of astrocytes have been reported in specimens from depressed subjects [60–63], and gene expression

studies have indicated evidence of significant astrocyte dysfunction and glutamate dysregulation in depressed suicides [63–65]. In addition, loss of astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, both of which play a central role in glutamate clearance (see below), is one of the most reliable findings regarding cell loss in the brain of depressed individuals [62, 63, 66, 67]. Postmortem studies have also reported downregulation of several genes associated with synthesis of glutamate transporters in the brain including SLC1A2, SLC1A3, and L-glutamate-ammonia ligase (GLUL) in patients with depression [60, 68]. Moreover, decreased expression of glutamine synthetase (the astrocytic enzyme that detoxifies glutamate by converting it into glutamine) has also been detected in postmortem studies of depressed suicide victims [60, 67, 69, 70]. Finally, a single-nucleotide polymorphism within the NMDA receptor gene (GRIN2B) rs1805502 has been shown to confer increased susceptibility to treatment-refractory depression (TRD) compared to non-TRD groups [71].

Laboratory animal models have also supported a role of glutamate dysregulation in depressive-like behavior, especially in the context of acute and chronic stress. For example, inhibition of astroglial surface glutamate transporters by chronic stress (or pharmacologic inhibition or genetic deletion) has been shown to lead to anhedonia – a core symptom of depression [62, 72, 73]. In addition, acute stress has been shown to increase trafficking, recycling, and expression of alpha-amino-3hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) and NMDA receptors at the postsynaptic nerve terminal, leading to potentiation of glutamate neurotransmission [73]. Chronic stress may also impair the ability to effectively clear synaptic glutamate through glial excitatory amino acid transporters (EAATs) leading to glutamate accumulation, spillover, increased activation of extrasynaptic glutamate receptors, and ultimately excitotoxicity -a process that has been proposed to underlie several neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders [73]. Finally, chronic stress has been found to decrease the rates of flux through the glutamateglutamine cycle, resulting in reduced glutamate breakdown and greater glutamate stagnation and buildup [73]. Thus, laboratory animal models of stress-induced depressive-like behavior are reliably associated with excessive glutamate neurotransmission and excitotoxicity.

4 Impact of Inflammation on Glutamate Neurotransmission

Given the notion that both inflammation and glutamate neurotransmission play a role in depression in humans and laboratory animal models, it is important to consider the basic science literature that supports that these two processes interact. Therefore, we will first briefly describe the cellular and molecular constituents of glutamate neurotransmission followed by a consideration of how inflammation may affect these processes.

4.1 Cellular Regulation of Glutamate Release and Reuptake

Glial cells including astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia play a key role in glutamate neurotransmission. Glial cells are known to sense and respond to glutamate secreted by neurons via surface glutamate receptors. Table 1 presents a detailed overview of the surface localization and functioning of glutamate receptors on glial cells. The extracellular concentration of glutamate depends upon a balance between glutamate release from neural, astrocytic, oligodendrocytic, and microglial sources and its clearance mechanisms [74–76], all of which can be significantly influenced by inflammatory mechanisms [5, 77] (see below).

Glutamate release occurs through several channels including vesicular discharge from neurons during neurotransmission or from astrocytes during gliotransmission (Fig. 1). Intra-synaptic glutamate removal involves transporter-mediated uptake by EAATs into the cytoplasm of the astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, where it is rapidly detoxified by conversion to glutamine by the enzyme glutamine synthetase [78–84]. EAATs are specialized transport proteins expressed on the perisynaptic surface of glial cells (astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, activated microglia, and neurons) that remove glutamate from the synaptic and to a lesser extent from the extrasynaptic space [85]. There at least five different types of EAATs, with EAAT1 mostly located in oligodendrocytes, EAAT2 in the synaptic regions of the astrocytes, and EAAT3, EAAT4, and EAAT5 in neurons.

Under pathological conditions, excessive glutamate can accumulate through a number of mechanisms including (1) release through anion channels; (2) reverse efflux through EAATs; (3) excessive release via the cystine-glutamate exchange transporter (system Xc- SLC7A11), which exchanges extracellular cystine for intracellular glutamate (1:1) to ultimately form the antioxidant glutathione (GSH); (4) inter-glial glutamate transfer through gap junctions (connexin channels); and (5) pathological release through purine-controlled ion channels (P2X7) [79] (see Fig. 1). While glutamate release from EAATs (reverse efflux) and presynaptic neurons is primarily located within the synapse, other forms of glutamate release such as from system Xc- transporters and anion and connexin channels on the surface of glial cells can occur within the extrasynaptic space [79]. Excess synaptic glutamate can lead to profound excitotoxicity and cell death by triggering apoptotic mechanisms [86], overexciting ionotropic glutamate receptors (NMDA, AMPA, kainate) [87], and paralyzing system Xc- transporters which neutralize oxidative stress via GSH synthesis [78]. Extrasynaptic glutamate is equally toxic as it engages the extrasynaptic NMDA receptors, leading to suppression of neurotrophic factors such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) [88, 89]. Thus, the mechanisms to clear and remove glutamate are of great importance [74, 84]. Of note, removal of extrasynaptic glutamate can be mediated by transport of glutamate across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) by EAATs located on the cerebral blood vessels into the peripheral blood circulation [5, 90]. Finally, additional influences on glutamate neurotransmission and excitotoxicity can occur

Receptor/			
transporter	Microglia	Oligodendrocyte	Astrocyte
AMPA	 Only in activated (M1) state Morphology change Promotes chemotaxis Releases TNF-alpha 	 On surface of cell body Senses signaling from axons Oligodendrocyte pro- genitor differentiation 	 Ubiquitous (all regions) Subunits vary between regions Mostly AMPA A1 and lacking AMPA A2 subunits
Kainate	 Identical to AMPA All subunits expressed Mediates inflammatory functions 	• On surface of cell body	 No functional expression Immunostaining has revealed some evidence
NMDA	 Functionally expressed Subunits: NR1, NR2A, NR2B, NR3 Immunostaining supported 	 On cell process only Less susceptible to Mg²⁺ block Weaker Ca²⁺ permeability 	 Expressed on cell surface Weaker Mg²⁺ blockade Lower Ca²⁺ permeability Different from neuronal NMDA
Group 1 - mGluR Types 1 and 5	mGluR Type 1 not reported PLC/IP3 transduction Has anti- inflammatory effects	• Insufficient data	 PLC/IP3 transduction mGluR1 type 5 > mGluR Type 2 Has anti- inflammatory effects
mGluR, Group 2 (R2,3)	 Adenyl cyclase trans- duction Proinflammatory effect Neurotoxic phenotype 	• Insufficient data	 Adenyl cyclase transduction Mostly mGluR3. Regulation of EAAT
mGluR, Group 3 (R4, 6–8)	 mGluR4,5,8 (not 7), Adenyl cyclase transduced Neuroprotective Decreases stressinduced activation of Group 2 mGluRs 	• Not activated by synaptic glutamate	• Probably not expressed
GLAST/EAAT1	 Only during activa- tion Neurotrauma Neurodegeneration 	 Myelinating oligodendrocytes Blockade results in severe toxicity to oligodendrocytes 	• Probably not expressed
system Xc- transporter	 Responds to demand for GSH Responds to oxidative stress Releases glutamate 	• Expressed similar to astrocytes	 Responds to demand for GSH Responds to oxidative stress Releases glutamate

 Table 1
 Glutamate receptor/transporter expression on glia

(continued)

Receptor/ transporter	Microglia	Oligodendrocyte	Astrocyte
Glutamate-	Expressed upon		Excretes/extrudes
permeable vol-	immune stimulation		glutamate
ume-regulated			Anionic swelling
anion channels			 Possible hypo-
			osmotic states (hepatic
			encephalopathy)

Table 1 (continued)

AMPA alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid, *Ca* calcium, *GLAST* glutamate aspartate transporter, *GSH* glutathione, *IP3* inositol triphosphate, *Mg* magnesium, *mGluR* metabotropic glutamate receptor, *NMDA N*-methyl-D aspartate, *PLC* phospholipase C, *TNF* tumor necrosis factor, *system Xc* transporter cystine-glutamate exchange transporter

through metabolic mechanisms such as the activation of kynurenine (KYN) pathway (described below) [77, 91].

4.2 Immunologic Influences on Glutamate Neurotransmission

Inflammatory processes impact almost all aspects of glutamate neurotransmission including multiple cellular effects that influence both glutamate release and reuptake mechanisms. In addition, inflammation activates metabolic pathways involving indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO) and the KYN pathway that generates neuroactive metabolites which can also affect glutamate metabolism. These effects of inflammation on glutamate neurotransmission will be reviewed below:

4.2.1 Glutamate Release

Vesicular release by astrocytes: Presynaptic neuronal release is the foundation of excitatory neurotransmission and can show dramatic increases during conditions of stress [92]. Physiologically, astrocytes sense synaptic release of glutamate through their surface receptors and transporters and respond by triggering internal Ca^{2+} fluxes of their own [93]. These fluxes are communicated to other astrocytic cells through physical connections known as gap junctions that are made of specialized proteins known as connexins and permit cell-to-cell transfer of ions and glutamate across the astroglial network [85, 94, 95]. This physiological process referred to as "gliotransmission" involves vesicular release and transfer of glutamate, ion fluxes, and excitatory signals in a transsynaptic manner to maintain tonic regional excitatory activity and is made possible by the anatomically interconnected astroglial network or syncytia [93]. Interestingly, cytokines such as TNF and IL-1-beta may amplify and alter the magnitude and propagation of intracellular Ca^{2+}



Fig. 1 The impact of inflammation on glutamate regulation in the tripartite synapse. Activation of the inflammatory response including microglia and macrophages in the brain leads to the release of inflammatory cytokines including interleukin-1-beta (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF). These inflammatory proteins and their signaling pathways including nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) can reduce the expression and function of excitatory amino acid transporters 2 (EAAT2) on astrocytes and cause reverse efflux of glutamate (GLU) through EAAT2. In addition, microglia and macrophages produce reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS and RNS, respectively) that increase oxidative stress, driving the production of glutathione (GSH), which is synthesized from cystine imported into astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia in exchange for glutamate (1:1) by the cystine-glutamate exchange system Xc- transporter, further increasing extracellular glutamate buildup. Synaptic glutamate taken into astrocytes is converted by GLN synthetase to glutamine (GLN) that is released and taken up by presynaptic neurons and converted back into GLU by glutaminase where it is packaged in synaptic vesicles and released back into the synapse. Conversion of kynurenine (KYN) into quinolinic acid (QUIN) in microglia and macrophages via the enzyme kynurenine 3-monooxygenase (KMO) further contributes to excessive glutamate signaling through receptors for N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDAR), kainate, and alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPAR) by decreasing astrocytic glutamate reuptake and stimulating glutamate release. Glutamate spillover into the extrasynaptic space can activate extrasynaptic NMDA receptors, leading to reduced neurotrophic factors including brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), and in combination with excessive synaptic NMDAR signaling ultimately contributes to excitotoxicity and synaptic destruction

to transfer immune signals and to mediate changes in neural activity [96]. Thus, the impact of inflammatory cytokines on gliotransmission may be an important mechanism for increased glutamate release under pathological conditions.

Anion channel release: The mechanism of glutamate release through anion channels is believed to occur under conditions of astrocytic toxicity characterized by astrocytic swelling and edema as what happens during stroke and hepatic encephalopathy and can result in profound neurotoxicity and neuronal loss [82].

Reverse efflux: Normally glutamate flows from the extracellular space into astrocytic cytoplasm to be detoxified, but under pathological contexts, a reverse operation of the EAATs results in a retrograde efflux of glutamate from the astrocyte into the cytoplasm [79, 84]. This reverse flow is thought to result from the inflammatory activation of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 resulting in prostaglandin E2 synthesis which can increase calcium mobilization from their intracellular stores [80, 97].

Release through system Xc- transporters: The system Xc- transporter is a membrane transport system on glial cells that releases glutamate into the extracellular space in exchange for intracellular transport of cystine, which acts as a substrate for the synthesis of GSH after being metabolized to cysteine [78, 98]. This mechanism is highly vulnerable to immune influences and could lead to serious glutamate toxicity during inflammatory activation [5]. Inflammatory cytokines precipitate oxidative stress [5, 99] accelerating the rate of GSH synthesis which in turn leads to greater absorption of cystine coupled with greater releases of glutamate into the synapse [5]. In addition to promoting excitotoxicity, toxic levels of glutamate in the synapse can lead to a toxic paralysis of the system Xc- transporters (oxidative glutamate toxicity) leading to extra synthesis and expression of these transporters in the peri- and non-synaptic regions of the astrocytes. This in turn leads to growth factor suppression and toxicity [88, 89].

Microglial glutamate release: When activated, M1 microglia express glutamate receptors (see Table 1), which when bound by glutamate can lead to marked glutamate release [100, 101]. M1 microglia have also been shown to express EAATs on their surface when activated by inflammatory stimuli [e.g., lipopolysaccharide (LPS)] [102] or excessive stress-induced neural activity [92, 103, 104]. In addition, M1 microglia (and macrophages) also express glutamine synthetase and the system Xc- transporter [105]. Of note, EAATs, glutamine synthetase, and system Xc- transporters in microglia and macrophages are not constitutively expressed like in astrocytes but are induced during immune activation [105]. The precise biological purpose of EAAT expression by microglia is unclear, but under physiological conditions, it can reinforce glutamate clearance by astrocytes [105]. However, in pathological states as seen during immune activation, the need for GSH increases, and thus glutamate is released through the system Xctransporter in exchange for cystine [105]. Moreover, glutamate released by microglia can be transferred through connexin channels in gap junctions into astrocytes, where it has been shown to suppress synthesis of EAATs [101], contributing to impaired glutamate reuptake (see below) and possibly further adding to the overall toxic glutamate load [5].

Purinergic mechanisms: Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is released by dead and damaged tissue as well as by psychological stress and can activate profound cytotoxic immune responses through the intracytoplasmic "inflammasome" systems [9, 106, 107]. ATP can also lead to abrupt release of glutamate through anion channels exclusively controlled by the purinergic P2X7 receptor [108]. Thus, the release of ATP during stress can both activate inflammasome and also stimulate the release of glutamate through the P2X7 receptor, which thereby serves as an intriguing point of convergence between inflammation and glutamate.

4.2.2 Glutamate Reuptake/Clearance

EAATs: EAAT genes have promoter regions that are responsive to immune regulation through nuclear factor kappa B and other signaling pathways, ultimately leading to decreased functional activity and expression of EAATs [109]. For example, cultured astrocytes exposed to IL-1-beta and TNF as well as tissue samples from inflammatory CNS lesions of both laboratory animals and humans demonstrated decreased expression and function of GLT1/EAAT1 and EAAT2 transporters [82, 83, 110–113]. The EAAT system functions mostly within the confines of the tripartite synaptic space which is enveloped by astrocytic processes that forms the astrocytic "cradle." This astrocytic cradle serves to prevent "spill-over" of glutamate into the extrasynaptic space [114].

Glutamate transport across BBB: Glutamate released into the extracellular and extrasynaptic space can be highly toxic and needs to be cleared expeditiously. Though glutamate removal by EAATs is sufficient to prevent excitotoxicity from glutamate released under physiological conditions [87, 115], their transport activity is often inadequate under pathological conditions such as during significant immune activation and glutamate buildup [5, 90]. As noted above, glutamate can be removed from the brain by channeling it into the peripheral blood by EAATs associated with the BBB [5, 90]. Of note, because this brain-to-blood "glutamate scavenging" mechanism is based on EAAT activity, it is vulnerable to the inhibitory effects of inflammatory mediators as described earlier [5, 90]. Conversely, the activity of this clearance mechanism can be potentiated by pharmacologically reducing plasma glutamate concentrations, leading to a potentiated glutamate transfer from the brain to blood. This glutamate scavenging mechanism could be the basis of a novel therapeutic strategy to decrease glutamate-induced toxicity in the brain [5, 90].

4.2.3 The KYN Pathway

Inflammatory activation leads to the release of several inflammatory cytokines such as IFN-gamma and TNF that stimulates IDO, which in turn leads to the generation of a series of neuroactive and oxidative stress-promoting metabolites that not only lead to widespread behavioral changes but also yield several metabolites that influence glutamate neurotransmission. The impact of KYN pathway on the etiology of psychiatric disorders have been covered extensively elsewhere [77, 116–118], and only data relevant to the impact of KYN metabolites on glutamate will be presented here. Once activated by IDO, tryptophan is converted into KYN, which is then transported into the brain through the large amino acid transporter in the BBB [119]. Transported KYN is absorbed and processed differentially by astrocytes and microglia.

In astrocytes, KYN is metabolized by kynurenine aminotransferase (KAT) II and converted into kynurenic acid (KYNA), which acts as an NMDA antagonist at its glycine site and is believed to possess putative neuroprotective properties [120]. This hypothesis needs to be balanced against its robust antagonist effects on alpha 7 nicotinic acetyl choline receptors (alpha 7-nAChR) and decreased pathological and physiological presynaptic glutamate release, both of which have been implicated in the etiology of schizophrenia [116, 120]. In microglia, KYN is sequentially converted into 3-hydroxy kynurenine (3HK), anthranilic acid (AA), and 3-hydroxy anthranilic acid (HANA), which are profound generators of oxidative stress that increase demand for GSH further leading to glutamate release through system Xc- transporters [5]. Following the above three metabolites, this pathway proceeds to generate quinolinic acid (QUIN) and finally culminates in the formation of nicotinic acid adenine dinucleotide (NAD) - a key reducing agent that further protects against oxidative stress [116]. QUIN is a powerful NMDA receptor agonist and exerts profound neurotoxicity through sustained receptor stimulation [120, 121]. QUIN results in increased presynaptic (through activation of presynaptic NMDA receptors) and astrocytic glutamate release (gliotoxic effects) as well as oxidative stress, and the toxic effects of increased glutamate on postsynaptic NMDA receptors is exaggerated by QUIN [120, 121]. Thus, sustained presence of QUIN even at physiological concentrations can lead to toxic neural and glial activity, and consequently the synthesis and metabolism of QUIN is a key target for drug development for a variety of disorders [122]. Behaviorally, increased QUIN has been associated with behavioral symptoms of depression and suicidality [123-125] as well as structural brain changes in brain regions that regulate mood and cognition such as the striatum, hippocampus, and prefrontal cortex [126–129].

5 Preclinical and Clinical Studies

Given the relatively new consideration that inflammation may exert its behavioral effects in part through affecting glutamate neurotransmission, there have been few laboratory animal studies that have examined whether blocking glutamate receptors

might reverse inflammation-induced depressive-like behavior. The study that most directly addresses this question involved the use of the NMDA receptor antagonist ketamine to prevent the development of LPS-induced depressive-like behavior in mice [56]. In this study, animals were pretreated with ketamine and then immediately administered with LPS. Ketamine treatment had no effect on increased inflammatory cytokine expression, activation of IDO, or the expression of BDNF in the brain. Nevertheless, ketamine completely reversed immobility in the forced swim test and decreased sucrose preference, a measurement of anhedonia. Establishing the receptor specificity of these effects, inhibition of AMPA receptors, which have been shown to mediate the antidepressant effects of ketamine, restored LPS-induced decreases in sucrose preference [56]. Consistent with these findings, in a rat model of treatment-resistant depression using chronic administration of ACTH, response to ketamine was found to be associated with increased peripheral blood inflammatory markers including plasma CRP and TNF [130]. Similar results were found in a small clinical study in which peripheral blood concentrations of IL-1-beta and IL-6 were found to be elevated at baseline (before ketamine administration) in treatment-resistant depressed patients who responded to ketamine versus those who did not [131]. Increased BMI and adipokines (both associated with an inflammatory state) have also been shown to predict treatment response to ketamine [132]. Taken together, these data suggest that drugs that block glutamate receptors may have special efficacy in MDD patients with increased inflammation and increased inflammatory biomarkers may predict which MDD patients are most likely to respond to NMDA or other glutamate receptor antagonists.

To further evaluate the relationship between inflammation and glutamate metabolism in the CNS, work from our group has used MRS to focus on patients undergoing treatment with the inflammatory cytokine IFN-alpha as well as patients with MDD. In our first study, we assessed glutamate normalized to creatine using single voxel MRS in otherwise non-depressed patients with hepatitis C virus (HCV) undergoing treatment with IFN-alpha. Voxels were located in the right and left basal ganglia as well as the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (dACC) (Fig. 2) [133]. These brain regions were chosen based on an extensive literature using positron emission tomography and functional magnetic resonance imaging to demonstrate reliable engagement of basal ganglia and dACC circuits following administration of inflammatory stimuli [26, 134-138]. Patients were studied before and following 4 weeks of IFN-alpha administration. A control group of HCV-infected patients awaiting IFN-alpha treatment were studied in parallel. IFN-alpha administration was associated with significant increases in glutamate (Glu) normalized to creatine (Cr) in the single voxel measurements taken from the left basal ganglia and the dACC. In addition, increases in the left basal ganglia Glu/Cr ratio were correlated with reduced motivation, and increases in the dACC Glu/Cr ratio were associated with depressive symptom severity. Given the exaggerated CNS inflammatory responses that have been well characterized among aged laboratory animals, a post hoc analysis of our IFN-alpha study was conducted taking age into consideration [139]. Consistent with laboratory animal studies, it was observed that the largest effect of IFN-alpha on Glu/Cr in the left basal ganglia



Fig. 2 Placement of MRS voxels and representative spectrum. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) voxels were placed as indicated: A $2 \times 3 \times 1$ cm³ voxel in the dorsal anterior cingulate region (dACC)(BA24) and two $1.7 \times 3 \times 1.7$ cm³ voxels in the left and right basal ganglia. Glu, glutamate. Reprinted by permission [133]

was seen in individuals greater than 55 years old [140]. Moreover, increased Glu/Cr in the left basal ganglia in older but not younger IFN-alpha-treated and untreated HCV-infected patients was correlated with increased TNF and reduced motivation as well as decreased psychomotor speed as measured by the choice movement time on the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB). Taken together, these data support the notion that inflammation can cause increased normalized glutamate concentrations in CNS regions relevant to the effects of cytokines on the brain and that these effects are most prominent as a function of increasing age.

To extend these studies, the relationship between inflammation and glutamate metabolism as measured by MRS was examined in patients with MDD [12]. Both single voxel MRS and chemical shift imaging (CSI), an MRS technique that measures CNS metabolites over multiple small voxels, were employed. Similar to the findings in patients receiving IFN-alpha, increased inflammation as reflected by plasma CRP was associated with a stepwise increase in absolute glutamate concentrations in the left basal ganglia as measured by single voxel MRS (Fig. 3). A linear relationship between increased plasma CRP and left basal ganglia glutamate was also observed. In addition, increased left basal ganglia glutamate was significantly correlated with anhedonia and psychomotor slowing as measured by the finger-tapping task, simple reaction time task of the CANTAB, and the digit symbol substitution task (all measures of psychomotor speed) (Fig. 4). All findings were significant after controlling for relevant covariates including age, sex, race, body mass index, smoking, and depression severity. Importantly, these latter results also remained significant after controlling for CRP, indicating that any relationship between CRP and behavior was being mediated by the relationship between CRP (a proxy for inflammation) and glutamate metabolism. Studies using CSI gave similar results, with increased plasma and CSF CRP being significantly correlated with left basal ganglia glutamate normalized to creatine [12]. Of the metabolites



Fig. 3 Association between plasma C-reactive protein (CRP) and the left basal ganglia glutamate in depressed patients. Plasma CRP was positively associated with the left basal ganglia absolute glutamate in both a linear (**a**) and stepwise manner (**b**) in medication-free patients with major depressive disorder. (**a**) Increased log plasma CRP correlated and log left basal ganglia absolute glutamate concentrations in depressed subjects after controlling for age, sex, race, smoking status, body mass index, and 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale scores ($\beta = 0.36$, t = 2.57, P = 0.014). (**b**) Groupwise comparison of log left basal ganglia absolute glutamate concentrations among patients grouped by CRP revealed a significant main effect of group (F[2,43] = 4.42, P = 0.018). *P < 0.025. Reprinted by permission [12]

measured by CSI other than glutamate, only myoinositol was significantly correlated with left basal ganglia glutamate normalized to creatine. These data are intriguing given that myoinositol is believed to be a marker of astrocyte function and in this case potentially astrocyte dysfunction. One other interesting feature of the CSI studies was the ability to compare results from the study on IFN-alphatreated patients and MDD subjects, given that both measured glutamate normalized to creatine [12]. Interestingly, control subjects in the IFN-alpha study exhibited Glu/Cr concentrations almost identical to MDD patients with a CRP less than 1 mg/ L. Moreover, the increase in Glu/Cr concentrations in MDD patients with high inflammation (CRP >3 mg/L) was about half the increase seen in IFN-alpha-treated patients. These data not only demonstrate consistency of glutamate measures across qualitatively different study populations but also suggest that there may be a dose response relationship between increased inflammation and increased basal ganglia glutamate such that more potent, exogenously administered inflammatory stimuli (e.g., IFN-alpha) lead to greater increases in CNS glutamate, whereas elevations in inflammation from endogenous sources lead to somewhat lesser increases.



Fig. 4 Correlations between the left basal ganglia glutamate and anhedonia and psychomotor speed in depressed patients. (a) Logged values of absolute glutamate concentrations in the left basal ganglia were correlated with the IDS-SR anhedonia subscale ($\beta = 0.42$, t = 3.03, P = 0.004). (b) Log absolute basal ganglia glutamate concentrations were correlated with finger-tapping frequency on the FTT ($\beta = -0.40$, t = -2.96, P = 0.005). (c) Log absolute basal ganglia glutamate concentrations were correlated with log simple reaction time assessed using the CANTAB ($\beta = 0.35$, t = 2.44, P = 0.019). (d) Log absolute basal ganglia glutamate concentrations were correlated with performance on the DSST ($\beta = -0.36$, t = -2.57, P = 0.01). Statistical tests of significance after controlling for covariates including age, sex, race, body mass index, smoking status, Hamilton Scale of Depression scores, and plasma CRP are indicated in *parentheses. CANTAB* Cambridge automated neuropsychological test battery, *DSST* digit symbol substitution test, *FTT* finger-tapping test, *IDS-SR* inventory for depressive symptoms-self rated. Reprinted by permission [12]

6 Treatment Implications

There are several important conclusions that can be derived from these studies on IFN-alpha and MDD subjects as well as the studies in treatment-resistant depression in both clinical and preclinical models. First, increased peripheral inflammatory markers appear to identify patient populations, especially patients with MDD that exhibit increased CNS glutamate, particularly in the basal ganglia

[12]. Moreover, preliminary evidence from laboratory animals and humans suggest that increased inflammatory markers may predict the response to glutamate antagonists (e.g., ketamine) [130–132]. These data suggest that future studies examining the efficacy of glutamate receptor antagonists should focus on patients with increased peripheral inflammatory markers. Second, preclinical studies examining the mechanisms of increased glutamate secondary to inflammation will provide a better understanding of which treatment options are most likely to be efficacious in future studies. Indeed, increased glutamate as measured by an MRS provides no information on whether the glutamate is extracellular or intracellular, although future studies using 13C-MRS in patients with varying levels of inflammation may provide important insight. Third, studies examining CNS glutamate using MRS can be coupled with magnetic resonance imaging to evaluate the relationship between white matter (glia) integrity as measured by diffusion tensor imaging and glutamate. Based on the impact of glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity on astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, one might expect that glutamate increases would be associated with decreased white matter integrity as measured by fractional anisotropy and other techniques. Longitudinal studies tracking parallel changes in these measures over time may further identify patients at risk for neurodegeneration, cognitive dysfunction, and potentially dementia, all associated with MDD. Finally, further link between inflammation and alterations in CNS glutamate neurotransmission should be established through the use of specific anti-inflammatory agents. Such data will open up the possibility of using anti-inflammatory agents to target alterations in glutamate metabolism with the hope that CNS glutamate can serve as evidence of target engagement in the brain and as a proximal endpoint for a potentially successful therapeutic intervention in the course of drug development. These studies would also lay the groundwork for potentially combining glutamate and inflammation-targeted therapies for treatment and prevention of relevant neuropsychiatric disorders including depression.

7 Summary and Conclusions

Taken together, there is a strong foundation for the hypothesis that inflammation may mediate its effects on behavior especially depression through affecting glutamate neurotransmission. These effects appear to find a cellular basis in the impact of inflammation on astrocytes and microglia as well as oligodendrocytes, while effects on glutamate reuptake and release and gliotransmission are targets of inflammatory cytokines and their signaling pathways on a molecular and metabolic level. This convergence of pathology between inflammation and glutamate opens up a host of therapeutic options ranging from inhibiting inflammation to reverse glutamate- and glia-related pathologies to inhibiting glutamate to resolve the effects of inflammation on behavior. Although there is a rich literature demonstrating the impact of inflammation on the regulation of glutamate and vice versa in laboratory animal models and neuropathology, there are a paucity of studies examining how these two systems interact in psychiatric disorders such as depression. Future studies are warranted to further explore the interactions between inflammation and glutamate in depression with the hope of developing novel treatments for those 1/3 of depressed patients who are unable to respond to conventional antidepressant therapies.

References

- 1. CDC (2015) Suicide facts at a glance 2015. Centers for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA, USA
- Pratt LA, Brody DJ (2014) Depression in the U.S. Household Population, 2009–2012. NCHS Data Brief #172. National Center for Health Statistics, Haysviille, MD
- Rush AJ, Trivedi MH, Wisniewski SR, Nierenberg AA, Stewart JW, Warden D, Niederehe G, Thase ME, Lavori PW, Lebowitz BD, McGrath PJ, Rosenbaum JF, Sackeim HA, Kupfer DJ, Luther J, Fava M (2006) Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several treatment steps: a STAR*D report. Am J Psychiatry 163(11):1905–1917. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.163.11.1905
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9 (1):46–56. doi:10.1038/nrn2297
- 5. Dantzer R, Walker A (2014) Is there a role for glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity in inflammation-induced depression? J Neural Transm. doi:10.1007/s00702-014-1187-1
- 6. Duman RS (2014) Pathophysiology of depression and innovative treatments: remodeling glutamatergic synaptic connections. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 16(1):11–27
- Hodes GE, Kana V, Menard C, Merad M, Russo SJ (2015) Neuroimmune mechanisms of depression. Nat Neurosci 18(10):1386–1393. doi:10.1038/nn.4113
- Lener MS, Niciu MJ, Ballard ED, Park M, Park LT, Nugent A, Zarate CA (2016) Glutamate and GABA systems in the pathophysiology of major depression and antidepressant response to ketamine. Biol Psychiatry. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.05.005
- Miller AH, Raison CL (2016) The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. Nat Rev Immunol 16(1):22–34. doi:10.1038/nri.2015.
- Sanacora G, Zarate CA, Krystal JH, Manji HK (2008) Targeting the glutamatergic system to develop novel, improved therapeutics for mood disorders. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7 (5):426–437. doi:10.1038/nrd2462
- Zarate C Jr, Machado-Vieira R, Henter I, Ibrahim L, Diazgranados N, Salvadore G (2010) Glutamatergic modulators: the future of treating mood disorders? Harv Rev Psychiatry 18 (5):293–303. doi:10.3109/10673229.2010.511059
- Haroon E, Fleischer CC, Felger JC, Chen X, Woolwine BJ, Patel T, Hu XP, Miller AH (2016) Conceptual convergence: increased inflammation is associated with increased basal ganglia glutamate in patients with major depression. Mol Psychiatry. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.206
- Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009) Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 65:732–741. doi:10. 1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.029
- Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W, Liu H, Sham L, Reim EK, Lanctot KL (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67(5):446–457. doi:10.1016/ j.biopsych.2009.09.033
- Haapakoski R, Mathieu J, Ebmeier KP, Alenius H, Kivimaki M (2015) Cumulative metaanalysis of interleukins 6 and 1beta, tumour necrosis factor alpha and C-reactive protein in patients with major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.06.001

- 16. Howren MB, Lamkin DM, Suls J (2009) Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 71(2):171–186. doi:10.1097/PSY. 0b013e3181907c1b
- Bufalino C, Hepgul N, Aguglia E, Pariante CM (2012) The role of immune genes in the association between depression and inflammation: a review of recent clinical studies. Brain Behav Immun. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.04.009
- Cattaneo A, Gennarelli M, Uher R, Breen G, Farmer A, Aitchison KJ, Craig IW, Anacker C, Zunsztain PA, McGuffin P, Pariante CM (2013) Candidate genes expression profile associated with antidepressants response in the GENDEP study: differentiating between baseline 'predictors' and longitudinal 'targets'. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(3):377–385. doi:10. 1038/npp.2012.191
- Sluzewska A, Sobieska M, Rybakowski JK (1997) Changes in acute-phase proteins during lithium potentiation of antidepressants in refractory depression. Neuropsychobiology 35 (3):123–127
- Raison CL, Felger JC, Miller AH (2013) Inflammation and treatment resistance in major depression: a perfect storm. Psychiatric Times, September 12
- Felger JC, Li L, Marvar PJ, Woolwine BJ, Harrison DG, Raison CL, Miller AH (2013) Tyrosine metabolism during interferon-alpha administration: association with fatigue and CSF dopamine concentrations. Brain Behav Immun 31:153–160. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.10. 010
- Lanquillon S, Krieg JC, Bening-Abu-Shach U, Vedder H (2000) Cytokine production and treatment response in major depressive disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 22(4):370–379. doi:10.1016/s0893-133x(99)00134-7
- Strawbridge R, Arnone D, Danese A, Papadopoulos A, Herane Vives A, Cleare AJ (2015) Inflammation and clinical response to treatment in depression: a meta-analysis. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 25(10):1532–1543. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.06.007
- 24. Capuron L, Gumnick JF, Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Reemsnyder A, Nemeroff CB, Miller AH (2002) Neurobehavioral effects of interferon-alpha in cancer patients: phenomenology and paroxetine responsiveness of symptom dimensions. Neuropsychopharmacology 26 (5):643–652
- 25. Constant A, Castera L, Dantzer R, Couzigou P, de Ledinghen V, Demotes-Mainard J, Henry C (2005) Mood alterations during interferon-alfa therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis C: evidence for an overlap between manic/hypomanic and depressive symptoms. J Clin Psychiatry 66(8):1050–1057
- Eisenberger NI, Berkman ET, Inagaki TK, Rameson LT, Mashal NM, Irwin MR (2010) Inflammation-induced anhedonia: endotoxin reduces ventral striatum responses to reward. Biol Psychiatry 68(8):748–754. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.06.010
- Eisenberger NI, Inagaki TK, Mashal NM, Irwin MR (2010) Inflammation and social experience: an inflammatory challenge induces feelings of social disconnection in addition to depressed mood. Brain Behav Immun 24(4):558–563. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2009.12.009
- Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Critchley HD (2009) Inflammation causes mood changes through alterations in subgenual cingulate activity and mesolimbic connectivity. Biol Psychiatry 66:407–414. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.03.015
- 29. Evans DL, Charney DS, Lewis L, Golden RN, Gorman JM, Krishnan KR, Nemeroff CB, Bremner JD, Carney RM, Coyne JC, Delong MR, Frasure-Smith N, Glassman AH, Gold PW, Grant I, Gwyther L, Ironson G, Johnson RL, Kanner AM, Katon WJ, Kaufmann PG, Keefe FJ, Ketter T, Laughren TP, Leserman J, Lyketsos CG, McDonald WM, McEwen BS, Miller AH, Musselman D, O'Connor C, Petitto JM, Pollock BG, Robinson RG, Roose SP, Rowland J, Sheline Y, Sheps DS, Simon G, Spiegel D, Stunkard A, Sunderland T, Tibbits P Jr, Valvo WJ (2005) Mood disorders in the medically ill: scientific review and recommendations. Biol Psychiatry 58(3):175–189. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.05.001
- 30. Kohler O, Benros ME, Nordentoft M, Farkouh ME, Iyengar RL, Mors O, Krogh J (2014) Effect of anti-inflammatory treatment on depression, depressive symptoms, and adverse

effects: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. JAMA Psychiatry 71(12):1381–1391. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1611

- 31. Abbasi SH, Hosseini F, Modabbernia A, Ashrafi M, Akhondzadeh S (2012) Effect of celecoxib add-on treatment on symptoms and serum IL-6 concentrations in patients with major depressive disorder: randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. J Affect Disord 141(2–3):308–314. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2012.03.033
- 32. Akhondzadeh S, Jafari S, Raisi F, Nasehi AA, Ghoreishi A, Salehi B, Mohebbi-Rasa S, Raznahan M, Kamalipour A (2009) Clinical trial of adjunctive celecoxib treatment in patients with major depression: a double blind and placebo controlled trial. Depress Anxiety 26 (7):607–611. doi:10.1002/da.20589
- 33. Hashemian F, Majd M, Hosseini SM, Sharifi A, Panahi MVS, Bigdeli O (2011) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of celecoxib augmentation of sertraline in the treatment of a drug-naive women with major depression. Klinik Psikofarmakoloji Bulteni 21: S183–S184
- 34. Muller N, Schwarz MJ, Dehning S, Douhe A, Cerovecki A, Goldstein-Muller B, Spellmann I, Hetzel G, Maino K, Kleindienst N, Moller HJ, Arolt V, Riedel M (2006) The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib has therapeutic effects in major depression: results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled, add-on pilot study to reboxetine. Mol Psychiatry 11(7):680–684
- 35. Na KS, Lee KJ, Lee JS, Cho YS, Jung HY (2014) Efficacy of adjunctive celecoxib treatment for patients with major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 48:79–85. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.09.006
- 36. Faridhosseini F, Sadeghi R, Farid L, Pourgholami M (2014) Celecoxib: a new augmentation strategy for depressive mood episodes. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized placebo-controlled trials. Hum Psychopharmacol 29(3):216–223. doi:10.1002/hup.2401
- Miller AH, Raison CL (2015) Are anti-inflammatory therapies viable treatments for psychiatric disorders?: where the rubber meets the road. JAMA Psychiatry 72(6):527–528. doi:10. 1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.22
- 38. Jansen JF, Backes WH, Nicolay K, Kooi ME (2006) 1H MR spectroscopy of the brain: absolute quantification of metabolites. Radiology 240(2):318–332. doi:10.1148/radiol. 2402050314
- Mason GF, Krystal JH (2006) MR spectroscopy: its potential role for drug development for the treatment of psychiatric diseases. NMR Biomed 19(6):690–701. doi:10.1002/nbm.1080
- Moore CM, Frederick BB, Renshaw PF (1999) Brain biochemistry using magnetic resonance spectroscopy: relevance to psychiatric illness in the elderly. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 12 (3):107–117
- 41. Stagg CJ, Bestmann S, Constantinescu AO, Moreno LM, Allman C, Mekle R, Woolrich M, Near J, Johansen-Berg H, Rothwell JC (2011) Relationship between physiological measures of excitability and levels of glutamate and GABA in the human motor cortex. J Physiol 589 (Pt 23):5845–5855. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2011.216978
- 42. Tremblay S, Beaule V, Proulx S, de Beaumont L, Marjanska M, Doyon J, Pascual-Leone A, Lassonde M, Theoret H (2013) Relationship between transcranial magnetic stimulation measures of intracortical inhibition and spectroscopy measures of GABA and glutamate + glutamine. J Neurophysiol 109(5):1343–1349. doi:10.1152/jn.00704.2012
- Yildiz-Yesiloglu A, Ankerst DP (2006) Review of 1H magnetic resonance spectroscopy findings in major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis. Psychiatry Res 147(1):1–25. doi:10. 1016/j.pscychresns.2005.12.004
- 44. Yuksel C, Ongur D (2010) Magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies of glutamate-related abnormalities in mood disorders. Biol Psychiatry 68(9):785–794. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych. 2010.06.016
- 45. Rosenberg DR, Paulson ND, Seraji-Bozorgard N, Wilds IB, Stewart CM, Moore GJ (2000) Brain chemistry in pediatric depression. Biol Psychiatry 47:95S

- 46. Kondo DG, Hellem TL, Sung YH, Kim N, Jeong EK, Delmastro KK, Shi X, Renshaw PF (2011) Review: magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies of pediatric major depressive disorder. Depress Res Treat 2011;650450. doi:10.1155/2011/650450
- 47. Luykx JJ, Laban KG, van den Heuvel MP, Boks MP, Mandl RC, Kahn RS, Bakker SC (2012) Region and state specific glutamate downregulation in major depressive disorder: a metaanalysis of (1)H-MRS findings. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 36(1):198–205. doi:10.1016/j. neubiorev.2011.05.014
- Arnone D, Mumuni AN, Jauhar S, Condon B, Cavanagh J (2015) Indirect evidence of selective glial involvement in glutamate-based mechanisms of mood regulation in depression: meta-analysis of absolute prefrontal neuro-metabolic concentrations. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 25(8):1109–1117. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.04.016
- 49. Michael N, Erfurth A, Ohrmann P, Arolt V, Heindel W, Pfleiderer B (2003) Metabolic changes within the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex occurring with electroconvulsive therapy in patients with treatment resistant unipolar depression. Psychol Med 33(7):1277–1284
- 50. Pfleiderer B, Michael N, Erfurth A, Ohrmann P, Hohmann U, Wolgast M, Fiebich M, Arolt V, Heindel W (2003) Effective electroconvulsive therapy reverses glutamate/glutamine deficit in the left anterior cingulum of unipolar depressed patients. Psychiatry Res 122 (3):185–192
- Zhang J, Narr KL, Woods RP, Phillips OR, Alger JR, Espinoza RT (2013) Glutamate normalization with ECT treatment response in major depression. Mol Psychiatry 18 (3):268–270. doi:10.1038/mp.2012.46
- 52. Taylor M, Murphy SE, Selvaraj S, Wylezinkska M, Jezzard P, Cowen PJ, Evans J (2008) Differential effects of citalopram and reboxetine on cortical Glx measured with proton MR spectroscopy. J Psychopharmacol 22(5):473–476. doi:10.1177/0269881107081510
- Murck H, Schubert MI, Schmid D, Schussler P, Steiger A, Auer DP (2009) The glutamatergic system and its relation to the clinical effect of therapeutic-sleep deprivation in depression - an MR spectroscopy study. J Psychiatr Res 43(3):175–180. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2008.04. 009
- 54. Valentine GW, Mason GF, Gomez R, Fasula M, Watzl J, Pittman B, Krystal JH, Sanacora G (2011) The antidepressant effect of ketamine is not associated with changes in occipital amino acid neurotransmitter content as measured by [(1)H]-MRS. Psychiatry Res 191 (2):122–127. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2010.10.009
- 55. Niciu MJ, Ionescu DF, Richards EM, CA Jr Z (2014) Glutamate and its receptors in the pathophysiology and treatment of major depressive disorder. J Neural Transm 121 (8):907–924. doi:10.1007/s00702-013-1130-x
- 56. Walker AK, Budac DP, Bisulco S, Lee AW, Smith RA, Beenders B, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2013) NMDA receptor blockade by ketamine abrogates lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior in C57BL/6 J mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(9):1609–1616. doi:10. 1038/npp.2013.71
- 57. Abdallah CG, Jiang L, De Feyter HM, Fasula M, Krystal JH, Rothman DL, Mason GF, Sanacora G (2014) Glutamate metabolism in major depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 171 (12):1320–1327. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.14010067
- Bluml S, Moreno-Torres A, Shic F, Nguy CH, Ross BD (2002) Tricarboxylic acid cycle of glia in the in vivo human brain. NMR Biomed 15(1):1–5
- 59. Gigante AD, Bond DJ, Lafer B, Lam RW, Young LT, Yatham LN (2012) Brain glutamate levels measured by magnetic resonance spectroscopy in patients with bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis. Bipolar Disord 14(5):478–487. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2012.01033.x
- 60. Bernard R, Kerman IA, Thompson RC, Jones EG, Bunney WE, Barchas JD, Schatzberg AF, Myers RM, Akil H, Watson SJ (2011) Altered expression of glutamate signaling, growth factor, and glia genes in the locus coeruleus of patients with major depression. Mol Psychiatry 16(6):634–646. doi:10.1038/mp.2010.44
- Ernst C, Mechawar N, Turecki G (2009) Suicide neurobiology. Prog Neurobiol 89 (4):315–333. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2009.09.001

- Ongur D, Bechtholt AJ, Carlezon WA Jr, Cohen BM (2014) Glial abnormalities in mood disorders. Harv Rev Psychiatry 22(6):334–337. doi:10.1097/HRP.00000000000000000
- 63. Rajkowska G, Stockmeier CA (2013) Astrocyte pathology in major depressive disorder: insights from human postmortem brain tissue. Curr Drug Targets 14(11):1225–1236
- 64. Nagy C, Suderman M, Yang J, Szyf M, Mechawar N, Ernst C, Turecki G (2015) Astrocytic abnormalities and global DNA methylation patterns in depression and suicide. Mol Psychiatry 20(3):320–328. doi:10.1038/mp.2014.21
- 65. Torres-Platas SG, Hercher C, Davoli MA, Maussion G, Labonte B, Turecki G, Mechawar N (2011) Astrocytic hypertrophy in anterior cingulate white matter of depressed suicides. Neuropsychopharmacology 36(13):2650–2658. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.154
- 66. Rajkowska G, Miguel-Hidalgo JJ (2007) Gliogenesis and glial pathology in depression. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 6(3):219–233
- Rajkowska G, Miguel-Hidalgo JJ, Wei J, Dilley G, Pittman SD, Meltzer HY, Overholser JC, Roth BL, Stockmeier CA (1999) Morphometric evidence for neuronal and glial prefrontal cell pathology in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 45(9):1085–1098
- 68. Choudary PV, Molnar M, Evans SJ, Tomita H, Li JZ, Vawter MP, Myers RM, Bunney WE, Jr., Akil H, Watson SJ, Jones EG (2005) Altered cortical glutamatergic and GABAergic signal transmission with glial involvement in depression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102 (43):15653–15658. doi:10.1073/pnas.0507901102
- 69. Barley K, Dracheva S, Byne W (2009) Subcortical oligodendrocyte- and astrocyte-associated gene expression in subjects with schizophrenia, major depression and bipolar disorder. Schizophr Res 112(1–3):54–64. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2009.04.019
- Sequeira A, Mamdani F, Ernst C, Vawter MP, Bunney WE, Lebel V, Rehal S, Klempan T, Gratton A, Benkelfat C, Rouleau GA, Mechawar N, Turecki G (2009) Global brain gene expression analysis links glutamatergic and GABAergic alterations to suicide and major depression. PLoS One 4(8):e6585. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006585
- 71. Zhang C, Li Z, Wu Z, Chen J, Wang Z, Peng D, Hong W, Yuan C, Wang Z, Yu S, Xu Y, Xu L, Xiao Z, Fang Y (2014) A study of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor gene (GRIN2B) variants as predictors of treatment-resistant major depression. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 231(4):685–693. doi:10.1007/s00213-013-3297-0
- Bechtholt-Gompf AJ, Walther HV, Adams MA, Carlezon WA Jr, Ongur D, Cohen BM (2010) Blockade of astrocytic glutamate uptake in rats induces signs of anhedonia and impaired spatial memory. Neuropsychopharmacology 35(10):2049–2059. doi:10.1038/npp. 2010.74
- 73. Popoli M, Yan Z, McEwen BS, Sanacora G (2012) The stressed synapse: the impact of stress and glucocorticoids on glutamate transmission. Nat Rev Neurosci 13(1):22–37. doi:10.1038/ nrm3138
- 74. Danbolt NC (2001) Glutamate uptake. Prog Neurobiol 65(1):1–105. doi:10.1016/s0301-0082 (00)00067-8
- 75. Jabaudon D, Scanziani M, Gahwiler BH, Gerber U (2000) Acute decrease in net glutamate uptake during energy deprivation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(10):5610–5615
- 76. Jabaudon D, Shimamoto K, Yasuda-Kamatani Y, Scanziani M, Gahwiler BH, Gerber U (1999) Inhibition of uptake unmasks rapid extracellular turnover of glutamate of nonvesicular origin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(15):8733–8738
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Kelley KW (2011) Inflammation-associated depression: from serotonin to kynurenine. Psychoneuroendocrinology 36(3):426–436. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.09.012
- 78. Lewerenz J, Hewett SJ, Huang Y, Lambros M, Gout PW, Kalivas PW, Massie A, Smolders I, Methner A, Pergande M, Smith SB, Ganapathy V, Maher P (2013) The cystine/glutamate antiporter system x(c)(-) in health and disease: from molecular mechanisms to novel therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(5):522–555. doi:10.1089/ars.2011.4391
- Malarkey E, Parpura V (2008) Mechanisms of glutamate release from astrocytes. Neurochem Int 52(1–2):142–154. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2007.06.005

- Petrelli F, Bezzi P (2016) Novel insights into gliotransmitters. Curr Opin Pharmacol 26:138–145. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2015.11.010
- Tilleux S, Hermans E (2007) Neuroinflammation and regulation of glial glutamate uptake in neurological disorders. J Neurosci Res 85(10):2059–2070. doi:10.1002/jnr.21325
- 82. Wang F, Smith NA, Xu Q, Goldman S, Peng W, Huang JH, Takano T, Nedergaard M (2013) Photolysis of caged Ca²⁺ but not receptor-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling triggers astrocytic glutamate release. J Neurosci 33(44):17404–17412. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2178-13.2013
- Ye ZC, Sontheimer H (1996) Cytokine modulation of glial glutamate uptake: a possible involvement of nitric oxide. Neuroreport 7(13):2181–2185
- 84. Zhou Y, Danbolt NC (2014) Glutamate as a neurotransmitter in the healthy brain. J Neural Transm (Vienna) 121(8):799–817. doi:10.1007/s00702-014-1180-8
- Nedergaard M, Takano T, Hansen AJ (2002) Beyond the role of glutamate as a neurotransmitter. Nat Rev Neurosci 3(9):748–755. doi:10.1038/nrn916
- Ankarcrona M, Dypbukt JM, Bonfoco E, Zhivotovsky B, Orrenius S, Lipton SA, Nicotera P (1995) Glutamate-induced neuronal death: a succession of necrosis or apoptosis depending on mitochondrial function. Neuron 15(4):961–973
- 87. Rothstein JD (1996) Excitotoxicity hypothesis. Neurology 47(4 Suppl 2):S19-S26
- Hardingham GE, Bading H (2010) Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 11(10):682–696. doi:10. 1038/nrn2911
- Hardingham GE, Fukunaga Y, Bading H (2002) Extrasynaptic NMDARs oppose synaptic NMDARs by triggering CREB shut-off and cell death pathways. Nat Neurosci 5(5):405–414. doi:10.1038/nn835
- Leibowitz A, Boyko M, Shapira Y, Zlotnik A (2012) Blood glutamate scavenging: insight into neuroprotection. Int J Mol Sci 13(8):10041–10066. doi:10.3390/ijms130810041
- Capuron L, Neurauter G, Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Nemeroff CB, Fuchs D, Miller AH (2003) Interferon-alpha-induced changes in tryptophan metabolism. Relationship to depression and paroxetine treatment. Biol Psychiatry 54(9):906–914. doi:10.1016/s0006-3223(03) 00173-2
- 92. Goshen I, Yirmiya R (2009) Interleukin-1 (IL-1): a central regulator of stress responses. Front Neuroendocrinol 30(1):30–45. doi:10.1016/j.yfrne.2008.10.001
- 93. Halassa MM, Fellin T, Haydon PG (2007) The tripartite synapse: roles for gliotransmission in health and disease. Trends Mol Med 13(2):54–63. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2006.12.005
- 94. Iliff JJ, Nedergaard M (2013) Is there a cerebral lymphatic system? Stroke 44(6 Suppl 1): S93–S95. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.678698
- 95. Parpura V, Verkhratsky A (2013) Astroglial amino acid-based transmitter receptors. Amino Acids 44(4):1151–1158. doi:10.1007/s00726-013-1458-4
- 96. Volterra A, Meldolesi J (2005) Astrocytes, from brain glue to communication elements: the revolution continues. Nat Rev Neurosci 6(8):626–640. doi:10.1038/nrn1722
- 97. Bezzi P, Domercq M, Brambilla L, Galli R, Schols D, De Clercq E, Vescovi A, Bagetta G, Kollias G, Meldolesi J, Volterra A (2001) CXCR4-activated astrocyte glutamate release via TNFalpha: amplification by microglia triggers neurotoxicity. Nat Neurosci 4(7):702–710. doi:10.1038/89490
- Lewerenz J, Maher P (2015) Chronic glutamate toxicity in neurodegenerative diseases-what is the evidence? Front Neurosci 9:469. doi:10.3389/fnins.2015.00469
- 99. Nathan C, Cunningham-Bussel A (2013) Beyond oxidative stress: an immunologist's guide to reactive oxygen species. Nat Rev Immunol 13(5):349–361. doi:10.1038/nri3423
- 100. Murugan M, Ling E-A, Kaur C (2013) Glutamate receptors in microglia. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 12(6):773–784. doi:10.2174/18715273113126660174
- 101. Takaki J, Fujimori K, Miura M, Suzuki T, Sekino Y, Sato K (2012) L-glutamate released from activated microglia downregulates astrocytic L-glutamate transporter expression in neuroinflammation: the 'collusion' hypothesis for increased extracellular L-glutamate concentration in neuroinflammation. J Neuroinflammation 9:275. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-275

- 102. Persson M, Brantefjord M, Hansson E, Ronnback L (2005) Lipopolysaccharide increases microglial GLT-1 expression and glutamate uptake capacity in vitro by a mechanism dependent on TNF-alpha. Glia 51(2):111–120. doi:10.1002/glia.20191
- 103. Yirmiya R, Goshen I (2011) Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. Brain Behav Immun 25(2):181–213. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2010.10.015
- 104. Yirmiya R, Rimmerman N, Reshef R (2015) Depression as a microglial disease. Trends Neurosci 38(10):637–658. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2015.08.001
- 105. Gras G, Samah B, Hubert A, Leone C, Porcheray F, Rimaniol AC (2012) EAAT expression by macrophages and microglia: still more questions than answers. Amino Acids 42 (1):221–229. doi:10.1007/s00726-011-0866-6
- 106. Fleshner M (2013) Stress-evoked sterile inflammation, danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), microbial associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) and the inflammasome. Brain Behav Immun 27(1):1–7. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.08.012
- 107. Iwata M, Ota KT, Li XY, Sakaue F, Li N, Dutheil S, Banasr M, Duric V, Yamanashi T, Kaneko K, Rasmussen K, Glasebrook A, Koester A, Song D, Jones KA, Zorn S, Smagin G, Duman RS (2015) Psychological stress activates the inflammasome via release of adenosine triphosphate and stimulation of the purinergic type 2X7 receptor. Biol Psychiatry. doi:10. 1016/j.biopsych.2015.11.026
- Duan S, Anderson CM, Keung EC, Chen Y, Chen Y, Swanson RA (2003) P2X7 receptormediated release of excitatory amino acids from astrocytes. J Neurosci 23(4):1320–1328
- 109. Sitcheran R, Gupta P, Fisher PB, Baldwin AS (2005) Positive and negative regulation of EAAT2 by NF-kappaB: a role for N-myc in TNFalpha-controlled repression. EMBO J 24 (3):510–520. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600555
- 110. Korn T, Magnus T, Jung S (2005) Autoantigen specific T cells inhibit glutamate uptake in astrocytes by decreasing expression of astrocytic glutamate transporter GLAST: a mechanism mediated by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. FASEB J 19(13):1878–1880. doi:10.1096/fj. 05-3748fje
- 111. Ohgoh M, Hanada T, Smith T, Hashimoto T, Ueno M, Yamanishi Y, Watanabe M, Nishizawa Y (2002) Altered expression of glutamate transporters in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 125(1–2):170–178
- 112. Szymocha R, Akaoka H, Dutuit M, Malcus C, Didier-Bazes M, Belin MF, Giraudon P (2000) Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1-infected T lymphocytes impair catabolism and uptake of glutamate by astrocytes via tax-1 and tumor necrosis factor alpha. J Virol 74 (14):6433–6441. doi:10.1128/jvi.74.14.6433-6441.2000
- 113. Vercellino M, Merola A, Piacentino C, Votta B, Capello E, Mancardi GL, Mutani R, Giordana MT, Cavalla P (2007) Altered glutamate reuptake in relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis cortex: correlation with microglia infiltration, demyelination, and neuronal and synaptic damage. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66 (8):732–739. doi:10.1097/nen.0b013e31812571b0
- 114. Verkhratsky A, Nedergaard M (2014) Astroglial cradle in the life of the synapse. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369(1654):20130595. doi:10.1098/rstb.2013.0595
- 115. Bergles DE, Jahr CE (1997) Synaptic activation of glutamate transporters in hippocampal astrocytes. Neuron 19(6):1297–1308
- 116. Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ (2012) Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 13(7):465–477. doi:10.1038/nrn3257
- 117. Stone TW, Forrest CM, Darlington LG (2012) Kynurenine pathway inhibition as a therapeutic strategy for neuroprotection. FEBS J 279(8):1386–1397. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012. 08487.x
- 118. Vecsei L, Szalardy L, Fulop F, Toldi J (2013) Kynurenines in the CNS: recent advances and new questions. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12(1):64–82. doi:10.1038/nrd3793
- 119. Schwarcz R, Pellicciari R (2002) Manipulation of brain kynurenines: glial targets, neuronal effects, and clinical opportunities. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 303(1):1–10. doi:10.1124/jpet.102. 034439

- 120. Schwarcz R (2016) Kynurenines and glutamate: multiple links and therapeutic implications. Adv Pharmacol 76:13–37. doi:10.1016/bs.apha.2016.01.005
- 121. Guillemin GJ (2012) Quinolinic acid: neurotoxicity. FEBS J 279(8):1355. doi:10.1111/j. 1742-4658.2012.08493.x
- 122. Schwarcz R (2004) The kynurenine pathway of tryptophan degradation as a drug target. Curr Opin Pharmacol 4(1):12–17. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2003.10.006
- 123. Brundin L, Erhardt S, Bryleva EY, Achtyes ED, Postolache TT (2015) The role of inflammation in suicidal behaviour. Acta Psychiatr Scand 132(3):192–203. doi:10.1111/acps.12458
- 124. Erhardt S, Lim CK, Linderholm KR, Janelidze S, Lindqvist D, Samuelsson M, Lundberg K, Postolache TT, Traskman-Bendz L, Guillemin GJ, Brundin L (2013) Connecting inflammation with glutamate agonism in suicidality. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(5):743–752. doi:10.1038/npp.2012.248
- 125. Raison CL, Dantzer R, Kelley KW, Lawson MA, Woolwine BJ, Vogt G, Spivey JR, Saito K, Miller AH (2010) CSF concentrations of brain tryptophan and kynurenines during immune stimulation with IFN-alpha: relationship to CNS immune responses and depression. Mol Psychiatry 15(4):393–403. doi:10.1038/mp.2009.116
- 126. Meier TB, Drevets WC, Wurfel BE, Ford BN, Morris HM, Victor TA, Bodurka J, Teague TK, Dantzer R, Savitz J (2016) Relationship between neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites and reductions in right medial prefrontal cortical thickness in major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 53:39–48. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.11.003
- 127. Savitz J, Dantzer R, Meier TB, Wurfel BE, Victor TA, McIntosh SA, Ford BN, Morris HM, Bodurka J, Teague TK, Drevets WC (2015) Activation of the kynurenine pathway is associated with striatal volume in major depressive disorder. Psychoneuroendocrinology 62:54–58. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.07.609
- 128. Savitz J, Dantzer R, Wurfel BE, Victor TA, Ford BN, Bodurka J, Bellgowan PS, Teague TK, Drevets WC (2015) Neuroprotective kynurenine metabolite indices are abnormally reduced and positively associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volume in bipolar disorder. Psychoneuroendocrinology 52:200–211. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.11.015
- 129. Savitz J, Drevets WC, Smith CM, Victor TA, Wurfel BE, Bellgowan PS, Bodurka J, Teague TK, Dantzer R (2015c) Putative neuroprotective and neurotoxic kynurenine pathway metabolites are associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in subjects with major depressive disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 40(2):463–471. doi:10.1038/npp.2014.194
- 130. Walker AJ, Foley BM, Sutor SL, McGillivray JA, Frye MA, Tye SJ (2015) Peripheral proinflammatory markers associated with ketamine response in a preclinical model of antidepressant-resistance. Behav Brain Res 293:198–202. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.07.026
- 131. Yang JJ, Wang N, Yang C, Shi JY, HY Y, Hashimoto K (2015) Serum interleukin-6 is a predictive biomarker for ketamine's antidepressant effect in treatment-resistant patients with major depression. Biol Psychiatry 77(3):e19–e20. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.06.021
- 132. Machado-Vieira R, Gold PW, Luckenbaugh DA, Ballard ED, Richards EM, Henter ID, De Sousa RT, Niciu MJ, Yuan P, Zarate CA Jr (2016) The role of adipokines in the rapid antidepressant effects of ketamine. Mol Psychiatry. doi:10.1038/mp.2016.36
- 133. Haroon E, Woolwine BJ, Chen X, Pace TW, Parekh S, Spivey JR, XP H, Miller AH (2014) IFN-alpha-induced cortical and subcortical glutamate changes assessed by magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Neuropsychopharmacology 39(7):1777–1785. doi:10.1038/npp.2014.25
- 134. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Demetrashvili M, Woolwine BJ, Nemeroff CB, Berns GS, Miller AH (2005) Anterior cingulate activation and error processing during interferon-alpha treatment. Biol Psychiatry 58(3):190–196
- 135. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Demetrashvili MF, Lawson DH, Fornwalt FB, Woolwine B, Berns GS, Nemeroff CB, Miller AH (2007) Basal ganglia hypermetabolism and symptoms of fatigue during interferon-alpha therapy. Neuropsychopharmacology 32(11):2384–2392. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301362
- 136. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Drake D, Woolwine B, Spivey J, Crowe R, Votaw J, Goodman M, Miller A (2012) Dopaminergic mechanisms of reduced basal ganglia responses to hedonic

reward during interferon alfa administration. Arch Gen Psychiatry 69(10):1044–1053. doi:10. 1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.2094

- 137. Harrison NA, Voon V, Cercignani M, Cooper EA, Pessiglione M, Critchley HD (2015) A Neurocomputational account of how inflammation enhances sensitivity to punishments versus rewards. Biol Psychiatry. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.07.018
- 138. Slavich GM, Way BM, Eisenberger NI, Taylor SE (2010) Neural sensitivity to social rejection is associated with inflammatory responses to social stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(33):14817–14822. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009164107
- Godbout J, Johnson R (2009) Age and neuroinflammation: a lifetime of psychoneuroimmune consequences. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 29(2):321–337. doi:10.1016/j.iac.2009.02. 007
- 140. Haroon E, Felger JC, Woolwine BJ, Chen X, Parekh S, Spivey JR, XP H, Miller AH (2015) Age-related increases in basal ganglia glutamate are associated with TNF, reduced motivation and decreased psychomotor speed during IFN-alpha treatment: preliminary findings. Brain Behav Immun 46:17–22. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.12.004

The Role of Dopamine in Inflammation-Associated Depression: Mechanisms and Therapeutic Implications

Jennifer C. Felger

Abstract Studies investigating the impact of a variety of inflammatory stimuli on the brain and behavior have consistently reported evidence that inflammatory cytokines affect the basal ganglia and dopamine to mediate depressive symptoms related to motivation and motor activity. Findings have included inflammationassociated reductions in ventral striatal responses to hedonic reward, decreased dopamine and dopamine metabolites in cerebrospinal fluid, and decreased availability of striatal dopamine, all of which correlate with symptoms of anhedonia, fatigue, and psychomotor retardation. Similar relationships between alterations in dopamine-relevant corticostriatal reward circuitry and symptoms of anhedonia and psychomotor slowing have also been observed in patients with major depression who exhibit increased peripheral cytokines and other inflammatory markers, such as C-reactive protein. Of note, these inflammation-associated depressive symptoms are often difficult to treat in patients with medical illnesses or major depression. Furthermore, a wealth of literature suggests that inflammation can decrease dopamine synthesis, packaging, and release, thus sabotaging or circumventing the efficacy of standard antidepressant treatments. Herein, the mechanisms by which inflammation and cytokines affect dopamine neurotransmission are discussed, which may provide novel insights into treatment of inflammation-related behavioral symptoms that contribute to an inflammatory malaise.

Keywords Anhedonia • Cytokines • Depression • Dopamine • In vivo microdialysis • Inflammation • Motivation • Motor slowing • Neuroimaging • Striatum

J.C. Felger (🖂)

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences and The Winship Cancer Institute, Emory University School of Medicine, 1365-B Clifton Road, 5th Floor, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA e-mail: jfelger@emory.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 199–220 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_13 Published Online: 20 May 2016

Contents

Introduction: Inflammation Effects on Dopamine-Relevant Depressive Behaviors	200
2 Inflammation Effects on Dopamine and Corticostriatal Neurocircuitry	
2.1 Translational Studies	201
2.2 Human Neuroimaging Studies	202
3 Mechanisms of Inflammation Effects on Dopamine Neurotransmission	
3.1 Dopamine Synthesis and Availability	205
3.2 Dopamine Packaging, Release, and Reuptake	207
3.3 Glutamate Neurotransmission and Dopamine Release	208
Translational Implications: Potential Therapeutic Targets for Inflammation Effects	
on Dopamine	209
5 Summary and Conclusions	
ferences	211
	Introduction: Inflammation Effects on Dopamine-Relevant Depressive Behaviors Inflammation Effects on Dopamine and Corticostriatal Neurocircuitry 2.1 Translational Studies 2.2 Human Neuroimaging Studies Mechanisms of Inflammation Effects on Dopamine Neurotransmission 3.1 Dopamine Synthesis and Availability 3.2 Dopamine Packaging, Release, and Reuptake 3.3 Glutamate Neurotransmission and Dopamine Release Translational Implications: Potential Therapeutic Targets for Inflammation Effects on Dopamine Summary and Conclusions

1 Introduction: Inflammation Effects on Dopamine-Relevant Depressive Behaviors

Findings from numerous laboratories have consistently indicated that innate immune activation and the release of inflammatory cytokines preferentially affect reward pathways and brain dopamine to contribute to reduced motivation and motor slowing [1-6]. The effect of inflammatory cytokines on motivation and motor activity may be especially relevant to depressive symptoms of anhedonia, fatigue, and psychomotor retardation, which are commonly observed in patients chronically administered inflammatory cytokines such as interferon (IFN)- α [7, 8]. Furthermore, these inflammation-related symptoms relevant to reduced motivation and motor slowing are difficult to treat with standard antidepressant therapies like selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) in patients with major depression [9–12], as well as in those treated with IFN- α [7, 8, 13]. Given the longstanding relationship between inflammation and depression [14, 15], particularly in patients who are resistant to antidepressant treatment, these findings suggest that other neurotransmitter systems, such as dopamine, may be involved in these SSRI-resistant, inflammation-related symptoms. Nevertheless, classical stimulant medications that increase dopamine release and/or block dopamine reuptake have demonstrated limited efficacy in the treatment of fatigue in patients with inflammation-associated medical illnesses [16-18]. Therefore, a better understanding of the mechanisms by which inflammation and cytokines may affect dopamine function will inform strategies to improve the treatment of depressive symptoms related to reduced motivation and motor slowing in medically ill and medically healthy individuals.

This chapter will highlight the current literature demonstrating the impact of peripheral inflammation on brain dopamine by integrating findings from both clinical and translational studies involving acute or chronic administration of cytokines or inflammatory stimuli. Knowledge gained from these administration studies has informed recent work in patients with major depression revealing similar relationships between increased peripheral cytokines and other inflammatory markers, alterations in dopamine-relevant reward circuitry, and reduced motivation and motor function, which will also be presented [19, 20]. In humans, much evidence stems from studies in healthy volunteers acutely administered endotoxin or typhoid vaccination, and from patients chronically administered inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IFN- α) as therapy for some cancers and infectious diseases. Like endotoxin and vaccination, IFN- α administration induces release of the inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-6, IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) [21-25]. Depending on the dose, up to 50% of patients administered IFN- α as treatment for hepatitis C virus (HCV) or malignant melanoma meet symptom criteria for major depression, and up to 80% experience significant fatigue, lack of energy, and motor slowing [7, 24, 26–31]. Additionally, reduced motivation and anhedonia are frequently reported in IFN- α -treated patients [2, 6]. Models of administration of cytokines or inflammatory stimuli to humans and laboratory animals will be discussed in the context of potential mechanisms of cytokine effects on dopamine and relevant neurocircuitry. In addition, cytokine effects on other neurotransmitter systems as they relate to dopamine function will be described, and implications of these findings for treatment of inflammation-related depressive symptoms will be discussed.

2 Inflammation Effects on Dopamine and Corticostriatal Neurocircuitry

2.1 Translational Studies

Initial evidence that inflammation can affect brain dopamine originates from neurochemical and behavioral studies in rodents administered acute or sub-chronic IFN- α that reported either increases or decreases in dopamine and/or dopamine metabolites in concert with depressive behaviors and changes in loco-motor activity [32–36]. These mixed results were likely due to differences in dosing, length of exposure, and most importantly, lack of use of species-specific IFN- α [37–39]. However, rhesus monkeys exposed to chronic IFN- α exhibit immune, neuroendocrine, and behavioral response similar to that of cytokine-treated patients, including decreases in psychomotor activity and increases in depressive-like huddling behavior (in ~50% of animals) [1, 23]. Of note, depressive huddling behavior in non-human primates was previously described following chronic administration of the monoamine-depleting agent reserpine, and dopamine receptor antagonists and partial agonists [40, 41]. Only animals that displayed depressive behavior following IFN- α administration were found to have significantly lower cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) concentrations of the dopamine metabolites

homovanillic acid (HVA) and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), which correlated with decreased locomotor activity [1, 23].

To further explore the effects of inflammatory cytokines on synaptic availability and release of striatal dopamine, in vivo microdialysis and positron emission tomography (PET) neuroimaging with [¹¹C]raclopride displacement following amphetamine (AMPH) challenge were conducted on IFN- α -treated monkeys [42]. Results indicated that stimulated dopamine release was indeed decreased in the striatum (including nucleus accumbens) after chronic administration of IFN- α , and decreased dopamine release, as measured by in vivo microdialysis, was correlated with reduced effort-based but not freely available sucrose consumption [42]. Furthermore, IFN- α -induced decreases in striatal dopamine release were reversed by the dopamine precursor levodopa (L-DOPA) administered via reverse in vivo microdialysis, indicating that cytokines may reduce dopamine synthesis and availability [43].

Similar to the effects of IFN- α , peripheral administration of interleukin (IL)-1 β has been shown to decrease effort-based responses for sucrose reward over freely available chow, in the absence of a decrease in preference of freely available sucrose over chow [44]. Furthermore, a similar decrease in motivation for but not sensitivity to sucrose reward has been reported in mice following lipopolysaccharide (LPS) administration [45]. In terms of effects on dopamine, whereas acute systemic administration of low dose LPS (~100 µg/kg) has been reported to either decrease tissue dopamine content or increase extracellular dopamine metabolites in the nucleus accumbens [46, 47], single injections of septic doses of LPS (5 mg/kg) cause progressive neurodegeneration of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system [48, 49]. Both the short- and long-term effects of LPS on brain dopamine can be blocked by inhibition or genetic deletion of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF [47, 48, 50]. Finally, models of inflammation-related medical illness, such as experimental tumors, are associated with decreased brain dopamine [51, 52]. Together, these results from animal studies indicate that a variety of inflammatory stimuli have been consistently found to affect brain dopamine to lead to relevant depressive symptoms, and have prompted further investigation into inflammation effects on dopamine and the basal ganglia in clinical populations.

2.2 Human Neuroimaging Studies

Neuroimaging studies across several laboratories suggest that disruption of the basal ganglia and dopamine is a major contributor to inflammation-induced behavioral change. The basal ganglia are key subcortical structures that regulate motivation and motor activity, and dopamine plays an essential modulatory role [53]. In the first study to examine IFN- α effects on the brain, increased glucose metabolism was found in the basal ganglia and particularly the dopamine-rich putamen [54], as assessed by PET with fluorine-18-labeled-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG). More recently, FDG PET revealed increased basal ganglia glucose metabolism in patients

receiving high dose IFN- α as therapy for malignant melanoma [3]. Increased glucose metabolism in the left putamen and left nucleus accumbens correlated significantly with reports of fatigue in these patients, as assessed by the "energy" subscale of the Visual Analog Scale of Fatigue (VAS-F) [3]. This pattern of increased glucose metabolism in basal ganglia nuclei is similar to that seen in patients with Parkinson's disease (PD) [55–57], where it is thought to reflect increased oscillatory burst activity in relevant basal ganglia nuclei secondary to loss of inhibitory nigral dopamine input [58, 59].

Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) has also demonstrated decreased neural activation in the basal ganglia, including ventral striatum, to hedonic reward (a gambling task) in HCV+ patients undergoing IFN- α administration, which correlated with self-reported reduced motivation [2]. Administration of the cytokine-inducers LPS and typhoid vaccination to healthy volunteers produces similar effects on the ventral striatum, suggesting that findings from IFN-a generalize to other inflammatory stimuli [4, 5, 60]. Indeed, LPS administration led to reduced activation in the ventral striatum during a monetary reward task that was associated with increases in self-reported depressed mood, as measured by the Profile of Mood States (POMS) depression subscale [5]. Typhoid vaccination, which produces a mild systemic inflammation characterized by increases in circulating IL-6, was shown to cause a shift in reward versus punishment sensitivity in a probabilistic instrumental learning task combined with fMRI [61]. Compared to saline control, vaccination reduced behavioral attractiveness of rewards while making punishments more aversive, effects that were related to neural representations of reward and punishment prediction errors in the ventral striatum as well as anterior insula [61]. Of relevance to potential effects of inflammation on dopamine, the magnitude of response to reward prediction error is fundamentally modulated by dopamine-dependent striatal activity, as determined by administration of drugs that enhance (L-DOPA) or inhibit (haloperidol) dopaminergic function [62]. Additionally, typhoid vaccination compared to saline has been shown to affect activity in the substantia nigra, including decreased activation in response to novelty and increased activation in response to visual stimuli, which was associated with both psychomotor slowing and increased peripheral blood concentrations of IL-6 [4, 60].

To further examine the role of dopamine in the effects of inflammation on basal ganglia metabolism and activation in humans, a PET study was conducted in HCV+, IFN- α -treated subjects using [¹⁸F]fluorodopa (FDOPA). Like the dopamine precursor L-DOPA, FDOPA is taken up by dopaminergic neurons and converted by dopamine decarboxylase to dopamine, whereupon it is stored in vesicles for release. Interestingly, both increased uptake and decreased turnover of FDOPA in the caudate, putamen, and ventral striatum of IFN- α -treated patients were found [2]. Baseline and percent change in FDOPA uptake was in turn correlated with IFN- α -induced behavioral alterations including depression and fatigue, as measured by the Montgomery Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) and Multidimensional-Fatigue-Inventory (MFI), respectively [2]. Increased uptake and decreased turnover of FDOPA in the basal ganglia following IFN- α administration are in stark contrast to that observed in patients with PD where decreased

uptake and increased FDOPA turnover are seen. Decreased uptake of FDOPA in PD is believed to be a function of loss of dopaminergic neurons and/or their projections throughout the basal ganglia [63–65], and intact or increased turnover suggests that the surviving neurons are capable of normal release [64, 66]. Increased FDOPA uptake during IFN- α treatment suggests a potential depletion of dopamine and increased synthetic capacity, which is consistent with decreased striatal dopamine release in IFN- α -treated monkeys that was reversed by L-DOPA, as described above [42, 43].

Despite the abundance of reports indicating changes in basal ganglia and dopamine function in subjects administered cytokines and inflammatory stimuli, little work has been done to investigate similar effects of inflammation in patients who exhibit high inflammation as a function of medical and neuropsychiatric illnesses. One study in patients with chronic fatigue syndrome, who have been frequently reported to exhibit elevated inflammatory markers including cytokines, reported decreased activation of basal ganglia structures, such as caudate and globus pallidus, in response to hedonic reward using the gambling task mentioned above [67]. In patients with depression, many of whom also have high inflammation, a relationship was observed between increased inflammation and decreased functional connectivity within reward-related corticostriatal neurocircuitry [20]. Indeed, increased inflammation (plasma concentrations of CRP as well as cytokines and their soluble receptors) was associated with decreased magnitude of functional connectivity between both the ventral and dorsal striatum and the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC), which correlated with symptoms of anhedonia and psychomotor slowing, respectively, symptoms which are prominent in depressed patients with high inflammation [19, 20, 68]. Like the ventral striatum, vmPFC is part of classic reward circuitry that receives significant mesocorticolimbic dopamine innervation [69, 70]. Accordingly, inflammation-related decreases in corticostriatal connectivity within reward circuitry in depression may involve cytokine-induced decreases in dopamine, and have potential for reversal with pharmacological strategies that increase dopamine availability or receptor signaling [1].

Together these data from humans and laboratory animals indicate that inflammation-related decreases in dopamine availability and release may have functional consequences on reward circuitry that are associated with fundamental alterations in motivation and motor function. This work supports further consideration of the mechanisms of cytokine effects on dopamine synthesis, release, reuptake, or receptor signaling, which may lead to the development of novel therapeutic strategies to increase dopamine availability in patients with increased inflammation.

3 Mechanisms of Inflammation Effects on Dopamine Neurotransmission

Cytokines can potentially affect multiple aspects of dopamine neurotransmission, leading to decreased synthesis, impaired packaging and release, or increased reuptake, all of which may interact to a greater or lesser extent to reduce dopamine neurotransmission in the basal ganglia (see Fig. 1). The following section will discuss potential mechanisms by which cytokines affect these aspects of dopamine function, ultimately resulting in reduced dopamine signaling.

3.1 Dopamine Synthesis and Availability

Dopamine synthesis relies on the conversion of tyrosine to L-DOPA by tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), the rate-limiting enzyme for dopamine synthesis. A major source of tyrosine is phenylalanine, which is converted to tyrosine by phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH). Both of these enzymes, TH and PAH, require the enzyme cofactor tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4). Although inflammation and cytokines have been shown to induce GTP-cyclohydrolase I, the enzyme necessary for BH4 synthesis, inflammation may in turn decrease BH4 availability [71]. BH4 is also a cofactor for nitric oxide synthases (NOS). Inflammation-induced increases in inducible NOS (iNOS) activity can usurp available BH4, which results in NOS uncoupling and the generation of reactive oxygen species instead of NO [72, 73]. This increase in oxidative stress can then contribute to oxidative reduction of BH4 itself (which is highly redox-sensitive), leaving even less BH4 available for dopamine synthesis (Fig. 1, mechanism 1) [72]. Indeed, intramuscular injection of rats with IFN-α has been shown to decrease CNS concentrations of BH4 through stimulation of NO, and inhibition of NOS was found to reverse IFN- α 's inhibitory effects on brain concentrations of both BH4 and DA [32]. Of note, IL-6 treatment has also been shown to reduce BH4 content in sympathetic neurons [74].

Concentrations of phenylalanine, tyrosine, BH4, and BH2 can be measured in the peripheral blood and CSF, and the BH4/BH2 and phenylalanine/tyrosine ratios have been proposed as indicators of BH4 availability and PAH activity, and may serve as indirect biomarkers of dopamine synthetic capacity [71, 75–78]. For example, a number of patient populations with increased inflammation, including patients with trauma, sepsis, cancer, and HIV, have been found to exhibit increased peripheral blood concentrations of phenylalanine [71]. Furthermore, increased phenylalanine concentrations in patients with cancer have been correlated with markers and mediators of inflammation including IL-6, IL-2 receptor, and soluble TNF- α receptor-2, as well as peripheral blood markers of oxidative stress [71]. Moreover, in a study of healthy elderly persons with low-grade inflammation, peripheral blood concentrations of phenylalanine, tyrosine, and an increased



Fig. 1 Potential mechanisms of inflammation effects on dopamine synthesis and release. Evidence indicates that inflammation and release of cytokines from the periphery, or those produced locally by activated microglia or infiltrating macrophages, can produce nitric oxide, as well as quinolinic acid through indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and kynurenine pathways, both of which contribute to oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation. Increased ROS and inflammation-induced nitric oxide contribute to (1) oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4), a cofactor required for the conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine and tyrosine to L-3,4dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA), which are necessary for the synthesis of dopamine. Furthermore, some evidence exists that inflammatory cytokines may (2) decrease the expression or function of the vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2), and/or (3) increase expression or function of the dopamine transporter (DAT). Dysregulation of dopamine transport and vesicular packaging mechanisms can increase cytosolic dopamine, leading to auto-oxidation and generation of ROS and neurotoxic quinones. Finally, inflammation-related activation of IDO in peripheral immune cells or microglia also produces kynurenic acid from kynurenine by kynurenine aminotransferase (KAT) II activity in astrocytes. Kynurenic acid can lead to (4) reduced glutamate (glu) neurotransmission by antagonism of glu receptors and release, consequently decreasing glu-evoked dopamine release in the striatum. Although not pictured, excessive inflammationinduced release of glutamate and quinolinic acid may also contribute to increased oxidative stress and excitotoxicity. 3-HAO 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid oxygenase, AMPAR 2-amino-3-(5-methyl-3oxo-1,2-oxazol-4-yl) propanoic acid receptor, BH4 tetrahydrobiopterin, D1 dopamine receptor 1, D2 dopamine receptor 2, DAT dopamine transporter, glu glutamate, DDC dopamine decarboxylase, IDO indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase, KAT II kynurenine aminotransferase II, KMO kynurenine 3-monooxygenase, L-DOPA L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine, NMDAR N-Methyl-Daspartic acid receptor, PAH phenylalanine hydroxylase, ROS reactive oxygen species, TH tyrosine hydroxylase, and VMAT2 vesicular monoamine transporter 2. Reproduced with permission, Felger and Miller [1]

phenylalanine/tyrosine ratio were associated with neuropsychiatric symptoms including anhedonia and altered sleep [75].

Evidence of reduced BH4 activity has also been observed in IFN- α -treated patients [79, 80]. For example, IFN- α administration was associated with increased peripheral blood phenylalanine/tyrosine ratio, which in turn correlated with decreased CSF dopamine and its major metabolite HVA [79]. Increased cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) IL-6 was also correlated with decreased BH4 in CSF of IFN- α -treated patients, and the phenylalanine/tyrosine ratio significantly correlated with IFN- α -induced depressive symptoms [79]. These findings are consistent with decreased dopamine metabolites in the CSF of both IFN-α-treated patients and monkeys [1, 23], and with the complete reversal of IFN- α -induced decreases in dopamine by L-DOPA administered via reverse in vivo microdialysis in monkeys [81]. Of note, during L-DOPA administration, no changes were found in the DOPAC/dopamine ratio, which increases when dopamine is not properly packaged in synaptic vesicles and is subsequently metabolized via monoamine oxidase [82]. Although these findings strongly suggest that inflammatory cytokines reduce dopamine availability through a deficiency in its precursor, without effects on end-product synthesis or vesicular packaging and release, some evidence exists indicating that cytokines may also target dopamine packaging, release, and reuptake mechanisms, as presented below.

3.2 Dopamine Packaging, Release, and Reuptake

Synaptic dopamine is dependent on the vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2) to package cytosolic dopamine into vesicles for release. There is some evidence that inflammatory cytokines and inflammation may negatively affect the expression and function of VMAT2 (Fig. 1, mechanism 2). For example, the inflammatory cytokines IL-1 and TNF were found to decrease expression of VMAT2 in rat enterochromaffin-like cells, whereas transforming growth factorbeta, which is immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory, increased VMAT2 expression [83]. Additionally, the anti-inflammatory compound, pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptides 38, administered in vivo by subcutaneous minipump, was able to increase VMAT2 expression, reduce neuroinflammation and oxidative stress, and protect against dopamine neurotoxicity following chronic methamphetamine exposure [84].

Attention has been paid to the effects of cytokines and inflammatory signaling pathways on monoamine reuptake pumps, and particularly the serotonin transporter [85–88]. Both in vitro and in vivo data have established that stimulation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), a major signaling pathway activated by IFN- α and other cytokines, can increase the expression and function of the serotonin transporter, leading to increased serotonin reuptake [86–88]. MAPK pathways have also been found to influence the dopamine transporter (DAT). For example, DAT-expressing cells transfected with a constitutively activate MAPK kinase

(MEK) show increased DA reuptake (Vmax), whereas treatment of rat striatal synaptosomes with MEK inhibitors was associated with decreased DA reuptake in a concentration and time-dependent manner [85]. Furthermore, subjects with neuropsychiatric disturbances as a result of HIV infection and subsequent neuroinflammation are thought to have increased expression of DAT [89, 90]. Therefore, reduced dopamine turnover secondary to inflammatory cytokines may be mediated, in part, by increased DAT expression or function (Fig. 1, mechanism 3). However, no change in DAT binding, as measured by PET with 18F-labeled FECNT, was observed in monkeys exposed to chronic IFN- α [42].

3.3 Glutamate Neurotransmission and Dopamine Release

Another mechanism by which cytokines may influence the basal ganglia and dopamine function is through effects on glutamate neurotransmission. For example, there has been recent interest in the impact of cytokine stimulation of indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO) and downstream kynurenine pathway metabolites on glutamate neurotransmission in the brain [91, 92]. Immune-mediated activation of IDO catabolizes tryptophan, the primary amino-acid precursor of serotonin, to kynurenine. Kynurenine is further catabolized into the neuroactive metabolites kynurenic acid (KA) (in astrocytes) and quinolinic acid (QUIN) (in microglia), both of which have been found to be increased in the plasma and CSF of IFN- α -treated patients [27, 93–95]. Of note, CSF QUIN significantly correlated with depressive symptoms during IFN- α administration, as measured by MADRS [94]. In addition to increasing oxidative stress [96, 97], the neurotoxic metabolite QUIN can also directly activate the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor to induce the release of glutamate to lead excitotoxicity in the brain [93, 98, 99], thus further increasing inflammation and its potential effects on the dopamine system described above [100, 101]. In contrast to QUIN, KA reduces glutamate release, and has been shown to be an antagonist of NMDA and α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors [102]. Dopamine release is in part under glutamatergic control, and thereby KA may exert downstream effects on DA (Fig. 1, mechanism 4) [93]. Indeed, intra-striatal administration of KA to rodents leads to marked reductions in extracellular dopamine concentrations, as determined by in vivo microdialysis [103].

Finally, cytokines and inflammation have been shown to increase glutamate by effects on microglia and astrocytes. A rich literature has shown that cytokines can decrease the astrocytic expression of glutamate transporters, and increase release of glutamate from astrocytes and activated microglia in vitro [91, 104–106]. Of note, glutamate released from glia may have preferential access to extrasynaptic NMDA receptors, which lead to decreased production of trophic factors including brain-derived neurotrophic factor [107, 108]. Given the sensitivity of dopamine neurons to oxidative stress and excitotoxicity, inflammation effects on glutamate may

contribute to decreased dopamine availability and eventual neurodegeneration [109, 110].

4 Translational Implications: Potential Therapeutic Targets for Inflammation Effects on Dopamine

The data summarized herein demonstrate that inflammatory cytokines affect dopamine function and may contribute to the development of depressive symptoms relevant to reduced motivation and motor activity in multiple patient populations with increased inflammation. Current antidepressant therapies are effective for many patients with major depression. However, up to 30% fail to achieve remission and even responders often exhibit significant residual symptoms that are consistent with those that are caused by exposure to cytokines and inflammation, such as anhedonia, fatigue, and psychomotor retardation [9–12]. Non-responsiveness of inflammation-related symptoms to standard antidepressant therapies has been exemplified in patients receiving IFN- α therapy who were treated with SSRIs. SSRIs alleviated IFN- α -induced anxiety and some depressive symptoms, but not those of fatigue or psychomotor retardation [7, 8, 13]. Additionally patients with advanced cancer undergoing chemotherapy exhibit increased inflammation in association with fatigue that is not responsive to SSRIs [111-113]. Therefore, new conceptual frameworks are needed to treat these inflammation-associated symptoms [114–116], which may respond to novel treatment strategies that target the dopamine system.

As discussed previously, classical stimulant medications that increase dopamine release and/or block dopamine reuptake have demonstrated only limited efficacy in the treatment of fatigue in patients with cancer and other medical illnesses associated with inflammation [16–18, 117–120]. Since stimulants act to increase dopamine release and block DAT function, these drugs may not provide long-term efficacy if cytokine effects on dopamine function are primarily mediated through inhibitory effects on synthesis, packaging, or release. Therefore, consideration should be given to alternative strategies such as compounds that increase dopamine synthesis, packaging, or receptor signaling, or those that inhibit activation of the neuroactive metabolites of the kynurenine pathway and/or glutamate. Of course, strategies that inhibit inflammation and/or the inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF, has been shown to reduce depressive symptoms including anhedonia and psychomotor slowing in patients with inflammatory disorders and in depressed patients with increased inflammation [121–124].

Considering the strong evidence presented above indicating that inflammation can inhibit key components of dopamine synthesis, pharmacologic strategies that increase dopamine may effectively treat inflammation-related symptoms of anhedonia, fatigue, and psychomotor slowing. For instance, there are a number of compounds that can boost BH4 availability or activity, which may facilitate the capacity of PAH and TH to synthesize dopamine. These include administration of BH4 itself [125], which is currently approved in a synthetic form to treat phenylketonuria [126–128], as well as folic acid, L-methylfolate, or S-adenosyl-methionine (SAMe), all of which have a role in the synthesis and/or regeneration of BH4 [1, 129, 130] and have demonstrated efficacy as adjuvants to antidepressants [131– 133]. Although effects of BH4 administration on depressive and motor symptoms have not been reported outside of case reports [134, 135], trials examining the efficacy of folic acid, L-methylfolate, and SAMe have been conducted in depression. Interestingly, low serum folate has been associated with increased risk of depression, as well as non-response to antidepressant treatment and an increased likelihood of depression relapse [136–140]. Administration of L-methylfolate (marketed as Deplin and Zervalx) to depressed patients has been shown to augment the efficacy of standard antidepressant therapy [132, 133], and treatment with SAMe adjunctive to SSRIs leads to significantly higher rates of remission and 50% or greater decreases in depressive symptoms compared with placebo [131]. Therefore, strategies to augment BH4 activity exhibit potential efficacy for restoring dopamine function and treating fatigue and depression in patients with increased inflammation.

In terms of targeting dopamine packaging and release, compounds that improve VMAT2 function could be considered for the treatment of cytokine-induced depression and fatigue. For instance, VMAT2 activity can be increased with trkB agonists, and the small molecule trkB agonist 7,8-dihydroxyflavone was neuroprotective in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease [141]. Adenosine receptor antagonists, which are thought to facilitate activation of dopamine D2 receptors, also reversed peripheral cytokine-induced decreases in effort-based sucrose consumption in rats [44]. Finally, inhibition of the IDO pathway or glutamate may be an important target in addressing the impact of inflammation on basal ganglia dopamine function and treating inflammation-induced depression and fatigue. The IDO antagonist, 1-methyl tryptophan (1-MT) has been shown to abrogate the impact of LPS, as well as an attenuated form of Mycobacterium bovis, on depressive-like behavior [142, 143]. As mentioned above, dopamine release is under partial control of glutamate neurotransmission, and changes in dopamine function due to inflammation-induced KA may respond to a 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists, that have been shown to reverse kynurenic acid effects on dopamine release [103]. Administration of glutamate receptor antagonists, such as the NMDA antagonist, ketamine, has potent antidepressant effects especially in treatment resistant depressed patients who have been shown to exhibit increased inflammation [144, 145]. Given that the neurotoxic effects of QUIN may be mediated by excessive glutamate excitotoxicity [93, 98, 99], glutamate antagonists may be useful in preventing excitotoxic effects on the highly sensitive dopamine neurons. Indeed, metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonists that modulate glutamate transmission in the basal ganglia have been successful in reducing dopamine cell loss in an animal model of PD [146], and antagonism of the NMDA receptor with memantine also reversed loss of dopamine content in the striatum of
monkeys infected with simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) [147]. Therefore, blockade of kynurenine pathways or modulation of glutamate neurotransmission may confer protection against inflammation and IDO-mediated effects on dopamine function, to improve depressive symptoms in patients with increased inflammation.

5 Summary and Conclusions

There is strong evidence that inflammatory cytokines specifically target dopamine and reward circuitry to contribute to depressive symptoms relevant to reduced motivation and motor slowing. Much of this evidence stems from biochemical and behavioral studies in humans and animals administered inflammatory stimuli, and from neuroimaging experiments demonstrating altered basal ganglia and dopamine function in association with increased peripheral immune activation and depressive symptoms. These inflammation-related depressive symptoms, such as anhedonia, fatigue, and psychomotor retardation, are resistant to treatment with SSRIs in patients with medical illnesses and/or major depression. Surprisingly, these symptoms have also been difficult to treat with classical stimulant medications that increase DAT-mediated dopamine release and/or block dopamine reuptake, indicating cytokine effects on dopamine function may sabotage or circumvent the mechanism of action of these agents. Evidence suggests that inflammatory cytokines may affect multiple aspects of dopamine neurotransmission, leading to decreased synthesis and/or impaired packaging or release, all of which may interact to a greater or lesser extent to reduce dopamine function. Multiple potential pharmacological treatment strategies exist, yet future studies are needed to identify precise targets for reversing inflammation effects on brain dopamine. Further understanding of the effects of inflammation and cytokines on dopamine and reward circuitry will guide future development and testing of novel treatment strategies to reverse dopamine-relevant behavioral changes in patients with increased inflammation.

Financial Disclosure I have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Felger JC, Miller AH (2012) Cytokine effects on the basal ganglia and dopamine function: the subcortical source of inflammatory malaise. Front Neuroendocrinol 33(3):315–327
- Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Drake DF, Woolwine BJ, Spivey JR, Crowe RJ et al (2012) Dopaminergic mechanisms of reduced basal ganglia responses to hedonic reward during interferon alfa administration. Arch Gen Psychiatry 69(10):1044–1053
- 3. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Demetrashvili MF, Lawson DH, Fornwalt FB, Woolwine B et al (2007) Basal ganglia hypermetabolism and symptoms of fatigue during interferonalpha therapy. Neuropsychopharmacology 32(11):2384–2392

- Brydon L, Harrison NA, Walker C, Steptoe A, Critchley HD (2008) Peripheral inflammation is associated with altered substantia nigra activity and psychomotor slowing in humans. Biol Psychiatry 63(11):1022–1029
- Eisenberger NI, Berkman ET, Inagaki TK, Rameson LT, Mashal NM, Irwin MR (2010) Inflammation-induced anhedonia: endotoxin reduces ventral striatum responses to reward. Biol Psychiatry 68(8):748–754
- Majer M, Welberg LA, Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Raison CL, Miller AH (2008) IFN-alphainduced motor slowing is associated with increased depression and fatigue in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Brain Behav Immun 22(6):870–880
- Capuron L, Gumnick JF, Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Reemsnyder A, Nemeroff CB et al (2002) Neurobehavioral effects of interferon-alpha in cancer patients: phenomenology and paroxetine responsiveness of symptom dimensions. Neuropsychopharmacology 26 (5):643–652
- Raison CL, Demetrashvili M, Capuron L, Miller AH (2005) Neuropsychiatric adverse effects of interferon-alpha: recognition and management. CNS Drugs 19(2):105–123
- Targum SD, Fava M (2011) Fatigue as a residual symptom of depression. Innov Clin Neurosci 8(10):40–43
- 10. Rush AJ (2007) STAR*D: what have we learned? Am J Psychiatry 164(2):201-204
- Dunlop BW, Nemeroff CB (2007) The role of dopamine in the pathophysiology of depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64(3):327–337
- Trivedi MH, Hollander E, Nutt D, Blier P (2008) Clinical evidence and potential neurobiological underpinnings of unresolved symptoms of depression. J Clin Psychiatry 69 (2):246–258
- 13. Morrow GR, Hickok JT, Roscoe JA, Raubertas RF, Andrews PL, Flynn PJ et al (2003) Differential effects of paroxetine on fatigue and depression: a randomized, double-blind trial from the University of Rochester Cancer Center Community Clinical Oncology Program. J Clin Oncol 21(24):4635–4641
- Haroon E, Raison CL, Miller AH (2012) Psychoneuroimmunology meets neuropsychopharmacology: translational implications of the impact of inflammation on behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 37(1):137–162
- Felger JC, Lotrich FE (2013) Inflammatory cytokines in depression: neurobiological mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Neuroscience 246:199–229
- Butler JM Jr, Case LD, Atkins J, Frizzell B, Sanders G, Griffin P et al (2007) A phase III, double-blind, placebo-controlled prospective randomized clinical trial of d-threo-methylphenidate HCl in brain tumor patients receiving radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 69(5):1496–1501
- 17. Mar Fan HG, Clemons M, Xu W, Chemerynsky I, Breunis H, Braganza S et al (2008) A randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial of the effects of d-methylphenidate on fatigue and cognitive dysfunction in women undergoing adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. Support Care Cancer 16(6):577–583
- Moraska AR, Sood A, Dakhil SR, Sloan JA, Barton D, Atherton PJ et al (2010) Phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of long-acting methylphenidate for cancer-related fatigue: North Central Cancer Treatment Group NCCTG-N05C7 trial. J Clin Oncol 28(23):3673–3679
- Goldsmith DRHE, Woolwine BJ, Jung MY, Wommack EC, Harvey PD, Treadway MT, Felger JC, Miller AH (2016) Inflammatory markers are associated with decreased psychomotor speed in patients with major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun pii:S0889–1591 (16)30070–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.03.025
- 20. Felger JC, Li Z, Haroon E, Woolwine BJ, Jung MY, Hu X et al (in press) Inflammation is associated with decreased functional connectivity within corticostriatal reward circuitry in depression. Mol Psychiatry
- Taylor JL, Grossberg SE (1998) The effects of interferon-alpha on the production and action of other cytokines. Semin Oncol 25(1 Suppl 1):23–29

- 22. Sissolak G, Hoffbrand AV, Mehta AB, Ganeshaguru K (1992) Effects of interferon-alpha (IFN) on the expression of interleukin 1-beta (IL-1), interleukin 6 (IL-6), granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF) in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) blasts. Leukemia 6(11):1155–1160
- Felger JC, Alagbe O, Hu F, Mook D, Freeman AA, Sanchez MM et al (2007) Effects of interferon-alpha on rhesus monkeys: a nonhuman primate model of cytokine-induced depression. Biol Psychiatry 62(11):1324–1333
- 24. Raison CL, Borisov AS, Majer M, Drake DF, Pagnoni G, Woolwine BJ et al (2009) Activation of central nervous system inflammatory pathways by interferon-alpha: relationship to monoamines and depression. Biol Psychiatry 65(4):296–303
- 25. Capuron L, Raison CL, Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Nemeroff CB, Miller AH (2003) Association of exaggerated HPA axis response to the initial injection of interferon-alpha with development of depression during interferon-alpha therapy. Am J Psychiatry 160 (7):1342–1345
- Donnelly S (1998) Patient management strategies for interferon alfa-2b as adjuvant therapy of high-risk melanoma. Oncol Nurs Forum 25(5):921–927
- 27. Capuron L, Neurauter G, Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Nemeroff CB, Fuchs D et al (2003) Interferon-alpha-induced changes in tryptophan metabolism. Relationship to depression and paroxetine treatment. Biol Psychiatry 54(9):906–914
- Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Gumnick JF, Manatunga AK, Penna S, Goodkin RS et al (2001) Paroxetine for the prevention of depression induced by high-dose interferon alfa. N Engl J Med 344(13):961–966
- Raison CL, Borisov AS, Broadwell SD, Capuron L, Woolwine BJ, Jacobson IM et al (2005) Depression during pegylated interferon-alpha plus ribavirin therapy: prevalence and prediction. J Clin Psychiatry 66(1):41–48
- 30. Raison CL, Rye DB, Woolwine BJ, Vogt GJ, Bautista BM, Spivey JR et al (2010) Chronic interferon-alpha administration disrupts sleep continuity and depth in patients with hepatitis C: association with fatigue, motor slowing, and increased evening cortisol. Biol Psychiatry 68 (10):942–949
- Capuron L, Hauser P, Hinze-Selch D, Miller AH, Neveu PJ (2002) Treatment of cytokineinduced depression. Brain Behav Immun 16(5):575–580
- 32. Kitagami T, Yamada K, Miura H, Hashimoto R, Nabeshima T, Ohta T (2003) Mechanism of systemically injected interferon-alpha impeding monoamine biosynthesis in rats: role of nitric oxide as a signal crossing the blood–brain barrier. Brain Res 978(1–2):104–114
- 33. Kumai T, Tateishi T, Tanaka M, Watanabe M, Shimizu H, Kobayashi S (2000) Effect of interferon-alpha on tyrosine hydroxylase and catecholamine levels in the brain of rats. Life Sci 67(6):663–669
- 34. Kamata M, Higuchi H, Yoshimoto M, Yoshida K, Shimizu T (2000) Effect of single intracerebroventricular injection of alpha-interferon on monoamine concentrations in the rat brain. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 10(2):129–132
- 35. Sato T, Suzuki E, Yokoyama M, Semba J, Watanabe S, Miyaoka H (2006) Chronic intraperitoneal injection of interferon-alpha reduces serotonin levels in various regions of rat brain, but does not change levels of serotonin transporter mRNA, nitrite or nitrate. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 60(4):499–506
- 36. Shuto H, Kataoka Y, Horikawa T, Fujihara N, Oishi R (1997) Repeated interferon-alpha administration inhibits dopaminergic neural activity in the mouse brain. Brain Res 747 (2):348–351
- Loftis JM, Hauser P, Macey TA, Lowe JD (2006) Can rodents be used to model interferonalpha-induced depressive symptoms? Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30 (7):1364–1365, author reply 1366
- Wang J, Campbell IL, Zhang H (2008) Systemic interferon-alpha regulates interferonstimulated genes in the central nervous system. Mol Psychiatry 13(3):293–301

- Loftis JM, Wall JM, Pagel RL, Hauser P (2006) Administration of pegylated interferonalpha-2a or -2b does not induce sickness behavior in Lewis rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology 31(10):1289–1294
- 40. Rosenzweig-Lipson S, Hesterberg P, Bergman J (1994) Observational studies of dopamine D1 and D2 agonists in squirrel monkeys. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 116(1):9–18
- McKinney WT Jr, Eising RG, Moran EC, Suomi SJ, Harlow HF (1971) Effects of reserpine on the social behavior of rhesus monkeys. Dis Nerv Syst 32(11):735–741
- 42. Felger JC, Mun J, Kimmel HL, Nye JA, Drake DF, Hernandez CR et al (2013) Chronic interferon-alpha decreases dopamine 2 receptor binding and striatal dopamine release in association with anhedonia-like behavior in nonhuman primates. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(11):2179–2187
- Felger JC, Hernandez CR, Miller AH (2015) Levodopa reverses cytokine-induced reductions in striatal dopamine release. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 18(4)
- 44. Nunes EJ, Randall PA, Estrada A, Epling B, Hart EE, Lee CA et al (2014) Effort-related motivational effects of the pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin 1-beta: studies with the concurrent fixed ratio 5/ chow feeding choice task. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 231 (4):727–736
- 45. Vichaya EG, Hunt SC, Dantzer R (2014) Lipopolysaccharide reduces incentive motivation while boosting preference for high reward in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 39 (12):2884–2890
- 46. Yeh KY, Shou SS, Lin YX, Chen CC, Chiang CY, Yeh CY (2015) Effect of Ginkgo biloba extract on lipopolysaccharide-induced anhedonic depressive-like behavior in male rats. Phytother Res 29(2):260–266
- 47. van Heesch F, Prins J, Konsman JP, Korte-Bouws GA, Westphal KG, Rybka J et al (2014) Lipopolysaccharide increases degradation of central monoamines: an in vivo microdialysis study in the nucleus accumbens and medial prefrontal cortex of mice. Eur J Pharmacol 725:55–63
- 48. Qin L, Wu X, Block ML, Liu Y, Breese GR, Hong JS et al (2007) Systemic LPS causes chronic neuroinflammation and progressive neurodegeneration. Glia 55(5):453–462
- 49. Reinert KR, Umphlet CD, Quattlebaum A, Boger HA (2014) Short-term effects of an endotoxin on substantia nigra dopamine neurons. Brain Res 1557:164–170
- Tian YY, An LJ, Jiang L, Duan YL, Chen J, Jiang B (2006) Catalpol protects dopaminergic neurons from LPS-induced neurotoxicity in mesencephalic neuron-glia cultures. Life Sci 80 (3):193–199
- 51. Lebena A, Vegas O, Gomez-Lazaro E, Arregi A, Garmendia L, Beitia G et al (2014) Melanoma tumors alter proinflammatory cytokine production and monoamine brain function, and induce depressive-like behavior in male mice. Behav Brain Res 272:83–92
- 52. Uomoto M, Nishibori M, Nakaya N, Takeuchi Y, Iwagaki H, Tanaka N et al (1998) Changes in monoamine turnover in the brain of cachectic mice bearing colon-26 tumor cells. J Neurochem 70(1):260–267
- 53. Grace AA (2002) Dopamine. In: Davis KL, Charney DS, Coyle JT, Nemeroff CB (eds) Neuropsychopharmacology: the fifth generation of progress. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 119–132
- Juengling FD, Ebert D, Gut O, Engelbrecht MA, Rasenack J, Nitzsche EU et al (2000) Prefrontal cortical hypometabolism during low-dose interferon alpha treatment. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 152(4):383–389
- 55. Spetsieris PG, Moeller JR, Dhawan V, Ishikawa T, Eidelberg D (1995) Visualizing the evolution of abnormal metabolic networks in the brain using PET. Comput Med Imaging Graph 19(3):295–306
- 56. Eidelberg D, Moeller JR, Dhawan V, Spetsieris P, Takikawa S, Ishikawa T et al (1994) The metabolic topography of parkinsonism. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 14(5):783–801

- 57. Mentis MJ, McIntosh AR, Perrine K, Dhawan V, Berlin B, Feigin A et al (2002) Relationships among the metabolic patterns that correlate with mnemonic, visuospatial, and mood symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Am J Psychiatry 159(5):746–754
- 58. Wichmann T, DeLong MR (1999) Oscillations in the basal ganglia. Nature 400 (6745):621–622
- 59. Wichmann T, DeLong MR (2003) Functional neuroanatomy of the basal ganglia in Parkinson's disease. Adv Neurol 91:9–18
- Harrison NA, Cercignani M, Voon V, Critchley HD (2015) Effects of inflammation on hippocampus and substantia nigra responses to novelty in healthy human participants. Neuropsychopharmacology 40(4):831–838
- 61. Harrison NA, Voon V, Cercignani M, Cooper EA, Pessiglione M, Critchley HD (2015) A neurocomputational account of how inflammation enhances sensitivity to punishments versus rewards. Biol Psychiatry
- 62. Pessiglione M, Seymour B, Flandin G, Dolan RJ, Frith CD (2006) Dopamine-dependent prediction errors underpin reward-seeking behaviour in humans. Nature 442 (7106):1042–1045
- 63. Kaasinen V, Nurmi E, Bruck A, Eskola O, Bergman J, Solin O et al (2001) Increased frontal [(18)F]fluorodopa uptake in early Parkinson's disease: sex differences in the prefrontal cortex. Brain 124(Pt 6):1125–1130
- Kumakura Y, Cumming P (2009) PET studies of cerebral levodopa metabolism: a review of clinical findings and modeling approaches. Neuroscientist 15(6):635–650
- 65. Leenders KL, Palmer AJ, Quinn N, Clark JC, Firnau G, Garnett ES et al (1986) Brain dopamine metabolism in patients with Parkinson's disease measured with positron emission tomography. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 49(8):853–860
- 66. Kumakura Y, Gjedde A, Danielsen EH, Christensen S, Cumming P (2006) Dopamine storage capacity in caudate and putamen of patients with early Parkinson's disease: correlation with asymmetry of motor symptoms. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26(3):358–370
- 67. Miller AH, Jones JF, Drake DF, Tian H, Unger ER, Pagnoni G (2014) Decreased basal ganglia activation in subjects with chronic fatigue syndrome: association with symptoms of fatigue. PLoS One 9(5), e98156
- 68. Haroon E, Fleischer CC, Felger JC, Chen X, Woolwine BJ, Patel T et al (2016) Conceptual convergence: increased inflammation is associated with increased basal ganglia glutamate in patients with major depression. Mol Psychiatry. In press
- 69. Russo SJ, Nestler EJ (2013) The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 14(9):609–625
- 70. Diekhof EK, Kaps L, Falkai P, Gruber O (2012) The role of the human ventral striatum and the medial orbitofrontal cortex in the representation of reward magnitude – an activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies of passive reward expectancy and outcome processing. Neuropsychologia 50(7):1252–1266
- Neurauter G, Schrocksnadel K, Scholl-Burgi S, Sperner-Unterweger B, Schubert C, Ledochowski M et al (2008) Chronic immune stimulation correlates with reduced phenylalanine turnover. Curr Drug Metab 9(7):622–627
- Cunnington C, Channon KM (2010) Tetrahydrobiopterin: pleiotropic roles in cardiovascular pathophysiology. Heart 96(23):1872–1877
- Xia Y, Tsai AL, Berka V, Zweier JL (1998) Superoxide generation from endothelial nitricoxide synthase. A Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent and tetrahydrobiopterin regulatory process. J Biol Chem 273(40):25804–25808
- 74. Li W, Knowlton D, Woodward WR, Habecker BA (2003) Regulation of noradrenergic function by inflammatory cytokines and depolarization. J Neurochem 86(3):774–783
- 75. Capuron L, Schroecksnadel S, Feart C, Aubert A, Higueret D, Barberger-Gateau P et al (2011) Chronic low-grade inflammation in elderly persons is associated with altered tryptophan and tyrosine metabolism: role in neuropsychiatric symptoms. Biol Psychiatry 70 (2):175–182

- 76. Hashimoto R, Nagatsu T, Ohta T, Mizutani M, Omura I (2004) Changes in the concentrations of tetrahydrobiopterin, the cofactor of tyrosine hydroxylase, in blood under physical stress and in depression. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1018:378–386
- 77. Candito M, Nagatsu T, Chambon P, Chatel M (1994) High-performance liquid chromatographic measurement of cerebrospinal fluid tetrahydrobiopterin, neopterin, homovanillic acid and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid in neurological diseases. J Chromatogr B Biomed Appl 657 (1):61–66
- Yokoyama K, Tajima M, Yoshida H, Nakayama M, Tokutome G, Sakagami H et al (2002) Plasma pteridine concentrations in patients with chronic renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transplant 17(6):1032–1036
- 79. Felger JC, Li L, Marvar PJ, Woolwine BJ, Harrison DG, Raison CL et al (2013) Tyrosine metabolism during interferon-alpha administration: association with fatigue and CSF dopamine concentrations. Brain Behav Immun 31:153–160
- 80. Zoller H, Schloegl A, Schroecksnadel S, Vogel W, Fuchs D (2012) Interferon-alpha therapy in patients with hepatitis C virus infection increases plasma phenylalanine and the phenylalanine to tyrosine ratio. J Interferon Cytokine Res 32(5):216–220
- 81. Felger JC, Hernandez CR, Miller AH. Levodopa reverses cytokine-induced reductions in striatal dopamine release. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. accepted
- Caudle WM, Richardson JR, Wang MZ, Taylor TN, Guillot TS, McCormack AL et al (2007) Reduced vesicular storage of dopamine causes progressive nigrostriatal neurodegeneration. J Neurosci 27(30):8138–8148
- 83. Kazumori H, Ishihara S, Rumi MA, Ortega-Cava CF, Kadowaki Y, Kinoshita Y (2004) Transforming growth factor-alpha directly augments histidine decarboxylase and vesicular monoamine transporter 2 production in rat enterochromaffin-like cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 286(3):G508–G514
- 84. Guillot TS, Richardson JR, Wang MZ, Li YJ, Taylor TN, Ciliax BJ et al (2008) PACAP38 increases vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2) expression and attenuates methamphetamine toxicity. Neuropeptides 42(4):423–434
- 85. Moron JA, Zakharova I, Ferrer JV, Merrill GA, Hope B, Lafer EM et al (2003) Mitogenactivated protein kinase regulates dopamine transporter surface expression and dopamine transport capacity. J Neurosci 23(24):8480–8488
- 86. Zhu CB, Blakely RD, Hewlett WA (2006) The proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha activate serotonin transporters. Neuropsychopharmacology 31(10):2121–2131
- 87. Zhu CB, Carneiro AM, Dostmann WR, Hewlett WA, Blakely RD (2005) p38 MAPK activation elevates serotonin transport activity via a trafficking-independent, protein phosphatase 2A-dependent process. J Biol Chem 280(16):15649–15658
- Zhu CB, Lindler KM, Owens AW, Daws LC, Blakely RD, Hewlett WA (2010) Interleukin-1 receptor activation by systemic lipopolysaccharide induces behavioral despair linked to MAPK regulation of CNS serotonin transporters. Neuropsychopharmacology 35(13):2510– 2520
- Gelman BB, Spencer JA, Holzer CE 3rd, Soukup VM (2006) Abnormal striatal dopaminergic synapses in National NeuroAIDS Tissue Consortium subjects with HIV encephalitis. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 1(4):410–420
- 90. Ferris MJ, Mactutus CF, Booze RM (2008) Neurotoxic profiles of HIV, psychostimulant drugs of abuse, and their concerted effect on the brain: current status of dopamine system vulnerability in NeuroAIDS. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 32(5):883–909
- 91. Dantzer R, Walker AK (2014) Is there a role for glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity in inflammation-induced depression? J Neural Transm 121(8):925–932
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Kelley KW (2011) Inflammation-associated depression: from serotonin to kynurenine. Psychoneuroendocrinology 36(3):426–436
- 93. Schwarcz R, Pellicciari R (2002) Manipulation of brain kynurenines: glial targets, neuronal effects, and clinical opportunities. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 303(1):1–10

- 94. Raison CL, Dantzer R, Kelley KW, Lawson MA, Woolwine BJ, Vogt G et al (2010) CSF concentrations of brain tryptophan and kynurenines during immune stimulation with IFN-alpha: relationship to CNS immune responses and depression. Mol Psychiatry 15 (4):393–403
- 95. Bonaccorso S, Marino V, Puzella A, Pasquini M, Biondi M, Artini M et al (2002) Increased depressive ratings in patients with hepatitis C receiving interferon-alpha-based immunotherapy are related to interferon-alpha-induced changes in the serotonergic system. J Clin Psychopharmacol 22(1):86–90
- 96. Santamaria A, Flores-Escartin A, Martinez JC, Osorio L, Galvan-Arzate S, Pedraza-Chaverri J et al (2003) Copper blocks quinolinic acid neurotoxicity in rats: contribution of antioxidant systems. Free Radic Biol Med 35(4):418–427
- Behan WM, McDonald M, Darlington LG, Stone TW (1999) Oxidative stress as a mechanism for quinolinic acid-induced hippocampal damage: protection by melatonin and deprenyl. Br J Pharmacol 128(8):1754–1760
- 98. Tavares RG, Tasca CI, Santos CES, Alves LB, Porciuncula LO, Emanuelli T et al (2002) Quinolinic acid stimulates synaptosomal glutamate release and inhibits glutamate uptake into astrocytes. Neurochem Int 40(7):621–627
- 99. Tavares RG, Schmidt AP, Abud J, Tasca CI, Souza DO (2005) In vivo quinolinic acid increases synaptosomal glutamate release in rats: reversal by guanosine. Neurochem Res 30(4):439–444
- Guillemin GJ, Croitoru-Lamoury J, Dormont D, Armati PJ, Brew BJ (2003) Quinolinic acid upregulates chemokine production and chemokine receptor expression in astrocytes. Glia 41 (4):371–381
- 101. Guillemin GJ (2012) Quinolinic acid: neurotoxicity. FEBS J 279(8):1355
- 102. Stone TW (2000) Development and therapeutic potential of kynurenic acid and kynurenine derivatives for neuroprotection. Trends Pharmacol Sci 21(4):149–154
- 103. Wu HQ, Rassoulpour A, Schwarcz R (2007) Kynurenic acid leads, dopamine follows: a new case of volume transmission in the brain? J Neural Transm 114(1):33–41
- 104. Tilleux S, Hermans E (2007) Neuroinflammation and regulation of glial glutamate uptake in neurological disorders. J Neurosci Res 85(10):2059–2070
- 105. Ida T, Hara M, Nakamura Y, Kozaki S, Tsunoda S, Ihara H (2008) Cytokine-induced enhancement of calcium-dependent glutamate release from astrocytes mediated by nitric oxide. Neurosci Lett 432(3):232–236
- 106. Takaki J, Fujimori K, Miura M, Suzuki T, Sekino Y, Sato K (2012) L-glutamate released from activated microglia downregulates astrocytic L-glutamate transporter expression in neuroinflammation: the 'collusion' hypothesis for increased extracellular L-glutamate concentration in neuroinflammation. J Neuroinflammation 9:275
- 107. Hardingham GE, Fukunaga Y, Bading H (2002) Extrasynaptic NMDARs oppose synaptic NMDARs by triggering CREB shut-off and cell death pathways. Nat Neurosci 5(5):405–414
- 108. Haydon PG, Carmignoto G (2006) Astrocyte control of synaptic transmission and neurovascular coupling. Physiol Rev 86(3):1009–1031
- 109. Schwarcz R, Kohler C (1983) Differential vulnerability of central neurons of the rat to quinolinic acid. Neurosci Lett 38(1):85–90
- 110. Miranda AF, Boegman RJ, Beninger RJ, Jhamandas K (1997) Protection against quinolinic acid-mediated excitotoxicity in nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons by endogenous kynurenic acid. Neuroscience 78(4):967–975
- 111. Bower JE, Ganz PA, Aziz N, Fahey JL (2002) Fatigue and proinflammatory cytokine activity in breast cancer survivors. Psychosom Med 64(4):604–611
- 112. Miller AH, Ancoli-Israel S, Bower JE, Capuron L, Irwin MR (2008) Neuroendocrineimmune mechanisms of behavioral comorbidities in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 26 (6):971–982

- 113. Ahles TA, Saykin AJ, Furstenberg CT, Cole B, Mott LA, Skalla K et al (2002) Neuropsychologic impact of standard-dose systemic chemotherapy in long-term survivors of breast cancer and lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 20(2):485–493
- 114. Capuron L, Miller AH (2004) Cytokines and psychopathology: lessons from interferon-alpha. Biol Psychiatry 56(11):819–824
- 115. Raison CL, Felger JC, Miller AH (2013) Inflammation and treatment resistance in major depression: a perfect storm. Psychiatric Times
- 116. Cattaneo A, Gennarelli M, Uher R, Breen G, Farmer A, Aitchison KJ et al (2013) Candidate genes expression profile associated with antidepressants response in the GENDEP study: differentiating between baseline 'predictors' and longitudinal 'targets'. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(3):377–385
- 117. Sugawara Y, Akechi T, Shima Y, Okuyama T, Akizuki N, Nakano T et al (2002) Efficacy of methylphenidate for fatigue in advanced cancer patients: a preliminary study. Palliat Med 16 (3):261–263
- 118. Pucci E, Branas P, D'Amico R, Giuliani G, Solari A, Taus C (2007) Amantadine for fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (Online) (1):CD002818
- 119. Stankoff B, Waubant E, Confavreux C, Edan G, Debouverie M, Rumbach L et al (2005) Modafinil for fatigue in MS: a randomized placebo-controlled double-blind study. Neurology 64(7):1139–1143
- 120. Bruera E, Yennurajalingam S, Palmer JL, Perez-Cruz PE, Frisbee-Hume S, Allo JA et al (2013) Methylphenidate and/or a nursing telephone intervention for fatigue in patients with advanced cancer: a randomized, placebo-controlled, phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 31 (19):2421–2427
- 121. Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ, Shuo C, Schettler P, Drake DF et al (2013) A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatmentresistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. JAMA Psychiatry 70 (1):31–41
- 122. Tyring S, Gottlieb A, Papp K, Gordon K, Leonardi C, Wang A et al (2006) Etanercept and clinical outcomes, fatigue, and depression in psoriasis: double-blind placebo-controlled randomised phase III trial. Lancet 367(9504):29–35
- 123. Zunszain PA, Hepgul N, Pariante CM (2013) Inflammation and depression. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 14:135–151
- 124. Monk JP, Phillips G, Waite R, Kuhn J, Schaaf LJ, Otterson GA et al (2006) Assessment of tumor necrosis factor alpha blockade as an intervention to improve tolerability of doseintensive chemotherapy in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 24(12):1852–1859
- 125. Douglas TD, Jinnah HA, Bernhard D, Singh RH (2013) The effects of sapropterin on urinary monoamine metabolites in phenylketonuria. Mol Genet Metab 109(3):243–250
- 126. Burton BK, Bausell H, Katz R, Laduca H, Sullivan C (2010) Sapropterin therapy increases stability of blood phenylalanine levels in patients with BH4-responsive phenylketonuria (PKU). Mol Genet Metab 101(2–3):110–114
- 127. Trefz FK, Burton BK, Longo N, Casanova MM, Gruskin DJ, Dorenbaum A et al (2009) Efficacy of sapropterin dihydrochloride in increasing phenylalanine tolerance in children with phenylketonuria: a phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Pediatr 154(5):700–707
- 128. Utz JR, Lorentz CP, Markowitz D, Rudser KD, Diethelm-Okita B, Erickson D et al (2012) START, a double blind, placebo-controlled pharmacogenetic test of responsiveness to sapropterin dihydrochloride in phenylketonuria patients. Mol Genet Metab 105(2):193–197
- 129. Stahl SM (2007) Novel therapeutics for depression: L-methylfolate as a trimonoamine modulator and antidepressant-augmenting agent. CNS Spectr 12(10):739–744
- Shintaku H (2002) Disorders of tetrahydrobiopterin metabolism and their treatment. Curr Drug Metab 3(2):123–131
- 131. Papakostas GI, Mischoulon D, Shyu I, Alpert JE, Fava M (2010) S-adenosyl methionine (SAMe) augmentation of serotonin reuptake inhibitors for antidepressant nonresponders with

major depressive disorder: a double-blind, randomized clinical trial. Am J Psychiatry 167 (8):942–948

- 132. Godfrey PS, Toone BK, Carney MW, Flynn TG, Bottiglieri T, Laundy M et al (1990) Enhancement of recovery from psychiatric illness by methylfolate. Lancet 336 (8712):392–395
- 133. Ginsberg LD, Oubre AY, Daoud YA (2011) L-methylfolate plus SSRI or SNRI from treatment initiation compared to SSRI or SNRI monotherapy in a major depressive episode. Innov Clin Neurosci 8(1):19–28
- 134. Pan L, McKain BW, Madan-Khetarpal S, McGuire M, Diler RS, Perel JM et al (2011) GTP-cyclohydrolase deficiency responsive to sapropterin and 5-HTP supplementation: relief of treatment-refractory depression and suicidal behaviour. BMJ Case Rep 2011
- 135. Sato H, Uematsu M, Endo W, Nakayama T, Kobayashi T, Hino-Fukuyo N et al (2014) Early replacement therapy in a first Japanese case with autosomal recessive guanosine triphosphate cyclohydrolase I deficiency with a novel point mutation. Brain Dev 36(3):268–271
- 136. Gilbody S, Lewis S, Lightfoot T (2007) Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) genetic polymorphisms and psychiatric disorders: a HuGE review. Am J Epidemiol 165 (1):1–13
- 137. Gilbody S, Lightfoot T, Sheldon T (2007) Is low folate a risk factor for depression? A metaanalysis and exploration of heterogeneity. J Epidemiol Community Health 61(7):631–637
- 138. Fava M, Borus JS, Alpert JE, Nierenberg AA, Rosenbaum JF, Bottiglieri T (1997) Folate, vitamin B12, and homocysteine in major depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 154 (3):426–428
- 139. Papakostas GI, Petersen T, Mischoulon D, Green CH, Nierenberg AA, Bottiglieri T et al (2004) Serum folate, vitamin B12, and homocysteine in major depressive disorder, Part 2: predictors of relapse during the continuation phase of pharmacotherapy. J Clin Psychiatry 65(8):1096–1098
- 140. Papakostas GI, Petersen T, Mischoulon D, Ryan JL, Nierenberg AA, Bottiglieri T et al (2004) Serum folate, vitamin B12, and homocysteine in major depressive disorder, Part 1: predictors of clinical response in fluoxetine-resistant depression. J Clin Psychiatry 65(8):1090–1095
- 141. Jang SW, Liu X, Yepes M, Shepherd KR, Miller GW, Liu Y et al (2010) A selective TrkB agonist with potent neurotrophic activities by 7,8-dihydroxyflavone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(6):2687–2692
- 142. O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Andre C, Briley EM, Szegedi SS, Lestage J et al (2009) Induction of IDO by bacille Calmette-Guerin is responsible for development of murine depressive-like behavior. J Immunol 182(5):3202–3212
- 143. O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Andre C, Moreau M, Lestage J, Castanon N et al (2008) Lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior is mediated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activation in mice. Mol Psychiatry 14(5):511–522
- 144. aan het Rot M, Collins KA, Murrough JW, Perez AM, Reich DL, Charney DS et al (2010) Safety and efficacy of repeated-dose intravenous ketamine for treatment-resistant depression. Biol Psychiatry 67(2):139–145
- 145. Price RB, Nock MK, Charney DS, Mathew SJ (2009) Effects of intravenous ketamine on explicit and implicit measures of suicidality in treatment-resistant depression. Biol Psychiatry 66(5):522–526
- 146. Masilamoni GJ, Bogenpohl JW, Alagille D, Delevich K, Tamagnan G, Votaw JR et al (2011) Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antagonist protects dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons from degeneration in MPTP-treated monkeys. Brain 134(Pt 7):2057–2073
- 147. Meisner F, Scheller C, Kneitz S, Sopper S, Neuen-Jacob E, Riederer P et al (2008) Memantine upregulates BDNF and prevents dopamine deficits in SIV-infected macaques: a novel pharmacological action of memantine. Neuropsychopharmacology 33(9):2228–2236

Brain Structures Implicated in Inflammation-Associated Depression

Neil A. Harrison

Abstract Systemic inflammation rapidly impairs mood, motivation, and cognition inducing a stereotyped cluster of symptoms collectively known as "sickness behaviors." When inflammation is severe or chronic, these behavioral changes can appear indistinguishable from major depressive disorder (MDD). Human and rodent neuroimaging combined with experimental inflammatory challenges has clarified the neural circuitry associated with many of the key features of inflammation-induced-sickness behavior, and in so doing revealed often-remarkable commonalities with circuit abnormalities observed in MDD. This review aims to provide the first synthesis of this work illustrating areas of convergence and divergence with the MDD literature as well as highlighting areas for future study.

Keywords Amygdala • Cytokine • Depression • fMRI • Inflammation • Insula • Interferon • Microglia • MRI • PET • Ventral striatum

Contents

Introduction	222
Communicating Inflammation to the Brain	223
Motivational Change	227
Psychomotor Retardation	229
Autonomic Responses	232
Attention and Executive Function	233
	Introduction Communicating Inflammation to the Brain Motivational Change Psychomotor Retardation Autonomic Responses Attention and Executive Function

N.A. Harrison (🖂)

Department of Neuroscience, Brighton & Sussex Medical School, University of Sussex, Brighton BN1 9RR, UK

Sackler Centre for Consciousness Science, University of Sussex, Brighton BN1 9RR, UK

Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, Swandean, West Sussex BN13 3E, UK e-mail: n.harrison@bsms.ac.uk

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 221–248 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_30 Published Online: 4 June 2016

7	Memory	234
8	Social Responses	237
9	Network Connectivity	238
10	Summary	240
Refe	erences	241

1 Introduction

Human and animal studies implicate systemic inflammation in the pathogenesis of depression [1]. In healthy mammals, systemic infection triggers profound behavioral changes, including cognitive and mood symptoms (e.g., memory impairment, social withdrawal, anxiety, and depression), change in motivation (anorexia, adipsia, and anhedonia), and neurovegetative symptoms (sleep disturbance, fatigue, and psychomotor slowing) [2–4] known as sickness behaviors. Clinical and pre-clinical studies suggest that inflammatory cytokines play a central role in mediating these sickness-related behaviors by communicating peripheral inflammation to the brain. These cytokine-induced sickness behaviors show striking similarity to symptoms of major depression [1] supporting a role for immune-brain interactions in the etiology of at least some patients with major depressive disorder (MDD).

In rodents, systemic administration of interleukin (IL)-1ß or bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a potent stimulant of cytokine release, can rapidly elicit a depression-like syndrome characterized by a reduction in positively motivated approach behaviors such as exploration, social interaction, and operant behaviors for food reward [5–7]. Similarly, experimental induction of inflammation in healthy human participants using either LPS [8, 9] or typhoid vaccination [10-12] induces symptoms of fatigue, psychomotor slowing, mild cognitive confusion, memory impairment, social withdrawal, anxiety, and deterioration in mood that mirror features of depression. However, arguably, the most powerful empirical support for an etiological role for inflammation in depression comes from studies of patients with chronic Hepatitis-C infection treated with interferon-alpha (IFN- α)-based therapies, up to 50% of whom develop major depressive episodes [13]. Moreover, in patients with MDD, the presence of high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (in particular IL-6) [14] and acute phase proteins [15] suggest that inflammatory mediators might contribute to the pathophysiology of depression even in the absence of medical illness.

Far from being a unitary construct, depression is recognized to be a multicomponential disorder involving changes in motivation, cognition, attention, memory, and mood; as well as features such as disturbed appetite, sleep, and sexual dysfunction and physiological changes including cardiovascular and metabolic change. In studies of MDD, patients are typically recruited when symptoms are well established across each of these domains. However, following chronic IFN- α administration, individual features of clinical depression evolve with characteristic time-courses allowing a unique opportunity to investigate the temporal evolution of individual symptom domains. For example, changes in mood, motivation, and fatigue (and in some cases feelings of social connection and spatial memory) can be readily observed within hours of IFN- α administration [16] and/or other experimental inflammatory challenges such as typhoid vaccination [11, 12, 17, 18] and LPS injection [8, 9, 19]. Changes in physiology, including altered central autonomic regulation of heart rate variability (similar to that observed in MDD) also occur acutely [20]. However in contrast, subjective reports of depressed mood, anxiety, and irritability assessed with clinical depression scales typically develop later, between the first and third months of IFN- α therapy [21].

This differential evolution of individual features of inflammation-associated clinical depression also provides a unique opportunity to characterize the neural circuitry underpinning specific components of inflammation-induced depression. To date, rodent and human brain imaging studies have successfully identified a discrete set of cortical and sub-cortical structures that appear particularly sensitive to changes in peripheral inflammation. These include the amygdala, striatum (particularly ventral regions), substantia nigra, insula, sub-genual and dorsal anterior cingulate, orbitofrontal cortex, and hippocampus/parahippocampus. Some of these structures appear to play relatively specific roles in particular aspects of inflammation-associated behavioral change. For example, actions on the ventral striatum [8, 22, 23] are associated with impaired reward sensitivity and hippocampus/parahippocampus acute memory impairment [4, 20] whereas other regions such as the insula, anterior and sub-genual cingulate, and amygdala appear to play broader less circumscribed roles [11, 16]. Common to many of these regions is that they form part of the extended limbic circuitry critical to complex motivational behavior, emotion, learning, and memory and the integration of behavioral and physiological allostatic responses to infection [24, 25].

Together, these studies are beginning to clarify how changes in peripheral inflammation are communicated to the brain. As discussed in more detail in the following sections they are also beginning to identify how actions of inflammation on discrete neural circuits induce individual components of this coordinated behavioral reorientation, which when chronic may evolve to MDD.

2 Communicating Inflammation to the Brain

In rodents, both the early central communication of peripheral inflammatory signals [26] and the subsequent motivational reorientation appear dependent upon the integrity of interoceptive visceral afferents traveling in the vagus nerve, visceral terminals of which express cytokine binding sites [27]. Early in the inflammatory response, antigen-presenting cells cluster in the vicinity of vagus nerve afferents and act as immune chemosensory elements signaling to vagal neurons via cytokine-dependent [28] and -independent mechanisms [29].

Immunohistochemical studies using the immediate early gene c-Fos to index neural activation confirm that peripheral inflammation and specifically binding of pro-inflammatory cytokines to vagus nerve receptors activate a network of brain structures implicated in homeostasis and the representation of internal bodily state (interoception) [26]. This afferent signaling is rapid; in the rat peripheral inflammation induces c-Fos expression in the primary projection nucleus of the vagus nerve (nucleus tractus solitarius – NTS) and secondary projection regions (including parabrachial, paraventricular and supraoptic hypothalamic nuclei, central amygdala, and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis) within an hour of peripheral inflammatory challenge [26].

In addition to signaling via the vagus nerve, central signaling of peripheral inflammation may also occur via interoceptive information conveyed via the spinal cord. For example, information traveling through spinal lamina I is predominantly tuned to motivationally salient sensations, including pain [30, 31], temperature [32], itch [33], and sensual touch [34], and converges with afferents traveling in the vagus nerve within the brainstem and thalamus [35]. In humans, cortical projections of convergent vagus and spinal interoceptive pathways to the posterior then mid/anterior insula cortex have been proposed to support a consciously accessible representation of physical wellbeing [36] and provide a neural substrate for subjective emotional feelings [30, 36].

We have previously demonstrated that this human interoceptive pathway is also activated by mild systemic inflammation [12]. Specifically, we demonstrated increased activity on fMRI within bilateral thalamic (basal (VMb) and posterior (VMpo) ventromedial nuclei) and dorsal mid and anterior insula components of this interoceptive pathway within 3 h of typhoid vaccine induced inflammation. The location of these activations is noteworthy as both the VMb (which receives predominantly vagal fibers) and VMpo (predominantly sympathetic inputs) project to dorsal mid/posterior insula in a rostrocaudal topographic manner (with vagal projections extending more rostrally) [30]. Following inflammation activations occurred in more rostral regions of interoceptive insula cortex than those reported for thermal sensation [32], noxious pain, and itch (non-vagal) but close to the region previously reported to be activated by antigen-induced airways inflammation in asthmatic patients [37].

Insula (and cingulate cortices) also played a key role in mediating subjective responses to inflammation, particularly fatigue (Fig. 1). For example, inflammation but not placebo-associated fatigue was predicted by activity changes within bilateral mid/posterior insula and right anterior cingulate (pACC/aMCC). These findings highlight a degree of specificity of the neural mechanisms underlying inflammation-associated fatigue that is not seen in more general placebo-associated fatigue (which might result from more heterogeneous mechanisms).

Previous studies showing insula responses to subjective experience of graded cooling [32], itch [38], and intensity of dynamic exercise [39] support the hypothesis that the subjective experience of inflammation-associated fatigue results from an insula-based interoceptive mechanism. This hypothesis has also been reinforced by three more recent studies. The first, using typhoid vaccine induced inflammation



Fig. 1 Inflammation-induced insula activity predicts subjective fatigue. (**a**) Increase in bilateral insula activity on fMRI during performance of a color word Stroop task after inflammation compared to placebo. *Lower panel* shows that left insula cortex activity predicted experience of inflammation-induced fatigue (*blue*) but not fatigue associated with placebo (*red*). Data from Harrison et al. [12]. (**b**) Increase in bilateral resting glucose metabolism (FDG-PET) after typhoid vaccine induced inflammation compared to placebo. *Lower panel* shows correlation between change in left insula glucose uptake and subjective fatigue. Data from Harrison et al. [23]. (**c**) Left insula region showing an increase in magnetization transfer constant k_f after typhoid vaccine induced inflammation compared to placebo (*yellow*), correlation with fatigue (*blue*), and overlap of these regions (*green*). Data from Harrison et al. [23]

and fluorodeoxyglucose PET (FDG-PET) imaging, which replicated associations between changes in mid insula activity (in this case glucose metabolism) and the subjective experience of inflammation-induced fatigue [23]. The two other studies used a more potent model of inflammation (0.8-0.6 ng/kg LPS) and either FDG-PET or resting state fMRI which is a powerful technique for identifying functionally connected brain networks [40]. The first demonstrated an increase in right anterior insula glucose metabolism that correlated with loss of social interest (but not fatigue) [41] while the latter demonstrated correlations between subjective feelings of both inflammation-induced malaise and discomfort and heightened functional connectivity between the left anterior insula and mid-cingulate cortex [42]. Together, these studies highlight the importance of this interoceptive pathway projecting to insula in the central communication of inflammation induced using experimental models of bacterial infection. They also emphasize the likely importance of the insula in translating these interoceptive signals into negative subjective experiences of inflammation-induced fatigue and malaise (and possibly social disconnect) that develop early after the onset of inflammation.

Interestingly, patients with left or right insular strokes describe significantly greater subjective anergia with under activity and tiredness than patients with strokes sparing the insula region [43]. Furthermore, increased insula metabolism and altered interoceptive processing have also emerged as key features of MDD [44, 45]. Increases in insula (particularly anterior insula) glucose metabolism occur following sadness induction with a converse reduction in insula glucose metabolism observed following successful depression remission [44]. Insula functional connectivity [46] and regional homogeneity (ReHo) (a measure of the temporal homogeneity of neural activity within this region) are also impaired in MDD with the later correlating with retardation components of depression [47]. These findings have been interpreted as consonant with neurovegetative features of MDD (such as fatigue) and associated changes in autonomic function [44].

In addition to this neurally mediated pathway, LPS-induced peripheral inflammation also results in a rapid (within 3 h) and diffuse increase in the central nervous system (CNS) expression of translocator protein (TSPO) [48]. In the CNS, TSPO is predominantly expressed in activated microglial cells suggesting that systemic inflammation may be translated into a central microglial inflammatory signal through diffuse actions at the cerebrovascular endothelium. However to date, relatively few participants have undergone TSPO imaging post-LPS and no association has been identified between regionally specific increases in TSPO uptake and subjective experiences of inflammation-induced fatigue.

Curiously, activation of interoceptive projections to insula appears less critical in mediating subjective responses to inflammation induced using mimics of viral infection such as IFN- α . Indeed, IFN- α does not appear to be associated with substantial changes in insula microstructure or glucose metabolism either acutely [16] or when chronically administered [49] suggesting that visceral afferents may not be the principle pathway mediating IFN- α -induced fatigue. Why such marked differences exist between models of bacterial and virally induced infection is currently unclear though may be usefully informed by the pre-clinical rodent and non-human primate literature. For example, though IFN- α injection results in a rapid increase in circulating and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) concentrations of type-I interferon [50] other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TNF-alpha, and IL-1 are only modestly elevated [16]. Furthermore, in rodents profound CNS induction of IFN-inducible genes is observed within hours of intraperitoneal IFN injection [51], indicating that IFN- α likely gains rapid access to the CNS where its actions may be more directly transduced.

To summarize, the dorsal insula represents the ultimate projection of interoceptive pathways and is believed to provide a cortical representation of all aspects of bodily physiology including changes in peripheral inflammation [24]. Progressive posterior to anterior projections are proposed to integrate and translate this information into experiential feeling states such as feelings of warmth, malaise, or fatigue. Experimental models of bacterially induced inflammation result in rapid structural and functional changes in posterior, mid, and anterior insula cortices that correlate with concomitant increases in subjective fatigue and malaise. Similar changes in insula function are also well described in MDD where they correlate with neurovegetative symptoms of depression including fatigue illustrating striking commonalities between inflammation-induced fatigue/malaise and neurovegetative symptoms of depression.

3 Motivational Change

Impairment in reward-related behavior is a core feature of the motivational reorientation characteristic of both inflammation-induced sickness behavior [2] and idiopathic depression [52]. In the context of sickness, this motivational shift is proposed to efficiently prioritize whole organism responses to clearing the infecting agent. However when inflammation is severe or prolonged this persistent motivational reorientation may predispose to the development of MDD [1].

A wealth of human and rodent studies have identified the ventral striatum as a critical structure for mammalian reward-related processing and appetitive motivation [53]. Single cell recordings demonstrate that a subgroup of dopaminergic cells within the midbrain encode a reward prediction error, increasing (or decreasing) firing rate if a reward is higher (or lower) than predicted [54]. Dopaminergic projections from the midbrain to the ventral striatum serve to update estimates of the value of different available options and bias behavioral choice so that long-term future reward is maximized. Reinforcement learning algorithms such as temporal difference models [55] have provided a powerful framework for modeling this dopaminergic prediction error signal that is proposed to mediate learning of associations between stimuli, responses, and outcomes [56]. They also allow interrogation of brain imaging data to identify brain regions whose activity correlates with these reward prediction error signals [57]. Dopamine firing may also contribute to "incentive salience," the process by which a stimulus grasps attention and motivates goal-directed behavior by its association with reinforcing events [58].

Interestingly, both MDD patients [59] and previously healthy participants given an inflammatory challenge show a reduction in ventral striatal responses to reward outcomes [22, 60]. Inflammation has also been linked to acute reductions in ventral striatal reactivity to cues predicting rewards [19], though this is less convincingly reported in MDD [60]. In the context of inflammation, reduced ventral striatal responses to both reward cues and reward outcomes also correlate with induced anhedonia [19, 22]. Patients with MDD have also been shown to exhibit reduced reward prediction error encoding in the striatum and midbrain [59]. This change also correlated with the severity of anhedonia symptoms suggesting that abnormal encoding of prediction errors in MDD could result in anhedonia by altering the learning and salience of rewarding events [59].

Using a similar probabilistic instrumental learning task we have recently demonstrated that mild inflammatory challenge (induced with typhoid vaccination) also results in a relative impairment in sensitivity to rewards compared to punishments [61]. Furthermore, this motivational reorientation was associated with opposing actions on ventral striatal reward (and right anterior insula punishment) prediction error encoding [61]. Similar to patients with MDD, inflammation was associated with reduced striatal reward prediction error encoding. Behaviorally, after inflammation participants in this study also showed a reduced propensity to choose rewarded options but enhanced avoidance of punished ones. This behavioral change was captured computationally as a significant condition (gain, loss) by inflammation (vaccine, placebo) interaction for the subjective value of rewards compared with punishments.

Though dopamine activity was not measured in this (or Eisenberger's study demonstrating effects of inflammation on reward cues), a similar reduction in striatal reward prediction error magnitude (and propensity to choose the most rewarded action) has been reported on this task after haloperidol (a dopamine receptor-2 antagonist) [57]. This suggests that effects of inflammation on striatal prediction errors were likely mediated by actions on dopamine release. Supporting this, inflammation has been linked to altered nucleus accumbens dopamine efflux in rodents [62] and disrupted presynaptic dopamine synthesis/release in humans [22]. After LPS challenge monkeys also exhibit significantly lower cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of the dopamine metabolite homovanillic acid [50].

However, exactly how inflammation modulates dopamine function is currently unclear. Cytokines such as interferon-alpha have been shown to inhibit dopamine synthesis by reducing CNS tetrahydrobiopterin, an essential cofactor for tyrosine hydroxylase, the rate-limiting step in dopamine synthesis [63]. Inflammation can also decrease synaptic dopamine by increasing expression of the monoamine reuptake transporter [63–66]. Inflammation may further influence dopamine neurotransmission via activation of the tryptophan-degrading enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and resultant formation of neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites [1].

To date most studies investigating the basis of the motivational reorientation associated with inflammation have focused on reward-related processing. However, in our recent study we also showed that inflammation significantly enhances sensitivity to punishment. This was captured in the data modeling as a significant increase in the subjective (negative) value of punishment; i.e., the magnitude of the potential punishment was experienced as being greater after inflammation [61]. This behavioral change was also associated with greater encoding of negative punishment prediction error in the right anterior insula.

Increasing punishment prediction error is one way to increase the subjective value of punishment and may serve as the computational mechanism by which the anterior insula drives this improvement in avoidance behavior. This interpretation is in keeping with theories proposing that brain areas like the insula involved with somatic affective representations (as discussed above) are causally involved in choice behaviors [24, 30, 57]; particularly in the context of potential losses [67]. This association between punishment sensitivity and insula activity also complements an earlier study showing impaired punishment sensitivity to reward versus punishment is a state rather than a trait-dependent attitude; flexibly enhancing loss minimization in the context of a serious threat (such as an infection) yet maximizing responses to gains when in good health.

As predicted by models of learned helplessness, dysfunctional responses to negative feedback were some of the earliest cognitive changes described in depression [69]. More recently, meta-analysis of computationally modeled reinforcement learning tasks in patients with current or past history of MDD has reported a selective reduction in subjective reward value (rather than reward learning rate) [52] similar to what has been observed in the context of inflammation. Relatively selective actions on reward/punishment magnitude have also been reported following dopamine manipulation and insular damage [57, 68]. This rapid cognitive adaptation following inflammation serves to heighten relative sensitivity to punishment versus reward raising the intriguing possibility that while this may be beneficial in the context of an infective challenge when metabolic resources are diverted to fighting the infecting organism, when chronic, it may predispose to developing the maladaptive changes in motivation observed in depression. Evidence for common neural mechanisms mediating motivational change and anhedonia in MDD and inflammation have been further strengthened by a recent paper in unmedicated MDD patients showing that decreased connectivity between the ventral striatum and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC) also mediates observed associations between raised CRP and anhedonia [70].

4 Psychomotor Retardation

Psychomotor retardation, defined as a slowing-down of thought and physical movements, is a core feature of depression [71] and readily induced following systemic administration of pro-inflammatory cytokines or other experimental models of inflammation [72].

In rodents, systemic administration of bacterial LPS or inflammatory cytokines (notably IL-1 β) consistently suppresses locomotor and motivational behaviors, resulting in increased periods of immobility [73]. These depressant effects of peripheral IL-1 β on behavior are potentiated by IL-6 [74] and motor-suppressing effects of inflammatory challenge are reduced by antibodies against IL-6 [75, 76] and attenuated in IL-6 knockout mice [77]. Psychomotor retardation expressed as prolonged motor reaction times is also a feature of human sickness behaviors [78, 79], and is observed even after relatively mild inflammatory challenges [10].

In the first study to directly investigate the neural mechanisms underlying the psychomotor consequences of peripheral inflammation Brydon et al. [10] recorded whole brain responses to performance of a simple motor task (button press). They demonstrated that low-level inflammation (induced using typhoid vaccine) selectively modulated substantia nigra reactivity to performance of a button press task during both a low-level visual stimulation (flashing checkerboard) task and a more demanding cognitive (color word Stroop) task. They also observed a striking correlation between peripheral IL-6 responses and motor response time on the Stroop task for both low level (congruent) and attentionally demanding (incongruent) trials suggesting an action on low-level pre-cognitive processes. Supporting



Fig. 2 Inflammation induces psychomotor slowing through actions on substantia nigra. (a) Effect of inflammation on substantia nigra reactivity during a low-grade visual stimulation task (flashing checkerboard). (b) Correlation between IL-6 response to typhoid vaccination and reaction time on a color word Stroop task. (c) Correlation between IL-6 response to typhoid vaccine and increase in left substantia nigra activity during Stroop task performance. (d) Correlation between mean Stroop reaction time and left substantia nigra reactivity following inflammation. Reproduced from Brydon et al. [10] with permission

this, both peripheral IL-6 responses and changes in left substantia nigra reactivity predicted inter-individual differences in sensitivity to the motor impairing effects of inflammation (Fig. 2).

Located in the midbrain, the substantia nigra is the major source of dopamine in the brain with striatal projections playing a pivotal role in the facilitation of movement [80]. Nigral dopaminergic projections within striatal target regions also modulate sensorimotor processing in response to stimulus salience [81] and have been linked to the reduction in novelty salience observed during inflammation [17]. Agonists that potentiate dopaminergic neurotransmission improve the speed of motor responses in animals, whereas striatal dopamine depletion and selective blockade of dopamine D1 or D2 receptors have been shown to significantly impair performance on reaction time tasks [82, 83]. Similar to effects of inflammation, impaired task performance following inhibition of dopamine is due to lengthened response latencies rather than deficits in the accuracy of responses [83]. Lower levels of striatal dopamine transporter have also been associated with slower motor reactions in healthy elderly humans [84]. Brydon's results extend these observations and provide empirical evidence for involvement of the dopamine system in behavioral consequences of peripheral inflammation, highlighting a role for IL-6 and substantia nigra neural activity in infection-related psychomotor impairments.

As discussed in the previous section, brain dopamine levels are modulated by peripheral administration of IFN- α and other inflammatory cytokines in rodents [66]. Human patients receiving IFN- α -based immunotherapy also experience marked psychomotor slowing [72] which has been shown to correlate with abnormalities in left dorsal striatal glucose metabolism [49]. These patients also demonstrate bilateral reductions in striatal 18F-DOPA turnover on PET imaging suggesting decreased presynaptic dopamine synthesis or release, though associations with psychomotor responses were not reported in this study [22]. Interestingly, elevated circulating IL-6 and altered striatal dopaminergic neurotransmission are also associated with psychomotor slowing in people with MDD [85, 86]. However, these studies have tended to focus on changes within striatal projection regions (rather than the substantia nigra) that are typically easier to image in human functional imaging studies. Interestingly, a recent study has shown that older individuals appear particularly susceptible to the psychomotor effects of IFN- α treatment. In this study, increased choice movement time correlated with changes in both peripherally induced TNF and left basal ganglia glutamate (reflected by glutamate/creatine ratio (Glu/Cr)), the other major neurochemical input to the striatum [87].

Correspondingly, decreased left striatal presynaptic dopamine function has been described in depressed patients presenting with marked psychomotor retardation [86]. Left dorsal striatum (caudate) lesions are also associated with a higher frequency and severity of post-stroke depression [88]. In their study using 18F-DOPA PET Martinot et al. [86] demonstrated a reduction in left caudate tracer uptake in MDD patients with psychomotor retardation but not MDD patients with high impulsivity or comparison control participants, providing direct evidence of a link between striatal dopamine hypofunction and psychomotor retardation. The importance of the left dorsal striatum to psychomotor retardation associated with MDD and inflammation has been further strengthened by a recent paper demonstrating a link between plasma and CSF levels of C-reactive protein (CRP), left basal ganglia glutamate, and psychomotor slowing in untreated depressed patients [89].

Together, these data support a central role for bottom-up dopaminergic (substantia nigra) and top-down glutaminergic inputs into the dorsal striatum in both inflammation- and MDD-associated psychomotor retardation. Curiously, most of these studies also report strikingly left lateralized effects. Though robustly reported this finding is currently poorly understood and will require further investigation in future studies. During an infection, psychomotor slowing may serve to minimize energy expenditure and conserve heat, thereby enhancing immune function. Convergent findings in inflammation and MDD-associated psychomotor retardation suggest that chronic activation of these mechanisms may differentiate MDD patients presenting with predominant psychomotor retardation or impulsivity/anxiety symptoms. Whether this difference in presentation also relates to differences in peripheral inflammatory markers is the focus of ongoing studies.

5 Autonomic Responses

Physiological changes including hyperactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis [90] and disturbance in the autonomic control of the heart and vasculature [91] are another feature of MDD, with the later proposed to mediate the relationship between MDD and risk for cardiovascular disease. Inflammation is also increasingly implicated in cardiovascular disease and has been highlighted as a potentially modifiable risk factor by the American Heart Association (AHA) and Centers for Disease Control (CDC) [92]. In this context it is therefore noteworthy that, in addition to impairing mood, experimentally induced inflammation can also perturb both local cardiovascular reactivity [93] and the central autonomic control of the cardiovasculature [20].

One of the most consistent physiological changes reported in MDD is a change in heart rate variability (HRV) which provides an index of beat-to-beat changes in heart rate [91]. Briefly, high frequency (HF) variation in heart rate is mediated by parasympathetic tone and is believed to maintain cardiac stability and protect against myocardial infarction and heart failure. In contrast low frequency (LF) variation tends to reflect sympathetic tone which is associated with an increased risk of malignant arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death. The ratio of these measures (LF/HF) provides a composite measure of HRV with lower values reflecting healthy cardiac function [94]. Meta-analysis demonstrates a significantly higher LF/HF ratio in MDD patients, suggesting an increase in sympathetic and reciprocal decrease in parasympathetic activity [91] that may underlie the association with increased cardiovascular risk.

A similar acute increase in LF/HF ratio has also been observed following induction of mild inflammation using typhoid vaccination [20] and shown to mediate associated changes in blood pressure. Within the brain, inflammation-induced shifts in LF/HF balance are associated with changes in glucose metabolism (FDG-PET) within three discrete regions: dorsal anterior cingulate, posterior cingulate, and pons. Each of these regions is implicated in regulating stressor-evoked blood pressure reactivity. Their recruitment following inflammation and role in mediating effects on blood pressure further illustrates how central effects of inflammation can also contribute to peripheral physiological changes. Together, these findings demonstrate that commonalities between MDD and inflammation extend beyond mood and motivational changes to include changes in physiological function and highlight the brain mechanisms that bind psychological and physiological wellbeing in these conditions.

6 Attention and Executive Function

Cognitive alterations are a prominent feature of sickness behaviors and manifest predominantly as disturbances in attention, memory, and higher-level executive function [4, 95]. Following experimentally induced influenza infection performance is impaired on oddball type tasks that demand sustained attention, though hand-eye coordination and logical reasoning are unaffected [95]. Similar impairments on attentionally demanding tasks are also observed after acute [96] and chronic administration of interferon-alpha [78]. Patients receiving chronic interferon-alpha also show impaired performance on tests of cognitive speed, verbal memory, and executive functions indicating likely impairment of frontalsub-cortical brain function [97]. This interpretation is supported by EEG which changes in frontal lobe regions after acute IFN-alpha shows focal administration [98].

Cognitive impairments are an important feature of MDD with deficits particularly prominent in measures of sustained attention, memory, and executive function [99, 100]. Deficits in executive function appear wide-ranging and include impairments in inhibition, set shifting, updating, working memory, and planning indicating frontal-sub-cortical dysfunction [100]. Focusing on inhibition, which has been most closely investigated in inflammation, meta-analysis of color word Stroop studies (where target words are presented in congruent or incongruent font colors) shows a relatively selective impairment on incongruent trials that demand inhibition of pre-potent lexical responses [100]. Studies investigating this effect using neuroimaging suggest that MDD patients show greater interference because they fail to adequately recruit left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) [101] or require greater left DLPFC activation to achieve performance levels observed in controls [102]. Interestingly, mid-DLPFC is implicated in selecting and biasing attention to the most task-relevant representation indicating a potential circumscribed cognitive deficit in MDD patients [100].

In the first neuroimaging study of inflammation and cognition Capuron et al. [103] used a variation of the CANTAB response time (RT) task to investigate effects of IFN- α on visuospatial attention. Interferon-alpha did not impair task performance or recruitment of the parieto–occipital attention network. However, IFN- α treated patients did recruit an additional dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) region that was not observed in controls. ACC is implicated in conflict monitoring and its activation is proposed to reflect the degree of intentional effort or willed control needed to perform a task [104]. ACC activation in IFN-treated patients therefore potentially reflects a need to exert greater cognitive control to maintain normal levels of task performance in the face of inflammation.

Interestingly, a similar pattern of behavioral and neuroimaging changes also emerged in a study using the color word Stroop task to investigate effects on mild inflammation (typhoid vaccination) on cognitive inhibition [12]. Again, inflammation was not associated with any significant change in task performance. However, it did have a striking impact on the network of brain regions recruited during attentionally demanding incongruent trials (that require inhibition of pre-potent responses) including DLPFC and mid-cingulate (aMCC/pMCC) cortices. Because participants showed no performance differences, these effects likely represent a need for additional neural resources to maintain task performance under inflammation. As mentioned above, activity within both DLPFC and dorsal ACC is typically enhanced with increasing cognitive demands. Both regions also show an increase in activity during performance of a cognitively demanding visual task in the face of cross-modal auditory distracters [105]. Their concurrent activation in states of inflammation therefore suggests that interdependent cognitive/attentional [106] and somatic (autonomic) [107] mechanisms may be invoked to maintain performance in the face of increased conflict from interoceptive processing.

In sum, these studies indicate the need to recruit additional neural resources, notably DLPFC and ACC to maintain cognitive performance in the face of systemic inflammation. Similar to findings observed in MDD, this is particularly marked in tasks with high attentional demand or requiring inhibition of pre-potent responses. Exactly how closely the cognitive deficits induced by inflammation relate to those observed in MDD is yet to be fully determined. Future research will need to further clarify the origin of impairments in executive function observed in MDD and dissect the neurobiological and cognitive mechanisms underlying the broad cognitive deficits reported in both MDD and inflammation. Neurobiological differences including changes in inflammatory state and its impact on neurotransmitters such as serotonin or kynurenine breakdown products are one possible cause for these changes and recent studies are now beginning to characterize this [108].

7 Memory

Work in rodents has demonstrated that inflammatory cytokines modulate a number of neuronal processes including long-term potentiation (LTP) [109, 110], synaptic plasticity [111], and neurogenesis [112] that are critical to learning and memory. In health, immune mechanisms play a role in each of these processes and contribute to the remodeling of neural circuits that promote learning and memory [4, 111]. However, during systemic infection this positive regulatory function is disrupted resulting in acute memory impairments [113]. When inflammation is severe, cognitive impairment may also become persistent [114] and when it is chronic typical age-related impairments in cognition are accelerated [115].

Medial temporal lobe (MTL) structures appear to be particularly sensitive to the effects of inflammation. This may reflect their relatively high receptor and messenger RNA expression for pro-inflammatory cytokines [116, 117] and their connectivity to regions such as the insula [118] that support cortical representations of peripheral inflammatory states [24]. Rodent studies have particularly emphasized the role of the hippocampus in inflammation-associated memory impairments. For example, IL-1 administration into the hippocampus selectively impairs spatial and contextual memory processes and contextual, but not (hippocampus independent)

auditory-cued, fear conditioning [4, 119, 120]. Similarly, over-expression of IL-1 mRNA within the hippocampus has been associated with delayed acquisition of spatial memory [120]. LTP is arguably the key neuronal mechanism for synaptic plasticity that underlies memory encoding and recall. It is therefore noteworthy that IL-1 compromises both hippocampal and dentate gyrus LTP [109, 121, 122]. Peripheral inflammatory challenges also induce IL-1 expression within brain regions, including the MTL [123] and can replicate many of the direct actions of inflammatory cytokines on MTL-dependent memory [124, 125].

In humans, individuals suffering from acute flu-like symptoms have been shown to exhibit impaired memory on tests of immediate and delayed verbal (and delayed picture) recall [126]. However, retrieval of semantic information consolidated in long-term store is unimpaired [126]. Similarly, inflammation induced experimentally with LPS impairs both verbal and nonverbal, declarative memory [9]. Importantly, these memory impairments remain prominent even when mood normalizes suggesting an effect induced by inflammation rather than being secondary to associated changes in mood [9]. Impaired verbal memory is also reported following IFN- α [97]. These studies, which have focused on declarative memory, broadly support the MTL sensitivity to inflammation observed in rodents. However, marked differences in the memory testing paradigms used in rodents and humans limit finer-grained translational inferences.

This difficulty has been partially mitigated (in the context of spatial memory) by the recent translation of the Morris water maze, used extensively to assess rodent spatial memory, for human use [127]. This task requires participants to remember the identity and spatial location of objects in a virtual arena and has been recently used to demonstrate that low-level inflammation also selectively impairs human spatial memory [18]. In particular, inflammation was associated with a selective impairment in remembering object location but not object identity. Furthermore, inflammation did not impair motor skill learning (indexed by performance on a mirror tracing task), a form of procedural memory that relies on a separate dorsal striatum-based memory system independent of the MTL [127]. Interestingly, inflammation was also associated with bilateral reductions in MTL resting glucose metabolism (measured using FDG-PET) with changes in the right parahippocampus significantly mediating the inflammation-induced impairment in spatial memory [18] (Fig. 3). The location of this effect is noteworthy as studies in rodents associate similar spatial memory impairments with changes localized to the hippocampus not the parahippocampus [4].

Why these inter-species differences exist may be usefully informed by human lesion studies, that show that human performance on Morris water maze type tasks and direct tests of object-location memory can be more strongly dependent on right parahippocampal than hippocampal integrity [128, 129]. Right parahippocampal activity during object-location encoding has also been shown to predict subsequent retrieval success with a spatial cue [130]. Furthermore one-trial memory for object-place associations also appears to be critically dependent on posterior parahippocampus rather than the hippocampus in monkeys [131].



Fig. 3 Inflammation impairs spatial memory via actions on medial temporal lobe glucose metabolism. (a) Virtual reality object-location task. *Inset* shows that object-location accuracy (*y* axis) improves after placebo (*red*) but deteriorates after typhoid vaccine induced inflammation (*blue*). (b) Control mirror tracing task. *Inset* shows equivalent improvement in performance after both placebo (*red*) and vaccine (*blue*). (c) Decrease in medial temporal lobe (MTL) fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) uptake in participants given typhoid vaccine after scan 1 (V1 to V2 *red*) compared to controls (*blue*). (d) Similar reduction in MTL FDG uptake in participants given typhoid vaccine after scan 1 (*red*) show a sustained reduction in FDG uptake at scans 2 and 3 (V2 to V3). (e) Reduction in MTL FDG uptake after typhoid vaccination (*blue*), correlation between object-location accuracy and FDG uptake (*yellow*), and area correlating with interaction between task performance and inflammation illustrated in **a** (*red*). Data from Harrison et al. [18]

Episodic memory is also one of the cognitive functions most susceptible to depression suggesting a relatively selective impairment in MTL function [132, 133]. Supporting this, meta-analyses of structural MRI studies have shown an 8–10% reduction in hippocampal volume in MDD [134, 135]. Similar to participants receiving LPS or experiencing flu-like symptoms, studies conducted on large populations of MDD patients (>8,000) report impaired performance on the delayed paragraph recall test of verbal declarative memory [136]. MDD patients have also been shown to perform significantly worse on a virtual reality measure of spatial memory [137]. Though to date most studies investigating memory function in MDD have focused on the hippocampus, evidence suggests that MDD may also be associated with abnormalities in broader MTL structures [138]. Future studies characterizing the specific pattern of memory deficits associated with MDD and

inflammation and their underlying neural substrates will be essential to furthering our understanding of how inflammatory processes contribute to the memory deficits observed in MDD.

8 Social Responses

Another feature of sickness behaviors is social withdrawal and social disconnection [139]. Feelings of social disconnection (experienced as loneliness) contribute to the development and maintenance of depression [140]. The observation that inflammation-induced social withdrawal can be reversed by antidepressant treatment [141] has motivated a number of recent human studies seeking to understanding how inflammation leads to social disconnection as a way of potentially understanding the mechanistic relationship between inflammation and depression.

In an early study, Eisenberger et al. [8] showed that inflammation increases feelings of social disconnection and furthermore that this change mediated the relationship between inflammatory activity and depressed mood. The questionnaire used to assess feelings of social disconnection in this study included items reflecting both a desire to withdraw socially and items that reflected a feeling of being socially isolated or disconnected from others. Both types of items were altered following LPS suggesting potentially dissociable effects on motivational processes ("I want to be alone") as well as processes involved in social cognition and social perception. Addressing this, Moieni et al. have recently demonstrated that LPS induced inflammation impairs performance on the "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" test of theory of mind [142]. This task evaluates how accurately participants can identify another's emotional state by looking only at their eyes [143] and suggests that in addition to effects on motivation, inflammation can additionally alter social processes central to our ability to correctly infer others mental and emotional states.

Another important feature of MDD is that it is twice as common in women as men. One factor proposed to mediate womens' increased vulnerability is their greater exposure and reactivity to interpersonal stressors [144]. It is therefore noteworthy that though women do not show convincingly greater pro-inflammatory cytokine responses to LPS they do report greater increases in feelings of social disconnection and depressed mood suggesting that inflammation may play a role in mediating sex differences in rates of MDD [145]. This is supported by another study that combined LPS and the Cyberball task during fMRI to investigate effects of inflammation on social exclusion [146]. In this study, LPS-induced increases in IL-6 correlated with increased activity within a matrix of brain regions including dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (PFC), posterior superior temporal sulcus (STS), dorsal anterior cingulate (dACC), and insula that are implicated in social processing. However, though this relationship was observed across all participants only in women did it significantly mediate associations between inflammation and depressed mood.

Brain regions such as the posterior superior temporal sulcus (pSTS) and medial prefrontal cortex are strongly implicated in tasks of social cognition that involve extracting socially meaningful information and inferring another's mental state [147]. It is therefore noteworthy that each of these regions showed heightened activity in proportion to induced inflammation [146]. This interpretation is also in keeping with reported impairments in performance on the "Mind in the Eyes" test on theory of mind [142]. Supporting these findings, inflammation has also been shown to disrupt the functional connectivity of both the pSTS and medial prefrontal cortex to sub-genual cingulate (sACC) (a region central to integrating social, emotional, and physiological responses) during an implicit emotional face processing task [11]. Together, these studies demonstrate effects of inflammation on social processing including increased feelings of social disconnection and impaired theory of mind. Accumulating evidence suggests that in some participants, particularly women, these changes may mediate associated impairments in mood and illustrate a potential mechanism linking inflammation to depression.

9 Network Connectivity

The preceding sections have focused on dissecting effects of inflammation and MDD on discrete emotional, cognitive, behavioral, and physiological changes and relating this to regional changes in brain function. However, a small number of recent studies have begun to look at the effects of inflammation on network connectivity, driven by the recognition that even the simplest cognitive functions involve highly distributed processing [148]. The first such study used a simple psychophysiological interaction (PPI)-based approach to investigate the effects of systemic inflammation on connectivity of the sub-genual cingulate (sACC) [11]. In so doing, this study showed that inflammation-associated changes in total mood modulated not just sACC activity but also its functional connectivity to the nucleus accumbens, amygdala and superior temporal sulcus, regions central to the processing of reward, and emotionally and socially salient information, respectively. Furthermore, inflammation-induced reductions in the effective connectivity of the sACC to each of these regions predicted the associated deterioration in total mood.

This study is noteworthy as the sACC is recognized as a key node in functional and anatomical models of mood regulation [149] and the coordination of emotional processing. It is also strongly implicated in the pathophysiology of MDD [44]. Increased sACC activity seen in depression has also been shown to reverse with successful depression treatment with a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor [44, 150], deep brain stimulation [151] of adjacent white matter tracts, and even placebo [150]. Importantly, the sACC is a region that is strongly implicated in integrating multiple components of mood homeostasis. Its recruitment in inflammation-induced mood change suggests that inflammation-associated changes

in mood recruits a network of brain regions similar to that implicated in primary depression.

More recently three further studies have investigated the effects of inflammation on brain functional connectivity networks observed at rest. In the first using low dose LPS (0.4 ng/kg), seed-based analysis revealed a rapid and widespread reduction in the functional coupling of the amygdala, insula, and cingulate cortices to multiple brain networks involved in affective-emotional, motivational, and cognitive-modulatory processes [152]. Similar to the PPI analysis of task-related fMRI [11], LPS was associated with reduced connectivity between the amygdala and prefrontal structures, though these authors were unable to show any significant relationship to changes in mood. The second study used a slightly higher dose (0.6 ng/kg) of LPS and specifically investigated effects on connectivity between anterior and posterior insula seeds and orbitofrontal and cingulate (anterior and middle). This study identified a specific increase in left anterior insula to left mid-cingulate cortex that additionally predicted LPS associated back pain and global sickness [42]. These regions form key components of the pain matrix, and it is noteworthy that they have also been previously linked to LPS induced increases in visceral pain sensitivity [153].

The third study adopted a different approach and investigated effects of IFN- α on measures of network function derived from graph theory [154]. Briefly, graph theory provides a powerful mathematical approach for analyzing the structure of complex networks, and application to the human brain has revealed insights unavailable from conventional approaches. For example, it has shown that similar to other complex networks, the brain utilizes an efficient "small-world" connectivity architecture that serves to minimize wiring cost while maintaining robustness to random damage to individual regions (nodes) or connections (edges) [155]. Within 4 h of administration, IFN- α was associated with a striking reduction in global network connectivity and network efficiency indicating a global reduction in information transfer among nodes forming the whole brain network. Furthermore, these changes in global network connectivity and efficiency of information exchange correlated strongly with IFN- α induced changes in mood, confusion, fatigue, and tension/anxiety.

How peripherally administered IFN- α or LPS can so rapidly impair the functional connectivity of such large-scale brain networks is currently uncertain. However, the observation that these actions are effected on a global scale points towards a likely role for neuromodulators such as dopamine, norepinephrine, or serotonin that can rapidly alter diverse and widespread neuronal populations rather than a more regionally targeted effect. In support of this, inflammation has been linked to altered nucleus accumbens dopamine efflux in rodents [62], decreased striatal dopamine release in rhesus monkeys [156, 157], and reduced presynaptic dopamine synthesis or release in humans [22]. Further, monkeys showing behavioral impairment after inflammatory challenge with lipopolysaccharide exhibit significantly lower cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of the dopamine metabolite homovanillic acid [50].

Network-based analyses have also been pursued in MDD and, similar to the findings of post-LPS, have shown reduced functional connectivity within broad prefrontal-limbic-thalamic areas, particular regions sub-served by the left amygdala-ACC and the right insula-precuneus Labrenz et al. [158]. Graph theoretic analyses of MDD have also demonstrated changes in network topology including abnormal small-world organization and network efficiency [159]. Though application of advanced connectivity analyses to both MDD and inflammation remains in its relatively infancy, similar marked changes in network connectivity, particularly within prefrontal and limbic regions across conditions, support the utility of this approach as a way of characterizing the relationship between inflammation and MDD. Demonstration of often-marked correlations between global measures of network function and mood/cognition suggests a likely role for neuromodulators such as dopamine and serotonin, that are implicated in the pathophysiology of both MDD and sickness behaviors. Further characterization of these associations will require combination of network-based analyses with PET imaging of specific neuromodulators and/or metabolomic approaches.

10 Summary

Rodent and human brain imaging studies have been successful in characterizing a discrete set of cortical and sub-cortical structures sensitive to changes in peripheral inflammation and highlighted their role in many of the key components of sickness behavior. These regions show a striking similarity to the network of areas implicated in the mood, motivational, and cognitive deficits characteristic of MDD. In the context of models of bacterial infection, peripheral inflammation rapidly recruits an interoceptive pathway projecting to insula. This pathway and its terminal projection to the insula provides a central representation of all aspects of bodily physiological state and its translation into consciously accessible feeling states. Following inflammation, recruitment of the insula cortex is implicated in feelings of fatigue and malaise (and possibly social disconnection) as well as a heightened sensitivity to punishment. Bidirectional connections between the insula and the anterior and mid-cingulate cortex provide a substrate for the heightened sensitivity to visceral and pressure pain. Similar to MDD, actions of inflammation on ventral striatal reward processing and reward prediction error encoding appear to underlie shifts in reward sensitivity and motivation. Cognitive deficits (particularly impaired MTL dependent memory and performance on attentionally demanding tasks) are characteristic of both MDD and inflammation and relate to disrupted hippocampal/ parahippocampal processing and DLPFC, respectively. More recent functional connectivity studies highlight the distributed nature of cognitive processes and hint at the likely importance of broadly acting neuromodulators like dopamine and serotonin in the mood, motivational, and cognitive impairments characteristic of both MDD and inflammation.

Based on these foundations, future studies combining multiple functional neuroimaging techniques with metabolomic and proteomic approaches should help us move closer to the goal of a mechanistic understanding of the relationships between peripheral inflammation, regional brain structure/function, and discrete cognitive phenotypes observed in MDD.

References

- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:46–56
- 2. Hart BL (1987) Behavior of sick animals. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 3:383-391
- 3. Kelley KW, Bluthe RM, Dantzer R, Zhou JH, Shen WH, Johnson RW, Broussard SR (2003) Cytokine-induced sickness behavior. Brain Behav Immun 17(Suppl 1):S112–S118
- Yirmiya R, Goshen I (2011) Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. Brain Behav Immun 25:181–213
- Merali Z, Brennan K, Brau P, Anisman H (2003) Dissociating anorexia and anhedonia elicited by interleukin-1beta: antidepressant and gender effects on responding for "free chow" and "earned" sucrose intake. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 165:413–418
- Stone EA, Lehmann ML, Lin Y, Quartermain D (2006) Depressive behavior in mice due to immune stimulation is accompanied by reduced neural activity in brain regions involved in positively motivated behavior. Biol Psychiatry 60:803–811
- 7. Vichaya EG, Hunt SC, Dantzer R (2014) Lipopolysaccharide reduces incentive motivation while boosting preference for high reward in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 39:2884–2890
- Eisenberger NI, Inagaki TK, Mashal NM, Irwin MR (2010) Inflammation and social experience: an inflammatory challenge induces feelings of social disconnection in addition to depressed mood. Brain Behav Immun 24:558–563
- Reichenberg A, Yirmiya R, Schuld A, Kraus T, Haack M, Morag A, Pollmacher T (2001) Cytokine-associated emotional and cognitive disturbances in humans. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:445–452
- Brydon L, Harrison NA, Walker C, Steptoe A, Critchley HD (2008) Peripheral inflammation is associated with altered substantia nigra activity and psychomotor slowing in humans. Biol Psychiatry 63:1022–1029
- Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Critchley HD (2009) Inflammation causes mood changes through alterations in subgenual cingulate activity and mesolimbic connectivity. Biol Psychiatry 66:407–414
- Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Dolan RJ, Critchley HD (2009) Neural origins of human sickness in interoceptive responses to inflammation. Biol Psychiatry 66:415–422
- Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Gumnick JF, Manatunga AK, Penna S, Goodkin RS, Miller AH (2001) Paroxetine for the prevention of depression induced by high-dose interferon alfa. N Engl J Med 344:961–966
- 14. Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W, Liu H, Sham L, Reim EK, Lanctot KL (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67:446–457
- Valkanova V, Ebmeier KP, Allan CL (2013) CRP, IL-6 and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. J Affect Disord 150:736–744
- Dowell NG, Cooper EA, Tibble J, Voon V, Critchley HD, Cercignani M, Harrison NA (2016) Acute changes in striatal microstructure predict the development of interferon-alpha induced fatigue. Biol Psychiatry 79:320–328

- Harrison NA, Cercignani M, Voon V, Critchley HD (2015) Effects of inflammation on hippocampus and substantia nigra responses to novelty in healthy human participants. Neuropsychopharmacology 40:831–838
- Harrison NA, Doeller CF, Voon V, Burgess N, Critchley HD (2014) Peripheral inflammation acutely impairs human spatial memory via actions on medial temporal lobe glucose metabolism. Biol Psychiatry 76:585–593
- Eisenberger NI, Berkman ET, Inagaki TK, Rameson LT, Mashal NM, Irwin MR (2010) Inflammation-induced anhedonia: endotoxin reduces ventral striatum responses to reward. Biol Psychiatry 68:748–754
- Harrison NA, Cooper E, Voon V, Miles K, Critchley HD (2013) Central autonomic network mediates cardiovascular responses to acute inflammation: relevance to increased cardiovascular risk in depression? Brain Behav Immun 31:189–196
- Capuron L, Gumnick JF, Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Reemsnyder A, Nemeroff CB, Miller AH (2002) Neurobehavioral effects of interferon-alpha in cancer patients: phenomenology and paroxetine responsiveness of symptom dimensions. Neuropsychopharmacology 26:643–652
- 22. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Drake DF, Woolwine BJ, Spivey JR, Crowe RJ, Miller AH (2012) Dopaminergic mechanisms of reduced basal ganglia responses to hedonic reward during interferon alfa administration. Arch Gen Psychiatry 69:1044–1053
- 23. Harrison NA, Cooper E, Dowell NG, Keramida G, Voon V, Critchley HD, Cercignani M (2015) Quantitative magnetization transfer imaging as a biomarker for effects of systemic inflammation on the brain. Biol Psychiatry 78:49–57
- 24. Critchley HD, Harrison NA (2013) Visceral influences on brain and behavior. Neuron 77:624-638
- McEwen BS, Gianaros PJ (2010) Central role of the brain in stress and adaptation: links to socioeconomic status, health, and disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1186:190–222
- 26. Wan W, Wetmore L, Sorensen CM, Greenberg AH, Nance DM (1994) Neural and biochemical mediators of endotoxin and stress-induced c-fos expression in the rat brain. Brain Res Bull 34:7–14
- 27. Goehler LE, Relton JK, Dripps D, Kiechle R, Tartaglia N, Maier SF, Watkins LR (1997) Vagal paraganglia bind biotinylated interleukin-1 receptor antagonist: a possible mechanism for immune-to-brain communication. Brain Res Bull 43:357–364
- Ek M, Kurosawa M, Lundeberg T, Ericsson A (1998) Activation of vagal afferents after intravenous injection of interleukin-1beta: role of endogenous prostaglandins. J Neurosci 18:9471–9479
- 29. Goehler LE, Gaykema RP, Hansen MK, Anderson K, Maier SF, Watkins LR (2000) Vagal immune-to-brain communication: a visceral chemosensory pathway. Auton Neurosci 85:49–59
- Craig AD (2002) How do you feel? Interoception: the sense of the physiological condition of the body. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:655–666
- 31. Craig AD, Krout K, Andrew D (2001) Quantitative response characteristics of thermoreceptive and nociceptive lamina I spinothalamic neurons in the cat. J Neurophysiol 86:1459–1480
- Craig AD, Chen K, Bandy D, Reiman EM (2000) Thermosensory activation of insular cortex. Nat Neurosci 3:184–190
- 33. Andrew D, Craig AD (2001) Spinothalamic lamina I neurons selectively sensitive to histamine: a central neural pathway for itch. Nat Neurosci 4:72–77
- 34. Olausson H, Lamarre Y, Backlund H, Morin C, Wallin BG, Starck G, Bushnell MC (2002) Unmyelinated tactile afferents signal touch and project to insular cortex. Nat Neurosci 5:900–904
- 35. Craig AD, Blomqvist A (2002) Is there a specific lamina I spinothalamocortical pathway for pain and temperature sensations in primates? J Pain 3:95–101, discussion 113–104
- Critchley HD, Wiens S, Rotshtein P, Ohman A, Dolan RJ (2004) Neural systems supporting interoceptive awareness. Nat Neurosci 7:189–195

- 37. Rosenkranz MA, Busse WW, Johnstone T, Swenson CA, Crisafi GM, Jackson MM, Davidson RJ (2005) Neural circuitry underlying the interaction between emotion and asthma symptom exacerbation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:13319–13324
- 38. Drzezga A, Darsow U, Treede RD, Siebner H, Frisch M, Munz F, Bartenstein P (2001) Central activation by histamine-induced itch: analogies to pain processing: a correlational analysis of O-15 H2O positron emission tomography studies. Pain 92:295–305
- Williamson JW, McColl R, Mathews D, Ginsburg M, Mitchell JH (1999) Activation of the insular cortex is affected by the intensity of exercise. J Appl Physiol (1985) 87:1213–1219
- 40. van den Heuvel MP, Pol HEH (2010) Exploring the brain network: a review on resting-state fMRI functional connectivity. Eur Neuropsychopharm 20:519–534
- 41. Hannestad J, Subramanyam K, Dellagioia N, Planeta-Wilson B, Weinzimmer D, Pittman B, Carson RE (2012) Glucose metabolism in the insula and cingulate is affected by systemic inflammation in humans. J Nucl Med 53:601–607
- 42. Lekander M, Karshikoff B, Johansson E, Soop A, Fransson P, Lundstrom JN, Nilsonne G (2015) Intrinsic functional connectivity of insular cortex and symptoms of sickness during acute experimental inflammation. Brain Behav Immun. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.12.018
- Manes F, Paradiso S, Robinson RG (1999) Neuropsychiatric effects of insular stroke. J Nerv Ment Dis 187:707–712
- 44. Mayberg HS, Liotti M, Brannan SK, McGinnis S, Mahurin RK, Jerabek PA, Fox PT (1999) Reciprocal limbic-cortical function and negative mood: converging PET findings in depression and normal sadness. Am J Psychiatry 156:675–682
- 45. Paulus MP, Stein MB (2010) Interoception in anxiety and depression. Brain Struct Funct 214:451–463
- 46. Veer IM, Beckmann CF, van Tol MJ, Ferrarini L, Milles J, Veltman DJ, Rombouts SA (2010) Whole brain resting-state analysis reveals decreased functional connectivity in major depression. Front Syst Neurosci 4
- 47. Yao Z, Wang L, Lu Q, Liu H, Teng G (2009) Regional homogeneity in depression and its relationship with separate depressive symptom clusters: a resting-state fMRI study. J Affect Disord 115:430–438
- 48. Sandiego CM, Gallezot JD, Pittman B, Nabulsi N, Lim K, Lin SF, Cosgrove KP (2015) Imaging robust microglial activation after lipopolysaccharide administration in humans with PET. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:12468–12473
- 49. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Demetrashvili MF, Lawson DH, Fornwalt FB, Woolwine B, Miller AH (2007) Basal ganglia hypermetabolism and symptoms of fatigue during interferon-alpha therapy. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:2384–2392
- Felger JC, Alagbe O, Hu F, Mook D, Freeman AA, Sanchez MM, Miller AH (2007) Effects of interferon-alpha on rhesus monkeys: a nonhuman primate model of cytokine-induced depression. Biol Psychiatry 62:1324–1333
- Wang J, Campbell IL, Zhang H (2008) Systemic interferon-alpha regulates interferonstimulated genes in the central nervous system. Mol Psychiatry 13:293–301
- 52. Huys QJ, Pizzagalli DA, Bogdan R, Dayan P (2013) Mapping anhedonia onto reinforcement learning: a behavioural meta-analysis. Biol Mood Anxiety Disord 3:12
- Schultz W, Apicella P, Scarnati E, Ljungberg T (1992) Neuronal activity in monkey ventral striatum related to the expectation of reward. J Neurosci 12:4595–4610
- 54. Schultz W (1998) Predictive reward signal of dopamine neurons. J Neurophysiol 80:1-27
- 55. Dayan P, Abbott L (2001) Theoretical neuroscience: computational and mathematical modelling of neural systems. The MIT Press, Cambridge
- Montague PR, Dayan P, Sejnowski TJ (1996) A framework for mesencephalic dopamine systems based on predictive Hebbian learning. J Neurosci 16:1936–1947
- Pessiglione M, Seymour B, Flandin G, Dolan RJ, Frith CD (2006) Dopamine-dependent prediction errors underpin reward-seeking behaviour in humans. Nature 442:1042–1045
- Berridge KC, Robinson TE (1998) What is the role of dopamine in reward: hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? Brain Res Brain Res Rev 28:309–369

- 59. Gradin VB, Kumar P, Waiter G, Ahearn T, Stickle C, Milders M, Steele JD (2011) Expected value and prediction error abnormalities in depression and schizophrenia. Brain 134:1751–1764
- 60. Pizzagalli DA, Holmes AJ, Dillon DG, Goetz EL, Birk JL, Bogdan R, Fava M (2009) Reduced caudate and nucleus accumbens response to rewards in unmedicated individuals with major depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 166:702–710
- Harrison NA, Voon V, Cercignani M, Cooper EA, Pessiglione M, Critchley HD (2015) A neurocomputational account of how inflammation enhances sensitivity to punishments versus rewards. Biol Psychiatry. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.12.018
- 62. Borowski T, Kokkinidis L, Merali Z, Anisman H (1998) Lipopolysaccharide, central in vivo biogenic amine variations, and anhedonia. Neuroreport 9:3797–3802
- 63. Kitagami T, Yamada K, Miura H, Hashimoto R, Nabeshima T, Ohta T (2003) Mechanism of systemically injected interferon-alpha impeding monoamine biosynthesis in rats: role of nitric oxide as a signal crossing the blood-brain barrier. Brain Res 978:104–114
- 64. Felger JC, Miller AH (2012) Cytokine effects on the basal ganglia and dopamine function: the subcortical source of inflammatory malaise. Front Neuroendocrinol 33:315–327
- 65. Kamata M, Higuchi H, Yoshimoto M, Yoshida K, Shimizu T (2000) Effect of single intracerebroventricular injection of alpha-interferon on monoamine concentrations in the rat brain. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 10:129–132
- 66. Shuto H, Kataoka Y, Horikawa T, Fujihara N, Oishi R (1997) Repeated interferon-alpha administration inhibits dopaminergic neural activity in the mouse brain. Brain Res 747:348–351
- 67. Paulus MP, Rogalsky C, Simmons A, Feinstein JS, Stein MB (2003) Increased activation in the right insula during risk-taking decision making is related to harm avoidance and neuroticism. Neuroimage 19:1439–1448
- Palminteri S, Justo D, Jauffret C, Pavlicek B, Dauta A, Delmaire C, Pessiglione M (2012) Critical roles for anterior insula and dorsal striatum in punishment-based avoidance learning. Neuron 76:998–1009
- 69. Seligman ME (1972) Learned helplessness. Annu Rev Med 23:407-412
- Felger JC, Li Z, Haroon E, Woolwine BJ, Jung MY, Hu X, Miller AH (2015) Inflammation is associated with decreased functional connectivity within corticostriatal reward circuitry in depression. Mol Psychiatry. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.12.018
- Zung WW, Richards CB, Short MJ (1965) Self-rating depression scale in an outpatient clinic. Further validation of the SDS. Arch Gen Psychiatry 13:508–515
- Capuron L, Miller AH (2004) Cytokines and psychopathology: lessons from interferon-alpha. Biol Psychiatry 56:819–824
- 73. Dantzer R, Bluthe R, Castanon N, Kelly K, Konsman J, Laye S (2007) Cytokines, sickness behavior, and depression. In: Ader R (ed) Psychoneuroimmunology, 4th edn. Elsevier, San Diego
- 74. Lenczowski MJ, Bluthe RM, Roth J, Rees GS, Rushforth DA, van Dam AM, Luheshi GN (1999) Central administration of rat IL-6 induces HPA activation and fever but not sickness behavior in rats. Am J Physiol 276:R652–R658
- 75. Harden LM, du Plessis I, Poole S, Laburn HP (2006) Interleukin-6 and leptin mediate lipopolysaccharide-induced fever and sickness behavior. Physiol Behav 89:146–155
- 76. Pang Y, Fan LW, Zheng B, Cai Z, Rhodes PG (2006) Role of interleukin-6 in lipopolysaccharide-induced brain injury and behavioral dysfunction in neonatal rats. Neuroscience 141:745–755
- 77. Bluthe RM, Michaud B, Poli V, Dantzer R (2000) Role of IL-6 in cytokine-induced sickness behavior: a study with IL-6 deficient mice. Physiol Behav 70:367–373
- Capuron L, Ravaud A, Dantzer R (2001) Timing and specificity of the cognitive changes induced by interleukin-2 and interferon-alpha treatments in cancer patients. Psychosom Med 63:376–386
- 79. Smith AP, Tyrrell DA, Al-Nakib W, Coyle KB, Donovan CB, Higgins PG, Willman JS (1987) Effects of experimentally induced respiratory virus infections and illness on psychomotor performance. Neuropsychobiology 18:144–148

- Graybiel AM, Aosaki T, Flaherty AW, Kimura M (1994) The basal ganglia and adaptive motor control. Science 265:1826–1831
- Bunzeck N, Duzel E (2006) Absolute coding of stimulus novelty in the human substantia nigra/VTA. Neuron 51:369–379
- Baunez C, Robbins TW (1999) Effects of dopamine depletion of the dorsal striatum and further interaction with subthalamic nucleus lesions in an attentional task in the rat. Neuroscience 92:1343–1356
- Weed MR, Gold LH (1998) The effects of dopaminergic agents on reaction time in rhesus monkeys. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 137:33–42
- 84. van den Biggelaar AH, Gussekloo J, de Craen AJ, Frolich M, Stek ML, van der Mast RC, Westendorp RG (2007) Inflammation and interleukin-1 signaling network contribute to depressive symptoms but not cognitive decline in old age. Exp Gerontol 42:693–701
- Maes M, Bosmans E, De Jongh R, Kenis G, Vandoolaeghe E, Neels H (1997) Increased serum IL-6 and IL-1 receptor antagonist concentrations in major depression and treatment resistant depression. Cytokine 9:853–858
- 86. Martinot M, Bragulat V, Artiges E, Dolle F, Hinnen F, Jouvent R, Martinot J (2001) Decreased presynaptic dopamine function in the left caudate of depressed patients with affective flattening and psychomotor retardation. Am J Psychiatry 158:314–316
- 87. Haroon E, Felger JC, Woolwine BJ, Chen X, Parekh S, Spivey JR, Miller AH (2015) Age-related increases in basal ganglia glutamate are associated with TNF, reduced motivation and decreased psychomotor speed during IFN-alpha treatment: preliminary findings. Brain Behav Immun 46:17–22
- Starkstein SE, Robinson RG, Berthier ML, Parikh RM, Price TR (1988) Differential mood changes following basal ganglia vs thalamic lesions. Arch Neurol 45:725–730
- Haroon E, Fleischer CC, Felger JC, Chen X, Woolwine BJ, Patel T, Miller AH (2016) Conceptual convergence: increased inflammation is associated with increased basal ganglia glutamate in patients with major depression. Mol Psychiatry. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.206
- Pariante CM, Lightman SL (2008) The HPA axis in major depression: classical theories and new developments. Trends Neurosci 31:464–468
- Kemp AH, Quintana DS, Gray MA, Felmingham KL, Brown K, Gatt JM (2010) Impact of depression and antidepressant treatment on heart rate variability: a review and meta-analysis. Biol Psychiatry 67:1067–1074
- 92. Pearson TA, Bazzarre TL, Daniels SR, Fair JM, Fortmann SP, Franklin BA, Prevention S (2003) American Heart Association guide for improving cardiovascular health at the community level: a statement for public health practitioners, healthcare providers, and health policy makers from the American Heart Association Expert Panel on Population and Prevention Science. Circulation 107:645–651
- Hingorani AD, Cross J, Kharbanda RK, Mullen MJ, Bhagat K, Taylor M, Vallance P (2000) Acute systemic inflammation impairs endothelium-dependent dilatation in humans. Circulation 102:994–999
- 94. Dekker JM, Crow RS, Folsom AR, Hannan PJ, Liao D, Swenne CA, Schouten EG (2000) Low heart rate variability in a 2-minute rhythm strip predicts risk of coronary heart disease and mortality from several causes: the ARIC Study. Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities. Circulation 102:1239–1244
- 95. Smith AP, Tyrrell DA, Al-Nakib W, Coyle KB, Donovan CB, Higgins PG, Willman JS (1988) The effects of experimentally induced respiratory virus infections on performance. Psychol Med 18:65–71
- 96. Smith A, Tyrrell D, Coyle K, Higgins P (1988) Effects of interferon alpha on performance in man: a preliminary report. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 96:414–416
- Pavol MA, Meyers CA, Rexer JL, Valentine AD, Mattis PJ, Talpaz M (1995) Pattern of neurobehavioral deficits associated with interferon alfa therapy for leukemia. Neurology 45:947–950
- Adams F, Quesada JR, Gutterman JU (1984) Neuropsychiatric manifestations of human leukocyte interferon therapy in patients with cancer. JAMA 252:938–941

- 99. Paelecke-Habermann Y, Pohl J, Leplow B (2005) Attention and executive functions in remitted major depression patients. J Affect Disord 89:125–135
- 100. Snyder HR (2013) Major depressive disorder is associated with broad impairments on neuropsychological measures of executive function: a meta-analysis and review. Psychol Bull 139:81–132
- 101. Holmes AJ, Pizzagalli DA (2007) Task feedback effects on conflict monitoring and executive control: relationship to subclinical measures of depression. Emotion 7:68–76
- 102. Wagner G, Sinsel E, Sobanski T, Kohler S, Marinou V, Mentzel HJ, Schlosser RG (2006) Cortical inefficiency in patients with unipolar depression: an event-related FMRI study with the Stroop task. Biol Psychiatry 59:958–965
- 103. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Demetrashvili M, Woolwine BJ, Nemeroff CB, Berns GS, Miller AH (2005) Anterior cingulate activation and error processing during interferon-alpha treatment. Biol Psychiatry 58:190–196
- 104. Duncan J, Owen AM (2000) Common regions of the human frontal lobe recruited by diverse cognitive demands. Trends Neurosci 23:475–483
- Weissman DH, Warner LM, Woldorff MG (2004) The neural mechanisms for minimizing cross-modal distraction. J Neurosci 24:10941–10949
- 106. MacDonald AW 3rd, Cohen JD, Stenger VA, Carter CS (2000) Dissociating the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in cognitive control. Science 288:1835–1838
- 107. Critchley HD, Tang J, Glaser D, Butterworth B, Dolan RJ (2005) Anterior cingulate activity during error and autonomic response. Neuroimage 27:885–895
- 108. Meier TB, Drevets WC, Wurfel BE, Ford BN, Morris HM, Victor TA, Savitz J (2016) Relationship between neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites and reductions in right medial prefrontal cortical thickness in major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 53:39–48
- 109. Katsuki H, Nakai S, Hirai Y, Akaji K, Kiso Y, Satoh M (1990) Interleukin-1 beta inhibits long-term potentiation in the CA3 region of mouse hippocampal slices. Eur J Pharmacol 181:323–326
- 110. Schneider H, Pitossi F, Balschun D, Wagner A, del Rey A, Besedovsky HO (1998) A neuromodulatory role of interleukin-1beta in the hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:7778–7783
- 111. Schafer DP, Lehrman EK, Kautzman AG, Koyama R, Mardinly AR, Yamasaki R, Stevens B (2012) Microglia sculpt postnatal neural circuits in an activity and complement-dependent manner. Neuron 74:691–705
- 112. Ekdahl CT, Claasen JH, Bonde S, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O (2003) Inflammation is detrimental for neurogenesis in adult brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:13632–13637
- 113. Tynan RJ, Naicker S, Hinwood M, Nalivaiko E, Buller KM, Pow DV, Walker FR (2010) Chronic stress alters the density and morphology of microglia in a subset of stress-responsive brain regions. Brain Behav Immun 24:1058–1068
- 114. Iwashyna TJ, Ely EW, Smith DM, Langa KM (2010) Long-term cognitive impairment and functional disability among survivors of severe sepsis. JAMA 304:1787–1794
- 115. Weaver JD, Huang MH, Albert M, Harris T, Rowe JW, Seeman TE (2002) Interleukin-6 and risk of cognitive decline: MacArthur studies of successful aging. Neurology 59:371–378
- 116. Ericsson A, Liu C, Hart RP, Sawchenko PE (1995) Type 1 interleukin-1 receptor in the rat brain: distribution, regulation, and relationship to sites of IL-1-induced cellular activation. J Comp Neurol 361:681–698
- 117. Hawrylycz MJ, Lein ES, Guillozet-Bongaarts AL, Shen EH, Ng L, Miller JA, Jones AR (2012) An anatomically comprehensive atlas of the adult human brain transcriptome. Nature 489:391–399
- 118. Suzuki WA, Amaral DG (1994) Perirhinal and parahippocampal cortices of the macaque monkey: cortical afferents. J Comp Neurol 350:497–533
- 119. Barrientos RM, Higgins EA, Sprunger DB, Watkins LR, Rudy JW, Maier SF (2002) Memory for context is impaired by a post context exposure injection of interleukin-1 beta into dorsal hippocampus. Behav Brain Res 134:291–298

- 120. Oitzl MS, van Oers H, Schobitz B, de Kloet ER (1993) Interleukin-1 beta, but not interleukin-6, impairs spatial navigation learning. Brain Res 613:160–163
- 121. Bellinger FP, Madamba S, Siggins GR (1993) Interleukin 1 beta inhibits synaptic strength and long-term potentiation in the rat CA1 hippocampus. Brain Res 628:227–234
- 122. Cunningham AJ, Murray CA, O'Neill LA, Lynch MA, O'Connor JJ (1996) Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 beta) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) inhibit long-term potentiation in the rat dentate gyrus in vitro. Neurosci Lett 203:17–20
- 123. Ban E, Haour F, Lenstra R (1992) Brain interleukin 1 gene expression induced by peripheral lipopolysaccharide administration. Cytokine 4:48–54
- 124. Gibertini M (1996) IL1 beta impairs relational but not procedural rodent learning in a water maze task. Adv Exp Med Biol 402:207–217
- 125. Pugh CR, Kumagawa K, Fleshner M, Watkins LR, Maier SF, Rudy JW (1998) Selective effects of peripheral lipopolysaccharide administration on contextual and auditory-cue fear conditioning. Brain Behav Immun 12:212–229
- 126. Capuron L, Lamarque D, Dantzer R, Goodall G (1999) Attentional and mnemonic deficits associated with infectious disease in humans. Psychol Med 29:291–297
- 127. Doeller CF, King JA, Burgess N (2008) Parallel striatal and hippocampal systems for landmarks and boundaries in spatial memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:5915–5920
- 128. Bohbot VD, Corkin S (2007) Posterior parahippocampal place learning in H.M. Hippocampus 17:863–872
- 129. Ploner CJ, Gaymard BM, Rivaud-Pechoux S, Baulac M, Clemenceau S, Samson S, Pierrot-Deseilligny C (2000) Lesions affecting the parahippocampal cortex yield spatial memory deficits in humans. Cereb Cortex 10:1211–1216
- 130. Sommer T, Rose M, Glascher J, Wolbers T, Buchel C (2005) Dissociable contributions within the medial temporal lobe to encoding of object-location associations. Learn Mem 12:343–351
- 131. Malkova L, Mishkin M (2003) One-trial memory for object-place associations after separate lesions of hippocampus and posterior parahippocampal region in the monkey. J Neurosci 23:1956–1965
- 132. Airaksinen E, Larsson M, Lundberg I, Forsell Y (2004) Cognitive functions in depressive disorders: evidence from a population-based study. Psychol Med 34:83–91
- 133. Sweeney JA, Kmiec JA, Kupfer DJ (2000) Neuropsychologic impairments in bipolar and unipolar mood disorders on the CANTAB neurocognitive battery. Biol Psychiatry 48:674–684
- 134. Campbell S, Marriott M, Nahmias C, MacQueen GM (2004) Lower hippocampal volume in patients suffering from depression: a meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry 161:598–607
- 135. Videbech P, Ravnkilde B (2004) Hippocampal volume and depression: a meta-analysis of MRI studies. Am J Psychiatry 161:1957–1966
- 136. Gorwood P, Corruble E, Falissard B, Goodwin GM (2008) Toxic effects of depression on brain function: impairment of delayed recall and the cumulative length of depressive disorder in a large sample of depressed outpatients. Am J Psychiatry 165:731–739
- 137. Gould NF, Holmes MK, Fantie BD, Luckenbaugh DA, Pine DS, Gould TD, Zarate CA Jr (2007) Performance on a virtual reality spatial memory navigation task in depressed patients. Am J Psychiatry 164:516–519
- 138. Montag C, Weber B, Fliessbach K, Elger C, Reuter M (2009) The BDNF Val66Met polymorphism impacts parahippocampal and amygdala volume in healthy humans: incremental support for a genetic risk factor for depression. Psychol Med 39:1831–1839
- 139. Hart BL (1988) Biological basis of the behavior of sick animals. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 12:123–137
- 140. Heinrich LM, Gullone E (2006) The clinical significance of loneliness: a literature review. Clin Psychol Rev 26(6):695–718
- 141. Yirmiya R (1996) Endotoxin produces a depressive-like episode in rats. Brain Res 7:163-174
- 142. Moieni M, Irwin MR, Jevtic I, Breen EC, Eisenberger NI (2015) Inflammation impairs social cognitive processing: a randomized controlled trial of endotoxin. Brain Behav Immun 48:132–138
- 143. Baron-Cohen S, Wheelwright S, Hill J, Raste Y, Plumb I (2001) The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" Test revised version: a study with normal adults, and adults with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 42:241–251
- 144. Cyranowski JM, Frank E, Young E, Shear MK (2000) Adolescent onset of the gender difference in lifetime rates of major depression: a theoretical model. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57:21–27
- 145. Moieni M, Irwin MR, Jevtic I, Olmstead R, Breen EC, Eisenberger NI (2015) Sex differences in depressive and socioemotional responses to an inflammatory challenge: implications for sex differences in depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 40:1709–1716
- 146. Eisenberger NI, Inagaki TK, Rameson LT, Mashal NM, Irwin MR (2009) An fMRI study of cytokine-induced depressed mood and social pain: the role of sex differences. Neuroimage 47:881–890
- 147. Frith CD, Frith U (2012) Mechanisms of social cognition. Annu Rev Psychol 63:287-313
- 148. Johansen-Berg H (2013) Human connectomics what will the future demand? Neuroimage 80:541–544
- 149. Seminowicz DA, Mayberg HS, McIntosh AR, Goldapple K, Kennedy S, Segal Z, Rafi-Tari S (2004) Limbic-frontal circuitry in major depression: a path modeling metaanalysis. Neuroimage 22:409–418
- 150. Mayberg HS, Brannan SK, Tekell JL, Silva JA, Mahurin RK, McGinnis S, Jerabek PA (2000) Regional metabolic effects of fluoxetine in major depression: serial changes and relationship to clinical response. Biol Psychiatry 48:830–843
- 151. Mayberg HS, Lozano AM, Voon V, McNeely HE, Seminowicz D, Hamani C, Kennedy SH (2005) Deep brain stimulation for treatment-resistant depression. Neuron 45:651–660
- 152. Labrenz F, Wrede K, Forsting M, Engler H, Schedlowski M, Elsenbruch S, Benson S (2016) Alterations in functional connectivity of resting state networks during experimental endotoxemia – an exploratory study in healthy men. Brain Behav Immun 54:17–26
- 153. Benson S, Rebernik L, Wegner A, Kleine-Borgmann J, Engler H, Schlamann M, Elsenbruch S (2015) Neural circuitry mediating inflammation-induced central pain amplification in human experimental endotoxemia. Brain Behav Immun 48:222–231
- 154. Dipasquale O, Cooper EA, Tibble J, Voon V, Baglio F, Baselli G, Harrison NA (2015) Interferon-alpha acutely impairs whole-brain functional connectivity network architecture – a preliminary study. Brain Behav Immun. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.12.018
- 155. Achard S, Salvador R, Whitcher B, Suckling J, Bullmore E (2006) A resilient, low-frequency, small-world human brain functional network with highly connected association cortical hubs. J Neurosci 26(1):63–72
- 156. Felger JC, Hernandez CR, Miller AH (2015) Levodopa reverses cytokine-induced reductions in striatal dopamine release. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 18
- 157. Felger JC, Mun J, Kimmel HL, Nye JA, Drake DF, Hernandez CR, Miller AH (2013) Chronic interferon-alpha decreases dopamine 2 receptor binding and striatal dopamine release in association with anhedonia-like behavior in nonhuman primates. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:2179–2187
- 158. Lui S, Wu Q, Qiu L, Yang X, Kuang W, Chan RC, Gong Q (2011) Resting-state functional connectivity in treatment-resistant depression. Am J Psychiatry 168:642–648
- 159. Zhang J, Wang J, Wu Q, Kuang W, Huang X, He Y, Gong Q (2011) Disrupted brain connectivity networks in drug-naive, first-episode major depressive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 70:334–342

Role of Kynurenine Metabolism Pathway Activation in Major Depressive Disorders

Jonathan Savitz

Abstract A proportion of depressed individuals show evidence of inflammation. Both animal, quasi-experimental, and longitudinal studies indicate that inflammatory processes may play a causal role in the developmental of depressive illness. While there may be multiple causal pathways through which inflammatory processes affect mood, activation of the kynurenine pathway is essential for the development of depression-like behavior in rodents. Studies of hepatitis C or cancer patients receiving treatment with inflammation-inducing medications show increased activation of the kynurenine pathway and decreased levels of tryptophan that correlate with inflammation-induced depression. Further, this treatment has been shown to lead to increased production of neurotoxic kynurenine pathway metabolites such as quinolinic acid (QA). Similarly, in non-medically ill patients with major depression, multiple studies have found activation of the kynurenine pathway and/or preferential activation of the neurotoxic (QA) pathway at the expense of the production of the NMDA antagonist, kynurenic acid. Initially, activation of the kynurenine pathway was believed to precipitate depressive symptoms by depleting brain serotonin, however, the weight of the evidence now suggests that an imbalance between neurotoxic and neuroprotective metabolites may be the principal driver of depression; conceivably via its effects on glutamatergic neurotransmission.

Keywords Depression • Glutamate • Hippocampus • Inflammation • Kynurenic acid • Kynurenine • Prefrontal cortex • Quinolinic acid • Tryptophan

J. Savitz (🖂)

Laureate Institute for Brain Research and Faculty of Community Medicine, The University of Tulsa, 6655 S. Yale Ave., Tulsa, OK 74136, USA e-mail: jsavitz@laureateinstitute.org

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 249–268 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_12 Published Online: 20 May 2016

Contents

1	Introduction	250
2	The Kynurenine Pathway and Its Role in Depressive Illness	252
3	Conclusion	259
Ret	References	

1 Introduction

Major depression has a lifetime prevalence of ~17% in the USA [1], is the second largest source of years lived with disability for Americans [2], significantly increases the risk of suicide [3], decreases life expectancy among people in the general adult population [4], and has been estimated to cost the economy \$200 billion [5]. Yet knowledge of this disorder's pathogenesis remains limited and the efficacy of existing treatments is modest. When a stringent criterion for treatment efficacy is used, namely that patients achieve "remission," (defined as having a depression rating scale score in the non-depressed range by study end), 1/3 of patients achieve remission on a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) compared to 1/4 on placebo giving a placebo-adjusted remission response rate of 10% [6]. There is thus a need to move beyond the monoaminergic model of depressive illness and study the pathophysiological mechanisms of depression within the context of new conceptual frameworks. One such framework that has gained traction over the last several years is the role of the immune system in depression.

Multiple lines of evidence indicate a depression-associated dysregulation of the immune system, particularly innate immunity, leading to an inflammatory-like profile in a proportion of cases with depressive illness. This phenomenon usually is described as "inflammation" in the psychiatric literature, a convention that will be used here with the caveat that evidence for cellular infiltration, the hallmark of inflammation, is minimal. Smith originally proposed the "macrophage theory" of depression which posited that pro-inflammatory cytokines induce depression by affecting hypothalamic function [7] and this theory subsequently was elaborated into the "macrophage-T-lymphocyte" model of depression to emphasize the potentially pathogenic effects of T-cells [8]. In the intervening years empirical findings have largely lent support to these original hypotheses. Specifically, the extant literature is characterized by reports of: (a) elevations of c-reactive protein (CRP) and/or circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines in major depressive disorder (MDD) [9, 10] and bipolar disorder (BD) [11-13], (b) the differential expression of inflammation-related genes in monocytes or peripheral blood mononuclear cells of subjects with mood disorders [14, 15], (c) the anti-inflammatory effect of certain classes of antidepressant medication [16], (d) the epidemiological association between depression and diseases with an autoimmune or inflammatory component [17-19], and (e) the antidepressant effects of anti-inflammatory medications [20, 21]. While these data are persuasive, there are three issues that are a matter of greater debate. Firstly, it is not yet clear if the associations between inflammatory mediators and depressive disorders are causal. Secondly, the question of whether depression is characterized by central inflammation as well as peripheral inflammation has not yet been answered, and thirdly the mechanisms by which inflammatory compounds putatively cause depressive illness is only partially understood.

Although it is certainly possible that inflammation is simply correlated with depression because of co-occurring medical illnesses or poor lifestyle behaviors (e.g., diet and exercise), there are several strands of research which suggest that in some cases inflammation may play an etiological role in depression. Dantzer and colleagues made the intriguing observation that rodents given lipopolysaccharide (LPS) to induce an inflammatory response, display sickness behavior, an evolutionary adaptation to conserve resources during infection that possesses a striking overlap with classic symptoms of depression such as anhedonia, social withdrawal, anorexia, and sleep disturbances [22-24]. Notably, these depressive behaviors remain present after sickness symptoms have resolved indicating that the effects of inflammation on depressive behaviors (e.g., increased immobility in the forced swim test) are not simply a consequence of decreased motor activity [22]. These experiments cannot be recapitulated in humans, but several groups have taken advantage of "natural" experiments in which non-depressed individuals with hepatitis C or melanoma are treated with interferon alpha (IFN α) or interleukin 2 (IL-2). It has been well established that immune-stimulating treatment of these patients induces a depressive episode in about 30-40% of patients [25-28]. Importantly, there is a temporal disjunction between the "psychological" and "physical" manifestations of this treatment, with the neurovegetative symptoms appearing within 1 week whereas the mood and cognitive symptoms peak 8-12 weeks postinitiation of treatment [29, 30]. Moreover, it is the mood and cognitive symptoms rather than the neurovegetative symptoms that are responsive to antidepressant treatment [29, 30]. Other researchers have administered the typhoid vaccine or low-dose endotoxin to healthy individuals and have demonstrated that a proportion of research participants develop transient mild depressive symptoms [31-33]. Finally, prospective studies have shown a positive association between CRP or interleukin 6 (IL-6) concentrations at baseline and the development of de novo cases of MDD [34, 35] or BD [36].

Regarding the issue of peripheral versus central inflammation, there are *post-mortem* data hinting at parenchymal alterations in immune function (Mechawar and Savitz, in review). Both mRNA and protein levels of TNF, IL-1, and IL-6 have been reported to be significantly increased in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) relative to matched controls [37], while a follow-up study showed that the toll-like receptors: TLR3 and TLR4 were significantly upregulated in the dorsolateral PFC of depressed suicides vs. non-depressed suicides [38]. Consistent with these data, Steiner et al. observed increased densities of HLA-DR-immunoreactive microglial cells in the dorsolateral PFC, anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), and mediodorsal thalamus in suicide victims [39]. Finally, and perhaps most intriguingly, Mechawar and colleagues found that samples from depressed suicides displayed significant

more blood vessels surrounded by a high density of IBA-immunoreactive macrophages than matched controls, conceivably reflecting increased recruitment of circulating bone marrow-derived monocytes in depressed suicides [40].

Although many of the inflammatory mediators discussed above may play an important role in the pathogenesis of depression (see [41, 42] for comprehensive reviews), here we concentrate on a key immuno-regulatory pathway, the kynurenine pathway which is upregulated by the inflammatory response. At least in animal models, two landmark papers showed that kynurenine pathway metabolites appear *necessary* for the induction of depression [43, 44]. That is, LPS does *not* cause depression-like behavior when the activation of the kynurenine pathway is genetically or pharmacologically blocked even when the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines remain elevated. Thus the kynurenine pathway may be central to the pathogenesis of depressive illness.

2 The Kynurenine Pathway and Its Role in Depressive Illness

Greater than 90% of tryptophan is metabolized into a group of metabolically related compounds termed the "kynurenines" [45] (Fig. 1). The first step in the pathway is the conversation of tryptophan to kynurenine by the enzyme, indoleamine 2,3 deoxygenase (*IDO1*¹). Pro-inflammatory cytokines, particularly type 1 interferons such as interferon gamma (IFN- γ), but also TNF and CD8+ cells are capable of upregulating *IDO1*, theoretically depriving microorganisms of tryptophan, an essential amino acid that they cannot synthesize [46]. Thus the ratio of kynurenine to tryptophan (KYN/TRP) is standardly used as a measure of *IDO1* activity.

As mentioned above O'Connor and colleagues demonstrated that *IDO1* activity within the brain is necessary for the manifestation of depression-like behavior in mice following intracerebroventricular administration of LPS by showing that the pro-depressive effects of LPS were blocked by genetic deletion or pharmacological inhibition of *IDO1* with 1-methyl-tryptophan (1-MT) [43]. Similarly, Kim et al. demonstrated that the induction of chronic pain in rats induces depressive-like behavior together with *IDO1* upregulation in the hippocampus (but not the thalamus or nucleus accumbens) and plasma via an IL-6 signal transduction pathway. Both the nociceptive and depression-like behavior could be attenuated by *IDO1* gene knockout or pharmacological inhibition of *IDO1* activity [47]. How does *IDO1* activation lead to depressive behavior?

Maes and colleagues initially demonstrated that hepatitis C patients receiving $IFN\alpha$ treatment showed an increase in depressive symptoms and kynurenine

 $^{^{1}}$ A second isoform of *IDO*, *IDO* 2 also exists but less is known about its function. Further, the enzyme, tryptophan-2,3-dioxygenase (TDO) which is produced in the liver, also catalyzes the conversion of tryptophan to kynurenine but is induced by tryptophan and glucocorticoids.



Fig. 1 During the inflammatory response, cytokines such as interferon gamma (IFN-γ) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF) upregulate the activity of indoleamine 2,3 deoxygenase (*IDO1*) catalyzing the breakdown of tryptophan into kynurenine at the expense of serotonin. Kynurenine is in turn metabolized along two main branches to form the putatively neuroprotective protein, kynurenic acid, or alternatively, the putatively neurotoxic metabolites 3-hydroxykynurenine and quinolinic acid. Under conditions of inflammation, the breakdown of kynurenine into 3-hydroxykynurenine by the enzyme, kynurenine monooxygenase (*KMO*) is favored over the production of kynurenic acid by the kynurenine aminotransferase (KAT) enzymes. Note that the metabolism pathway has been greatly simplified to illustrate how the main kynurenine metabolites differ from each other

pathway activation along with elevations in the "pro-inflammatory" cytokine, IL-8 [48]. At about the same time, Capuron et al. published a landmark paper showing that systemic administration of IL-2 and IFNα to cancer patients causes a decrease in tryptophan concentration over the course of therapy that is significantly correlated with increases in depressive symptoms [49]. Subsequently, the kynurenine pathway also has been shown to be more activated in medically ill patients with comorbid depression regardless of treatment with immune-modulating mediations [47, 50-52]. With respect to non-medical illness-related depression, Sublette et al. reported an elevation in the peripheral concentration of kynurenine in individuals with a past history of suicide attempts versus depressed individuals without suicide attempts [53]. Partially consistent with these data, a decrease in tryptophan together with an increase in KYN/TRP has been reported in depressed individuals with a history of suicide attempts or active suicidal ideation [54]. A recent metaanalysis also provides evidence for a decrease in peripheral tryptophan levels in depressed individuals although the effect size is small and the decrease in tryptophan could conceivably be related to dietary differences between depressed patients and healthy participants since not all measures were obtained after overnight fasting [55].

Since tryptophan is actively transported into the brain where it determines the rate of serotonin synthesis, Lapin and Oxenkrug [56] and subsequently Dantzer, Fuchs, Maes, and colleagues [49, 57] proposed that the depressive effects associated with activation of the kynurenine pathway resulted from a reduction in tryptophan levels and by extension serotonin production in the brain. Nevertheless, subsequent research has suggested that serotonin depletion is unlikely to be the mechanism responsible for the depressive effect of inflammatory stimuli. In fact, Dunn and Welch had originally demonstrated that LPS or IL-1 increases rather than decreases brain tryptophan and serotonin in mice [58], a result replicated more recently, O'Connor et al. showed that administration of LPS to rodents was found to cause an increase in kynurenine in the brains of mice, but also an increase in brain tryptophan and the turnover of brain serotonin, as measured by the ratio of 5-hydroxy-indoleacetic acid to serotonin [44]. Moreover, the depressive effects of LPS could be blocked with the anti-inflammatory agent, minocycline, or the IDO inhibitor, 1-methyl tryptophan (1MT), without affecting brain tryptophan and serotonin turnover [44]. Additionally, in patients with mood disorders, we consistently have found depression-associated changes in the relative concentrations of downstream kynurenine pathway metabolites in the absence of any significant changes in kynurenine and tryptophan concentrations [59–61] (see below).

If, however, activation of *IDO1* is necessary for the manifestation of the behavioral analogues of depression in preclinical work [43, 44], then what is the mechanism of action since kynurenine is not itself neuroactive? Myint and Kim proposed the "neurodegenerative" model which posited that it is the balance between neurodegenerative and neuroprotective metabolites or more specifically, the relative breakdown of kynurenine into kynurenic acid (KynA) versus 3-hydroxykynurenine (3HK) and its derivatives that is central to the pathogenesis of depressive illness [62].

Kynurenine is metabolized into either KynA by the kynurenine aminotransferase enzymes (*KAT*s) or 3HK by kynurenine monooxygenase (*KMO*); 3HK is in turn metabolized into several neuroactive compounds, including quinolinic acid (QA) (Fig. 1). The KynA and QA branches of the kynurenine pathway are believed to be physiologically separated. Astrocytes, which express the *KAT*s but not *KMO*, produce KynA while 3-HK and its downstream metabolites are synthesized in microglia or macrophages [45, 63, 64]. Possibly because QA in the brain is produced by microglia and infiltrating macrophage cells, under inflammatory conditions, the brain formation of QA predominates over KynA [65, 66]. Given the mutually exclusive breakdown of kynurenine into either KynA or alternatively 3HK and its derivatives, it is not surprising that the metabolites of the two different branches of the kynurenine pathway appear to have distinctive physiological effects.

Although a potentially simplistic model of a complicated biological system, at least *in the context of depressive disorders*, KynA appears to be neuroprotective while 3HK and QA appear to be neurotoxic [60, 67, 68]. KynA is a ionotropic

astrocyte-derived metabolite that acts as an endogenous competitive antagonist of ionotrophic excitatory amino acid receptors including the NMDA receptor where it blocks the glycine co-agonist site [69]. In addition, KynA is an α 7 nicotinic receptor *antagonist*, an orphan G-protein-coupled receptor (GPR35) *agonist*, an aryl hydro-carbon receptor (AHR) *agonist*, and an enhancer of nerve growth factor (NGF) expression, potentially regulating the inflammatory response together with glutamatergic, cholinergic, and dopaminergic neurotransmission [70]. Moreover, there are some data to suggest that KynA is an antioxidant and free radical scavenger [71]. Broadly consistent with these data, Schwarcz and colleagues found that *KAT II* knockout mice which received intrastriatal injections of QA developed larger striatal lesions than wild-type animals [72]. Conversely, an elevation in KynA by nicotinylalanine administration produces a dose-related attenuation of QA-induced loss of striatal neurons in rats [73].

In contrast, 3HK is a free radical generator and has been reported to impair mitochondrial function, induce DNA damage and trigger apoptosis [74]. In vitro work has demonstrated that the administration of pharmacological doses of 3HK may kill hippocampal neurons [75] and cortical neurons [76], perhaps explaining why levels of 3HK have been reported to be elevated in the serum of Alzheimer's disease patients [77] and in the brains of Parkinson's disease [78] patients *postmortem*.

QA is a known neurotoxin and gliotoxin [45, 46, 79]. Elevated concentrations of OA have been reported in both the serum and the CSF of patients with neurodegenerative and inflammatory disorders such as Alzheimer's disease and systemic lupus erythematosus patients with neuropsychiatric symptoms [80, 81]. Congruent with the heuristic model of neurotoxic QA-pathway metabolites and neuroprotective KynA [62, 79, 82], pharmacological inhibition of KMO is neuroprotective in animal models of cerebral ischemia [83]. The biological mechanisms underlying the neurotoxic effects of QA have been reviewed in detail by Guillemin [46] who describes several potential mechanisms of action that in combination may lead to oxidative stress and neurotoxicity. (1) Activation of NMDA receptors. (2) Potentiation of neuronal glutamate release, inhibition of the reuptake of glutamate by astrocytes, and inhibition of astroglial glutamine synthetase potentially leading to excitotoxicity. (3) Formation of protein complexes with iron leading to the generation of reactive oxygen species and lipid peroxidation. (4) Disruption of the blood brain barrier especially in the region of the striatum and hippocampus. (5) Induction of neuronal nitric oxide synthase leading to increased production of nitric oxide. (6) Phosphorylation of neurofilament subunits and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in astrocytes, leading to destabilization of the cellular cytoskeleton. (7) Promotion of tau phosphorylation. (8) Disruption of autophagy. Further, QA has the ability to initiate an inflammatory response or augment existing disease-associated inflammation by enhancing the production of pro-inflammatory proteins [70].

Clearly it is conceivable that neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites such as 3HK and QA may be one pathway through which inflammation affects brain structure and function, leading to depressive illness. However, is there any direct evidence

for this hypothesis? The answer is "yes" although more work needs to be performed to resolve inconsistencies in the literature. As discussed above, the depressogenic effects of IFN α initially were attributed to the activation of *IDO1* and the reduction in tryptophan and serotonin. However, Maes and colleagues first raised the possibility that downstream kynurenine metabolites may be exerting neurotoxic and depressogenic effects. Specifically, Wichers et al. showed that IFNa treatment increased the ratio of plasma kynurenine to KynA was (indicating preferential activation of the QA-pathway) in conjunction with the development of depressive symptoms [84]. Subsequently, Raison et al. reported that both KynA and QA were elevated in the CSF, but not plasma, of IFNα-treated hepatitis C patients although it was the CSF concentrations of QA that were most strongly correlated (positively) with depressive symptoms [85]. Consistent with these data, a more recent study found that the plasma concentrations of QA at 6 and 9 months post-initiation of IFN α treatment for hepatitis C were positively correlated with depression rating scale scores at these times [86]. Georgin-Lavialle et al. recently studied a rare disease called mastocytosis which is characterized by chronic symptoms, including depression, as a result of mast cell accumulation and activation [87]. Compared with controls, patients had lower levels of tryptophan, and increased activity of *IDO1* that were associated with higher perceived stress and depression scores. Importantly, the authors also showed that kynurenine metabolism was preferentially oriented towards OA, with an increase in the OA/KYN ratio in patients that was significantly larger than the increase in the KynA/KYN ratio [87].

Reductions in plasma KynA have been found in patients with primary MDD [68] and depressive-spectrum illness [88], although these studies did not specifically measure metabolites in the QA branch of the pathway and thus no information is available concerning the balance in metabolism between the KynA and QA branches. Our group has, however, consistently found evidence for an imbalance in the synthesis of KynA versus QA-pathway metabolites in depressive illness, i.e., a reduction in serum KynA/3HK and/or KynA/QA in both currently depressed and remitted individuals with MDD [60, 61] and football players with depressive symptoms following concussion [89]. Importantly, we also detected a positive correlation between KynA/QA and the number of months remitted individuals with MDD were depression-free [61], a negative relationship between KynA/QA and symptoms of anhedonia [61], while higher QA and lower KynA/QA at 1-month post-concussion were associated with a worse concussion outcome, defined as number of days until return-to-play [89]. Consistent with our data, a recent study reported persistent decreases in KynA and increases in QA in the cerebrospinal fluid of predominantly depressed subjects up to 2 years after a suicide attempt [67].

Intriguingly, we also have demonstrated that the balance between the KynA pathway versus QA-pathway is associated with brain structure and function in patients with depression. Initially we reported that putative "neuroprotective indices," i.e., the ratio of KynA/3HK and/or KynA/QA was associated with larger hippocampal and/or amygdalar volumes in unmedicated individuals with MDD [60], concussed athletes with symptoms of depression [90], and both unmedicated and medicated individuals with BD [59] (Fig. 2a, b). These data are important



Fig. 2 (a) Representative example of the segmentation of the hippocampus by FreeSurfer (*red mask*) shown in the sagittal plane. (b) Scatterplots showing the correlation between KynA/3HK and the volume of the hippocampus in the unmedicated (*blue circles*) and medicated (*yellow squares*) participants with bipolar depression. (c) Coronal anatomical MRI slice showing the left hippocampal mask overlay and the percent signal change in the left hippocampus during specific autobiographical memory recall and example generation in the MDD (*blue*) and healthy control (*green*) groups. (d) Scatterplot showing the correlation between KynA/3HK and activity of the left hippocampus during specific autobiographical memory recall in the MDD group

because a reduction in hippocampal volume, which is thought to be caused by dendritic atrophy [91-93], is one of the best-replicated findings in biological psychiatry [94–97]. Further, in a follow-up study we replicated previous work showing that depressed patients were less successful at retrieving autobiographical memories than controls and that this deficit in performance was associated with increased left hippocampal activity (indicating more effortful processing) during the recall of positive and negative memories (Fig. 2c). Importantly, we found that KynA/3HK was inversely associated with left hippocampal activity during specific autobiographical memory recall in participants with MDD (Fig. 2d), indicating that a greater "neuroprotective index" was associated with better hippocampal function (Young et al. in review). Our finding also relates to the preclinical work of Heisler and O'Connor who demonstrated that mice deficient in IDO1 or KMO were protected from endotoxin-induced deficits in novel object recognition, a task that is dependent on normal function of the hippocampus [98]. Our data thus suggest that an elevation of neurotoxic metabolites might be one possible source of the hippocampal pathology and cognitive deficits associated with depression.

This pathophysiological relationship also may extend to other regions of the brain. We recently showed that compared with healthy controls, MDD patients showed a reduction in cortical thickness of the right medial PFC (BA24 and BA32), and further, that both KynA/3HK and KynA/QA ratios at least partially mediated the relationship between diagnosis and cortical thickness of the right BA32 [99]. This finding is consistent with a *postmortem* immunohistochemistry study showing that a mixed sample of MDD and BD subjects had increased QA-positive cell densities in the anterior mid-cingulate cortex and subgenual ACC, suggesting microglial cell activation in these regions of the PFC [100].

In the case of bipolar depression, specifically, the findings are more variable. Similar to our findings in MDD, we reported reductions in serum KynA/QA and KvnA/3HK in both unmedicated and medicated depressed subjects with bipolar depression [101]. Partially consistent with our data, Myint and colleagues [102] reported a reduction in plasma KvnA levels in manic patients relative to healthy controls while an ex vivo study of skin fibroblasts derived from bipolar depression subjects found disproportionate elevations in 3HK relative to KynA after stimulation with pro-inflammatory cytokines [103]. Further, in 23 patients with either MDD or BD treated twice weekly with electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) over 6 weeks, KYN/TRP, KynA, and KynA/3HK increased over time compared to baseline [104]. This finding raises the possibility that a shift in balance towards molecules such as KynA, with potential neuroprotective properties may mediate the antidepressant effects of ECT. In contrast, Olsson et al. reported that KynA concentrations in the CSF of medicated, euthymic males with BD were elevated versus healthy controls [105], and the elevation in KynA was associated with a history of psychotic episodes [106]. In addition, Lavebratt et al. [107] found a reduction in the *postmortem* expression of the enzyme, *KMO* (implying a possible increase in KynA versus 3HK) in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortices of BD patients with a history of psychosis.

Given the data that QA impairs astrocyte function and glutamate recycling [46], it may be relevant that *postmortem* studies examining the expression of the astrocyte-specific intermediate filament GFAP have consistently reported it to be significantly decreased in depressed cases versus controls in the PFC [108–110]. Moreover, other astrocyte-specific genes such as the tropomyosin-related kinase B receptor (TrkB.1) isoform [111] and connexins 43 and 30 [112, 113] also are significantly downregulated in the PFC of suicide completers. In addition, decreased glutamine synthetase expression has been reported in the amygdala and PFC of suicide completers [114, 115]. Glutamate is converted into glutamine by glutamine synthetase and glutamine is in turn delivered to neurons where it is re-converted into glutamate. Thus evidence of decreased expression of glutamine synthetase in *postmortem* samples from individuals with a history of depression, potentially, is consistent with elevations of QA in the brains of these individuals.

These data together with the opposing effects of KynA and QA on the NMDA receptor raise the possibility that activation of the kynurenine pathway ultimately affects depressive symptoms and behavior by altering glutamatergic rather than serotonergic neurotransmission as originally believed [116, 117]. Direct evidence

for this hypothesis was provided by Dantzer and colleagues. Mice given LPS showed significant increases in 3HK, 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid (a metabolite of 3HK), and OA (but not KynA) in the brain along with sickness and depression-like behavior [66]. Pretreatment with the NMDA antagonist, ketamine, had no effect on sickness behavior, inflammatory cytokines or kynurenine metabolites, but blocked the LPS-induced depression-like behavior [66]. In humans, Haroon, Miller, and colleagues have published several papers demonstrating that inflammation is associated with increased glutamate in the context of depression. Using a quasiexperimental design, this group employed single-voxel magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) to measure glutamate concentrations normalized to creatine (Glu/Cr) in the dorsal ACC (dACC) and basal ganglia of hepatitis C patients before and after either no treatment or treatment with IFN α [118]. Treatment with IFN α led to an increase in Glu/Cr in the dACC and left (but not right) basal ganglia and the change in Glu/Cr in the left basal ganglia was associated with a decrease in motivation [118]. In a follow-up, cross-sectional study of unmedicated patients with major depression, the authors showed a positive correlation between Glu/Cr in the left basal ganglia (but not dACC) and plasma CRP concentrations [119]. Unfortunately, kynurenine pathway metabolites were not analyzed in these studies and thus it is unclear if the inflammation-associated changes in glutamate were associated with activation of the kynurenine pathway.

3 Conclusion

Depression is a pathophysiologically and etiologically heterogeneous disorder. At least a subgroup of individuals – perhaps on the order of 30% of patients [120] – show evidence of inflammation, and preclinical, quasi-experimental, and longitudinal studies suggest that inflammatory processes may play a causal role in the developmental of depressive illness. While there may be multiple causal pathways through which inflammatory processes affect mood, the animal literature suggests that activation of the kynurenine pathway is essential for the development of depression-like behavior in rodents. Studies of hepatitis C or cancer patients receiving treatment with IFN α or IL-2 show increased activity of *IDO1* and decreased levels of tryptophan that appear to correlate with inflammation-induced depression. Further, this treatment has been shown to lead to preferential activation of the QA-pathway over the KynA pathway. Similarly, in non-medically ill patients with major depression, multiple studies have found activation of the kynurenine pathway and/or preferential activation of the QA-pathway. Initially, activation of the kynurenine pathway was believed to precipitate depressive symptoms by depleting serotonin, however, the weight of the evidence now suggests that an imbalance between neurotoxic and neuroprotective metabolites may be the principal driver of depression; conceivably via its effects on glutamatergic neurotransmission.

References

- Kessler RC, Petukhova M, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, Wittchen HU (2012) Twelve-month and lifetime prevalence and lifetime morbid risk of anxiety and mood disorders in the United States. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 21:169–184. doi:10.1002/mpr.1359
- Global Burden of Disease Study C (2015) Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 386:743–800. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60692-4
- Bostwick JM, Pankratz VS (2000) Affective disorders and suicide risk: a reexamination. Am J Psychiatry 157:1925–1932. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.157.12.1925
- Zivin K, Yosef M, Miller EM, Valenstein M, Duffy S, Kales HC, Vijan S, Kim HM (2015) Associations between depression and all-cause and cause-specific risk of death: a retrospective cohort study in the Veterans Health Administration. J Psychosom Res 78:324–331. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015.01.014
- Greenberg PE, Fournier AA, Sisitsky T, Pike CT, Kessler RC (2015) The economic burden of adults with major depressive disorder in the United States (2005 and 2010). J Clin Psychiatry 76:155–162. doi:10.4088/JCP.14m09298
- 6. Thase ME, Entsuah AR, Rudolph RL (2001) Remission rates during treatment with venlafaxine or selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Br J Psychiatry 178:234–241
- 7. Smith RS (1991) The macrophage theory of depression. Med Hypotheses 35:298-306
- Maes M, Smith R, Scharpe S (1995) The monocyte-T-lymphocyte hypothesis of major depression. Psychoneuroendocrinology 20:111–116
- Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W, Liu H, Sham L, Reim EK, Lanctot KL (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67:446–457
- Howren MB, Lamkin DM, Suls J (2009) Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 71:171–186
- Dargel AA, Godin O, Kapczinski F, Kupfer DJ, Leboyer M (2015) C-reactive protein alterations in bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 76:142–150. doi:10.4088/ JCP.14r09007
- Modabbernia A, Taslimi S, Brietzke E, Ashrafi M (2013) Cytokine alterations in bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis of 30 studies. Biol Psychiatry 74:15–25. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych. 2013.01.007
- Munkholm K, Brauner JV, Kessing LV, Vinberg M (2013) Cytokines in bipolar disorder vs. healthy control subjects: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychiatr Res 47:1119–1133. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.018
- 14. Padmos RC, Hillegers MH, Knijff EM, Vonk R, Bouvy A, Staal FJ, de Ridder D, Kupka RW, Nolen WA, Drexhage HA (2008) A discriminating messenger RNA signature for bipolar disorder formed by an aberrant expression of inflammatory genes in monocytes. Arch Gen Psychiatry 65:395–407
- 15. Savitz J, Frank MB, Victor T, Bebak M, Marino JH, Bellgowan PS, McKinney BA, Bodurka J, Kent Teague T, Drevets WC (2013) Inflammation and neurological diseaserelated genes are differentially expressed in depressed patients with mood disorders and correlate with morphometric and functional imaging abnormalities. Brain Behav Immun 31:161–171. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.10.007
- 16. Hannestad J, DellaGioia N, Bloch M (2011) The effect of antidepressant medication treatment on serum levels of inflammatory cytokines: a meta-analysis. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:2452–2459. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.132
- 17. Dalton EJ, Heinrichs RW (2005) Depression in multiple sclerosis: a quantitative review of the evidence. Neuropsychology 19:152–158. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.19.2.152
- Nouwen A, Winkley K, Twisk J, Lloyd CE, Peyrot M, Ismail K, Pouwer F (2010) Type 2 diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for the onset of depression: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Diabetologia. doi:10.1007/s00125-010-1874-x

- Van der Kooy K, van Hout H, Marwijk H, Marten H, Stehouwer C, Beekman A (2007) Depression and the risk for cardiovascular diseases: systematic review and meta analysis. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 22:613–626. doi:10.1002/gps.1723
- Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ, Shuo C, Schettler P, Drake DF, Haroon E, Miller AH (2013) A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. JAMA Psychiatry 70:31–41. doi:10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.4
- Savitz J, Preskorn S, Teague TK, Drevets D, Yates W, Drevets W (2012) Minocycline and aspirin in the treatment of bipolar depression: a protocol for a proof-of-concept, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 2x2 clinical trial. BMJ Open 2, e000643. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2011-000643
- 22. Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:46–56
- Kent S, Bluthe RM, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (1992) Sickness behavior as a new target for drug development. Trends Pharmacol Sci 13:24–28
- 24. Yirmiya R (1996) Endotoxin produces a depressive-like episode in rats. Brain Res 711:163-174
- 25. Bonaccorso S, Puzella A, Marino V, Pasquini M, Biondi M, Artini M, Almerighi C, Levrero M, Egyed B, Bosmans E, Meltzer HY, Maes M (2001) Immunotherapy with interferon-alpha in patients affected by chronic hepatitis C induces an intercorrelated stimulation of the cytokine network and an increase in depressive and anxiety symptoms. Psychiatry Res 105:45–55
- Capuron L, Hauser P, Hinze-Selch D, Miller AH, Neveu PJ (2002) Treatment of cytokineinduced depression. Brain Behav Immun 16:575–580
- 27. Capuron L, Raison CL, Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Nemeroff CB, Miller AH (2003) Association of exaggerated HPA axis response to the initial injection of interferon-alpha with development of depression during interferon-alpha therapy. Am J Psychiatry 160:1342–1345
- Wichers M, Maes M (2002) The psychoneuroimmuno-pathophysiology of cytokine-induced depression in humans. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 5:375–388
- Capuron L, Miller AH (2004) Cytokines and psychopathology: lessons from interferon-alpha. Biol Psychiatry 56:819–824. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.02.009
- Capuron L, Miller AH (2011) Immune system to brain signaling: neuropsychopharmacological implications. Pharmacol Ther 130:226–238. doi:10.1016/j. pharmthera.2011.01.014
- Eisenberger NI, Berkman ET, Inagaki TK, Rameson LT, Mashal NM, Irwin MR (2010) Inflammation-induced anhedonia: endotoxin reduces ventral striatum responses to reward. Biol Psychiatry 68:748–754. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.06.010
- 32. Hannestad J, Subramanyam K, Dellagioia N, Planeta-Wilson B, Weinzimmer D, Pittman B, Carson RE (2012) Glucose metabolism in the insula and cingulate is affected by systemic inflammation in humans. J Nucl Med 53:601–607. doi:10.2967/jnumed.111.097014
- 33. Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Critchley HD (2009) Inflammation causes mood changes through alterations in subgenual cingulate activity and mesolimbic connectivity. Biol Psychiatry 66:407–414. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.03.015
- 34. Khandaker GM, Pearson RM, Zammit S, Lewis G, Jones PB (2014) Association of serum interleukin 6 and C-reactive protein in childhood with depression and psychosis in young adult life: a population-based longitudinal study. JAMA Psychiatry. doi:10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2014.1332
- Pasco JA, Nicholson GC, Williams LJ, Jacka FN, Henry MJ, Kotowicz MA, Schneider HG, Leonard BE, Berk M (2010) Association of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein with de novo major depression. Br J Psychiatry 197:372–377. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.109.076430

- Wium-Andersen MK, Orsted DD, Nordestgaard BG (2015) Elevated C-reactive protein and late-onset bipolar disorder in 78,809 individuals from the general population. Br J Psychiatry. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.114.150870
- 37. Pandey GN, Rizavi HS, Ren X, Fareed J, Hoppensteadt DA, Roberts RC, Conley RR, Dwivedi Y (2012) Proinflammatory cytokines in the prefrontal cortex of teenage suicide victims. J Psychiatr Res 46:57–63. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.08.006
- Pandey GN, Rizavi HS, Ren X, Bhaumik R, Dwivedi Y (2014) Toll-like receptors in the depressed and suicide brain. J Psychiatr Res 53:62–68. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.01.021
- 39. Steiner J, Bielau H, Brisch R, Danos P, Ullrich O, Mawrin C, Bernstein HG, Bogerts B (2008) Immunological aspects in the neurobiology of suicide: elevated microglial density in schizophrenia and depression is associated with suicide. J Psychiatr Res 42:151–157
- 40. Torres-Platas SG, Cruceanu C, Chen GG, Turecki G, Mechawar N (2014) Evidence for increased microglial priming and macrophage recruitment in the dorsal anterior cingulate white matter of depressed suicides. Brain Behav Immun 42:50–59. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014. 05.007
- Felger JC, Lotrich FE (2013) Inflammatory cytokines in depression: neurobiological mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Neuroscience 246:199–229. doi:10.1016/j.neurosci ence.2013.04.060
- 42. Miller AH, Raison CL (2015) The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. Nat Rev Immunol 16:22–34. doi:10.1038/nri.2015.5
- Lawson MA, Parrott JM, McCusker RH, Dantzer R, Kelley KW, O'Connor JC (2013) Intracerebroventricular administration of lipopolysaccharide induces indoleamine-2,3dioxygenase-dependent depression-like behaviors. J Neuroinflammation 10:87. doi:10. 1186/1742-2094-10-87
- 44. O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Andre C, Moreau M, Lestage J, Castanon N, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2009) Lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior is mediated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activation in mice. Mol Psychiatry 14:511–522. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4002148
- 45. Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ (2012) Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 13:465–477. doi:10.1038/nrn3257
- 46. Guillemin GJ (2012) Quinolinic acid, the inescapable neurotoxin. FEBS J 279:1356–1365. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08485.x
- 47. Kim H, Chen L, Lim G, Sung B, Wang S, McCabe MF, Rusanescu G, Yang L, Tian Y, Mao J (2012) Brain indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase contributes to the comorbidity of pain and depression. J Clin Invest 122:2940–2954. doi:10.1172/JCI61884
- 48. Maes M, Bonaccorso S, Marino V, Puzella A, Pasquini M, Biondi M, Artini M, Almerighi C, Meltzer H (2001) Treatment with interferon-alpha (IFN alpha) of hepatitis C patients induces lower serum dipeptidyl peptidase IV activity, which is related to IFN alpha-induced depressive and anxiety symptoms and immune activation. Mol Psychiatry 6:475–480. doi:10.1038/ sj.mp.4000872
- 49. Capuron L, Ravaud A, Neveu PJ, Miller AH, Maes M, Dantzer R (2002) Association between decreased serum tryptophan concentrations and depressive symptoms in cancer patients undergoing cytokine therapy. Mol Psychiatry 7:468–473. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4000995
- Botwinick IC, Pursell L, Yu G, Cooper T, Mann JJ, Chabot JA (2014) A biological basis for depression in pancreatic cancer. HPB (Oxford) 16:740–743. doi:10.1111/hpb.12201
- 51. Martinez P, Tsai AC, Muzoora C, Kembabazi A, Weiser SD, Huang Y, Haberer JE, Martin JN, Bangsberg DR, Hunt PW (2014) Reversal of the kynurenine pathway of tryptophan catabolism may improve depression in ART-treated HIV-infected Ugandans. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 65:456–462. doi:10.1097/QAI.0000000000000062
- 52. Nikkheslat N, Zunszain PA, Horowitz MA, Barbosa IG, Parker JA, Myint AM, Schwarz MJ, Tylee AT, Carvalho LA, Pariante CM (2015) Insufficient glucocorticoid signaling and elevated inflammation in coronary heart disease patients with comorbid depression. Brain Behav Immun 48:8–18. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.02.002

- Sublette ME, Galfalvy HC, Fuchs D, Lapidus M, Grunebaum MF, Oquendo MA, Mann JJ, Postolache TT (2011) Plasma kynurenine levels are elevated in suicide attempters with major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 25:1272–1278. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2011.05.002
- 54. Bradley KA, Case JA, Khan O, Ricart T, Hanna A, Alonso CM, Gabbay V (2015) The role of the kynurenine pathway in suicidality in adolescent major depressive disorder. Psychiatry Res 227:206–212. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015.03.031
- 55. Ogawa S, Fujii T, Koga N, Hori H, Teraishi T, Hattori K, Noda T, Higuchi T, Motohashi N, Kunugi H (2014) Plasma L-tryptophan concentration in major depressive disorder: new data and meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 75:e906–915. doi:10.4088/JCP.13r08908
- 56. Lapin IP, Oxenkrug GF (1969) Intensification of the central serotonergic processes as a possible determinant of the thymoleptic effect. Lancet 1:132–136
- 57. Widner B, Laich A, Sperner-Unterweger B, Ledochowski M, Fuchs D (2002) Neopterin production, tryptophan degradation, and mental depression what is the link? Brain Behav Immun 16:590–595
- Dunn AJ, Welch J (1991) Stress- and endotoxin-induced increases in brain tryptophan and serotonin metabolism depend on sympathetic nervous system activity. J Neurochem 57:1615–1622
- 59. Savitz J, Dantzer R, Wurfel BE, Victor TA, Ford BN, Bodurka J, Bellgowan PS, Teague TK, Drevets WC (2015) Neuroprotective kynurenine metabolite indices are abnormally reduced and positively associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volume in bipolar disorder. Psychoneuroendocrinology 52:200–211. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.11.015
- 60. Savitz J, Drevets WC, Smith CM, Victor TA, Wurfel BE, Bellgowan PS, Bodurka J, Teague TK, Dantzer R (2015) Putative neuroprotective and neurotoxic kynurenine pathway metabolites are associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in subjects with major depressive disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 40:463–471. doi:10.1038/npp.2014.194
- 61. Savitz J, Drevets WC, Wurfel BE, Ford BN, Bellgowan PS, Victor TA, Bodurka J, Teague TK, Dantzer R (2015) Reduction of kynurenic acid to quinolinic acid ratio in both the depressed and remitted phases of major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 46:55–59. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.02.007
- 62. Myint AM, Kim YK (2003) Cytokine-serotonin interaction through IDO: a neurodegeneration hypothesis of depression. Med Hypotheses 61:519–525
- 63. Guillemin GJ, Smythe G, Takikawa O, Brew BJ (2005) Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and production of quinolinic acid by human microglia, astrocytes, and neurons. Glia 49:15–23. doi:10.1002/glia.20090
- Heyes MP, Achim CL, Wiley CA, Major EO, Saito K, Markey SP (1996) Human microglia convert l-tryptophan into the neurotoxin quinolinic acid. Biochem J 320(Pt 2):595–597
- 65. Saito K, Markey SP, Heyes MP (1992) Effects of immune activation on quinolinic acid and neuroactive kynurenines in the mouse. Neuroscience 51:25–39
- 66. Walker AK, Budac DP, Bisulco S, Lee AW, Smith RA, Beenders B, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2013) NMDA receptor blockade by ketamine abrogates lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior in C57BL/6J mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:1609–1616. doi:10. 1038/npp.2013.71
- 67. Bay-Richter C, Linderholm KR, Lim CK, Samuelsson M, Traskman-Bendz L, Guillemin GJ, Erhardt S, Brundin L (2015) A role for inflammatory metabolites as modulators of the glutamate N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor in depression and suicidality. Brain Behav Immun 43:110–117. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.07.012
- Myint AM, Kim YK, Verkerk R, Scharpe S, Steinbusch H, Leonard B (2007) Kynurenine pathway in major depression: evidence of impaired neuroprotection. J Affect Disord 98:143–151. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2006.07.013
- 69. Birch PJ, Grossman CJ, Hayes AG (1988) Kynurenic acid antagonises responses to NMDA via an action at the strychnine-insensitive glycine receptor. Eur J Pharmacol 154:85–87

- 70. Stone TW, Stoy N, Darlington LG (2013) An expanding range of targets for kynurenine metabolites of tryptophan. Trends Pharmacol Sci 34:136–143. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2012.09. 006
- 71. Lugo-Huitron R, Blanco-Ayala T, Ugalde-Muniz P, Carrillo-Mora P, Pedraza-Chaverri J, Silva-Adaya D, Maldonado PD, Torres I, Pinzon E, Ortiz-Islas E, Lopez T, Garcia E, Pineda B, Torres-Ramos M, Santamaria A, La Cruz VP (2011) On the antioxidant properties of kynurenic acid: free radical scavenging activity and inhibition of oxidative stress. Neurotoxicol Teratol 33:538–547. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2011.07.002
- 72. Sapko MT, Guidetti P, Yu P, Tagle DA, Pellicciari R, Schwarcz R (2006) Endogenous kynurenate controls the vulnerability of striatal neurons to quinolinate: implications for Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol 197:31–40. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2005.07.004
- Harris CA, Miranda AF, Tanguay JJ, Boegman RJ, Beninger RJ, Jhamandas K (1998) Modulation of striatal quinolinate neurotoxicity by elevation of endogenous brain kynurenic acid. Br J Pharmacol 124:391–399. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0701834
- 74. Colin-Gonzalez AL, Maldonado PD, Santamaria A (2013) 3-Hydroxykynurenine: an intriguing molecule exerting dual actions in the central nervous system. Neurotoxicology 34:189–204. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2012.11.007
- 75. Okuda S, Nishiyama N, Saito H, Katsuki H (1996) Hydrogen peroxide-mediated neuronal cell death induced by an endogenous neurotoxin, 3-hydroxykynurenine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:12553–12558
- 76. Chiarugi A, Meli E, Moroni F (2001) Similarities and differences in the neuronal death processes activated by 3OH-kynurenine and quinolinic acid. J Neurochem 77:1310–1318
- Schwarz MJ, Guillemin GJ, Teipel SJ, Buerger K, Hampel H (2013) Increased 3-hydroxykynurenine serum concentrations differentiate Alzheimer's disease patients from controls. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 263:345–352. doi:10.1007/s00406-012-0384-x
- Ogawa T, Matson WR, Beal MF, Myers RH, Bird ED, Milbury P, Saso S (1992) Kynurenine pathway abnormalities in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 42:1702–1706
- 79. Stone TW, Forrest CM, Darlington LG (2012) Kynurenine pathway inhibition as a therapeutic strategy for neuroprotection. FEBS J 279:1386–1397. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012. 08487.x
- Ting KK, Brew BJ, Guillemin GJ (2009) Effect of quinolinic acid on human astrocytes morphology and functions: implications in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuroinflammation 6:36. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-6-36
- Vogelgesang SA, Heyes MP, West SG, Salazar AM, Sfikakis PP, Lipnick RN, Klipple GL, Tsokos GC (1996) Quinolinic acid in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and neuropsychiatric manifestations. J Rheumatol 23:850–855
- Amaral M, Levy C, Heyes DJ, Lafite P, Outeiro TF, Giorgini F, Leys D, Scrutton NS (2013) Structural basis of kynurenine 3-monooxygenase inhibition. Nature 496:382–385. doi:10. 1038/nature12039
- Moroni F, Carpenedo R, Cozzi A, Meli E, Chiarugi A, Pellegrini-Giampietro DE (2003) Studies on the neuroprotective action of kynurenine mono-oxygenase inhibitors in postischemic brain damage. Adv Exp Med Biol 527:127–136
- 84. Wichers MC, Koek GH, Robaeys G, Verkerk R, Scharpe S, Maes M (2005) IDO and interferon-alpha-induced depressive symptoms: a shift in hypothesis from tryptophan depletion to neurotoxicity. Mol Psychiatry 10:538–544
- Raison CL, Dantzer R, Kelley KW, Lawson MA, Woolwine BJ, Vogt G, Spivey JR, Saito K, Miller AH (2010) CSF concentrations of brain tryptophan and kynurenines during immune stimulation with IFN-alpha: relationship to CNS immune responses and depression. Mol Psychiatry 15:393–403. doi:10.1038/mp.2009.116
- 86. Baranyi A, Meinitzer A, Breitenecker RJ, Amouzadeh-Ghadikolai O, Stauber R, Rothenhausler HB (2015) Quinolinic acid responses during interferon-alpha-induced depressive symptomatology in patients with chronic hepatitis C infection – a novel aspect for

depression and inflammatory hypothesis. PLoS One 10:e0137022. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0137022

- 87. Georgin-Lavialle S, Moura DS, Salvador A, Chauvet-Gelinier JC, Launay JM, Damaj G, Cote F, Soucie E, Chandesris MO, Barete S, Grandpeix-Guyodo C, Bachmeyer C, Alyanakian MA, Aouba A, Lortholary O, Dubreuil P, Teyssier JR, Trojak B, Haffen E, Vandel P, Bonin B, French Mast Cell Study G, Hermine O, Gaillard R (2016) Mast cells' involvement in inflammation pathways linked to depression: evidence in mastocytosis. Mol Psychiatry. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.216
- 88. Maes M, Galecki P, Verkerk R, Rief W (2011) Somatization, but not depression, is characterized by disorders in the tryptophan catabolite (TRYCAT) pathway, indicating increased indolearnine 2,3-dioxygenase and lowered kynurenine aminotransferase activity. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 32:264–273
- Singh R, Savitz J, Teague TK, Polanski DW, Mayer AR, Bellgowan PS, Meier TB (2015) Mood symptoms correlate with kynurenine pathway metabolites following sports-related concussion. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2015-311369
- 90. Meier TB, Savitz J, Singh R, Teague TK, Bellgowan PS (2016) Smaller dentate gyrus and CA2 and CA3 volumes are associated with kynurenine metabolites in collegiate football athletes. J Neurotrauma. doi:10.1089/neu.2015.4118
- Cobb JA, Simpson J, Mahajan GJ, Overholser JC, Jurjus GJ, Dieter L, Herbst N, May W, Rajkowska G, Stockmeier CA (2013) Hippocampal volume and total cell numbers in major depressive disorder. J Psychiatr Res 47:299–306. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.10.020
- 92. Gosche KM, Mortimer JA, Smith CD, Markesbery WR, Snowdon DA (2002) Hippocampal volume as an index of Alzheimer neuropathology: findings from the Nun study. Neurology 58:1476–1482
- Stockmeier CA, Mahajan GJ, Konick LC, Overholser JC, Jurjus GJ, Meltzer HY, Uylings HB, Friedman L, Rajkowska G (2004) Cellular changes in the postmortem hippocampus in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 56:640–650
- 94. Arnone D, Job D, Selvaraj S, Abe O, Amico F, Cheng Y, Colloby SJ, O'Brien JT, Frodl T, Gotlib IH, Ham BJ, Kim MJ, Koolschijn PC, Perico CA, Salvadore G, Thomas AJ, Van Tol MJ, van der Wee NJ, Veltman DJ, Wagner G, McIntosh AM (2016) Computational metaanalysis of statistical parametric maps in major depression. Hum Brain Mapp. doi:10.1002/ hbm.23108
- Kempton MJ, Salvador Z, Munafo MR, Geddes JR, Simmons A, Frangou S, Williams SC (2011) Structural neuroimaging studies in major depressive disorder. Meta-analysis and comparison with bipolar disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 68:675–690. doi:10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2011.60
- 96. Savitz J, Drevets WC (2009) Bipolar and major depressive disorder: neuroimaging the developmental-degenerative divide. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 33:699–771. doi:10.1016/j. neubiorev.2009.01.004
- Savitz JB, Drevets WC (2009) Imaging phenotypes of major depressive disorder: genetic correlates. Neuroscience 164:300–330. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.03.082
- Heisler JM, O'Connor JC (2015) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-dependent neurotoxic kynurenine metabolism mediates inflammation-induced deficit in recognition memory. Brain Behav Immun 50:115–124. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.06.022
- 99. Meier TB, Drevets WC, Wurfel BE, Ford BN, Morris HM, Victor TA, Bodurka J, Teague TK, Dantzer R, Savitz J (2015) Relationship between neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites and reductions in right medial prefrontal cortical thickness in major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.11.003
- 100. Steiner J, Walter M, Gos T, Guillemin GJ, Bernstein HG, Sarnyai Z, Mawrin C, Brisch R, Bielau H, Meyer zu Schwabedissen L, Bogerts B, Myint AM (2011) Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus: evidence for an immune-modulated glutamatergic neurotransmission? J Neuroinflammation 8:94. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-94

- 101. Savitz J, Dantzer R, Wurfel BE, Victor TA, Ford BN, Bodurka J, Bellgowan PS, Teague TK, Drevets WC (2014) Neuroprotective kynurenine metabolite indices are abnormally reduced and positively associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volume in bipolar disorder. Psychoneuroendocrinology 52C:200–211. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.11.015
- 102. Myint AM, Kim YK, Verkerk R, Park SH, Scharpe S, Steinbusch HW, Leonard BE (2007) Tryptophan breakdown pathway in bipolar mania. J Affect Disord 102:65–72. doi:10.1016/j. jad.2006.12.008
- 103. Johansson AS, Owe-Larsson B, Asp L, Kocki T, Adler M, Hetta J, Gardner R, Lundkvist GB, Urbanska EM, Karlsson H (2013) Activation of kynurenine pathway in ex vivo fibroblasts from patients with bipolar disorder or schizophrenia: cytokine challenge increases production of 3-hydroxykynurenine. J Psychiatr Res 47:1815–1823. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.08. 008
- 104. Guloksuz S, Arts B, Walter S, Drukker M, Rodriguez L, Myint AM, Schwarz MJ, Ponds R, van Os J, Kenis G, Rutten BP (2015) The impact of electroconvulsive therapy on the tryptophan-kynurenine metabolic pathway. Brain Behav Immun 48:48–52. doi:10.1016/j. bbi.2015.02.029
- 105. Olsson SK, Samuelsson M, Saetre P, Lindstrom L, Jonsson EG, Nordin C, Engberg G, Erhardt S, Landen M (2010) Elevated levels of kynurenic acid in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with bipolar disorder. J Psychiatry Neurosci 35:195–199
- 106. Olsson SK, Sellgren C, Engberg G, Landen M, Erhardt S (2012) Cerebrospinal fluid kynurenic acid is associated with manic and psychotic features in patients with bipolar I disorder. Bipolar Disord 14:719–726. doi:10.1111/bdi.12009
- 107. Lavebratt C, Olsson S, Backlund L, Frisen L, Sellgren C, Priebe L, Nikamo P, Traskman-Bendz L, Cichon S, Vawter MP, Osby U, Engberg G, Landen M, Erhardt S, Schalling M (2014) The KMO allele encoding Arg452 is associated with psychotic features in bipolar disorder type 1, and with increased CSF KYNA level and reduced KMO expression. Mol Psychiatry 19:334–341. doi:10.1038/mp.2013.11
- 108. Cobb JA, O'Neill K, Milner J, Mahajan GJ, Lawrence TJ, May WL, Miguel-Hidalgo J, Rajkowska G, Stockmeier CA (2016) Density of GFAP-immunoreactive astrocytes is decreased in left hippocampi in major depressive disorder. Neuroscience 316:209–220. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.12.044
- 109. Torres-Platas SG, Nagy C, Wakid M, Turecki G, Mechawar N (2015) Glial fibrillary acidic protein is differentially expressed across cortical and subcortical regions in healthy brains and downregulated in the thalamus and caudate nucleus of depressed suicides. Mol Psychiatry. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.65
- 110. Webster MJ, O'Grady J, Kleinman JE, Weickert CS (2005) Glial fibrillary acidic protein mRNA levels in the cingulate cortex of individuals with depression, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. Neuroscience 133:453–461
- 111. Ernst C, Deleva V, Deng X, Sequeira A, Pomarenski A, Klempan T, Ernst N, Quirion R, Gratton A, Szyf M, Turecki G (2009) Alternative splicing, methylation state, and expression profile of tropomyosin-related kinase B in the frontal cortex of suicide completers. Arch Gen Psychiatry 66:22–32. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.66.1.22
- 112. Ernst C, Nagy C, Kim S, Yang JP, Deng X, Hellstrom IC, Choi KH, Gershenfeld H, Meaney MJ, Turecki G (2011) Dysfunction of astrocyte connexins 30 and 43 in dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex of suicide completers. Biol Psychiatry 70:312–319. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2011.03.038
- 113. Nagy C, Suderman M, Yang J, Szyf M, Mechawar N, Ernst C, Turecki G (2015) Astrocytic abnormalities and global DNA methylation patterns in depression and suicide. Mol Psychiatry 20:320–328. doi:10.1038/mp.2014.21
- 114. Choudary PV, Molnar M, Evans SJ, Tomita H, Li JZ, Vawter MP, Myers RM, Bunney WE Jr, Akil H, Watson SJ, Jones EG (2005) Altered cortical glutamatergic and GABAergic signal transmission with glial involvement in depression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:15653–15658

- 115. Sequeira A, Mamdani F, Ernst C, Vawter MP, Bunney WE, Lebel V, Rehal S, Klempan T, Gratton A, Benkelfat C, Rouleau GA, Mechawar N, Turecki G (2009) Global brain gene expression analysis links glutamatergic and GABAergic alterations to suicide and major depression. PLoS One 4:e6585. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006585
- 116. Miller AH (2013) Conceptual confluence: the kynurenine pathway as a common target for ketamine and the convergence of the inflammation and glutamate hypotheses of depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:1607–1608. doi:10.1038/npp.2013.140
- 117. Steiner J, Bogerts B, Sarnyai Z, Walter M, Gos T, Bernstein HG, Myint AM (2012) Bridging the gap between the immune and glutamate hypotheses of schizophrenia and major depression: potential role of glial NMDA receptor modulators and impaired blood-brain barrier integrity. World J Biol Psychiatry 13:482–492. doi:10.3109/15622975.2011.583941
- 118. Haroon E, Woolwine BJ, Chen X, Pace TW, Parekh S, Spivey JR, Hu XP, Miller AH (2014) IFN-alpha-induced cortical and subcortical glutamate changes assessed by magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Neuropsychopharmacology 39:1777–1785. doi:10.1038/npp.2014.25
- 119. Haroon E, Fleischer CC, Felger JC, Chen X, Woolwine BJ, Patel T, Hu XP, Miller AH (2016) Conceptual convergence: increased inflammation is associated with increased basal ganglia glutamate in patients with major depression. Mol Psychiatry. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.206
- 120. Raison CL, Miller AH (2013) Do cytokines really sing the blues? Cerebrum 2013:10

Suicidality and Activation of the Kynurenine Pathway of Tryptophan Metabolism

Elena Y. Bryleva and Lena Brundin

Abstract A recent report by the World Health Organization declared suicide to be a major global problem. With more than 800,000 lives lost each year, suicide is calculated to be the 14th leading cause of death around the world. While the biological mechanisms causing suicidal ideation and behavior are not fully understood, increased levels of inflammation, arising from various sources, have been detected in the central nervous system and the peripheral blood of suicidal patients and suicide completers. Inflammation induces the kynurenine pathway of tryptophan metabolism, which generates a range of metabolites with potent effects on neurotransmitter systems as well as on inflammation. Recent evidence indicates that a dysregulation of the enzymes in the kynurenine pathway may be present in suicidal patients, with a resulting imbalance of metabolites that modulate glutamate neurotransmission and neuroinflammation. As the body of research in these areas grows, targeting the kynurenine pathway enzymes and metabolites may provide novel therapeutic opportunities for detection, treatment, and ultimately prevention of suicidal behavior.

Keywords 3-Hydroxyanthranilic acid • Cytokine • Depression • Glutamate • Inflammation • Kynurenic acid • Kynurenine pathway • Picolinic acid • Quinolinic acid

E.Y. Bryleva and L. Brundin (⊠)

Laboratory of Behavioral Medicine, Center for Neurodegenerative Science, Van Andel Research Institute, 333 Bostwick Ave., Grand Rapids, MI 49503, USA e-mail: Lena.Brundin@vai.org

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 269–284 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_5 Published Online: 20 May 2016

Contents

1	Intro	duction	270	
2	Risk Factors of Suicide			
3	Activation of the Kynurenine Pathway			
4	Kynı	renine Pathway Metabolites in Psychiatric Disorders and Suicidal Behavior	273	
	4.1	Quinolinic Acid	274	
	4.2	Kynurenic Acid	275	
	4.3	Picolinic Acid	276	
	4.4	3-Hydroxyanthranilic Acid	277	
5	Conclusions			
Ret	References			

1 Introduction

It is estimated that every 40 s suicide claims a life somewhere in the world, amounting to over 800,000 deaths annually [1]. There are indications that the actual number of deaths by suicide is actually higher than reported, due to under-reporting in countries where suicide is stigmatized and illegal [2]. Suicide is the 14th cause of death around the world [3] and tragically the 2nd leading cause of death in young population (15–29 years of age) [1]. There are indications that for each completed suicide 10–20 suicide attempts take place. Suicide was recently declared to be a major global public health problem by the World Health Organization as it causes profound psychological, social and economic suffering to individuals, families, and countries [1]. Every year in the USA, suicide results in a \$44 billion loss to the economy in medical expenses and lost productivity and each prevented suicide is calculated to save an average of over \$1,160,000 [4].

Suicidality is a cross-diagnostic phenomenon with biological underpinnings likely to be shared across different disease states. Still, these common biological underpinnings remain to be fully clarified. Since around 90% of suicide completers suffer from a psychiatric illness, treatment of suicidality is currently largely guided by the primary psychiatric diagnosis [5]. Theoretically, suicide is considered to be largely preventable as there are many available clinical treatment choices and interventions; however, the suicide rate is still increasing in many countries [1]. This could in part be due to the lack of an accurate risk assessment by the health care system, as almost half of the suicidal patients contact their primary care or mental health provider in the month prior to the suicide [6, 7]. Therefore, it is of critical importance to refine the methods of suicide risk detection.

The treatment interventions of patients with suicidal ideation and behavior often consist of anxiolytics and antidepressants, particularly selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs). Even though SSRIs and SNRIs are usually the first-choice antidepressant treatments, their usefulness is limited by the fact that it can take weeks to develop positive mood effects and up to 50% of patients do not benefit from them even after

months of usage [8]. Furthermore, during the first two weeks of treatment these treatments can increase the risk of suicide, predominantly in children and youth [5]. Other pharmacological agents capable of decreasing suicidal behavior (attempts and suicide completion) include electroconvulsive therapy in treatment-resistant depression [9], clozapine in schizophrenia [10], and lithium in patients with major affective disorders [11, 12]. A couple of years ago, clinical trials found that an intravenous injection of an NMDA-receptor antagonist ketamine can generate a strong antidepressant and anti-suicidal effect within hours [13, 14]. Currently, more research is needed to uncover the biological mechanisms underlying the beneficial effects of the above-mentioned treatments.

2 Risk Factors of Suicide

The best predictor of a future death by suicide is a history of previous attempts [15]. Mounting evidence suggests that the intricate interactions between genetic and environmental variables are likely responsible for manifestation of suicidal behavior [16]. Findings from epidemiological studies have concluded that heritable factors may explain around 40% of suicidal behavior [17]. These factors include, but are not limited to, variants of the serotonin transporter gene (5-HTT) [18] and the tryptophan hydroxylase 1 gene (TPH1) [19]. Recently, it has been proposed that some of the interactions between genes and environment could be modulated by epigenetic factors and lead to certain changes, such as hypermethylation of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) promoter [20, 21], which are important in depression and suicidality [22]. Having a psychiatric disorder, especially major depressive disorder (MDD) or bipolar disorder, is another risk factor of suicide as 90% of suicide completers suffer from some form of psychiatric illness [23]. In addition, exhibiting specific personality traits, such as hopelessness [24] or impulsivity and aggression, especially in youth [25, 26], serve as additional factors regardless of the presence or absence of the psychiatric illness. Males tend to be at a higher risk of completing suicide than females as the male:female ratio of global age-standardized suicide rate is 1.9 [1].

While the biological changes that may give rise to suicidal ideation and behavior are not completely understood, increased levels of inflammation, arising from various sources, have been detected in the central nervous system (CNS) and the peripheral blood of suicide patients. Some inflammatory mediators, such as cytokines, are able to reciprocally interact with and are thought to be partially responsible for the dysregulations of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis [27] and serotonergic system [28] frequently observed in suicidal patients. In addition, inflammation causes activation of the kynurenine pathway of tryptophan (TRP) degradation and potentially leads to its dysregulation, the effect of which is detected in suicidal patients as the imbalance of the pathway metabolites. As some of these metabolites modulate glutamate neurotransmission and neuroinflammation they may directly contribute to manifestation of suicidal symptoms.

3 Activation of the Kynurenine Pathway

Around 90% of the dietary TRP is degraded through the kynurenine pathway [29] and enzymes of this pathway have been found in many tissues and cells, including brain, liver, intestine, and cells of the immune system. The first step of this pathway is initiated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO1), IDO2, or tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO) to produce *N*-formylkynurenine, which subsequently gets converted to kynurenine (KYN) (Fig. 1). The expression levels of IDO1, IDO2, and TDO enzymes are much lower in the brain than in the peripheral organs



Fig. 1 The kynurenine pathway. The pathway enzymes are in *italics* and metabolites are *boxed*. The metabolites, for which there is accumulating evidence supporting a role in suicidality, are highlighted in *red* and the metabolites, for which data is more sparse, are highlighted in *blue*. *IDO* indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, *TDO* tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase, *KATs* kynurenine aminotransferases, *KMO* kynurenine-3-monooxygenase, *3-HAO* 3-hydroxyanthranilate-3,4-dioxygenase, *ACMSD* 2-amino-3-carboxymuconic-6-semialdehyde decarboxylase, *QPRT* quinolinate phosphoribosyltransferase, *NAD* nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide

273

[30]. Consequently, around 60% of the kynurenine pathway metabolism in the brain estimated to be initiated by the first metabolite KYN, which readily crosses the blood brain barrier (BBB) and enters the CNS from the periphery [31]. KYN is then further metabolized to produce several neuroactive intermediates potentially important in the generation of depressive and suicidal symptoms, including quinolinic acid (QUIN), kynurenic acid (KYNA), picolinic acid (PIC), and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid (3-HAA) (Fig. 1) [32]. The kynurenine pathway can be stimulated by the increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interferon- γ (IFN- γ), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), and IL-6, all of which are inducers of IDO1 and TDO [33, 34]. In addition, environmental stresses may activate the kynurenine pathway via the induction of TDO by cortisol [35]. Besides being the first substrate in the kynurenine pathway. TRP is also a precursor for neurotransmitter serotonin. Consequently, activation of the kynurenine pathway may decrease the available TRP for serotonin synthesis [36] and may be in part responsible for the observed low levels of 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid, a main metabolite of serotonin, in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of suicide attempters [37]. However, the hypothesis that induction of the kynurenine pathway contributes to a decrease in serotonin levels in the brains of suicidal patients has not been fully proven.

4 Kynurenine Pathway Metabolites in Psychiatric Disorders and Suicidal Behavior

Dysregulation of the kynurenine pathway was reported in suicidal patients for the first time in 2011 [38]. This study found significantly increased levels of plasma KYN in previous suicide attempters compared to depressed patients without history of previous attempts, indicating an increase in TRP metabolism through kynurenine pathway. In agreement with this, a later study by Bradley et al. detected an approximately 40% decrease in plasma TRP and an increase of 40% in KYN/TRP ratio in suicidal youth compared to ones with MDD but no suicidality and healthy controls [39]. Both KYN and TRP are able to cross the BBB and enter the brain from circulation by active transport [32]. Once in the brain KYN will be taken up by glial cells and processed through different arms of the pathway. In microglial cells and cells of monocytic origin, KYN is processed to produce 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) by the enzyme kynurenine-3-monooxygenase (KMO) (Fig. 1) [40]. 3-HK gets subsequently converted into metabolites which include 3-HAA and QUIN. On the other hand, in astrocytes, which lack KMO, KYN is instead metabolized into KYNA (Fig. 1) [41]. In addition to astrocytes, neurons and oligodendrocytes are also capable of generating KYNA [42, 43].

4.1 Quinolinic Acid

The non-enzymatic synthesis of quinolinic acid (OUIN), which is considered to be one of the most important bioactive metabolites of the kynurenine pathway, occurs from a precursor 2-amino-3-carboxymuconic-6-semialdehyde (ACMS) (Fig. 1). The spontaneous conversion to QUIN takes place when a competing enzyme 2-amino-3-carboxymuconic-6-semialdehyde decarboxylase (ACMSD), which metabolizes ACMS into PIC, is saturated, inactive, or absent. Since QUIN does not readily cross the BBB [44], it is locally formed in the brain, primarily by microglia and infiltrating macrophages, and is considered to be largely neurotoxic through several mechanisms [41, 45, 46]. First, QUIN is an agonist of the glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors (NMDARs) and has strong affinity for NMDARs that contain NR1+NR2A and the NR1+NR2B subunits. Since the expression of these subunits is primarily limited to the forebrain [47], neurons in the hippocampus, striatum, and neocortex are most sensitive to QUIN toxicity while neurons in the spinal cord and cerebellum are least affected by it [48]. Suicide committers, especially females, have a higher expression of these NMDAR subunits in dorsolateral prefrontal cortices compared to controls [49]. This raises a possibility that patients with increased expression of these NMDARs might be more sensitive to elevated levels of their agonist QUIN. QUIN also exerts its toxicity by stimulating the neuronal glutamate release and promoting its accumulation by inhibiting its uptake and breakdown by astrocytes [50]. The resulting increase in extracellular glutamate levels overstimulates the glutamatergic system and leads to neuronal death. Through forming complexes with iron ions, OUIN also increases lipid peroxidation and promotes formation of reactive oxygen species [51, 52].

In 2013 we initiated a study to investigate the relationship between QUIN and suicidal behavior [53]. We became interested in this topic due to the findings in clinical trials that reported a rapid and long-lasting anti-suicidal effect of the anesthetic compound ketamine [54-57]. Ketamine, which is an NMDAR antagonist, is capable of decreasing suicidal ideation as early as 40 min post-infusion and this effect can last for up to 10 days [54, 55, 57, 58]. The anti-depressive and antisuicidal effects of ketamine were later confirmed by other clinical studies [59]. Furthermore, a study by Walker et al. reported that ketamine blocks the depression-like behavior of mice treated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [60]. Intraperitoneal injection of LPS, which is a widely used method to induce depression-like phenotype in animal models, increases inflammation in the brain [61] and, thus, induces IDO which can lead to an increased synthesis of OUIN in the mouse brain [60, 62]. The study by Walker et al. demonstrated that depression in this animal model, as induced by the LPS injection, could be reversed specifically by the actions of ketamine on the NMDA receptor [60]. The results of the human and animal studies using ketamine suggest that hyperstimulation of NMDAR may, at least in part, be responsible for the generation of depressive and suicidal behavior, although ketamine additionally displays other beneficial effects in the brain [63]. Even though these studies did not attempt to measure QUIN, the results point to this kynurenine metabolite being of specific interest as a potential biological cause of the NMDAR hyperstimulation.

In the initial study analyzing the association between OUIN and suicidality, we detected a 300% increase in the CSF level of OUIN in suicide attempters compared to healthy controls [53]. OUIN also positively correlated with suicidal intent, measured by the Suicide Intent Scale [64], and with CSF IL-6 levels, suggesting that an increase in inflammatory process stimulates formation of QUIN, which then promotes symptoms of suicidality. Following a suicide attempt, QUIN levels slightly decreased but were still approximately to 150% compared to QUIN levels in healthy controls over a 2-year period [65]. Elevation of QUIN in suicidal attempters could potentially also contribute to the development of structural deficits observed in such patients [66], as high levels would induce not only increased glutamate neurotransmission but also contribute to excito- and neurotoxicity with cell death as a consequence. Certain cortical regions (such as subgenual anterior cingulate cortex (sACC) and anterior midcingulate cortex (aMCC)) in brains of depressed individuals who died by suicide have been shown to contain an increased density of OUIN-positive microglial cells [67]. However, there are some regionspecific differences in the distribution of the QUIN-containing microglia since its density was decreased in hippocampi of the same suicide committers [68].

4.2 Kynurenic Acid

Of the kynurenine pathway metabolites, kynurenic acid (KYNA) was the first one discovered and characterized. Kynurenine aminotransferase enzymes convert KYN into KYNA through transamination reaction (Fig. 1). Since KYNA crosses the BBB very poorly under physiological conditions [44], most of the KYNA in the brain is locally produced by neurons and certain glial cells such as astrocytes and oligo-dendrocytes [41–43]. As opposed to QUIN, KYNA is an antagonist of a variety of ionotropic glutamate receptors which include NMDARs, AMPA receptors (AMPARs), and kainite receptors. More recent studies found that KYNA is also capable of inhibiting α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7nAChR) and activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor [69]. In addition, KYNA bind and activates an orphan G protein-coupled receptor GPR35 which is thought to reduce the extracellular glutamate levels in the brain, as well as prevent the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines by monocytes and macrophages [70, 71]. Besides its role in receptor binding, KYNA also possesses anti-oxidant properties and is able to scavenge free radicals, including superoxide anion and hydroxyl radical [72, 73].

Even though the above-mentioned properties indicated that physiological levels of KYNA are largely neuroprotective and anticonvulsive, increased levels of KYNA have been associated with psychosis and cognitive deficits [74]. Indeed, the CSF KYNA levels in schizophrenia spectrum disorder patients are approximately 50–70% higher than in healthy subjects [75, 76]. However, schizophrenia patients who attempted suicide display significantly lower levels of CSF KYNA

compared to non-suicidal patients [77]. We have recently found that over a period of 2 years following a suicide attempt, the CSF KYNA levels decreased by approximately 35% and the low levels were associated with more severe psychiatric symptoms, including suicidal ideation and depression severity [65]. Because KYNA and QUIN both interact with NMDAR and promote either its activation or inhibition, respectively, the QUIN/KYNA ratio has been used in the literature to represent the overall degree of NMDAR stimulation. This ratio is often referred to as the neurotoxic ratio even though prior to any neurotoxic outcome, the effects of QUIN and KYNA on the NMDAR are antagonistic/agonistic. Suicide attempters display a more than twofold increase in CSF QUIN/KYNA ratio compared to healthy controls, suggesting an increase in net positive NMDAR stimulation in suicidality [53].

One of the limitations in investigating the specific etiology of suicidal behavior is the fact that suicidal patients are frequently either excluded from the clinical studies on depressed patients or are being pooled together with non-suicidal patients without specifically accounting for the presence of suicidality. Similar to our findings in suicide attempters, a study by Myint et al. detected a 32% decrease of KYNA levels in peripheral blood from a depressed population, of which almost 20% had previously attempted suicide [78]. QUIN was not measured in this study. A more recent study found a significant decrease of neuroprotective KYNA/QUIN ratio in serum from patients with both current and remitted MDD compared to healthy controls, which indicates that patients with MDD display a persistent imbalance of the kynurenine pathway even in the absence of current depressive symptomology [79]. Both MDD groups in this study included previous suicide attempters.

4.3 Picolinic Acid

As mentioned in Sect. 4.1, picolinic acid (PIC) is produced by the ACMSD enzyme from the unstable metabolite ACMS (Fig. 1). We and others have previously detected PIC in human CSF samples (our unpublished observations) [80, 81]. However, whether PIC is primarily synthesized in the CNS or whether there is an additional contribution from the periphery is currently unknown, as PIC's ability to cross the BBB under normal physiological conditions has not been determined. The ACMSD enzyme is expressed in the brain, albeit at much lower levels compared to kidney and liver [82], and, judging from animal models, its expression and activity in CNS can be reduced or induced under conditions such as low protein diet or streptozocin-induced diabetes, respectively [83]. In the brain, ACMSD expression has been found in neuronal and glial cells of the hippocampus and cortex, and PIC production has been detected in primary cultures of fetal human neurons [84]. As PIC cannot be further degraded, it is considered to be an end-product of the kynurenine pathway and is excreted through bile and urine. PIC is, perhaps, best known for its ability to chelate metal ions, including copper and iron [85]. Intriguingly, PIC is able to block the neurotoxic properties of QUIN in cell culture and animal models, possibly by chelation of the endogenous zinc [86–89].

We have found that the PIC levels in blood and CSF were consistently decreased among several different cohorts of suicide attempters (manuscript in submission). This may indicate that the activity of the ACMSD enzyme is reduced in suicidal patients, which is likely to contribute to the observed increase in the levels of QUIN and, consequently, neuroinflammation found in these patients. PIC is able to bind and chelate chromium and the resulting chromium picolinate complex produces a reduction of depressive symptoms in atypical depression [90, 91] and increases the efficacy of pharmaceutical drugs for dysthymic disorder [92]. Chromium picolinate also induces antianxiety and antidepressant effects, most likely through the observed decreases in plasma corticosterone levels and increases in the cortical and cerebellar serotonin levels in animal models of chronic unpredictable mild stress [93]. It is often presumed that in the chromium picolinate complex, PIC is the non-active component while chromium is the one responsible for the observed favorable effects. However, based on the in vitro and animal studies that show PIC is able to protect against neurotoxic effects of QUIN as well our own study in which decreased levels of PIC were observed in suicide attempters, it is possible the PIC in chromium picolinate complex might play an active role in decreasing the depressive symptoms.

4.4 3-Hydroxyanthranilic Acid

3-hydroxyanthranilic acid (3-HAA) is produced by kynureninase and does not readily cross the BBB (Fig. 1) [44]. Thus, 3-HAA presence in the brain is due to its local synthesis primarily by microglia and cells of monocytic origin [32]. The substrate preference for the kynureninase enzyme varies depending on the tissue type and while in the brain anthranilic acid is the preferred precursor for 3-HAA, 3-HK is the primary precursor in the periphery [94]. 3-HAA is a highly redox-active compound [95], which, depending on the local redox conditions, can possess either anti-oxidant [96] or pro-oxidant [97] properties.

Recently, the connection between 3-HAA levels in peripheral blood and suicidality was explored. However, no significant differences in the plasma levels of 3-HAA were detected between depressed youth with suicidal behavior (N = 20), depressed adolescents without suicidal behavior (N = 30), and healthy controls (N = 22) [39]. Likewise, plasma 3-HAA levels (as well as kynureninase enzyme expression) remained the same between MDD patients and healthy controls [98]. Interestingly, when studies investigating adolescents with MDD stratified the patients into groups with or without melancholic features, only the MDD group with melancholic features (unlike MDD without melancholic features or healthy controls) presented a positive association between plasma 3-HAA/KYN and severity of MDD episode [99, 100]. The youth group with melancholic-type

MDD also had a positive correlation between the plasma 3-HAA levels and striatal total choline, which is a biomarker for cell membrane breakdown [100]. The results of these studies indicate that, at least in adolescence, melancholic-type MDD possesses certain neurobiological features, which distinguish it from other subtypes of MDD.

5 Conclusions

An increasing number of studies indicate that there is a dysregulation of the kynurenine pathway enzymes in suicidal patients. The resulting concentration imbalance of key bioactive metabolites, such as QUIN, KYNA, PIC, and 3-HAA, is thought to be important in generation of psychiatric symptoms. One of the possible biological mechanisms behind generation of suicidal behavior could be increase in the levels of QUIN, which, by being an NMDAR agonist, causes overstimulation of the glutamatergic system and neurotoxicity. Ketamine, which in an NMDAR antagonist, produces a rapid anti-suicidal and antidepressant effect, possibly by antagonizing NMDARs and decreasing the hyperstimulation of the glutamate neurotransmission produced by QUIN.

In the future it will be important to uncover the mechanisms underpinning the dysregulation of the kynurenine pathway enzymes, and to understand the conditions that allow accumulation of certain metabolites. It is likely that the activity and expression of the enzymes could be, at least in part, affected by variations in the corresponding genes [101]. It will also be important to discover what predisposition factors produce resilience or vulnerability to manifestation of suicidal behavior. It is known that certain pro-inflammatory cytokines, found to be increased in patients with suicidality, activate the initial enzymes of the kynurenine pathway. However, to what extent these cytokines influence the subsequent enzymes of the pathway is currently not fully established. As the body of literature investigating the relationship between kynurenine pathway regulation and suicidality grows, opportunities for therapeutic intervention through manipulation of the enzyme activity may become apparent. Moreover, measuring circulating metabolites could provide a future way of improving suicide risk detection in the clinic.

References

- 1. World Health Organization (2014) Preventing suicide: a global imperative. http://apps.who. int/iris/bitstream/10665/131056/1/9789241564779_eng.pdf. Accessed 30 April 2015
- 2. Varnik P (2012) Suicide in the world. Int J Environ Res Public Health 9(3):760–771. doi:10. 3390/ijerph9030760
- 3. Mortality GBD, Causes of Death C (2015) Global, regional, and national age-sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990–2013: a systematic

analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013. Lancet 385(9963):117-171. doi:10. 1016/S0140-6736(14)61682-2

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2010) Cost of injury reports. https://wisqars.cdc. gov:8443/costT/cost_Part1_Finished.jsp. Accessed 29 Oct 2015
- Wasserman D, Rihmer Z, Rujescu D, Sarchiapone M, Sokolowski M, Titelman D, Zalsman G, Zemishlany Z, Carli V, European Psychiatric A (2012) The European Psychiatric Association (EPA) guidance on suicide treatment and prevention. Eur Psychiatry 27 (2):129–141. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2011.06.003
- 6. Da Cruz D, Pearson A, Saini P, Miles C, While D, Swinson N, Williams A, Shaw J, Appleby L, Kapur N (2011) Emergency department contact prior to suicide in mental health patients. Emerg Med J 28(6):467–471. doi:10.1136/emj.2009.081869
- 7. Luoma JB, Martin CE, Pearson JL (2002) Contact with mental health and primary care providers before suicide: a review of the evidence. Am J Psychiatry 159(6):909–916
- Rush AJ, Trivedi MH, Wisniewski SR, Nierenberg AA, Stewart JW, Warden D, Niederehe G, Thase ME, Lavori PW, Lebowitz BD, McGrath PJ, Rosenbaum JF, Sackeim HA, Kupfer DJ, Luther J, Fava M (2006) Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several treatment steps: a STAR*D report. Am J Psychiatry 163(11):1905–1917. doi:10.1176/ajp.2006.163.11.1905
- Kennedy SH, Milev R, Giacobbe P, Ramasubbu R, Lam RW, Parikh SV, Patten SB, Ravindran AV, Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) (2009) Clinical guidelines for the management of major depressive disorder in adults. IV. Neurostimulation therapies. J Affect Disord 117(Suppl 1):S44–S53. doi:10.1016/j.jad. 2009.06.039
- 10. Meltzer HY, Baldessarini RJ (2003) Reducing the risk for suicide in schizophrenia and affective disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 64(9):1122–1129
- 11. Baldessarini RJ, Tondo L, Davis P, Pompili M, Goodwin FK, Hennen J (2006) Decreased risk of suicides and attempts during long-term lithium treatment: a meta-analytic review. Bipolar Disord 8(5 Pt 2):625–639. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2006.00344.x
- Guzzetta F, Tondo L, Centorrino F, Baldessarini RJ (2007) Lithium treatment reduces suicide risk in recurrent major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 68(3):380–383
- Fond G, Loundou A, Rabu C, Macgregor A, Lancon C, Brittner M, Micoulaud-Franchi JA, Richieri R, Courtet P, Abbar M, Roger M, Leboyer M, Boyer L (2014) Ketamine administration in depressive disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 231(18):3663–3676. doi:10.1007/s00213-014-3664-5
- Zarate C, Duman RS, Liu G, Sartori S, Quiroz J, Murck H (2013) New paradigms for treatment-resistant depression. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1292:21–31. doi:10.1111/nyas.12223
- Hawton K, van Heeringen K (2009) Suicide. Lancet 373(9672):1372–1381, 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60372-X
- Roy A, Sarchiopone M, Carli V (2009) Gene-environment interaction and suicidal behavior. J Psychiatr Pract 15(4):282–288. doi:10.1097/01.pra.0000358314.88931.b5
- McGuffin P, Perroud N, Uher R, Butler A, Aitchison KJ, Craig I, Lewis C, Farmer A (2010) The genetics of affective disorder and suicide. Eur Psychiatry 25(5):275–277. doi:10.1016/j. eurpsy.2009.12.012
- Li D, He L (2007) Meta-analysis supports association between serotonin transporter (5-HTT) and suicidal behavior. Mol Psychiatry 12(1):47–54. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001890
- Bellivier F, Chaste P, Malafosse A (2004) Association between the TPH gene A218C polymorphism and suicidal behavior: a meta-analysis. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 124B(1):87–91. doi:10.1002/ajmg.b.20015
- Kang HJ, Kim JM, Lee JY, Kim SY, Bae KY, Kim SW, Shin IS, Kim HR, Shin MG, Yoon JS (2013) BDNF promoter methylation and suicidal behavior in depressive patients. J Affect Disord 151(2):679–685. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.08.001

- 21. Kim JM, Kang HJ, Bae KY, Kim SW, Shin IS, Kim HR, Shin MG, Yoon JS (2014) Association of BDNF promoter methylation and genotype with suicidal ideation in elderly Koreans. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 22(10):989–996. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2014.02.011
- Lockwood LE, Su S, Youssef NA (2015) The role of epigenetics in depression and suicide: a platform for gene-environment interactions. Psychiatry Res 228(3):235–242. doi:10.1016/j. psychres.2015.05.071
- Harris EC, Barraclough B (1997) Suicide as an outcome for mental disorders. A metaanalysis. Br J Psychiatry 170:205–228
- 24. David Klonsky E, Kotov R, Bakst S, Rabinowitz J, Bromet EJ (2012) Hopelessness as a predictor of attempted suicide among first admission patients with psychosis: a 10-year cohort study. Suicide Life Threat Behav 42(1):1–10. doi:10.1111/j.1943-278X.2011.00066.x
- 25. Dumais A, Lesage AD, Alda M, Rouleau G, Dumont M, Chawky N, Roy M, Mann JJ, Benkelfat C, Turecki G (2005) Risk factors for suicide completion in major depression: a case-control study of impulsive and aggressive behaviors in men. Am J Psychiatry 162 (11):2116–2124. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.11.2116
- Perroud N, Baud P, Mouthon D, Courtet P, Malafosse A (2011) Impulsivity, aggression and suicidal behavior in unipolar and bipolar disorders. J Affect Disord 134(1–3):112–118. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2011.05.048
- Mann JJ (2003) Neurobiology of suicidal behaviour. Nat Rev Neurosci 4(10):819–828. doi:10.1038/nrn1220
- Bach H, Arango V (2012) Neuroanatomy of serotonergic abnormalities in suicide. In: Dwivedi Y (ed) The neurobiological basis of suicide. Frontiers in neuroscience. Boca Raton, CRC Press/Taylor & Francis
- 29. Leklem JE (1971) Quantitative aspects of tryptophan metabolism in humans and other species: a review. Am J Clin Nutr 24(6):659–672
- 30. Dang Y, Dale WE, Brown OR (2000) Comparative effects of oxygen on indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase of the kynurenine pathway. Free Radic Biol Med 28(4):615–624
- Gal EM, Sherman AD (1980) L-kynurenine: its synthesis and possible regulatory function in brain. Neurochem Res 5(3):223–239
- 32. Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ (2012) Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 13(7):465–477. doi:10.1038/nrn3257
- 33. Schwieler L, Larsson MK, Skogh E, Kegel ME, Orhan F, Abdelmoaty S, Finn A, Bhat M, Samuelsson M, Lundberg K, Dahl ML, Sellgren C, Schuppe-Koistinen I, Svensson C, Erhardt S, Engberg G (2015) Increased levels of IL-6 in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with chronic schizophrenia significance for activation of the kynurenine pathway. J Psychiatry Neurosci 40(2):126–133
- 34. Urata Y, Koga K, Hirota Y, Akiyama I, Izumi G, Takamura M, Nagai M, Harada M, Hirata T, Yoshino O, Kawana K, Fujii T, Osuga Y (2014) IL-1beta increases expression of tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase and stimulates tryptophan catabolism in endometrioma stromal cells. Am J Reprod Immunol 72(5):496–503. doi:10.1111/aji.12282
- 35. Rubin RT (1967) Adrenal cortical activity changes in manic-depressive illness. Influence on intermediary metabolism of tryptophan. Arch Gen Psychiatry 17(6):671–679
- 36. Maes M, Leonard BE, Myint AM, Kubera M, Verkerk R (2011) The new '5-HT' hypothesis of depression: cell-mediated immune activation induces indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, which leads to lower plasma tryptophan and an increased synthesis of detrimental tryptophan catabolites (TRYCATs), both of which contribute to the onset of depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35(3):702–721. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.12.017
- Asberg M, Traskman L, Thoren P (1976) 5-HIAA in the cerebrospinal fluid. A biochemical suicide predictor? Arch Gen Psychiatry 33(10):1193–1197
- Sublette ME, Galfalvy HC, Fuchs D, Lapidus M, Grunebaum MF, Oquendo MA, Mann JJ, Postolache TT (2011) Plasma kynurenine levels are elevated in suicide attempters with major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 25(6):1272–1278. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2011.05.002

- Bradley KA, Case JA, Khan O, Ricart T, Hanna A, Alonso CM, Gabbay V (2015) The role of the kynurenine pathway in suicidality in adolescent major depressive disorder. Psychiatry Res 227(2–3):206–212. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015.03.031
- 40. Guillemin GJ, Smith DG, Smythe GA, Armati PJ, Brew BJ (2003) Expression of the kynurenine pathway enzymes in human microglia and macrophages. Adv Exp Med Biol 527:105–112
- Guillemin GJ, Kerr SJ, Smythe GA, Smith DG, Kapoor V, Armati PJ, Croitoru J, Brew BJ (2001) Kynurenine pathway metabolism in human astrocytes: a paradox for neuronal protection. J Neurochem 78(4):842–853
- 42. Du F, Schmidt W, Okuno E, Kido R, Kohler C, Schwarcz R (1992) Localization of kynurenine aminotransferase immunoreactivity in the rat hippocampus. J Comp Neurol 321 (3):477–487. doi:10.1002/cne.903210313
- Wejksza K, Rzeski W, Okuno E, Kandefer-Szerszen M, Albrecht J, Turski WA (2005) Demonstration of kynurenine aminotransferases I and II and characterization of kynurenic acid synthesis in oligodendrocyte cell line (OLN-93). Neurochem Res 30(8):963–968. doi:10. 1007/s11064-005-6178-z
- 44. Fukui S, Schwarcz R, Rapoport SI, Takada Y, Smith QR (1991) Blood-brain barrier transport of kynurenines: implications for brain synthesis and metabolism. J Neurochem 56 (6):2007–2017
- 45. Espey MG, Chernyshev ON, Reinhard JF Jr, Namboodiri MA, Colton CA (1997) Activated human microglia produce the excitotoxin quinolinic acid. Neuroreport 8(2):431–434
- Heyes MP, Achim CL, Wiley CA, Major EO, Saito K, Markey SP (1996) Human microglia convert l-tryptophan into the neurotoxin quinolinic acid. Biochem J 320(Pt 2):595–597
- 47. de Carvalho LP, Bochet P, Rossier J (1996) The endogenous agonist quinolinic acid and the non endogenous homoquinolinic acid discriminate between NMDAR2 receptor subunits. Neurochem Int 28(4):445–452
- Guillemin GJ (2012) Quinolinic acid, the inescapable neurotoxin. FEBS J 279(8):1356–1365. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08485.x
- 49. Gray AL, Hyde TM, Deep-Soboslay A, Kleinman JE, Sodhi MS (2015) Sex differences in glutamate receptor gene expression in major depression and suicide. Mol Psychiatry 20 (9):1057–1068. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.91
- 50. Guillemin GJ (2012) Quinolinic acid: neurotoxicity. FEBS J 279(8):1355. doi:10.1111/j. 1742-4658.2012.08493.x
- 51. Goda K, Kishimoto R, Shimizu S, Hamane Y, Ueda M (1996) Quinolinic acid and active oxygens. Possible contribution of active oxygens during cell death in the brain. Adv Exp Med Biol 398:247–254
- 52. Stipek S, Stastny F, Platenik J, Crkovska J, Zima T (1997) The effect of quinolinate on rat brain lipid peroxidation is dependent on iron. Neurochem Int 30(2):233–237
- Erhardt S, Lim CK, Linderholm KR, Janelidze S, Lindqvist D, Samuelsson M, Lundberg K, Postolache TT, Traskman-Bendz L, Guillemin GJ, Brundin L (2013) Connecting inflammation with glutamate agonism in suicidality. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(5):743–752. doi:10.1038/npp.2012.248
- 54. DiazGranados N, Ibrahim LA, Brutsche NE, Ameli R, Henter ID, Luckenbaugh DA, Machado-Vieira R, Zarate CA Jr (2010) Rapid resolution of suicidal ideation after a single infusion of an N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist in patients with treatment-resistant major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 71(12):1605–1611. doi:10.4088/JCP.09m05327blu
- 55. Larkin GL, Beautrais AL (2011) A preliminary naturalistic study of low-dose ketamine for depression and suicide ideation in the emergency department. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 14(8):1127–1131, 10.1017/S1461145711000629
- 56. Price RB, Nock MK, Charney DS, Mathew SJ (2009) Effects of intravenous ketamine on explicit and implicit measures of suicidality in treatment-resistant depression. Biol Psychiatry 66(5):522–526. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.04.029

- 57. Zarate CA Jr, Brutsche NE, Ibrahim L, Franco-Chaves J, Diazgranados N, Cravchik A, Selter J, Marquardt CA, Liberty V, Luckenbaugh DA (2012) Replication of ketamine's antidepressant efficacy in bipolar depression: a randomized controlled add-on trial. Biol Psychiatry 71(11):939–946. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.12.010
- 58. Ibrahim L, Diazgranados N, Franco-Chaves J, Brutsche N, Henter ID, Kronstein P, Moaddel R, Wainer I, Luckenbaugh DA, Manji HK, Zarate CA Jr (2012) Course of improvement in depressive symptoms to a single intravenous infusion of ketamine vs add-on riluzole: results from a 4-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Neuropsychopharmacology 37(6):1526–1533. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.338
- 59. Price RB, Mathew SJ (2015) Does ketamine have anti-suicidal properties? Current status and future directions. CNS Drugs 29(3):181–188. doi:10.1007/s40263-015-0232-4
- 60. Walker AK, Budac DP, Bisulco S, Lee AW, Smith RA, Beenders B, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2013) NMDA receptor blockade by ketamine abrogates lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior in C57BL/6J mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(9):1609–1616. doi:10. 1038/npp.2013.71
- Bay-Richter C, Janelidze S, Hallberg L, Brundin L (2011) Changes in behaviour and cytokine expression upon a peripheral immune challenge. Behav Brain Res 222(1):193–199. doi:10. 1016/j.bbr.2011.03.060
- 62. O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Andre C, Moreau M, Lestage J, Castanon N, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (2009) Lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior is mediated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activation in mice. Mol Psychiatry 14(5):511–522. doi:10.1038/sj.mp. 4002148
- 63. Abdallah CG, Sanacora G, Duman RS, Krystal JH (2015) Ketamine and rapid-acting antidepressants: a window into a new neurobiology for mood disorder therapeutics. Annu Rev Med 66:509–523. doi:10.1146/annurev-med-053013-062946
- 64. Beck A, Schuyler D, Herman J (1974) Development of suicidal intent scales. The prediction of suicide. The Charles Press, Bowie
- 65. Bay-Richter C, Linderholm KR, Lim CK, Samuelsson M, Traskman-Bendz L, Guillemin GJ, Erhardt S, Brundin L (2015) A role for inflammatory metabolites as modulators of the glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in depression and suicidality. Brain Behav Immun 43:110–117. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.07.012
- 66. van Heeringen K, Bijttebier S, Desmyter S, Vervaet M, Baeken C (2014) Is there a neuroanatomical basis of the vulnerability to suicidal behavior? A coordinate-based meta-analysis of structural and functional MRI studies. Front Hum Neurosci 8:824. doi:10.3389/fnhum. 2014.00824
- 67. Steiner J, Walter M, Gos T, Guillemin GJ, Bernstein HG, Sarnyai Z, Mawrin C, Brisch R, Bielau H, Meyer zu Schwabedissen L, Bogerts B, Myint AM (2011) Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus: evidence for an immune-modulated glutamatergic neurotransmission? J Neuroinflammation 8:94. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-94
- 68. Busse M, Busse S, Myint AM, Gos T, Dobrowolny H, Muller UJ, Bogerts B, Bernstein HG, Steiner J (2015) Decreased quinolinic acid in the hippocampus of depressive patients: evidence for local anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective responses? Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 265(4):321–329. doi:10.1007/s00406-014-0562-0
- 69. Stone TW, Stoy N, Darlington LG (2013) An expanding range of targets for kynurenine metabolites of tryptophan. Trends Pharmacol Sci 34(2):136–143. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2012.09. 006
- Moroni F, Cozzi A, Sili M, Mannaioni G (2012) Kynurenic acid: a metabolite with multiple actions and multiple targets in brain and periphery. J Neural Transm 119(2):133–139. doi:10. 1007/s00702-011-0763-x
- Wang J, Simonavicius N, Wu X, Swaminath G, Reagan J, Tian H, Ling L (2006) Kynurenic acid as a ligand for orphan G protein-coupled receptor GPR35. J Biol Chem 281 (31):22021–22028. doi:10.1074/jbc.M603503200

- 72. Hardeland R, Zsizsik BK, Poeggeler B, Fuhrberg B, Holst S, Coto-Montes A (1999) Indole-3pyruvic and -propionic acids, kynurenic acid, and related metabolites as luminophores and free-radical scavengers. Adv Exp Med Biol 467:389–395
- 73. Lugo-Huitron R, Blanco-Ayala T, Ugalde-Muniz P, Carrillo-Mora P, Pedraza-Chaverri J, Silva-Adaya D, Maldonado PD, Torres I, Pinzon E, Ortiz-Islas E, Lopez T, Garcia E, Pineda B, Torres-Ramos M, Santamaria A, La Cruz VP (2011) On the antioxidant properties of kynurenic acid: free radical scavenging activity and inhibition of oxidative stress. Neurotoxicol Teratol 33(5):538–547. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2011.07.002
- 74. Erhardt S, Olsson SK, Engberg G (2009) Pharmacological manipulation of kynurenic acid: potential in the treatment of psychiatric disorders. CNS Drugs 23(2):91–101. doi:10.2165/ 00023210-200923020-00001
- 75. Erhardt S, Schwieler L, Engberg G (2003) Kynurenic acid and schizophrenia. Adv Exp Med Biol 527:155–165
- 76. Linderholm KR, Skogh E, Olsson SK, Dahl ML, Holtze M, Engberg G, Samuelsson M, Erhardt S (2012) Increased levels of kynurenine and kynurenic acid in the CSF of patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 38(3):426–432. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbq086
- 77. Carlborg A, Jokinen J, Jonsson EG, Erhardt S, Nordstrom P (2013) CSF kynurenic acid and suicide risk in schizophrenia spectrum psychosis. Psychiatry Res 205(1–2):165–167. doi:10. 1016/j.psychres.2012.08.021
- Myint AM, Kim YK, Verkerk R, Scharpe S, Steinbusch H, Leonard B (2007) Kynurenine pathway in major depression: evidence of impaired neuroprotection. J Affect Disord 98 (1–2):143–151. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2006.07.013
- 79. Savitz J, Drevets WC, Wurfel BE, Ford BN, Bellgowan PS, Victor TA, Bodurka J, Teague TK, Dantzer R (2015) Reduction of kynurenic acid to quinolinic acid ratio in both the depressed and remitted phases of major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 46:55–59. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.02.007
- Coggan SE, Smythe GA, Bilgin A, Grant RS (2009) Age and circadian influences on picolinic acid concentrations in human cerebrospinal fluid. J Neurochem 108(5):1220–1225. doi:10. 1111/j.1471-4159.2009.05868.x
- Wang X, Davis I, Liu A, Miller A, Shamsi SA (2013) Improved separation and detection of picolinic acid and quinolinic acid by capillary electrophoresis-mass spectrometry: application to analysis of human cerebrospinal fluid. J Chromatogr A 1316:147–153. doi:10.1016/j. chroma.2013.09.085
- Pucci L, Perozzi S, Cimadamore F, Orsomando G, Raffaelli N (2007) Tissue expression and biochemical characterization of human 2-amino 3-carboxymuconate 6-semialdehyde decarboxylase, a key enzyme in tryptophan catabolism. FEBS J 274(3):827–840. doi:10.1111/j. 1742-4658.2007.05635.x
- 83. Fukuoka S, Ishiguro K, Tanabe A, Egashira Y, Sanada H, Fukuwatari T, Shibata K (2003) Identification and expression of alpha cDNA encoding human 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate-6-semialdehyde decarboxylase (ACMSD): a key enzyme for the tryptophan-niacin pathway and quinolinate hypothesis. Adv Exp Med Biol 527:443–453
- 84. Guillemin GJ, Cullen KM, Lim CK, Smythe GA, Garner B, Kapoor V, Takikawa O, Brew BJ (2007) Characterization of the kynurenine pathway in human neurons. J Neurosci 27 (47):12884–12892. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4101-07.2007
- Grant RS, Coggan SE, Smythe GA (2009) The physiological action of picolinic acid in the human brain. Int J Tryptophan Res 2:71–79
- 86. Beninger RJ, Colton AM, Ingles JL, Jhamandas K, Boegman RJ (1994) Picolinic acid blocks the neurotoxic but not the neuroexcitant properties of quinolinic acid in the rat brain: evidence from turning behaviour and tyrosine hydroxylase immunohistochemistry. Neuroscience 61(3):603–612
- Chen Y, Brew BJ, Guillemin GJ (2011) Characterization of the kynurenine pathway in NSC-34 cell line: implications for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurochem 118 (5):816–825. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.07159.x

- Cockhill J, Jhamandas K, Boegman RJ, Beninger RJ (1992) Action of picolinic acid and structurally related pyridine carboxylic acids on quinolinic acid-induced cortical cholinergic damage. Brain Res 599(1):57–63
- Jhamandas KH, Boegman RJ, Beninger RJ, Flesher S (1998) Role of zinc in blockade of excitotoxic action of quinolinic acid by picolinic acid. Amino Acids 14(1–3):257–261
- Davidson JR, Abraham K, Connor KM, McLeod MN (2003) Effectiveness of chromium in atypical depression: a placebo-controlled trial. Biol Psychiatry 53(3):261–264
- Docherty JP, Sack DA, Roffman M, Finch M, Komorowski JR (2005) A double-blind, placebo-controlled, exploratory trial of chromium picolinate in atypical depression: effect on carbohydrate craving. J Psychiatr Pract 11(5):302–314
- 92. McLeod MN, Gaynes BN, Golden RN (1999) Chromium potentiation of antidepressant pharmacotherapy for dysthymic disorder in 5 patients. J Clin Psychiatry 60(4):237–240
- 93. Dubey VK, Ansari F, Vohora D, Khanam R (2015) Possible involvement of corticosterone and serotonin in antidepressant and antianxiety effects of chromium picolinate in chronic unpredictable mild stress induced depression and anxiety in rats. J Trace Elem Med Biol 29:222–226. doi:10.1016/j.jtemb.2014.06.014
- 94. Baran H, Schwarcz R (1990) Presence of 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid in rat tissues and evidence for its production from anthranilic acid in the brain. J Neurochem 55(3):738–744
- 95. Darlington LG, Forrest CM, Mackay GM, Smith RA, Smith AJ, Stoy N, Stone TW (2010) On the biological importance of the 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid: anthranilic acid ratio. Int J Tryptophan Res 3:51–59
- 96. Christen S, Peterhans E, Stocker R (1990) Antioxidant activities of some tryptophan metabolites: possible implication for inflammatory diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87 (7):2506–2510
- Goldstein LE, Leopold MC, Huang X, Atwood CS, Saunders AJ, Hartshorn M, Lim JT, Faget KY, Muffat JA, Scarpa RC, Chylack LT Jr, Bowden EF, Tanzi RE, Bush AI (2000) 3-Hydroxykynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid generate hydrogen peroxide and promote alpha-crystallin cross-linking by metal ion reduction. Biochemistry 39(24):7266–7275
- Hughes MM, Carballedo A, McLoughlin DM, Amico F, Harkin A, Frodl T, Connor TJ (2012) Tryptophan depletion in depressed patients occurs independent of kynurenine pathway activation. Brain Behav Immun 26(6):979–987. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.05.010
- 99. Gabbay V, Klein RG, Katz Y, Mendoza S, Guttman LE, Alonso CM, Babb JS, Hirsch GS, Liebes L (2010) The possible role of the kynurenine pathway in adolescent depression with melancholic features. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 51(8):935–943. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610. 2010.02245.x
- 100. Gabbay V, Liebes L, Katz Y, Liu S, Mendoza S, Babb JS, Klein RG, Gonen O (2010) The kynurenine pathway in adolescent depression: preliminary findings from a proton MR spectroscopy study. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 34(1):37–44. doi:10. 1016/j.pnpbp.2009.09.015
- 101. Claes S, Myint AM, Domschke K, Del-Favero J, Entrich K, Engelborghs S, De Deyn P, Mueller N, Baune B, Rothermundt M (2011) The kynurenine pathway in major depression: haplotype analysis of three related functional candidate genes. Psychiatry Res 188 (3):355–360. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2011.03.012
The Promise and Limitations of Anti-Inflammatory Agents for the Treatment of Major Depressive Disorder

Charles L. Raison

Abstract This review provides a critical perspective on recent meta-analyses suggesting that several anti-inflammatory modalities, including nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), omega-3 fatty acids, and cytokine antagonist, possess generalizable antidepressant properties. By examining confounds and limitations in the available literature it is suggested that current data suggest that only a sub-group of individuals with major depressive disorder (MDD) have evidence of increased inflammatory biomarkers and it is in these individuals that anti-inflammatory agents show promise for reducing depressive symptoms. The treatment implications of this cautionary perspective are discussed.

Keywords Antidepressants • Cytokine antagonists • Cytokines • Inflammation • Major depressive disorder • Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs • Omega-3 fatty acids

Contents

1	Introduction	288
2	Is Depression an Inflammatory Condition and Does It Matter?	289
3	Do Anti-Inflammatory Agents Work as Antidepressants and If So When?	290
4	Off Target Effects	292
5	Antidepressant Effects Secondary to Improvement of the Underlying Medical Disease	293
6	Limitations in Study Design and Irregularities in the Presentation of Findings	293

C.L. Raison (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 287–302 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_26 Published Online: 8 June 2016

Department of Human Development and Family Studies, School of Human Ecology, University of Wisconsin-Madison, 1300 Linden Drive, Room 4174, Madison, WI 53705, USA

Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine and Public Health, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI 53705, USA e-mail: raison@wisc.edu

7	What Can We Learn from Cytokine Antagonism in Medically Healthy Adults	
	with MDD?	295
8	Facing the Etiologic and Treatment Implications of the U-Shaped Curve	297
9	Conclusions	298
References		299

1 Introduction

What do hula hoops, the dexamethasone suppression test, country western dancing, lobotomies, cabbage patch kids, and gabapentin for the treatment of mania have in common? They are all fads, phenomena that swept through their respective cultures with the intensity of a forest fire, only to fade as quickly and almost as completely as they had come. And while cultural fads generally come and go without inflicting much long-term damage, we have been less lucky in the field of mental health research.

For us, fads have caused mischief for at least two reasons. First, the hope for a "magic bullet" that would provide clarity to our diagnostic quandaries and power to our treatments has caused us to prematurely implement interventions that were either ineffective or damaging. Second, the overly enthusiastic embrace of complex scientific findings has led us, time and again, to prematurely abandon these same findings when they failed to deliver on our unrealistic expectations of them.

Thus, rather than filling me with satisfaction, as one who has long researched links between inflammation and brain function, I fear our current romance with the notion that major depression is an inflammatory condition to be treated with antiinflammatories. I fear it because I suspect that valuable scientific insights associating the immune system with major depression (MDD) will be down-graded and dismissed when they fail to deliver the type of definitive treatments that we so desperately need. And I fear it because available data suggest that – when taken as a whole – patients with depression may be as likely to be hurt as helped by a wellmeaning blanket application of anti-inflammatory modalities to assuage these individuals' symptoms.

In this paper I provide a critical review of the notion that MDD is an inflammatory condition and that anti-inflammatory agents hold potential as "all-purpose" antidepressants. This perspective is at odds with recent meta-analyses suggesting that MDD is associated with increased inflammation and that – taken as a whole – anti-inflammatory agents produce antidepressant effects. I will attempt to show that while true, these conclusions mask the fact that positive findings result from heterogeneity within the respective datasets. Said more simply, I suggest that inflammation likely contributes to the development and maintenance of depression in only some individuals and that it is these individuals who may well benefit from pharmacologic interventions that inhibit inflammatory activity. Disturbingly, I will provide some evidence that anti-inflammatory strategies may actually harm some patients with MDD.

2 Is Depression an Inflammatory Condition and Does It Matter?

By way of a thought experiment, suppose a middle-aged patient complaining of severe depression comes to your office for treatment. Believing that MDD is an inflammatory condition, you measure plasma concentrations of inflammatory cytokines and the acute phase reactant c-reactive protein (CRP). For extra measure, you perform a lumber puncture in your office to measure cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of the same inflammatory markers. A few days later the patient returns, and you hold the lab results in your hands. No evidence of increased inflammation in either the central nervous system (CNS) or periphery. The patient is weeping, can't sleep, doesn't want to eat, is exhausted, and says he can think of nothing but killing himself. Would you decide that because the patient's inflammatory measures are normal he cannot be depressed?

In fact this situation is far from hypothetical. While numerous studies indicate that inflammatory biomarkers (especially interleukin [IL]-6, IL-1-beta and tumor necrosis factor [TNF]) are elevated in groups of depressed individuals compared to groups of non-depressed individuals [1-5], many severely depressed patients have low levels of inflammation. Indeed, in study after study the values for any given inflammatory marker overlap between groups of depressed and non-depressed individuals, regardless of how much higher the marker's mean value may be in the depressed group. This means that a large proportion of the depressed group in any given study has values similar to the non-depressed group, and always in the "normal" range for the marker in question [6–11], when such a norm has been established [12]. Given this, in what way can MDD be conceived of as an inflammatory condition, and why would we expect an anti-inflammatory treatment to benefit patients without evidence of increased inflammation?

In fact, there is a sense in which MDD could be an inflammatory condition even in those individuals demonstrating low levels of inflammatory biomarkers, just as we recognize depression as linked to the functioning of norepinephrine and serotonin, even though a majority of depressed patients do not show measurable abnormalities in these neurotransmitters [13]. As with monoamine neurotransmitters, inflammatory pathways do not exist in functional isolation from other physiological systems in the body that have been implicated in the pathogenesis of MDD, but rather have been shown repeatedly to interact these systems in ways known to promote depression [14–17]. As a result of response differences in these systems people appear to vary widely in their sensitivity to the behavioral effects of inflammatory signaling. For example, women have appeared to be more likely than men to develop depressive symptoms in response to a dose of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [18], and a variety of pre-treatment behavioral and biological factors have been shown to increase the risk of depression in response to chronic inflammatory stimulation induced by therapy with interferon (IFN)-alpha [19–23]. Thus, some individuals' overall physiology might protect them from developing depression in response to all but the highest levels of inflammatory stimulation; whereas

the physiology of others might make them prone to developing depressive symptoms in response to even low levels of inflammatory stimulation.

These considerations suggest that MDD might be an inflammatory condition as a result of at least two semi-independent processes. First, inflammation might directly contribute to MDD in the sub-group of patients with chronically elevated inflammation. Second, inflammation might contribute indirectly to the development/maintenance of MDD in a larger group of depressed individuals with normal levels of inflammation, but who demonstrate increased sensitivity to the depressogenic effects of inflammatory signaling.

This scenario lends itself to two strong predictions. First, modalities that reduce inflammatory cytokine activity should produce an antidepressant effect that is observable in patients with both elevated and normal levels of inflammatory biomarkers. And second, because a wide range of systems may contribute to the downstream antidepressant effects of anti-inflammatory agents, one would not expect to see a clear association between baseline inflammatory levels and subsequent antidepressant response.

Alas for those of us who would like to view inflammation as a process central to the pathogenesis of MDD writ large, available data do not support either prediction. As I discuss below, several lines of evidence suggest that anti-inflammatory agents only show an antidepressant signal in patients with elevated peripheral inflammatory biomarkers prior to treatment, and in the largest study of a cytokine antagonist conducted to date in medically healthy individuals with MDD, a strong correlation was observed between baseline inflammatory biomarkers and subsequent antidepressant response [24]. Moreover, cytokine antagonism actually appears to produce an adverse effect by blocking placebo responses in patients with lower levels of inflammation, a finding in direct contradiction to the idea that MDD might be a condition of generalized hypersensitivity to inflammatory signaling [24, 25].

I revisit this issue toward the end of the article when considering why various anti-inflammatory agents may fail as antidepressants. Now let us turn to an examination of the evidence for and against the proposition that specific antiinflammatory modalities hold promise as antidepressants.

3 Do Anti-Inflammatory Agents Work as Antidepressants and If So When?

A number of meta-analyses have been conducted to assess the impact on depressive symptoms of agents with anti-inflammatory effects. In the current review I focus on three of these, because they are the most recent. Kohler et al. combined data from 14 trials (6,262 participants) that examined nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) or cytokine antagonists in both primary MDD and for depressive symptoms in patients with medical conditions for which anti-inflammatories are primary treatment modalities [26]. They report that across these agents and conditions anti-

inflammatories reduced depressive symptoms (SMD -0.034; 95% CI -0.57 to -0.11). Rosenblat et al. combined data from 8 randomized trials (312 participants) that examined NSAIDs, omega-3 fatty acids, n-acetylcysteine, or pioglitazone as adjuncts in the treatment of depressive or mixed states in patients with bipolar disorder [27]. The overall effect size of anti-inflammatory agents on reducing depressive symptoms was -0.40 (95% CI -0.65 to -0.14). Finally, Mocking et al. followed up on several previous meta-analyses finding null effects of omega-3 fatty acids, by conducting a meta-analysis limited to patients with rigorously diagnosed MDD and reported that omega-3 fatty acids (and especially eicosapentaenoic acid [EPA]) reduced depressive symptoms with a pooled effect size of -0.398 (95% CI -0.682 to -0.114) [28].

Taken at face value these pooled effect sizes seem to suggest a level of promise for the antidepressant efficacy of inflammatory blockade that a closer examination of the data does not support. I say this because of the presence – singly and in combination – of at least three serious confounds in the extant literature. These confounds include: (1) off target (i.e., non-immune) effects of the agents; (2) the possibility that depression improved secondary to improvements in the primary immune-based disease state; and (3) irregularities/limitations in the design of the studies that disproportionately drive positive meta-analytic findings. As we shall see all three confounds are relevant to studies of NSAIDs; omega-3 fatty acids are subject to confound 1 and studies of cytokine antagonists are bedeviled by confound 2.

Prior to examining these confounds a more general point is worth highlighting, which we might call the "apples and oranges problem." There is a tendency to see inflammation as a unitary, monolithic process, but nothing could be further from the truth. Because of this, combining findings from NSAIDs and cytokine antagonists under a single anti-inflammatory rubric may hide as much as it reveals. Although both classes of agents have anti-inflammatory effects, they act at very different points in the inflammatory cascade. Cytokine antagonists specifically target cytokines, such as TNF-alpha and interleukin (IL)-12 and 23, that play primary roles in launching inflammation, whereas NSAIDs target downstream enzymes that modulate the production of arachidonic acid-derived molecules such as prostaglandins. Importantly, although prostaglandins have multiple proinflammatory properties they have also more recently been shown to play active roles in resolving inflammation. Some evidence suggests that this may explain why NSAIDs worsen outcomes in some chronic inflammatory states, such as cardiovascular disease, and why several lines of evidence suggest that they may also worsen depression, at least in some circumstances [29].

4 Off Target Effects

Because inflammatory processes are driven to a large extent by the actions of cytokines, what most of us mean when we describe MDD as an inflammatory condition is that cytokines are elevated in the disorder, and – more boldly – that elevated cytokines may be a cause of the condition. If so, then the purest test of the inflammatory hypothesis of depression would be to show that blocking proinflammatory cytokine activity treats MDD. It is for this reason that the antagonists of IL-1-beta, TNF, and IL-6 offer the most straightforward method for testing whether anti-inflammatory agents work as antidepressants. These large biologic agents have remarkable specificity of action. They block their respective cytokine targets without having other appreciable biological activities that might promote or hinder their potential antidepressant properties.

The same cannot be said for the other anti-inflammatory agents that have been tested as antidepressants and that have contributed to the effect size estimates of recent meta-analyses. Consider NSAIDs. In addition to the complication mentioned above (i.e., that they may actually have proinflammatory properties in the context of chronic inflammation), these agents have a number of depression-relevant actions not directly connected with their immune effects.

For example, celecoxib, the agent most often studied for its antidepressant properties, enhances the translocation of the glucocorticoid receptor from cytoplasm to nucleus, inhibits NA+ and K+ channels in neurons, and increases cadherin 11, an adhesion molecule that plays an important role in synaptic plasticity and that produces antidepressant- and anti-anxiety-like effects in animal models [30]. On the other hand, NSAIDs also block the CNS actions of p11. In animal models, SSRIs acutely activate cytokines in the CNS, which is necessary for p11 induction [31]. Induction of p11, in turn, is required for these agents to produce an antidepressant-like effect. Taken together, these findings suggest that NSAIDs have off target effects that might explain why they might not work as antidepressants.

Omega-3 fatty acids have multiple biological effects that likely contribute to their anti-inflammatory capacity, including suppression of arachidonic acid content/activity and inhibition of nuclear factor kappa-beta, as well as stimulation of g-protein receptor 120 and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)-gamma [32, 33]. But like NSAIDs, omega-3 fatty acids have a number of off target effects that might contribute to an antidepressant effect. In addition to wide ranging effects on membrane stability and function, both EPA and DHA have been shown to promote neurogenesis independently of effects on inflammation, which – in animal models at least – appears to be an important prerequisite for inducing antidepressant-like effects [34].

5 Antidepressant Effects Secondary to Improvement of the Underlying Medical Disease

A second potential confound in meta-analyses of the antidepressant effect of antiinflammatory agents derives from the fact that many of the included studies examined populations with medical diseases that are likely to benefit directly from anti-inflammatory therapies. For example, three of the four cytokine antagonist studies included in the Kohler et al. meta-analysis examined patients with psoriasis, and five of the ten NSAID studies (including all that evaluated NSAIDs as monotherapy for depression) examined patients with active and symptomatic osteoarthritis (OA) [26].

The obvious challenge posed by the inclusion of these studies is that antiinflammatories may have antidepressant properties in these illnesses primarily because they reduce primary disease symptoms that are contributing to the depression in the first place. Indeed, both psoriasis and osteoarthritis are associated with high levels of depression, raising the possibility that the effective treatment of these disease states might reduce depression in and of itself. If so, then the antidepressant effects of anti-inflammatories should be associated with their ability to improve underlying disease state symptoms. In fact, this was the case for both the cytokine antagonist and NSAID studies included in the Kohler et al. meta-analysis that examined patients with psoriasis or osteoarthritis. In the five included studies that compared ibuprofen, naproxen, celecoxib with placebo in patients with osteoarthritis improvement in OA symptoms was strongly associated with improvements in depressive symptoms. [35] A similar picture emerges from studies examining the impact of cytokine antagonists on depressive symptoms in patients with psoriasis. While a large study that compared the TNF antagonist etanercept with placebo found that improvements in depression did not correlate with improvements in psoriasis symptoms (although improvements in fatigue did correlate with improvements in psoriasis) [36], two subsequent studies found medium to large effect-size correlations between improvements in depression and psoriasis in response to treatment with the TNF antagonist adalimumab (r = 0.50, p < 0.0001) and the IL-12/IL-23 antagonist ustekinumab (r = 0.32, p < 0.0001) [37, 38].

6 Limitations in Study Design and Irregularities in the Presentation of Findings

We have highlighted the fact that studies examining the antidepressant effects of anti-inflammatories in patients with psoriasis or OA suffer from confounds. These studies in medically ill patients suffer from another limitation, which is that they did not specifically enroll participants with clinically significant levels of depression. In the Tyring et al. study of etanercept in psoriasis only 15% of 618 participants entered the study with depressive symptoms of severity sufficient to qualify for

entry into most antidepressant trials [36]. Similar low levels of depressive symptom severity also characterized the Langley et al. study of ustekinumab in 1,230 patients with psoriasis (11% with moderate or greater severity depressive symptoms) [38]. In the final cytokine antagonist study in psoriasis approximately 33% of participants qualified for having depression based on a Zung score \geq 50 [37]. In the 5 trials comparing celecoxib, naproxen, ibuprofen, and placebo in patients with OA, baseline scores were even lower (average score of 3 on the 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire, with moderate depression starting at a score of 15) [35].

The same issue plagues the largest study of healthy individuals included in the Kohler et al. meta-analysis (N = 2233) [39]. This trial examined the effects of celecoxib vs. naproxen vs. placebo on depressive symptoms cognitively normal adults over the age of 70. Despite the large sample size, however, only 1/5 of the study subjects had "significant depression" defined by cut-off score of >5 on the Geriatric Depression Scale. No effect of NSAID treatment was seen on depression scores in the population as a whole, or in participants who entered the trial with elevated depressive symptom scores.

These low levels of depressive symptoms have the potential to introduce a "floor effect" that might well obscure efficacy had these studies been conducted in participants with clinically relevant depression. Convergent support for this possibility comes from the literature examining omega-3 fatty acids. A recent meta-analysis that only included participants with rigorously defined MDD found a larger effect size for omega-3s than did earlier meta-analyses that included participants with lesser degrees of depression did not [28]. And in a negative meta-analysis conducted by Bloch and Hannestad, increasing baseline depressive symptom severity was associated with a larger effect size difference between omega 3s and placebo [40].

A recent meta-analysis of anti-inflammatory agents in patients with bipolar disorder included two studies of NSAIDs. One study examined their efficacy as augmenting agents in patients currently in a depressed or mixed state and found no effect [41]. The other study examined the addition of aspirin to euthymic patients with bipolar disorder and – not surprisingly given the patients' baseline status – found no effect [42]. On the other hand, the Kohler et al. meta-analysis found evidence for an anti-inflammatory effect of NSAIDs based on the inclusion of four trials that examined the impact of augmenting standard antidepressants with the selective cyclooxygenase (COX) 2 inhibitor celecoxib in medically healthy individuals with diagnosed major depression.

But, as with the literature more generally, issues with these studies suggest caution in our interpretation of their findings. Muller et al. conducted a well-designed and described study that has received significant attention since its publication in 2006 [43]. In this study 40 individuals with DSM-IV diagnosed major depression were randomized on a 1-to-1 basis to 6 weeks of reboxetine plus celecoxib or 6 weeks of reboxetine plus placebo. Although drop-out rates were very high (i.e., 10 in the celecoxib group and 9 in the placebo group), at the end of the trial a last-observation-carried-forward methodology found a significantly larger

improvement in depressive symptoms in the group randomized to adjunctive celecoxib than to adjunctive placebo (effect size calculated as d = 0.58).

Given the small sample size and high drop-out rate, results from the Muller et al. study should certainly be considered suggestive and intriguing rather than definitive. Deeper difficulties plague the remaining three studies of celecoxib augmentation of SSRIs. Two of these studies were conducted by the same research group, based at the Tehran University of Medical Sciences [44, 45], and a third small trial was published by another group in Iran (Moshiri et al.) [26]. Both studies from the Tehran University of Medicine group show strikingly large effect size advantages for celecoxib vs. placebo augmentation (calculated by us as d = 1.09 for Akhondzadeh et al. and reported as d = 0.95 for Abbasi et al.).

Intriguingly, the absolute difference in change scores between randomized groups in these studies was quite modest – approximately 3 points on the 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale. To show statistical significance for this type of difference (which is typically what antidepressants deliver), pharmaceutical concerns in the west need to enroll at least 100 participants per randomized arm, consistent with the fact that effect sizes for antidepressant trials are typically a third of those observed in the two Iranian-based trials of celecoxib augmentation. So how did the two celecoxib augmentation studies achieve such large effect sizes and concomitant statistical significance with such small populations and modest between-group differences in mean symptom change?

The answer lies in the fact that the Iranian study samples showed little variation in outcomes (i.e., the standard deviations for change scores in both study arms are very small). A similar pattern of small variations in outcome and very large effect sizes has been reported by this group for a number of non-traditional interventions in psychiatric conditions (i.e., effect size of 1.76 for crocus sativus [saffron] as an antidepressant) [46], strongly suggesting that the relevant subject populations are qualitatively different from those recruited in other cultural milieus. Although the third study of adjunctive celecoxib reports more modest statistical differences between active treatment and placebo as a result of using more rigorous non-parametric statistics appropriate to the small sample size, the absolute differences in change score between celecoxib and placebo were similar to those observed in the Tehran University studies. Taken together, these considerations suggest that caution may be in order regarding any expectation that NSAID augmentation will show similarly large effects in other sociocultural settings.

7 What Can We Learn from Cytokine Antagonism in Medically Healthy Adults with MDD?

It is an interesting paradox that in a field filled with studies there is, to my knowledge, only one randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study in the world's literature to date that utilizes an anti-inflammatory agent with no "off-

target" effects (infliximab) in patients with rigorously defined major depression [24]. Because we conducted the study I am especially aware of its limitations and weaknesses. Nevertheless, because it is the only study of its type, I suggest that it provides the most direct insights currently available into the question of whether anti-inflammatory activity, per se (and cytokine blockade in particular), will emerge as an "all-purpose" antidepressant mechanism.

This study randomized 60 medically healthy adults with treatment-resistant major depression (defined as a score ≥ 2 using the Massachusetts General Hospital Staging method) to either three infusions of the TNF-alpha antagonist infliximab (5 mg/kg) vs. three infusions of salt water placebo. Infusions were delivered at baseline, study week 2, and study week 6 and clinician- and self-report-based assessments of depressive symptoms and related constructs were obtained at baseline (i.e., pre-treatment) and at study weeks 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 12. Enrolled subjects were either off antidepressants or on a stable antidepressant regimen for at least 4 weeks prior to study entry without appreciable clinical response. Subjects who entered on an antidepressant regimen were required to maintain this regimen throughout the study period. Ninety percent of the randomized sample completed the 12-week study.

The results from the study were unequivocal. The groups were as close to each other in outcome as could be expected by chance (i.e., p = 0.92), and – in fact – placebo outperformed infliximab on a numeric basis. These findings do not auger well for the hypothesis that cytokine blockade holds promise as an "all purpose" antidepressant modality, with the caveat that placebo rates were strikingly high (i.e., around 50%) which might have obscured real – but small – antidepressant effects of the infliximab.

Interestingly, however, the similar responses to placebo and infliximab hid a complexity that I believe provides an important key to understanding not just the antidepressant potential of anti-inflammatory agents, but the relationship between inflammation and MDD more generally. We entered the study predicting that increased measures of peripheral inflammation prior to the receipt of a study intervention would be associated with an improved response to infliximab, but not placebo. This hypothesis turned out to be truer than we would have guessed based on what we understood about the association between inflammation and depression at the time we designed the study. As expected, a linear relationship was observed between increasing plasma concentrations of high-sensitivity c-reactive protein (hs-CRP) and antidepressant response to infliximab and TNF. What we didn't expect was that this relationship would show a true dose-response pattern, meaning that depressed participants with low levels of baseline peripheral inflammation did worse on infliximab than placebo. Because we expected a null relationship between placebo administration, inflammation, and antidepressant responses, we also did not predict that increasing peripheral inflammation would be associated with *reduced* placebo responses, but that is what we found.

The "sweet spot" for infliximab effectiveness was an hs-CRP plasma concentration of 5 mg/L. Participants with inflammatory activity above this level did better with infliximab than placebo, with a medium effect size of 0.41, which is in line with the efficacy of antidepressants against placebo in most studies. On the other hand, participants with hs-CRP below 5 mg/L did better on placebo than infliximab (effect size 0.82). Importantly, in participants with hs-CRP levels about 5 mg/L the response to infliximab was not the result of only impacting "sickness symptoms" such as fatigue, but resulted from a reduction in the core major depressive disorder (MDD) symptoms of depressed mood and anhedonia, and from other symptoms often considered "emotional" as opposed to "somatic," including suicidal ideation and psychic anxiety.

8 Facing the Etiologic and Treatment Implications of the U-Shaped Curve

Results from our infliximab study await replication. Pending this, it is striking that an exactly similar pattern of findings was observed in a study that examined EPA vs. docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) vs. placebo as monotherapy in MDD [25]. Neither of the omega-3 fatty acids showed any evidence of superiority over placebo in the group as a whole. But EPA showed a large effect size advantage over both placebo and DHA in participants with increases in any of a number of inflammatory biomarkers at baseline. Conversely, depressed participants with low levels of inflammatory markers actually did worse on omega-3s than on placebo, exactly as we observed with infliximab.

These findings present us with a conundrum. We know from studies with both acute inflammatory stimulators (i.e., LPS) and chronic stimulators (i.e., IFN-alpha) that individuals vary in their sensitivity to inflammation. For any given "dose" of inflammatory exposure some individuals get far more depressed than others. This suggests that even low levels of inflammation should be depressogenic in vulner-able individuals, and that because of this they might well benefit from an anti-inflammatory intervention. But, as we've seen, treatment studies do not support this, and in fact suggest the opposite: that blocking inflammatory signaling in depressed individuals with low levels of inflammation is actually counter-productive.

In beginning to resolve this paradox two points are important to consider. First, studies of the behavioral effects of acute cytokine stimulation are universally conducted in participants without clinical depression. Second, the doses of IFN-alpha used in treatment studies are so high that all individuals are being exposed to levels of inflammatory stimulation that far exceed anything relevant for individuals with MDD and low levels of inflammation. It may be that such high chronic cytokine exposure distorts relationships between the immune system and brain/neuroendocrine pathways that pertain at lower levels of inflammatory signaling.

That the relationship between inflammation and depression might be complex (i.e., non-linear or "u-shaped") has been suggested by studies in the literature that

have not gotten the attention they deserve. For example, significant evidence from animal studies that at lower concentrations inflammatory cytokines in the CNS play a pivotal role in learning and memory and other processes in the brain that maintain neuronal integrity including synaptic plasticity [47]. In addition to the importance of the amount of inflammation present at any given time, it may well be that inflammatory activity has different effects on depression depending on its timing relative to initiating environmental causes. For example, blocking CNS microglial activation at the onset of a chronic unpredictable stressor (CUS) abrogated the later development of depressive-like symptoms in a rodent model, consistent with the likely role of inflammation as a transducer of environmental stress into behavioral pathology [48]. But paradoxically, once mice had been exposed to the CUS, antiinflammatory interventions worsened their depressive and anxiety-like behavior, whereas treatment with several inflammatory stimulators (including LPS) actually reversed the already-existent depressive-like behavior, and did so in concert with stimulation of hippocampal microglial proliferation.

Is it possible that acute inflammatory stimulation may produce depression in humans who are not depressed, but have antidepressant properties in patients – who like the mice already exposed to the chronic stressor – have endured long-term activation of stress pathways in the brain and body? Although this sounds far-fetched, at least one study in humans suggests this idea may have some merit. In a small open trial conducted in the 1990s, Bauer et al. administered LPS to seven melancholically depressed adults and monitored sleep using polysomnography for two nights prior to, and two nights following the LPS administration [49]. LPS increased plasma concentrations of TNF-alpha and IL-6, suppressed REM sleep, and produced a significant reduction in depressive symptoms the following day. The more IL-6 increased in response to LPS, the more depressive symptoms decreased the following day. Upon recovery sleep the next night, 5 of the 7 subjects relapsed, but 2 continued to show improved depression scores. The limitations of this type of small, open trial are obvious, but the results are nonetheless intriguing, and when coupled with animal data showing that inflammatory cytokines play important roles in healthy brain functioning when not chronically elevated.

9 Conclusions

Although much work remains to be done, data collected to date suggests that the role of inflammatory cytokines as pathogenic agents in major depression is likely limited to a subset of patients with evidence of inflammatory hyperactivity. Fortunately, increasing data suggest that easily obtainable measures of inflammation, such as hs-CRP, hold promise as markers for the sub-group of depressed individuals most likely to benefit from anti-inflammatory treatment strategies. But the converging lines of evidence suggesting that cytokines may have positive effects at lower concentrations or as acute stimuli in the context of severe depression/chronic stress highlight the need for restraint in our desire to apply a "cookie-cutter"

approach to the use of anti-inflammatories in the treatment of depression more generally.

Finally, for all the reasons I've discussed, anti-inflammatory agents are unlikely to be antidepressants as the term is typically conceived. But in this regard they may be no different than other agents currently approved for the treatment of MDD. Recent mathematical modeling suggests that behind the modest differences in mean change scores typically observed between antidepressants and placebo hides a more complex truth. Based on a large subject sample, John Crystal's group at Yale has shown that approximately 75% of patients who receive antidepressants obtain significant short-term clinical benefit [50]. However, 25% of patients actually do much worse on antidepressants than on placebo. This result, and others like it [51], strongly resembles our findings with infliximab in treatment-resistant depression and the findings of Rapaport et al. with omega-3 fatty acids. The only difference may be that in the case of anti-inflammatory interventions, we have biomarkers that make who does and doesn't respond seem a little less mysterious than is the case with classical antidepressants.

References

- 1. Miller AH, Raison CL (2015) The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. Nat Rev Immunol 16(1):22–34
- Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W et al (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67(5):446–457
- Mostafavi S, Battle A, Zhu X et al (2014) Type I interferon signaling genes in recurrent major depression: increased expression detected by whole-blood RNA sequencing. Mol Psychiatry 19(12):1267–1274
- 4. Haapakoski R, Mathieu J, Ebmeier KP, Alenius H, Kivimaki M (2015) Cumulative metaanalysis of interleukins 6 and 1beta, tumour necrosis factor alpha and C-reactive protein in patients with major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 49:206–215
- 5. Howren MB, Lamkin DM, Suls J (2009) Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 71(2):171–186
- Pasco JA, Nicholson GC, Williams LJ et al (2010) Association of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein with de novo major depression. Br J Psychiatry 197:372–377
- Vaccarino V, Johnson BD, Sheps DS et al (2007) Depression, inflammation, and incident cardiovascular disease in women with suspected coronary ischemia: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute-sponsored WISE study. J Am Coll Cardiol 50(21):2044–2050
- Huang TL, Lin FC (2007) High-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels in patients with major depressive disorder and bipolar mania. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31 (2):370–372
- Liukkonen T, Silvennoinen-Kassinen S, Jokelainen J et al (2006) The association between C-reactive protein levels and depression: results from the northern Finland 1966 birth cohort study. Biol Psychiatry 60(8):825–830
- Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos C, Chrysohoou C et al (2004) Inflammation, coagulation, and depressive symptomatology in cardiovascular disease-free people; the ATTICA study. Eur Heart J 25(6):492–499
- Danner M, Kasl SV, Abramson JL, Vaccarino V (2003) Association between depression and elevated C-reactive protein. Psychosom Med 65(3):347–356

- 12. Pearson TA, Mensah GA, Alexander RW et al (2003) Markers of inflammation and cardio-vascular disease: application to clinical and public health practice: a statement for healthcare professionals from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American Heart Association. [see comment]. Circulation 107(3):499–511
- 13. Duval F, Mokrani MC, Bailey P et al (2000) Serotonergic and noradrenergic function in depression: clinical correlates. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2(3):299–308
- Anisman H, Gibb J, Hayley S (2008) Influence of continuous infusion of interleukin-1beta on depression-related processes in mice: corticosterone, circulating cytokines, brain monoamines, and cytokine mRNA expression. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 199(2):231–244
- Muller N, Schwarz MJ (2007) The immune-mediated alteration of serotonin and glutamate: towards an integrated view of depression. Mol Psychiatry 12(11):988–1000
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9 (1):46–56
- Haroon E, Raison CL, Miller AH (2011) Psychoneuroimmunology meets neuropsychopharmacology: translational implications of the impact of inflammation on behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology. Epub
- Moieni M, Irwin MR, Jevtic I, Olmstead R, Breen EC, Eisenberger NI (2015) Sex differences in depressive and socioemotional responses to an inflammatory challenge: implications for sex differences in depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 40(7):1709–1716
- 19. Raison CL, Borisov AS, Broadwell SD et al (2005) Depression during pegylated interferonalpha plus ribavirin therapy: prevalence and prediction. J Clin Psychiatry 66(1):41–48
- 20. Franzen PL, Buysse DJ, Rabinovitz M, Pollock BG, Lotrich FE (2010) Poor sleep quality predicts onset of either major depression or subsyndromal depression with irritability during interferon-alpha treatment. Psychiatry Res 177(1–2):240–245
- Lotrich FE (2009) Major depression during interferon-alpha treatment: vulnerability and prevention. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 11(4):417–425
- 22. Lotrich FE, Ferrell RE, Rabinovitz M, Pollock BG (2009) Risk for depression during interferon-alpha treatment is affected by the serotonin transporter polymorphism. Biol Psychiatry 65(4):344–348
- 23. Prather AA, Rabinovitz M, Pollock BG, Lotrich FE (2009) Cytokine-induced depression during IFN-alpha treatment: the role of IL-6 and sleep quality. Brain Behav Immun
- 24. Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ et al (2012) A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1–11
- 25. Rapaport MH, Nierenberg AA, Schettler PJ et al (2016) Inflammation as a predictive biomarker for response to omega-3 fatty acids in major depressive disorder: a proof-of-concept study. Mol Psychiatry 21(1):71–79
- 26. Kohler O, Benros ME, Nordentoft M et al (2014) Effect of anti-inflammatory treatment on depression, depressive symptoms, and adverse effects: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. JAMA Psychiatry
- 27. Rosenblat JD, Kakar R, Berk M et al (2016) Anti-inflammatory agents in the treatment of bipolar depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Bipolar Disord 18(2):89–101
- Mocking RJ, Harmsen I, Assies J, Koeter MW, Ruhe HG, Schene AH (2016) Meta-analysis and meta-regression of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation for major depressive disorder. Transl Psychiatry 6:e756
- Scher JU, Pillinger MH (2009) The anti-inflammatory effects of prostaglandins. J Investig Med 57(6):703–708
- 30. Manabe T, Togashi H, Uchida N et al (2000) Loss of cadherin-11 adhesion receptor enhances plastic changes in hippocampal synapses and modifies behavioral responses. Mol Cell Neurosci 15(6):534–546

- 31. Warner-Schmidt JL, Vanover KE, Chen EY, Marshall JJ, Greengard P (2011) Antidepressant effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are attenuated by antiinflammatory drugs in mice and humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(22):9262–9267
- 32. Calder PC (2012) Mechanisms of action of (n-3) fatty acids. J Nutr 142(3):592S-599S
- 33. Dyall SC (2015) Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids and the brain: a review of the independent and shared effects of EPA, DPA and DHA. Front Aging Neurosci 7:52
- 34. Katakura M, Hashimoto M, Okui T, Shahdat HM, Matsuzaki K, Shido O (2013) Omega-3 polyunsaturated Fatty acids enhance neuronal differentiation in cultured rat neural stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2013:490476
- 35. Iyengar RL, Gandhi S, Aneja A et al (2013) NSAIDs are associated with lower depression scores in patients with osteoarthritis. Am J Med 126(11):1017 e1011–e1018
- 36. Tyring S, Gottlieb A, Papp K et al (2006) Etanercept and clinical outcomes, fatigue, and depression in psoriasis: double-blind placebo-controlled randomised phase III trial. [see comment]. Lancet 367(9504):29–35
- 37. Menter A, Augustin M, Signorovitch J et al (2010) The effect of adalimumab on reducing depression symptoms in patients with moderate to severe psoriasis: a randomized clinical trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 62(5):812–818
- 38. Langley RG, Feldman SR, Han C et al (2010) Ustekinumab significantly improves symptoms of anxiety, depression, and skin-related quality of life in patients with moderate-to-severe psoriasis: results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial. J Am Acad Dermatol
- 39. Fields C, Drye L, Vaidya V, Lyketsos C, Group AR (2012) Celecoxib or naproxen treatment does not benefit depressive symptoms in persons age 70 and older: findings from a randomized controlled trial. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 20(6):505–513
- 40. Bloch MH, Hannestad J (2012) Omega-3 fatty acids for the treatment of depression: systematic review and meta-analysis. Mol Psychiatry 17(12):1272–1282
- 41. Nery FG, Monkul ES, Hatch JP et al (2008) Celecoxib as an adjunct in the treatment of depressive or mixed episodes of bipolar disorder: a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled study. Hum Psychopharmacol 23(2):87–94
- 42. Saroukhani S, Emami-Parsa M, Modabbernia A et al (2013) Aspirin for treatment of lithiumassociated sexual dysfunction in men: randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. Bipolar Disord 15(6):650–656
- 43. Muller N, Schwarz MJ, Dehning S et al (2006) The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib has therapeutic effects in major depression: results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled, add-on pilot study to reboxetine. Mol Psychiatry 11(7):680–684
- 44. Abbasi SH, Hosseini F, Modabbernia A, Ashrafi M, Akhondzadeh S (2012) Effect of celecoxib add-on treatment on symptoms and serum IL-6 concentrations in patients with major depressive disorder: randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. J Affect Disord 141 (2–3):308–314
- 45. Akhondzadeh S, Jafari S, Raisi F et al (2009) Clinical trial of adjunctive celecoxib treatment in patients with major depression: a double blind and placebo controlled trial. Depress Anxiety 26 (7):607–611
- 46. Moshiri E, Basti AA, Noorbala AA, Jamshidi AH, Hesameddin Abbasi S, Akhondzadeh S (2006) Crocus sativus L. (petal) in the treatment of mild-to-moderate depression: a double-blind, randomized and placebo-controlled trial. Phytomedicine 13(9–10):607–611
- Yirmiya R, Goshen I (2011) Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. Brain Behav Immun 25(2):181–213
- Kreisel T, Frank MG, Licht T et al (2014) Dynamic microglial alterations underlie stressinduced depressive-like behavior and suppressed neurogenesis. Mol Psychiatry 19(6):699–709
- 49. Bauer J, Hohagen F, Gimmel E et al (1995) Induction of cytokine synthesis and fever suppresses REM sleep and improves mood in patients with major depression. Biol Psychiatry 38(9):611–621

- Gueorguieva R, Mallinckrodt C, Krystal JH (2011) Trajectories of depression severity in clinical trials of duloxetine: insights into antidepressant and placebo responses. Arch Gen Psychiatry 68(12):1227–1237
- 51. Papakostas GI, Shelton RC, Zajecka JM et al (2014) Effect of adjunctive L-methylfolate 15 mg among inadequate responders to SSRIs in depressed patients who were stratified by biomarker levels and genotype: results from a randomized clinical trial. J Clin Psychiatry 75(8):855–863

Are Non-steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs Clinically Suitable for the Treatment of Symptoms in Depression-Associated Inflammation?

Bernhard T. Baune

Abstract The aetiology and pathophysiology of depression have long been associated with inflammation, at least in a proportion of patients. Altered cytokine activity in the periphery and in the brain has brought support to a concept of depression-associated inflammation. However, these immunological changes and inflammation in particular – in depression have only been recently targeted for treatment. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) have been proposed to be of clinical use in the treatment of depression either as monotherapy or as adjuncts in combination with antidepressants. Specifically, selective cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 and non-selective COX inhibitor NSAIDs as adjuncts or monotherapy have been trialled clinically. A limited body of clinical research has been conducted with mixed results so far. Although meta-analyses appear to support the use of NSAIDs in acute depression, the overall effect is mainly biased by the effects of celecoxib for which the best evidence exists to date. Efficacy data of non-selective COX inhibitor NSAIDs on depressive symptoms is limited and out of six studies, only a retrospective analysis shows positive results for non-selective COX inhibitor. Clinical data on aspirin, an irreversible inhibitor of both COX-1 and COX-2, are mainly experimental and hypothetical at this stage, but may be promising in depressed patients with concomitant inflammatory conditions. The main problematic factor is that current evidence rests on trials in acute depression. Because of the dynamic nature of depression, it is important exploring if NSAIDs and other anti-inflammatory treatments may have a preventive role in early stages of depression and for relapse prevention. The possible impact of anti-inflammatory treatments on immune changes in different phases of depression warrants caution

B.T. Baune (🖂)

Discipline of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia

e-mail: Bernhard.baune@adelaide.edu.au

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 303–320 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_19 Published Online: 12 July 2016

for a wide and preventive use of anti-inflammatory agents in depression-associated inflammation.

Keywords Depression-associated inflammations • Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs • Phases of depression • Prevention

Contents

1	Intro	duction: Symptoms and Mechanisms of Depression-Associated Inflammation	304
2	Pharmacological Approaches to Depression-Associated Inflammation		306
	2.1	Non-steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Treatments in Depression	306
	2.2	Is There a Role for Aspirin in the Treatment of Depression-Associated	
		Inflammation?	308
	2.3	Anti-Inflammatory Interventions Using Targeted Antagonists	309
3	Phas	es of Depression and Dynamic Immune Changes: A Concept for Targeted	
	Anti	-Inflammatory Interventions	310
4	Caut	tion Warranted Using Anti-Inflammatory Agents in Depression	312
	4.1	Complex Pharmacology of Anti-Inflammatory Agents and Dynamic Course	
		of Depression	313
	4.2	Potential Side-Effects of Anti-Inflammatory Agents	314
5	Cone	clusions and Future Directions	315
Re	ferend	ces	316

1 Introduction: Symptoms and Mechanisms of Depression-Associated Inflammation

Novel treatment strategies for depression are urgently needed. Recent global data suggests unipolar depression currently ranks 11th for disability adjusted life years, a 37% increase since 1990 [1]. The burden is expected to continue to grow into the twenty-first century [1, 2]. Hence, this is an unprecedented burden of depressive illness requiring increased effort to find novel therapeutic agents for treatment [3]. Additionally, more than 50% of patients on antidepressants will not achieve remission following initial treatment [4], and nearly one-third will not achieve remission following several treatment steps [5, 6].

While the pathophysiology of depression still requires understanding of key mechanisms that are translatable into treatment approaches, the role of inflammation and immune activation more generally in depressive symptoms has long been discussed and recently gained momentum as a potential treatment target. Growing evidence suggests that pro-inflammatory cytokines play a major role in the pathophysiology of depression. A number of studies, both experimental and meta-analytic analyses, suggest an increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6, in the brain of patients with major depressive disorder (MDD) [7–10]. A seminal meta-analysis [7] of 24 studies found significantly higher concentrations of the pro-inflammatory cytokines, tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α

and interleukin (IL)-6, in depressed subjects compared with control subjects. An updated meta-analysis [11] of IL-6, C-reactive protein (CRP) and TNF- α found higher levels of IL-6 and CRP in depressed patients versus controls (29 studies for IL-6 and 20 for CRP). These studies strengthen the clinical evidence that symptoms of depression can be accompanied by an activation of the inflammatory response system [7].

Medical illnesses can induce a variety of biological and behavioural responses, including fever, anorexia, weight loss, fatigue, sleep disturbances, motor retardation, dysphoria, anhedonia, impaired cognition and depressed mood, which are all seen in major depression. Administration of pro-inflammatory cytokines can induce such symptoms in animals [12] and humans [13–15]. These symptoms are often referred to as sickness behaviour. The biological pathways by which cytokines may mediate depression are poorly understood, though a number of mechanisms have been proposed:

- 1. The 'pro-inflammatory cytokines' affect serotonin (5-HT) metabolism by reducing tryptophan (TRP) levels. Cytokines appear to activate indoleamine-2-3dioxygenase (IDO), an enzyme which metabolizes TRP, thereby reducing serotonin levels. Furthermore, inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , may reduce extracellular 5-HT levels, via activation of the serotonin transporter mechanisms.
- Pro-inflammatory cytokines have a potent direct effect on the hypothalamic– pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis. Cytokines, including IL-1, IL-6, TNF-α and IFN-α, have been shown to increase inflammatory responses by disrupting the function of glucocorticoid receptors (GRs).

Infection and tissue damage can lead to increased local cytokine production both within and outside of the CNS. Cytokines are large, hydrophilic molecules, which do not easily cross the blood brain barrier under normal conditions. Peripheral cytokines may, however, communicate with the cerebrum through various pathways. These include communication with the CNS through the afferent sensory fibres of the vagus nerve. Other pathways of communication can occur through passive diffusion at areas where the blood brain barrier is deficient or by active transport of cytokines stimulated by the central noradrenergic system. Peripheral cytokines may also activate neural afferents, leading to synthesis of IL-6 within the brain by microglia and endothelial cells [16–18].

In the CNS, cytokines may exert their effects by activating the HPA axis. Pro-inflammatory cytokines induce gene expression and synthesis of corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF), which stimulates adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) release and causes glucocorticoid secretion [19]. An activated HPA axis may lead to a further rise in pro-inflammatory cytokines, through a complex positive feedback loop. Stress can lead to increased cytokine levels and an induction of catecholamines via an activation of the HPA axis, which may further increase pro-inflammatory cytokines [18]. Cytokines may also directly affect higher cognitive and emotional functions [20], possibly leading to depression and the associated cognitive dysfunction.

Inflammation and cytokines in particular as carriers of inflammation have been shown to exert a variety of neurobiological effects relevant to depression. Specifically, cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and interferon (IFN)- γ impact key neurobiological processes such as neuroplasticity, neurotransmission, oxidative stress and neuroendocrinological functions that are considered to be central to the development of depression [20-24]. Pro-inflammatory cytokines impair hippocampal (HC) neuroplasticity (e.g. neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity and long-term potentiation (LTP)), induce glucocorticoid insensitivity of the HPA axis, increase oxidative stress in the HC, reduce serotonin (5-HT) levels and create neurotoxic serotoninergic metabolites (i.e. 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) and quinolinic acid (QA) [21, 24–27]. Astrocytes and microglia also key components of the innate immune system also play a role in the pathophysiology of depression [22]. Microglia that are a major producer of pro-inflammatory cytokines and are important regulators of HC neuroplasticity, oxidative stress and OA have increased activity in depression [28]. Microglia can cause detrimental processes when activated, while producing beneficial processes when quiescent. A recent study [28] used positron emission tomography to better understand neuroinflammation in depression. The binding activity of the TPSO in microglia is indicative of microglia activity and related inflammatory processes in the brain. Investigators found increased binding in all brain regions, especially the prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex and insula in depressed subjects. Moreover, astrocytes that have shown a prominent role in releasing neurotrophic and anti-oxidant factors have also been found to be activated in depression [29]. A range of clinical and pre-clinical studies indicate astrocytic abnormality in depression, leading to detrimental processes in the brain [30].

2 Pharmacological Approaches to Depression-Associated Inflammation

2.1 Non-steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Treatments in Depression

Given the clinical and mechanistic relationship between inflammation and depression, both selective cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 and non-selective COX inhibitor non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) have been investigated as possible adjuncts in the treatment of depression with antidepressants [31–44]. The results are mixed based on various study designs ranging from retrospective cohort studies [32–34, 36, 41], randomized-controlled trials (RCTs) [34, 38–40] to nested case-control studies [41]. While some studies have found positive antidepressant effects [31, 38, 40, 41], others have found no effect [32, 34, 43] and yet others have found detrimental effects suggesting NSAIDs may reduce the antidepressant effect of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) [36, 44]. These mixed results may

be due to various reasons such as differing antidepressant classes and doses, the use of varying selective COX-2 and/or non-selective COX inhibitor NSAIDs, study design, age of study population, as well as the consideration of populations with varying degrees of depressive symptomatology and presence of comorbid medication conditions.

NSAIDs are classically thought to have a beneficial effect on the brain in depression [45], thought to be due to their ability to reduce the central and peripheral pro-inflammatory state commonly seen in depression [22]. COX-1 is a major player in mediating pro-inflammatory microglial activation [46], hence blocking this enzyme should be beneficial. Moreover, recent evidence indicates that depression is accompanied by increased COX-2 activity [47, 48], hence postulating a role of COX-2 in depression pathophysiology. Galecki et al. [48] found mRNA expression of genes encoding for COX-2 were significantly increased in the peripheral blood cells of recurrent depressive disorder patients (n = 181) vs. controls (n = 149).

The differing efficacy of selective COX-2 vs. non-selective COX inhibitor NSAIDs raises important questions about their pharmacological actions. Our understanding of the physiological and pathophysiological effects of COX-1 and 2 is still limited. For example, COX-1 is predominantly pro-inflammatory, mediating pro-inflammatory microglial activation [46], and is considered detrimental to the brain [49], whereas COX-2 can exert both beneficial and detrimental effects on the brain (see, for review, [50]). A recent meta-analysis of RCTs suggests that celecoxib, a selective COX-2 inhibitor NSAID, has a therapeutic effect when used adjunctively with antidepressants [51]. However, mechanistic evidence suggests that selective COX-2 inhibitor NSAIDs may actually increase neuroinflammation, Th1 immune responses and glial cell activation [46, 49, 52]. Various mechanistic explanations for the inconsistent effects of NSAIDs in the clinical treatment of depression need to be considered. Some NSAIDs may have more efficacy than others based on COX enzyme effects; however, this is still subject to debate [46, 49, 52]. Evidence from rodent studies indicates that by-products of COX-2 metabolism (e.g. prostaglandin D2 and docohexanoic acid) exert anti-inflammatory effects [49]. Given this, aspirin is thought to be a more desirable compound given it preferentially targets COX-1 over COX-2 [50]. COX-1 may play a more significant role in neuroinflammation in depression-like states; however, this is poorly understood [49, 50, 52]. Some evidence indicates that NSAIDs may have a minimal and potentially detrimental effect on depressive symptoms by attenuating the effects of SSRIs [44]. A rodent study by Warner-Schmidt et al. [44] shows that SSRIs increase TNF- α , IFN- γ and p11 levels in the frontal cortex. The NSAID, ibuprofen, reduced these levels and attenuated the antidepressant-like actions of SSRIs, but not of tricyclic or monoamine oxidase inhibitors. In a rodent study, it was attempted to differentiate the effects of COX-1 and COX-2 enzymes on systemic immune cell migration [53]. This study found that the inhibition of COX-1 activity reduces leukocyte recruitment into the inflamed CNS (via intracerebroventricular lipopolysaccharide), whereas selective COX-2 inhibition increases this recruitment [53], suggesting differential chemotactic effects of these enzymes on the brain. These mechanistic findings may assist to explain the variety of clinical study results found in human trials on the therapeutic effects of NSAIDs in depression and they suggest that the design of clinical trials requires the consideration of different pharmacological properties. In addition, effects of NASAIDs on depressive symptoms may depend upon the presence of an inflammatory state that has been shown repeatedly in patients with comorbidities such as osteoarthritis or psoriasis and depressive symptoms [51]. Unfortunately, clinical trials of NSAIDs in depression have not stratified patients according to the presence of inflammation yet.

2.2 Is There a Role for Aspirin in the Treatment of Depression-Associated Inflammation?

Aspirin is an NSAID, and an irreversible inhibitor of both COX-1 and COX-2. It is more potent in its inhibition of COX-1 than COX-2, and targeting COX-2 alone may be a less viable therapeutic approach in neuropsychiatric disorders such as depression. While some clinical evidence indicates beneficial effects for aspirin in mood disorders through a shortened onset of action of antidepressants [54], negative results come from epidemiological analyses of 5,556 older men, which showed no association between current aspirin use and depression [32]. In an intervention study of 70 patients with depression, administration of aspirin together with fluoxetine conferred a greater reduction of oxidative stress markers compared with fluoxetine monotherapy [55]. More generally it is currently investigated if low dose aspirin has the potential to extend a healthy process of aging and disability free life among the elderly in the "ASPirin in Reducing Events in the Elderly (ASPREE)" study [56]. As ASPREE will examine whether the potential primary prevention benefits of low dose aspirin outweigh the risks in older healthy individuals, its secondary endpoints include all-cause and cause specific mortality, fatal and non-fatal cardiovascular events, fatal and non-fatal cancer (excluding non-melanoma skin cancer), dementia, mild cognitive impairment, depression, physical disability and clinically significant bleeding. This study will be providing data and insight into the preventive effects of low dose aspirin on depression development with and without comorbidities characterized by inflammation (e.g. osteoarthritis, cardiovascular diseases and cancer). At this stage of the literature, it is too early to conclude any replicated clinical effects of aspirin in depression whether with or without concomitant inflammatory state, hence, the current state of knowledge for aspirin in depression is mainly experimental and hypothetical.

2.3 Anti-Inflammatory Interventions Using Targeted Antagonists

A range of biological antagonists are available such as Infliximab, a chimeric bivalent IgG1 monoclonal antibody composed of a human constant region and murine variable regions, adalimumab – a humanized bivalent mouse IgG1 monoclonal antibody and etanercept – a fusion protein comprised of human IgG fused to a dimer of the extracellular regions of TNF- α -R-2. Additionally anti-TNF therapy is being considered as an option in improving postoperative cognitive dysfunction [57]. Research into the effects of centrally and peripherally administered TNF- α blockade has shown clinical efficacy on cognition and depressive symptoms and has improved our understanding of cytokine actions in the CNS [58–60]. In addition, a recently published trial in an animal model under peripheral LPS stimulation showed that centrally administered etanercept reduced anxiety-like behaviours, but not spatial memory and was associated with a decrease in hippocampal microglia numbers being suggestive that etanercept recovers anxiety-like behaviour possibly mediated by a reduction of TNF- α related central inflammation [61].

However, there are two problems with this approach. First, the BBB prevents a deep penetration of the monoclonal antibody into the CNS tissue and second, while basal levels of TNF- α are still required for normal functioning, animal models have shown that the complete lack of TNF- α due to genetic modification results in cognitive impairment [62]. This is possibly due to the influence that TNF- α exerts on NGF and BDNF. An imbalance in TNF- α causes subsequent deregulation in these neurotrophins ultimately leading to morphological changes in the hippocampus such as decreased arborization of pyramidal neurons [63]. Additionally, the role TNF- α plays in long-term potentiation (LTP) and depression (LTD) formation by up-regulation of AMPA receptors [64] and endocytosis of GABA receptors [65] is crucial in the development of synaptic neuroplasticity related memory and learning [20]. Therefore, though complete blockage may prove to be initially beneficial, long-term negative effects may manifest and make further research into these effects necessary. The complex signaling pathways of TNF- α and its receptors and the duality of its function in being both neuroprotective and neurodegenerative make for a compelling argument against the validity and long-term benefits of anti-TNF- α therapies. TNF- α may both exacerbate and attenuate cognitive dysfunction depending on the physiological context [66, 67]. Clearer perspectives into TNF- α signaling and pharmacological interventions that can target specific apoptotic factors in the TNF-α receptor-associated pathways, rather than complete blockage of TNF- α or of its receptors would make for more effective therapeutics in treatment of neurological disorders in which TNF- α is an active participant.

Investigations of alternative pathways to inhibit neuroinflammation show promising results. In a study examining the effect of ubiquitin-specific processing protease 8 (USP8) in luteolin-treated microglia, it was found that luteolin inhibits microglial inflammation by enhancing USP8 protein production and USP8 might represent a novel mechanism for the treatment of neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration [68]. In addition, it has been shown that blocking the kinase activity of RIP1, a key druggable target in the necroptosis pathway, by necrostatins inhibits the activation of necroptosis and allows cell survival and proliferation in the presence of death receptor ligands [69]. Hence, targeting RIP1 kinase may provide therapeutic benefits for the treatment of human diseases characterized by necrosis and inflammation. Although still experimental and hypothetical, a robust RIP3-dependent necroptosis signaling pathway in TLR-activated microglia upon caspase blockade has been reported that suggests that TLR signaling and programmed cell death pathways are closely linked in microglia, which could contribute to neuropathology and neuroinflammation [70]. A role of RIP3dependent necroptosis has also been suggested for TNF-alpha-induced toxicity of hippocampal neurons. Specifically, it has been shown that TNF-alpha promotes CYLD-RIP1-RIP3-MLKL-mediated necroptosis of hippocampal neurons largely bypassing ROS accumulation and calcium influx [71]. Taken together, these RIP1/ RIP3 dependent pathways in TLR-activated microglia and TNF-alpha-induced toxicity may present future targets for intervention provided future research extends these experimental findings.

3 Phases of Depression and Dynamic Immune Changes: A Concept for Targeted Anti-Inflammatory Interventions

Given the highly dynamic nature of clinical depression with different phases ranging from pre-symptomatic, first episode, recurrent episode to a high proportion of chronicity of the disease, it is important to consider anti-inflammatory treatment effects according to the clinical phase of depression. Different phases of depression can be distinguished. A pre-clinical phase of depression is characterized by sub-threshold symptoms and risk factors for the development of depression. In this phase, a proportion of people may not go on to develop a depressive episode whereas some patients may develop a first or recurrent major depressive episode. When symptomatology is not self-limited and endures or reaches higher severity, an onset of a clinical phase of depression occurs during which the depressive symptoms may be mild, moderate or severe and may include melancholic, atypical, psychotic and non-melancholic symptomatology. This clinical phase can be a first episode for an individual and interestingly, studies suggest that 60-90% of adolescents with depressive episode show remission within 1 year [72, 73]. However, 50-70% of remitted patients suffer >1 subsequent depressive episodes within 5 years [74]. Importantly, only a few adults experience a full symptomatic and functional remission between depressive episodes with a high risk of long-term loss of function [75, 76].

In addition to the variation in clinical symptomatology according to the phase of depression, the biology of inflammation and related immune alterations may also depend on the stage of illness. Hence, our group has recently suggested a staging



Fig. 1 A phase-specific neuroimmune model of clinical depression with remission. This figure represents an acute clinical depressive episode with full remission in the context of the 3 phases of the phase-specific neuroimmune model of clinical depression – sub-syndromal, acute clinical and post-acute phases. The *x*-axis shows the relevant phases; the *y*-axis shows the level of immune-mediated dysfunction which can occur. The *coloured lines* represent the various types of immune-mediated dysfunction. The *grey dashed line* shows the immune dysfunction threshold line whereby a clinically significant depressive episode is diagnosable. *Abbreviations: IL* interleukin, *TNF* tumour necrosis factor, *IFN* interferon, *BDNF* brain-derived neurotrophic factor, *LTP* long-term potentiation, *ROS* reactive oxygen species, *3-HK* 3-hydroxykynurenine, *QA* quinolinic acid, *KA* kynurenic acid, *Th* T helper, *T reg* T regulatory cell

model of inflammation in depression according to three phases [77]: *sub-syndromal, acute clinical* and *post-acute*. The model postulates that changes of the innate and the adaptive immune system in depression vary according to the phase of the illness as outlined in Figs. 1 and 2. The phases are represented by various interrelated neuroimmune, neuroplasticity and neuroprotection changes. Taken together, these stages represent a potential range of clinical scenarios relevant to depression and to anti-inflammatory treatment. While at this stage of the research, studies on anti-inflammation effects in depression-related inflammation have investigated the effects of anti-inflammatories on acute phases of depression. Hence, future studies need to investigate whether anti-inflammatory treatments may have clinical efficacy at pre-symptomatic stages to prevent fullonset of the disease and whether relapse prevention can be achieved using anti-inflammatory treatments (Fig. 3).



Fig. 2 A phase-specific neuroimmune model of clinical depression: Chronic major depressive episode with progressive features and cognitive dysfunction. This figure represents a chronic major depressive episode with progressive depressive features and cognitive dysfunction. The *x*-axis shows the relevant phases (sub-syndromal, acute clinical and post-acute); the *y*-axis shows the level of immune-mediated dysfunction which can occur. The *coloured lines* represent the various types of immune-mediated dysfunction. The *grey dashed line* shows the immune dysfunction threshold line whereby a clinically significant depressive episode is diagnosable. *Abbreviations: IL* interleukin, *TNF* tumour necrosis factor, *IFN* interferon, *BDNF* brain-derived neurotrophic factor, *LTP* long-term potentiation, *ROS* reactive oxygen species, *3-HK* 3-hydroxykynurenine, *QA* quinolinic acid, *KA* kynurenic acid, *Th* T helper, *T reg* T regulatory cell

4 Caution Warranted Using Anti-Inflammatory Agents in Depression

It is important to note that the short- and particularly the long-term use of NSAIDs either for acute or preventive treatment of depression-associated inflammation carry a variety of caveats that need careful consideration. This is not to undermine the potential clinical utility of anti-inflammatory agents in depression, but to be cautious that the apparent simplicity of the idea that anti-inflammatory agents improve depressive symptoms in depression-associated inflammation does not lead to an uncritical practice. These factors include pharmacological properties of anti-inflammatory agents as well as dynamic clinical and immunological changes that can occur during various phases of clinical depression.



(-) no evidence

(+) limited evidence

Fig. 3 Level of evidence for treatment of phases of depression with anti-inflammatory agents

4.1 Complex Pharmacology of Anti-Inflammatory Agents and Dynamic Course of Depression

Key issues based on the pharmacology of anti-inflammatory agents and on the dynamic course of immune changes in various phases of depression are important to consider. These include the (1) immunophysiology of COX enzymes, (2) nuance of cytokine signaling and (3) reported phase-specific involvement of the immune system in depression. Firstly, COX enzyme immunophysiology is incompletely understood [78]. Evidence from rodent studies suggests that by-products of COX-2 metabolism (e.g. prostaglandin D2 and docohexanoic acid) exert anti-inflammatory effects, therefore it can be argued that selective COX-2 inhibitor NSAIDs may increase neuroinflammation, Th1 immune responses and glial cell activation [46]. COX-1 is predominantly pro-inflammatory [46]. Taken together, non-selective COX-inhibitor NSAIDs would theoretically be more effective than COX-2 inhibitors [78], however, there are no quality trial exploring non-selective COX inhibitors.

Secondly, blanket blockade of pro-inflammatory cytokine signaling may not be advisable [22]. For example, TNF- α receptors have mostly opposing functions, i.e. Receptor 1 primarily mediates pro-inflammatory/neurodegenerative activities, whereas Receptor 2 is primarily involved in neuroprotective processes [22]. The Janus-faced signaling pathways of TNF- α make an argument against anti-TNF- α therapies; and indeed TNF- α inhibitors have small to negligible antidepressant effects as per the Kohler et al. publication [79]. A deeper understanding of cytokine biology and pathway-specific therapeutic manipulation is needed.

Thirdly, the phase of depression during which anti-inflammatory drugs are applied prompts further thoughts. While the onset of an episode and certain symptoms of depression appear well explained by this inflammatory model, the underpinnings of the episodic and progressive nature, as well as relapse and remission status in depression require attention [29]. There is an emerging clinical and basic science evidence to suggest a phase-specific profile of immune-mediated dysfunction [29]. Anti-inflammatory pharmacotherapy may need to be used according to the phase of illness, and may need to be tailored based on the immune profile of the patient [29]. There is evidence to suggest anti-inflammatory treatments used outside the acute clinical phase may be detrimental [29]. As part of such a phase-specific model of inflammatory agents only work, if peripheral inflammation is established whether anti-inflammatory agents only work, if peripheral inflammation before commencement of the anti-inflammatory trial with the aim to stratify patients for presence and absence or degree of inflammation. Further research is required to address this important gap in clinical research in depression-

4.2 Potential Side-Effects of Anti-Inflammatory Agents

In addition to the above reasons for caution of un-reflected and premature clinical use of anti-inflammatory drugs, possible side-effects of anti-inflammatory drugs need further consideration. The current state of the literature suggests that the occurrence of potential side-effects on the use of NSAIDs needs further consideration, especially when considered as preventive treatments on large population scales. NSAIDs are among the most commonly used agents in clinical practice. They are employed as anti-inflammatory, analgesic and antipyretic agents for a wide spectrum of clinical conditions. Their anti-inflammatory properties are primarily due to inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis. Acute CNS toxicity related to NSAID use is pervasive and varied. A prospective study looking at ibuprofen overdose noted that 30% of patients experience CNS effects ranging from drowsiness to coma. Case reports have identified numerous neurologic sequelae including ataxia, vertigo, dizziness, recurrent falls, nystagmus, headache, encephalopathy and disorientation. Seizures have also been reported, mostly after overdose ingestions, but even therapeutic doses have occasionally been associated with seizures. One of the important neurologic side-effect attributed to the use of NSAIDs is aseptic meningitis. The clinical signs of drug-induced meningitis are similar to those of infectious meningitis and include fever, headache, photophobia and stiff neck. The laboratory findings are also similar, including cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) pleocytosis of several hundred or thousand cells, mainly neutrophils, elevated levels of protein, normal or low glucose levels and negative cultures. Drug-induced meningitis is a transient disorder with an excellent prognosis.

Most or all drugs used for the treatment of headache, including NSAIDs, may cause a condition known as medication overuse headache – a refractory chronic daily headache that tends to resolve following discontinuation of the analgesics. Reye's syndrome is a rare severe illness strongly associated with aspirin use.

Aspirin, the classic and most commonly used NSAID, has a well-documented effect in inhibiting intravascular clotting, thus reducing the occurrence of ischemic strokes and other vascular events. NSAIDs, however, have a double impact on coagulation. On the one hand, most agents inhibit the synthesis of thromboxane in the platelets, thereby inhibiting coagulation. On the other hand, they also inhibit the production of prostacyclin by endothelial cells, resulting in a prothrombotic state. Selective inhibition of COX-2 by drugs such as rofecoxib (Vioxx) and valdecoxib (Bextra) results in specific inhibition of synthesis of prostaglandins participating in inflammation and can lead to vascular complications including an increased risk for stroke [80].

5 Conclusions and Future Directions

Although clinical depression has long been associated with inflammation, limited treatment options have resulted from this immune-associated pathophysiology of depression. The literature suggests that an increased inflammatory response may define a subgroup of individuals in ultra-high-risk states, in acute disease episodes and of those with severe mental illness. Among anti-inflammatory agents and NSAIDs specifically, the selective COX inhibitor celecoxib shows the most evidence for antidepressant effects; however, the body of accumulated evidence on the role of selective and non-selective COX inhibitors is small and not suited to give clinical guidance at this stage. One could even argue that clinical proof-of-concept studies are still required before entering a phase of larger clinical trials. An improvement of future study methodologies would include the measure of the inflammation status of patients entering the trial. Future study results may point then to an indicated anti-inflammatory treatment based on the inflammation status of patients with clinical depression at commencement of the intervention. This might particularly apply to depressed patients with – but not limited to – concomitant inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and other chronic inflammatory conditions. Moreover, if anti-inflammatory treatment proves to be useful in acute depression, it is clinically worthwhile exploring whether this treatment has potential for treating also more severe forms of depression in the acute stage, and whether it is useful for relapse prevention. While the consideration of the phase of the illness is important for developing a potential phase-specific treatment approach using NSAIDs, the literature clearly points to the dynamic nature of the immune response in depression [29] and shows an involvement of both the innate and adaptive immune system in depression [81]. A focus on inflammation only might be shortsighted. While it has been shown that inflammation can be detrimental to the neurobiology of the brain, it has also been suggested that inflammation may lead to an increase in impaired neuroprotective mechanisms; hence a concept of enhancing neuroprotection plus a reduction in inflammation may be an extended avenue for future interventions. While progress has been made in the understanding of the role of inflammation in depression and first antiinflammatory treatments show some potential clinical value, the field is far away from an indicated and evidence-based approach for the use of anti-inflammatory agents in depression-associated inflammation. Clearly, an in-depth clinical study program including proof-of-concept studies is required to enhance the knowledge before NSAIDs can clinically be recommended as suitable agents for the treatment of symptoms in depression-associated inflammation.

References

- Musil R, Schwarz MJ, Riedel M et al (2011) Elevated macrophage migration inhibitory factor and decreased transforming growth factor-beta levels in major depression—no influence of celecoxib treatment. J Affect Disord 134:217–225
- 2. Howren MB, Lamkin DM, Suls J (2009) Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 71:171–186
- 3. Liu S, Wang X, Li Y et al (2014) Necroptosis mediates TNF-induced toxicity of hippocampal neurons. Biomed Res Int 2014:290182
- 4. Uher R, Carver S, Power RA et al (2012) Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and efficacy of antidepressants in major depressive disorder. Psychol Med 1–9
- Rush AJ, Trivedi MH, Wisniewski SR et al (2006) Bupropion-SR, sertraline, or venlafaxine-XR after failure of SSRIs for depression. N Engl J Med 354:1231–1242
- Setiawan E, Wilson AA, Mizrahi R et al (2015) Role of translocator protein density, a marker of neuroinflammation, in the brain during major depressive episodes. JAMA Psychiatry 72: 268–275
- Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W et al (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67:446–457
- Haroon E, Raison CL, Miller AH (2012) Psychoneuroimmunology meets neuropsychopharmacology: translational implications of the impact of inflammation on behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:137–162
- 9. Kent S, Bluthe RM, Kelley KW et al (1992) Sickness behavior as a new target for drug development. Trends Pharmacol Sci 13:24–28
- March J, Silva S, Petrycki S et al (2004) Fluoxetine, cognitive-behavioral therapy, and their combination for adolescents with depression: Treatment for Adolescents With Depression Study (TADS) randomized controlled trial. JAMA 292:807–820
- Hannestad J, Dellagioia N, Bloch M (2011) The effect of antidepressant medication treatment on serum levels of inflammatory cytokines: a meta-analysis. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:2452–2459
- Kim SJ, Li J (2013) Caspase blockade induces RIP3-mediated programmed necrosis in Tolllike receptor-activated microglia. Cell Death Dis 4, e716
- 13. Capuron L, Ravaud A (1999) Prediction of the depressive effects of interferon alfa therapy by the patient's initial affective state. N Engl J Med 340:1370
- Mendlewicz J, Kriwin P, Oswald P et al (2006) Shortened onset of action of antidepressants in major depression using acetylsalicylic acid augmentation: a pilot open-label study. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 21:227–231
- 15. Rush AJ, Trivedi MH, Wisniewski SR et al (2006) Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several treatment steps: a STAR*D report. Am J Psychiatry 163:1905–1917
- 16. Pasco JA, Jacka FN, Williams LJ et al (2010) Clinical implications of the cytokine hypothesis of depression: the association between use of statins and aspirin and the risk of major depression. Psychother Psychosom 79:323–325

- Rosenstein DL, Lerner D, Cai J (1999) More on the depressive effects of interferon alfa. N Engl J Med 341:849–850
- Terrando N, Monaco C, Ma D et al (2010) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha triggers a cytokine cascade yielding postoperative cognitive decline. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:20518–20522
- 19. Stellwagen D, Beattie EC, Seo JY et al (2005) Differential regulation of AMPA receptor and GABA receptor trafficking by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Neurosci 25:3219–3228
- Mcdonald EM, Mann AH, Thomas HC (1987) Interferons as mediators of psychiatric morbidity. An investigation in a trial of recombinant alpha-interferon in hepatitis-B carriers. Lancet 2:1175–1178
- Dantzer R, O'connor JC, Freund GG et al (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:46–56
- 22. Eyre H, Baune BT (2012) Neuroplastic changes in depression: a role for the immune system. Psychoneuroendocrinology
- Holtzheimer PE, Meeks TW, Kelley ME et al (2008) A double blind, placebo-controlled pilot study of galantamine augmentation of antidepressant treatment in older adults with major depression. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 23:625–631
- Miller GE, Cole SW (2012) Clustering of depression and inflammation in adolescents previously exposed to childhood adversity. Biol Psychiatry 72:34–40
- Eyre HA, Stuart M, Baune BT (2014) A phase-specific neuroimmune model of depression. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 54:265–274
- 26. Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR et al (2000) Natural course of adolescent major depressive disorder in a community sample: predictors of recurrence in young adults. Am J Psychiatry 157:1584–1591
- 27. Muller N (2013) The role of anti-inflammatory treatment in psychiatric disorders. Psychiatr Danub 25:292–298
- Shelton RC (2012) Does concomitant use of NSAIDs reduce the effectiveness of antidepressants? Am J Psychiatry 169:1012–1015
- 29. Fava GA, Ruini C, Belaise C (2007) The concept of recovery in major depression. Psychol Med 37:307–317
- Peschon JJ, Torrance DS, Stocking KL et al (1998) TNF receptor-deficient mice reveal divergent roles for p55 and p75 in several models of inflammation. J Immunol 160:943–952
- 31. Akhondzadeh S, Jafari S, Raisi F et al (2009) Clinical trial of adjunctive celecoxib treatment in patients with major depression: a double blind and placebo controlled trial. Depress Anxiety 26:607–611
- 32. Almeida OP, Alfonso H, Jamrozik K et al (2010) Aspirin use, depression, and cognitive impairment in later life: the health in men study. J Am Geriatr Soc 58:990–992
- 33. Almeida OP, Flicker L, Yeap BB et al (2012) Aspirin decreases the risk of depression in older men with high plasma homocysteine. Transl Psychiatry 2, e151
- 34. Fond G, Hamdani N, Kapczinski F et al (2013) Effectiveness and tolerance of antiinflammatory drugs' add-on therapy in major mental disorders: a systematic qualitative review. Acta Psychiatr Scand
- 35. Galecki P, Florkowski A, Bienkiewicz M et al (2010) Functional polymorphism of cyclooxygenase-2 gene (G-765C) in depressive patients. Neuropsychobiology 62:116–120
- 36. Golan H, Levav T, Mendelsohn A et al (2004) Involvement of tumor necrosis factor alpha in hippocampal development and function. Cereb Cortex 14:97–105
- 37. Muller N, Schwarz MJ, Dehning S et al (2006) The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib has therapeutic effects in major depression: results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled, add-on pilot study to reboxetine. Mol Psychiatry 11:680–684
- Murray CJ, Vos T, Lozano R et al (2012) Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 380:2197–2223

- Na KS, Lee KJ, Lee JS et al (2013) Efficacy of adjunctive celecoxib treatment for patients with major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 48C: 79–85
- 40. O'brien SM, Scott LV, Dinan TG (2004) Cytokines: abnormalities in major depression and implications for pharmacological treatment. Hum Psychopharmacol 19:397–403
- Peng L, Verkhratsky A, Gu L et al (2015) Targeting astrocytes in major depression. Expert Rev Neurother 15:1299–1306
- 42. Song C (2002) The effect of thymectomy and IL-1 on memory: implications for the relationship between immunity and depression. Brain Behav Immun 16:557–568
- 43. Warner-Schmidt JL, Vanover KE, Chen EY et al (2011) Antidepressant effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are attenuated by antiinflammatory drugs in mice and humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:9262–9267
- 44. Zhou W, Yuan J (2014) Necroptosis in health and diseases. Semin Cell Dev Biol
- 45. Davis A, Gilhooley M, Agius M (2010) Using non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in the treatment of depression. Psychiatr Danub 22(Suppl 1):S49–S52
- 46. Maes M, Bosmans E, De Jongh R et al (1997) Increased serum IL-6 and IL-1 receptor antagonist concentrations in major depression and treatment resistant depression. Cytokine 9:853–858
- 47. Galecki P, Galecka E, Maes M et al (2012) The expression of genes encoding for COX-2, MPO, iNOS, and sPLA2-IIA in patients with recurrent depressive disorder. J Affect Disord 138:360–366
- 48. Galecki P, Szemraj J, Bienkiewicz M et al (2009) Oxidative stress parameters after combined fluoxetine and acetylsalicylic acid therapy in depressive patients. Hum Psychopharmacol 24: 277–286
- 49. Aid S, Bosetti F (2011) Targeting cyclooxygenases-1 and -2 in neuroinflammation: therapeutic implications. Biochimie 93:46–51
- 50. Berk M, Dean O, Drexhage H et al (2013) Aspirin: a review of its neurobiological properties and therapeutic potential for mental illness. BMC Med 11:74
- 51. Nery FG, Monkul ES, Hatch JP et al (2008) Celecoxib as an adjunct in the treatment of depressive or mixed episodes of bipolar disorder: a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled study. Hum Psychopharmacol 23:87–94
- 52. Aid S, Langenbach R, Bosetti F (2008) Neuroinflammatory response to lipopolysaccharide is exacerbated in mice genetically deficient in cyclooxygenase-2. J Neuroinflammation 5:17
- 53. Choi SH, Aid S, Choi U et al (2010) Cyclooxygenases-1 and -2 differentially modulate leukocyte recruitment into the inflamed brain. Pharmacogenomics J 10:448–457
- 54. Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009) Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 65:732–741
- 55. Gallagher PJ, Castro V, Fava M et al (2012) Antidepressant response in patients with major depression exposed to NSAIDs: a pharmacovigilance study. Am J Psychiatry 169:1065–1072
- 56. Haapakoski R, Mathieu J, Ebmeier KP et al (2015) Cumulative meta-analysis of interleukins 6 and 1beta, tumour necrosis factor alpha and C-reactive protein in patients with major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 49:206–215
- 57. Toben C, Baune BT (2015) An act of balance between adaptive and maladaptive immunity in depression: a role for T lymphocytes. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 10:595–609
- 58. Couch Y, Anthony DC, Dolgov O et al (2013) Microglial activation, increased TNF and SERT expression in the prefrontal cortex define stress-altered behaviour in mice susceptible to anhedonia. Brain Behav Immun 29:136–146
- 59. Moylan S, Maes M, Wray NR et al (2012) The neuroprogressive nature of major depressive disorder: pathways to disease evolution and resistance, and therapeutic implications. Mol Psychiatry
- 60. Trivedi MH, Rush AJ, Wisniewski SR et al (2006) Evaluation of outcomes with citalopram for depression using measurement-based care in STAR*D: implications for clinical practice. Am J Psychiatry 163:28–40

- 61. Camara ML, Corrigan F, Jaehne EJ et al (2014) Effects of centrally administered etanercept on behavior, microglia, and astrocytes in mice following a peripheral immune challenge. Neuropsychopharmacology
- Baune BT, Wiede F, Braun A et al (2008) Cognitive dysfunction in mice deficient for TNFand its receptors. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 147B:1056–1064
- 63. Group AI (2013) Study design of ASPirin in Reducing Events in the Elderly (ASPREE): a randomized, controlled trial. Contemp Clin Trials 36:555–564
- 64. Beattie EC, Stellwagen D, Morishita W et al (2002) Control of synaptic strength by glial TNFalpha. Science 295:2282–2285
- 65. Szelenyi J, Vizi ES (2007) The catecholamine cytokine balance: interaction between the brain and the immune system. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1113:311–324
- 66. Maes M (2012) Targeting cyclooxygenase-2 in depression is not a viable therapeutic approach and may even aggravate the pathophysiology underpinning depression. Metab Brain Dis 27: 405–413
- Pollmacher T, Haack M, Schuld A et al (2002) Low levels of circulating inflammatory cytokines—do they affect human brain functions? Brain Behav Immun 16:525–532
- Dunner DL, Rush AJ, Russell JM et al (2006) Prospective, long-term, multicenter study of the naturalistic outcomes of patients with treatment-resistant depression. J Clin Psychiatry 67: 688–695
- 69. Zhu L, Bi W, Lu D et al (2014) Regulation of ubiquitin-specific processing protease 8 suppresses neuroinflammation. Mol Cell Neurosci
- 70. Kohler O, Benros ME, Nordentoft M et al (2014) Effect of anti-inflammatory treatment on depression, depressive symptoms, and adverse effects: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. JAMA Psychiatry 71:1381–1391
- Longhi L, Ortolano F, Zanier ER et al (2008) Effect of traumatic brain injury on cognitive function in mice lacking p55 and p75 tumor necrosis factor receptors. Acta Neurochir Suppl 102:409–413
- 72. Eyre H, Air T, Proctor S et al (2015) A critical review of the efficacy of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs in depression. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 57:11–16
- Mcafoose J, Baune BT (2009) Evidence for a cytokine model of cognitive function. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 33:355–366
- 74. Licinio J (2011) Translational psychiatry: leading the transition from the cesspool of devastation to a place where the grass is really greener. Transl Psychiatry 1, e1
- 75. Conradi HJ, Ormel J, De Jonge P (2011) Presence of individual (residual) symptoms during depressive episodes and periods of remission: a 3-year prospective study. Psychol Med 41: 1165–1174
- 76. Fields C, Drye L, Vaidya V et al (2011) Celecoxib or naproxen treatment does not benefit depressive symptoms in persons age 70 and older: findings from a randomized controlled trial. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry
- 77. Eyre HA, Stuart MJ, Baune BT (2014) A phase-specific neuroimmune model of clinical depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 54:265–274
- Eyre H, Baune BT (2012) Neuroplastic changes in depression: a role for the immune system. Psychoneuroendocrinology 37:1397–1416
- 79. Leonard B, Maes M (2012) Mechanistic explanations how cell-mediated immune activation, inflammation and oxidative and nitrosative stress pathways and their sequels and concomitants play a role in the pathophysiology of unipolar depression. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 36:764–785
- Auriel E, Regev K, Korczyn AD (2014) Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs exposure and the central nervous system. Handb Clin Neurol 119:577–584
- Tobinick EL, Gross H (2008) Rapid cognitive improvement in Alzheimer's disease following perispinal etanercept administration. J Neuroinflammation 5:2

Does Diet Matter? The Use of Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (PUFAs) and Other Dietary Supplements in Inflammation-Associated Depression

Caitlín N.M. Hastings, Hannah Sheridan, Carmine M. Pariante, and Valeria Mondelli

Abstract An increasingly pertinent issue in psychiatry in recent years is that of the limitations of conventional antidepressants, which are not effective in a large number of patients with major depressive disorder (MDD). Coupled with emerging hypotheses about the role of inflammation in depression, it would appear that it is time to look for alternative treatments for these symptoms.

This review will examine an emerging area in psychiatry, that of dietary supplements and the diet in general to treat depressive symptoms, and inflammation in depression. In particular, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), probiotics and folic acid are three supplements that demonstrate the ability to target inflammation and other underlying systems in depression. While there is a definite need for more research in all these supplements to determine true efficacy, dosage and target populations, they can be used as mono- or adjunctive therapies to good effect, and show superior safety profiles when compared with more traditional alternatives.

Keywords Depression • Diet • Folic acid • Inflammation • Probiotics • PUFAs

Contents

1	Intro	duction	322
2	Dieta	ary Supplements in Depression	323
	2.1	Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids	324
	2.2	Probiotics	328
	2.3	Folic Acid	331

e-mail: valeria.mondelli@kcl.ac.uk

C.N.M. Hastings, H. Sheridan, C.M. Pariante, and V. Mondelli (🖂)

Department of Psychological Medicine, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, Maurice Wohl Clinical Neuroscience Institute, Cutcombe Road, London SE5 9RT, UK

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 321–338 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_31 Published Online: 4 June 2016

3	Final Remarks and Future Research	332
Ref	erences	333

1 Introduction

While conventional antidepressants have been one of the most notable psychiatric developments since the mid twentieth century, the increase in limitations reported among depressed populations cannot be ignored. Worryingly, figures suggest that only a modest proportion (almost one-third) of patients ever achieve remission with monoamine antidepressant therapy alone [1]. As a consequence, a number of novel therapeutic approaches have been considered in order to ameliorate depressive symptoms, including changes in lifestyle and diet. Developing treatments targeted towards the heterogeneity of depression is not only required for improved quality of life among individuals with major depressive disorder (MDD) but remains an important aspect of translating more recent findings, produced from the *brainmind-body trichotomy*, into clinical practice [2]. Diet, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and other dietary supplements in particular have been shown to address this multifaceted origin of depression by targeting multiple biological systems, including the inflammatory system, which has recently been recognized as crucially involved in this disorder.

Since MDD is a multifactorial disorder, several mechanisms are likely to underlie its aetiology. Thus, a number of hypotheses have been put forward in an attempt to elucidate its origin. The inflammatory hypothesis initially titled the macrophage theory of depression [3], or more recently, the malaise or cytokine theory of depression, has increasing relevance for MDD [4–8]. In short, the bidirectional language between the immune system and the central nervous system (CNS) is thought to be responsible for depressogenic changes caused by an upsurge of pro-inflammatory signalling molecules in certain areas of the brain [8, 9].

According to a widely accepted model, pro-inflammatory cytokines released as a result of stress, or as a direct consequence of immune activation, can cause disruption to monoamine metabolism, neuroendocrine function, synaptic plasticity, glutamate signalling and neurogenesis [4, 10, 11]. Moreover, direct evidence in favour of a causal relationship has been demonstrated by the administration of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and interferon alpha (IFN- α) [12]. In particular, these findings have resulted in an increase in depressive-like symptoms, such as low mood, anxiety, fatigue, anhedonia, cognitive dysfunction and disturbed sleep [4, 13].

Given findings in support of the *inflammatory hypothesis*, associations between inflammatory status and treatment response have opened up the possibility of producing reliable inflammatory biomarkers to improve upon treatments for this heterogeneous disorder [14, 15]. Emerging is the notion that attenuating inflammatory-mediated processes provides relief from depressive symptomology [7, 16–19]. Similarly, work conducted in our laboratory has found that higher

baseline gene expression of IL-1 β and TNF- α predicts antidepressant resistance, thus these findings could have translational value for those who do not respond to traditional antidepressants [20]. While the use of anti-inflammatory strategies in the context of depression has obtained most attention, a putative anti-inflammatory and antidepressant effect could be delivered also by dietary supplements that regulate the immune system. Is there any evidence that dietary supplements with anti-inflammatory action can be beneficial for MDD, through inflammatory modulation?

Upon answering this question we will review the findings for different classes of dietary supplements throughout this chapter, with a view to obtain a greater understanding of the pharmacological concepts underlying the mechanisms of these agents, their efficacy and, finally, their relevance to MDD.

2 Dietary Supplements in Depression

Epidemiological studies have consistently demonstrated that diet plays a huge part in overall well-being, both mental and physical. It has also been shown in recent years that the gastrointestinal tract (GI) and the brain are closely related systems, with the GI system able to improve memory and learning, reduce anxiety and regulate stress levels [21]. This bidirectional relationship between the GI tract and CNS has been referred to as the 'brain-gut-axis' [22]. The high co-morbidity between stress-related psychiatric disorders, such as anxiety and depression, and gastric disorders, such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), further strengthens this association [21]. Patients with MDD can also display altered GI function, increased oxidative stress and abnormal nutritional status with deficits in multiple micronutrients, which demonstrates that nutrition must be considered in treatment strategies by clinicians managing these patients [23].

Dietary supplements in general demonstrate a good safety profile, with minor adverse effects, especially when compared to other antidepressants and antiinflammatory pharmacological alternatives. Hence they could be recommended as a safer treatment strategy, when indicated. Supplements can work in tandem with conventional antidepressants to help lessen their more unwanted side effects. For example, some antidepressants may increase blood pressure, and PUFAs may help to counteract these symptoms as they have been suggested to have antihypertensive effects [24]. Moreover, SSRIs have been associated with changes in bone metabolism, with an increased risk of hip fracture in females and loss of bone mineral density [25, 26], whereas folic acid has been proposed as a supplement to help to decrease fractures and so could be considered in tandem with a more traditional approach [27]. However, the most important use of dietary supplements is by a synergistic action in improving the antidepressant effects of other compounds, mainly through an anti-inflammatory action.

At present, the majority of clinical research related to inflammation in depression has been conducted on PUFAs, and so, this topic will encompass the largest
portion of this review. However, consideration will also be given to probiotics and folic acid, which may prove, in coming years, to be as valuable.

2.1 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

PUFAs are omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids derived entirely from dietary sources [28], and include eicosapentaenoic (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) [29]. Their main function is to act as an essential component of membranes, maintaining their integrity and fluidity, and also to give rise to eicosanoids, which affect inflammation [30]. Eicosanoids from n-3 fatty acids reduce the synthesis of arachidonic acid (AA)-derived eicosanoids that are pro-inflammatory, and it is the balance between these fatty acids which maintains homeostasis in the immune system (as discussed in [16]). Indeed, consumption of n-6 PUFAs increases the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1, TNF- α and IL-6, and consumption of n-3 reduces the activity of these n-6 acids, therefore reducing the production of these cytokines [31, 32]. Moreover, inflammatory processes in the central immune system are partly mediated by microglial activation, and n-3 acids inhibit constitutive and lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced microglial activation, pro-inflammatory cytokine production and cyclooxygenase (COX) expression [29]. The therapeutic use of n-3 acids for inflammatory conditions has long been known, and EPA can be used therapeutically in hypertension, diabetes, psoriasis, eczema, coronary heart disease, atherosclerosis and cancer [30].

Epidemiological Studies

In the last century, the Western diet has shifted away from n-3 rich foods, such as fish and flax seed, and is now high in n-6 foods, such as soy and corn oils, with ratios as high as 17:1 reported in favour of n-6 foods, instead of 1:1 in the case of animals and prehistoric humans [33]. This large dietary change may partly contribute to the concomitant rise of inflammatory diseases in modern society, such as cardiovascular disease (CVD), and depression [34].

Epidemiological evidence demonstrates that dietary fish consumption (a major source of n-3) reduces the risk of MDD, seasonal affective disorder (SAD), bipolar disorder and post-partum depression [29]. In an analysis by Hibbeln [35], a strong negative correlation between worldwide fish consumption and rates of MDD was reported from a cross-national depression database. Specifically, this has been demonstrated in the Mediterranean diet, where there is a decreased prevalence and incidence of depression, and the consumption of oily fish is higher [36]. This finding has also been reproduced in parts of Asia, like Japan and Korea, where the diet is higher in n-3 rich seafood. For example, a study by Yoshikawa et al. [37] found that, in a relatively small sample of 500 Japanese participants, increased fish consumption was associated with resilience to depression. Another small study by

Park et al. [38], with Korean participants and controls, demonstrated that the increased consumption of seafood and elevated erythrocyte levels of n-3 were associated with a decreased risk of depression.

Contradictorily, some studies have shown more mixed results, with no significant evidence that n-3 consumption reduces risk of depression/depressive symptoms. For example, a longitudinal study with more than 50,000 female participants between the ages of 50–77, and free from depressive symptoms at baseline, did not show a protective effect of n-3, obtained from a fish diet, on depression risk [39]. The same was also found in a study with almost 30,000 men in Finland, between the ages of 50–69 years, where no association was found between dietary intake of n-3 from fish and depressed mood, major depressive episodes or suicide [40]. These epidemiological studies are limited however, as they do not allow for causality or for certainty on n-3 intake from diet, as this is mainly taken from selfreported measures.

A role of endogenous PUFAs levels in the pathogenesis of depression has also been supported by a few studies that have specifically measured them in the blood of depressed patients. For example, a recent study by Chang et al. [41] has looked at the levels of n-3 in patients with CVD, and discovered that in sufferers with moderate depression (Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HAM-D) score more than 19) there were lower levels of DHA, n-3 and n-6:n-3 ratio than the non-depression group. This finding is mirrored in the general MDD population where lower concentrations of EPA and DHA are shown, with higher ratios of n-6 to n-3 acids when compared with healthy controls [42, 43]. A cross-sectional study correlating depressive symptoms with peripheral serum fatty acids and oxidative stress markers in females found that the depression scores were negatively correlated with concentration of n-3 acids, and positively correlated with IL-6 [44]. Two within-subjects studies found that lower baseline erythrocytes DHA levels and lower DHA plasma levels were correlated with an increased risk of developing depression during IFN- α treatment (a pro-inflammatory cytokine) [45]. A study looking at enzymes which metabolize PUFAs (Phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2)) also found interesting results [46]. In a sample of patients with hepatitis C, the effects of seven single nucleotide polymorphisms in COX2 and PLA2 genes on the development of depression during IFN-α treatment were examined. A subsample of the patients was assessed for the erythrocyte levels of DHA, EPA and AA. It was found that genetic variations in COX2 were associated with lower DHA levels, and PLA2 variations were associated with lower EPA levels. Both increased the risk of IFN- α -induced depression, with the PLA2 Banl GG polymorphism associated with more somatic depressive symptoms. Considering this evidence, it is not surprising that many studies have looked at the potential antidepressant effects of PUFAs, either in the natural diet or as experimental supplementation.

Clinical Trials of PUFAs

PUFAs have been used successfully in clinical trials looking at improving mood in depression and other psychiatric conditions, and it may be wise to use this more robust evidence when considering their efficacy.

N-3 fatty acids have been shown to be successful when used as an adjunctive therapy [47]. This double-blind placebo-controlled trial compared 9.6 g of PUFAs or placebo in addition to usual treatment for 4 months. The sample receiving PUFAs had a longer remission rate and performed better on the majority of outcome measures when compared with the placebo group. In a study by Nemets et al. [48] 2 g of EPA were added to antidepressant medication for patients with MDD, all of whom demonstrated baseline scores of 18 or greater on the HAM-D. After 4 weeks, the mean reduction in the HAM-D scores was 12.4 points in the EPA group, compared with 1.6 in the placebo group. These results imply that n-3 may boost the antidepressant effects of traditional medication.

Moreover, meta-analyses which looked at n-3 fatty acid monotherapy trials in patients with MDD have noted a beneficial effect over placebo for the treatment of depressive symptoms [49–51]. Of note is the first double-blind placebo-controlled trial using PUFAs as a monotherapy in antenatal depression, which found that significant differences between placebo and n-3 were only seen after 6 weeks, implying that we may need longer trials to note efficacy [52]. Monotherapy has also been used to good effect in a paediatric population. A small pilot study examined 20 children between the ages of 6–12, who had suffered from depression for an average of 3 months. The placebo-controlled trial lasted just over 4 months. The treatment cohort received 400 mg of EPA and 200 mg of DHA daily, and 7 out of 10 children had a greater than 50% reduction in the Children's Depression Rating Scale (CDRS), when compared to 0 out of 10 children achieving this in the placebo group [53].

However, the success of these supplements does seem to be associated with the level of EPA, rather than DHA [16, 49, 54]. The addition of solely EPA to a conventional antidepressant was first examined by Puri et al. [55] in a therapeutic case study where it was shown that the dietary supplement had a positive effect on depressive symptoms. This may also explain the heterogeneity in the results of some clinical trials, which can sometimes be contradictory [56]. It has also been noted that the more severe the symptoms and the level of n-3 deficiency at the outset of treatment, the more dramatic the reduction of symptoms over time [49]. There is also evidence indicating that females may be more sensitive to n-3, with higher rates of intake predicting lower depressive symptoms [57, 58]. The dosage of EPA would also appear to be important, as there has been variance amongst trials when this has been examined [42]. However, most studies seem to indicate that the minimum effective dose is approximately 200-2,200 mg of EPA/day [49, 51]. A final point is the one raised by Lesperance et al. [59] that small significant effects may be overestimated. In their trial they found a marginal statistically significant difference between using 1,050 mg/d of EPA and 150 mg/d of DHA versus placebo, but the clinical benefit was minimal. However, there was a benefit for patients with depression without co-morbid anxiety. The reporting of clinical impact would need to be considered when other studies are reporting their findings. Overall, the data suggests that PUFAs do indeed have an impact on mood, but more research is needed to determine the level of EPA vs. DHA, dosage, treatment duration and what patient population it is most effective in.

Potential Effects on Stress- and Inflammation-Related Mechanisms in Depression

Some experimental studies have examined the potential mechanisms by which PUFAs exert an antidepressant effect. The ratio of n-6 to n-3 acids has been demonstrated to influence physiological stress responses in both depressed patients and healthy populations. For example, a study looking at the effects of supplementation with n-3 PUFAs on adrenal activation after an induced stressor (mental arithmetic and Stroop's test) in healthy men found that 3 weeks of fish oil intake resulted in elimination of stress-induced cortisol release and dampened increases in epinephrine [60]. This finding suggests that supplementation for individuals with MDD could have great impact in reducing their stress responses.

Most studies mentioned support the idea that n-3 acids hold anti-inflammatory properties and help to relieve depressive symptoms: but is this reduction in depressive symptoms due to a reduction in inflammation? A preclinical study using the olfactory bulbectomised rat model of depression demonstrated that rats which were fed with EPA, rather than the control sham diet, showed significantly decreased behavioural changes in the open field test and improved spatial memory compared with controls, indicating a normalization of behavioural changes induced by stress (increased locomotor and rearing activity, and impaired memory in the Morris water maze). They also showed reduced corticotrophin-releasing factor (CRF) expression and corticosterone and IL-1 β secretion [61].

Clinical trials have also been conducted, which appear to give good evidence to the theory that PUFAs could be a recommended therapy specifically for treatment of inflammation in depression. In a 2-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial comparing EPA, DHA and placebo in 162 patients receiving IFN- α , it was found that the incident rates of IFN- α induced depression were significantly lower in those treated with EPA, but not DHA, which echoes the findings mentioned earlier in this chapter, although they both delayed the onset of depression versus placebo [62]. In another double-blind trial, 155 participants with depression were randomized to receive EPA, DHA or placebo, and their baseline biomarker data was also captured. It was found that subjects with high levels of IL-1ra, IL-6, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) or leptin were more likely to respond to EPA and also reported the greatest decrease in HAM-D scores [63]. Other populations with increased baseline inflammation may benefit from PUFAs supplements. This could be true, for example, for old-age subjects, since pro-inflammatory cytokine production is increased after menopause or andropause even without the presence

of infection, stress or trauma. In a study examining the ratio of n-6:n-3 and depressive symptoms and pro-inflammatory cytokine synthesis in adults aged 40–86 (mean age of 66.67) it was found that higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines were associated with an increase in depressive symptom severity and also higher n-6:n-3 ratios [64]. Other conditions associated with chronic sub-threshold inflammation such as obesity, which is also strongly associated with increased depression risk [65], would need to be considered by future research with respect to PUFAs supplementation. This is in the context of the strong evidence showing that supplementary treatment with n-3 can help to balance inflammation and reduce the incidence of mood dysregulation.

In conclusion, the main benefit of PUFAs, and the reason to continue pursuing larger scale randomized controlled trials (RCTs), is their favourable safety profile and lack of adverse reactions, including reactions with concomitant medications. For instance, the most common adverse effect reported for PUFAs is gastrointestinal disturbance [66]. Although, the possibility of some supplements containing toxic levels of mercury or vitamin A must be taken into consideration, this risk is negligible in reality. As a result, these supplements would be highly appropriate as a treatment of depression for paediatric populations and also during pregnancy [52]. Moreover, it must be noted that throughout this section the issue of heterogeneity between trials has been mentioned. This issue was discussed further in a metaanalysis conducted by Bloch and Hannestad [67], where they found significant heterogeneity and publication bias in the 13 studies they examined. Worryingly, evidence for the benefits of n-3 was removed when publication bias was adjusted for using the trim-and-fill method. This supports the need for greater attention to the design of RCTs to get a clearer picture of the efficacy of n-3. In this context, the observation that greater efficacy was present when participants showed more severe baseline depression symptoms should be further examined and explored in future research.

2.2 Probiotics

Probiotics, which have been coined 'psychobiotics', are defined as a live organism which, when consumed, can have beneficial effects for those suffering from psychiatric disorders [68]. The use of probiotics in psychiatric research is still in its infancy, its use as an adjunct therapy in depression being first proposed by Logan and Katzman [23]. Moreover, it has been shown that certain bacteria produce neurochemicals relevant to depressive symptoms; for example, strains of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* secrete gamma-aminobutryic acid (GABA), an inhibitory neurotransmitter, which is implicated in anxiety and depression, and this has been suggested to have an effect on the *brain-gut axis* [69]. Other bacteria have also been shown in mice to affect serotonin plasma levels and to produce dopamine and norepinephrine [70, 71]. The *brain-gut axis* is connected predominantly via the

vagus nerves which perform a direct connection between the brain and gut and transmits all hormonal, neuronal and bacterial changes from the intestines [72].

Clinical Studies

The disorder that has received the most treatment with probiotics to date has been IBS, which is well documented to be associated with depression and anxiety. This has been studied with successful results in both the disease-specific and mood symptoms, and also with a parallel reduction in pro-inflammatory cytokines in the blood [73, 74]. In a study with sufferers of chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) consuming a probiotic, it was found that there was a significant improvement in anxiety [75]. Two-month supplementation with probiotics also demonstrated improvements in inflammatory markers and oxidative stress in pregnant women and patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus [76, 77]. This improvement in well-being was also echoed in a study with healthy subjects consuming a probiotic yogurt for a 3-week period [78]: the third of the sample with the lowest baseline mood reported themselves happy rather than depressed after the study was completed. Moreover, in a study by Mohammadi et al. [79] consuming a probiotic yogurt or multispecies probiotic supplement for 6 weeks showed improvements in mental health.

To date, there has been one RCT conducted which examines the effects of probiotics on depression and inflammation. This study by Akkasheh et al. [80] examined 40 patients with MDD receiving a probiotic supplement (*Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus casei* and *Bifidobacterium bifidum*) or placebo for 8 weeks. The authors found significantly decreased Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) scores, oxidative stress and serum hs-CRP concentrations for the participants receiving the probiotic when compared to the placebo group. In addition, while there is a need for more large-scale placebo-controlled trials with probiotics in depression, there have been other studies that have produced some interesting results. For example, a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized parallel group study using healthy human volunteers for 30 days showed that probiotic consumption reduced psychological distress on several scales (Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL-90), the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS), the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) and the Coping Checklist (CCL), and reduced urinary free cortisol (UFC) levels [81].

Potential Mechanisms and Preclinical Studies

As previously mentioned, depression is associated with the presence of biomarkers of inflammation, and in rodent studies it has been shown that stress alters gut-barrier function, with leaked products stimulating Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and resulting in the production of inflammatory cytokines [82]. This has also been demonstrated in rhesus monkeys. Postnatal stress, induced by the separation of the infants from their mothers, altered the microbiota and reduced *Bifidobacterium* and

Lactobacillus levels [83]. Dinan et al. [68] suggested that this might partly explain the pro-inflammatory phenotype, which has been discussed above. The intestinal microbiota also performs an integral role in the immune system; the interaction between the gut mucosa and microbiota balances the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-8, IL-1, IL-10 and TGF-β [84]. A preclinical study with rats treated with Bifodobacteria Infantis for 14 days, and submitted to the forced swim test, found that there were no behavioural effects [85]. However, there was a significant attenuation of IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-6, and an increase in plasma concentrations of tryptophan (a serotonin precursor) and kynurenic acid when compared with controls. Moreover, in another study, rats separated from their mother were placed separately in two groups, and treated with Bifodobacteria Infantis or citalopram [85, 86]. Plasma cytokine levels, brain monoamine levels and central and peripheral HPA hormone levels were measured, and depressive behaviours were examined using the forced swimming test. Treatment with the probiotic was found to reverse depression-like behaviour and to decrease peripheral IL-6.

Interestingly, the immunoregulatory action of probiotics is proposed to work in the same manner as conventional antidepressants [87]. For example, traditional antidepressants have been suggested to, in addition to their actions on the serotonergic system, suppress inflammation by increasing production of the cytokine IL-10 [88]. Probiotics also increase levels of IL-10, but it is unknown if this increase in IL-10 has any effect on mood [89, 90]. Likewise, successful antidepressant treatment affects the HPA-axis in depressed patients, and hyper-response of the HPA-axis found in germ-free mice can be reversed with the use of a probiotic, and in these animals it is also found that levels of norepinephrine (NE) and 5-HT are also significantly reduced [91].

In conclusion, probiotics may prove to be a viable treatment for depression due to their psychoactive and anti-inflammatory properties, changing the gut-barrier function and ultimately reducing depressive symptoms. Indeed, Dinan et al. [68] suggests antibiotics such as minocycline have been shown to have an effect on depressive symptoms and also on inflammation by altering the microbiota. This further strengthens the probability that changes in the gut and inflammation may influence the mood. Other research has also shown that probiotic fortified laboratory chow increases the tissue levels of n-3, which is important given the effects of n-3 demonstrated above [90]. Probiotics may also favour the formation of folate, the effects of which will be discussed in further detail below [92]. This points to the possibility that dietary supplements could be used in tandem to boost each other's effects. The promising research presented in this section merits further investigation with more full-scale randomized placebo-controlled trials examining the effects of probiotics on inflammation in depression. Various strains of probiotics have been used to date, and it is still unknown which the most effective are. Probiotics also have a good safety profile with few side effects and may work well with other treatments for depression. This would be especially relevant if antibiotics such as minocycline are used more regularly in future for the treatment of inflammation in depression. They may help to balance any effects which minocycline would have on intestinal flora while helping to boost the antidepressant effects.

2.3 Folic Acid

Folic acid, or folate, is a B vitamin and must be supplied through dietary consumption in order for humans to meet their daily requirements. Foods such as beans and legumes, leafy green vegetables and oranges are good sources. It is necessary for the synthesis and repair of DNA and as a co-factor in enzymatic reactions [93]. It has also been shown that folic acid deficiencies can be associated with psychiatric conditions such as depression, irritability, altered sleep and altered cognitive functioning, with these conditions responding to folate therapy [94–97]. Lower folate levels in patients with depression have also been linked to lower rates of treatment response to pharmacological interventions [98]. This was shown in a study with depressed geriatric patients with low folate levels taking either sertraline or nortriptyline. They found that the higher baseline folate levels predicted greater treatment response on the Profile of Mood States (POMS); a self-report scale [99].

It has been proposed that folic acid supplementation may result in an antidepressant-like effect, with a reduction in norepinephrine secretion and increased serotonin activity [100, 101]. This would tie in with folate's importance in the methylation of homocysteine, for its conversion to *S*-adenosyl-methionine (SAMe), which has been shown to influence serotonin metabolism and have some antidepressant effects [102]. However, a meta-analysis looking at RCTs using folic acid as an augmentation to antidepressants found that its use may be effective, but would not suffice as a replacement for conventional antidepressants. They were also unable to assess whether this effectiveness was particularly evident in those with low folate, as the studies had not taken a baseline reading from participants [103]. Therefore, endogenous levels of folate would need to be considered in future research.

Folate has also been found to have an impact on the immune system, or rather, a deficiency in folate has been found to be associated with higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Folate levels are a determinant for plasma homocysteine, and increased levels of homocysteine are considered a marker for folate deficiency [104]. High levels of homocysteine make endothelial cells more prone to injury, which in turn leads to inflammation in the blood vessels and this may act as a risk factor for atherogenesis, coronary artery disease and stroke [105]. It has also been shown that folic acid treatment for hyperhomocysteinemia reduced the levels of both homocysteine and pro-inflammatory cytokines [106]. In a study looking at B-vitamin deficiency as a risk factor for vascular disease, it was found that in vitro folate deficiency in mouse cells (achieved by growing the mouse monocyte cell line RAW264.7 under folate restriction) increased the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL1- β , IL-6, TNF- α and MCP-1 two to threefold [107]. This study also showed that nitric oxide (NO) production was attenuated by folate deficiency and,

in contrast with other findings, these changes were independent of the concentration of homocysteine. This last study suggests that folate levels rather than homocysteine are responsible for attenuation of inflammation.

To date, there have been few studies linking the anti-inflammatory effect of folic acid with mood changes in depression. One study by Resler et al. [108] compared adjunctive therapy of folic acid or placebo with fluoxetine. Patients receiving folate had a significantly lower depression score on the HAM-D after 6 weeks than the placebo group, and also plasma homocysteine was significantly decreased, with a significant negative correlation between homocysteine and folate. Although this only provides indirect evidence, a reduction in homocysteine levels is likely to influence immune function, as discussed above. Finally, it has been shown that folic acid can enhance concentrations of n-3 acids, which again can have an anti-inflammatory action, as discussed earlier in this section [109].

In conclusion, while folate has been found to have some effects on inflammation and on depressive symptoms, further research is needed to determine whether these effects on depression could be associated with a reduction in inflammation. It would also be important to measure baseline levels of folate as it has been shown that this may have an effect on the improvement in depressive symptoms.

3 Final Remarks and Future Research

For future consideration, there is great potential to design and implement novel treatments for depressive subtypes. The dietary supplements discussed in this chapter have been shown to work well in conjunction with traditional approaches, and also on their own, but they should also be considered in tandem with one another, as all of these compounds seem to directly or indirectly have an anti-inflammatory action: this symbiosis ought to be considered in future trials. Inflammatory biomarkers offer a gateway towards personalized medicine, and as a result not only will we be better equipped to understand the mechanisms underpinning MDD, but we may also be able to predict response rates for the novel agents described.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by a strategic award from the Wellcome Trust (Consortium of Neuroimmunology of Mood Disorders and Alzheimer's Disease); the South London and Maudsley (SLaM) NHS Foundation Trust & Institute of Psychiatry NIHR Biomedical Research Centre (BRC) for Mental Health; and the grants 'Persistent Fatigue Induced by Interferon-alpha: A New Immunological Model for Chronic Fatigue Syndrome' (MR/J002739/1), and 'Immuno-psychiatry: a consortium to test the opportunity for immunotherapeutics in psychiatry' (MR/L014815/1), from the Medical Research Council (UK).

References

- Rush J, Trivedi M, Wisniewski S, Nierenberg A, Stewart J, Warden D, Niederehe G, Thase M, Lavori P, Lebowitz B, Mcgrath P, Rosenbaum J, Sackeim H, Kupfer D, Luther J, Fava M (2006) Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several: a STAR*D report. Am J Psychiatry 163:1905–1917
- Pariante CM (2016) Neuroscience, mental health and the immune system: overcoming the brain-mind-body trichotomy. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 25:25101–25105
- 3. Smith RS (1991) The macrophage theory of depression. Med Hypotheses 35:298-306
- Dantzer R, O'connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:46–56
- Maes M, Yirmyia R, Noraberg J, Brene S, Hibbeln J, Perini G, Kubera M, Bob P, Lerer B, Maj M (2009) The inflammatory & neurodegenerative (I&ND) hypothesis of depression: leads for future research and new drug developments in depression. Metab Brain Dis 24:27–53
- 6. Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009) Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 65:732–741
- 7. Miller AH, Raison CL (2015) The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. Nat Rev Immunol 16:22–34
- Zunszain PA, Anacker C, Cattaneo A, Carvalho LA, Pariante CM (2011) Glucocorticoids, cytokines and brain abnormalities in depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35:722–729
- Baumeister D, Russell A, Pariante CM, Mondelli V (2014) Inflammatory biomarker profiles of mental disorders and their relation to clinical, social and lifestyle factors. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 49:841–849
- Haroon E, Raison CL, Miller AH (2012) Psychoneuroimmunology meets neuropsychopharmacology: translational implications of the impact of inflammation on behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:137–162
- Schiepers OJ, Wichers MC, Maes M (2005) Cytokines and major depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 29:201–217
- Capuron L, Miller AH (2004) Cytokines and psychopathology: lessons from interferon-alpha. Biol Psychiatry 56:819–824
- 13. Dantzer R (2001) Cytokine-induced sickness behavior: mechanisms and implications. Ann N Y Acad Sci 933:222–234
- Eller T, Vasar V, Shlik J, Maron E (2008) Pro-inflammatory cytokines and treatment response to escitalopram in major depressive disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 32:445–450
- O'brien SM, Scully P, Fitzgerald P, Scott LV, Dinan TG (2007) Plasma cytokine profiles in depressed patients who fail to respond to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor therapy. J Psychiatr Res 41:326–331
- 16. Fond G, Hamdani N, Kapczinski F, Boukouaci W, Drancourt N, Dargel A, Oliveira J, Le Guen E, Marlinge E, Tamouza R, Leboyer M (2014) Effectiveness and tolerance of antiinflammatory drugs' add-on therapy in major mental disorders: a systematic qualitative review. Acta Psychiatr Scand 129:163–179
- Loftis JM, Huckans M, Morasco BJ (2010) Neuroimmune mechanisms of cytokine-induced depression: current theories and novel treatment strategies. Neurobiol Dis 37:519–533
- Muller N (2013) The role of anti-inflammatory treatment in psychiatric disorders. Psychiatr Danub 25:292–298
- 19. Stirling DP, Koochesfahani KM, Steeves JD, Tetzlaff W (2005) Minocycline as a neuroprotective agent. Neuroscientist 11:308–322
- Cattaneo A, Gennarelli M, Uher R, Breen G, Farmer A, Aitchison KJ, Craig IW, Anacker C, Zunsztain PA, Mcguffin P, Pariante CM (2013) Candidate genes expression profile associated

with antidepressants response in the GENDEP study: differentiating between baseline 'predictors' and longitudinal 'targets'. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:377–385

- Magnano M, Pertile R, Calixto J, Santos A, Rodrigues A (2012) The gut-brain axis: effect of probiotics on anxiety. Acta Medica Mediterranea 28:231
- 22. Diaz Heijtz R, Wang S, Anuar F, Qian Y, Bjorkholm B, Samuelsson A, Hibberd ML, Forssberg H, Pettersson S (2011) Normal gut microbiota modulates brain development and behavior. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:3047–3052
- Logan AC, Katzman M (2005) Major depressive disorder: probiotics may be an adjuvant therapy. Med Hypotheses 64:533–538
- 24. Cicero AF, Ertek S, Borghi C (2009) Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: their potential role in blood pressure prevention and management. Curr Vasc Pharmacol 7:330–337
- 25. Diem SJ, Blackwell TL, Stone KL, Yaffe K, Haney EM, Bliziotes MM, Ensrud KE (2007) Use of antidepressants and rates of hip bone loss in older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. Arch Intern Med 167:1240–1245
- 26. Haney EM, Chan BK, Diem SJ, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Barrett-Connor E, Orwoll E, Bliziotes MM, Osteoporotic Fractures in Men Study Group (2007) Association of low bone mineral density with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor use by older men. Arch Intern Med 167:1246–1251
- 27. Swart K, Van Schoor N, Lips P (2013) Vitamin B12, folic acid, and bone. Curr Osteoporos Rep 11:213–218
- Burr G, Burr M (1929) A new deficiency disease produced by rigid exclusion of fat from the diet. J Biol Chem 82:345–367
- Mcnamara RK (2015) Mitigation of inflammation-induced mood dysregulation by long-chain omega-3 fatty acids. J Am Coll Nutr 34(Suppl 1):48–55
- 30. Das UN (2006) Essential fatty acids: biochemistry, physiology and pathology. Biotechnol J 1:420–439
- Calder PC (2009) Polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammatory processes: new twists in an old tale. Biochimie 91:791–795
- 32. Calder PC (2010) Omega-3 fatty acids and inflammatory processes. Nutrients 2:355-374
- Heinrichs SC (2010) Dietary omega-3 fatty acid supplementation for optimizing neuronal structure and function. Mol Nutr Food Res 54:447–456
- 34. Simopoulos AP (2008) The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 233:674–688
- 35. Hibbeln J (1998) Fish consumption and major depression. Lancet 351:1213
- 36. Rienks J, Dobson AJ, Mishra GD (2013) Mediterranean dietary pattern and prevalence and incidence of depressive symptoms in mid-aged women: results from a large communitybased prospective study. Eur J Clin Nutr 67:75–82
- 37. Yoshikawa E, Nishi D, Matsuoka Y (2015) Fish consumption and resilience to depression in Japanese company workers: a cross-sectional study. Lipids Health Dis 14:51
- 38. Park Y, Kim M, Baek D, Kim S (2012) Erythrocyte n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid and seafood intake decrease the risk of depression: case-control study in Korea. Ann Nutr Metab 61:25–31
- 39. Lucas M, Mirzaei F, O'reilly EJ, Pan A, Willett WC, Kawachi I, Koenen K, Ascherio A (2011) Dietary intake of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids and the risk of clinical depression in women: a 10-y prospective follow-up study. Am J Clin Nutr 93:1337–1343
- 40. Hakkarainen R, Partonen T, Haukka J, Virtamo J, Albanes D, Lonnqvist J (2004) Is low dietary intake of omega-3 fatty acids associated with depression? Am J Psychiatry 161:567–569
- 41. Chang J, Chang S, Yang H, Palani M, Chen C, Su K (2015) Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) levels in patients with cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) with and without depression. Brain Behav Immun 44:28–31

- 42. Deacon G, Kettle C, Hayes D, Dennis C, Tucci J (2015) Omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and the treatment of depression. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/25830700. EPub ahead of print. doi:10.1080/10408398.2013.876959
- 43. Sontrop J, Campbell MK (2006) Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and depression: a review of the evidence and a methodological critique. Prev Med 42:4–13
- 44. Tsuboi H, Sakakibarac H, Tatsumid A, Yamakawa-Kobayashie K, Kanekob H, Mataunagab M, Shimoic K (2014) The serum levels of n-3 fatty acids and IL-6 were independently associated with depressive symptoms in a female population. Brain Behav Immun 40:29
- 45. Lotrich FE, Sears B, Mcnamara RK (2013) Elevated ratio of arachidonic acid to long-chain omega-3 fatty acids predicts depression development following interferon-alpha treatment: relationship with interleukin-6. Brain Behav Immun 31:48–53
- 46. Su KP, Huang SY, Peng CY, Lai HC, Huang CL, Chen YC, Aitchison KJ, Pariante CM (2010) Phospholipase A2 and cyclooxygenase 2 genes influence the risk of interferon-alphainduced depression by regulating polyunsaturated fatty acids levels. Biol Psychiatry 67:550–557
- 47. Stoll AL, Severus WE, Freeman MP, Rueter S, Zboyan HA, Diamond E, Cress KK, Marangell LB (1999) Omega 3 fatty acids in bipolar disorder: a preliminary double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry 56:407–412
- Nemets B, Stahl Z, Belmaker RH (2002) Addition of omega-3 fatty acid to maintenance medication treatment for recurrent unipolar depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 159:477–479
- 49. Grosso G, Pajak A, Marventano S, Castellano S, Galvano F, Bucolo C, Drago F, Caraci F (2014) Role of omega-3 fatty acids in the treatment of depressive disorders: a comprehensive meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. PLoS One 9, e96905
- Lin PY, Su KP (2007) A meta-analytic review of double-blind, placebo-controlled trials of antidepressant efficacy of omega-3 fatty acids. J Clin Psychiatry 68:1056–1061
- Sublette ME, Ellis SP, Geant AL, Mann JJ (2011) Meta-analysis of the effects of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) in clinical trials in depression. J Clin Psychiatry 72:1577–1584
- 52. Su KP, Huang SY, Chiu TH, Huang KC, Huang CL, Chang HC, Pariante CM (2008) Omega-3 fatty acids for major depressive disorder during pregnancy: results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Psychiatry 69:644–651
- Nemets H, Nemets B, Apter A, Bracha Z, Belmaker RH (2006) Omega-3 treatment of childhood depression: a controlled, double-blind pilot study. Am J Psychiatry 163:1098–1100
- 54. Song C, Shieh C, Wu Y, Kalueff A, Gaikwad S, Su K (2016) The role of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids in the treatment of major depression and Alzheimer's disease: acting separately or synergistically? Prog Lipid Res 4:41–54
- 55. Puri BK, Counsell SJ, Hamilton G, Richardson AJ, Horrobin DF (2001) Eicosapentaenoic acid in treatment-resistant depression associated with symptom remission, structural brain changes and reduced neuronal phospholipid turnover. Int J Clin Pract 55:560–563
- 56. Martins JG (2009) EPA but not DHA appears to be responsible for the efficacy of omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in depression: evidence from a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. J Am Coll Nutr 28:525–542
- 57. Caslake MJ, Miles EA, Kofler BM, Lietz G, Curtis P, Armah CK, Kimber AC, Grew JP, Farrell L, Stannard J, Napper FL, Sala-Vila A, West AL, Mathers JC, Packard C, Williams CM, Calder PC, Minihane AM (2008) Effect of sex and genotype on cardiovascular biomarker response to fish oils: the FINGEN Study. Am J Clin Nutr 88:618–629
- Colangelo LA, He K, Whooley MA, Daviglus ML, Liu K (2009) Higher dietary intake of long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids is inversely associated with depressive symptoms in women. Nutrition 25:1011–1019

- 59. Lesperance F, Frasure-Smith N, St-Andre E, Turecki G, Lesperance P, Wisniewski SR (2011) The efficacy of omega-3 supplementation for major depression: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Psychiatry 72:1054–1062
- 60. Delarue J, Matzinger O, Binnert C, Schneiter P, Chiolero R, Tappy L (2003) Fish oil prevents the adrenal activation elicited by mental stress in healthy men. Diabetes Metab 29:289–295
- 61. Song C, Zhang XY, Manku M (2009) Increased phospholipase A2 activity and inflammatory response but decreased nerve growth factor expression in the olfactory bulbectomized rat model of depression: effects of chronic ethyl-eicosapentaenoate treatment. J Neurosci 29:14–22
- 62. Su K, Lai H, Yang H, Su W, Peng C, Chang J, Chang H, Pariante C (2013) Omega-3 fatty acids in the prevention of interferon-alpha-induced depression: results from a randomized, controlled trial. Biol Psychiatry 76:559–566
- 63. Rapaport MH, Nierenberg AA, Schettler PJ, Kinkead B, Cardoos A, Walker R, Mischoulon D (2016) Inflammation as a predictive biomarker for response to omega-3 fatty acids in major depressive disorder: a proof-of-concept study. Mol Psychiatry 21:71–79
- 64. Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Belury MA, Porter K, Beversdorf DQ, Lemeshow S, Glaser R (2007) Depressive symptoms, omega-6:omega-3 fatty acids, and inflammation in older adults. Psychosom Med 69:217–224
- 65. Shelton RC, Miller AH (2011) Inflammation in depression: is adiposity a cause? Dialogues Clin Neurosci 13:41–53
- Holub BJ (2002) Clinical nutrition: 4. Omega-3 fatty acids in cardiovascular care. CMAJ 166:608–615
- 67. Bloch MH, Hannestad J (2012) Omega-3 fatty acids for the treatment of depression: systematic review and meta-analysis. Mol Psychiatry 17:1272–1282
- Dinan TG, Stanton C, Cryan JF (2013) Psychobiotics: a novel class of psychotropic. Biol Psychiatry 74:720–726
- Schousboe A, Waagepetersen HS (2007) GABA: homeostatic and pharmacological aspects. Prog Brain Res 160:9–19
- 70. Collins SM, Bercik P (2009) The relationship between intestinal microbiota and the central nervous system in normal gastrointestinal function and disease. Gastroenterology 136:2003–2014
- 71. Lyte M (2011) Probiotics function mechanistically as delivery vehicles for neuroactive compounds: microbial endocrinology in the design and use of probiotics. Bioessays 33:574–581
- 72. Evrensel A, Ceylan M (2015) The gut-brain axis: the missing link in depression. Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci 13:239–244
- Clarke G, Quigley EM, Cryan JF, Dinan TG (2009) Irritable bowel syndrome: towards biomarker identification. Trends Mol Med 15:478–489
- 74. O'mahony L, Mccarthy J, Kelly P, Hurley G, Luo F, Chen K, O'sullivan GC, Kiely B, Collins JK, Shanahan F, Quigley EM (2005) Lactobacillus and bifidobacterium in irritable bowel syndrome: symptom responses and relationship to cytokine profiles. Gastroenterology 128:541–551
- 75. Rao AV, Bested AC, Beaulne TM, Katzman MA, Iorio C, Berardi JM, Logan AC (2009) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study of a probiotic in emotional symptoms of chronic fatigue syndrome. Gut Pathog 1:6
- 76. Asemi Z, Jazayeri S, Najafi M, Samimi M, Mofid V, Shidfar F, Shakeri H, Esmaillzadeh A (2012) Effect of daily consumption of probiotic yogurt on oxidative stress in pregnant women: a randomized controlled clinical trial. Ann Nutr Metab 60:62–68
- 77. Asemi Z, Zare Z, Shakeri H, Sabihi S, Esmaillzadeh A (2013) Effect of multispecies probiotic supplements on metabolic profiles, hs-CRP, and oxidative stress in patients with type 2 diabetes. Ann Nutr Metab 63:1–9
- Benton D, Williams C, Brown A (2007) Impact of consuming a milk drink containing a probiotic on mood and cognition. Eur J Clin Nutr 61:355–361

- 79. Mohammadi A, Jazayeri S, Khosravi-Darani K, Solati Z, Mohammadpour N, Asemi Z, Adab Z, Djalali M, Tehrani-Doost M, Hosseini M, Eghtesadi S (2015) The effects of probiotics on mental health and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in petrochemical workers. Nutr Neurosci 15:115–120
- 80. Akkasheh G, Kashani-Poor Z, Tajabadi-Ebrahimi M, Jafari P, Akbari H, Taghizadeh M, Memarzadeh M, Asemi Z, Esmaillzadeh A (2016) Clinical and metabolic response to probiotic administration in patients with major depressive disorder: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Nutrition 32:315–320
- 81. Messaoudi M, Lalonde R, Violle N, Javelot H, Desor D, Nejdi A, Bisson JF, Rougeot C, Pichelin M, Cazaubiel M, Cazaubiel JM (2011) Assessment of psychotropic-like properties of a probiotic formulation (Lactobacillus helveticus R0052 and Bifidobacterium longum R0175) in rats and human subjects. Br J Nutr 105:755–764
- 82. Ait-Belgnaoui A, Durand H, Cartier C, Chaumaz G, Eutamene H, Ferrier L, Houdeau E, Fioramonti J, Bueno L, Theodorou V (2012) Prevention of gut leakiness by a probiotic treatment leads to attenuated HPA response to an acute psychological stress in rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology 37:1885–1895
- Bailey M, Coe C (1999) Maternal separation disrupts the integrity of the intestinal microflora in infant rhesus monkeys. Dev Psychobiol 35:146–155
- 84. Neish A (2009) Microbes in gastrointestinal health and disease. Gastroenterology 136:65-80
- Desbonnet L, Garrett L, Clarke G, Bienenstock J, Dinan TG (2008) The probiotic Bifidobacteria infantis: an assessment of potential antidepressant properties in the rat. J Psychiatr Res 43:164–174
- 86. Desbonnet L, Garrett L, Clarke G, Kiely B, Cryan J, Dinan T (2010) Effects of the probiotic Bifidobacterium infantis in the maternal separation model of depression. Neuroscience 170:1179–1188
- Forsythe P, Sudo N, Dinan T, Taylor VH, Bienenstock J (2010) Mood and gut feelings. Brain Behav Immun 24:9–16
- Maes M, Kenis G, Kubera M, De Baets M, Steinbusch H, Bosmans E (2005) The negative immunoregulatory effects of fluoxetine in relation to the cAMP-dependent PKA pathway. Int Immunopharmacol 5:609–618
- 89. Smits HH, Engering A, Van Der Kleij D, De Jong EC, Schipper K, Van Capel TM, Zaat BA, Yazdanbakhsh M, Wierenga EA, Van Kooyk Y, Kapsenberg ML (2005) Selective probiotic bacteria induce IL-10-producing regulatory T cells in vitro by modulating dendritic cell function through dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3-grabbing nonintegrin. J Allergy Clin Immunol 115:1260–1267
- Wall R, Ross RP, Shanahan F, O'mahony L, Kiely B, Quigley E, Dinan TG, Fitzgerald G, Stanton C (2010) Impact of administered bifidobacterium on murine host fatty acid composition. Lipids 45:429–436
- Neufeld KM, Kang N, Bienenstock J, Foster JA (2011) Reduced anxiety-like behavior and central neurochemical change in germ-free mice. Neurogastroenterol Motil 23(255–64), e119
- 92. Kanmani P, Satish Kumar R, Yuvaraj N, Paari KA, Pattukumar V, Arul V (2013) Probiotics and its functionally valuable products-a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 53:641–658
- Weinstein SJ, Hartman TJ, Stolzenberg-Solomon R, Pietinen P, Barrett MJ, Taylor PR, Virtamo J, Albanes D (2003) Null association between prostate cancer and serum folate, vitamin B(6), vitamin B(12), and homocysteine. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 12:1271–1272
- Botez MI, Young SN, Bachevalier J, Gauthier S (1979) Folate deficiency and decreased brain 5-hydroxytryptamine synthesis in man and rat. Nature 278:182–183
- Gaweesh S, Ewies A (2010) Folic acid supplementation cures hot flushes in postmenopausal women. Med Hypotheses 74:286–288
- 96. Gilbody S, Lewis S, Lightfoot T (2007) Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) genetic polymorphisms and psychiatric disorders: a HuGE review. Am J Epidemiol 165:1–13

- 97. Manzoor M, Runcie J (1976) Folate-responsive neuropathy: report of 10 cases. Br Med J 1:1176–1178
- Fava M, Borus JS, Alpert JE, Nierenberg AA, Rosenbaum JF, Bottiglieri T (1997) Folate, vitamin B12, and homocysteine in major depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 154:426–428
- 99. Alpert M, Silva RR, Pouget ER (2003) Prediction of treatment response in geriatric depression from baseline folate level: interaction with an SSRI or a tricyclic antidepressant. J Clin Psychopharmacol 23:309–313
- 100. Botez MI, Young SN, Bachevalier J, Gauthier S (1982) Effect of folic acid and vitamin B12 deficiencies on 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid in human cerebrospinal fluid. Ann Neurol 12:479–484
- 101. Lucock MD, Green M, Levene MI (1995) Methylfolate modulates potassium evoked neurosecretion: evidence for a role at the pteridine cofactor level of tyrosine 3-hydroxylase. Neurochem Res 20:727–736
- 102. Bottiglieri T, Laundy M, Martin R, Carney MW, Nissenbaum H, Toone BK, Johnson AL, Reynolds EH (1984) S-adenosylmethionine influences monoamine metabolism. Lancet 2:224
- 103. Taylor MJ, Carney SM, Goodwin GM, Geddes JR (2004) Folate for depressive disorders: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Psychopharmacol 18:251–256
- 104. Nagele P, Meissner K, Francis A, Fodinger M, Saccone NL (2011) Genetic and environmental determinants of plasma total homocysteine levels: impact of population-wide folate fortification. Pharmacogenet Genomics 21:426–431
- 105. De Bree A, Verschuren WM, Kromhout D, Kluijtmans LA, Blom HJ (2002) Homocysteine determinants and the evidence to what extent homocysteine determines the risk of coronary heart disease. Pharmacol Rev 54:599–618
- 106. Wang G, Dai J, Mao J, Zeng X, Yang X, Wang X (2005) Folic acid reverses hyperresponsiveness of LPS-induced chemokine secretion from monocytes in patients with hyperhomocysteinemia. Atherosclerosis 179:395–402
- 107. Kolb AF, Petrie L (2013) Folate deficiency enhances the inflammatory response of macrophages. Mol Immunol 54:164–172
- 108. Resler G, Lavie R, Campos J, Mata S, Urbina M, Garcia A, Apitz R, Lima L (2008) Effect of folic acid combined with fluoxetine in patients with major depression on plasma homocysteine and vitamin B12, and serotonin levels in lymphocytes. Neuroimmunomodulation 15:145–152
- 109. Das UN (2008) Folic acid and polyunsaturated fatty acids improve cognitive function and prevent depression, dementia, and Alzheimer's disease--but how and why? Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 78:11–19

Role of Neuro-Immunological Factors in the Pathophysiology of Mood Disorders: Implications for Novel Therapeutics for Treatment Resistant Depression

Anindya Bhattacharya and Wayne C. Drevets

Abstract Mood disorders are associated with persistently high rates of morbidity and mortality, despite the widespread availability of antidepressant treatments. One limitation to extant therapeutic options has been that nearly all approved antidepressant pharmacotherapies exert a similar primary action of blocking monoamine transporters, and few options exist for transitioning treatment resistant patients to alternatives with distinct mechanisms. An emerging area of science that promises novel pathways to antidepressant and mood-stabilizing therapies has followed from evidence that immunological factors play major roles in the pathophysiology of at least some mood disorder subtypes. Here we review evidence that the compounds that reduce the release or signaling of neuroactive cytokines, particularly IL-1β, IL-6, and TNF- α , can exert antidepressant effects in subgroups of depressed patients who are identified by blood-based biomarkers associated with inflammation. Within this context we discuss the role of microglia in central neuroinflammation, and the interaction between the peripheral immune system and the central synaptic microenvironment during and after neuroinflammation. Finally we review data using preclinical neuroinflammation models that produce depression-like behaviors in experimental animals to guide the discovery of novel neuro-immune drug targets.

Keywords Depression • IL-1 β • IL-6 • Microglia • Mood disorders • Neuroimmunology • Neuroinflammation • P2X7 • TNF- α

A. Bhattacharya (🖂)

Neuroscience Drug Discovery, Janssen Research & Development, LLC, Pharmaceutical Companies of Johnson & Johnson, 3210 Merryfield Row, San Diego, CA 92121, USA e-mail: abhatta2@its.jnj.com

W.C. Drevets Neuroscience, Janssen Research & Development, LLC, Titusville, NJ 08560, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2017) 31: 339–356 DOI 10.1007/7854_2016_43 Published Online: 11 July 2016

Contents

1	Interplay of the Immune System and the Central Nervous System (CNS)	341
2	Abnormalities in Immunological Factors in a Subset of Patients with Mood Disorders	
	Suggest Novel Antidepressant Targets for Such Subgroups	343
3	Immunological Biomarker Data from Mood Disordered Samples Shows Heterogeneity	
	That May Hold Therapeutic Implications	345
4	Novel Drug Targets at the Crossroads of Neuroimmunology and Mood Disorders	346
5	Conclusion	350
Re	References	

Mood disorders constitute clinically pleomorphic syndromes consisting of behavioral and experiential changes in the emotional, cognitive, visceral, and appetitive domains that show moderate to high heritability, but remain idiopathic with respect to etiology. The main mood disorders, major depressive disorder (MDD) and bipolar disorder (BD) show relatively high lifetime prevalence rates [1] and despite the availability of many antidepressant drugs, MDD is ranked by the World Health Organization (WHO) as the highest global cause of "years of life lived with disability" for all age groups. The persistence of this global public health problem partly reflects the limited efficacy of extant therapies, as about one third of MDD patients do not achieve remission despite multiple trials using different treatments, while another third experience illness relapse and recurrence despite continued adherence to initially effective treatments [2–4]. One limitation of extant antidepressant pharmacotherapies is that they essentially all target biogenic amine based mechanisms, so that for patients who do not respond to such mechanisms, therapeutic options with distinct mechanisms have been largely unavailable.

Notably, the results of studies that compared depressed patients who respond to monoamine reuptake inhibiting agents versus those who do not consistently have shown that the non-responders manifest abnormal elevations in a variety of pro-inflammatory immunological markers [5–9]. These data converge with evidence that factors within the innate and the adaptive immune system play roles in the pathophysiology of MDD and BD, potentially thereby illuminating new targets for novel therapeutics in mood disorders [10, 11]. As reviewed below the findings that administration of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interferon-alpha or low dose endotoxin can induce depressive symptoms in a subset of humans who have not previously been depressed [12], along with the implication of immune pathway dysregulation by genome-wide association studies (GWAS) of primary mood disorders, suggest that some individuals have a biological diathesis to manifest depressive symptoms under immune challenge [13, 14]. Such conclusions have been corroborated pre-clinically by similar phenomena, specifically by showing that immune activation produces depression-like behaviors in repeatedly stressed animals and that these behaviors can be prevented or reversed by anti-inflammatory treatments [15]. Similarly, an emerging clinical literature provides evidence that some types of anti-inflammatory treatments can produce antidepressant effects in depressed patients with peripheral blood evidence of inflammation [16].

1 Interplay of the Immune System and the Central Nervous System (CNS)

The emerging neuro-immunological literature suggests that immune cells in the periphery and/or the brain interact with neurons in the CNS to play roles in the pathophysiology of mood disorders [11, 17]. These data point to the existence of a bi-directional immune-connectivity between the peripheral and central compartments [18-20]. The interplay of the immune system and the CNS involving pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and related molecular processes that lead to microglial activation and astrogliosis is referred to as *neuroinflammation*. However, in the CNS the biological concomitants of an inflammatory state differ in many respects from conventional inflammation involving peripheral immune cells [21]. Thus the neuroimmunology field has broadened in perspective to also encompass the mechanisms by which the peripheral immune system modulates central neurophysiology. In contrast, the neuroinflammatory changes in microglia, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes that putatively contribute to the causal mechanisms underlying multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, and epilepsy are generally absent in mood disorders. For example, post mortem studies of glial cell function, structure and density do not show the astrocytosis and amoeboid microglial morphology that is manifest in multiple sclerosis, trauma, or neurodegeneration. Instead such studies have demonstrated reductions in oligodendroglia, impaired astroglial function, and intermediate morphologies of activated microglia [22]. One exception to this general set of findings in post mortem studies of mood disorders involves elderly patients characterized by a late age of depression onset; such patients show clinical and neuropathological evidence for a pathophysiological process mediated via cerebrovascular disease, including astrogliosis, inflammation, and other histopathological correlates of ischemic disease [23]. Nevertheless, debate remains whether neuroinflammatory processes play pathological or adaptive/compensatory roles in the pathophysiology underlying early onset mood disorders, which instead have been associated with a combination of genetic and environmental (e.g., early life trauma) risk factors [24-26].

In the CNS, bone marrow derived immune cells have a restricted access due to an intact blood-brain barrier (BBB) and blood-CSF barrier. During an injury or infection when this barrier is compromised, peripheral immune cells can penetrate the CNS causing neuroinflammation. Nevertheless, other conditions exist in which macrophages and monocytes from the periphery can migrate into the CNS [27, 28] and the CNS lymphatics may serve as conduits of peripheral to central cellular migration [29, 30]. In addition, and probably more pertinent to the topic of neuroinflammation, microglia constitute the critical cell types that change from a "surveillance" mode to a "response" mode during injury and disease pathology. Resting microglia manifest a distinct "ramified" morphology whose function is to sense the local environment and maintain homeostasis among the neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes that participate in synaptic function [31] and transmission. During pathology associated with neuroinflammation, microglia respond by adopting an amoeboid morphology and release gliotransmitters such as pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , IFN- γ), chemokines, glutamate, ATP, nitric oxide, and reactive oxygen and nitrogen species that alter the neuro-glia functional interactions [32]. Microglial activation also involves up-regulation of cellular markers, increased microglial proliferation and migration, and a shift in structure and function towards an "M1" pro-inflammatory phenotype. The M1 phenotype occurs in response to tissue injury, stress, and infection as part of the adaptive immune response which ultimately leads to reparative processes. The repair is mediated by microglia, predominantly of the anti-inflammatory (M2) phenotype, which are more phagocytic in nature. Nevertheless, microglia more commonly exist in a range of phenotypes that are intermediate in morphology between the M1 and M2 [33–35]; the differential roles of M1/M2 microglia and their role in CNS (patho)physiology are reviewed elsewhere [36, 37]. Notably, post mortem assessment of brain tissue from patients with MDD and BD revealed that the microglia manifest such an intermediate "activated" morphology associated with greater quinolinic acid expression (implying pro-inflammatory activation of the kynurenine pathway) in the subgenual anterior cingulate cortex area consistently implicated in the pathophysiology of mood disorders [38].

One type of phagocytic activity performed by the microglia involves synaptic pruning that regulates interneuronal connectivity and restores the optimal multipartite synaptic function from the altered states that arise during neuroinflammatory states [39–41]. Thus in mood disorders it has remained unclear whether microglial activation manifests as a reparative response or instead comprises a pathological mechanism that initiates disruption of normative neurophysiology [42]. In other neuropathological conditions, the extant data suggest that neuroinflammation can play pathological roles under some conditions and adaptive/restorative roles in others, with both roles potentially co-existing within the context of a particular CNS disease states. Nevertheless, chronic and/or dysregulated neuroinflammation eventually contributes to a pathological phenotype within the CNS. For example, the extant preclinical and emerging clinical data suggest that glial factors released from microglia and astrocytes during neuroinflammation modulate synaptic plasticity and neurogenesis and impact the neurocircuitry in a manner that can manifest behaviorally in much of the symptomology that defines mood disorders.

Peripheral immune cells also play roles in CNS function that include supporting learning and memory [43–48], protecting against pathogens (e.g., as evidenced by IFN- γ -mediated control of *Toxoplasma gondii* [49], and inducing neuropathology (e.g., in multiple sclerosis). The peripheral immune system also can play a beneficial or healing role in CNS pathology. For example, a controlled amplification of the autoimmune response was associated with improved neuronal survival in rodent models of acute CNS injury [50] and chronic neurodegeneration [51, 52]. The

complex interplay between the peripheral immune system and the CNS in mediating beneficial components of the immune response to CNS pathology is only beginning to be elucidated.

Conversely, changes in peripheral immune cell populations have also been associated with CNS pathologies that do not feature clear penetration of the blood–brain or blood–CSF barrier by circulating cells. Pro-inflammatory cytokines released during peripheral infection are associated with behavioral correlates of depressive mood—termed sickness behavior [53]. Links between sickness behavior and a tryptophan metabolizing enzyme, namely indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO), have been demonstrated [54], establishing a potential association between cytokines and monoamine deficiency.

Moreover, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), a syndrome characterized by chronic anxiety, depression, and hyperarousal arising in the aftermath of traumatic stress constitutes a condition that links CNS pathology, stress, and immune system dysregulation at the level of inflammatory cascades and gene networks. For example, in soldiers studied before and after deployment in areas of active conflict, CD14+ monocyte-associated factors were differentially regulated in PTSD sufferers [55]. Notably monocytes are primary producers of the neuroactive cytokines IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α , which have been linked to mood disorders in preclinical studies and clinical populations (reviewed elsewhere in this volume). CD14+ monocytes are mobilized into circulation primarily by CCL2, a chemokine produced by glial [56] and blood–brain barrier cells [57] during neuroinflammation. These findings implicate a link between glial activation and loss of peripheral immune homeostasis leading to chronic feedback between the CNS and periphery in PTSD.

2 Abnormalities in Immunological Factors in a Subset of Patients with Mood Disorders Suggest Novel Antidepressant Targets for Such Subgroups

A rapidly expanding scientific literature suggests that alterations in immune system function and neuroinflammation play major roles in the pathophysiology of at least some subtypes of mood disorders [17, 58–61]. This evidence has encouraged targeted and rational drug discovery efforts with a view to intervene using immune modulating treatments for mood disorders [16]. Immune mediators for which the mean concentrations are increased in the blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients with mood disorders versus healthy controls, both when assessed at baseline and after exposure to stressors, include IL-6, IL-1 β , IFN- α , TNF- α , prostaglandin E2, and the chemokine CCL2 [62–66]. The mRNA transcripts for these cytokines and for other related innate immune system genes have also been elevated in peripheral blood cells in patients with mood disorders relative to healthy controls matched for age, BMI, smoking, and comorbid medical conditions [6, 22, 67–70]. The clinical significance of these findings is supported by evidence that the elevations of these cytokines in the plasma or CSF of patients with MDD or BD relative to controls are correlated with illness severity and/or suicidality ratings (reviewed elsewhere in this volume). Moreover, *successful* response to conventional antidepressant drugs is associated with reductions in these cytokine levels in depressed patients, although *non-response* to conventional antidepressants is predicted by higher IL1- β , IL- β , and CRP levels in the pre-treatment baseline [6, 9, 71]. The preliminary evidence reviewed below suggests that in depressed patients who manifest both resistance to monoamine reuptake inhibitor antidepressant agents and elevation in pro-inflammatory cytokines/acute phase proteins, certain classes of anti-inflammatory agents can produce antidepressant effects.

The relationship between immune challenge and the development of "sickness behavior" as well as other more clearly pathological depressive symptomatology is instructive in considering the etiology of mood disorders. In one of the clearest examples indicating that elevated cytokine signaling can cause depressive symptoms, immune challenge with interferon- α (IFN- α) during the treatment of hepatitis C or other medical conditions reliably has induced the major depressive syndrome (and less commonly manic symptoms) in 30-40% of previously non-depressed humans [64]. This neuropsychiatric sequelae of IFN- α converges with other types of evidence to suggest that elevated signaling of some neuroactive cytokines can play a causal role in inducing depressive symptoms [72]. Within the days following IFN- α administration, previously non-depressed patients show a behavioral complex that includes anorexia, fatigue, lower mood, reduced social interaction, and reduced engagement in pleasurable activities, a symptom complex referred to in the research literature as "sickness behavior" [73]. Notably, in the subset of patients who receive IFN- α who go on to develop major depressive episodes, more specific depressive symptoms such as pessimism, anxiety, and suicide ideation arise later than the initial appearance of sickness behavior, and the likelihood of developing an MDE continues to rise with longer time spent receiving IFN- α [74]. Thus the symptoms of the major depressive episode differ from those of sickness behavior by magnitude in some cases (e.g., more severely depressed mood and pervasive anhedonia in MDE) and by quality in others (e.g., pathological anxiety and suicide ideation). In addition there is also evidence that IFN- α induced depression differs from depression arising in medically healthy MDD subjects by the presence of pathological guilt in the latter, but not in the former condition [75, 76]. These data are notable within the context of evidence that primary MDD is heterogeneous, with subgroups that are distinguishable on the basis of clinical symptomatology as well as immunological markers [58], as reviewed below.

The prevailing hypothesis holds that IFN- α induced major depressive episodes constitute an example of a "pro-inflammatory state induced mood disorder" that manifests in some individuals exposed to IFN- α on the basis of a biological predisposition. A corollary to this hypothesis posits that a subset of the "primary" MDD population also manifests depressive symptoms due to the influence of elevated neuroactive cytokine signaling caused via other etiologies. An example of the existence of a biological predisposition toward IFN- α induced depression

was provided by the report of a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the IL-6 receptor gene that resulted in lower IL-6 expression, and also was associated with decreased susceptibility to the development of depressive symptoms during IFN- α treatment [77].

Notably, some patients who manifest IFN- α induced major depressive episodes improve during SSRI treatment, leading physicians to prophylactically initiate SSRIs in the weeks prior to initiating IFN- α for some patients [78]. Of the symptom domains affected by IFN- α , however, the depressed mood symptom dimension is most responsive, whereas the anxiety, cognitive and neurovegetative symptoms appear less responsive (or unresponsive) to prophylactic SSRI treatment [79]. These observations hold intriguing therapeutic implications, because in patients with primary mood disorders, higher blood levels of proinflammatory cytokines or their mRNA transcripts predict non-response to treatment with SSRIs or other conventional antidepressants [6–9]. It is conceivable that depressed patients who both manifest chronic inflammation and prove nonresponsive to conventional antidepressant drug treatment may benefit from immune modulating treatments.

The hypothesis that anti-inflammatory agents may exert antidepressant effects in depressed patients has been tested both in patients who have primary MDD and in *patients with autoimmune disorders who manifest clinically significant depressive symptoms* [16]. For example, patients with psoriasis who received the anti-TNF- α agent etanercept showed significant improvement in depressive symptoms in response to drug versus placebo as assessed using conventional depression rating scales, and this difference was evident earlier than the associated changes in pain or skin lesions [80], implying the antidepressant response occurred independently of psychological benefits related to the improvement in the skin lesions per se. In this study patients treated with etanercept also had significant improvements in fatigue. Notably, while the improvements in fatigue correlated with decreasing joint pain, the improvements in depression were less correlated with objective measures of skin clearance or joint pain.

3 Immunological Biomarker Data from Mood Disordered Samples Shows Heterogeneity That May Hold Therapeutic Implications

In studies of *primary MDD patients* treated using anti-inflammatory agents, the extant data suggest that subgroups characterized by high levels of pro-inflammatory biomarkers are most likely to benefit (see below). This observation appears intuitive when the findings that mean concentrations of cytokine levels are elevated between depressed and control samples are considered in further detail. The distribution of the immunological data from these studies suggests that the differences reported in *mean values* are attributable to a subset(s) of the depressed patients. This observation appears consistent with accumulating evidence of biological and genetic

differences between subtypes of depressed subjects with MDD, who otherwise appear phenotypically homogeneous in many aspects of symptom presentation. For example, from the Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety database, Lamers et al. [58] used subgroups defined initially using cluster analysis of depressive signs and symptoms, and then further differentiated these subtypes based on serum protein profiles. The identified analytes consisted largely of inflammatory (e.g., CRP) and metabolic markers (e.g., insulin), supporting the conceptualization of a subtype(s) characterized by metabolic disturbances and inflammation. These researchers [81] also showed that these subgroups appeared stable across time, with patients moving between different levels of severity, but not between subtypes, during longitudinal follow-up. In another example, data from the Mood Inflame Consortium identified three MDD subtypes: one manifest in MDD patients aged >28 years that was characterized by *increased* expression of monocyte genes and decreased expression of glucocorticoid receptor (GR) α versus β subunit ratio, a second in MDD patients <28 years of age who showed a severe course of depression (characterized by recurrent type, illness onset <15 years of age, history of childhood trauma, and prominent panic/arousal symptoms) but monocyte gene expression similar to healthy controls, and a third also manifest in MDD patients <28 years of age characterized by a milder illness course (most with first episode of depression, age at onset ≥ 15 years, and absent panic symptoms) that exhibited a strongly *reduced* inflammatory monocyte activation compared to controls [82].

Within the bipolar spectrum of mood disorders, another study from the Mood Inflame Consortium identified a biomarker signature composed of multiple immunological factors that discriminated the majority of BD patients from healthy controls. Using whole-genome expression profiling of RNA obtained from purified CD14+ monocytes, Padmos and colleagues reported elevated mRNAs of inflammatory (e.g., TNF, PDE4B, IL-1 β , IL6, TNFAIP3), trafficking, survival (e.g., BCL2A), and mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway (e.g., MAPK6, ATF3) genes in BD subjects in various illness phases, as well as in affected offspring of BD parents [69]. Notably, in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from the same subjects assessed via fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis, the percentages of anti-inflammatory CD4+CD25highFoxP3+ regulatory T cells were higher in BD patients <40 years of age, while percentages of Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells were normal. Together these results thus showed enhancement of both pro-inflammatory monocyte and anti-inflammatory T cell mediators in BD [83].

4 Novel Drug Targets at the Crossroads of Neuroimmunology and Mood Disorders

With continued and refined understanding of the role of immune cells and their mediators in the periphery and the CNS, it is anticipated that new mechanisms will be discovered that can exert antidepressant and mood-stabilizing effects in primary

mood disorders. Several comprehensive reviews have highlighted potential drug targets in neuroimmunology for mood disorders [11, 21, 84]. In this chapter, we summarize evidence that highlights TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β signaling in the pathophysiology of mood disorders.

<u>TNF- α </u>: TNF- α signaling appears to play a major role in mood disorders [85]. In meta-analyses of clinical studies, plasma TNF- α correlated with depression severity and level of resistance to conventional antidepressants [62]. A causal relationship between TNF- α elevation and depressive symptoms was suggested by observations that in patients with immunological diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis, anti-TNF- α treatment alleviates depressed mood; as reviewed above, these antidepressant effects do not appear attributable simply to improvement in sickness symptoms, such as fatigue, or in the underlying autoimmune disorder [86]. Consistent with these observations, the TNF- α receptor 1, TNF- α receptor 2, and TNF- α knockout mouse models all show antidepressant-like phenotypes [87, 88]. Likewise, systemic administration of antibodies targeting TNF- α in chronic models of stress reversed the anhedonic behaviors, suggesting that TNF- α signaling contributes to depressogenic behaviors in rodents [89, 90].

Nevertheless, a clinical study of the efficacy of infliximab (a monoclonal antibody against TNF- α) in depressed patients generated negative results on depressive symptoms rating using a conventional depression rating scale [91]. A *post hoc* investigation of data from this study, however, revealed a significant positive correlation between clinical improvement and pre-treatment levels of the nonspecific inflammation marker, CRP, raising the possibility that antidepressant effects may be limited to individuals who manifest a pro-inflammatory diathesis. Nevertheless, because the test of the *a priori* hypothesis in this study was negative, the question has remained whether targeting TNF- α via large molecules introduced in the periphery alone can produce an antidepressant effect (since very low proportions of peripherally administered monoclonal antibodies enter the brain following acute treatment), or whether therapies that reduce TNF- α signaling must instead directly engage targets in the CNS.

<u>IL-6</u>: In studies of MDD or BD one of the more highly replicated biomarker abnormalities has been an elevation in peripheral blood IL-6 concentrations [92]. Notably during IFN- α treatment the magnitude of the increase in plasma and CSF IL-6 levels correlates positively with depressive symptom severity. Conversely, the above-mentioned functional polymorphism in the promoter region of the IL-6 gene (rs1800795) that results in decreased IL-6 expression is associated with a significantly lower risk for developing major depressive episodes during IFN- α treatment [77]. The relationship to IL-6 function is compatible with findings that, in patients with primary mood disorders higher IL-6 levels in the CSF correlated with suicidality, and elevated IL-6 levels in the plasma correlated with non-responsiveness to conventional antidepressant drugs [93]. In contrast, during the euthymic (i.e., asymptomatic) phase of BD, the CSF concentration of IL-6 was decreased with respect to healthy controls, despite the same BD subjects showing an abnormal elevation in the CSF levels of IL-1 β [65].

Although IL-6 can be released by immune cells in the CNS as well as in the periphery, preclinical evidence suggests that elevated IL-6 release from peripheral immune cells is sufficient to induce depressive behaviors, irrespective of central immune system activation. In studies conducted by Hodes and colleagues [15] to elucidate the biological basis of susceptibility to depression-like behaviors under stress, mice that developed a persistent depression-like phenotype in response to social defeat stress (SDS) were compared to genetically identical mice that did not develop depression-like behaviors under SDS. The susceptible animals differed from the resilient animals by showing elevated basal IL-6 levels in the pre-SDS condition and higher IL-6 release in response to the stressed condition. In addition, white blood cells sampled pre-SDS from susceptible mice showed higher LPS-induced IL-6 release ex vivo compared to cells from resilient mice. Crucially, the susceptibility to the depression-like phenotype could be altered toward either susceptibility or resilience by generating bone marrow chimeras that had hemopoetic stem cells transplanted from high IL-6 expressing mice or IL-6 knockout mice, respectively. The bone marrow recipients in these studies had received radiation to their bodies while the head was shielded, so the hemopoetic stem cells in periphery conferred the susceptibility to the depression-like phenotype under stress.

<u>IL-1β</u>: In contrast to the therapeutic potential offered by neutralizing IL-6 predominantly in the periphery, the extant data suggest that for the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β , reducing signaling in the brain may prove critical to achieving antidepressant effects. IL-1 β is probably the most potent pro-inflammatory cytokine released from microglia in the brain. Clinical studies found that IL-1 β is present at abnormally higher levels in plasma, CSF, and postmortem brain tissue of individuals with mood disorders, and that IL-1 β levels correlated positively with depression severity [63, 65]. Anisman and colleagues reported increased IL-1 β production from lymphocytes in patients with dysthymic disorder and a modest correlation existed between the cytokine and depressive symptoms [94]. In studies of primary mood disordered subgroups, IL-1 β has been linked with both geriatric depression and postpartum depression [95, 96].

In animal models of stress-induced depression-like behaviors, several groups showed that IL-1 β signaling is critical to the acquisition of the depression-like phenotype [97, 98]. The development of the depressive behavioral phenotype during chronic stress can be blocked by IL-1 receptor antagonists, and is absent in IL-1R receptor knockout mice [99]. In addition, manipulation of central IL-1 β , either by exogenous administration of IL-1 β directly into the brain, or by selective ablation of signaling via pharmacology or genetics, produced behavioral analogues of depression when IL-1 β was increased, or antidepressant-like effects when IL-1 β was decreased [100]. The IL-1 β driven changes in the brain resulted in decreased neurogenesis in the hippocampus [99] and increased corticosterone response to stress in the periphery [101], suggesting an interplay between stress-induced-IL-1 β release and HPA axis function.

Recently, it was shown that both acute and chronic stress increase brain IL-1 β release [102] [100]. Stress-induced IL-1 β release appears to be driven by

ATP-induced activation of the P2X purinoceptor 7 ion channel (P2X7), and genetic deletion of P2X7 receptors results in antidepressant-like reversal of stress-induced depressogenic behaviors in rodents [102, 103]. Other experimental evidence has similarly demonstrated that P2X7 activation causes release of IL-1 β ([104]). The initiation of transcription and translation of the pro-form of IL-1 β is induced by activation of Toll-like receptor (TLR), but it is the second signal from P2X7 (due to ATP activating the ion channel) that results in maturation and release of the pro-inflammatory IL-1 β cytokine; this process has been referred as a "two-hit" model of IL-1 β release. Priming of the TLRs is achieved by factors such as cellular debris, by endotoxins, by damage- and pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs and PAMPs, respectively). Since P2X7 is abundantly expressed in blood cells, IL-1 β release in the blood has been used as a biomarker of P2X7 activity in both preclinical and clinical assessment of target engagement.

Based on robust microglial expression of P2X7, and IL-1ß signaling leading to neuroinflammation, CNS penetrable P2X7 antagonists would be potentially beneficial for treating mood disorders, and there is growing evidence that strengthens the role of P2X7 in MDD and BD. Several human genetic studies have associated the highly polymorphic P2RX7 gene with the risk for developing both BD and MDD, and some of these mutations have been linked to a modulation of P2X7 channel function in vitro [105, 106]. The rs2230912-G allele exhibits a gain-of-function and human monocytes expressing this variant secreted more IL-1 β in response to activation of P2X7 than monocytes expressing a wild-type variant [107]. It is conceivable that such a variant in P2X7 receptors based in human microglia enhanced IL-1 β release (or production), would lead to leading to neuroinflammation over time. Nevertheless, several other GWAS studies have not confirmed the association between P2RX7 variants and the risk for mood disorders [108], so the relationship between the variation in P2RX7 and depression is not yet established. The lack of clarity for a genetic association of P2RX7 variation in the risk for mood disorders (or any disease phenotype) is perhaps not surprising as the underlying factors of such pathologies are often a result of interplay between genetic (often many genes), environmental, and developmental factors.

In addition to the human genetic literature, several laboratories have demonstrated that P2X7 knockout mice manifest a protective phenotype in models of depression and mania, strengthening the hypothesis that P2X7 antagonism may be therapeutically beneficial in mood disorders. Consistent with the antidepressant phenotype observed in P2X7 knockout mice, emerging data suggest that P2X7 antagonists can reverse depressogenic behaviors in animal models. For example, pharmacological antagonism of P2X7 (by AZ-10606120 and A-804598) restored the deficit observed in the preference for a sucrose solution (a putative behavioral analogue of anhedonia) induced by either chronic stress or systemic administration of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) administration [103]. Recently, it was shown that a P2X7 selective, brain-penetrant antagonist was efficacious in chronic stress models in rats [102]. In addition, a large corpus of evidence suggests that manipulation of central IL-1 β (by either exogenous administration or selective ablation of signaling by pharmacological or genetic manipulation) results in depression-like behaviors when IL-1 β is increased, or in resilience against the development of depression-like behaviors when IL-1 β is decreased [97, 99, 109]. These observations appear consistent with the above-mentioned findings that IL-1 β levels are abnormally elevated in the plasma, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), and postmortem brain tissue obtained from MDD and BD patients [63, 65, 110].

Preclinical data also suggest that P2X7 antagonism may produce anti-manic or mood-stabilizing effects in BD [111]. For example, P2X7 antagonism produced attenuation of amphetamine-induced sensitization of hyperactivity [112, 113], a putative rodent model of mania-like behavior, and similar phenotypes were observed in P2X7 knockout mice [111] suggesting a potential therapeutic role of P2X7 antagonism in the manic phase of BD. Taken together, it remains plausible that a selective and brain-penetrant P2X7 antagonist may be therapeutically beneficial in mood disorders, especially targeting treatment resistant patient populations.

5 Conclusion

Neuroimmunology stands at the interface of emerging biology and breakthrough therapeutics for mood disorders. Taken together, the extant data support the hypothesis that elevated cytokine levels contribute to the pathophysiology of depression and the neurobiological mechanisms underlying resistance to conventional antidepressant drugs, in at least a subpopulation of depressed patients. They also suggest that specific cytokines (such as TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β) and their effectors and regulators (such as P2X7) may constitute novel therapeutic targets for depression. However, the extant postmortem data also indicate that mood disorders are not associated with classical neuroinflammation, and in vivo blood-based biomarker studies suggest that not all patients suffering from mood disorders manifest an inflammatory component. Consequently, for clinical proof-of-concept studies with compounds that target signaling of microglia, astrocytes, or cytokines/ chemokines, it may prove necessary to discriminate the patient population suffering from concomitant depression and neuroinflammation through the aid of immunological biomarkers.

Financial Disclosures The authors report potential conflicts of interest: A.B. and W.C.D. are employees of Janssen Research & Development, LLC, of Johnson & Johnson, and are stockholders in Johnson & Johnson, Inc.

References

 Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Koretz D, Merikangas KR, Rush AJ, Walters EE, Wang PS, National Comorbidity Survey Replication (2003) The epidemiology of major depressive disorder: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). JAMA 289:3095–3105

- O'Leary OF, Dinan TG, Cryan JF (2015) Faster, better, stronger: towards new antidepressant therapeutic strategies. Eur J Pharmacol 753:32–50
- 3. Papakostas GI, Ionescu DF (2015) Towards new mechanisms: an update on therapeutics for treatment-resistant major depressive disorder. Mol Psychiatry 20:1142–1150
- 4. Rush AJ, Trivedi MH, Wisniewski SR, Nierenberg AA, Stewart JW, Warden D, Niederehe G, Thase ME, Lavori PW, Lebowitz BD, McGrath PJ, Rosenbaum JF, Sackeim HA, Kupfer DJ, Luther J, Fava M (2006) Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several treatment steps: a STAR*D report. Am J Psychiatry 163:1905–1917
- Carvalho LA, Torre JP, Papadopoulos AS, Poon L, Juruena MF, Markopoulou K, Cleare AJ, Pariante CM (2013) Lack of clinical therapeutic benefit of antidepressants is associated overall activation of the inflammatory system. J Affect Disord 148:136–140
- 6. Cattaneo A, Gennarelli M, Uher R, Breen G, Farmer A, Aitchison KJ, Craig IW, Anacker C, Zunsztain PA, McGuffin P, Pariante CM (2013) Candidate genes expression profile associated with antidepressants response in the GENDEP study: differentiating between baseline 'predictors' and longitudinal 'targets'. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:377–385
- O'Brien SM, Scully P, Fitzgerald P, Scott LV, Dinan TG (2007) Plasma cytokine profiles in depressed patients who fail to respond to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor therapy. J Psychiatric Res 41:326–331
- Uher R, Tansey KE, Dew T, Maier W, Mors O, Hauser J, Dernovsek MZ, Henigsberg N, Souery D, Farmer A, McGuffin P (2014) An inflammatory biomarker as a differential predictor of outcome of depression treatment with escitalopram and nortriptyline. Am J Psychiatry 171:1278–1286
- Yoshimura R, Hori H, Ikenouchi-Sugita A, Umene-Nakano W, Ueda N, Nakamura J (2009) Higher plasma interleukin-6 (IL-6) level is associated with SSRI- or SNRI-refractory depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 33:722–726
- Pariante CM (2016) Neuroscience, mental health and the immune system: overcoming the brain-mind-body trichotomy. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 25(2):101–105
- 11. Wohleb ES, Franklin T, Iwata M, Duman RS (2016) Integrating neuroimmune systems in the neurobiology of depression. Nat Rev Neurosci 17:497–511
- 12. Sandiego CM, Gallezot JD, Pittman B, Nabulsi N, Lim K, Lin SF, Matuskey D, Lee JY, O'Connor KC, Huang Y, Carson RE, Hannestad J, Cosgrove KP (2015) Imaging robust microglial activation after lipopolysaccharide administration in humans with PET. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:12468–12473
- Haapakoski R, Ebmeier KP, Alenius H, Kivimaki M (2016) Innate and adaptive immunity in the development of depression: an update on current knowledge and technological advances. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 66:63–72
- Morris G, Berk M (2015) The many roads to mitochondrial dysfunction in neuroimmune and neuropsychiatric disorders. BMC Med 13:68
- 15. Hodes GE, Pfau ML, Leboeuf M, Golden SA, Christoffel DJ, Bregman D, Rebusi N, Heshmati M, Aleyasin H, Warren BL, Lebonte B, Horn S, Lapidus KA, Stelzhammer V, Wong EH, Bahn S, Krishnan V, Bolanos-Guzman CA, Murrough JW, Merad M, Russo SJ (2014) Individual differences in the peripheral immune system promote resilience versus susceptibility to social stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:16136–16141
- Kohler O, Benros ME, Krogh J (2015) Anti-inflammatory intervention in depression--reply. JAMA Psychiatry 72:512–513
- 17. Najjar S, Pearlman DM, Alper K, Najjar A, Devinsky O (2013) Neuroinflammation and psychiatric illness. J Neuroinflammation 10:43
- Ben-Shaanan TL, Azulay-Debby H, Dubovik T, Starosvetsky E, Korin B, Schiller M, Green NL, Admon Y, Hakim F, Shen-Orr SS, Rolls A (2016) Activation of the reward system boosts innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Med 22:940–944
- Louveau A, Harris TH, Kipnis J (2015) Revisiting the mechanisms of CNS immune privilege. Trends Immunol 36:569–577

- Yirmiya R, Goshen I (2011) Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. Brain Behav Immun 25:181–213
- Bhattacharya A, Derecki NC, Lovenberg TW, Drevets WC (2016) Role of neuroimmunological factors in the pathophysiology of mood disorders. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 233:1623–1636
- 22. Savitz J, Frank MB, Victor T, Bebak M, Marino JH, Bellgowan PS, McKinney BA, Bodurka J, Kent Teague T, Drevets WC (2013) Inflammation and neurological diseaserelated genes are differentially expressed in depressed patients with mood disorders and correlate with morphometric and functional imaging abnormalities. Brain Behav Immun 31:161–171
- 23. Savitz J, Drevets WC (2009) Bipolar and major depressive disorder: neuroimaging the developmental-degenerative divide. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 33:699–771
- 24. Craddock N, Sklar P (2013) Genetics of bipolar disorder. Lancet 381:1654-1662
- Edvardsen J, Torgersen S, Roysamb E, Lygren S, Skre I, Onstad S, Oien PA (2009) Unipolar depressive disorders have a common genotype. J Affect Disord 117:30–41
- 26. Milaneschi Y, Lamers F, Peyrot WJ, Abdellaoui A, Willemsen G, Hottenga JJ, Jansen R, Mbarek H, Dehghan A, Lu C, Group Ciw, Boomsma DI, Penninx BW (2016) Polygenic dissection of major depression clinical heterogeneity. Mol Psychiatry 21:516–522
- 27. Capuron L, Miller AH (2011) Immune system to brain signaling: neuropsychopharmacological implications. Pharmacol Ther 130:226–238
- Wohleb ES, McKim DB, Sheridan JF, Godbout JP (2014) Monocyte trafficking to the brain with stress and inflammation: a novel axis of immune-to-brain communication that influences mood and behavior. Front Neurosci 8:447
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, Derecki NC, Castle D, Mandell JW, Lee KS, Harris TH, Kipnis J (2015) Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. Nature 523:337–341
- Raper D, Louveau A, Kipnis J (2016) How do meningeal lymphatic vessels drain the CNS? Trends Neurosci
- Wu Y, Dissing-Olesen L, MacVicar BA, Stevens B (2015) Microglia: dynamic mediators of synapse development and plasticity. Trends Immunol 36:605–613
- 32. Ben Achour S, Pascual O (2010) Glia: the many ways to modulate synaptic plasticity. Neurochem Int 57:440–445
- Orihuela R, McPherson CA, Harry GJ (2016) Microglial M1/M2 polarization and metabolic states. Br J Pharmacol 173(4):649–665
- 34. Ransohoff RM (2016) A polarizing question: do M1 and M2 microglia exist? Nat Neurosci 19:987–991
- 35. Tang Y, Le W (2015) Differential roles of M1 and M2 microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. Mol Neurobiol 53(2):1181–1194
- Cherry JD, Olschowka JA, O'Banion MK (2014) Neuroinflammation and M2 microglia: the good, the bad, and the inflamed. J Neuroinflammation 11:98
- 37. Prinz M, Priller J (2014) Microglia and brain macrophages in the molecular age: from origin to neuropsychiatric disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 15:300–312
- 38. Steiner J, Walter M, Gos T, Guillemin GJ, Bernstein HG, Sarnyai Z, Mawrin C, Brisch R, Bielau H, Meyer zu Schwabedissen L, Bogerts B, Myint AM (2011) Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus: evidence for an immune-modulated glutamatergic neurotransmission? J Neuroinflammation 8:94
- Aguzzi A, Barres BA, Bennett ML (2013) Microglia: scapegoat, saboteur, or something else? Science 339:156–161
- 40. Chung WS, Barres BA (2012) The role of glial cells in synapse elimination. Curr Opin Neurobiol 22:438–445
- 41. Zhan Y, Paolicelli RC, Sforazzini F, Weinhard L, Bolasco G, Pagani F, Vyssotski AL, Bifone A, Gozzi A, Ragozzino D, Gross CT (2014) Deficient neuron-microglia signaling

results in impaired functional brain connectivity and social behavior. Nat Neurosci $17{:}400{-}406$

- 42. Yirmiya R, Rimmerman N, Reshef R (2015) Depression as a microglial disease. Trends Neurosci 38:637–658
- Brynskikh A, Warren T, Zhu J, Kipnis J (2008) Adaptive immunity affects learning behavior in mice. Brain Behav Immun 22:861–869
- 44. Derecki NC, Cardani AN, Yang CH, Quinnies KM, Crihfield A, Lynch KR, Kipnis J (2010) Regulation of learning and memory by meningeal immunity: a key role for IL-4. J Exp Med 207:1067–1080
- 45. Jiang NM, Tofail F, Moonah SN, Scharf RJ, Taniuchi M, Ma JZ, Hamadani JD, Gurley ES, Houpt ER, Azziz-Baumgartner E, Haque R, Petri WA Jr (2014) Febrile illness and pro-inflammatory cytokines are associated with lower neurodevelopmental scores in Bangladeshi infants living in poverty. BMC Pediatr 14:50
- 46. Kipnis J, Cohen H, Cardon M, Ziv Y, Schwartz M (2004) T cell deficiency leads to cognitive dysfunction: implications for therapeutic vaccination for schizophrenia and other psychiatric conditions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:8180–8185
- 47. Wolf SA, Steiner B, Akpinarli A, Kammertoens T, Nassenstein C, Braun A, Blankenstein T, Kempermann G (2009) CD4-positive T lymphocytes provide a neuroimmunological link in the control of adult hippocampal neurogenesis. J Immunol 182:3979–3984
- 48. Ziv Y, Ron N, Butovsky O, Landa G, Sudai E, Greenberg N, Cohen H, Kipnis J, Schwartz M (2006) Immune cells contribute to the maintenance of neurogenesis and spatial learning abilities in adulthood. Nat Neurosci 9:268–275
- 49. Yarovinsky F (2014) Innate immunity to Toxoplasma gondii infection. Nat Rev Immunol 14:109–121
- Moalem G, Leibowitz-Amit R, Yoles E, Mor F, Cohen IR, Schwartz M (1999) Autoimmune T cells protect neurons from secondary degeneration after central nervous system axotomy. Nat Med 5:49–55
- Hofstetter HH, Sewell DL, Liu F, Sandor M, Forsthuber T, Lehmann PV, Fabry Z (2003) Autoreactive T cells promote post-traumatic healing in the central nervous system. J Neuroimmunol 134:25–34
- Kipnis J, Mizrahi T, Yoles E, Ben-Nun A, Schwartz M (2002) Myelin specific Th1 cells are necessary for post-traumatic protective autoimmunity. J Neuroimmunol 130:78–85
- 53. Kelley KW, Bluthe RM, Dantzer R, Zhou JH, Shen WH, Johnson RW, Broussard SR (2003) Cytokine-induced sickness behavior. Brain Behav Immun 17(Suppl 1):S112–S118
- 54. Dantzer R (2016) Role of the Kynurenine metabolism pathway in inflammation-induced depression: preclinical approaches. Curr Top Behav Neurosci. doi:10.1007/7854_2016_6
- 55. Breen MS, Maihofer AX, Glatt SJ, Tylee DS, Chandler SD, Tsuang MT, Risbrough VB, Baker DG, O'Connor DT, Nievergelt CM, Woelk CH (2015) Gene networks specific for innate immunity define post-traumatic stress disorder. Mol Psychiatry 20(12):1538–1545
- 56. Glabinski AR, Balasingam V, Tani M, Kunkel SL, Strieter RM, Yong VW, Ransohoff RM (1996) Chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is expressed by astrocytes after mechanical injury to the brain. J Immunol 156:4363–4368
- Andjelkovic AV, Pachter JS (2000) Characterization of binding sites for chemokines MCP-1 and MIP-1alpha on human brain microvessels. J Neurochem 75:1898–1906
- 58. Lamers F, Bot M, Jansen R, Chan MK, Cooper JD, Bahn S, Penninx BW (2016) Serum proteomic profiles of depressive subtypes. Transl Psychiatry 6:e851
- 59. Noto C, Rizzo LB, Mansur RB, McIntyre RS, Maes M, Brietzke E (2014) Targeting the inflammatory pathway as a therapeutic tool for major depression. Neuroimmunomodulation 21:131–139
- Rosenblat JD, Cha DS, Mansur RB, McIntyre RS (2014) Inflamed moods: a review of the interactions between inflammation and mood disorders. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 53:23–34

- Walker AK, Kavelaars A, Heijnen CJ, Dantzer R (2014) Neuroinflammation and comorbidity of pain and depression. Pharmacol Rev 66:80–101
- 62. Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W, Liu H, Sham L, Reim EK, Lanctot KL (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67:446–457
- Jones KA, Thomsen C (2013) The role of the innate immune system in psychiatric disorders. Mol Cell Neurosci 53:52–62
- Pace TW, Miller AH (2009) Cytokines and glucocorticoid receptor signaling. Relevance to major depression. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1179:86–105
- 65. Soderlund J, Olsson SK, Samuelsson M, Walther-Jallow L, Johansson C, Erhardt S, Landen M, Engberg G (2011) Elevation of cerebrospinal fluid interleukin-1ss in bipolar disorder. J Psychiatry Neurosci 36:114–118
- 66. Young JJ, Bruno D, Pomara N (2014) A review of the relationship between proinflammatory cytokines and major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord 169:15–20
- 67. Carvalho LA, Bergink V, Sumaski L, Wijkhuijs J, Hoogendijk WJ, Birkenhager TK, Drexhage HA (2014) Inflammatory activation is associated with a reduced glucocorticoid receptor alpha/beta expression ratio in monocytes of inpatients with melancholic major depressive disorder. Transl Psychiatry 4:e344
- 68. Jansen R, Penninx BW, Madar V, Xia K, Milaneschi Y, Hottenga JJ, Hammerschlag AR, Beekman A, van der Wee N, Smit JH, Brooks AI, Tischfield J, Posthuma D, Schoevers R, van Grootheest G, Willemsen G, de Geus EJ, Boomsma DI, Wright FA, Zou F, Sun W, Sullivan PF (2016) Gene expression in major depressive disorder. Mol Psychiatry 21(3):339–347
- 69. Padmos RC, Hillegers MH, Knijff EM, Vonk R, Bouvy A, Staal FJ, de Ridder D, Kupka RW, Nolen WA, Drexhage HA (2008) A discriminating messenger RNA signature for bipolar disorder formed by an aberrant expression of inflammatory genes in monocytes. Arch Gen Psychiatry 65:395–407
- 70. Powell TR, McGuffin P, D'Souza UM, Cohen-Woods S, Hosang GM, Martin C, Matthews K, Day RK, Farmer AE, Tansey KE, Schalkwyk LC (2014) Putative transcriptomic biomarkers in the inflammatory cytokine pathway differentiate major depressive disorder patients from control subjects and bipolar disorder patients. PLoS One 9:e91076
- Hannestad J, DellaGioia N, Bloch M (2011) The effect of antidepressant medication treatment on serum levels of inflammatory cytokines: a meta-analysis. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:2452–2459
- Baraldi S, Hepgul N, Mondelli V, Pariante CM (2012) Symptomatic treatment of interferonalpha-induced depression in hepatitis C: a systematic review. J Clin Psychopharmacol 32:531–543
- Dantzer R, Bluthe RM, Laye S, Bret-Dibat JL, Parnet P, Kelley KW (1998) Cytokines and sickness behavior. Ann N Y Acad Sci 840:586–590
- 74. Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009) Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 65:732–741
- 75. Capuron L, Fornwalt FB, Knight BT, Harvey PD, Ninan PT, Miller AH (2009) Does cytokine-induced depression differ from idiopathic major depression in medically healthy individuals? J Affect Disord 119:181–185
- 76. Pasquini M, Speca A, Mastroeni S, Delle Chiaie R, Sternberg CN, Biondi M (2008) Differences in depressive thoughts between major depressive disorder, IFN-alpha-induced depression, and depressive disorders among cancer patients. J Psychosom Res 65:153–156
- 77. Bull SJ, Huezo-Diaz P, Binder EB, Cubells JF, Ranjith G, Maddock C, Miyazaki C, Alexander N, Hotopf M, Cleare AJ, Norris S, Cassidy E, Aitchison KJ, Miller AH, Pariante CM (2009) Functional polymorphisms in the interleukin-6 and serotonin transporter genes, and depression and fatigue induced by interferon-alpha and ribavirin treatment. Mol Psychiatry 14:1095–1104
- Udina M, Hidalgo D, Navines R, Forns X, Sola R, Farre M, Capuron L, Vieta E, Martin-Santos R (2014) Prophylactic antidepressant treatment of interferon-induced depression in chronic hepatitis C: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 75:e1113–e1121

- 79. McNutt MD, Liu S, Manatunga A, Royster EB, Raison CL, Woolwine BJ, Demetrashvili MF, Miller AH, Musselman DL (2012) Neurobehavioral effects of interferon-alpha in patients with hepatitis-C: symptom dimensions and responsiveness to paroxetine. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:1444–1454
- 80. Tyring S, Gottlieb A, Papp K, Gordon K, Leonardi C, Wang A, Lalla D, Woolley M, Jahreis A, Zitnik R, Cella D, Krishnan R (2006) Etanercept and clinical outcomes, fatigue, and depression in psoriasis: double-blind placebo-controlled randomised phase III trial. Lancet 367:29–35
- Lamers F, Rhebergen D, Merikangas KR, de Jonge P, Beekman AT, Penninx BW (2012) Stability and transitions of depressive subtypes over a 2-year follow-up. Psychol Med 42:2083–2093
- 82. Grosse L, Carvalho LA, Wijkhuijs AJ, Bellingrath S, Ruland T, Ambree O, Alferink J, Ehring T, Drexhage HA, Arolt V (2015) Clinical characteristics of inflammation-associated depression: monocyte gene expression is age-related in major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 44:48–56
- 83. Drexhage RC, Knijff EM, Padmos RC, Heul-Nieuwenhuijzen L, Beumer W, Versnel MA, Drexhage HA (2010) The mononuclear phagocyte system and its cytokine inflammatory networks in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Expert Rev Neurother 10:59–76
- Hodes GE, Kana V, Menard C, Merad M, Russo SJ (2015) Neuroimmune mechanisms of depression. Nat Neurosci 18:1386–1393
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:46–56
- 86. Krishnan R, Cella D, Leonardi C, Papp K, Gottlieb AB, Dunn M, Chiou CF, Patel V, Jahreis A (2007) Effects of etanercept therapy on fatigue and symptoms of depression in subjects treated for moderate to severe plaque psoriasis for up to 96 weeks. Br J Dermatol 157:1275–1277
- Simen BB, Duman CH, Simen AA, Duman RS (2006) TNFalpha signaling in depression and anxiety: behavioral consequences of individual receptor targeting. Biol Psychiatry 59:775–785
- 88. Yamada K, Iida R, Miyamoto Y, Saito K, Sekikawa K, Seishima M, Nabeshima T (2000) Neurobehavioral alterations in mice with a targeted deletion of the tumor necrosis factoralpha gene: implications for emotional behavior. J Neuroimmunol 111:131–138
- 89. Karson A, Demirtas T, Bayramgurler D, Balci F, Utkan T (2013) Chronic administration of infliximab (TNF-alpha inhibitor) decreases depression and anxiety-like behaviour in rat model of chronic mild stress. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 112:335–340
- Krugel U, Fischer J, Radicke S, Sack U, Himmerich H (2013) Antidepressant effects of TNF-alpha blockade in an animal model of depression. J Psychiatric Res 47:611–616
- 91. Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ, Shuo C, Schettler P, Drake DF, Haroon E, Miller AH (2013) A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. JAMA Psychiatry 70:31–41
- 92. Maes M, Anderson G, Kubera M, Berk M (2014) Targeting classical IL-6 signalling or IL-6 trans-signalling in depression? Expert Opin Ther Targets 18:495–512
- Bay-Richter C, Linderholm KR, Lim CK, Samuelsson M, Traskman-Bendz L, Guillemin GJ, Erhardt S, Brundin L (2015) A role for inflammatory metabolites as modulators of the glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in depression and suicidality. Brain Behav Immun 43:110–117
- 94. Anisman H, Ravindran AV, Griffiths J, Merali Z (1999) Interleukin-1 beta production in dysthymia before and after pharmacotherapy. Biol Psychiatry 46:1649–1655
- 95. Corwin EJ, Johnston N, Pugh L (2008) Symptoms of postpartum depression associated with elevated levels of interleukin-1 beta during the first month postpartum. Biol Res Nurs 10:128–133

- 96. Diniz BS, Teixeira AL, Talib L, Gattaz WF, Forlenza OV (2010) Interleukin-1beta serum levels is increased in antidepressant-free elderly depressed patients. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 18:172–176
- Koo JW, Duman RS (2009) Evidence for IL-1 receptor blockade as a therapeutic strategy for the treatment of depression. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 10:664–671
- Maes M, Song C, Yirmiya R (2012) Targeting IL-1 in depression. Expert Opin Ther Targets 16:1097–1112
- 99. Koo JW, Duman RS (2008) IL-1beta is an essential mediator of the antineurogenic and anhedonic effects of stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:751–756
- 100. Zhang Y, Liu L, Liu YZ, Shen XL, Wu TY, Zhang T, Wang W, Wang YX, Jiang CL (2015) NLRP3 inflammasome mediates chronic mild stress-induced depression in mice via neuroinflammation. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 18(8):pyv006
- 101. Song C, Phillips AG, Leonard B (2003) Interleukin 1 beta enhances conditioned fear memory in rats: possible involvement of glucocorticoids. Eur J Neurosci 18:1739–1743
- 102. Iwata M, Ota KT, Li XY, Sakaue F, Li N, Dutheil S, Banasr M, Duric V, Yamanashi T, Kaneko K, Rasmussen K, Glasebrook A, Koester A, Song D, Jones KA, Zorn S, Smagin G, Duman RS (2016) Psychological stress activates the inflammasome via release of adenosine triphosphate and stimulation of the purinergic type 2X7 receptor. Biol Psychiatry 80:12–22
- 103. Csolle C, Baranyi M, Zsilla G, Kittel A, Goloncser F, Illes P, Papp E, Vizi ES, Sperlagh B (2013) Neurochemical changes in the mouse hippocampus underlying the antidepressant effect of genetic deletion of P2X7 receptors. PLoS One 8:e66547
- 104. Solle M, Labasi J, Perregaux DG, Stam E, Petrushova N, Koller BH, Griffiths RJ, Gabel CA (2001) Altered cytokine production in mice lacking P2X(7) receptors. J Biol Chem 276:125–132
- 105. Caseley EA, Muench SP, Roger S, Mao HJ, Baldwin SA, Jiang LH (2014) Non-synonymous single nucleotide polymorphisms in the P2X receptor genes: association with diseases, impact on receptor functions and potential use as diagnosis biomarkers. Int J Mol Sci 15:13344–13371
- 106. Jiang LH, Baldwin JM, Roger S, Baldwin SA (2013) Insights into the molecular mechanisms underlying mammalian P2X7 receptor functions and contributions in diseases, revealed by structural modeling and single nucleotide polymorphisms. Front Pharmacol 4:55
- 107. Stokes L, Fuller SJ, Sluyter R, Skarratt KK, Gu BJ, Wiley JS (2010) Two haplotypes of the P2X(7) receptor containing the Ala-348 to Thr polymorphism exhibit a gain-of-function effect and enhanced interleukin-1beta secretion. FASEB J 24:2916–2927
- 108. Feng WP, Zhang B, Li W, Liu J (2014) Lack of association of P2RX7 gene rs2230912 polymorphism with mood disorders: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 9:e88575
- 109. Goshen I, Kreisel T, Ben-Menachem-Zidon O, Licht T, Weidenfeld J, Ben-Hur T, Yirmiya R (2008) Brain interleukin-1 mediates chronic stress-induced depression in mice via adrenocortical activation and hippocampal neurogenesis suppression. Mol Psychiatry 13:717–728
- 110. Rao JS, Harry GJ, Rapoport SI, Kim HW (2010) Increased excitotoxicity and neuroinflammatory markers in postmortem frontal cortex from bipolar disorder patients. Mol Psychiatry 15:384–392
- 111. Gubert C, Fries GR, Pfaffenseller B, Ferrari P, Coutinho-Silva R, Morrone FB, Kapczinski F, Battastini AM (2016) Role of P2X7 receptor in an animal model of mania induced by D-amphetamine. Mol Neurobiol 53(1):611–620
- 112. Bhattacharya A, Wang Q, Ao H, Shoblock JR, Lord B, Aluisio L, Fraser I, Nepomuceno D, Neff RA, Welty N, Lovenberg TW, Bonaventure P, Wickenden AD, Letavic MA (2013) Pharmacological characterization of a novel centrally permeable P2X7 receptor antagonist: JNJ-47965567. Br J Pharmacol 170:624–640
- 113. Lord B, Aluisio L, Shoblock JR, Neff RA, Varlinskaya EI, Ceusters M, Lovenberg TW, Carruthers N, Bonaventure P, Letavic MA, Deak T, Drinkenburg W, Bhattacharya A (2014) Pharmacology of a novel central nervous system-penetrant P2X7 antagonist JNJ-42253432. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 351:628–641